Lecture Notes in Bioengineering

Kishor Kumar Sadasivuni Deepalekshmi Ponnamma Mariappan Rajan M. Basheer Ahamed Mariam Ali S A Al-Maadeed *Editors*

Polymer Nanocomposites in Biomedical Engineering



Lecture Notes in Bioengineering

More information about this series at http://www.springer.com/series/11564

Kishor Kumar Sadasivuni · Deepalekshmi Ponnamma · Mariappan Rajan · M. Basheer Ahamed · Mariam Ali S A Al-Maadeed Editors

Polymer Nanocomposites in Biomedical Engineering



Editors Kishor Kumar Sadasivuni Smart Medical Devices Lab College of Engineering Qatar University Doha, Qatar

Mariappan Rajan School of Chemistry Madurai Kamaraj University Madurai, Tamil Nadu, India

Mariam Ali S A Al-Maadeed Research and Graduate Studies Qatar University Doha, Qatar Deepalekshmi Ponnamma Center for Advanced Materials Qatar University Doha, Qatar

M. Basheer Ahamed Department of Physics B.S. Abdur Rahman University Chennai, Tamil Nadu, India

 ISSN 2195-271X
 ISSN 2195-2728
 (electronic)

 Lecture Notes in Bioengineering
 ISBN 978-3-030-04740-5
 ISBN 978-3-030-04741-2
 (eBook)

 https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-030-04741-2
 ISBN 978-3-030-04741-2
 (eBook)

Library of Congress Control Number: 2018964927

© Springer Nature Switzerland AG 2019, corrected publication 2019

This work is subject to copyright. All rights are reserved by the Publisher, whether the whole or part of the material is concerned, specifically the rights of translation, reprinting, reuse of illustrations, recitation, broadcasting, reproduction on microfilms or in any other physical way, and transmission or information storage and retrieval, electronic adaptation, computer software, or by similar or dissimilar methodology now known or hereafter developed.

The use of general descriptive names, registered names, trademarks, service marks, etc. in this publication does not imply, even in the absence of a specific statement, that such names are exempt from the relevant protective laws and regulations and therefore free for general use.

The publisher, the authors and the editors are safe to assume that the advice and information in this book are believed to be true and accurate at the date of publication. Neither the publisher nor the authors or the editors give a warranty, express or implied, with respect to the material contained herein or for any errors or omissions that may have been made. The publisher remains neutral with regard to jurisdictional claims in published maps and institutional affiliations.

This Springer imprint is published by the registered company Springer Nature Switzerland AG The registered company address is: Gewerbestrasse 11, 6330 Cham, Switzerland

Preface

Polymers are much significant in the advanced biomedical applications, especially in developing regenerative tissues, wound dressing, drug carriers and even the artificial skin. Polymer-based systems offer light weight, flexibility, environmental friendliness, ease of processability, etc., and provide the fabrication of artificial materials that mimic the biological tissues. Both natural and synthetic biopolymers are widely applied to most of those applications. However, the polymers have some drawbacks that negatively affect the device efficiencies and so composites and nanocomposites of them are widely reported. The current book deals with the biomedical applications of polymers, their composites and nanocomposites, focusing more on the design and development of such systems, their characteristic performances, and addresses the limitations in fabricating those materials. The whole book is divided into twelve chapters with the aim of making the reader more convenient in understanding the general concepts of biomedical requirements and how the polymers can be useful in solving the conventional issues.

The first chapter is written in such a way that the reader should get a basic and advanced idea about the whole book, and so the current advancement in the field of biomedical applications of polymers and its composites is discussed in detail. The widely explored properties such as porosity, mechanical strength, bioactivity, biocompatibility and biodegradability are addressed in detail, mainly targeting the tissue engineering, biosensing, drug delivery and imaging applications of both natural and synthetic polymers. The second chapter is arranged in line with the first chapter, in which the bio-based polymers are well explored emphasizing the fabrication methods and filler reinforcements. In fact, the field of polymers in biomedical applications is growing at super-speed from the conventional natural fiber-reinforced thermoplastics to advanced fully bio-based materials. It is also really important to characterize such materials more consistently so that the traditional difficulties can be fully eliminated by tuning the properties. The third chapter further differentiates the amorphous, semicrystalline thermoplastic polymer nanocomposites in biomedical engineering, on the basis of processing techniques and degree of crystallinity influences. Moreover, the direct impact of fillers such as carbon nanotubes and graphene on the drug delivery and tissue culturing applications of polymers is also well investigated in this chapter.

Lipids, hydrogels and hydroxyapatites are three significant materials in biomedical engineering. These three pillars are included in the current book as three main chapters. Lipids are fundamental models to study the cell membranes as many living biological structures can be made based on lipid-polymer composites. Such composites find useful applications in diagnosis, cosmetics, imaging, vaccines, drug delivery, theranostics, tissue engineering and in protecting bioactive agents. In addition to investigating the significance of lipid-based materials, the chapter also addresses the challenges associated with controlled and stimuli-responsive drug delivery by lipid-polymer composites. It is rather necessary to develop sterile, well-characterized and stable products to validate its applicability, in vivo, in humans. While the hydroxyapatite nanocomposite-reinforced polymer nanocomposites are the subjects of study for one of the chapters, their superior physical, chemical, electrical and biological properties and porous molecular structure along with carbon-based, polymeric, ceramic and metallic nanomaterial-integrated apatite composites were also considered for the detailed investigation. The various synthesis methods such as expulsion, freeze drying and solvent casting were discussed in addition to the physicochemical properties, quality, long-haul stability, superior compressive and modulus properties, cytocompatibility and their applications as gene carriers and photodynamic therapy and tissue rejuvenation.

Hydrogels are one of the effective materials that offer an aqua environment with enriched oxygen and nutrition content that a biological cell needs. It is possible to replace natural tissues with some polymeric hydrogels whose mechanical behavior and biocompatibility resemble the natural tissues. The growing manufacturing technique of three-dimensional (3D) printing is adopted in this particular chapter to synthesize biomedical organs in the micron-scale resolution, to make the hydrogel applicable in skin bioprinting and tissue engineering. Such polymeric hydrogels repair and regenerate the organs and tissues, and sometimes help in whole organ transplantation.

Electrospinning is an inevitable technique when the polymer nanocomposites for biomedical applications are considered, and this vast topic is arranged as two significant chapters. While the biomedical applications of various electrospun polymer nanocomposites are explained in the beginning chapter, the fundamental concepts and the optimization techniques to make the fibers adaptable to biomedical engineering are discussed at last. The electrospun polymer fibers possess excellent mechanical strength, high surface areas, ultrafine diameter, lightweight, superior mechanical properties and good porosity and find applications mainly in tissue engineering, drug delivery, enzyme immobilization, infiltration and wound healing. The porous fibers also mimic the native extracellular matrix and bring advancements in smart medicine as well. In addition, various spinning processes such as emulsion spinning and coaxial spinning are also targeted for the discussions.

Cancer therapy is one of the increasing fields of attention in recent years. There is a specific chapter dealing with the polymers used in augmented stem cell osteogenesis, cancer therapy and diagnostics in the central nervous system. The whole mechanism is explained on the basis of charge, size and surface modification on polymer surfaces and its nanocomposites. Another well-known concept applied to biomedical applications like tissue engineering, drug delivery and cell encapsulation is the photopolymerization. This method has effective applications in protein and gene delivery as well as other drug delivery systems in pharmaceutical field. The latest advancements in the utilization of photopolymerization technology based on the photoirradiation, common precursors and compatibility of photoinitiators are the topic of study of the chapter.

Shape-memory polymers and composites are very necessary in biomedical fields, and in the chapter by Muzaffar et al., different composites containing nickel, carbon nanotubes and electroactive fillers are explored for the shape-memory effect. Thrusts are given to various areas like mechanical properties, biocompatibility (cytotoxicity, mitochondrial activity, membrane damage and cytokine production), hemocompatibility, genotoxicity, histocompatibility, biodegradability and sterilizability of the developed composites. Finally, the much significant antibacterial and antimicrobial properties of silver nanoparticles, synthesized by microwave method, are also highlighted. Since Ag-based nanocomposites can reduce infections and hence provide faster healing and better health to the patients, an extensive study about such composites is rather necessary.

Thus, the current book on *Polymer Nanocomposites in Biomedical Engineering* mostly addresses the major issues in developing polymer nanocomposites in specific applications, by targeting main polymers and nanofillers that have particular roles in biomedical field. The book opens a new collection of information on polymers and targets a revolution in manufacturing artificial biomedical devices by applying polymer science and nanotechnology.

Doha, Qatar Doha, Qatar Madurai, India Chennai, India Doha, Qatar Kishor Kumar Sadasivuni Deepalekshmi Ponnamma Mariappan Rajan M. Basheer Ahamed Mariam Ali S A Al-Maadeed

The original version of the book was revised: Co-editors' names have been corrected. The correction to the book is available at https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-030-04741-2_13

Contents

A Fundamental Approach Toward Polymers and Polymer Composites: Current Trends for Biomedical Applications Rajan Choudhary, Mohit Saraswat and Senthil Kumar Venkatraman	1
Synthesis of Bio-based Polymer Composites: Fabrication, Fillers, Properties, and Challenges	29
Amorphous and Semicrystalline Thermoplastic PolymerNanocomposites Applied in Biomedical EngineeringS. S. M. Abdul Majeed, Aqib Muzaffar, Kalim Deshmukhand M. Basheer Ahamed	57
Multi-functional Lipid-Based Polymer Composites for In VivoImaging, Tissue Healing, Cell Rejuvenation and TheranosticApplicationsV. Raj and P. Priya	85
Biomedical Applications of Electrospun Polymer Composite Nanofibres	111
Biomedical Applications of Hydroxyapatite Nanocomposites Mariappan Rajan and Murugan Sumathra	167
3D Printing Technology of Polymer Composites and Hydrogels for Artificial Skin Tissue Implementations	205

Contents

Polymer Composite Strategies in Cancer Therapy, Augment StemCell Osteogenesis, Diagnostics in the Central Nervous System,and Drug DeliveryMariappan Rajan, Rajendran Amarnath Praphakarand Periyakaruppan Pradeepkumar	235
Photopolymerization of Polymeric Composites in Drug Delivery, Tissue Engineering, and Other Biomedical Applications Husam M. Younes	271
Shape Memory Polymer Composites in Biomedical Field Aqib Muzaffar, Kalim Deshmukh, M. Basheer Ahamed and S. K. Khadheer Pasha	299
Silver Nanoparticles and Its Polymer Nanocomposites—Synthesis, Optimization, Biomedical Usage, and Its Various Applications Kishor Kumar Sadasivuni, Sunita Rattan, Sadiya Waseem, Snehal Kargirwar Brahme, Subhash B. Kondawar, S. Ghosh, A. P. Das, Pritam Kisore Chakraborty, Jaideep Adhikari, Prosenjit Saha and Payal Mazumdar	331
Electrospun Polymeric Nanofibers: Fundamental Aspects of Electrospinning Processes, Optimization of Electrospinning Parameters, Properties, and Applications Sowmya Sankaran, Kalim Deshmukh, M. Basheer Ahamed and S. K. Khadheer Pasha	375
Correction to: Polymer Nanocomposites in Biomedical Engineering Kishor Kumar Sadasivuni, Deepalekshmi Ponnamma, Mariappan Rajan, M. Basheer Ahamed and Mariam Ali S A Al-Maadeed	C 1

A Fundamental Approach Toward Polymers and Polymer Composites: Current Trends for Biomedical Applications



Rajan Choudhary, Mohit Saraswat and Senthil Kumar Venkatraman

Abstract Polymers and their composites are widely studied for various biomedical applications including hard tissue regeneration, wound healing, artificial skin, antibacterial oxygenators, and drug delivery carriers. Both natural and synthetic polymers are employed for clinical applications and possess numerous advantages and a few limitations. State-of-the-art microarray technique assists in rapid screening of most suitable polymeric materials for biomedical applications and 3D printing aids in fabricating scaffolds with desirable porosity to mimic the architecture of natural tissues. The insufficient mechanical strength and hydrophobic nature of polymers restrict their applications in the field of tissue engineering. The incorporation of inorganic bioactive ceramics as filler in the organic polymer matrix is expected to eliminate these limitations. The present chapter describes the current advancements made in using polymers and its composites for biological applications and predicts the future studies to make these materials as a promising alternative for traditional metallic implants. A brief discussion on the emerging techniques and significant research done is also presented.

Keywords Biomaterial • Polymer • Composites • Gas permeability • Additive manufacturing • Microarray • Tissue engineering applications

1 Introduction

Biomaterial science refers to detailed study of the characteristics of a material and its response toward biological systems. The term "biomaterials" has been defined through various explanations. A biomaterial can be defined as an ideal material (synthetic or natural) that can act/perform similarly to the natural host tissue (Williams 1999). The ultimate aim of biomaterials is to recover human health by

R. Choudhary (🖂) · M. Saraswat · S. K. Venkatraman

Department of Chemistry, School of Advanced Sciences,

Vellore Institute of Technology, Vellore 632014, Tamil Nadu, India e-mail: rajandeshwal@gmail.com

[©] Springer Nature Switzerland AG 2019

K. K. Sadasivuni et al. (eds.), Polymer Nanocomposites

in Biomedical Engineering, Lecture Notes in Bioengineering, https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-030-04741-2_1

repairing diseased organs and living tissues present in the body. This goal can be achieved by replacing the damaged tissues with artificial implants or prostheses. The biomaterials discipline involves the knowledge from multidisciplinary fields such as materials science, chemical science, biological science, mechanical, and medical science. Thus, it requires a synergetic interaction and comprehension from these areas to develop an implantable biomaterial that can perform effectively along with the normal functioning of the body (Dorozhkin 2010).

The requirements of a scaffold used for biomedical applications are extremely challenging as they are intended to face a complex and sensitive biological system of the human body. The material must be biocompatible and interact actively with the host tissues without immune rejection. The tissue scaffold must be mechanically stable to provide sufficient structural support and have an interconnected porous network to promote cell migration, vascularization, as well as tissue ingrowth. Moreover, the scaffold must be sterilizable and processed in the required shapes to match the defect sites (Rezwana et al. 2006).

Biomaterials are employed for various applications in different fields including orthopedics (joint replacements, bone plates, bone cement, artificial ligaments), cardiovascular (blood vessel prostheses, heart valves), dental fillers for tooth fixation, ophthalmic (contact lenses), wound healing and skin repair devices (Davis 2003).

During the last two decades, degradable scaffolds for biomedical application are preferred over bio-stable materials. This approach leads to the development of biodegradable medical devices as temporary scaffolds that assist body during healing and regeneration of damaged tissues. The long-term biocompatibility performance, stability issues, and the pain associated with multiple surgeries are eliminated by the utilization of biodegradable substrates (Naira and Laurencin 2007). The repairing and reconstruction of injured or aged tissues by degradable scaffolds have become the most investigated area in the twenty-first century (Parida et al. 2012). In the current scenario, polymers are the largest class of biomaterials employed in different fields of medicine such as dentistry, soft and hard tissue substituents, orthopedics, and cardiovascular (Dos Santos et al. 2017). Researchers, scientists, and doctors are exploring various biodegradable polymeric materials to predict their applications in biomedical engineering.

The composites assist in achieving superior biochemical and mechanical properties over its individual components. Natural bone is the best-known example of composite material in which apatite particles are embedded in collagen fibers. The concept of tissue inspired biocomposites has influenced several researchers for preparing various hybrids (Basile et al. 2012). The flexibility of polymers combined with bioactive materials in specific volume fraction helps in the development of composites with improved functionalities (Boccaccini and Maquet 2003). The composite architecture (orientation, distribution, and percentage reinforcements) and bonding between reinforcement and matrix also plays a key role. The effective control over these factors can assist in tailoring the mechanical and biological activity of the composites to meet the requirements of various biomedical applications (Antoniac 2016; Park and Lakes 2007; Bhat 2005; Narayan 2009).

2 Polymers

2.1 Classification of Polymers

The applications of polymers in biomedical engineering have been increased drastically due to its diverse properties (Piskin 1995). Polymers can be fabricated into different shapes and sizes with biodegradability and protein binding ability (Enderale et al. 2005). Researchers are employing different types of polymers to enhance human survival. Polymeric biomaterials for medical applications are mainly categorized into two groups as synthetic and natural polymers (Ratner et al. 2004; Stratton et al. 2016).

The natural polymers can be either an animal-derived material (collagen, hyaluronic acid) or a plant-based material (cellulose, sodium alginate) (Ratner et al. 2004). The natural polymers were the first degradable biomaterials used clinically, owing to their biological recognition and remarkable interactions with different cells to promote adhesion, proliferation, and lacking immune response. The insufficient mechanical stability, limited supply, and high cost are the few disadvantages of natural polymers (Stratton et al. 2016). Synthetic polymers include vast range of polymers starting from hydrophobic materials (polyethylene, polymethyl methacrylate, silicon rubber), polar materials (polyvinyl chloride, nylon) water absorbing materials (polyhydroxy methacrylate) to hydrophilic materials (polyvinyl alcohol, polyethylene glycol) (Ratner et al. 2004). Synthetic polymers possess good mechanical properties and the rate of degradation and molding ability can be altered (Armentano et al. 2010). The synthetic polymers are cheaper and possess improved functionality, despite few polymers have hydrophobic surface and lack cell attachment abilities (Dhandayuthapani et al. 2011).

2.2 Natural Polymer and Their Composites for Biomedical Applications

From an economic and environmental point of view, a vast array of naturally derived polymers has been explored as biomaterials for tissue engineering. Characteristics like low toxicity, superior biodegradability, low processing cost, renewability (Shogren and Bagley 1999), water solubility, pH stability, biological signaling, cell adhesion, and remodeling (Puppi et al. 2010) make natural polymers an excellent choice for scaffold materials.

2.2.1 Collagen

Collagen is a biological protein that can be extracted from every species including mammals. It occurs abundantly in the extracellular matrix of both hard (bone, teeth)

and soft tissues (skin, cartilage, blood vessels) that assist in providing structural support (Lee et al. 2001). Collagen exists in the form of 29 different types. The most widely studied collagen proteins for tissue repairing include I, II, III, V, XI type and among them type I collagen is reported as "Gold Standard" due to its poor immune reactivity (Parenteau-Bareil et al. 2010).

The biodegradation, cell attachment ability, and poor antigenicity indicate collagen as a promising polymer for biomedical applications. Studies indicate that collagen sponges stimulate adhesion and growth of cells and tissues (Freyman et al. 2001; O'Brien et al. 2005). Moreover, it promotes proliferation and differentiation of osteoblast cells leading to bone formation (Seol et al. 2004). The performance of mesenchymal stem cells seeded on collagen gel and implanted in osteochondral defects was studied. Formation of hyaline cartilage, as well as bone, was observed at the implant site, but the mechanical stability of regenerated tissue was significantly inferior to that of the natural tissues (Wakitani et al. 1994). It has been reported that the bioactivity of collagen is also dependent on the alignment of the collagen fibers. The biological behavior of aligned fibrous collagen scaffolds and random fibrous collagen scaffolds fabricated by electrospinning method was compared. It was found that the proliferation rate of rabbit conjunctiva fibroblast cells was faster on aligned fibrous collagen scaffolds (Zhong et al. 2006).

The low mechanical properties of collagen protein are associated with its rapid degradation rate. This limitation was overcome by preparing collagen composites with natural (glycosaminoglycans) and synthetic polymers (polyglycerol methacrylate) that lead to good mechanical strength, osteoconductivity as well as biocompatibility characteristics (Daamen et al. 2003; Woerly et al. 1991).

2.2.2 Silk

Silk fibroin falls into the category of naturally occurring polymeric proteins extracted from silkworms (Bombyx mori) and insects. The biocompatible properties of silk are due to the presence of protein component in it. The slow degradation, flexibility, permeable to water, oxygen, high strength, and tailorable composition of silk fibers make them as promising biomaterials for tissue engineering. The major disadvantage associated with silk is the presence of sericin protein which acts as a contaminant in the polymer by initiating adverse immune response at the site of application (Puppi et al. 2010). Studies show that the silk extracted from Bombyx mori has potential to promote the growth and development of bone-forming cells and silk sponges stimulated osteogenesis, chondrogenesis of mesenchymal stem cells extracted from bone marrow (Vepari and Kaplan 2007; Meinel et al. 2004). Fini et al. (2005) investigated the interactions involved in repairing of cancellous defects in rabbit using silk fibroin hydrogel. Results conclude that enhanced remodeling and maturation was observed in the presence of silk fibroin hydrogel when compared to commercial poly(lactide-co-glycolic acid) slurry (Fig. 1) (Fini et al. 2005).

Fig. 1 Histological section of silk fibroin hydrogel treated defect (**a**) and synthetic polymeric gel-treated defect (**b**) after twelve weeks. Trabecular bone tissue having a microarchitecture similar to the normal healthy bone surrounding implant residues (PG) was noticed (Fini et al. 2005). Copyright 2005. Adopted with the permission from Elsevier



2.2.3 Hyaluronic Acid (HA)

Hyaluronic acid is a polysaccharide biodegradable material and known as hyaluronan. It is found in the extracellular matrix of connective tissues and plays a major role in structural support, regulating water balance, and lubricating medium for articular cartilage surface (Necas et al. 2008). Hyaluronic acid is extracted from synovial fluid, vitreous humor, and umbilical cord (Malafaya et al. 2007). The viscoelastic ability, biocompatibility, and swelling capability of hyaluronic acid indicate its applicability in encapsulation of cells and delivery systems (Kang et al. 2009; Wieland et al. 2007). The extensive availability, ease in manipulation of chain size, and non-immunogenic characteristics indicate HA as the most suitable material for tissue engineering applications (Allison and Grande-Allen 2006). Shu et al. (2003) reported that the polyanionic and hydrophilic surface of hyaluronic acid inhibits cellular attachment as well as tissue formation. These interactions were improved by coating the surface of HA by extracellular matrix proteins (Shu et al. 2003). Further, the biomedical applications of HA have been widened by modifying its molecular characteristics by photo-crosslinking and covalent crosslinking (Allison and Grande-Allen 2006). The photo-crosslinked hyaluronic acid-based hydrogels retained the viability during the production of neocartilage under in vitro conditions. The human vascular endothelial cells seeded on hyaluronan-based Hyaff-11 biodegradable polymer reveal the formation of subendothelial matrix components within 24 h. This work indicates that the Hyaff-11-based polymers can be utilized as potential scaffolds to stimulate endothelialization in the vascular grafts (Turner et al. 2004).

2.2.4 Chitosan (CS)

Chitosan is a naturally occurring second most abundant polysaccharide biodegradable polymer known for its applications in food industry, cosmetics, drug delivery, tissue engineering, etc. (Perinelli et al. 2018). The partial deacetylation of chitin through chemical hydrolysis results in the production of chitosan (Chandy and Sharma 1990). The unique characteristics such as antibacterial activity, hydrophilicity, minimum immune response indicate the applicability of chitosan in the field of tissue engineering (Naira and Laurencin 2007). Recently, antibacterial biocompatible derivative 1,3-diethyl-2-thiobarbituric and chitosan acid (CS-DETBA) was developed. CS-DETBA derivative shows enhanced inhibition of Escherichia coli (E. coli), Pseudomonas aeruginosa (P. aeruginosa) and Staphylococcus aureus (S. aureus) bacteria and the non-toxic effect was observed on the growth of human gastric adenocarcinoma AGS cells (Rizwan et al. 2018). Xu et al. (2018) developed chitosan/tripolyphosphate scaffold and studied the cell proliferation ability of bone marrow mesenchymal stem cells and concluded it as a promising material for bone regenerative medicine (Xu et al. 2018). Although chitosan possesses osteoconductive ability to stimulate bone formation under in vitro and in vivo conditions, the poor mechanical stability restricts its capability to maintain precise shape which narrows its application areas.

2.2.5 Cellulose

Cellulose is a biologically derived polysaccharide biopolymer and an important structural component present in the cell walls of the plants. It also exists in other living microorganisms such as bacteria, algae, and fungi (Puppi et al. 2010). The hydrophilicity, bio-functionality, and biocompatibility of cellulose extended its applications in tissue engineering, drug delivery, biosensor, imaging, etc. (Klemm et al. 2005).

Porous cellulose hydrogel possessing good transparency and desirable mechanical stability can be produced by casting cellulose/1-butyl-3-methylimidazolium chloride. The hydrogel membrane prepared can be utilized as a drug carrier for the delivery of pharmaceutical agents, contact lenses, or wound

healing material (Peng et al. 2018). Earlier findings have shown that cellulose has ability to stimulate proliferation and growth of human chondrocytes indicating its applications in cartilage tissue engineering (Svensson et al. 2005). Recently, a cellulose-based composite material containing chitosan and silver nanoparticles was reported as a promising wound dressing agent. The scaffold showed good antibacterial activity against *E. coli* and *S. aureus* as well as support the adhesion, proliferation of NIH3T3 fibroblastic cells within three days of incubation (Fig. 2) (Haider et al. 2018).

An effective polysaccharide capsule for oral drug delivery was developed to carry hydrophobic drug (Ibuprofen) by physical crosslinking of carboxymethylcellulose (CMC) and hydroxymethyl cellulose (HMC). Results indicated that the release profile of samples varies under different environments. The complete release of drug in intestinal fluid from HMC was observed within 8 h whereas when CMC was mixed with HMC a prolonged (24 h) and sustained release profile of the drug from carrier was noticed (Chen et al. 2018). The performance of gelatin-based hydrogel with chitosan and hydroxyethyl cellulose was studied for tissue engineering scenarios. The gelatin/poly(ethylene glycol)/hydroxyethyl cellulose (G/PEG/HEC) hydrogel showed a reduction in stiffness, enhanced flexibility, and mechanical strength similar to soft tissues. The cellular study revealed non-toxic



Fig. 2 FE-SEM images of the NIH3T3 fibroblastic cells on the surface of composites (pristine FP, CS-FP and Ag-CS-FP). **a**–**c** shows after 1 day and **d**–**f** shows after 3 days of incubation (Haider et al. 2018). Copyright 2018. Adopted with the permission from Elsevier

behavior of the hydrogel and supported adhesion and proliferation of human fibroblast and L6 rat myoblasts within four days (Dey et al. 2018).

2.2.6 Alginate

Alginate is a naturally derived polysaccharide polymer generally obtained from brown algae namely *Macrocystis pyrifera, Laminaria hyperborean,* and *Ascophyllum nodosum.* Alginate is widely studied for biomedical applications such as tissue engineering scaffolds, drug delivery, wound healing, cell transplantation, and anti-adhesion material (Puppi et al. 2010). The vast applications of alginate in biomedical engineering are due to its good biocompatibility, lower toxicity, and ability to form stable gelation in the presence of cations (Ca²⁺, Sr²⁺) (Lee and Mooney 2012).

In recent reports, polysaccharide template oxidized sodium alginate conjugated with acrylamide was prepared for biomedical applications. The tailored conductivity, stretch sensitivity, mechanically tough, and self-healing capability of hydrogel indicated it as a potential material for artificial skin and medical devices (Liu et al. 2015). Earlier, an injectable and self-healable alginate hydrogel was prepared for repairing the defects associated with the central nervous system (Tseng et al. 2015). The combination of alginate with guluronic acid promoted the proliferation and differentiation of murine marrow cells (Wang et al. 2003). Further, the in vitro study of chitosan/alginate gel showed the adhesion of bone-forming cells as well as deposition of apatite mineral on their surface (Li et al. 2005).

The antibacterial activity of bimetallic (copper/Zinc) alginate-based composite against biofilm forming bacteria (*E. coli*, *S. aureus*, *C. albicans*) was investigated for biomedical applications. The composites had a remarkable effect on the growth of the microorganisms and seem to possess bactericidal activity against these pathogens (Malagurski et al. 2018). Moreover, Safaei and Taran (2018) investigated the antibacterial behavior of alginate/copper oxide composites against *E. coli* and *S. aureus* by disk diffusion method. The alginate polymer showed no sign of antibacterial activity whereas the composite containing 2 mg/mL alginate and 8 mg/mL copper oxide revealed excellent antibacterial activity within 1 h. It was found that the composites produced a clear zone of inhibition (17.33 and 19.33 mL) against *E. coli* and *S. aureus*. This study indicated that these composites can be used as an effective antibacterial agent against human resistant bacterial strains (Safaei and Taran 2018).

Recently, chitosan/alginate interpenetrating polyelectrolyte-complex multilayer membrane was prepared to study their wound healing ability. The membrane exhibits effective antibacterial activity against *E. coli* whereas cellular attachment, growth, and development of L929 cells indicated non-cytotoxic nature (Sun et al. 2018). The poor mechanical strength of alginate in aqueous medium restricts its applications to a non-load bearing scenario. An improvement in the mechanical properties of alginate in wet conditions was observed by fabricating UV stimulus-responsive cellulose nanocrystals/alginate scaffolds (Smyth et al. 2018).

2.3 Synthetic Polymers and Their Composites for Biomedical Applications

The properties of synthetic polymers (physical, chemical) can be altered as per the requirements of the application. The flexibility of these polymers assists in molding them into different sizes and shapes. The risk of infection, toxicity, and immune rejection are found to be lower in case of synthetic polymers. The most commonly used synthetic polymers for biomedical applications are given below.

2.3.1 Polycaprolactone (PCL)

Polycaprolactone is a polyester material known for its elastic nature. It is composed of a semi-polar ester group and nonpolar methylene groups. Polycaprolactone is largely applied in biomedical applications and especially in tissue engineering due to its high elasticity and biocompatibility. Moreover, PCL is approved by Food and Drug Administration (FDA) as a drug delivery carrier, sutures and scaffold for repairing tissues, etc. (Woodruff and Hutmacher 2010). The degradation of PCL at a slower rate indicates that it can be used as an implantable material for long-term applications such as the drug carrier for controlled release of therapeutic agents (Cipitria et al. 2011). Polycaprolactone possesses slow adhesion and proliferation of cells when used as a bulk material. Several attempts have been made to enhance the bioactivity of PCL either by surface functionalization or by preparing its composites.

A chitosan-1,3-diethyl-2-thiobarbituric acid-polycaprolactone (CS-DETBA-PCL) blend was prepared for tissue engineering applications. The blend revealed negligible cytotoxicity response on AGS cells and remarkable inhibition on the growth of bacterial strains (*S. aureus, E. coli, P. aeruginosa*) (Xu et al. 2018). Recently, polycaprolactone/chitosan/magnesium oxide nanofiber was prepared by using electrospinning methodology. The PCL/MgO showed better mechanical stability (25 MPa) than PCL/chitosan (3 MPa). The cellular study showed attachment of 3T3 cells on the surface of the composites indicating their non-cytotoxic nature. This study suggested versatile applications in the field of drug delivery, bone regeneration, and wound healing (Rijal et al. 2018).

Polycaprolactone is widely used as a scaffold material for hard tissue regeneration either in pure form or in combination with bioactive ceramics. The degradation kinetics and biological interaction of pure PCL with bone marrow mesenchymal stem cells (BMSC's) show that the degradation by-products of PCL have negligible influence on the functioning of BMSC's and the viability of osteoblast cells was also well maintained in PCL extract (Sukanya and Mohanan 2017). The PCL/forsterite scaffold was fabricated by solvent casting and particle leaching method to study biodegradability, mechanical properties, bioactivity, and cytotoxicity of the scaffolds for bone regeneration applications. An improvement in mechanical properties was observed for the composites as compared to pure PCL.



Fig. 3 Scanning electron microscopy images of the pure PCL (a) and nanocomposite scaffolds containing b 10 wt%, c 20 wt%, d 30 wt%, e 40 wt%, and f 50 wt% forsterite cultured with SaOS-2 cells for 2 days (Diba et al. 2012). Copyright 2012. Adopted with the permission from Elsevier

It was also observed that the cellular behavior of the composites was influenced by the forsterite content (Fig. 3) (Diba et al. 2012). Thin membrane patch of polycaprolactone/ β -tricalcium phosphate was prepared by using 3D printing for repairing orbital fractures in white rabbits. Results showed that about 40% reduction in the fracture volume was observed after two months, whereas new bone formation at the mesh implant was noticed within four months. This report proposed that the 3D printed membrane patch could be a promising approach for filling defected spaces in bone as well as preventing inflammatory response at the site of application (Han et al. 2018).

2.3.2 Poly(Methyl Methacrylate) (PMMA)

The self-hardening ability and superior mechanical properties of Poly(methyl methacrylate) (PMMA), when compared to other synthetic polymers, make it as a promising material for fixing implants with bone (Lee and Rhee 2009). PMMA provides immediate structural support to the metallic implant but due to its bioinert nature, it shows negligible chemical and biological interactions with bone. PMMA is considered as a weak link between an implant and bone (Renteria-Zamarron et al. 2009). Moreover, the inert behavior of PMMA results in osteolysis and loosening of the implant under the influence of repeated interfacial movements (wear debris) (Goodman 2005). These challenges can be overcome by introducing the bioactive ceramics as a filler in the polymer matrix (Shinzato et al. 2000). This provides adequate osteoconductivity and sufficient mechanical stability to the resultant composite.

PMMA-reinforced hydroxyapatite shows good anchorage of human osteoblast cells (HOB), enhanced proliferation as well as ALP activity (Dalby et al. 1999). The PMMA containing 39% of wollastonite exhibits good apatite formation ability and optimum compressive strength (Renteria-Zamarron et al. 2009). Lee and Rhee suggested PMMA/SiO₂-CaO nanocomposites as a filler material in dental composite and bone cement (Lee and Rhee 2009).

2.3.3 Poly(L-Lactic Acid) (PLLA)

PLLA is a form of a polyester degradable polymer. It can be either obtained from natural renewable source (starch) or by the polymerization of L-lactide. PLLA has been significantly investigated for various biomedical applications such as drug delivery carrier, scaffolds for tissue regeneration, screws, and pins for fixing bone implants and sutures. SculptraTM is an FDA-approved injectable PLLA material used commercially for the treatment of facial atrophy (Stratton et al. 2016). It has been reported that the high crystallinity of PLLA undergoes rapid degradation resulting into an inflammatory response at the site of application (Lasprilla et al. 2012). This drawback can be overcome by fabricating it as a composite with other polymers.

Novel PLLA/Rg3 scaffolds were prepared to reduce the inflammation-related with PLLA and study their response to skin regeneration (Cui et al. 2013). The uniform surface morphology and interconnected porosity of scaffolds inhibit the proliferation of fibroblast cells. This indicates that the fabricated composites have the ability to restore the structural and functional properties of damaged skin due to severe burn or surgical incision. Further, PLLA/PGS (polyglycerol sebacate) defect-free fiber was prepared by utilizing electrospinning technique. The incorporation of PGS in the fibers enhanced the wettability and super hydrophilicity was achieved. It was found that as the concentration of PGS (polyglycerol sebacate) in the fibers was increased to 25%, a sudden decrease in Young's modulus was observed from 35.9 to 7.4 MPa. This results in twofold improvement in the stretching ability of the samples. The cellular study showed adhesion and proliferation of A59 nerve cell lines suggesting PLLA/PGS fibers as the promising biomaterial for nerve regeneration (Yan et al. 2017). The corrosion resistance of Mg alloy (WE43) under deformation was improved by a dual coating of hydroxyapatite and PLLA. The stability of coating under the influence of deformation was improved by applying PLLA on the surface by dip coating. The hydroxyapatite forms an intermediate layer to enhance the adhesion of PLLA. The dual-coated Mg alloys show improved mechanical stability and biological response when compared to single-coated or non-coated samples. This approach might accelerate the development of Mg-based alloys for biomedical applications (Diez et al. 2016).

2.3.4 Poly(Lactic-Co-Glycolic) Acid (PLGA)

Poly(lactic-co-glycolic) acid is a biodegradable polyester polymer prepared by combining poly(L-lactic acid) and poly(glycolic acid). Poly(lactic-co-glycolic) acid

has attracted the attention of researchers for tissue engineering applications owing to biocompatibility, tailorable degradation rate, and ease of modifying the surface properties to promote better interaction with biological materials (Gentile et al. 2014).

OsteofoamTM is a FDA-approved poly(lactic-co-glycolic) acid scaffold for hard tissue regeneration (Shen et al. 2008). A uniform blend of poly(lactic-co-glycolic) acid and polyisoprene was studied for treating craniosynostosis and the scaffolds possess interconnected porous structure having the optimum pore size which acts as a template for supporting the growth of C2C12 cell lines and formation of extracellular matrix. The mechanical strength of these scaffolds was found to be similar to that of soft tissues. Authors suggested that these scaffolds can be a suitable material for soft tissue engineering (Marques et al. 2017). The poly (lactic-co-glycolic) acid/silk scaffolds have been explored for tendon regeneration. Results showed that the scaffolds exhibit good mechanical stability as well as have potential to stimulate mesenchymal progenitor cell to undergo adhesion and differentiation (Sahoo et al. 2010). Hydroxyapatite supported poly(lactic-co-glycolic) acid/silk composites were fabricated to study their application for hard tissue engineering. MTT assay (3-(4,5-dimethylthiazol-2-yl)-2,5-diphenyltetrazolium bromide) indicates that the prepared scaffold supports adhesion and proliferation of osteoblasts (Sheikh et al. 2015). Further, chitosan/poly(lactic-co-glycolic) acid microspheres were found to stimulate the growth and development of MC3T3-E1 cell line over their surface (Jiang et al. 2006).

The highly acidic nature of by-products produced during the degradation of PLGA limits its drug delivery applications. Scientists are attempting different strategies to overcome this drawback by varying the content of poly(glycolic acid). An increase in the ratio of poly(glycolic acid) to that of poly(L-lactic acid) leads to slower degradation rate and less acidic by-products (Houchin and Topp 2008).

2.3.5 Poly(Ethylene Glycol) (PEG)

Poly(ethylene glycol) is a biocompatible polyester polymer existing in several molecular weights which is soluble in water as well as in organic solvents. PEG possesses the ability to interact with cell membranes without influencing the activity of active proteins of cells. The unique ability of PEG for maintaining chemical reactivity and solubility even after surface functionalization and chemical modifications indicate its versatile applications in the biomedical field (Harris 1992).

PEG supported multi-walled carbon nanotubes in the form of nano-cocoons were prepared and loaded with curcumin to study their efficiency as a drug delivery carrier for the treatment of cancer. These nano-systems were non-toxic to blood and promoted the proliferation of L929 fibroblast cell lines. It was also found that the curcumin-loaded nano-cocoon effectively dispersed in the saline medium and interacted with C6 glioma brain cancer cells, whereas alone curcumin was unable to enter brain cancer cells (Fig. 4) (Hindumathi et al. 2018). The utilization of hydrogels as a wound dressing material has drawn attention of several research



Fig. 4 Cytotoxicity of cocoon and curcumin samples at various concentration (a) and Uptake of cocoon-curcumin (b). Images revealed that the uptake of curcumin with cocoon and no uptake without cocoon (Hindumathi et al. 2018). Copyright 2018. Adopted with the permission from Elsevier

groups. Haryanto and Mahardian (2017) prepared hydrogel film composed of polyethylene oxide and poly(ethylene glycol) dimethacrylate. It was found that the addition of poly(ethylene glycol) dimethacrylate in hydrogel played a major role in improving mechanical strength, vapor transmission, and percentage elongation. Thus, the tensile strength of hydrogel was increased from 5 to 20% with the steady improvement in the elongation behavior. The water vapor transmission rate of polyethylene oxide-poly(ethylene glycol) dimethacrylate hydrogel was noticed to be near to the ideal value favorable for wound healing (Haryanto and Mahardian 2017).

An environment friendly, non-toxic, porous and biocompatible poly(ethylene glycol)/cellulose scaffolds were fabricated. The close-grained sheet like network was observed due to the addition of crosslinked PEG in regenerated cellulose. This modification resulted in an increase in the compressive strength of scaffolds by 33 times as compared to that of regenerated cellulose (0.007 MPa). Moreover, the water absorption capacity of scaffolds was found to be nearly 83% higher than that of regenerated cellulose. These scaffolds can be employed for biomedical devices and packaging applications (Teng et al. 2018).

2.3.6 Polystyrene (PS)

Polystyrene is a biocompatible, non-degradable polymer exhibiting insignificant cytotoxicity. Polystyrene nanoparticles can be prepared in different sizes with various surface functionalizations that are being investigated to look for its pertinence in biomedical therapies (Loos et al. 2014a).

Loos et al. (2014b) prepared amino (PS-NH₂) and carboxyl (PS-COOH) functionalized polystyrene nanoparticles to contemplate their interaction with THP-1 cell lines for targeting acute myeloid leukemia (Loos et al. 2014b). It was observed that carboxyl functionalized polystyrene nanoparticles induced an insignificant effect on the proliferation rate of THP-1 cell lines and exhibited negligible toxicity on THP-1, differentiated THP-1 or macrophages even after exposure for longer durations. Proliferations of THP-1 cells were immediately inhibited by amino-functionalized polystyrene nanoparticles which lead to decrease in their cell size and finally cell death. This study proves that the functionalization of biocompatible polystyrene can be a viable strategy to design new drug delivery systems for the treatment of malignant cells.

Earlier, N-hydrosuccinimide functionalized polypyrrole coated polystyrene latex particles (NHS-functionalized PPy-PS) were fabricated to investigate their bioadsorbents of human biomedical application as serum albumin (HSA) (Bousalem et al. 2003). The concentration of initial comonomer was 50/50 and 25/75 for pyrrole and pyrrole-NHS. The mechanism of attachment of HAS protein on the surface of NHS-functionalized PPy-PS particles was due to the formation of covalent bond between them. The immobilization isotherms for HAS showed maximum adsorption of 0.2 mg/m^2 for 50/50 ratio, whereas about 0.02 mg/m^2 m^2 was detected in case of 25/75 ratio. The presence of surface-reactive groups in higher concentration was found to restrict the covalent attachment of HSA protein on the surface of NHS-functionalized PPy-PS latex particles. Hence, a lower concentration of N-hydrosuccinimide groups can assist in better attachment of proteins on their surface.

Later, Miroslawa El (Fray et al. 2006) compared the biocompatibility and fatigue properties of therapeutic grade silicone rubber with Food and Drug Administration approved SIBS30 biomaterial (polystyrene-*b*-polyisobutylene-*b*-polystyrene thermoplastic elastomer with 30 wt% polystyrene) (Fray et al. 2006). The non-toxic nature of SIBS30 disks was confirmed by immersing in human as well as sheep red blood cells. The outcomes showed no sign of hemolytic responses and the hemolytic indices were observed to be zero.

The in vivo biocompatibility of sterilized silicone rubber and SIBS30 disk was examined by implanting in the muscle tissue of male white mice. Following 30 days of implantation lower tissue reactions and a negligible inflammatory response was detected in SIBS30 samples. This behavior was found to be similar to that of silicone rubber (control). The histological investigation confirmed the formation of fibrous connective tissue covering both the samples. The long-term implantation (180 days) resulted in the formation of a compact capsule having a thickness of 21 µm (silicone rubber) and 47 µm (SIBS30), respectively. This data indicates good biocompatibility of the tested polymeric samples. The dynamic modulus of SIBS30 biomaterial was found to be nearly 10 times higher than the medical-grade silicone rubber utilized for tendon prosthesis. Moreover, better fatigue properties and creep resistance were noticed for SIBS30 when analyzed under different environments (air and simulated in vitro conditions). The remarkable biocompatibility of SIBS30 inferred that it as a potential biomaterial having close resembles with medical-grade silicone rubber and does not require synthetic cross-linkers or reinforcing fillers.

2.3.7 Polyvinylidene Fluoride (PVDF)

The remarkable chemical resistance, biocompatibility, thermal stability, and stimulus-responsive characteristics made fluorinated polymers as potential biomaterials for biomedical applications. PVDF is the most common fluorinated polymer. It is semi-crystalline, non-reactive polymer and synthesized by polymerization of vinylidene fluoride monomer (Cardoso et al. 2018).

Ribeiro et al. (2017) studied the potential of piezoelectric PVDF biomaterial for hard tissue regeneration (Ribeiro et al. 2017). The osteogenic properties of PVDF films were investigated by implanting it in Wistar rats (Fig. 5). After 28 days, no sign of inflammatory response and infections was noticed around the implanted films. Moreover, significant bone regeneration was observed at the defected site that led to the formation of trabecular bone.

The extensive utilization of PVDF for biomedical, pharmaceutical applications and hygienic products cause their exposure to microorganisms leading to biofilm formation. In order to prevent bacterial infections, a flexible PVDF composite containing three different nanofillers was fabricated to study their antibacterial properties against *Pseudomonas aeruginosa* (Bregnocchi et al. 2016). The PVDF composites contain graphene nanoplatelets (GNPs), zinc oxide nanorods (ZnO-NRs), and ZnO-NR-decorated GNPs (ZNGs) as nanofillers. The PVDF composites containing GNPs and ZNGs have shown superior antimicrobial activity than ZnO-NRs. The GNPs and ZNGs nanostructures grown on the surface of PVDF film are bigger and occupied major portions. This offers a larger interacting surface with the bacteria leading to good antibacterial activity. The current report concludes low-cost methodology for the preparation of biofilm resistant biocompatible polymers.

Earlier solvent casting method was utilized for the fabrication of PVDF/HAp film to study their mechanical as well as cytotoxicity properties for repairing bone defects (BragaI et al. 2007). It was observed that the incorporation of hydroxyapatite (HAp) in PVDF matrix caused reduction in mechanical stability of the



Fig. 5 Bone regeneration at the defected site in Wistar rats (Ribeiro et al. 2017). Copyright 2017. Adopted with the permission from Elsevier

composites. The cell viability results showed no toxicity. Thus, the samples were found to be biocompatible and can be promising candidates for bone and dental restoration.

It has been reported that hydrophobic nature of fluorinated membranes restricts their cell attachment and proliferation ability. Pei et al. (2015) attempted to enhance the cytocompatibility of PVDF by preparing its composites with reduced graphene oxide (RGO) (Pei et al. 2015). The reduced graphene oxide/PVDF composite membranes were cultured with human umbilical vein endothelial cells (HUVECs) to evaluate their cellular adhesion and proliferation response. It was found that the addition of RGO facilitated in the transformation of alpha phase PVDF to beta phase PVDF. The beta phase PVDF has the ability to promote endothelial cell secretion of prostacyclin, which has anti-thrombotic functions. The adhesion and proliferation of HUVECs on the surface of composites were found to be superior to the pure PVDF.

2.4 Gas Permeable Polymeric Membranes for Biomedical Applications

Polymeric membranes for hemodialysis or as oxygenators are widely studied for the treatment of infants with insufficiently developed lungs, chronic problems, and cardiac surgery. These membranes have tendency to deposit blood components (proteins, platelets) over their surface which reduces the gas exchange efficiency (Kolobow et al. 1986). In order to overcome these problems. 2-methacryloyloxyethyl phosphorylcholine (MPC) copolymers were been prepared and studied for surface modification of conventional polymers. When MPC copolymers and alkyl methacrylate were coated on substrate polymer, a constant decrease in the protein adsorption as well as inhibition of cell adhesion was observed even when the polymer was placed in direct contact with the blood without anticoagulants (Ishihara et al. 1992). Later, Iwasaki et al. synthesized novel oxygenator membrane composed of poly[(2-methacryloyloxyethyl phosphorylcholine) (MPC)-co-dodecyl methacrylate] (PMD) skin film adhered to polyethylene (PE). The oxygen gas permeation analysis through PMD/PE membrane was found to be similar to that of polyethylene membrane even when the unit mole fraction of MPC in PMD was higher than 0.2. This observation suggested that MPC content in the polymer film effectively improved the gas permeability. Moreover, the protein adsorption on the surface of PMD was found to be significantly decreased when compared to polyethylene surface (Iwasakia et al. 2002). The mechanism for reduced protein adsorption on membrane surface was also proposed. The hydrophobic interactions assisted in the adsorption of protein molecules on the surface. Thus, the membrane surface which inhibits hydrogen bonding with water prevents protein adsorption (Lu et al. 1991). This report suggested simple and cost-effective method for the preparation of PMD/PE porous membrane having good hemocompatibility and gas permeability.

The polysulfone (PSF) membranes containing polyethylene glycol (PEG) and heparin (Hep) were prepared by plasma-induced surface modification to predict their applicability as an artificial lung (Wang et al. 2016). The improvement in the surface hydrophilicity and steric hindrance of polysulfone-polyethylene glycol-heparin membrane resulted in decrease in adsorption rate of bovine serum albumin and fibrinogen when compared to pristine PSF. The pure PSF membrane adhesion platelet exhibited greater over its surface whereas polysulfone-polyethylene glycol-heparin membranes revealed steep decline as the molecular weight of PEG was increased. Hence, PSF-PEG10,000-Hep and PSF-PEG6000-Hep showed good platelet adhesion resistance. Moreover, polysulfone-polyethylene glycol-heparin membrane revealed excellent gas exchange performance in the presence of porcine blood. The gas exchange rate of oxygen and carbon dioxide in PSF-PEG6000-Hep membrane was noticed to achieve 100-200 and 50-300 mL/min at blood flow rate of 5 L/min. Later, PSF chloromethylation, PEGylation, and heparin immobilization process was employed to synthesize polysulfone (PSF) membranes embedded in polyethylene glycol (PEG) and heparin (Hep) to study their performance for use in membrane oxygenators (Zheng et al. 2016). Blood oxygenate results of PSF-PEG10,000-Hep membrane showed the carbon dioxide and oxygen exchange rates of about 102 and 110 mL/min at a flow rate of 1.5 L/min. These values were found to satisfy the gas exchange potential of commercially used membrane oxygenators. These findings indicated polysulfone-polyethylene glycol-heparin as potential oxygenator membrane for the treatment of various lung diseases.

Recently, Zheng et al. employed low-temperature plasma treatment for surface modification of polysulfone for extracorporeal membrane oxygenators (Zheng et al. 2018). In this work, three different additives such as Acrylic acid (AA) with heparin (Hep), 2-methacryloyloxyethyl phosphorylcholine (MPC) and collagen (Col) were grafted over the surface of PSF to prepare PSF-AA-Hep, PSF-MPC and PSF-Col membranes. The protein adsorption trend on the surface of membranes was found to be least for PSF-AA-Hep followed by PSF-MPC, PSF-Col, and pristine PSF. These membranes exhibited similar behavior when studied for platelet adhesion. The potential reason for such activity was due to charged groups from heparin, biomimetic structures from collagen or MPC, and hydrophilic groups from acrylic acid. These factors might exhibit steric hindrance in preventing protein adsorption on the surface of membranes. The gas permeation results revealed that the surface-modified PSF membranes have lower activity than pristine PSF membranes. This was due to thin layer formation of grafted molecules on the surface of modified PSF membranes. This might have hindered in gas permeation of oxygen and carbon dioxide. Hence, the modified polysulfone (PSF) membranes demonstrated an acceptable gas transmission performance that might meet the needs for artificial respiratory devices or membrane oxygenators.

2.5 Other Polymeric Composites for Biomedical Applications

Polymers and ceramics are the most abundantly used materials in clinical practice. Holzapfel et al. (2013) emphasized them as key players of biomaterials market. The basic requirements to meet the clinical demands such as biocompatibility, controlled degradability, optimum porosity, and mechanical stability cannot be satisfied by a single component material. Hence, scientists have attempted to develop multicomponent materials in the form of composites to tackle these challenges. The advancements made in the field of polymer/ceramic composites to study their biomedical applications are given below. The major reason for designing polymer/ceramic composites is to introduce bioactive characteristic in the polymer matrix (Dziadek et al. 2017).

Gil-Albarova et al. (2012) investigated the in vivo behavior of glutaraldehyde crosslinked, gelatin-coated hydroxyapatite scaffold implanted in defected femur bone of New Zealand rabbits. After four months of implantation, the histopathological studies revealed that macroporous hydroxyapatite foam assisted in healing the critical-sized bone defect followed by bone conduction over its surface. This study showed that the gelatin-coated hydroxyapatite scaffold can provide optimum conditions for promoting bone ingrowth at the defected site. These results indicated the biocompatibility of the scaffold and offer a potential material for biomedical applications such as orthopedics and dentistry.

Additive manufacturing technique was utilized to prepare 3D biomimetic collagen/hydroxyapatite scaffolds for hard tissue regeneration (Lin et al. 2016). The scaffolds having dimensions of 600 μ m exhibit better mechanical stability and possess good adhesion, proliferation, and differentiation of bone marrow stromal cells seeded on the surface of scaffolds. The in vivo study conducted in femoral condyle defect in rabbit showed growth and development of new bone within the scaffolds. It was concluded that 3D printed collagen/hydroxyapatite scaffolds having interconnected pores can be utilized for tissue engineering applications.

The biomimetic inorganic/organic composites were developed by using 3D X-ray micro-tomography (Alonso-Sierra et al. 2017). Gel-casting method was employed for the preparation of hydroxyapatite and molded into required shape by adding PMMA microspheres. The hydroxyapatite scaffold with controllable porosity was achieved by burning the organic matrix during sintering. Finally, bovine tail-derived gelatin and collagen were used to fabricate biomimetic inorganic/organic composites. The compressive strength of gelatin-based composite was 18 MPa, whereas 13.2 MPa was noticed for collagen. Hence, the mechanical stability of the composites was found superior to cancellous bone. The pore structure and their distribution observed in this work suggested that these composites could be a promising material to support cell proliferation, tissue ingrowth, nutrient supply, and removal of waste products during hard tissue regeneration. recent article reviewed the in-depth progress involved in starch/ A hydroxyapatite-based composites for various biomedical applications such as bone cement, adhesives, bone waxes, drug delivery applications, and delivery of antibiotics (Miculescu et al. 2017).

Recently, polycaprolactone/hydroxyapatite/gelatin scaffolds loaded with doxycycline were fabricated to evaluate their antibacterial activity, drug release behavior, and cytotoxicity. The antibacterial study revealed effective inhibition on the growth of *Staphylococcus aureus* and *Porphyromonas gingivalis* bacteria. The release profile of doxycycline in phosphate buffer solution took place in two steps. Initially, the scaffolds exhibited burst release of nearly 60% of the drug within an hour and later the remaining drug was continued to release for 55 h. The anticancer activity of scaffolds was studied against three different cancer lines (A-431, 4T1, CACO-2) by using MTT assay. The A-431 and 4T1 cells showed a high level of toxicity than CACO-2 when treated with polycaprolactone/hydroxyapatite/gelatin scaffolds. This report indicated that the doxycycline loaded polycaprolactone/ hydroxyapatite/gelatin composites can be suitable biomaterial for drug delivery, antibacterial and anticancer applications (Ramirez-Agudelo et al. 2018).

The influence of compositional ratio and chemical constituents on biomineralization activity of chitin/larnite composites was investigated (Choudhary et al. 2016). The apatite deposition ability of chitin/larnite composites (30:70, 20:80) and pure larnite was studied by immersion in SBF (simulated body fluid) for five days. The apatite precipitation on the surface of composites increased with the increase in polymer content in the composite. Thus, the bioactivity of chitin/larnite (30:70) ratio was found to be superior to chitin/larnite (20:80) and pure larnite. A similar finding was reported in which the chitosan/larnite composite ratio mimicking natural bone [eggshell derived chitosan/larnite (30:70)] exhibited better apatite deposition (Choudhary et al. 2015).

Multicomponent poly(lactic acid)/poly(caprolactone)/wollastonite composite system was prepared to predict their applicability as a biomedical scaffold (Goswami et al. 2013). The compressive test of porous foams under dry and wet conditions was carried out in order to analyze the performance of composites under physiological conditions. It was observed that the mechanical stability of composites increased with the increase in the wollastonite content. The hydrophobic nature of polymers restricts their interaction with the cells and decelerates tissue regeneration process. The contact angle measurement of the composites was done to study their wettability. It was found that the presence of wollastonite lowered the contact angle as well as enhanced the wettability of the composites. The MTT assay of the composite shows enhanced proliferation of osteoblast cells on the surface of the composite having maximum filler content (PLCLW8) within 7 days. It can be concluded that the scaffolds containing bioactive silicate as filler promoted the adhesion and proliferation of osteoblast cells at a faster rate than the pure polymer (PLCL15).

Recently, cell viability and mechanical properties of Poly(butylene adipate-co-terephthalate)/wollastonite biocomposites were studied (Bheemaneni et al. 2018). The surface of composites after immersion in simulated body fluid shows good apatite deposition within five days. The tensile strength of composites was found to increase with the increase in filler (wollastonite) content. The

composites showed better proliferation of MG63 cells within short incubation period. Thus, bioactive silicate (wollastonite) was noticed to play a vital role during biomineralization as well as cell proliferation on the surface of composites when compared to pure poly(butylene adipate-co-terephthalate).

Santos et al. (2017) reported simple and scalable processing method for the preparation of hydroxyapatite/poly(L-lactic acid) electrospun membranes for bone regeneration (Santos et al. 2017). The interaction of poly(L-lactic acid) and hydroxyapatite/poly(L-lactic acid) membranes with MG63 osteoblastic-like cells was evaluated to confirm their biocompatibility. The cell proliferation on the surface of hydroxyapatite/poly(L-lactic acid) membranes was found to be higher than neat poly(L-lactic acid). The metabolic activity of hydroxyapatite/PLLA membranes (582 \pm 182%) was highest when compared to PLLA (321 \pm 36%) and control (117 \pm 16%). These values indicated that the rate of cell growth was faster on the surface of membranes. This study further strengthens the fact that the presence of ceramic particles in polymer matrix improved the biological properties of the composites with the cells.

Macha et al. (2017) developed polylactic acid (PLA) thin film composed of coralline hydroxyapatite. Presence of coralline hydroxyapatite in the composite supported the proliferation and cell attachment of human adipose-derived stem cells whereas no sign of cellular activity was observed on the surface of polylactic acid. Therefore, the combination of flexibility and biodegradability of polymer with bioactivity and osteoconductivity of ceramic can assist in designing an effective scaffold for biomedical applications. The biological performance of hydroxyapatite/ ultrahigh molecular weight polyethylene composites was studied (Mirsalehi et al. 2015). The composites were fabricated in different ratios by varying the amount of hydroxyapatite to analyze the effect of ceramic content on biocompatibility. The adhesion and proliferation of MG-63 cell were found to be higher for all the samples than positive control. Moreover, the composite containing the higher weight percentage of hydroxyapatite showed better proliferation and differentiation of bone-forming cells. This study suggested that bioactive ceramic as fillers reinforced in polymer matrix assists in the development of non-toxic materials having the potential to stimulate the ingrowth of new bone on their surface.

2.6 Polymer Microarrays for Biomedical Applications

Researchers across the globe are attempting different fabrication techniques to explore polymeric materials for clinical applications. Microarrays have evolved as an effective method to screen hundreds of polymers on a single microscope slide. This process facilitates the identification of a range of suitable polymers for different applications in the field of medicine and biotechnology (Zhang et al. 2009).

A microarray of 381 polymers was prepared for selection of promising materials having the ability to inhibit growth of clinical bacteria (Venkateswaran et al. 2016). The microarrays were prepared by placing different polymers on agarose-coated

glass slides by using contact printing. The polymer microarrays were dried, sterilized, and incubated in clinical pathogen cultures. The polymers having ability to prevent bacterial growth were studied by coating on coverslips for hit validation and characterized by scanning electron microscopy. The polymers having bacteria repelling activity were coated on commercially available catheters. Among all samples (poly(methylmethacrylate-co-dimethylacrylamide) have shown about 100 fold reduction in the growth of clinical bacterial on the surface of central venous catheters.

Three-dimensional microarray platform was developed for the fabrication of about eighty single and double network hydrogel on a single microscope slide (Duffy et al. 2016). The single network hydrogel was prepared by printing acrylate-based monomers on a slide which was immersed in the components of second network followed by photopolymerization leading to the development of three-dimensional double network hydrogel arrays. The mechanical test indicated that wide range of compressive and tensile strength can be achieved by preparing double network hydrogel microarrays. The cellular study revealed that both microarrays (single and double network) have potential to bind to HeLa cells and these cells were found to cover major portions of their surface. This generation of 3D microarrays can be a promising platform for the discovery of new biomaterials.

Khan et al. (2013) utilized microarray technique for rapid screening of most promising polymeric composites having the potential to support growth and development of skeletal progenitor cells (Khan et al. 2013). Ternary composites of natural (chitosan) and synthetic (Polycaprolactone, Polyethyleneimine, Poly(L-Lactide), Polyethylene oxide, Poly(vinyl acetate), Poly(2-hydroxyethyl methacrylate) polymers were prepared by solvent blending. The microarray screening approach assisted in the identification of Chitosan/Poly(vinyl acetate)/Poly(L-Lactide) as the most effective composite for hard tissue regeneration applications. The in vitro cellular studies showed that chitosan/poly(vinyl acetate)/poly(L-Lactide) composite has the ability to stimulate the proliferation and differentiation of human bone marrow-derived STRO-1 + skeletal cells and also possess osteogenic potential when trialed for in vivo studies. Thus, present work concluded that microarray could be utilized as an effective identification of potential biomaterials for repairing bone defects.

Earlier, microarray technique was utilized to study 135 binary polymer blends for screening cell-compatible materials for hard tissue regeneration (Khan et al. 2010). The cytocompatibility of these polymer blends was investigated for various cell populations such as fetal femur-derived skeletal cells, osteoblast-like SaOs cell line, bone marrow-derived STRO-1+ skeletal stem cells and osteoblast-like MG63 cell line bone. Results show that poly(L-lactic acid)/polycaprolactone was noticed as the most promising blend for providing an excellent platform for stimulating adhesion and proliferation of skeletal stem cells as well as enhanced bone formation. This report suggested that microarray technique can be considered as a unique strategy to identify biologically active materials for exploring their biomedical applications.

2.7 Challenges and Future Prospective

The requirements of an ideal scaffold for biomedical applications are its biodegradability, bioactivity, mechanical stability, precise shape to fit at the defective site and suitable internal structure to facilitate cell proliferation and vascularization (Chung et al. 2007). Despite remarkable advancements in medical technology, few limitations such as controllable porosity, adequate mechanical strength, and good bioactivity are found to be associated with polymers. In order to tackle these challenges, it is necessary to modify the properties of polymers by fabricating their composites with suitable materials. To achieve controllable porous network, 3D printing has evolved as a potential fabrication technique which involves layer-by-layer fabrication of scaffolds without special tools, molds or dies. 3D printing is the state-of-the-art manufacturing technique that provides fabrication of patient-specific scaffolds having complex structures mimicking native tissues (Guvendiren et al. 2016).

Polymers possess controllable degradability and flexibility, the mechanical stability as well as bioactivity should be improved to achieve desired biological performance. It is known that calcium and magnesium-based silicate ceramics have reasonable bioactivity and promising mechanical stability (Diba et al. 2014; Lin et al. 2016). Hence, polymer composites with silicate ceramics can assist in designing and development of biomaterials to overcome the present issues related to tissue engineering applications. From all the above discussions, it can be concluded that polymer-based scaffolds can be emerging biomaterials for versatile biomedical applications in near future.

2.8 Conclusion

The recent trend toward designing polymeric composites for biomedical applications is expected to possess porous structure, biodegradability, bio-functionality, and sufficient mechanical stability. Polymers and their composites are versatile in nature that allows the flexibility for altering their properties as per the requirements. A wide range of polymeric materials, reinforcements, and fabrication routes are extensively studied to explore their applicability in tissue engineering. In this chapter, a detailed literature of current developments in the field of polymer matrix composites has been reviewed. The experimental studies (both in vitro and in vivo) and their results indicated the excellent performance of composites with good biocompatibility that might open the new perspectives for their applications in tissue engineering, drug delivery, biosensor, imaging, etc.

Acknowledgements Authors thank Vellore Institute of Technology (VIT) for financial support. With immense pleasure and deep sense of gratitude, authors wish to express sincere thanks to Dr. S. Sasikumar, Associate Professor, School of Advanced Sciences (SAS), VIT, without his motivation and continuous encouragement, this book chapter would not have been successfully completed.

References

- Allison DD, Grande-Allen KJ (2006) Review. Hyaluronan: a powerful tissue engineering tool. Tissue Eng 12:2131–2140
- Alonso-Sierra S, Velázquez-Castillo R, Millán-Malo B et al (2017) Interconnected porosity analysis by 3D X-ray microtomography and mechanical behavior of biomimetic organic-inorganic composite materials. Mater Sci Eng, C 80:45–53
- Antoniac IV (2016) Handbook of bioceramics and biocomposites. Springer, Basel
- Armentano I, Dottori M, Fortunati E et al (2010) Biodegradable polymer matrix nanocomposites for tissue engineering: a review. Polym Degrad Stab 95:2126–2146
- Basile MA, D'Ayala GG, Laurienzo P et al (2012) Development of innovative biopolymers and related composites for bone tissue regeneration: study of their interaction with human osteoprogenitor cells. J Appl Biomater Funct Mater 10:210–214
- Bhat SV (2005) Biomaterials. Narosa Publishing House, New Delhi
- Bheemaneni G, Saravana S, Kandaswamy R (2018) Processing and characterization of poly (butylene adipate-coterephthalate)/wollastonite biocomposites for medical applications. Mater Today: Proc 5:1807–1816
- Boccaccini AR, Maquet V (2003) Bioresorbable and bioactive polymer/bioglass composites with tailored pore structure for tissue engineering applications. Compos Sci Technol 63(16):2417–2429
- Bousalem S, Yassar A, Basinska T et al (2003) Synthesis, characterization and biomedical applications of functionalized polypyrrole-coated polystyrene latex particles. Polym Adv Technol 14:820–825
- BragaI FJC, RogeroI SO, CoutoI AA et al (2007) Characterization of PVDF/HAP composites for medical applications. Mate Res 10:1–8
- Bregnocchi A, Chandraiahgari CR, Zanni E et al (2016) PVDF composite films including graphene/ZnO nanostructures and their antimicrobial activity. In: Proceedings of the 16th international conference on nanotechnology Sendai, Japan
- Cardoso VF, Correia DM, Ribeiro C et al (2018) Fluorinated polymers as smart materials for advanced biomedical applications. Polymers 10:1–26
- Chandy T, Sharma CP (1990) Chitosan-as a biomaterial. Artif Cells, Blood Subst Biotechnol 18:1–24
- Chen Z, Wang T, Yan Q (2018) Building a polysaccharide hydrogel capsule delivery system for control release of ibuprofen. J Biomater Sci Polym Ed 29:309–324
- Choudhary R, Koppala S, Srivastava A et al (2015) In vitro bioactivity of nanocrystalline and bulk larnite/chitosan composites: comparative study. J Sol-Gel Sci Technol 74:631–640
- Choudhary R, Venkatraman SK, Rana A et al (2016) In vitro bioactivity studies of larnite and larnite/chitin composites prepared from biowaste for biomedical applications. Bull Mater Sci 39:1213–1221
- Chung UI, Itaka K, Nishiyama N et al (2007) Scaffolds for skeletal regeneration. NanoBiotechnology 3:104–106
- Cipitria A, Skelton A, Dargaville T et al (2011) Design, fabrication and characterization of PCL electrospun scaffolds da review. J Mater Chem 21:9419–9453
- Cui W, Cheng L, Hu C et al (2013) Electrospun poly (L-lactide) fiber with ginsenoside rg3 for inhibiting scar hyperplasia of skin. PLoS ONE 8:68771
- Daamen WF, van Moerkerk HTB, Hafmans T et al (2003) Preparation and evaluation of molecularly defined collagen-elastin-glycosaminoglycan scaffolds for tissue engineering. Biomaterials 24:4001–4009
- Dalby MJ, Di Silvio L, Harper EJ et al (1999) In vitro evaluation of a new polymethylmethacrylate cement reinforced with hydroxyapatite. J Mater Sci Mater Med 10:793–796

Davis JR (2003) Handbook of materials for medical devices. ASM International, Materials Park

Dey K, Agnelli S, Serzanti M et al (2018) Preparation and properties of high performance gelatin-based hydrogels with chitosan or hydroxyethyl cellulose for tissue engineering

applications. Int J Polym Mater Polym Biomater https://doi.org/10.1080/00914037.2018. 1429439

- Dhandayuthapani B, Yoshida Y, Maekawa T et al (2011) Polymeric scaffolds in tissue engineering application: a review. Int J Polym Sci 2011:1–19
- Diba M, Kharaziha M, Fathi MH et al (2012) Preparation and characterization of polycaprolactone/forsterite nanocomposite porous scaffolds designed for bone tissue regeneration. Compos Sci Tech 72:716–723
- Diba M, Goudouri O-M, Tapia F et al (2014) Magnesium-containing bioactive polycrystalline silicate-based ceramics and glass-ceramics for biomedical applications. Curr Opin Solid State Mater Sci 18:147–167
- Diez M, Kang M-H, Kim S-M et al (2016) Hydroxyapatite (HA)/poly-L-lactic acid (PLLA) dual coating on magnesium alloy under deformation for biomedical applications. J Mater Sci Mater Med 27:34
- Dorozhkin SV (2010) Bioceramics of calcium orthophosphates. Biomaterials 31:1465-1485
- Dos Santos V, Brandalise RN, Savaris M (2017) Engineering of biomaterials. Springer, Berlin
- Duffy C, Venturato A, Callanan A et al (2016) Arrays of 3D double-network hydrogels for the high-throughput discovery of materials with enhanced physical and biological properties. Acta Biomater 34:104–112
- Dziadek M, Stodolak-Zych E, Cholewa-Kowalska K (2017) Biodegradable ceramic-polymer composites for biomedical applications: a review. Mater Sci Eng, C 71:1175–1191
- Enderale J, Blanchard S, Bronzino J (2005) Introduction to biomedical engineering. Elsevier Academic Press, Amsterdam
- Fini M, Motta A, Torricelli P et al (2005) The healing of confined critical size cancellous defects in the presence of silk fibroin hydrogel. Biomaterials 26:3527–3536
- Fray ME, Prowans P, Puskas JE, Altstadt V (2006) Biocompatibility and fatigue properties of polystyrene-polyisobutylene-polystyrene, an emerging thermoplastic elastomeric biomaterial. Biomacromolecules 7:844–850
- Freyman TM, Yannas IV, Gibson LJ (2001) Cellular materials as porous scaffolds for tissue engineering. Prog Mater Sci 46:273–282
- Gentile P, Chiono V, Carmagnola I et al (2014) An overview of poly(lactic-co-glycolic) acid (PLGA)-based biomaterials for bone tissue engineering. Int J Mol Sci 15:3640–3659
- Gil-Albarova J, Vila M, Badiola-Vargas J et al (2012) In vivo osteointegration of three-dimensional crosslinked gelatin-coated hydroxyapatite foams. Acta Biomater 8:3777–3783
- Goodman S (2005) Wear particulate and osteolysis. Orthop Clin North Am 36:41-48
- Goswami J, Bhatnagar N, Mohanty S et al (2013) Processing and characterization of poly(lactic acid) based bioactive composites for biomedical scaffold application. Express Polym Lett 7:767–777
- Guvendiren M, Molde J, Soares RMD et al (2016) Designing biomaterials for 3D printing. ACS Biomater Sci Eng 2:1679–1693
- Haider A, Haider S, Kang I-K et al (2018) A novel use of cellulose based filter paper containing silver nanoparticles for its potential application as wound dressing agent. Int J Biol Macromol 108:455–461
- Han HH, Yun S, Won J-Y et al (2018) Orbital wall reconstruction in rabbits using 3D printed polycaprolactone–β-tricalcium phosphate thin membrane. Mater Lett 218:280–284
- Harris JM (1992) Introduction to biotechnical and biomedical applications of poly(ethylene glycol). In: Harris JM (ed) Poly(ethylene glycol) chemistry. Topics in applied chemistry. Springer, Berlin
- Haryanto F, Mahardian A (2017) Biocompatible hydrogel film of polyethylene oxide-polyethylene glycol dimetacrylate for wound dressing application. IOP Conf Ser Mater Eng 288:012076
- Hindumathi R, Jagannatham M, Haridoss P et al (2018) Novel nano-cocoon like structures of polyethylene glycol-multiwalled carbon nanotubes for biomedical applications. Nano-Structures Nano-Objects 13:30–35

- Holzapfel BM, Reichert JC, Schantz J-T et al (2013) How smart do biomaterials need to be? A translational science and clinical point of view. Adv Drug Deliv Rev 65:581–603
- Houchin M, Topp E (2008) Chemical degradation of peptides and proteins in PLGA: a review of reactions and mechanisms. J Pharm Sci 97:2395–2404
- Ishihara K, Oshida H, Endo Y et al (1992) Hemocompatibility of human whole blood on polymers with a phospholipid polar group and its mechanism. J Biomed Mater Res 26:1543–1552
- Iwasakia Y, Uchiyamab S, Kuritab K et al (2002) A nonthrombogenic gas-permeable membrane composed of a phospholipid polymer skin film adhered to a polyethylene porous membrane. Biomaterials 23:3421–3427
- Jiang T, Abdel-Fattah WI, Laurencin CT (2006) In vitro evaluation of chitosan/poly(lactic acid-glycolic acid) sintered microsphere scaffolds for bone tissue engineering. Biomaterials 27:4894–4903
- Kang JY, Chung CW, Sung J-H et al (2009) Novel porous matrix of hyaluronic acid for the three-dimensional culture of chondrocytes. Int J Pharm 369:114–120
- Khan F, Tare RS, Kanczler JM et al (2010) Strategies for cell manipulation and skeletal tissue engineering using high-throughput polymer blend formulation and microarray techniques. Biomaterials 31:2216–2228
- Khan F, Smith JO, Kanczler JM et al (2013) Discovery and evaluation of a functional ternary polymer blend for bone repair: translation from a microarray to a clinical model. Adv Funct Mater 23:2850–2862
- Klemm D, Heublein B, Fink HP et al (2005) Cellulose: fascinating biopolymer and sustainable raw material. A Chem Int Ed 44:3358
- Kolobow T, Borelli M, Spatola R (1986) Artificial lung (oxygenators). Artif Organs 10:370-377
- Lasprilla AJ, Martinez GA, Lunelli BH et al (2012) Polylactic acid synthesis for application in biomedical devices a review. Biotechnol Adv 30:321–328
- Lee KY, Mooney DJ (2012) Alginate: properties and biomedical applications. Prog Polym Sci 37:106–126
- Lee K-H, Rhee S-H (2009) The mechanical properties and bioactivity of poly(methyl methacrylate)/SiO₂-CaO Nanocomposite. Biomaterials 30:3444–3449
- Lee CH, Singla A, Lee Y (2001) Biomedical applications of collagen. Int J Pharm 221:1-22
- Li Z, Ramay HR, Hauch KD et al (2005) Chitosan alginate hybrid scaffolds for bone tissue engineering. Biomaterials 26:3919–3928
- Lin K-F, He S, Song Y et al (2016a) Low temperature additive manufacturing biomimic three dimensional hydroxyapatite/collagen scaffolds for bone regeneration. ACS Appl Mater Interfaces 8:6905–6916
- Lin K, Lin C, Zeng Y (2016b) High mechanical strength bioactive wollastonite bioceramics sintered from nanofibers. RSC Advances 6:13867–13872
- Liu S, Kang M, Li K et al (2015) Polysaccharide-templated preparation of mechanically-tough, conductive and self-healing hydrogels. Chem Eng J 334:2222–2230
- Loos C, Syrovets T, Musyanovych A et al (2014a) Functionalized polystyrene nanoparticles as a platform for studying bio–nano interactions. Beilstein J Nanotechnol. 5:2403–2412
- Loos C, Syrovets T, Musyanovych A et al (2014b) Amino-functionalized nanoparticles as inhibitors of mTOR and inducers of cell cycle arrest in leukemia cells. Biomaterials 35:1944– 1953
- Lu DR, Lee SJ, Park K (1991) Calculation of solvation interaction energies for protein adsorption on polymer surfaces. J Biomater Sci Polym Ed 3:127–147
- Macha IJ, Ben-Nissan B, Santos J et al (2017) Biocompatibility of a new biodegradable polymer-hydroxyapatite composite for biomedical applications. J Drug Deliv Sci Technol 38:72–77
- Malafaya PB, Silva GA, Reis RL (2007) Natural-origin polymers as carriers and scaffolds for biomolecules and cell delivery in tissue engineering applications. Adv Drug Del Rev 59:207– 233
- Malagurski I, Levic S, Mitric M et al (2018) Bimetallic alginate nanocomposites: new antimicrobial biomaterials for biomedical application. Mater Lett 212:32–36

- Marques DR, Dos Santos L, O'Brien MA et al (2017) In vitro evaluation of poly (lactic-co-glycolic acid)/polyisoprene fibers for soft tissue engineering. J Biomed Mater Res, Part B 105:2581–2591
- Meinel L, Karageorgiou V, Hofmann S et al (2004) Engineering bone-like tissue in vitro using human bone marrow stem cells and silk scaffolds. J Biomed Mater Res A 71A:25–34
- Miculescu F, Maidaniuc A, Voicu SI et al (2017) Progress in hydroxyapatite–starch based sustainable biomaterials for biomedical bone substitution applications. ACS Sustain Chem Eng 5:8491–8512
- Mirsalehi SA, Sattari M, Khavandi A et al (2015) Tensile and biocompatibility properties of synthesized nano-hydroxyapatite reinforced ultrahigh molecular weight polyethylene nanocomposite. J Compos Mater 50:1725–1737
- Naira LS, Laurencin CT (2007) Biodegradable polymers as biomaterials. Prog Polym Sci 32:762–798
- Narayan R (2009) Biomedical materials. Springer, New York
- Necas J, Bartosikova L, Brauner P et al (2008) Hyaluronic acid (hyaluronan): a review. Veterinarni Med 53:397–411
- O'Brien FJ, Harley BA, Yannas IV et al (2005) The effect of pore size on cell adhesion in collagen-GAG scaffolds. Biomaterials 26:433–441
- Parenteau-Bareil R, Gauvin R, Berthod F (2010) Collagen-based biomaterials for tissue engineering applications. Materials 3:1863–1887
- Parida P, Behera A, Mishra SC (2012) Classification of biomaterials used in medicine. Int J Adv Appl Sci 1:31–35
- Park JB, Lakes RS (2007) Biomaterials-an introduction. Springer, New York
- Pei S, Ai F, Song QuS (2015) Fabrication and biocompatibility of reduced graphene oxide/poly (vinylidene fluoride) composite membranes. RSC Adv 5:99841–99847
- Peng H, Wang S, Xu H et al (2018) Preparations, properties, and formation mechanism of novel cellulose hydrogel membrane based on ionic liquid. J Appl Polym Sci 2018:45488
- Perinelli DR, Fagioli L, Campana R et al (2018) Chitosan-based nanosystems and their exploited antimicrobial activity. Eur J Pharm Sci 3:8–20
- Piskin K (1995) Biodegradable polymers as biomaterials. J Biomater Sci Polym 6:775-795
- Puppi D, Chiellini F, Piras AM et al (2010) Polymeric materials for bone and cartilage repair. Prog Polym Sci 35:403–440
- Ramirez-Agudelo R, Scheuermann K, Gala-García A et al (2018) Hybrid nanofibers based on poly-caprolactone/gelatin/hydroxyapatite nanoparticles-loaded Doxycycline: effective antitumoral and antibacterial activity. Mater Sci Eng, C 83:25–34
- Ratner BD, Hoffman AS, Lemons JE et al (2004) Biomaterials science—an introduction to materials in medicine. Elsevier Academic Press, Amsterdam
- Renteria-Zamarron D, Cortes-Hernandez DA, Bretado-Aragon L et al (2009) Mechanical properties and apatite-forming ability of PMMA bone cements. Mater Des 30:3318–3324
- Rezwana K, Chena QZ, Blakera JJ et al (2006) Biodegradable and bioactive porous polymer/ inorganic composite scaffolds for bone tissue engineering. Biomaterials 27:3413–3431
- Ribeiro C, Correia DM, Rodrigues I et al (2017) In-vivo demonstration of the suitability of piezoelectric stimuli for bone reparation. Mater Lett 209:118–121
- Rijal NP, Adhikari U, Khanal S et al (2018) Magnesium oxide-poly(ɛ-caprolactone)chitosan-based composite nanofiber for tissue engineering applications. Mater Sci Eng, B 228:18–27
- Rizwan M, Yahya R, Hassan A et al (2018) Synthesis of a novel organosoluble, biocompatible, and antibacterial chitosan derivative for biomedical applications. J Appl Polym Sci 35:45905
- Safaei M, Taran M (2018) Optimized synthesis, characterization, and antibacterial activity of an alginate-cupric oxide bionanocomposite. J Appl Polym Sci 135:45682
- Sahoo S, Toh SL, Goh JC (2010) A bFGF-releasing silk/PLGA-based biohybrid scaffold for ligament/tendon tissue engineering using mesenchymal progenitor cells. Biomaterials 31:2990–2998
- Santos D, Correia CO, Silva DM et al (2017) Incorporation of glass-reinforced hydroxyapatite microparticles into poly(lactic acid) electrospun fibre mats for biomedical applications. Mater Sci Eng, C 75:1184–1190
- Seol Y-J, Lee J-Y, Park Y-J et al (2004) Chitosan sponges as tissue engineering scaffolds for bone formation. Biotechnol Lett 26:1037–1041
- Sheikh FA, Ju HW, Moon BM et al (2015) Hybrid scaffolds based on PLGA and silk for bone tissue engineering. J Tissue Eng Regen Med 10:209–221
- Shen H, Hu X, Bei J et al (2008) The immobilization of basic fibroblast growth factor on plasma-treated poly(lactide-co-glycolide). Biomaterials 29:2388–2399
- Shinzato S, Kobayashi M, Mousa WF et al (2000) Bioactive polymethyl methacrylate-based bone cement: comparison of glass beads, apatite- and wollastonite-containing glass-ceramic, and hydroxyapatite fillers on mechanical and biological properties. J Biomed Mater Res, Part A 51:258–272
- Shogren RL, Bagley EB (1999) Natural polymers as advanced materials: some research needs and directions. In: Iman SH, Greene RV, Zaidi BR (eds) Biopolymers. Utilizing nature's advanced materials, ACS symposium series 723. Oxford University Press, Cary
- Shu XZ, Liu Y, Palumbo F et al (2003) Disulfide-crosslinked hyaluronan-gelatin hydrogel films: a covalent mimic of the extracellular matrix for in vitro cell growth. Biomaterials 24:3825–3834
- Smyth M, Rader C, Bras J et al (2018) Characterization and mechanical properties of ultraviolet stimuli-responsive functionalized cellulose nanocrystals alginate composites. J Appl Polym Sci 135:45857
- Stratton S, Shelke NB, Hoshino K et al (2016) Bioactive polymeric scaffolds for tissue engineering. Bioact Mater 1:93–108
- Sukanya VS, Mohanan PV (2017) Degradation of Poly(ε-caprolactone) and bio-interactions with mouse bone marrow mesenchymal stem cells. Colloids and Surf B Biointerfaces 163:107–118
- Sun W, Chen G, Wang F et al (2018) Polyelectrolyte-complex multilayer membrane with gradient porous structure based on natural polymers for wound care. Carbohydr Polym 181:183–190
- Svensson A, Nicklasson E, Harrah T et al (2005) Bacterial cellulose as a potential scaffold for tissue engineering of cartilage. Biomaterials 26:419–431
- Teng J, Yang B, Zhang L-Q et al (2018) Ultra-high mechanical properties of porous composites based on regenerated cellulose and cross-linked poly(ethylene glycol). Carbohyd Polym 179:244–251
- Tseng T-C, Tao L, Hsieh F-Y et al (2015) An injectable, self-healing hydrogel to repair the central nervous system. Adv Mater 27:3518–3524
- Turner NJ, Kielty CM, Walker MG et al (2004) A novel hyaluronan-based biomaterial (Hyaff-11) as a scaffold for endothelial cells in tissue engineered vascular grafts. Biomaterials 25:5955–5964
- Venkateswaran S, Gwynne PJ, Wu M et al (2016) High-throughput identification of bacteria repellent polymers for medical devices. J Vis Exp 117:e54382
- Vepari C, Kaplan DL (2007) Silk as a biomaterial. Prog Polym Sci 32:991-1007
- Wakitani S, Goto T, Pineda SJ et al (1994) Mesenchymal cell-based repair of large, full-thickness defects of articular cartilage. J Bone Joint Surg Am 76:579–592
- Wang L, Shelton RM, Cooper PR et al (2003) Evaluation of sodium alginate for bone marrow cell tissue engineering. Biomaterials 24:3475–3481
- Wang W, Zheng Z, Huang X et al (2016) Hemocompatibility and oxygenation performance of polysulfone membranes grafted with polyethylene glycol and heparin by plasma-induced surface modification. J Biomed Mater Res, Part B 00B:1–10
- Wieland JA, Houchin-Ray TL, Shea LD (2007) Non-viral vector delivery from PEG-hyaluronic acid hydrogels. J Controlled Release 120:233–241
- Williams DF (1999) The Williams dictionary of biomaterials. Liverpool University Press, Liverpool
- Woerly S, Marchand R, Lavallée G (1991) Interactions of copolymeric poly(glyceryl methacrylate)-collagen hydrogels with neural tissue: effects of structure and polar groups. Biomaterials 12:197–203

- Woodruff MA, Hutmacher DW (2010) The return of a forgotten polymer polycaprolactone in the 21st century. Prog Polym Sci 35:1217–1256
- Xu Y, Han J, Chai Y et al (2018) Development of porous chitosan/tripolyphosphate scaffolds with tunable uncross-linking primary amine content for bone tissue engineering. Mater Sci Eng, C 85:182–190
- Yan Y, Sencadas V, Jin T et al (2017) Tailoring the wettability and mechanical properties of electrospun poly(L-lactic acid)-poly(glycerol sebacate) core-shell membranes for biomedical applications. J Colloid Interface Sci 508:87–94
- Zhang R, Liberski A, Sanchez-Martin R et al (2009) Microarrays of over 2000 hydrogels identification of substrates for cellular trapping and thermally triggered release. Biomaterials 30:6193–6201
- Zheng Z, Wang W, Huang X et al (2016) Fabrication, characterization, and hemocompatibility investigation of polysulfone grafted with polyethylene glycol and heparin used in membrane oxygenators. Artif Organs 40:E219–E229
- Zheng Z, Wang W, Huang X et al (2018) Surface modification of polysulfone hollow fiber membrane for extracorporeal membrane oxygenator using low-temperature plasma treatment. Plasma Process Polym 15:e1700122
- Zhong S, Teo WE, Zhu X et al (2006) An aligned nanofibrous collagen scaffold by electrospinning and its effects on in vitro fibroblast culture. J Biomed Mater Res, Part A 79:456–463

Synthesis of Bio-based Polymer Composites: Fabrication, Fillers, Properties, and Challenges



Amanda Murawski, Rashid Diaz, Sarah Inglesby, Khristal Delabar and Rafael L. Quirino

Abstract The bio-based polymer composite industry is growing dramatically following economic and environmental concerns over constant use and dependence on non-renewable feedstock, such as crude oil. It is notorious that there has been a continuous increase in the research activity related to the development of novel bio-based materials over the past couple of decades. The focus has slowly shifted from simpler systems, consisting primarily of traditional thermoplastics reinforced with natural fibers, to more advanced composites with carefully engineered bio-based matrices, or fully bio-based materials in which both matrix and reinforcement are of bio-based origins. In the realm of bio-based biomedical applications, the efforts are vastly dominated by investigation of PLA and PLA-based composites. The existing challenges for the fabrication and the use of bio-based composites are mainly associated with the lack of consistency in materials' characterization among the various proposed systems, which makes a direct comparison of different materials exceedingly hard. This manuscript contemplates the fabrication of bio-based composites through a processing perspective, and by also covering the literature of the many resin/reinforcement systems investigated to date, before concluding with brief remarks on the desired properties and challenges related to the use of bio-based composites in biomedical applications.

Keywords Polymer composites • Bio-based materials • Natural fibers • Reinforcement • Bio-based resins

1 Introduction

The bio-based polymer composite industry is growing dramatically within the field of biomedical engineering which fosters many practical applications. Economic and environmental issues surrounding the world of oil-based polymers call for increased

in Biomedical Engineering, Lecture Notes in Bioengineering, https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-030-04741-2_2

A. Murawski \cdot R. Diaz \cdot S. Inglesby \cdot K. Delabar \cdot R. L. Quirino (\boxtimes) Chemistry Department, Georgia Southern University, Statesboro, GA, USA

e-mail: rquirino@georgiasouthern.edu

[©] Springer Nature Switzerland AG 2019

K. K. Sadasivuni et al. (eds.), Polymer Nanocomposites

innovation and application of bio-based materials as an alternative. From an environmental standpoint, petroleum products lack sustainability (Alghazali et al. 2015). The realm of bio-based materials is expanding because the development of bio-based products is more environmentally friendly and often safer for human use/ intake than petroleum-based materials. Economic factors, such as oil price and supply, are driving forces in this new era for the transition from crude oil-based materials to bio-based materials of both natural and synthetic origin (Alghazali et al. 2015). The economy and research industry surrounding the biomedical field spans from topics of drug delivery to joint replacement materials. An example of bio-based biomedical advancements includes bio-based topicals that enhance salicylic acid delivery (Langasco et al. 2016). This advancement in the drug delivery of salicylic acid explores gel formulas containing natural polymers with the goal of permeating the skin to treat acne vulgaris, while still being safe enough to use as a topical on human skin. Another medical application of bio-based materials is the use of calcium carbonate nanoparticles to enhance drug delivery of anticancer drugs (Render et al. 2014). Porous structures of biomaterials are also grounds for the practical medicinal application. These porous polymer structures have been used in synthetic tissue engineering for osteoblasts, hepatocytes, and even synthesized bone tissue (Alghazali et al. 2015). Drug delivery applications for porous structures have also been implemented to control timely drug delivery by diffusion through a matrix of the drug (Alghazali et al. 2015). Osteopathic medicine specifically contemplates polyethylene becoming a substitute for platinum in joint replacements in recent years. Problems such as debris from the components of polyethylene causing infection are a current topic of debate.

1.1 Polymer Composites

By definition, a polymer is a large molecule comprised of repeating chemical units (Isabelle and Lan 2009). The large class of chemical polymers can be broken down into natural polymers and synthetic polymers. Natural polymers include proteins (such as albumin and collagen) and polysaccharides (such as chitosan and dextran). Common biomedical applications of these natural polymers include reactive sites for drug delivery systems (Isabelle and Lan 2009). There is a multitude of synthetic polymers. They are usually classified based on their repeating chemical functionality. Examples of synthetic polymers include polyethers, polyesters, polyoxamers, and RP polymers. Biomedical research surrounding synthetic polymers spans many topics including circulation rates of pharmaceuticals in the body and adapting chemical release to fit optimal times (Isabelle and Lan 2009). These synthetic and natural polymers vary most obviously in source, but also notably in chemical structure. Both natural and synthetic polymer composite materials are used in the biomedical industry for various applications such as implants, bone plates, vascular grafts, and artificial hearts. The functionally of these applications is ultimately to restore or replace damaged or nonexistent human tissues.

1.2 Bio-based Materials

Bio-based materials are materials that contain components of bio-renewable origins. With time, crude oil-based polymers are being replaced with these novel bio-based materials (Alghazali et al. 2015). Common examples of these bio-renewable resources include biomass feedstock, biofibers, and biopolymers (Mohanty et al. 2002). Biomass feedstock is commonly used as a more environmentally safe alternative to otherwise used petroleum resources. Biofibers, such as hemp and flax, are commonly used as reinforcement in the fabrication of bio-based composites. Another common example of a biopolymer is cellulosic plastics (Mohanty et al. 2002). For bio-based composites, the bio-renewable portion does not have to be specifically in one realm. It can be the filler, the matrix, or both.

The following sections will give insight into further applications of bio-based polymer composites in the biomedical realm. In covering these applications, this chapter will focus on the fabrication and the different kinds of processing applied to thermoplastic and thermosetting bio-based polymer composites. These various composites require different processing methods. The preparation of these bio-based composites for biomedical applications stems from the use of different fillers and reinforcements, as unveiled in Sect. 3. Indeed, various bio-based and non-bio-based fillers/reinforcements with either bio-based or non-bio-based polymers used in biomedical practical applications are also discussed in this chapter. Also explored, are properties of bio-based polymer composites as intended for biomedical applications. The chapter concludes with a brief discussion of challenges encountered for the application of bio-based polymer composites in the biomedical field. Bio-based composites are an ever-expanding topic in biomedicine which, through the continuation of research, will keep on positively impacting the industry both environmentally and economically.

2 Fabrication/Processing of Bio-based Polymer Composites

Polymers have become fundamentally incorporated into almost every aspect of life, from medical applications to cosmetics. Biodegradable polymers have become the central focus over the last few decades because of their ability to break down and degrade without environmental harm (Gunatillake et al. 2006). Some applications for such polymers include pharmaceuticals (Chiellini et al. 2008), mechanical support (Ju et al. 2009), artificial tissue and organs (Piskin 2002), medical implants, surgical glues, and sutures (Kiick 2007). For some biomedical applications, it is more advantageous to have the polymer degrade naturally, after serving its purpose (Dash and Cudworth 1998).

Polymers can be divided up into multiple categories based on their mechanism of polymerization or origin. This section focuses on the processing conditions and contemplates polymers based on their classification as thermoplastics or thermosets. In thermoplastic polymers, the polymer chains interact with each other through non-covalent interactions, whereas in thermosets, these interactions are of a covalent nature, constituting cross-links and resulting in an overall rigid, interconnected structure. The non-covalent interactions in thermoplastics allow the polymers to melt and make recycling possible at the end of the polymer's life cycle. On the other hand, thermosets do not melt and cannot be dissolved in a solvent due to their highly cross-linked structure. Consequently, thermosets must undergo harsher conditions in order to be recycled due to their enhanced mechanical properties compared to thermoplastics.

Currently, the majority of thermosetting polymeric materials are derived from crude oil and are non-biodegradable (Bisio and Xanathos 1995; Mustafa 1993). Often times, thermosets and thermoplastics derived from bio-renewable resources exhibit flexible, long-chain polymer characteristics such as high elongation at break, low glass transition temperatures, and relatively low stiffness (Frederick et al. 2004). Therefore, the preparation of copolymers from a combination of synthetic and renewable co-monomers is a common practice in order to improve structural properties. In the following sections, some of the latest and most popular techniques of polymer processing will be discussed.

2.1 Thermoplastic-Based Composites

Thermoplastic polymers are generally formed by condensation or free radical polymerizations, creating linear polymer chains with weak intermolecular interactions. These intermolecular forces can be easily overcome through heat, making these polymers moldable at high temperatures. Under the umbrella of thermoplastics are hydrogels, which exhibit swelling properties that make them ideal candidates for applications such as disposable diapers and feminine products (Shen et al. 2015).

Most common and conventional ways to process thermoplastics are through injection molding, extrusion, and blow molding. Injection molding involves melting the polymer, followed by pressure to force the polymer into a pre-formed mold. The mold is held under pressure until the polymer solidifies and then the newly formed part is removed. Extrusion and blow molding are similar techniques in which the polymer is melted, manipulated based on application, and then cooled to the desired shape. In the extrusion method, after melting, any desired additives are added and the materials are extruded through a dye to produce a continuous material, such as cables, lines, wires, films, sheets, and beams. In blow molding, pressurized air is used to keep the polymer in contact with the mold's walls while maintaining an empty core, creating hollow objects, such as bottles. The succeeding sections will discuss these techniques as they are applied in current research related to biomaterials.

2.1.1 Injection Molding

Injection molding (Fig. 1) is one of the oldest and simplest forms of polymer processing. Several studies have shown its successfully implementation in the development of scaffolds for drug delivery (Gomes et al. 2001), orthopedic implants (Kobayashi and Suong 2010; Karande et al. 2004), and tissue engineering (Mi et al. 2013; Wu et al. 2006; Haugen et al. 2006; Miller et al. 2017; Hooreweder et al. 2013; Yang et al. 2001). In a recent comparison study, polycarbonate/urethane composites were fabricated by injection molding and 3D printing for applications in orthopedics and soft tissue replacement (Miller et al. 2017). It was found that the 3D printing processing method produced equal or better results in monotonic tension, compression, shear, and tensile fatigue tests than the injection molding controls (Miller et al. 2017). However, in comparison to selective laser sintering, injection molding was found to have equivalent fatigue properties (Hooreweder et al. 2013). Differences between samples produced by the two methods only became apparent when their geometry was altered (Hooreweder et al. 2013).

Highly porous, biodegradable scaffolds are essential to accommodate the regeneration of tissue and guide cells' growth in three dimensions, while degrading in a neutral manner to avoid inflammation or tissue rejection (Yang et al. 2001; Quirk et al. 2004). Therefore, other studies have used a combination of processing methods in addition to injection molding, due to its simplicity, to produce repeatable and precise parts (Kramschuster and Turng 2010). Due to the necessity of pore size and structure precision, conventional techniques have been abandoned in favor of more advanced techniques, such as particulate leaching (Mikos et al. 1993), temperature-induced phase separation (TIPS) (Nam and Park 1999), emulsion freeze drying (Whang et al. 1995), electrospinning (Bognitzki et al. 2001), and rapid prototyping (Ma 2004). These advanced techniques will be further discussed in Sect. 2.3.



Fig. 1 Schematic of a typical injection molding system

2.1.2 Extrusion

Reactive extrusion is a more efficient form of extrusion in which a chemical reaction occurs during the blend-melt process. One of the pivotal aspects of reactive extrusion is the introduction of modification, polymerization, and in situ processing (reactive phase) through chemical reactions. This process has been most recently used in bio-based polymer bends and composites research (Formela et al. 2018). The practicality of this processing technique is demonstrated by its continuous successful use in the preparation of biodegradable polymers (Bonnet et al. 2015; Spinella et al. 2015), functionalization of natural fibers/fillers (Gibril et al. 2013), and the compatibilization of bio-based polymer blends and composites (Korol et al. 2015). A simplified extrusion system is illustrated in Fig. 2.

As an example, the in situ reactive extrusion of grafted poly(3-hydroxybutyrate) (PHB) onto cellulose with dicumyl peroxide (DCP) as a radical initiator was studied in recent years (Wei et al. 2015). The highest yield of cellulose-*g*-PHB copolymer was obtained through a reaction time of 5 min and 2 wt% of initiator (Wei et al. 2015). The thermomechanical properties of the copolymer were enhanced and could be easily tailored by altering the weight percentages of the monomers, therefore creating a wide range of applications for the biocomposites under study (Wei et al. 2015).

Cellulosic fibers from natural resources are one of the most common fillers used in bio-based polymer composites to enhance the thermomechanical properties. In these cases, the performance of the bio-based composite is directly related to the fiber-matrix interface compatibility. Several approaches have been developed over the years to enhance fiber-matrix interactions, including the manipulation of the matrix to create a more polar matrix that will inherently bind better with the polar fiber/filler. For example, maleated polyolefins were blended with wood particles by a reactive extrusion technique (Carlborn and Matuana 2006). It was found that the



Fig. 2 Schematic of a simplified extrusion system

degree of maleated polyolefin grafting onto the hydroxyl groups of the wood particles was directly related to the maleated polyolefin feed ratio (Carlborn and Matuana 2006). Interestingly enough, there were no significant discrepancies reported in the grafting efficiency under variable extrusion parameters (Carlborn and Matuana 2006).

2.2 Thermoset-Based Composites

Thermosetting polymers have some advantages over thermoplastics, such as extended life span, and chemical and corrosion resistance, but due to their highly cross-linked networks, recycling/reprocessing is virtually impossible. Two of the most popular thermosetting polymers employed in biomedical applications are polyurethanes (PU) and polytetrafluoroethylene (PTFE). These materials cannot be melted and are insoluble. At the end of the polymer's life cycle, harsh and potentially environmentally hazardous procedures must be employed to break down the thermoset. Therefore limitting its application in drug delivery. In the following subsections, three of the more common fabrication methods of polymer processing: injection, compression, and transfer molding, will be discussed in regard to their application in the biomedical field.

2.2.1 Injection Molding

Several cure factors can play a role in the quality of a thermosetting polymer, such as cure temperature, time, injection rate, and pressure. Careful monitoring of these parameters has led to optimized molding conditions (Scheffler et al. 2015). In order to circumvent problems associated with the extrusion of thermosets, three different materials have recently been investigated as melt mixers to enhance the homogeneity of the final polymers (Rochman and Zahra 2016). Nitrile butadiene rubber, ethylene propylene diene monomer, and fluorocarbon were added to thermosetting polymers during extrusion, resulting in increased homogeneity and better mechanical properties (Rochman and Zahra 2016).

2.2.2 Compression Molding

Compression molding is a quick and simple processing method in which a partially cured thermoset, an impregnated filler, or a preheated thermoplastic is placed into an oven, heated, and pressure is applied as the polymer flows and cures into the shape of the mold (Fig. 3). This processing method is suitable for complex and high production rate products. Additionally, in comparison to injection molding, it contains less knit lines, which usually act as a weak point in the final part. Nevertheless, in comparison to resin transfer molding and vacuum bagging



Fig. 3 Representation of a typical compression molding system

molding, this technique negatively affects the mechanical properties, being more suited for uses where the mechanical properties must not supersede normal working conditions (Gascons et al. 2012). Common biomedical devices prepared through compression molding of thermosetting polymers include diaphragms for respiratory appliances, lip seals or O-rings, and isolation bumpers used to dampen vibrations (Rogers 2017).

The investigation of composite processing has revealed that compression molding reduces the changes in the physical properties of the final parts because the fiber orientation is not significantly disturbed during fabrication (Aji et al. 2009). Additionally, fiber distribution was found to be superior than in other techniques (Aji et al. 2009). Enhanced mechanical properties were also observed in comparison to injection molded samples (Liu et al. 2007). Many combinations of compression molding and other advanced techniques have been utilized over the years, including a sequence of compression, extrusion, and sheet molding (Faruk et al. 2012). Overall, in combination with one another, these techniques reduced the production cost by decreasing the cycle time (Faruk et al. 2012). The combination of compression molding with particle leaching was successfully used in the fabrication of a biocomposite scaffold with hydroxyapatite whisker-reinforced poly(L-lactide) to serve as a viable orthopedic implant (Xie et al. 2016).

2.2.3 Transfer Molding

In transfer molding, a pre-measured amount of thermosetting crude resin is loaded into a chamber, closed, and a transfer plunger forces the crude resin from the chamber into preheated mold cavities, where the cure is completed. There are several variations of transfer molding methods, including resin transfer molding (RTM), vacuum-assisted resin transfer molding, and micro-transfer molding. In RTM, reinforcement fibers are commonly placed on the mold prior to resin



Fig. 4 Simplified schematic of vacuum-assisted resin transfer molding (VARTM)

transfer. Vacuum can be applied to remove any residual air, while the oriented fibers and resin are compressed and heated to complete the cure. One advantage of this method is the flexibility to orient the fibers' geometry as needed, potentially saving material cost and maximizing desired properties (Mallick 2007). Figure 4 depicts the schematics of vacuum-assisted resin transfer molding.

2.3 Bio-based Composites

Often times, natural polymers are reinforced with fibers, such as cellulose, or polymerized in combination with synthetic polymers to enhance the overall thermomechanical properties. Normally, bio-based polymers offer unique advantages with respect to biodegradability and biocompatibility, especially in the biomedical field, and more specifically in tissue engineering. The scaffolds engineered must degrade in a non-toxic manner, as well as mimic the body's own extracellular matrix to allow for cell proliferation and avoid an immune response. Additionally, the scaffold must be degraded at the proper rate; therefore, some bio-based polymers cannot be synthesized alone. Hybridization of synthetic and natural materials can be achieved at the nanoscale by incorporating nanoparticles such as hydrox-yapatite (HA) (Xie et al. 2016) or carbon nanotubes (Li et al. 2013). Some of the more popular methods of biocomposite fabrication include solvent casting and particulate leaching (SCPL), emulsion freeze drying, electrospinning, blow film extrusion, and 3D printing as discussed below.

2.3.1 Solvent Casting and Particulate Leaching (SCPL)

During SCPL, soluble particles are initially incorporated within the polymer matrix (Lu et al. 2000). Once the material is consolidated, the particles are dissolved and washed off by an appropriate solvent, leading to a porous material (Lu et al. 2000).



Fig. 5 Generic schematic of the steps involved in solvent casting and particulate leaching

For thicker parts, evaporation of the solvent and removal of the soluble particulates become difficult (Chen and Badylak 2001). In such cases, residual amounts of solvent or particulate may be removed with the aid of vacuum drying (Rogers et al. 2013). Scaffolds fabricated by SCPL methods have been utilized as orthopedic scaffolds for bone tissue replacement or repair (Prasad et al. 2017). Additionally, to avoid toxicity issues of the solvents with the host tissues, gas foaming via carbon dioxide in addition to particulate leaching can be used to create a highly porous biopolymer foam (Okamoto 2006; Kim et al. 2007). Figure 5 depicts the steps involved in solvent casting and particulate leaching. The polymer solution is created with an organic solvent and mixed together with the porogen particulate (i.e., NaCl), creating a homogeneous mixture. The mixture is poured into a mold and the solvent is evaporated. Water, or another particulate dissolving solution, is added to the mold to remove the particulates, leaving behind a porous structure. The newly formed scaffold is dried under vacuum to remove any residual solvent or particulate.

2.3.2 **Emulsion Freeze Drying**

Freeze-drying emulsion is a commonly used method for collagen-based scaffolds, due to collagen's sensitivity to chemical and heat denaturation. It has been used to create porous collagen scaffolds for the growth of aortic heart valve cells (Taylor et al. 2006). In that instance, collagen type 1 fibers were frozen at -30 °C, entrapping ice crystals. Lyophilization of the sample removed the crystals, resulting in the desired porous material (Taylor et al. 2006). The pore size was highly dependent on the temperature, pH, and solution concentration (Taylor et al. 2006). Scaffolds with porosity greater than 90%, pore sizes ranging from 20 to 200 µm,

Polymer solution in organic solvent

and with heat-sensitive bioactive molecules have also been fabricated by the emulsion/freeze-drying method (Aranaz et al. 2014; Hottot et al. 2004).

2.3.3 Electrospinning

Electrospinning is often used in the fabrication of cardiovascular scaffolds (Das et al. 2003). In this technique, an electric field is applied while a solution containing a conductive polymer is ejected from a needle and collected on a target, as represented in Fig. 6. The solvent dries as a fibrous network with a structure very similar to the body's natural extracellular matrix (ECM) is formed (Xie et al. 2008). The fiber diameter and structure can be altered by simply adjusting the polymer solution conditions (conductivity, viscosity, concentration) or the processing parameters (voltage, working distance, flow rate, temperature) (Xu and Zhou 2008).

There have been recent efforts toward the hybridization of synthetic and natural polymers, taking advantage of synthetic polymers' mechanical strength and natural polymers' biocompatibility. Interesting advancements have been made in the realm of heart valve tissue engineering (Hong et al. 2009). In that context, the fabrication of a bio-hybrid scaffold, using non-cross-linked decellularized bovine pericardium extracellular matrix coated with an adhesive layer of polycaprolactone (PCL)-chitosan nanofibers, has been reported making use of electrospinning (Jahnavi et al. 2015). It was also reported that due to the hydrophobic nature of PCL, a blending technique with dextran, cellulose acetate, polyhydroxybutyrate, and chitosan nanofibers was utilized to enhance fiber–polymer interactions (Malheiro et al. 2010). Dip coating has also been used to increase the mechanical properties of the decellularized scaffolds without the use of cross-linkers (Nirmal and Nair 2013). Although the dip-coated scaffolds resulted in better mechanical properties than electrospinning, the use of organic solvents disrupted the structural integrity of the



Fig. 6 General scheme for the fabrication of electrospun nanofibers under high voltage

ECM nanofibers, making electrospinning a more appropriate choice for processing (Nirmal and Nair 2013).

2.3.4 Blow Film Extrusion

Blow film extrusion is most commonly used in the manufacturing of polymeric films. The process involves extrusion of molten polymer through a die while air inflates the thermoplastic to form a thin film. Blown films have become increasingly popular in the pharmaceutical industry due to their biodegradability, lack of toxicity, and low cost of processability. Common bio-based polymers used in the film industry are polysaccharides (Al-Hassan and Norziah 2012), chitosan (Dutta et al. 2009), cellulose (Yu et al. 2017), and their derivatives. More recently, the preparation of blown films from starch-based materials has gained increasing attention (Dang and Yoksan 2015). Starch- and chitosan-based thermoplastic films have found to be suitable for applications in the food and pharmaceutical industries (Dang and Yoksan 2016). It has been noted that water vapor and oxygen barrier properties increase with the percentage of chitosan in the film, while the surface hydrophilicity is reduced (Dang and Yoksan 2016). Therefore, the degradation rate of the film, and consequently, its shelf life can be tuned by controlling the concentration of chitosan in the film (Dang and Yoksan 2016).

2.3.5 3D Printing

In one of the currently known setups for three-dimensional (3D) printing, a movable printer head casts the molten polymer on a target following a pre-programmed design. The deposition of polymer is done on a layer-by-layer fashion to create the final desired three-dimensional part. This process can also be referred to as rapid prototyping and has been used in various applications in the biomedical field, including dental implants (Wu et al. 2017), hearing aids, 3D surgical and medical models, and orthopedic prosthetics (Gross et al. 2014; Zopf et al. 2013). 3D bio-printing is a variation of traditional 3D printing that uses living cells deposited onto a gel medium to engineer bio-functional structures (Schubert et al. 2014). Recent studies have explored using nanomaterials in conjunction with bio-hybrid scaffolds, creating additional functions (Roh et al. 2017). For example, the addition of magnesia nanoparticles to PCL promoted new bone growth through the modulation of signal transduction and cell proliferation (Roh et al. 2017), while other studies have found that the addition of magnetic nanoparticles to PCL creates a material able to stimulate cell proliferation through magnetic heating (Meng et al. 2013).

Ultimately, polymer processing is highly dependent on polymer properties and intended application of the material sought. Thermoplastics tend to be more commonly found in drug delivery than thermosetting polymers, due to their easier degradability, while thermosetting polymers may be more appropriate for structural applications that require thermal and chemical resistance. In the context of tissue engineering, scaffolds are most often fabricated by electrospinning or 3D printing, although common biomedical supplies are typically prepared by more conventional methods like injection or compression molding. In some special applications, a combination of conventional and more advanced methods can be used to reduce the overall cost and processing time, as, for example, solvent casting and particulate leaching (Okamoto and John 2013).

As commonly seen in processing-based applications, the manufacturing properties of 3-D scaffolds for heart valve tissue replacements are greatly impacted by the choice of the advanced fabrication technique. For example, solvent casting is ideal for the fabrication of scaffolds with pore sizes of 50–1000 μ m, and with 30–90% porosity, whereas freeze drying is more suitable for samples with desired pore size <200 μ m and porosity of 70–95% (Fallahiarezoudar et al. 2015). Both of these methods require the polymer to be soluble in a solvent, which can cause solvent toxicity in the scaffold. Alternative techniques, such as solid-free form (a layer-by-layer 3D deposition/printing), allow for unique geometries while avoiding the toxicity issue, but exhibit other problems, such as the high cost of production and varying accuracy of the computer-based design (Fallahiarezoudar et al. 2015). Overall, based on production cost, flexibility of design, and ease of processibility, electrospinning was deemed the most suitable choice of fabrication for heart valve scaffolds (Fallahiarezoudar et al. 2015).

3 Fillers and Reinforcements Used in the Preparation of Bio-based Composites

By definition, a bio-based composite is a reinforced polymeric material in which either one or both components (polymer matrix and reinforcement) are from bio-based origins. In this section, the three different possibilities for obtaining a bio-based composite will be contemplated, namely (a) the reinforcement of non-bio-based polymers with bio-based fillers/fibers, (b) the reinforcement of bio-based polymers with non-bio-based fillers/fibers, and (c) the reinforcement of bio-based polymers with bio-based fillers/fibers.

3.1 Bio-based Fillers/Reinforcements with Non-bio-based Polymers

Due to environmental concerns (Hamzeh et al. 2011), the earliest efforts in the preparation of bio-based composites consisted in the reinforcement of regular petroleum-based thermoplastic polymers with natural fibers (Stark 1999). Such approach showed promise due to the low cost, abundance, and low weight of the

fibers typically employed. It is notorious that with the growth of global population over the years, increasing urbanization and rising standards of living due to technological innovations have contributed to increase both the quantity and variety of solid wastes generated by industrial, domestic, and agricultural activities (Hamzeh et al. 2011). In that context, wood-waste products are among the most abundant bio-based materials that can be easily used as reinforcement in bio-based composites, having shown a trend of increasing industrial use over the past 15 years, in a market traditionally dominated by the use of inorganic fillers (Stark and Matuana 2004). Wood flour (Hamzeh et al. 2011; Stark and Matuana 2004) and wood fiber (Stark 1999) are waste products from the wood industry that are highly abundant and readily available for experimentation and use in the preparation of bio-based composites.

In the search for more environmentally friendly materials, waste paper sludge (WPS) and ink-eliminated sludge (IES) have been used as fillers/additives in high-density polyethylene (HDPE)/wood flour composites (Hamzeh et al. 2011). It has been shown that the addition of WPS to HDPE/wood flour composites resulted in an increase of flexural properties, which could be further enhanced with the incorporation of maleated anhydride grafted polyethylene (MAPE) as a compatibilizer between matrix and reinforcement (Hamzeh et al. 2011). Addition of WPS and IES also resulted in a decrease of swelling and water absorption properties (Hamzeh et al. 2011). Overall, IES-added composites resulted in better physico-mechanical properties in comparison to WPS-added composites, with an optimum loading of 60 wt%, showing good promise for their use in the preparation of bio-based composites (Hamzeh et al. 2011).

Due to their growing demand for exterior applications in the Construction Industry, the investigation of sunlight and weathering damage on HDPE/wood flour composites has been used as a means to indicate the material's durability (Stark and Matuana 2004). These properties can be inferred by assessing chemical changes on the surface of the composites after artificial weathering experiments (Stark and Matuana 2004). It has been shown, by use of XPS and FT-IR, that wood flour-reinforced HDPE is 16-fold more susceptible to weathering than the unreinforced plastic (Stark and Matuana 2004). The results corroborate the degradation mechanism that suggests that polymer chain scission is triggered by the presence of carbonyl groups, generated after surface oxidation (Stark and Matuana 2004). Chain scission culminates in an overall decrease in crystallinity over time (Stark and Matuana 2004).

In terms of mechanical properties, a direct comparison of polypropylene (PP) reinforced with wood flour and wood fibers has revealed the latter to impart better tensile and flexural strength, as well as less molding shrinkage (Stark 1999). It has also been shown that the use of maleated PP as a compatibilizer results in improved mechanical properties (Stark 1999). Very similar trends have been observed later on with bio-based thermosetting composites (Quirino et al. 2012).

3.2 Non-bio-based Fillers/Reinforcements with Bio-based Polymers

Research efforts on the development of bio-based composites in which a bio-based polymer is reinforced with non-bio-based materials are mostly restricted to the addition of reinforcements to poly(lactic) acid (PLA) (Kasuga et al. 2001; Chiu et al. 2008). In this context, significant improvement in Young's modulus has been obtained when reinforcing PLA with up to 60 wt% of hydroxyapatite fibers (HAF) under compression molding at 180 °C (Kasuga et al. 2001). Indeed, a maximum value of 10 GPa was obtained for PLA/HAF composites (Kasuga et al. 2001). For heavily loaded composites, brittle behavior was observed and a covalent fiber–matrix interaction was revealed (Kasuga et al. 2001). Similarly, when PLA is reinforced with carbon nanotubes (CNTs), significant increases in Young's modulus and hardness are observed (Chiu et al. 2008). A comparison between the effects of purified versus non-purified CNTs indicated that purified CNTs are able to better disperse in the PLA matrix, resulting in better thermomechanical properties (Chiu et al. 2008).

3.3 Bio-based Filler/Reinforcement and Bio-based Polymer

Bio-based composites with natural fibers have several advantages over synthetic polymers and have become an increasingly popular research topic. Natural polymers deriving from renewable resources are relatively inexpensive to produce and are more environmentally friendly. Composites with high flexibility and good dampening properties have been developed from flax, keratin, hemp, and pure cellulose fibers (John and Thomas 2008; Sydenstricker et al. 2003). Most of the current research efforts have been centered around enhancing fiber–resin interactions, while neglecting fiber orientation. The lack of uniformity in fiber length and orientation in bio-based composites results in significant variations in mechanical properties between similar samples and represents one of the major limitations for their commercial use. Overall, physical and chemical surface treatments are currently employed to produce competitive alternatives to materials present in the market.

Lignocellulosic reinforcements derived from natural wood fibers are heterogeneous polymers composed of cellulose, hemicellulose, and lignin. Cellulose is the most abundant polysaccharide consisting of repeating linear D-glucose units, while hemicellulose and lignin are composed of a multitude of branching monomer subunits. These components tend to be hydrophilic, while the typical matrix is generally hydrophobic, creating an inherent incompatibility between the two. In order to fully understand the physical properties of natural fibers, and how to appropriately optimize fiber-matrix interactions, each component has been isolated and studied individually. Some the optimization modifications include physical methods such as fiber stretching (Zeronian et al. 1990), calendaring (Semsarzadeh 1986), thermo-treatment (Ray et al. 1976), and electric discharge (Paiva and Frollini 2006). These methods do not change the chemical makeup of the fibers, and they simply change the fiber's surface physically, on a macroscale, sometimes helping with fiber orientation and improving adhesion with the polymer matrix. Solvent extraction can be used to filter plant particulates and short fibers from high-cellulose content fibers. Although due to the use of potentially hazardous and non-environmentally friendly solvents, as well as the potential for fiber degradation during extraction (Le Guen and Newman 2007), electric discharge processes have been preferred. This method separates the fibers by electric discharge and modifies the lignocellulosic fibers' hydrophobic surface through corona, plasma, or ionized air treatments (Paiva and Frollini 2006).

Additionally, fibers can be treated chemically to enhance the fiber-matrix interactions. Alkaline treatments are commonly used and can even be used as a pre-treatment in combination with other chemical modifications. Sodium hydroxide is used in such treatments, converting cellulose lattices into more stable conformations (Agrawal et al. 2000). As an example, flax/epoxy polymers were found to have significantly increased mechanical properties after alkaline treatments in comparison to non-treated samples (Vandeweyenberg et al. 2006). Alkaline treatment, however, results in shrinkage whenever the fibers are not stretched during the NaOH/water treatment (Baley et al. 2006). In order to mitigate this effect, water can be substituted by ethanol (Baley et al. 2006). The use of coupling agents, such as organosilanes, is another common chemical modification method that helps improving the interfacial adhesion between the polymer matrix and reinforcement (Lee et al. 2008). Indeed, silane treatment of wood flour resulted in an overall increase of the tensile properties of PLA/wood flour composites, despite an observed decrease of the reinforcement's crystallinity (Lee et al. 2008). Evidence of stronger interfacial bonding was also found upon morphological analysis of the composites (Lee et al. 2008). Figure 7 presents a reaction scheme showing the change in surface chemistry upon silane treatment of a bio-based reinforcement.

Alternatively, natural fibers, such as flax, can be treated with a combination of alkali and anhydrides, to improve fiber–resin interactions in bio-based composites (Taylor et al. 2017). Indeed, when epoxidized sucrose soyate resins are cross-linked in the presence of treated flax fibers, composites with superior properties than their regular epoxy/flax composite equivalents are obtained (Taylor et al. 2017).



Fig. 7 Silane treatment of a bio-based reinforcement

Over the past few years, a strong focus has been put in the development of biocomposites from cellulose nanoparticles. In such efforts, the cellulose nanoparticles are typically obtained after chemical treatment of lignocellulosic biomass for removal of lignin and hemicellulose, as shown in Fig. 8. For instance, biodegradable composite films have been obtained from the reinforcement of κ -carrageenan with cellulose nanocrystals isolated from kenaf fibers through alkali, bleaching, and sulfuric acid treatments (Zarina and Ahmad 2015). Similarly, commercial grade microcrystalline cellulose (MCC) was converted into cellulose nanowhiskers through ultrasonication followed by acid hydrolysis and has been used as a reinforcement in castor oil-based polyurethane composites, imparting significant enhancement of tensile properties (Park et al. 2013). Acid hydrolysis was also employed to obtain MCC from oil palm empty fruit bunch for use as reinforcement in PLA composites (Haafiz et al. 2013). The addition of MCC resulted in an increase of Young's modulus and a decrease in tensile strength that was attributed to aggregation and uneven distribution of MCC in the PLA matrix, as observed after morphological analysis (Haafiz et al. 2013).

More complex systems, such as hybrid nano-composites, have been proposed and studied. The reinforcement of a blend of commercial polyester and soybean oil-based epoxy with a combination of nano-clay and hemp fibers resulted in composites exhibiting synergistic properties, including high stiffness, elongation at break, hygro-thermal properties, and toughness (Haq et al. 2008). In a very application-oriented effort, a double-layer composite material has been developed from the coating of a corn stover-based polyurethane with a water-absorbent acrylic acid layer, reinforced with chicken feather protein (Yang et al. 2013). The material had intended application as a nitrogen release medium for polymer-coated urea fertilizers, with more efficient nitrogen release and lower loss through leaching than conventional methods (Yang et al. 2013).

The intended application dictates whether a fully bio-based composite or a synthetic hybrid material is more suitable in polymer manufacturing. Fully synthetic polymers have ruled the polymer industry with increasing progress since the early 1940s, mostly due to their inherent versatility in mechanical and physical



Fig. 8 Isolation of cellulose nanoparticles (nanocrystals/nanowhiskers) from lignocellulosic biomass

properties, easily modified by adjustments made at the monomer unit level. Synthetic polymers have mostly been used for their structural and mechanical capabilities, while bio-based polymers offer a different set of benefits. For example, bio-based polymers are often utilized in drug delivery due to their carbon-based chemistry, biocompatibility potential, and biodegradability. As discussed in Sect. 3.1, wood-waste reinforcement fibers used in conjunction with synthetic polymers have shown comparable thermomechanical properties to non-bio-based competitors. Additionally, bio-based resins filled with synthetic reinforcements have been investigated. One of the most popular instances is carbon nanotubes, which can confer many interesting properties to otherwise structurally uninteresting bio-based resins. Fully bio-based polymers are theoretically ideal for alleviating petroleum demands. Although there has been a significant increase in scientific interest over the past several years, more research needs to be done to make them as cost and manufacturing friendly as their synthetic counterparts.

4 Properties of Bio-based Polymer Composites Used for Biomedical Applications

The increasing production of bio-based polymers, stimulated by dwindling global crude oil resources (Babu et al. 2013), can be noticed in the biomedical field, where novel biomaterials find a wide array of applications. Despite the many interpretations and definitions found in the literature, in this chapter, a biomaterial is considered to be a material of natural origin that has been engineered or modified to interact with biological systems in order to direct medical treatment (Ulery et al. 2011). It is questionably assumed, in many cases, that due to their natural origin, biopolymers exhibit an intrinsic compatibility with living systems.

Among the different kinds of bio-based polymers currently under study, the ones most commonly associated with biomedical applications include chitosan (Croisier and Jérôme 2013; Dash et al. 2011), alginate (Lee and Mooney 2012), and collagen (Scholz et al. 2017). By definition, biodegradable polymers are polymers whose physical and chemical properties undergo deterioration and completely degrade when exposed to microorganisms under appropriate conditions (Babu et al. 2013). The most common biomedical applications for both biodegradable and non-biodegradable, bio-based polymer materials include tissue engineering, drug delivery, bone grafting, and wound healing.

The three main desirable characteristics for bio-based polymers used in biomedical applications are biocompatibility, biodegradability, and low toxicity. These three features need to be present in any biomedical material regardless of its specific application, which is determined based on the material's other physical, chemical, and mechanical properties. For example, biocompatible sponges impregnated with alginate and chitosan have been tested as a biomaterial for chondrogenic human cell differentiation because of their porosity, wettability, and swelling properties (Zimoch-Korzycka et al. 2016). In another instance, the chiral selectivity between oligopeptides and polysaccharides was used to tune the mechanical and structural properties of bio-based hydrogels, leading to an overall control of mechanical durability and a better understanding of how these properties affect stem cell behavior (Hyland 2012). Due to the lack of consistency on the characterization of the different bio-based polymers reported in the literature, the comparison of different biopolymers' properties is exceedingly challenging. The suitability of novel materials for a specific application is done almost exclusively on a case-by-case basis.

In the case of shape-memory applications, thermomechanical properties determine the suitability of a material for a specific use (Sokolowski et al. 2007). In evaluating the thermomechanical behavior of prospective materials, certain key points are often considered. One of these points is known as the glass transition temperature (T_g), which is the temperature when a polymer transitions from a glassy state to a rubbery or viscous state. This transition is regulated by the structure and chemistry of the polymer. Another key point considered is the pre-deformation temperature (T_d), defined as the temperature beyond which a polymer can deform into a temporary new shape (Gall et al. 2005). The T_d usually happens immediately before or after the T_g (Gall et al. 2005). The temperature beyond which a shape-memory material undergoes irreversible deformation is defined as the storage temperature (T_s) and is usually lower than the T_d (Gall et al. 2005). Finally, the temperature required to return a shape-memory material to its original shape is known as the recovery temperature (T_r) and, like the T_d , is very close to the T_g (Gall et al. 2005).

A great variety of bio-based polymer composites can be prepared by the use of various natural polymers as reinforcement/filler, such as chitosan (Croisier and Jérôme 2013; Dash et al. 2011; Zimoch-Korzycka et al. 2016), alginate (Lee and Mooney 2012; Zimoch-Korzycka et al. 2016), collagen (Scholz et al. 2017; Lu et al. 2003), pectin (Noreen et al. 2017), and keratin (Rouse and Dyke 2010). Additionally, composites formed from a bio-based polymer matrix, such as poly (lactic acid), have found a wide array of applications in the biomedical field (Nampoothiri et al. 2010). It is worth noting that in order to guarantee that bio-based polymers will uphold under physiological conditions, biocompatibility tests need to be the first run. Singular applications within the biomedical field where these bio-based polymers have already started being used include tissue engineering, drug design and delivery methods, and scaffolds for tissue regeneration (Lu et al. 2003).

Despite their low toxicity and immunogenic response, these polymers are highly susceptible to water absorption, which can have a negative impact on their thermomechanical properties, making them inappropriate for long-term structural applications. Ultimately, more research needs to be done to improve the thermomechanical properties and shelf life before the current market's synthetic polymers can be fully replaced.

5 Challenges Encountered in the Design of Novel Bio-based Polymer Composites for Biomedical Applications

5.1 Desired Properties for Biomedical Materials

A biomedical material can be described as any manmade product that is designed to serve a certain biological function. For instance, when a person has an amputated leg, the individual is able to still walk by using a prosthetic leg. A prosthetic leg is a biomedical material because it is engineered to serve the same function as a real leg. Although a prosthetic leg is a common biomedical material, it is certainly not the only one. Other biomaterials include dental implants, heart valves, pacemakers, and spinal cages (Williams 2008).

In order for biomaterials to mirror their intended function, their properties must be similar to the original material. For example, dental implants are commonly made of titanium alloys because of the similarity of strength compared to regular teeth (Williams 2008). Likewise, heart valves are usually composed of cobalt or chromium alloys since chromium is known to improve heart function (Williams 2008). There has also been an increased use in polyether ether ketone (PEEK) for spinal cages due to its persistence in extremely acidic conditions. Materials composed of PEEK are also known to be effective at temperatures as high as 250 °C (Williams 2008). Finally, calcium phosphate is a common material for prosthetics because of its similarity in performance to actual bones (Williams 2008).

Before implementing a biomedical material, biocompatibility must first be considered. It is often preferred that a new material mirrors the natural process of the part it replaces, rather than create a new biological function. Other factors that must be considered include age, sex, lifestyle, and medical history (Williams 2008). An individual's background is crucial to ensuring that the correct composition of the material is made. Detection of microorganisms is also crucial because of the possibility of infections (Williams 2008).

If the biomaterial is incorrect in its composition, or the background of the host is unknown, then it could cause a variety of adverse effects. For instance, if the host is allergic to calcium phosphate, an acute hypersensitivity could occur. Acute hypersensitivity is an over-exaggerated immune response to an allergy which can result in headaches, abdominal pain, nausea, or even loss of consciousness (Shleton and Shivnan 2014). Cytotoxic effects can also arise if the environment where the biomaterial is placed is extremely acidic. If a cytotoxic effect is induced, then irreversible tissue destruction can occur (Williams 2008).

In 1987, the ESB consensus conference of 1987 defined a bioactive material as "one which has been designed to induce specific biological activity". Since then, nanomaterials have been implemented into most biomaterials (Li et al. 2013). Most biomaterials contain either carbon nanotubes, carbon nanofibers, or boron nitride nanotubes because they promote protein absorption, cellular adhesion, and tissue growth (Li et al. 2013).

5.2 Challenges Faced by Bio-based Materials

Although bio-based materials solve an abundance of environmental problems associated with fossil fuels, they do have their challenges. Crude oil and gas are cheaper to produce at this point than biomaterials (National Research Council 2000). This is because biomaterials require a much larger workforce, which adds to the overall cost of production (National Research Council 2000). In addition, the process of making biomaterials requires a more educated workforce because of its complex process of production.

There are three main ways to produce a biomaterial. The most common method preserves a polymer backbone through the chemical modification of natural polymers, such as starch and cellulose (Storz and Vorlop 2013). This process usually requires prior modification of the polymer so that it can survive extreme heat (Storz and Vorlop 2013). This prior modification adds to the cost of production, rendering a final product that is more expensive than its petroleum counterpart. Another production method involves converting biomass, such as starch, into monomers that can be subsequently polymerized. One limitation of this method is that starch is extremely hydrophilic, which makes it unusable in humid environments and significantly limits applications of this method (Storz and Vorlop 2013). The third method involves taking advantage of photosynthesis in plants to directly produce the desired biomaterial. This method, however, is not fully understood and needs further study.

An important challenge to consider is that bio-based monomers, like starch, usually produce a significantly lower overall yield compared to their crude oil-based competition, which represents a major con from an economic standpoint (Storz and Vorlop 2013). Another challenge associated with biomaterials is that the supply chain for production is often a lot longer than that of the currently established industry, contributing to an increased cost of production. In addition, the technology required for production has not been fully tested. Therefore, many companies are hesitant to implement a new process because of the uncertainty that the process is truly better than the current technology. Finally, the majority of the bio-based monomers currently considered for the production of biomaterials derive from food, so if bio-based materials are used widely, the offer for food production would decrease, increasing food prices (National Research Council 2000).

6 Conclusion

It is notorious that there has been a continuous increase in the research activity related to the development of novel bio-based materials over the past couple of decades. The focus has slowly shifted from simpler systems, consisting primarily of traditional thermoplastics reinforced with natural fibers, to more advanced composites with carefully engineered bio-based matrices, or fully bio-based materials in which both matrix and reinforcement are of bio-based origins. Research efforts in bio-based composites over the years have also focused on the improvement of matrix-reinforcement interactions with the purpose of increasing physicomechanical properties. The progress in the development of novel bio-based composites is naturally accompanied by advances in polymer and composites processing, especially in cases of commercial and industrial applications. In the realm of bio-based biomedical materials, current applications are vastly dominated by PLA and PLA-based composites, with limited work done on other systems, such as hydrogels, for use as scaffolds in cell growth and tissue regeneration. The existing challenges for the fabrication and the use of bio-based composites are mainly associated with the lack of consistency in materials characterization among the various proposed systems, which makes a direct comparison of different materials exceedingly hard. It is expected that the trends in the development of novel bio-based materials will continue in the future with some materials finding suitable applications across many different areas, including in the biomedical field, especially for drug delivery and cell scaffolding, as reported in this manuscript.

References

- Agrawal R, Saxena N, Sreekala M, Thomas S (2000) Effect of treatment on the thermal conductivity and thermal diffusivity of oil-palm-fiber-reinforced phenolformaldehyde composites. J Polym Sci, Part B: Polym Phys 38:916–921
- Aji IS, Sapuan SM, Zainuddin ES, Abdan K (2009) Kenaf fibres as reinforcement for polymeric composite: a review. Int Jo Mech Mater Eng 4(3):239–248
- Alghazali KM, Nima ZA, Hamzah RN, Dhar MS, Anderson DE, Biris AS (2015) Bone-tissue engineering: complex tunable structural and biological responses to injury, drug delivery, and cell-based therapies. Drug Metab Rev 47(4):431–454
- Al-Hassan AA, Norziah MH (2012) Starch–gelatin edible films: water vaporpermeability and mechanical properties as affected by plasticizers. Food Hydrocolloids 26(1):108–117
- Aranaz I, Gutierrez MC, Ferrer ML, Monte F (2014) Preparation of chitosan nanocomposites with a macroporous structure by unidirectional freezing and subsequent freeze-drying. Marine Drugs 12(11):5619–5642
- Babu RP, Oconnor K, Seeram R (2013) Current progress on bio-based polymers and their future trends. Prog Biomater 2(1):8
- Baley C, Busnel F, Grohens Y, Sire O (2006) Influence of chemical treatments on surface properties and adhesion of flax fibre polyester resin. Compos A Appl Sci Manuf 37:1626–1637
- Bisio A, Xanathos M (1995) How to manage plastics waste: technology and market opportunities. Hanser Pub Inc., New York
- Bognitzki M, Czad W, Frese T, Schaper A, Hellwig M, Steinhart M, Greiner A, Wendorff JH (2001) Nano-structured fibers via electrospinning. Adv Mater 13:70–72
- Bonnet F, Stoffelbach F, Fontaine G, Bourbigot S (2015) Continuous cyclo-polymerisation of L-lactide by reactive extrusion using atoxic metal-based catalysts: Easy access to well-defined polylactide macrocycles. RSC Adv 5:31303–31310
- Carlborn K, Matuana LM (2006) Functionalization of wood particles through a reactive extrusion process. J Appl Polym Sci 101(5):3131–3142
- Chen MK, Badylak SF (2001) Small bowel tissue engineering using small intestinal submucosa as a scaffold. J Surg Res 99(2):352–358

- Chiellini F, Piras MA, Errico C, Chiellini E (2008) Micro/nanostructured polymeric systems for biological and pharmaceutical applications. Nanomedicine 3(3):367–393
- Chiu W, Chang Y, Kuo H, Lin M, Wen H (2008) A study of carbon nanotubes/biodegradable plastic polylactic acid composites. J Appl Polym Sci 108(5):3024–3030
- Croisier F, Jérôme C (2013) Chitosan-based biomaterials for tissue engineering. Eur Polymer J 49 (4):780–792
- Dang KM, Yoksan R (2015) Development of thermoplastic starch blown film by incorporating plasticized chitosan. Carbohyd Polym 115:575–581
- Dang KM, Yoksan R (2016) Morphological characteristics and barrier properties of thermoplastic starch/chitosan blown film. Carbohyd Polym 150:40–47
- Das S, Hollister SJ, Flanagan C, Adewunmi A, Bark K, Chen C, Ramaswamy K, Rose D, Widjaja E (2003) Freeform fabrication of Nylon-6 tissue engineering scaffolds. Rapid Prototyping J 9(1):43–49
- Dash AK, Cudworth GC II (1998) Therapeutic applications of implantable drug delivery systems. J Pharmacol Toxiocol Methods 40(1):1–12
- Dash M, Chiellini F, Ottenbrite R, Chiellini E (2011) Chitosan—a versatile semi-synthetic polymer in biomedical applications. Prog Polym Sci 36(8):981–1014
- Dutta PK, Tripathi S, Mehrotra GK, Dutta J (2009) Perspectives for chitosan based antimicrobial films in food applications. Food Chem 114(4):1173–1182
- Fallahiarezoudar E, Ahmadipourroudposht M, Idris A, Mohd Yusof N (2015) Review: a review of: application of synthetic scaffold in tissue engineering heart valves. Mater Sci Eng, C 48:556–565
- Faruk O, Bledzki AK, Fink HP, Sain M (2012) Progress in polymer science biocomposites reinforced with natural fibres: 2000–2010. Prog Polym Sci 37(11):1552–1596
- Formela K, Zedler Ł, Hejna A, Tercjak A (2018) Reactive extrusion of bio-based polymer blends and composites—current trends and future developments. Expr Polym Lett 12(1):24–57
- Frederick T, Wallenberger T, Norman E (2004) Natural fibers, plastics and composites. Springer, Boston
- Gall K, Yakacki CM, Liu Y, Shandas R, Willett N, Anseth KS (2005) Thermomechanics of the shape memory effect in polymers for biomedical applications. J Biomed Mater Res, Part A 73A (3):339–348
- Gascons M, Blanco N, Matthys K (2012) Evolution of manufacturing processes for fiber-reinforced thermoset tanks vessels and silos: a review. IIE Trans 44(6):476–489
- Gibril ME, Huan L, Haifeng L, Da LX, Yue Z, Han K, Muhuo Y (2013) Reactive extrusion process for the preparation of a high concentration solution of cellulose in ionic liquid for in situ chemical modification. RSC Adv 3:1021–1024
- Gomes ME, Ribeiro AS, Malafaya PB, Reis RL, Cunha AM (2001) A new approach based on injection moulding to produce biodegradable starch-based polymeric scaffolds: morphology, mechanical and degradation behavior. Biomaterials 22:883–889
- Gross BC, Erkal JL, Lockwood SY, Chen C, Spence DM (2014) Evaluation of 3D printing and its potential impact on biotechnology and the chemical sciences. Anal Chem 86(7):3240–3253
- Gunatillake P, Mayadunne R, Adhikari R (2006) Recent development in biodegradable synthetic polymers. Biotechnol Annu Rev 12:301–347
- Haafiz MKM, Hassan A, Zakaria Z, Inuwa IM, Islam MS, Jawaid M (2013) Properties of polylactic acid composites reinforced with oil palm biomass microcrystalline cellulose. Carbohyd Polym 98:139–145
- Hamzeh Y, Ashori A, Mirzaei B (2011) Effects of waste paper sludge on the physico-mechanical properties of high density polyethylene/wood flour composites. J Polym Environ 19(1):120–124
- Haq M, Burgueño R, Mohanty AK, Misra M (2008) Hybrid bio-based composites from blends of unsaturated polyester and soybean oil reinforced with nanoclay and natural fibers. Composites Science and Technology 68:3344–3351

- Haugen H, Will J, Fuchs W, Wintermantel E (2006) A novel processing method for injection-molded polyether-urethane scaffolds, part 1: processing. J Biomed Mater Res B Appl Biomater 77B(1):65–72
- Hong H, Dong N, Shi J, Chen S, Guo C, Hu P, Qi H (2009) Fabrication of a novel hybrid heart valve leaflet for tissue engineering: an in vitro study. Artif Organs 33:554–558
- Hooreweder BV, Moens D, Boonen R, Kruth JP, Sas P (2013) On the difference in material structure and fatigue properties of nylon specimens produced by injection molding and selective laser sintering. Polym Testing 32:972–981
- Hottot A, Vessot S, Andrieu J (2004) A direct characterization method of the ice morphology relationship between mean crystals size and primary drying times of freeze-drying processes. Dry Technol 22:2009–2021
- Hyland LL (2012) Mechanical structural and biological properties of biopolymer-based hydrogels PhD dissertation. Department of Bioengineering, University of Maryland, College Park, MD, USA
- Isabelle V, Lan T (2009) Biodegradable polymers. Materials 2(2):307-344
- Jahnavi S, Kumary T, Bhuvaneshwar G, Natarajan T, Verma R (2015) Engineering of a polymer layered bio-hybrid heart valve scaffold. Mater Sci Eng, C 51:263–273
- John MJ, Thomas S (2008) Biofibres and biocomposites. Carbohyd Polym 71:343-364
- Ju XJ, Xie R, Yang L, Chu LY (2009) Biodegradable "intelligent" materials in response to physical stimuli for biomedical applications. Expert Opin Ther Pat 19(4):493–507
- Karande TS, Ong JL, Agrawal CM (2004) Diffusion in musculoskeletal tissue engineering scaffolds: design issues related to porosity, permeability, architecture, and nutrient mixing. Ann Biomed Eng 32(12):1728–1743
- Kasuga T, Ota Y, Nogami M, Abe Y (2001) Preparation and mechanical properties of polylactic acid composites containing hydroxyapatite fibers. Biomaterials 22:19–23
- Kiick KL (2007) Material science. Polymer Ther Sci 317(5842):1182-1183
- Kim SS, Ahn KM, Park MS, Lee JH, Choi CY, Kim BS (2007) A poly(lactideco-glycolide)/ hydroxyapatite composite scaffold with enhanced osteoconductivity. J Biomed Mater Res, Part A 80:206–215
- Kobayashi M, Suong HH (2010) Development and evaluation of polyvinyl alcohol-hydrogels as an artificial articular cartilage for orthopedic implants. Materials 3(4):2753–2771
- Korol J, Lenża J, Formela K (2015) Manufacture and research of TPS/PE biocomposites properties. Compos B Eng 68:310–316
- Kramschuster A, Turng LS (2010) An injection molding process for manufacturing highly porous and interconnected biodegradable polymer matrices for use as tissue engineering scaffolds. J Biomed Mater Res B Appl Biomater 92B(2):366–376
- Langasco R, Spada G, Tanriverdi ST, Rassu G, Giunchedi P, Özer O, Gavini E (2016) Bio-based topical system for enhanced salicylic acid delivery: preparation and performance of gels. J Pharm Pharmacol 68(8):999–1009
- Le Guen MJ, Newman RH (2007) Pulped Phormium tenax leaf fibers as reinforcement for epoxy composites. Compos A Appl Sci Manuf 38:2109–2115
- Lee KY, Mooney DJ (2012) Alginate: properties and biomedical applications. Prog Polym Sci 37 (1):106–126
- Lee S, Kang I, Doh G, Yoon H, Park B, Wu Q (2008) Thermal and mechanical properties of wood flour/talc-filled polylactic acid composites: effect of filler content and coupling treatment. J Thermoplast Compos Mater 21(3):209–223
- Li X, Cui R, Liu W, Sun L, Yu B, Fan Y, Feng Q, Cui F, Watari F (2013) The use of nanoscaled fibers or tubes to improve biocompatibility and bioactivity of biomedical materials. J Nanomater 2013:1–16
- Liu W, Drzal LT, Mohanty AM, Misran M (2007) Influence of processing methods and fibre length on physical properties of kenaf fibre reinforced soy based biocomposites. J Compos Eng Part B 38:352–359
- Lu L, Peter SJ, Lyman MD, Lai HL, Leite SM, Tamada JA, Vacanti JP, Langer R, Mikos AG (2000) In vitro degradation of porous poly(L-lactic acid) foams. Biomaterials 21:1595–1605

- Lu HH, El-Amin SF, Scott KD, Laurencin CT (2003) Three-dimensional bioactive biodegradable polymer-bioactive glass composite scaffolds with improved mechanical properties support collagen synthesis and mineralization of human osteoblast-like cells in vitro. J Biomed Mater Res 64A(3):465–474
- Ma PX (2004) Scaffolds for tissue fabrication. Mater Today 7:30-40
- Malheiro VN, Caridade SG, Alves NM, Mano JF (2010) New poly(ε-caprolactone)/chitosan blend fibers for tissue engineering applications. Acta Biomater 6(2):418–428
- Mallick PK (2007) Fiber-reinforced composites: materials, manufacturing, and design, 3rd edn. CRC Press, Boca Raton
- Meng J, Xiao B, Zhang Y, Liu J, Xue H, Lei J, Kong H, Huang Y, Jin Z, Gu N, Xu H (2013) Super-paramagnetic responsive nanofibrous scaffolds under static magnetic field enhance osteogenesis for bone repair in vivo. Sci Rep 3:2655
- Mi H, Salick MR, Jing X, Jacques BR, Crone WC, Peng X, Turng L (2013) Characterization of thermoplastic polyurethane/polylactic acid (TPU/PLA) tissue engineering scaffolds fabricated by microcellular injection molding. Mater Sci Eng, C 33:4767–4776
- Mikos AG, Sarakinos G, Leite SM, Vacanti JP, Langer R (1993) Laminated three-dimensional biodegradable foams for use in tissue engineering. Biomaterials 14:323–330
- Miller AT, Safranski DL, Smith KE, Sycks DG, Guldberg RE, Gall K (2017) Fatigue of injection molded and 3D printed polycarbonate urethane in solution. Polymer 108:121–134
- Mohanty AK, Misra M, Drzal LT (2002) Sustainable bio-composites from renewable resources: opportunities and challenges in the green materials world. J Polym Environ 10(1/2):19–26
- Mustafa N (1993) Plastic waste management: disposal, recycling, Reuse. Marcel Dekker Inc., New York
- Nam YS, Park TG (1999) Biodegradable polymeric microcellular foams by modified thermally induced phase separation method. Biomaterials 20:1783–1790
- Nampoothiri KM, Nair NR, John RP (2010) An overview of the recent developments in polylactide (PLA) research. Biores Technol 101(22):8493-8501
- National Research Council (2000) Biobased industrial products: research and commercialization priorities. The National Academies Press, Washington, DC, USA
- Nirmal RS, Nair PD (2013) Significance of soluble growth factors in the chondrogenic response of human umbilical cord matrix stem cells in a porous three-dimensional scaffold. Eur Cells Mater 26:234–251
- Noreen A, Nazli Z, Akram J, Rasul I, Mansha A, Yaqoob N, Iqbal R, Tabasum S, Zuber M, Zia KM (2017) Pectins functionalized biomaterials, a new viable approach for biomedical applications: a review. Int J Biol Macromol 101:254–272
- Okamoto M (2006) Biodegradable polymer/layered silicate nanocomposites: a review. In: Mallapragada S, Narasimhan B (eds) Handbook of biodegradable polymeric materials and their applications. American Scientific Publishers, Los Angeles, pp 153–197
- Okamoto M, John B (2013) Synthetic biopolymer nanocomposites for tissue engineering scaffolds. Prog Polym Sci 38:1487–1503
- Paiva JMF, Frollini E (2006) Unmodified and modified surface sisal fibers as reinforcement of phenolic and lignophenolic matrices composites: thermal analyses of fibers and composites. Macromol Mater Eng 291:405–417
- Park SH, Oh KW, Kim SH (2013) Reinforcement effect of cellulose nanowhisker on bio-based polyurethane. Compos Sci Technol 86:82–88
- Piskin E (2002) Biodegradable polymeric matrices for bioartifical implants. Int J Artif Organs 25 (5):434–440
- Prasad A, Sankar MR, Katiyar V (2017) State of art on solvent casting particulate leaching method for orthopedic scaffolds fabrication. Mater Today: Proc 4(A):898–907
- Quirino RL, Woodford J, Larock RC (2012) Soybean and linseed oil-based composites reinforced with wood flour and wood fibers. J Appl Polym Sci 124(2):1520–1528
- Quirk RA, France RM, Shakesheff KM, Howdle SM (2004) Supercritical fluid technologies and tissue engineering scaffolds. Curr Opin Solid State Mater Sci 8:313–821

- Ray PK, Chakravarty AC, Bandyopadhyay SB (1976) Fine structure and mechanical properties of jute differently dried after retting. J Appl Polym Sci 20(7):1765–1767
- Render D, Rangari VK, Jeelani S, Fadlalla K, Samuel T (2014) Biobased Calcium Carbonate (CaCO₃) nanoparticles for drug delivery applications. Int J Biomed Nanosci Nanotechnol 3 (3):221–235
- Rochman A, Zahra K (2016) Influence of melt mixer on injection molding of thermoset elastomers. AIP Conf Proc 1769(1):1–6
- Rogers D (2017) Understanding processing technologies and coatings for medical devices. Med Des Technol 21(5):8–9
- Rogers L, Said SS, Mequanint K (2013) The effects of fabrication strategies on 3D scaffold morphology porosity and vascular smooth muscle cell response. J Biomater Tissue Eng 3:300– 311
- Roh HS, Lee CM, Hwang YH, Kook MS, Yang SW, Lee D, Kim B (2017) Addition of MgO nanoparticles and plasma surface treatment of three-dimensional printed polycaprolactone/ hydroxyapatite scaffolds for improving bone regeneration. Mater Sci Eng, C 74:525–535
- Rouse JG, Dyke ME (2010) A review of keratin-based biomaterials for biomedical applications. Materials 3(2):999–1014
- Scheffler T, Saalbach H, Englich S, Gehde M (2015) Process monitoring during injection moulding of thermosetting materials. Int Polym Sci Technol 42(8):T/1–8
- Scholz A, Lewis RL, Bachan M, Stewart AL, Quirino RL (2017) Biocomposites from the reinforcement of a tung oil-based thermosetting resin with collagen. Mater Chem Frontier 1 (1):1795–1803
- Schubert C, Langeveld MC, Donoso LA (2014) Innovations in 3D printing: a 3D overview from optics to organs. Br J Ophthalmol 98(2):159–161
- Semsarzadeh MA (1986) Fiber matrix interactions in jute reinforced polyester resin. Polym Compos 7:23–25
- Shen X, Shamshina JL, Berton P, Gurau G, Rogers RD (2015) Hydrogels based oncellulose and chitin: fabrication, properties, and applications. Green Chem 18(1):53–75
- Shleton B, Shivnan JC (2014) Acute hypersensitivity reactions: what nurses need to know. Johns Hopkins Nursing Magazine. magazinenursingjhuedu/2011/04/acute-hypersensitivity-reactionswhat-nurses-need-to-know/. Accessed 24 Jan 2018
- Sokolowski W, Metcalfe A, Hayashi S, Yahia L, Raymond J (2007) Medical applications of shape memory polymers. Biomed Mater 2(1):S23–S27
- Spinella S, Ganesh M, Re GL, Zhang S, Raquez JM, Dubois P, Gross RA (2015) Enzymatic reactive extrusion: moving towards continuous enzyme-catalysed polyester polymerisation and processing. Green Chem 17(8):4146–4150
- Stark NM (1999) Wood fiber derived from scrap pallets used in polypropylene composites. Forest Prod J 48(6):39–46
- Stark NM, Matuana LM (2004) Surface chemistry changes of weathered HDPE/wood-flour composites studied by XPS and FTIR spectroscopy. Polym Degrad Stab 86:1–9
- Storz H, Vorlop K (2013) Bio-based plastics: status challenges and trends. Appl Agric For Res 63:321–332
- Sydenstricker TH, Mochnaz S, Amico SC (2003) Pull-out and other evaluations in sisal-reinforced polyester biocomposites. Polym Testing 22:375–380
- Taylor PM, Sachlos E, Dreger SA, Chester AH, Czernuszka JT, Yacoub MH (2006) Interaction of human valve interstitial cells with collagen matrices manufactured using rapid prototyping. Biomaterials 27(13):2733–2737
- Taylor C, Amiri A, Paramarta A, Ulven C, Webster D (2017) Development and weatherability of bio-based composites of structural quality using flax fiber and epoxidized sucrose soyate. Mater Des 113:17–26
- Ulery BD, Nair LS, Laurencin CT (2011) Biomedical applications of biodegradable polymers. J Polym Sci, Part B: Polym Phys 49(12):832–864

- Vandeweyenberg I, Chitruong T, Vangrimde B, Verpoest I (2006) Improving the properties of UD flax fibre reinforced composites by applying an alkaline fibre treatment. Compos A Appl Sci Manuf 37:1368–1376
- Wei L, McDonald AG, Stark NM (2015) Grafting of bacterial polyhydroxybutyrate (PHB) onto cellulose via in situ reactive extrusion with dicumyl peroxide. Biomacromolecules 16:1040– 1049
- Whang K, Thomas CH, Healy KE, Nuber GA (1995) A novel method to fabricate bioabsorbable scaffolds. Polymer 36:837–842
- Williams DF (2008) Leading opinion: on the mechanisms of biocompatibility. Biomaterials 29:2941–2953
- Wu L, Jing D, Ding J (2006) A "room-temperature" injection molding/particulate leaching approach for fabrication of biodegradable three-dimensional porous scaffolds. Biomaterials 27:185–191
- Wu J, Li Y, Zhang Y (2017) Use of intraoral scanning and 3-dimensional printing in the fabrication of a removable partial denture for a patient with limited mouth opening. J Am Dent Assoc 148(5):338–341
- Xie J, Li X, Xia Y (2008) Putting electrospun nanofibers to work for biomedical research. Macromol Rapid Commun 29:1775–1792
- Xie L, Yu H, Yang W, Zhu Z, Yue L (2016) Preparation in vitro degradability cytotoxicity and in vivo biocompatibility of porous hydroxyapatite whisker-reinforced poly(L-lactide) biocomposite scaffolds. J Biomater Sci Polym Ed 27(6):505–528
- Xu X, Zhou M (2008) Antimicrobial gelatin nanofibers containing silver nanoparticles. Fibers Polym 9:685–690
- Yang S, Leong K, Du Z, Chua C (2001) The design of scaffolds for use in tissue engineering. I. Traditional factors. Tissue Eng 7:679–689
- Yang Y, Tong Z, Geng Y, Li Y, Zhang M (2013) Biobased polymer composites derived from corn stover and feather meals as double-coating materials for controlled-release and water-retention urea fertilizers. J Agric Food Chem 61:8166–8174
- Yu Z, Alsammarraie FK, Nayigiziki FX, Wang W, Vardhanabhuti B, Mustapha A, Lin M (2017) Effect and mechanism of cellulose nanofibrils on the active functions of biopolymer-based nanocomposite films. Food Res Int 99(1):166–172
- Zarina S, Ahmad I (2015) Biodegradable composite films based on κ-carrageenan reinforced by cellulose nanocrystal from kenaf fibers. BioResources 10(1):256–271
- Zeronian SH, Kawabata H, Alger K (1990) Factors affecting the tensile properties of non-mercerized and mercerized cotton fibers. Text Res J 60(3):179–183
- Zimoch-Korzycka A, Śmieszek A, Jarmoluk A, Nowak U, Marycz K (2016) Potential biomedical application of enzymatically treated alginate/chitosan hydrosols in sponges - biocompatible scaffolds inducing chondrogenic differentiation of human adipose derived multipotent stromal cells. Polymers 8(9):320
- Zopf DA, Hollister SJ, Nelson ME, Ohye RG, Green GE (2013) Bioresorbable airway splint created with a three-dimensional printer. N Engl J Med 368(21):2043–2045

Amorphous and Semicrystalline Thermoplastic Polymer Nanocomposites Applied in Biomedical Engineering



S. S. M. Abdul Majeed, Aqib Muzaffar, Kalim Deshmukh and M. Basheer Ahamed

Abstract This chapter is intended to provide an insight into the biomedically engineered polymer nanocomposites (PNCs). It provides an introductory review about the amorphous, semicrystalline thermoplastic PNCs. The processing techniques pertaining to the amorphous, semicrystalline thermoplastic PNCs along with their consequences on the nanocomposite formation are mentioned. The impact on the addition of various fillers such as carbon nanotubes (CNTs) and graphene on the overall characteristics of the PNCs is elaborated. The examples of different amorphous and semicrystalline PNCs and their applications in biomedical engineering are discussed.

Keywords Amorphous polymer • Thermoplastics • Polymer nanocomposites • Graphene • Carbon nanotubes • Nanoclay • Biomedical engineering

1 Introduction

Polymer nanocomposites (PNCs) form a field of material research with great and prospering future due to the credibility of their performance optimization. The increasing trend in developing PNCs predicts an uphill in their demand with hitherto unnoticed properties. In response to the rise of globalization, there is a constant focal shift toward the development of new techniques to meet the demand (Ponnamma et al. 2018a). In recent times, PNCs of all categories have provoked a lot of research interest pertaining to the enrichment of nanocomposite properties especially at lower

S. S. M. Abdul Majeed (🖂)

Department of Polymer Engineering, B. S. Abdur Rahman Crescent Institute of Science and Technology, Chennai 600048, Tamil Nadu, India e-mail: majeedssm@bsauniv.ac.in

A. Muzaffar · K. Deshmukh · M. Basheer Ahamed Department of Physics, B. S. Abdur Rahman Crescent Institute of Science and Technology, Chennai 600048, Tamil Nadu, India

[©] Springer Nature Switzerland AG 2019

K. K. Sadasivuni et al. (eds.), Polymer Nanocomposites

in Biomedical Engineering, Lecture Notes in Bioengineering, https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-030-04741-2_3

fractions of volume (Fadiran et al. 2018). The synergistic improvements in the nanocomposite properties are achieved on the basis of compact optimization leading to the superiority of the overall nanocomposite with respect to the components (Nagaraj et al. 2018). This formulates an enviable objective in the area of material science research for the production of multifunctional materials which are defined on the basis of composition causing particular property improvement desired for some specific application (Popelka et al. 2018). Therefore, the development of such multifunctional materials allows replacement of one material in an otherwise engineered object or a particular set of materials whose combination serves the same functionality (Janson et al. 2018; Abdullah et al. 2018).

PNCs are an innovative group of materials possessing improved properties and can be exploited for a variety of applications. Mainly the research in the area of PNCs is purposeful on the applications in emerging fields (Muzaffar et al. 2018). PNCs are promising materials to be utilized for biomedical applications and are developed by integration of nanoscale materials into the polymer matrix (Sankaran et al. 2018). Common types of nanofillers used are layered silicates, metal oxides, carbon nanotubes (CNTs), graphene, etc. The major challenges in the synthesis of PNCs are achieving a consistent allocation of nanofillers in the polymer matrix and the filler–matrix interaction (Joseph et al. 2018).

The advent of PNCs in the biomedical industry holds its roots in the first half of the twentieth century. The field of polymer nanoscience saw development prior to World War II and polymer revolution began post-World War II due to their usage for common applications apart from military applications (Osborne 2005). The reason behind the growth of PNCs was a shortage of metals and consideration of alternatives. The polymers like nylon, polytetrafluoroethylene (PTFE), and poly (methyl methacrylate) (PMMA) were extensively used in the rope industry, metallic coating, and biomedical applications respectively. In the biomedical field, PMMA was used widely in orthopedics as bone cement, prosthetic joint replacement, as bone fillers and in dentistry as cavity filling. For the polymer used in orthopedics, the essential requirement is the matching of the elastic modulus of the polymer in the proximity to that of the bone (Kurtz and Devine 2007). The PNCs offer cheap and disposable medical devices owing to their flexible production at high scale. These devices include syringes (plastic), blood storage units (polyvinyl chloride), drug delivery (polyglycolic acid), sutures, and stents (polylactic acid) (Smith et al. 2010; Puppi et al. 2010).

Currently, the PNCs form an interesting class of productive engineering materials. The engineering mechanism comprising of designing and fabrication is based on the empirical extrapolation of certain parameters related to the selection of components and processing technique. This is to attain certain properties on the selection of particular nanocomposite component on employment of specific processing techniques. Since in present times the designing aspect of the nanocomposites forms an essential criterion, there arises a paradigm shift from fabrication-oriented construction to design and construction oriented fabrication. The engineering aspects as such provide an insight into the investment costs for processing of complex tools.

However, this imposes a restriction on the designing and functionality of the product. To overcome such restrictions, new techniques like additive processing covering the complexity and pricing require proper establishment. It is, however, worth mentioning that physical characteristics of the PNCs are based on the type of monomers constituting it and stereochemistry of the linkage (Parambath et al. 2017). The stereochemistry of the polymer explains the chain length, distribution, structure and its propensity to crystallize or stay amorphous under different conditions. In addition to that, the stereochemistry determines the shape and distribution of the chain shapes in both amorphous and crystalline states.

The advances in polymer chemistry have worked wonders in designing the PNCs with specific properties. The polymer chemistry provides much-needed control over the nanostructure of the composite comprising of the molecular weight distribution of the polymers and the tacticity (Morozowich et al. 2011). Generally, the PNCs after being designed must retain stability, structure, and morphology under different environmental conditions during its activity. Contrary to that, in recent times there has been keen interest in changing the morphology without accompanying any hysteresis or memory effects on providing stimulus in the form of electric, optical, or mechanical nature leading to the formation of smart materials (Liu et al. 2012). These smart materials are designed for applications including memory storage and recovery, and molecular identification of the biological structure. The smart polymeric materials are intended to attain the knack to manage the material at the nanoscale (Thangamani et al. 2018).

The amorphous PNCs form a group of materials having glassy, brittle, and ductile nature without exhibiting any crystalline features. The structure of such polymers is globular and only accessible after pre-treatment of the polymer using staining causing contrast enhancement in transmission electron microscopy (TEM) (Thostenson et al. 2005). The mechanical behavior of such polymers is as a consequence of localized deformation zones (crazes), deformation bands or shear bands. The amorphous polymers lack long-range molecular arrangement. The examples of such polymers include polycarbonate, acrylic, polyethylene terephpolysulfone, acrylonitrile thalate glycol (PETG), butadiene styrene (ABS), polyesters and epoxies. Semicrystalline polymers, on the other hand, are composed of the highly ordered molecular structure along with sharp melting points. The semicrystalline polymers possess the tendency to retain solid state until the particular quantity of heat is absorbed, changing it into a liquid with low viscosity. In addition to that, these polymers are anisotropic in flow, exhibit greater shrinkage transverse to the direction of flow. The properties of these polymers include excellent chemical resistance and retention of strength and stiffness beyond glass transition temperature. These polymers display hierarchical morphology like crystalline blocks, lamellae, spherulites, and fibrils. The examples of semicrystalline polymers are polyethylene (PE), polyphenylene sulfide (PPS), polypropylene (PP), polyether ether ketone (PEEK), polyetherketone (PEK), polyphthalamide (PPA), polyetherketoneketone (PEKK), polyamides, fluoropolymers, and polyurethanes (Thostenson et al. 2005).

Unsurprisingly, the consequences on the characteristics of PNCs are based on the size of the nanomaterial and the eminence of the interface linking the filler material with the polymer matrix (Thangamani et al. 2017). The interactions exhibiting between the nanomaterial and the polymer matrix can be either physical or chemical leading to the formation of PNCs with enhanced properties in contrast to the virgin polymer (Pasha et al. 2017; Deshmukh et al. 2017b). Hence, the enhancements pertaining to the properties like the mechanical properties, thermal stability, heat distortion temperature, chemical resistance, electrical conductivity, and optical clarity of the parent polymer systems significantly can be attributed to the low filler loading. This makes the PNCs ideal for many applications like aerospace, automobile industry, biomedical field, metal coatings, and sensors (Deshmukh et al. 2017a; Sumathra et al. 2018; Ponnamma et al. 2018b). This chapter deals with the amorphous and semicrystalline thermoplastic PNCs for biomedical applications.

2 Processing of the Amorphous and the Semicrystalline Thermoplastic Nanocomposites

For the processing of the PNCs, numerous approaches can be followed; however, in general, four processing methods—in situ template synthesis (sol–gel), solution intercalation, in situ intercalative polymerization, and melt intercalation—are widely applied (Abraham et al. 2010). The outcome and applicability of PNCs are based to a greater extent on the processing procedure. Therefore, processing method requires proper consideration prior to nanocomposite formation. The above mentioned processing methods are illustrated briefly in the following sections.

2.1 Template Synthesis (Sol–Gel Technology)

In this technique, nanocomposites like clay minerals consisting of the aqueous solution of polymer material and silicate are synthesized inside the polymer matrix (Kim et al. 2007). Sol–gel method has been comprehensively used in the synthesis of silica, glass, and ceramic materials owing to the credibility of the method to yield pure and homogenous products under serene conditions. The sol–gel process is initiated by hydrolysis and followed by condensation reactions (Neena et al. 2016). The structure-related properties of organic–inorganic sol–gel composites aided by either hydrogen bonding or weaker interactions have been studied (Rahman and Padavettan 2012). A typical sol–gel synthesis procedure follows a conversion scheme engrossing the use of metal-inorganic precursors and converting them into inorganic materials using organic solvent or simply by use of water (Boccaccini

et al. 2010). In the synthesis of the bioactive silicate-based nanocomposites, a solgel method of processing is widely used.

In the sol-gel synthesis procedure for bioactive silicate glasses, the precursors exploited are tetraethyl orthosilicate, calcium nitrate and triethylphosphate (Veerapandian and Yuna 2009). The precursors undergo hydrolysis and polycondensation reactions to yield a gel which is afterward calcinated at 600-700 °C to form the glass. The nanocomposites synthesized by sol-gel method exhibit high porosity and specific surface area (Hong et al. 2009). However, it is essential to direct the morphology of the nanocomposites to get the intended biological properties. The bioactive nanocomposites synthesized by the sol-gel method have been applied as coatings on different materials to improve mechanical and biological properties (Esfahani et al. 2008; Fathi and Doostmohammadi 2009). For example, the bioactive glass synthesized by a sol-gel method was applied as a coating on the struts of porous hydroxyapatite to improve the mechanical characteristics of the scaffold with an increase in sintering temperature (Esfahani et al. 2008). The enhancement in mechanical properties can be accustomed to the crystallization occurring in the bioactive nanocomposites. However, in some applications like tissue engineering of scaffolds, anisotropic structures (elongated and fibrous structures) are more convenient. To achieve more features from nanocomposites, the combinations of the sol-gel method with electrospinning have been developed (Kim et al. 2006). In such scenarios, it is obligatory to use additives like polyvinyl butyral for adjustment of rheological characteristics of the sol for electrospinning. It is worth mentioning here that in sol-gel and sol-gel derived techniques, the product must undergo heat treatment to evacuate the organic additives. The two combined processes can be used in the synthesis of nanosize bioactive glass fibers for tissue engineering scaffolds.

The sol-gel method despite being versatile is used to synthesize a wide range of nanoscale bioactive glasses, although being inadequate with respect to the compositions, which can be produced. The residual water or solvent used sometimes can produce complications especially in the field of biomedical applications. Therefore, it is essential to eliminate the organic residue by calcination.

2.2 Intercalation Methods

This technique is applicable to the nanocomposites consisting of layered hosts like silicates. The intercalation technique provides a successful synthesis approach for polymer–layered silicate nanocomposites. The intercalation technique is categorized into three main types namely intercalation of polymer or pre-polymer from solution (solution intercalation), in situ intercalative polymerization method and melt intercalation method based on the precursors and processing techniques. These methods are separately mentioned for convenience in the upcoming section.

2.2.1 Solution Intercalation Method

This method is based on the solvent related to the solubility and swellability of the polymer/pre-polymer and layered silicate, respectively (Ray and Bousmina 2005). The silicate is initially inflated in the desired solvent like water, chloroform, or toluene. This is followed by addition of polymer leading to intercalation of layered silicates between the chains of polymer matrix causing solvent displacement within silicate layers. When the solvent is completely drained out, a polymer–layered silicate nanocomposite is produced.

The schematic diagram of the solution intercalation process is shown in Fig. 1. In this technique, the layered substance and polymer are first solvated on the usage of a solvent wherein the polymer and silicate are soluble. After the exfoliation of the organoclay, the polymer solution is added to the organoclay solution. At this step, intercalation of organoclay takes place among the organoclay layers. Finally, the solvent is evaporated by vaporization, under vacuum or by precipitation. Once, the solvent is completely removed, the layers reassemble holding the polymer to form the nanocomposite structure. This technique is also applicable to the nanocomposites which are obtained by emulsion polymerization in which the layered silicate is dispersed in the aqueous phase (Beyer 2002). The plus point of this method is the non-dependency of intercalated nanocomposites on polarity. However, the solvent dependency marks difficulty in the utilization of this approach.



Fig. 1 Schematic illustration of the solution intercalation process of polymer–layered silicate nanocomposite (Pavlidou and Papaspyrides 2008). Copyright 2008. Reproduced with Permission from Elsevier

2.2.2 In Situ Intercalative Polymerization Method

In this method, monomers are polymerized in presence of the layered silicate minerals. Polymerization of monomer occurs between the silicate layers (Avella et al. 2001). This method is schematically shown in Fig. 2. The layered silicate is exfoliated inside the liquid monomer, and the polymer takes sites between the intercalated sheets to form the polymer nanocomposite. This method requires stimulus for polymerization, which is provided in the form of heat or radiations or by the diffusion of initiator (catalytic or organic) or by cation exchange taking place in the interlayers of layered silicate prior to exfoliation (Mittal 2009).

2.2.3 Melt Intercalation Method

In this method, the mixture of polymer and organically modified layered silicate undergoes either static or shear annealing above the softening point of the polymer (Hasegawa et al. 2005). It leads to other intercalation methods due to its benign impact on the environment. This method does not aid any organic solvent in addition to its compatibility. The polymers which are not suitable for other intercalation methods can be used in melt intercalation. The purpose of annealing is to diffuse the polymer chains amid the silicate layers from the bulk polymer melt as shown in Fig. 3. The melt intercalation method is simple, compatible, and cost effective and has prospering future in the field of commercial nanocomposite technology (Wang et al. 2005). It allows direct formulation of nanocomposites aiding to conventional compounding devices like mixers and extruders, thereby providing an edge with respect to final product characteristics.



Fig. 2 Schematic representation of in situ polymerization


Fig. 3 Schematic representation of melt intercalation (Beyer 2002). Copyright 2002. Reproduced with Permission from Elsevier

3 Examples of the Polymers Used in Biomedical Engineering

3.1 Amorphous Polymers

In amorphous polymers, the anisotropy of thermal properties exists as a consequence of the partial orientation of polymer chains with thermal conductivity along the chain direction greater than that of perpendicular to chain orientation. The addition of nanoparticles to an amorphous polymer leads to an increase in the strain as a consequence of the increase in strain failure coinciding with a decline in particle size (Jordan et al. 2005). The examples of amorphous polymers include the following:

3.1.1 Polycarbonate (PC)

PC is a transparent and hard engineering thermoplastic offering immense strength and high elasticity modulus. It also has higher heat deflection temperature and does not absorb a lot of moisture. It also exhibits low-frequency and high voltage-based characteristics and hence is ideal for electrical and electronic components (Mohanapriya et al. 2015). The thermal properties of PC, however, are enhanced by the accumulation of inorganic fillers (Possner and Kolbesen 2007). The addition of filler causes scratch resistance and surface gloss without causing any impact on transparency and hardness of PC. The addition of conventional fillers in PC is avoided in order to retain its optical property and increases in heat distortion temperature and glass transition temperature. PC is biomedically engineered with organophilic clay using in situ polycondensation reaction to obtain an exfoliated structure (Rama and Swaminathan 2010). The intercalation occurs between the polymer chains and clay layers accompanied by electrostatic forces. The nanocomposite displayed excellent thermal, mechanical, and barrier properties.

3.1.2 Rubber Nanocomposites

Rubber nanocomposites especially polydimethylsiloxane (PDMS) has been used as a substituting material for soft tissue (Abbasi et al. 2002). However, the incorporation of silicon with rubber, when implanted in place of soft tissue, lacked long-term stability due to their high exposure to the peril of infection. The risk of infection arises due to the presence of dead space between the implanted device and the tissue and lack of the bond formation between the implant to adhere itself to the skin tissue. The risk can be avoided by using silicone rubber implants with controllable swellings to be more efficient in biomedical applications (Ai et al. 2003). The control on the swelling of the implant can be achieved by means of surface and bulk modifications like copolymerization, functionalization, interpenetrating polymer networks, laser-induced sequential method, surface grafting and blending (Rajan et al. 2012). After modifications, the nanocomposite composed of PDMS with surface-grafted poly(2-hydroxyethyl methacrylate) by using laser shows the potential application of the nanocomposite in platelet adhesion thereby providing procoagulant sites.

3.2 Thermoplastic Polyurethane (TPU)

TPU is the material ideal for biomedical applications owing to its simplicity in device fabrication, flexibility, biocompatibility, bio-stability and electrically insulating nature (Simmons et al. 2008; Ward et al. 2006). The combination of TPU with multiwalled carbon nanotubes (MWCNTs) has also been reported for biomedical use (McClory et al. 2007). The nanocomposite comprised of MWCNTs at 1% loading by means of an addition polymerization reaction. The addition of MWCNTs leads to considerable enhancement in stiffness, strength, and Young's modulus. The reports about tailoring TPU and organically modified nanosilicates suggest its bio-stability and benefitting mechanical characteristics, thereby explaining its credibility for fabrication of a variety of medical devices (Styan et al. 2012).

3.2.1 Polystyrene (PS)

PS is among the versatile thermoplastics having commercial and medical applicability due to its hard and solid plastic appearance (Neuberger et al. 2005). It is an aromatic polymer formulated on the combination of styrene monomers. Based on its appearance, PS is mostly used in medical products requiring clarity and ease of sterilization (Gil and Hudson 2004). In the medical field, PS is used in applications like manufacturing of tissue culture and disposable trays, Petri dishes or plates, test tubes, diagnostic components, as housings in testing kits and other medical devices (Stuart et al. 2010; Roy et al. 2010). These devices are based on the biodegradability and biocompatibility feature of the PS. The medical devices made of PS are sterilized by using ethylene oxide and UV light without any impact on cell growth. PS is not prone to degradation in the cellular environment and does not cause any restraint to cells, even for the longer duration of investigations (Kumar et al. 2007).

3.2.2 Polyvinylidene Difluoride (PVDF)

PVDF is an important thermoplastic polymer inherited with advantages like stability, toughness, low thermal conductivity, low heat chemical corrosion resistance, high abrasion resistance, and distinctive engineering features (Sathapathy et al. 2017). PVDF withstands severe chemical, thermal, and ultraviolet circumstances. PVDF exhibits enviable insolubility and electrical properties as an outcome of the polarity arising between alternating CH₂ and CF₂ groups on the polymer chain. The applicability of PVDF, especially in the field of health care, utilizes the properties like pyro and piezoelectricity, ferroelectric characteristics, admirable biocompatibility, and chemical resistance (Pawde and Deshmukh 2009). Based on piezoelectricity, PVDF finds its application in biomedical ultrasound exposimetry using spot poled membrane hydrophone design in its a variety of embodiments, thereby exemplifying biomedical ultrasound fields (Harris 2009). The progress in such devices has made quantification of ultrasound exposure levels possible according to the established standards for device safety (Agarwal et al. 2011). PVDF is also used in pressure sensing equipments based on its ferroelectric behavior (Braga et al. 2007). PVDF sensor displays the great response in the measurement of mechanical pressures of both low and high magnitudes. However, the measurements greatly depend on the material used to construct the sensor. Likewise in ophthalmology, PVDF-based pressure sensor possesses the capability to measure the low magnitude intraocular pressure within a specific pathology named glaucoma (Aronov et al. 2010). In addition to that, PVDF finds its application in bone regeneration due to antibacterial property of PVDF membrane when incorporated with other materials (Samanta et al. 2009).

3.3 Semicrystalline Polymers

The crystallinity of polymers produces noteworthy optimizations subsequent to optical, thermal, chemical, and mechanical properties. The crystallinity in polymers is attained due to cooling the polymer from the molten state, stretching due to

mechanical stress or simply by evaporation of the solvent. The estimation of the extent of crystallinity is done by means of various analytical methods. For semicrystalline polymers, the extent of crystallinity is between 10 and 80%. The characteristics of semicrystalline polymers are based on the extent of crystallinity in addition to orientation and size of polymer chains. The examples of semicrystalline polymers are listed in the following section.

3.3.1 Polyethylene (PE)

PE is a thermoplastic semicrystalline polymer exhibiting variable crystalline structure. As a consequence of that, the applications are enormous and it is mostly used in the production of plastics. It lies in the class of polyolefinic plastics, and PE is the most preferred material for the development of PNCs. For biomedical engineering, PE is generally grafted with fillers to achieve the desired applicability.

3.3.2 Polypropylene (PP)

PP is another thermoplastic semicrystalline polymer formed due to the combination of propylene monomers. PP is widely used in packaging, as plastic parts for automobile and textile industry. For medical applications, PP is grafted with fillers and other organic materials. For example, the nanocomposite composed of grafted PP/Cloisite 30B maleic anhydride prepared by water-based extrusion and by simple extrusion (Zheng et al. 2010). By using water, the nanocomposite exhibited enhancements in clay delamination dispersion and in rheological, thermal, and mechanical assets also observed. The other example is that of CO₂-assisted extrusion of polymer/clay nanocomposites enabling elevation in the separation among the clay layers. CO₂ helps in the expansion of the layer spacing between the clay particles, thereby encouraging exfoliation of the nanocomposite during the foaming process. The strength optimizations are achieved due to the addition of clay particles in small amounts during the foaming process hindering cell coalescence of the linear PP matrix. The modification in morphology presents PP/Cloisite 20A nanocomposites for applicability in the medical field.

3.3.3 Polyamide (PA)

PA is a synthetic thermoplastic linear semicrystalline polymer. It is widely used in clothing, rubber reinforcement, rope and thread making, injection molding. PA comprises characteristics like exceptional strength, resistant to abrasions, chemicals and moisture, long durability, and highly elastic. Among all engineering plastics, PA present the premier quantity of research work. For example, PA 66/Hectorite nanocomposites synthesized by melt compounding displayed a decrease in the rate of moisture absorption and the addition of organoclay enhanced the barrier property

of the nanocomposite (Timmaraju et al. 2011). The nanocomposite showed amplification in tensile modulus and hardness. The enhancements are, however, directed by the nanostructure of the organoclay in PA matrix.

3.4 Polymer–Clay Nanocomposites Types

The layered silicates generally exhibit exceptionally higher aspect ratios. For the development of PNCs, a small percentage of layered silicates are dispersed onto the polymer matrix (Ray and Bousmina 2005). Based on the nature of the materials in consideration, and the means of synthesis, mainly three kinds of composites can be produced (Alexandre and Dubois 2000). The polymer-layered silicates (PLS) prepared by these three methods are shown in Fig. 4.

(a) **Phase-Separated Structure** The structure formation initiates with the dispersion of layered silicates in a polymer matrix. The polymer may be incapable of interaction between clay layers, and the clay attributes to the aggregation or clustering inside the polymer matrix. The nanocomposite structure obtained by this kind of dispersion of silicates is considered "phase separated" (Wu and Yang 2006).



Fig. 4 Schematic illustration of three different types of thermodynamically achievable PLS nanocomposites (Alexandre and Dubois 2000). Copyright 2000. Reprinted with permission from Elsevier

(b) Intercalated Nanocomposites When the better interaction between the polymers and the layered silicates is achieved, intercalated structures are formed as a result of a regular stacking of alternative layering of polymeric and inorganic material accompanied with increasing interlayer separation (Pavlidou and Papaspyrides 2008).

(c) Exfoliated Nanocomposites This type of structure formulation occurs between well-separated clay and polymer layers when individually dispersed in an incessant polymer matrix to obtain exfoliated structure (Pavlidou and Papaspyrides 2008).

Some of the polymer-clay nanocomposites used in biomedical engineering are listed in the next section.

3.4.1 Polyurethane–Urea (PUU)

PUU is a segmented block copolymer in the class of reactive polymers. PUU used in biomedical field like in total artificial hearts and blood sacs in ventricular assist devices consists of ca. 80 wt% poly(tetramethylene oxide) (PTMO) soft segments and polyether (Xu et al. 2001). However, when PUU is used in completely implantable devices, it suffers consequences due to relatively high permeability to air and water vapors. The presence of soft phase polyether leads to high permeability as a result of penetrant diffusion. To reduce the permeability of PUU without altering its properties pertaining to mechanical strength and biocompatibility, several chemical methods have been developed. One of such methods includes replacement of PMTO with soft segments of aliphatic polycarbonate (Kwak and Sei 2003). The modified PUU with a biocompatible layered filler of alkylammonium is used in medicines for reduction of stomach acid. The other poly–clay nanocomposites include poly(vinyl alcohol) (PVA)–clay and poly(ethylene oxide) (PEO)clay nanocomposites which are used in medical field.

4 Nanoscale Reinforcements in the Polymer Nanocomposites

CNTs, graphene, and nanoclays are widely explored nanofillers in the processing of polymer-based nanocomposites (Liff et al. 2007). These fillers impart different characteristics like thermal, chemical, electrical and mechanical. The functional and mechanical characteristics among nanofillers and polymer matrix are governed by their interaction (Ahmad et al. 2013). Desired properties combinations can be achieved by the alterations and of various parameters and by the restraining nanostructures and polymers interactions.

4.1 Carbon Nanotubes (CNTs)

CNTs comprises of a monolayered sheet of graphene, i.e., single-walled carbon nanotubes (SWCNTs), or several concentric layers graphene through the multiwalled structure, i.e., MWCNTs (Serrano et al. 2014). CNTs have attractive mechanical, electrical, and thermal characteristics. They exhibit outstanding mechanical characteristics like high Young's modulus and tensile strengths up to 63 GPa (Wang et al. 2012). CNTs find many applications including their combination with polymers forming nanocomposites.

CNTs have been explored as a better reinforcing material for PNCs attributing exceptional mechanical, electrical, and surface characteristics (Cooper et al. 2002). The amalgamation of a small quantity of CNT considerably increases the mechanical strength of polymer matrix. The mechanical properties of PNCs are based on the nature of the polymer. The polymer matrix and the CNTs interactions in addition to the homogeneous dispersion of nanotubes in the polymer matrix provide improved properties in the nanocomposites (Wong et al. 2003).

The characteristics of nanocomposites are prejudiced by the processing method also. The incorporation of CNTs as nanofiller in the polymer matrix improve the physicochemical properties like flexibility and strength of the polymer matrix and adds to their functionalities for different applications (Spitalsky et al. 2010). CNTs are functionalized by chemical treatment to improve their interaction with the polymer matrix (Macossay et al. 2012).

4.2 Graphene

Graphene is composed of hexagonal-packed lattice forming a two-dimensional single layer material inhibited with unique characteristics like elevated mobility even at room temperature, high Young's modulus, and outstanding conductivity (Deshmukh et al. 2015; Lee et al. 2008; Fayyad et al. 2016). Graphene is produced by mechanical exfoliation of graphite, chemical vapor deposition (CVD) growth or exfoliation of graphite oxide (Deshmukh et al. 2016b).

Graphene has been reported as superior nanofiller in contrast to the other carbon-based nanomaterials, because of its high electrical and thermal conductivity. The physical and chemical properties of nanocomposites are governed mostly on the basis of allocation of graphene layers in the polymer matrix and interfacial bonding involving graphene layers and polymer matrix (Deshmukh et al. 2016a). Development of graphene-reinforced PNCs is an interesting area of research. Graphene-based PNCs have been reported for numerous biomedical applications.

4.3 Nanoclays

Nanoclays consisting of layered silicates are regarded as very efficient reinforcing materials when incorporated with polymers. They exhibit interesting characteristics like high aspect ratio, high strength, and stiffness. Clay minerals comprise of both natural clays (e.g., hectorite, montmorillonite, and saponite) and synthetic clays. The conventional composites are formed by filling layered clays into a polymer matrix. The layered clays are based on the nature of the components and processing conditions. In case of conventional composite or nanocomposite, the polymer is prohibited to intercalate between the spacing of clay minerals. Based on the spacing of clay minerals, the nanoclay-based nanocomposites are classified as intercalated and delaminated or exfoliated nanocomposite.

The intercalated nanoclav-based nanocomposites are composed of monolaver extensions of polymer chains which are infused into the vicinity of clay minerals leading to a well-organized multilayer structure. The multilayer structure consists of alternative clay platelets and polymer layering. Contrary to that, exfoliated nanocomposites are composed of consistent and homogeneous diffusion of nanoclay platelets in the continuous polymer matrix that leads to enhanced interactions between polymer and clay (Kiliaris and Papaspyrides 2010). The nanocomposites containing nanoclay exhibit better interactions among the diffused clay and the polymer interfaces. The interactions lead to improvements in thermal, mechanical, and barrier properties of the nanocomposite as compared to the nascent polymer (Lecouvet et al. 2013). However, there exists an incompatibility among hydrophobic polymer and clay. This incompatibility is among the shortcomings of such nanocomposites during insemination of nanoclay particles in the polymer matrix. Hence, a significant role is played by surface modification of clay minerals to form PNCs. The exclusive encrusted configuration and elevated intercalation potential of clay minerals avail their chemical modification for compatibility with polymers which is crucial for the development of such nanocomposites. Based on the targeted application, a particular nanoclay is selected for the formation of particular PNCs.

The promising applications of these nanocomposites are in the biotechnological and biomedical field. Clay-based PNCs have been investigated in biosensors, tissue engineering, drug delivery, and biomedical devices (Paul and Robeson 2008). However, major challenges arise while developing nanocomposites for biomedical relevance having characteristics like biodegradability and long-term biocompatibility.

5 Polymer Nanocomposites in Biomedical Applications

The polymer-based nanocomposites enclose greater credibility in many biomedical and biotechnological applications (Goenka et al. 2014). The combination of chemical, physical, and biological properties of nanocomposites provides new avenues for designing and developing materials with improved properties for biomedical applications (Satarkar et al. 2010). PNCs possess improved mechanical properties, and they can be used to replace bones (Tripathy 2017). PNCs find applications in the latest technologies like tissue engineering, biomedical imaging, sutures, surgical implants and drug delivery. The schematic representation of biomedical applications of polymer–silicate nanocomposites is given in Fig. 5.

The scaffold used in tissue engineering, serve as an outline and support for cell adhesion, proliferation, and the creation of extracellular matrix (Lee et al. 2008). Polymer-based nanocomposites are extensively considered for tissue engineering applications (Serrano et al. 2014). PNCs can be used for hard and soft tissue engineering due to their enhanced mechanical and electrical properties. PNCs could be used as a credible material for drug delivery because they can deliver huge and directed doses of therapeutic objects prospering toward the specific site. The applications of PNCs in the medical field are listed below.



Fig. 5 Schematic representation of biomedical applications of PNCs (Tripathy 2017). Copyright 2017. Reproduced with permission from Springer Nature

5.1 Scaffold Tissue Engineering

The methods utilizing the material, engineering and biological sciences to formulate synthetic constructs for new tissue regeneration form the basis of tissue engineering. The field of tissue engineering provides substitution alternatives in repairing or replacing a failing tissue or organ. The growth of cells on scaffolds acting as temporary support for cells especially during target tissue regeneration without incorporating any changes to the stable three dimensional (3D) structure is one of most promising approaches in tissue engineering (Ma 2004). A wide range of materials are assigned to perform in such processes and among them, the scaffolds using polymeric materials play the most crucial role. Polymeric scaffolds are used in seeding and proliferation of cells, new tissue creation in 3D for various organs, etc. The PNCs inhibit characteristics like porosity, pore sizing and the high surface area which are acknowledged as the essential parameters for scaffold tissue engineering (Quirk et al. 2004). In addition to that the PNCs possess architectural qualities like pore shape, the morphology of pore wall, and interconnectivity between the pores of the polymeric scaffold. These qualities formulate as the base requirements for seeding of cells, cell growth and migration, transport of mass and formation of new tissue (Ma 2004).

The replacement of scaffolds composed of collagen with ultra-porous scaffolds composed of biodegradable polymers has been growing rapidly. The reason behind their rapid growth of biodegradable PNCs is their degradation with new tissue formation leaving no place for the foreign body. However, the challenging aspects of such scaffolds are the designing and fabrication of the customized biodegradable polymers with characteristics which endorses cell adhesion and porosity (Ma 2004). Consequently, the other aspects also include adequate mechanical properties matching with the hot tissue along with the rate of predictable degradation and biocompatibility (Sinha and Okamoto 2003). The scaffold polymeric material must possess biocompatibility as an essential criterion. The nanocomposite under biomedical usage must possess the ability of easy sterilization to avert infection and must not induce any inflammatory response nor show any cytotoxicity to immunogenicity. The scaffold used in the engineering of bone tissue requires a porosity of greater than 90% with a pore diameter of 100 µm. These parameters are essential for cell penetration and proper vascularisation of the ingrown tissue (Karageorgiou and Kaplan 2005). The biomaterials used in bone tissue engineering include bioactive ceramics like calcium phosphate and surface-grafted hydroxyapatite (Hench 2006; Kim et al. 2004). These ceramics display suitable biocompatibility and osteoconductivity due to the similarity in the structure and chemical composition of the material with the mineral phase of the native bone (Karageorgiou and Kaplan 2005). However, the disadvantage of these bioactive ceramics lies in the intrinsic brittleness and complexity in shaping them according to the shape of the target bone. These disadvantages are negotiated with the development of PNCs reinforced with bioactive ceramics. These polymer-ceramic composites provide an option of shape control and manipulation to occupy the bone defects and illustrate excellent bioactivity (Ahmed and Bodmeier 2009).

The use of CNTs/polymeric composites as scaffolds for bone engineering has lately developed a considerable buzz. The scaffolds used for tissue engineering serve as substrates in adhesion of cells, segregation, extracellular matrix (ECM) formation, proliferation and to guide tissue regeneration. The ideal scaffold to be used for tissue regeneration must inhibit sufficient mechanical characteristics. In this regard, CNTs exhibit more credibility in offering the required structural tissue scaffold reinforcement (Lee et al. 2008). By integrating a little quantity of CNTs with the polymer matrix, considerable enhancement in the mechanical property (strength) was observed (Wang et al. 2005). It was shown that MWCNTs blended with chitosan significantly enhanced the mechanical aspects in contrast to those with chitosan alone. The in vitro studies confirm the biological properties of CNT scaffolds. The CNT incorporated with porous thermoplastic polyurethanemultiwalled synthesized by thermally induced phase separation (TIPS) method has been reported for biological activity (Jell et al. 2008). This nanocomposite exhibits enhanced stiffness due to the integration of CNT. Biodegradable poly (lactic-co-glycolic acid) (PLGA)/carboxyl-functionalized multi-walled carbon nanotube (c-MWCNT) nanocomposites were reported by Lin et al. (2011). Rat bone marrow-derived mesenchymal stem cells (MSCs) were used to assess the in vitro biocompatibility of the nanocomposites. The osteoblast fabrication of the effective angiogenic factor vascular endothelial growth factor (VEGF) showed rise due to CNT loading, verifying its potential for scaffold engineering. The addition of CNT leads to the establishment of (MSCs) that hold and propagate on all the PLGA/c-MWCNT nanocomposite scaffolds. The in vivo biocompatibility of ultra-short SWNTs/biodegradable polymer nanocomposite scaffolds in a rabbit model has been reported by Sitharaman et al. (2008). The implants formed on poly (propylene fumarate) (PPF)-SWNTs displayed only mild inflammatory responses and increased connective tissue organization. The PPF-SWNTs nanocomposite scaffolds showed considerable bone in-growth after 12 weeks of implantation with increased collagen matrix production.

Besides CNTs, graphene-reinforced PNCs embrace the vast potential for tissue engineering scaffolds owing to their better mechanical and electrical properties. Graphene-based nanocomposites exhibit great potential for development of cells due to their biocompatibility (Park et al. 2011). The nanocomposite composed of graphene/polycaprolactone synthesized covalently having enhanced conductivity, and mechanical properties have been reported for bioactivity (Sayyar et al. 2013). Pristine PC1 was used in the evaluation of cell growth of fibroblast (L-929), neural (PC-12), and muscle (C2C12) cell lines on covalently linked graphene/ polycaprolactone nanocomposite materials. It was observed that proliferation of cell lines on the graphene-based nanocomposite was similar to that of plastic-based tissue culture and hence proving the credentials of the graphene-based nanocomposite fabrication for tissue engineering. The other graphene-based nanocomposites used in tissue engineering include graphene oxide (GO)-chitosan hydrogel scaffolds (Depan et al. 2011), GO-PVA (Zhang et al. 2011), graphene-reinforced chitosan films (Fan et al. 2010), graphene-gelatin methacrylate (Shin et al. 2013), and chitosan-PVA nanofibrous scaffolds with graphene (Lu et al. 2012). These graphene-based nanocomposites inhibit properties like enhanced mechanical strength, subordinate degradation rate, lesser toxicity rate, and better wound healing. These properties symbolize their noteworthy potential in cell adhesion and differentiation of proliferation.

The other nanocomposite reported for tissue engineering includes nanoclays. The incorporation of nanoclay with polymers leads to enhancement of the mechanical and physical properties of the polymeric matrix due to their anisotropy and high aspect ratio morphology (Gaharwar et al. 2012). The addition of nanoclay provides the control over the chemical and mechanical properties of the overall nanocomposite. The combination of PCL with halloysite nanoclay has been reported with improved mechanical strength desired for protein adsorption and cell adhesion (Wu et al. 2010). This nanocomposite, when incorporated with human mesenchymal stem cells (hMSCs), resulted in faster scaffolds proliferation than PCL scaffold alone. Silicate nanoparticle (Laponite RD) has been reported as an effective scaffold material in controlling the adhesion, spreading, and proliferation of fibroblast and preosteoblast cells on silicate cross-linked PEO surfaces (Nitya et al. 2012). The in vitro cell culture studies revealed that the rise in silicate concentration in PEO-silicate nanocomposite led to improvement in adhesion and proliferation of hMSCs to a significant extent. The induction of osteogenic differentiation in hMSCs in the absence of any growth factors using nanoclay has been reported recently (Gaharwar et al. 2010). The montmorillonite (MMT) nanoclay along with 5-aminovaleric acid resulted in an increased in the interlayer spacing and improvement in biocompatibility with respect to human osteoblasts. MMT modified clay and 5-aminovaleric acid combination were also used to formulate chitosan/ polygalacturonic acid (Chi-PgA) composite scaffolds (Gaharwar et al. 2013).

5.2 Drug Delivery

The method of drug delivery comprises the processes by means of which a pharmaceutical compound is administered to attain therapeutic effect in humans or animals. The most common diseases treated by means of drug delivery are those of nasal and pulmonary routes. These routes are of prime importance when parental drug delivery is for protein and peptide therapeutics. There are several drug delivery systems which are studied for these routes. These systems include liposomes, proliposomes, microspheres, gels, prodrugs, and cyclodextrins (Tiwari et al. 2012). The biodegradable PNCs form a promising class of materials with great potential in fulfillment of the strict requirements on these drug delivery systems. The biodegradable PNCs possesses biocompatibility, the ability of transference into an aerosol, stability to the force generation during aerosolization, proper targeting (specific sites) of cells in an organ, drug releasing in a predetermined manner, and degradation during the set period of time.

The graphene-based PNCs have been extensively explored for drug delivery due to their high surface area, hydrophobic interaction, and π - π stacking. The chitosan-graphene-based nanocomposite has been reported for drug loadings like 5-fluorouracil

and camptothecin (CPT) (Rana et al. 2011). In another study, graphene nanosheets (GS) containing gelatin as a reducing and functionalizing agent were used for loading of doxorubicin (DOX), an anticancer drug (Liu et al. 2011). This graphene-based nanocomposite exhibited better drug loading ability due to the high surface area and relatively higher π interactions. This whole complex (graphene–gelatin–DOX) on fabrication with conjugating Rituxan (CD20 + antibody) with polyethylene glycol–nanographene oxide (PEG–NGO) showed high toxicity to MCF-7 cells through endocytosis (Sun et al. 2008). This nanocomposite complex loading tendered greater results due to non-covalent π – π stacking. In another study, DOX was loaded on functionalized reduced graphene oxide (rGO) with the incorporation of polyethylene glycol (PEG) along with the branched polyethyleneimine (BPEI) (Dembereldorj et al. 2012). The nanocomposite was developed to carry out stimuli response for intracellular cytosolic delivery of DOX. The response of DOX release was observed in near-infrared (NIR), acidic pH, and high intracellular levels of glutathione (GSH).

Apart from graphene-based nanocomposites, the nanoclay-based nanocomposites have also been reported for drug delivery. In polymer-based drug delivery systems, the control over the proliferation of entrapped drugs is a challenging aspect. The control over proliferation can be attained on the basis of the therapeutic effects of the drugs and their biological activity by means of controlling the drug release kinetics (Alexandre and Dubois 2000). This challenging aspect can be negotiated to a greater extent by using silicate-based PNCs due to their superior diffusion and barrier properties of small molecules. Polyurethane/MMT clay nanocomposite in the form of nanofibrous web film has been reported as a delivery system for chlorhexidine acetate (CA), a bactericidal agent (Saha et al. 2014). This nanocomposite provided a sustained drug release due to bulky and immobilized drug cation in the clay interlayer spacing leading to the hindrance of the exchange of the cationic species nearby the buffered media. The fabrications of clay-based poly(N-isopropylacrylamide) nanocomposite hydrogels have been reported for drug delivery due to their swelling behavior (Lee and Fu 2003). In another report, a controlled dexamethasone drug release has been reported when organically tailored silicate nanoparticles (Cloisite clay) were linked to poly(ethylene-co-vinyl acetate) (Kiliaris and Papaspyrides 2010). The drug delivery of this silicate-based nanocomposite was attributed to the degree of dispersion as well as the aspect ratio of the silicate nanoparticles (Cypes et al. 2003).

5.3 Dental Implants

The replacement of missing teeth can be done by various means. One of the most preferred methods to fill the missing teeth gaps is the dental implantation. The dental implant comprises of two parts: the root and the crown. The root in dental implant mainly uses titanium or zirconia to support the prosthetic crowns. Gold and glass materials have also been used in implant abutments. These materials are mostly used due to their corrosion and degradation properties (Bidra and Rungruanganunt 2013). However, their poor attachment and limited bone or soft tissue support in addition to their cost are some of their limiting factors. Such limiting factors can be avoided by using PNCs. The most commonly used polymer in dentistry is a high-performance thermoplastic polymer PEEK. PEEK can be used in dental implants due to its high elastic modulus as compared to the bone and stress reduction shielding (AL-Rabab'ah et al. 2017). The radiolucent nature of PEEK provides the improved radiographic imaging of the pre-implant tissues and inhibits the bonding capability with composite materials and ceramics. PEEK has been widely used in orthopedic and spinal surgeries due to its mechanical strength (Kurtz and Devine 2007). However, combination of its biological and mechanical characteristics encourages its use as dental implant abutments (AL-Rabab'ah et al. 2017). The role of PEEK and other high impact polymers is to provide supporting framework for single crown to full arch reconstruction. PEEK possesses the ease of sterilization due to its temperature stability above 300 °C (Wiesli and Özcan 2015). During dental implant, PEEK is nanomodified using bioactive nanoparticles followed by their reinforcement on carbon or glass fibers (Roskies et al. 2016). The production of PEEK is readily attained using 3D printers to simulate pre-surgery conditions (Tan et al. 2016). PEEK-based materials can be used to replace partial or complete framework of the missing tooth.

5.4 Polymer Nanocomposites as Biosensors

The PNCs especially the conducting polymers are widely investigated for bio-sensing applications due to controlling capability on parameters like electrical, mechanical, structural, and bio-reagent loading (Malhotra et al. 2006). The conducting polymer-based biosensors cater the basic requirements for biomedical devices like biocompatibility, in vivo sensing, multi-parametric assays, continuous monitoring of metabolites or drugs, high information density and miniaturization. The polymers reported for bio-sensing include polyphenylene sulfide (PPS), polythiophenes. polypyrroles (PPy), poly-para-phenylene (PPP), poly(3,4-ethylenedioxythiophene) (PEDOT), polyfuran, polyindole, polycarbazole, and polyaniline (PANI) (Borole et al. 2006). The PNCs can be used in four types of bio-sensing, viz. enzyme, microbial, immuno, and nucleic acid sensing (Dhand et al. 2007). In enzyme bio-sensing, the PNCs utilizes the specificity of an enzymatic reaction, thereby leading to the generation of an electric current or potential difference along an electrode for quantitative analysis (Kerman et al. 2003). The enzyme sensors depict the biochemical reactions and their corresponding impact on the current generation. The polymers used in such sensors are poly(aniline co-fluoroaniline) and PPy (Sharma et al. 2004; Tian et al. 2001). In microbial sensors, the PNCs sense the presence of microorganism and the polymers used for such sensing are PVA and poly(4-vinylpyridine) (Fang et al. 2003; Kwok et al. 2005). In immunosensors, the PNCs sense the presence of an analyte within minutes using small volumes of the specimen (Lei et al. 2005). This sensing uses immunochemistry and electrochemistry to avail the results and the polymers used in such sensing are PANI and PPy (Tian et al. 2001; Porter 2000). Finally, in nucleic acid biosensors, PNCs are used in the diagnosis of the disorders (Grant et al. 2005). It is also called as deoxyribonucleic acid (DNA) sensing and the polymers used in such sensing are poly(thiophene-3-yl-acetic acid 1,3-dioxo-1,3-dihydro-isoindole-2-yl ester) and poly(9,9bis (6-N, N, N-trimethyl ammonium hexyl bromide) fluorine)-co-phenylene (Zhang et al. 2005; Wang et al. 2004).

6 Conclusions

This chapter is intended to provide an insight into the different types of polymeric materials based on the degree of crystallinity. The amorphous and semicrystalline polymers and their property optimization on the addition of other materials have been discussed. The different types of polymers and their prescribed medical usage are mentioned pointing their credibility as materials of great future ahead on the basis of the modifications and material optimizations. The addition of various fillers like graphene and CNTs and their applicability in biomedical engineering such as drug delivery and tissue culturing are listed. The examples of different PNCs belonging to the amorphous and semicrystalline and their corresponding applicability in biomedical engineering are elaborated, and finally, the biomedical enhancements and applications pertaining to these polymers are mentioned.

References

- Abbasi F, Mirzadeh H, Katbab AA (2002) Surface modification of silicone rubber for biomedical applications. Polym Int 51:882–888
- Abdullah N, Yusof N, Ismail AF, Othman FE, Jaafar J, Jye LW, Salleh WN, Aziz F, Misdan N (2018) Effects of manganese (VI) oxide on polyacrylonitrile-based activated carbon nanofibers (ACNFs) and its preliminary study for adsorption of lead (II) ions. Emergent Mater 1(1–2):1–6
- Abraham TN, Siengchin S, Ratna D, Karger-Kocsis J (2010) Effect of modified layered silicates on the confined crystalline morphology and thermomechanical properties of poly(ethylene oxide) nanocomposites. J Appl Polym Sci 118:1297–1305
- Agarwal V, Harutoshi O, Kentarou N, Bhattacharya B (2011) Inspection of pipe inner surface using advanced pipe crawler robot with PVDF sensor based rotating probe. Sens Transducers 127:45
- Ahmad J, Deshmukh K, Hägg MB (2013) Influence of TiO₂ on the chemical, mechanical and gas separation properties of polyvinyl alcohol-titanium dioxide (PVA-TiO₂) nanocomposite membrane. Inter J Polym Anal Character 18(4):287–296
- Ahmed AR, Bodmeier R (2009) Preparation of preformed porous PLGA microparticles and antisense oligonucleotides loading. Eur J Pharm Biopharm 71:264–270
- Ai H, Jones SA, Lvov YM (2003) Biomedical applications of electrostatic layer-by-layer nano-assembly of polymers, enzymes, and nanoparticles. Cell Biochem Biophys 39:23
- Alexandre M, Dubois P (2000) Polymer-layered silicate nanocomposites: preparation, properties and uses of a new class of materials. Mater Sci Eng: R: Rep 28:1–63

- AL-Rabab'ah M, Hamadneh W, Alsalem I, Khraisat A, Abu Karaky A (2017) Use of high performance polymers as dental implant abutments and frameworks: a case series report. J. Prosthodontics 1–11
- Aronov AM, Bol'basov EN, Guzeev VV, Dvornichenkov MV, Tverdokhlebov SI, Khlusov IA (2010) Biological composites based on fluoropolymers with hydroxyapatite for intramedullary implants. Biomed Eng 44:108–113
- Avella M, Errico ME, Martelli S, Martuscelli E (2001) Preparation methodologies of polymer matrix nanocomposites. Appl Organomet Chem 15:435–439
- Beyer G (2002) Nanocomposites: a new class of flame retardants for polymers. Plast Addit Compound 4:22–28
- Bidra AS, Rungruanganunt P (2013) Clinical outcomes of implant abutments in the anterior region: a systematic review. J Esthetic Restorative Dent 25:159–176
- Boccaccini AR, Erol M, Stark WJ, Mohn D, Hong Z, Mano JF (2010) Polymer/bioactive glass nanocomposites for biomedical applications: a review. Compos Sci Technol 70:1764–1776
- Borole DD, Kapadi UR, Mahulikar PP, Hundiwale DG (2006) Conducting polymers: an emerging field of biosensors. Des Monomers Polym 9:1–1
- Braga FJ, Rogero SO, Couto AA, Marques RF, Ribeiro AA, Campos JS (2007) Characterization of PVDF/HAP composites for medical applications. Mater Res 10:247–251
- Cooper CA, Ravich D, Lips D, Mayer J, Wagner HD (2002) Distribution and alignment of carbon nanotubes and nanofibrils in a polymer matrix. Compos Sci Technol 62:1105–1112
- Cypes SH, Saltzman WM, Giannelis EP (2003) Organosilicate-polymer drug delivery systems: controlled release and enhanced mechanical properties. J Controlled Release 90:163–169
- Dembereldorj U, Kim M, Kim S, Ganbold EO, Lee SY, Joo SW (2012) A spatiotemporal anticancer drug release platform of PEGylated graphene oxide triggered by glutathione in vitro and in vivo. J Mater Chem 22:23845–23851
- Depan D, Girase B, Shah JS, Misra RDK (2011) Structure–process–property relationship of the polar graphene oxide-mediated cellular response and stimulated growth of osteoblasts on hybrid chitosan network structure nanocomposite scaffolds. Acta Biomater 7:3432–3445
- Deshmukh K, Ahamed MB, Pasha SKK, Deshmukh RR, Bhagat PR (2015) Highly dispersible graphene oxide reinforced polypyrole/polyvinyl alcohol blend nanocomposites with high dielectric constant and low dielectric loss. RSC Adv 5(76):61933–61945
- Deshmukh K, Ahamed MB, Deshmukh RR, Pasha SKK, Chidambaram K, Sadasivuni KK, Ponnamma D, AlMaadeed MAA (2016a) Eco-friendly synthesis of graphene oxide reinforced hydroxypropyl methyl cellulose/polyvinyl alcohol blend nanocomposites filled with zinc oxide nanoparticles for high-k capacitor applications. Polym Plast Tech Eng 55(12):1240–1253
- Deshmukh K, Ahamed MB, Deshmukh RR, Pasha SKK, Sadasivuni KK, Ponnamma D, Chidambaram K (2016b) Synergistic effect of vanadium pentoxide and graphene oxide in polyvinyl alcohol for energy storage applications. Euro Polym J 76:14–27
- Deshmukh K, Ahamed MB, Sadasivuni KK, Ponnamma D, AlMaadeed MAA, Deshmukh RR, Pasha SKK, Polu AR, Chidambaram K (2017a) Fumed SiO₂ nanoparticle reinforced biopolymer blend nanocomposites with high dielectric constant and low dielectric loss for flexible organic electronics. J Appl Polym Sci 134(5):44427
- Deshmukh K, Ahamed MB, Sadasivuni KK, Ponnamma D, AlMaadeed MAA, Pasha SKK, Deshmukh RR, Chidambaram K (2017b) Graphene oxide reinforced poly(4-styrenesulfonic acid)/polyvinyl alcohol blend composites with enhanced dielectric properties for portable and flexible electronics. Mater Chem Phys 186:188–201
- Dhand C, Singh SP, Arya SK, Datta M, Malhotra BD (2007) Cholesterol biosensor based on electrophoretically deposited conducting polymer film derived from nano-structured polyaniline colloidal suspension. Anal Chim Acta 602:244–251
- Esfahani SR, Tavangarian F, Emadi R (2008) Nanostructured bioactive glass coating on porous hydroxyapatite scaffold for strength enhancement. Mater Lett 62:3428–3430
- Fadiran OO, Girouard N, Meredith JC (2018) Pollen fillers for reinforcing and strengthening of epoxy composites. Emergent Mater 1(1–2):95–103

- Fan H, Wang L, Zhao K, Li N, Shi Z, Ge Z, Jin Z (2010) Fabrication, mechanical properties and biocompatibility of graphene-reinforced chitosan composites. Biomacromol 11:2345–2351
- Fang Q, Chetwynd DG, Gardner JW, Toh C, Bartlett PN (2003) A preliminary study of conducting polymers as microvalve seals. Mater Sci Eng, A 355:62–67
- Fathi MH, Doostmohammadi A (2009) Bioactive glass nanopowder and bioglass coating for biocompatibility improvement of metallic implant. J Mater Process Technol 209:1385–1391
- Fayyad EM, Sadasivuni KK, Ponnamma D, Al-Maadeed MAA (2016) Oleic acid-grafted chitosan/ graphene oxide composite coating for corrosion protection of carbon steel. carbohyd Polym 151:871–878
- Frazer RQ, Byron RT, Osborne, PB, West KP (2005) PMMA: an essential material in medicine and dentistry. J Long-Term Eff Med Implants 15
- Gaharwar AK, Schexnailder P, Kaul V, Akkus O, Zakharov D, Seifert S, Schmidt G (2010) Highly extensible bio-nanocomposite films with direction-dependent properties. Adv Func Mater 20:429–436
- Gaharwar AK, Kishore V, Rivera C, Bullock W, Wu CJ, Akkus O, Schmidt G (2012) Physically crosslinked nanocomposites from silicate-crosslinked PEO: mechanical properties and osteogenic differentiation of human mesenchymal stem cells. Macromol Biosci 12:779–793
- Gaharwar AK, Mihaila SM, Swami A, Patel A, Sant S, Reis RL, Khademhosseini A (2013) Bioactive silicate nanoplatelets for osteogenic differentiation of human mesenchymal stem cells. Adv Mater 25:3329–3336
- Gil ES, Hudson SM (2004) Stimuli-reponsive polymers and their bioconjugates. Prog Polym Sci 29:1173–1222
- Goenka S, Sant V, Sant S (2014) Graphene-based nanomaterials for drug delivery and tissue engineering. J Controlled Release 173:75–88
- Grant S, Davis F, Law KA, Barton AC, Collyer SD, Higson SP, Gibson TD (2005) Label-free and reversible immunosensor based upon an ac impedance interrogation protocol. Anal Chim Acta 537:163–168
- Harris GR (2009) Piezoelectric poly(Vinylidene) fluoride (PVDF) in biomedical ultrasound exposimetry. Biomed Appl Electroact Polym Actuators 369–83
- Hasegawa N, Tsukigase A, Usuki A (2005) Silicate layer dispersion in copolymer/clay nanocomposites. J Appl Polym Sci 98:1554–1557
- Hench LL (2006) The story of Bioglass®. J Mater Sci-Mater Med 17:967-978
- Hong Z, Liu A, Chen L, Chen X, Jing X (2009) Preparation of bioactive glass ceramic nanoparticles by combination of sol–gel and coprecipitation method. J Non-Cryst Solids 355:368–372
- Janson A, Minier-Matar J, Al-Shamari E, Hussain A, Sharma R, Rowley D, Adham S (2018) Evaluation of new ion exchange resins for hardness removal from boiler feedwater. Emergent Mater 1(1–2):1–1
- Jell G, Verdejo R, Safinia L, Shaffer MS, Stevens MM, Bismarck A (2008) Carbon nanotube-enhanced polyurethane scaffolds fabricated by thermally induced phase separation. J Mater Chem 18:1865–1872
- Jordan J, Jacob KI, Tannenbaum R, Sharaf MA, Jasiuk I (2005) Experimental trends in polymer nanocomposites—a review. Mater Sci Eng, A 393:1–11
- Joseph J, Deshmukh K, Chidambaram K, Faisal M, Selvarajan E, Sadasivuni KK, Ahamed MB, Pasha SKK (2018) Dielectric and electromagnetic interference shielding properties of germanium dioxide nanoparticle reinforced poly(vinylchloride) and poly(methylmethacrylate) blend nanocomposites. J Mater Sci: Mater Electron 29:20172–20188
- Karageorgiou V, Kaplan D (2005) Porosity of 3D biomaterial scaffolds and osteogenesis. Biomaterials 26:5474–5491
- Kerman K, Kobayashi M, Tamiya E (2003) Recent trends in electrochemical DNA biosensor technology. Meas Sci Technol 15:R1
- Kiliaris P, Papaspyrides CD (2010) Polymer/layered silicate (clay) nanocomposites: an overview of flame retardancy. Prog Polym Sci 35:902–958
- Kim HW, Knowles JC, Kim HE (2004) Hydroxyapatite/poly(epsilon)-caprolactone) composite coating on hydroxyapatite porous bone scaffold for drug delivery. Biomaterials 25:1279–1287

- Kim HW, Kim HE, Knowles JC (2006) Production and potential of bioactive glass nanofibers as a next-generation biomaterial. Adv Func Mater 16:1529–1535
- Kim JH, Ko JH, Bae BS (2007) Dispersion of silica nano-particles in sol-gel hybrid resins for fabrication of multi-scale hybrid nanocomposite. J Sol-Gel Sci Technol 41:249–255
- Kumar A, Srivastava A, Galaev IY, Mattiasson B (2007) Smart polymers: physical forms and bioengineering applications. Prog Polym Sci 32:1205–1237
- Kurtz SM, Devine JN (2007) PEEK biomaterials in trauma, orthopedic, and spinal implants. Biomaterials 28:4845–4869
- Kwak SY, Sei OhK (2003) Effect of Thermal History on Structural Changes in Melt-Intercalated poly(ε-caprolactone)/Organoclay Nanocomposites Investigated by Dynamic Viscoelastic Relaxation Measurements. Macromol Mater Eng 288:503–508
- Kwok NY, Dong S, Lo W, Wong KY (2005) An optical biosensor for multi-sample determination of biochemical oxygen demand (BOD). Sens Actuators B: Chem 110:289–298
- Lahiff E, Lynam C, Gilmartin N, O'Kennedy R, Diamond D (2010) The increasing importance of carbon nanotubes and nanostructured conducting polymers in biosensors. Anal Bioanal Chem 398:1575–1589
- Lecouvet B, Sclavons M, Bailly C, Bourbigot S (2013) A comprehensive study of the synergistic flame retardant mechanisms of halloysite in intumescent polypropylene. Polym Degrad Stab 98:2268–2281
- Lee WF, Fu YT (2003) Effect of montmorillonite on the swelling behavior and drug-release behavior of nanocomposite hydrogels. J Appl Polym Sci 89:3652–3660
- Lee C, Wei X, Kysar JW, Hone J (2008) Measurement of the elastic properties and intrinsic strength of monolayer graphene. Science 321:385–388
- Lei Y, Mulchandani P, Chen W, Mulchandani A (2005) Direct determination of p-nitrophenyl substituent organophosphorus nerve agents using a recombinant Pseudomonas putida JS444-modified Clark oxygen electrode. J Agric Food Chem 53:524–527
- Liff SM, Kumar N, McKinley GH (2007) High-performance elastomeric nanocomposites via solvent-exchange processing. Nat Mater 6:76
- Lin C, Wang Y, Lai Y, Yang W, Jiao F, Zhang H, Zhang Q (2011) Incorporation of carboxylation multiwalled carbon nanotubes into biodegradable poly(lactic-co-glycolic acid) for bone tissue engineering. Colloids Surf, B 83:367–375
- Liu K, Zhang JJ, Cheng FF, Zheng TT, Wang C, Zhu JJ (2011) Green and facile synthesis of highly biocompatible graphene nanosheets and its application for cellular imaging and drug delivery. J Mater Chem 21:12034–12040
- Liu X, Holzwarth JM, Ma PX (2012) Functionalized synthetic biodegradable polymer scaffolds for tissue engineering. Macromol Biosci 12:911–919
- Lu B, Li T, Zhao H, Li X, Gao C, Zhang S, Xie E (2012) Graphene-based composite materials beneficial to wound healing Nanoscale 4:2978–2982
- Ma PX (2004) Scaffolds for tissue fabrication. Mater Today 7:30-40
- Macossay J, Ybarra AV, Arjamend FA, Cantu T, Eubanks TM, Chipara M, Mohamed-Noriega N (2012) Electrospun polystyrene-multiwalled carbon nanotubes: imaging, thermal and spectroscopic characterization. Des Monomers Polym 15:197–205
- Malhotra BD, Chaubey A, Singh SP (2006) Prospects of conducting polymers in biosensors. Anal Chim Acta 578:59–74
- McClory C, McNally T, Brennan GP, Erskine J (2007) Thermosetting polyurethane multiwalled carbon nanotube composites. J Appl Polym Sci 105:1003–1011
- Mittal V (2009) Polymer layered silicate nanocomposites: a review. Materials 2:992-1057
- Mohanapriya MK, Deshmukh K, Ahamed MB, Chidambaram K, Pasha SKK (2015) Structural, morphological and dielectric properties of multiphase nanocomposites consisting of polycarbonate, barium titanate and carbon black nanoparticles. Int J Chem Tech Res 8:32–41
- Morozowich NL, Weikel AL, Nichol JL, Chen C, Nair LS, Laurencin CT, Allcock HR (2011) Polyphosphazenes containing vitamin substituents: synthesis, characterization, and hydrolytic sensitivity. Macromolecules 44:1355–1364

- Muzaffar A, Ahamed MB, Deshmukh K, Faisal M, Pasha SKK (2018) Enhanced electromagnetic absorption in NiO and BaTiO₃ based polyvinylidene fluoride nanocomposites. Mater Lett 218:217–220
- Nagaraj A, Govindaraj D, Rajan M (2018) Magnesium oxide entrapped Polypyrrole hybrid nanocomposite as an efficient selective scavenger for fluoride ion in drinking water. Emergent Mater. 1(1–2):1–9
- Neena D, Shah AH, Deshmukh K, Ahmad H, Fu DJ, Kondamareddy KK, Kumar P, Dwivedi RK, Sing V (2016) Influence of (Co-Mn) co-doping on the microstructures, optical properties of sol gel derived ZnO nanoparticles. Euro Phys J D 70:53
- Neuberger T, Schöpf B, Hofmann H, Hofmann M, Von Rechenberg B (2005) Superparamagnetic nanoparticles for biomedical applications: possibilities and limitations of a new drug delivery system. J Magn Magn Mater 293:483–496
- Nitya G, Nair GT, Mony U, Chennazhi KP, Nair SV (2012) In vitro evaluation of electrospun PCL/ nanoclay composite scaffold for bone tissue engineering. J Mater Sci—Mater Med 23:1749–1761
- Parambath SV, Ponnamma D, Sadasivuni KK, Thomas S, Stephen R (2017) Effect of nanostructured polyhedral oligomeric silsesquioxane on the physical properties of poly(vinyl alcohol). J Appl Polym Sci 134:45447
- Park SY, Park J, Sim SH, Sung MG, Kim KS, Hong BH, Hong S (2011) Enhanced differentiation of human neural stem cells into neurons on graphene. Adv Mater 23
- Pasha SKK, Deshmukh K, Ahamed MB, Chidambaram K, Mohanapriya MK, Nambiraj NA (2017) Investigation of microstructure, morphology, mechanical and dielectric properties of PVA/PbO nanocomposites. Adv Polym Tech 36(3):352–361
- Paul DR, Robeson LM (2008) Polymer nanotechnology: nanocomposites. Polymer 49:3187–3204
- Pavlidou S, Papaspyrides CD (2008) A review on polymer–layered silicate nanocomposites. Prog Polym Sci 33:1119–1198
- Pawde SM, Deshmukh K (2009) Investigation of the structural, thermal, mechanical and optical properties of poly methylmethacrylate (PMMA) and polyvinylidenefluoride (PVDF) blends. J Appl Polym Sci 114(4):2169–2179
- Ponnamma D, Erturk A, Parangusan H, Deshmukh K, Ahamed MB, Al-Maadeed MA (2018a) Stretchable quaternary phasic PVDF-HFP nanocomposite films containing graphenetitania-SrTiO₃ for mechanical energy harvesting. Emergent Mater 1(1–2):55–65
- Ponnamma D, Goutham S, Sadasivuni KK, Rao KV, Cabibihan JJ, Al-Maadeed MAA (2018b) Controlling the sensing performance of rGO filled PVDF nanocomposite with the addition of secondary nanofillers. Synth Met 243:34–43
- Popelka A, Sobolciak P, Mrlík M, Nogellova Z, Chodák I, Ouederni M, Al-Maadeed MA, Krupa I (2018) Foamy phase change materials based on linear low-density polyethylene and paraffin wax blends. Emergent Mater 1(1–2):1–8
- Porter RA (2000) Investigation of electroplated conducting polymers as antibody receptors in immuno-sensors. J Immunoassay 21:51–64
- Possner D, Kolbesen B (2007) Development of a new class of chromium free etch solutions for the delineation of defects in different semiconducting materials. Meet Abstr Electrochem Soc 19:1084–1084
- Puppi D, Chiellini F, Piras AM, Chiellini E (2010) Polymeric materials for bone and cartilage repair. Prog Polym Sci 35:403–440
- Quirk RA, France RM, Shakesheff KM, Howdle SM (2004) Supercritical fluid technologies and tissue engineering scaffolds. Curr Opin Solid State Mater Sci 8:313–382
- Rahman IA, Padavettan V (2012) Synthesis of silica nanoparticles by sol-gel: size-dependent properties, surface modification, and applications in silica-polymer nanocomposites—a review. J Nanomaterials 2012:8
- Rajan KP, Al-Ghamdi A, Ramesh P, Nando GB (2012) Blends of thermoplastic polyurethane (TPU) and polydimethyl siloxane rubber (PDMS), part-I: assessment of compatibility from torque rheometry and mechanical properties. J Polym Res 19:9872
- Rama MS, Swaminathan S (2010) Polycarbonate/clay nanocomposites via in situ melt polycondensation. Ind Eng Chem Res 49:2217–2227

- Rana VK, Choi MC, Kong JY, Kim GY, Kim MJ, Kim SH, Ha CS (2011) Synthesis and drug-delivery behavior of chitosan-functionalized graphene oxide hybrid nanosheets. Macromol Mater Eng 296:131–140
- Ray SS, Bousmina M (2005) Biodegradable polymers and their layered silicate nanocomposites: in greening the 21st century materials world. Prog Mater Sci 50:962–1079
- Roskies M, Jordan JO, Fang D, Abdallah MN, Hier MP, Mlynarek A, Tamimi F, Tran SD (2016) Improving PEEK bioactivity for craniofacial reconstruction using a 3D printed scaffold embedded with mesenchymal stem cells. J Biomater Appl 31:132–139
- Roy D, Cambre JN, Sumerlin BS (2010) Future perspectives and recent advances in stimuli-responsive materials. Prog Polym Sci 35:278–301
- Saha K, Butola BS, Joshi M (2014) Drug release behavior of polyurethane/clay nanocomposite: Film versus nanofibrous web. J Appl Polymer Sci 131
- Samanta S, Chatterjee DP, Manna S, Mandal A, Garai A, Nandi AK (2009) Multifunctional hydrophilic poly(vinylidene fluoride) graft copolymer with supertoughness and supergluing properties. Macromolecules 42:3112–3120
- Sankaran S, Deshmukh K, Ahamed MB, Pasha SKK (2018) Recent advances in electromagnetic interference shielding properties of metal and carbon filler reinforced flexible polymer composites: a review. Composites Part A: Appl Sci Manuf 114:49–71
- Satarkar NS, Biswal D, Hilt JZ (2010) Hydrogel nanocomposites: a review of applications as remote controlled biomaterials. Soft Matter 6:2364–2371
- Sathapathy KD, Deshmukh K, Ahamed MB, Sadasivuni KK, Ponnamma D, Pasha SKK, AlMaadeed MAA, Ahmad J (2017) High-quality factor poly(vinylidenefluoride) based novel nanocomposites filled with graphene nanoplatelets and vanadium pentoxide for high-Q capacitor applications. Adv Mater Lett 8(3):288–294
- Sayyar S, Murray E, Thompson BC, Gambhir S, Officer DL, Wallace GG (2013) Covalently linked biocompatible graphene/polycaprolactone composites for tissue engineering. Carbon 52:296–304
- Serrano MC, Gutiérrez MC, del Monte F (2014) Role of polymers in the design of 3D carbon nanotube-based scaffolds for biomedical applications. Prog Polym Sci 39:1448–1471
- Sharma AL, Singhal R, Kumar A, Pande KK, Malhotra BD (2004) Immobilization of glucose oxidase onto electrochemically prepared poly(aniline-co-fluoroaniline) films. J Appl Polym Sci 913999–4006
- Shin SR, Aghaei-Ghareh-Bolagh B, Dang TT, Topkaya SN, Gao X, Yang SY, Khademhosseini A (2013) Cell-laden microengineered and mechanically tunable hybrid hydrogels of gelatin and graphene oxide. Adv Mater 25:6385–6391
- Simmons A, Padsalgikar AD, Ferris LM, Poole-Warren LA (2008) Biostability and biological performance of PDMS-based polyurethane for controlled drug release. Biomaterials 29:2987–2995
- Sinha RS, Okamoto M (2003) Polymer/layered silicate nanocomposites: a review from preparation to processing. Prog Polym Sci 28:1539–1641
- Sitharaman B, Shi X, Walboomers XF, Liao H, Cuijpers V, Wilson L, Jansen JA (2008) In vivo biocompatibility of ultra-short single-walled carbon nanotube/biodegradable polymer nanocomposites for bone tissue engineering. Bone 43:362–370
- Smith AM, Ingham A, Grover LM, Perrie Y (2010) Polymer film formulations for the preparation of enteric pharmaceutical capsules. J Pharm Pharmacol 62:167–172
- Spitalsky Z, Tasis D, Papagelis K, Galiotis C (2010) Carbon nanotube–polymer composites: chemistry, processing, mechanical and electrical properties. Prog Polym Sci 35:357–401
- Stuart MA, Huck WT, Genzer J, Müller M, Ober C, Stamm M, Sukhorukov GB, Szleifer I, Tsukruk VV, Urban M, Winnik F (2010) Emerging applications of stimuli-responsive polymer materials. Nat Mater 9:101
- Styan KE, Martin DJ, Simmons A, Poole-Warren LA (2012) In vivo biostability of polyurethane– organosilicate nanocomposites. Acta Biomater 8:2243–2253
- Sumathra M, Sadasivuni KK, Kumar SS, Rajan M (2018) Cisplatin-loaded graphene oxide/ Chitosan/Hydroxyapatite composite as a promising tool for osteosarcoma-affected bone regeneration. ACS Omega 3(11):14620–14633

- Sun X, Liu Z, Welsher K, Robinson JT, Goodwin A, Zaric S, Dai H (2008) Nano-graphene oxide for cellular imaging and drug delivery. Nano Res 1:203–212
- Tan ET, Ling JM, Dinesh SK (2016) The feasibility of producing patient-specific acrylic cranioplasty implants with a low-cost 3D printer. J Neurosurg 124:1531–1537
- Thangamani GJ, Deshmukh K, Sadasivuni KK, Ponnamma D, Goutham S, Rao KV, Chidambaram K, Ahamed MB, Grace AN, Faisal M, Pasha SKK (2017) White graphene reinforced polypyrrole and polyvinylalcohol blend nanocomposites as a chemiresistive sensors for room temperature detection of liquid petroleum gases. Microchim Acta 184(10):3977–3987
- Thangamani GJ, Deshmukh K, Chidambaram K, Ahamed MB, Sadasivuni KK, Ponnamma D, Faisal M, Nambiraj NA, Pasha SKK (2018) Influence of CuO nanoparticles and graphene nanoplatelets on the sensing behavior of poly(vinylalcohol) nanocomposites for the detection of ethanol and propanol vapors. J Mater Sci: Mater Electron 29(6):5186–5205
- Thostenson ET, Li C, Chou TW (2005) Nanocomposites in context. Compos Sci Technol 65:491-516
- Tian F, Xu B, Zhu L, Zhu G (2001) Hydrogen peroxide biosensor with enzyme entrapped within electrodeposited polypyrrole based on mediated sol-gel derived composite carbon electrode. Anal Chim Acta 443:9–16
- Timmaraju MV, Gnanamoorthy R, Kannan K (2011) Influence of imbibed moisture and organoclay on tensile and indentation behavior of polyamide 66/hectorite nanocomposites. Compos B Eng 42:466–472
- Tiwari G, Tiwari R, Sriwastawa B, Bhati L, Pandey S, Pandey P, Bannerjee SK (2012) Drug delivery systems: an updated review. Int J Pharm Invest 2:2
- Tripathy J (2017) Polymer Nanocomposites for Biomedical and Biotechnology Applications. In: Properties and Applications of Polymer Nanocomposites Springer, Berlin, Heidelberg, pp 57–76
- Veerapandian M, Yuna K (2009) The state of the art in biomaterials as nanobiopharmaceuticals. Dig J Nanomaterials Biostructures (DJNB): 4
- Wang S, Gaylord BS, Bazan GC (2004) Fluorescein provides a resonance gate for FRET from conjugated polymers to DNA intercalated dyes. J Am Chem Soc 126:5446–5451
- Wang K, Chen L, Wu J, Toh ML, He C, Yee AF (2005a) Epoxy nanocomposites with highly exfoliated clay: mechanical properties and fracture mechanisms. Macromolecules 38:88–800
- Wang SF, Shen L, Zhang WD, Tong YJ (2005b) Preparation and mechanical properties of chitosan/carbon nanotubes composites. Biomacromol 6:3067–3072
- Wang P, Ma J, Wang Z, Shi F, Liu Q (2012) Enhanced separation performance of PVDF/ PVP-g-MMT nanocomposite ultrafiltration membrane based on the NVP-grafted polymerization modification of montmorillonite (MMT). Langmuir 28:4776–4786
- Ward R, Anderson J, McVenes R, Stokes K (2006) In vivo biostability of polysiloxane polyether polyurethanes: Resistance to biologic oxidation and stress cracking. J Biomed Mater Res, Part A 77:580–589
- Wiesli MG, Özcan M (2015) High-performance polymers and their potential application as medical and oral implant materials: a review. Implant Dent 24:448–457
- Wong M, Paramsothy M, Xu XJ, Ren Y, Li S, Liao K (2003) Physical interactions at carbon nanotube-polymer interface. Polymer 44:7757–7764
- Wu TM, Yang SH (2006) Surface characterization and barrier properties of plasma-modified polyethersulfone/layered silicate nanocomposites. J Polym Sci, Part B: Polym Phys 44:3185–3194
- Wu CJ, Gaharwar AK, Schexnailder PJ, Schmidt G (2010) Development of biomedical polymer-silicate nanocomposites: a materials science perspective. Materials 3:2986–3005
- Xu R, Manias E, Snyder AJ, Runt J (2001) New biomedical poly(urethane urea) layered silicate nanocomposites. Macromolecules 34:337–339
- Zhang L, Yuan R, Huang X, Chai Y, Tang D, Cao S (2005) A new label-free amperometric immunosenor for rubella vaccine. Anal Bioanal Chem 381:1036–1040
- Zhang L, Wang Z, Xu C, Li Y, Gao J, Wang W, Liu Y (2011) High strength graphene oxide/ polyvinyl alcohol composite hydrogels. J Mater Chem 21:10399–10406
- Zheng WG, Lee YH, Park CB (2010) Use of nanoparticles for improving the foaming behaviors of linear PP. J Appl Polym Sci 117:2972–2979

Multi-functional Lipid-Based Polymer Composites for In Vivo Imaging, Tissue Healing, Cell Rejuvenation and Theranostic Applications



V. Raj and P. Priya

Abstract Since 1960s, lipids are broadly explored as fundamental models to understand and study the cell membranes, as carriers for delivering and protecting bioactive agents. Lipids and lipid-based polymer composites have been utilized in various fields of research including imaging, diagnosis, cosmetics, vaccines, drug delivery and tissue engineering. This provides a strategy that involves the application of specified cell types and structured scaffold biomaterials to produce living biological structures. To develop a new tissue, well-controlled stimulation of cultured cells is required through organized combination of mechanical signals and bioactive agents. In this chapter, we highlight the potential use of lipid and lipid-based biopolymer composites as a platform for the in vivo imaging, tissue engineering, cell rejuvenation and theranostic applications.

Keywords Lipid · Fatty acid · Liposome · Vesicles · Tissue engineering · Phospholipids · Polymer composites

1 Introduction

Lipid is a biomolecule that originates naturally and comprised of hydrogen, carbon and oxygen atoms, and some cases consist nitrogen, phosphorus, sulfur and other elements. It encompasses a group of naturally existing molecules that include waxes, sterols, fats, A, D, E and K fat-soluble vitamins, glycerides and phospholipids. Scientists widely define lipids as small molecules with hydrophobic or amphiphilic in nature and are soluble in nonpolar solvents or weakly polar organic solvents, including chloroform, ether, benzene and acetone. Lipids form structures such as unilamellar and multi-lamellar liposomes, vesicles,

in Biomedical Engineering, Lecture Notes in Bioengineering, https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-030-04741-2_4

V. Raj (🖂) · P. Priya

Advanced Materials Research Laboratory, Department of Chemistry, Periyar University, Salem 11, Tamil Nadu, India e-mail: alaguraj2@rediffmail.com

[©] Springer Nature Switzerland AG 2019

K. K. Sadasivuni et al. (eds.), Polymer Nanocomposites

or membranes due to its amphiphilic nature in an aqueous environment (McNaught and Wilkinson 2009; Fahy et al. 2009).

Lipids possess fats and oils as a main components present in food. In the body, the metabolic, nutritional and structural significance of lipids is established by enormous examinations and analysis carried out in dissimilar biological models (cellular, animals and humans). Lipids provide instrumental contributions in the evolution of species having major role in the development, growth and functional maintenance of tissues. Nerve tissue consists of highest quantity of fatty acid, especially very long-chain polyunsaturated fatty acid is a clear example for lipid's biological importance.

Lipids perform a crucial role in the development and growth of the organism where the necessity of these fatty acids will be altered and depend on the age, biological and physiological state of each individual. Furthermore, lipids essentially have participation in both prevention and/or development of many diseases, particularly chronic noncommunicable diseases that affect the lipid requirements in humans. As food components, for various body functions, lipids are also important because they (i) are substantial in delivering organoleptic characteristics (texture, aroma, flavor and palatability); (ii) are carriers for fat-soluble pigments, dyes, vitamins and antioxidants; (iii) are emulsifying agents and/or endorse the stability of emulsions and suspensions.

2 Classification of Lipids

Biological lipids origin in part or wholly with combination of two different types of biochemical subunits, isoprene and ketoacyl groups. The classification of lipids is performed into eight categories: fatty acids, polyketides (obtained from condensation of ketoacyl subunits); sphingolipids, glycerolipids, saccharolipids, glycerophospholipids, prenol and from condensation of isoprene subunits, sterol lipids (Messias et al. 2018).

2.1 Fatty Acids

Fatty acids, fatty acid derivatives and their conjugates are a group of wide-ranging biological molecules synthesized by a fatty acid synthesis process that involves chain elongation of an acetyl coenzyme A (CoA) primer with malonyl-CoA or methyl malonyl-CoA groups. They consist of hydrocarbon chain with a carboxylic acid end group that convokes the molecule with insoluble nonpolar, hydrophobic end and soluble polar, hydrophilic end in water (Vance and Vance 2008). Typically, long carbon chain of 4–24 carbons may be unsaturated or saturated and they are

linked to functional groups such as oxygen, nitrogen, sulfur and halogen. If there is a presence of C=C double bonds, *cis* or *trans* geometric isomerism exists that affect the molecule's molecular configuration. Eicosanoids, predominantly derived from eicosapentaenoic acid and arachidonic acid, which include leukotrienes, prostaglandins and thromboxanes, are the examples of biologically noteworthy fatty acids. Fatty amides and fatty esters are categories of fatty acid lipid and N-acyl ethanolamines, such as the cannabinoid neurotransmitter anandamide, are examples of fatty amides. Important biochemical intermediates of fatty esters include components such as fatty acid thioester coenzyme A derivatives, carnitines and thioesteracyl carrier protein and wax esters.

2.2 Phospholipids

Phosholipids are referred as amphiphiles containing both hydrophobic and hydrophilic elements. In the presence of water, phospholipids self-assemble spontaneously into ordered liquid-crystalline lyotropic phases. Examples of lipid-related structures are lipid monolayers, lipid bilayers, cochleates, ribosomes, tubules, liposomes and micelles. Phospholipids may be synthetic or natural, whereas natural phospholipids may be acquired from various sources such as egg yolk and in turn synthetic phospholipids are also synthesized from natural lipids. Compared to synthetic phospholipids, natural phospholipids are less stable. Phospholipids in terms of the polar head groups are classified as phosphatidic acid (PA), phosphatidyl choline (PC), phosphatidyl glycerol (PG), phosphatidyl ethanolamine (PE), phosphatidyl inositol (PI) and phosphatidyl serine (PS). An unlimited types of phospholipids were well defined and characterized by modifying the polar and nonpolar regions of phospholipid molecules (Antimisiaris et al. 2007). Examples of synthetic lipids are 1,2-distearoyl-sn-glycero-3-phosphate (DSPA), dipalmitoyl choline (DPPC), 1,2-dipalmitoyl-sn-glycero-3-phosphoglycerol phosphatidyl (DPPG), dimyristoyl phosphatidyl choline (DMPC), 1,2-distearoyl-sn-glycero-3phospho-(10-rac-glycerol) (DSPG), distearoyl phosphatidyl choline (DSPC), 1,2-dioleoyl-sn-glycero-3-phosphocholine (DOPC), hydrogenated soy phosphatidylcholine (HSPC), (1-palmitoyl-2-stearoyl(5- DOXYL)-sn-glycero-3phosphocholine (SLPC) and 1-palmitoyl-2-oleoyl-sn-glycero-3-phosphocholine (POPC) (Eibl and Kaufmann-Kolle 1995).

2.3 Glycerolipids

Glycerolipids are formed by joining fatty acids to tri-substituted glycerols by ester bonds, the most familiar fatty acid being the esters of glycerol (triacylglycerols), also called as triglycerides. Lipids function as a food store in animal tissues, since it consists of bulk fat storage. Additional subclasses of glycosyl glycerols are differentiated by the presence of one or more sugar residues linked to glycerol via a glycosidic linkage (Coleman and Lee 2004). Digalactosyl diacyl glycerols and seminolipid are examples of this glycerol lipids found in plant membranes and mammalian sperm cells.

2.4 Glycerophospholipids

Glycerophospholipids are abundant in nature and present as lipid bilayer of cells as constituents functioning in cell signaling a crucial and metabolism. Glycerophospholipid implies many derivatives of sn-glycero-3-phosphoric acid that holds at least one O-alkyl or O-acyl or O-alk-1'-enyl residue attached to a nitrogenous base polar head, an inositol or a glycerol unit and glycerol moiety. All this derivatives contains a glycerol core with same or different subunits of fatty acids (Farooqui et al. 2000). Carbon 1 is a polar found in tail portion consists of usually a saturated fatty acid. Carbon 2 is also an apolar found in tail portion consists of usually unsaturated fatty acid and appears "bent" in the cis conformation. Carbon 3 is a polar found in head portion consist of a phosphate group or an alcohol attached with a phosphate group. Phosphatidylserine (PS or GPSer), phosphatidyl choline (also known as PC, GPCho or lecithin) and phosphatidyl ethanolamine (PE or GPEtn) are examples of glycerophospholipids existing in biological membranes.

2.5 Sphingolipids

Sphingolipids are compounds that are synthesized from the amino acid serine, occupied with a sphingoid base backbone further converted into glycosphingolipids, phosphosphingolipids and other compounds. Ceramides are N-acylsphingoid base derivatives containing amide-linked fatty acids lacking additional head groups. Mammals contain sphingosine as a major sphingoid base and phosphosphingolipids present majorly in mammals. Ceramide is found in insects, whereas phosphoethanolamines and fungi mainly have phytoceramide phosphoinositols composition of mannose-containing head groups (Konrad Sandhoff et al. 2002). The glycosphingolipids are a diverse family of sphingolipids and ceramides composed of one or more sugar residues attached to the sphingoid base at the 1-hydroxyl position via a glycosidic bond. The simple and complex glycosphingolipids such as gangliosides having at least three sugar residues and cerebrosides are examples of glycosphingolipids.

2.6 Sterol Lipids

Sterol lipids are a subclass of steroids with a hydroxyl group at the 3-position of the A-ring. Animal sterol such as cholesterol and cholesterol derivatives along with the sphingomyelins and glycerophospholipids are also important constituents of membrane lipids (Russell 2003). Secosteroids consisting vitamin A of several types are characterized by fragmentation of the B ring core structure. Bile acids and their conjugates, cholesterol-oxidized derivatives in mammals are some more examples of sterol lipids produced in the liver. The plant counterpart's sterols are the phytosterols, such as stigmasterol, campesterol, brassicasterol and β -sitosterol.

2.7 Prenol Lipids

Prenol lipids are produced through the mevalonic acid (MVA) pathway mainly from the 5-carbon precursors such as dimethyl allyldiphosphate and isopentenyl diphosphate. Polyterpenes are prenol lipids with structure consisting more than 40 carbons. Carotenoids are simple essential isoprenoids that act as antioxidant and function as precursors of vitamin A (Kuzuyama and Seto 2003). Hydroquinones and quinones are another important biological class of molecules, containing an isoprenoid tail linked to a nonisoprenoid quinonoid core origin. Ubiquinones, vitamin K and vitamin E are also examples of this class.

2.8 Saccharolipids

Saccharolipids are compounds in which fatty acids are linked to a sugar backbone directly, and monosaccharide substitution takes place for glycerol backbone present in glycerolipids and glycerophospholipids. It forms structures biocompatible with cell bilayer membrane (Raetz et al. 2006). Acylated glucosamine lipopolysaccharides precursors of lipid A component are the most common glucosamine-based saccharolipid present in Gram-negative bacteria.

2.9 Galactolipids and Sulfolipids

Galactolipids are a category of glycolipids containing galactose sugar. In vertebrates, the galactolipid, galactocerebroside (GalC) and a sulfated derivative sulfatide are present in abundance along with some group of proteins in myelin, the membrane present around the axons of nervous system. The membranes of chloroplast contain a large amount of monogalactosyl diacylglycerol (MGDG) and digalactosyl diacylglycerol (DGDG).

Sulfolipids are a category of lipids which contain a sulfur moiety functional group. One of the abundant constituents of sulfolipids is sulfoquinovose, acylated to form glycoside of sulfoquinovosyl and diacylglycerols. Sulfur cycle taking place in plants consist sulfoquinovosyl diacylglycerol, a plant sulfolipids as an important intermediate.

2.10 Polyketides

Polyketides are a class of secondary metabolites enclosing alternating methylene and carbonyl groups derived by polymerization of propionyl and acetyl subunits aided by a collection of classic enzymes as well as multi-modular and iterative enzymes called polyketide synthases that share mechanism analogous with the fatty acid synthesis. Most of polyketides produced are cyclic molecules which are primarily made from modification via chemical routes like oxidation, glycosylation or other processes. Polyketides or polyketide derivatives such as antibiotics, tetracyclines, erythromycins, insecticide spinosyn A and antitumor epothilones are generally used as antiparasitic, antimicrobial and anticancer agents.

2.11 Lipoproteins

A lipoprotein is described as a biochemical assembly that includes both proteins and lipids water-bound to the proteins called apolipoproteins forming a large spherical complexes. Many transporters, enzymes, antigens, structural proteins, toxins and adhesins are lipoproteins. They are categorized as high-density lipoproteins (HDL), intermediate-density lipoproteins (IDL) and low-density (LDL) lipoproteins. It is also possible to differentiate lipoproteins according to the proteins classification in serum protein electrophoresis as "alpha" and "beta" lipoproteins.

2.12 Liposomes

Liposomes are self-assembled vesicles containing a phospholipid bilayer varying between 15 and 1000 nm in diameter that have the capability of encapsulating hydrophobic compounds and aqueous solutions. Lipids resemble cells forming a tiny bubble structure of water-filled vesicles, called liposomes (Koynova and Tihova 2010; Gomez-Hens and Manuel Fernandez-Romero 2005; Singh et al. 2001; An et al. 2009). Liposomes have historically been utilized as: model

biological membrane systems to deeply analyze and comprehend the basic nature of cell membranes, in molecular biology and biochemistry in analytical methods, in imaging, in microfluidic technologies, in cosmetics and food technology, as drug delivery systems in pharmacology, nanogel production templates and in tissue engineering (Reineccius 1995; Xia and Xu 2005; Boerman et al. 2000; Voinea and Simionescu 2002; Kulkarni et al. 2010).

Liposomes are classified based on three aspects such as route taken for synthesis, number of bilayers formed in the vesicle and by dimensional magnitude of vesicles. Depending on the number of vesicles and bilayers present in structure of liposomes, they are classified as unilamellar vesicles (ULVs 25–1 mm) or multi-lamellar vesicles (MLVs, 0.1–15 mm) or multi-vesicular vesicles (MVVs, 1.6–10.5 mm). Moreover, depending on their dimension, unilamellar liposomes are further categorized as small unilamellar vesicles with size in range of (SUVs, 25–50 nm) and large unilamellar vesicles with size in range of (LUVs, 100–1 mm) (Akbarzadeh et al. 2013).

2.12.1 Preparation Methods

Mammals including humans apply various biosynthetic pathways both for formulation and break down lipids. But some lipids that are essential cannot be made in this route and must be consumed from the diet only. Many studies about the liposomes production method can be found in the literature (Vemuri and Rhodes 1995; Wagner and Vorauer-Uhl 2011). Common synthesis parameters for liposome production consists of high-pressure homogenization, thin-film hydration, detergent removal, reverse-phase evaporation, French press extrusion, ethanol injection, proliposome method, polyol dilution, double emulsions and freeze-thaw method (Laouini et al. 2012; Mozafari 2005). Depending on the particular method selected, MLVs or LUVs are produced. Even though all these techniques can be used for liposomes manufacture, just three of them are frequently used; they are ethanol injection method, film hydration and reverse-phase evaporation method. For the removal of solvent traces and detergent from liposomes, several techniques such as dialysis, gel filtration, centrifugation and vacuum have been proposed. For fast and environmental friendly production method of liposomes, an easy new method without the use of any dangerous processes or hazardous chemicals has been designated. This method involves the liposome constituents hydration in aqueous medium, further followed by heating liposome constituents up to a temperature of 1208 °C in the presence of 3% v/v glycerol (Huang et al. 2014).

2.12.2 Formulation and Functionalization

Cholesterol is a principal sterol biosynthesized by all animals cells and when combined with phospholipids make liposome membranes more stronger (Drummond et al. 1999). Cholesterol is essential for the maintenance and

stabilization of the bioactive agent present in the center core of the liposome. Surface properties of liposomes altered after coating with hydrophilic polymers such as polyethylene glycol (PEG) is used for this kind of job. "Sterically stabilized liposomes" (SSLs) or "stealth" liposomes are the liposome formulations modified with phospholipids, Chol and PEG (Woodle and Lasic 1992). PEGylated liposomes' surface functions as a protective steric barrier by inhibiting adsorption of proteins onto the liposome surface vehicles (Monteiro et al. 2014; Tsukanova and Salesse 2004). Nowadays, variety of natural synthetic polymers such as chitosan, heparin, dextran and poly(amino acid)s were introduced to replace PEG.

Fluorescent-labeled lipids are also used in the liposome formulations. Fluorescent-labeled lipids engulfed within the layers of lipid to form bilayer helps in triggering rapid membrane fusion, which able to facilitate fluorescence imaging of cell membranes and traffic processes of membrane (Kleusch et al. 2012).

Liposomes of different compositions with a particle size of approximately 90 nm were synthesized using Chol in different ratios along with cholesten-5-yloxy-N-(4-((1-imino-2-Dthiogalactosylethyl) amino) butyl) formamide (Gal-C4-Chol) and DSPC concentration of which was also varied and labeled with [3 H] cholesterol hexadecyl ether. In a comparative study between DSPC/Chol/Gal-C4-Chol (60:35:5) and DSPC/Chol (60:40) liposomes, DSPC/Chol/Gal-C4-Chol (60:35:5) liposome shows extensive hepatic uptake (Murao et al. 2002). Kawakami et al. used mannose receptor-mediated gene transfection to macrophages to synthesize mannosylated cholesterol derivative (Man-C4-Chol). Currently, for laboratory-scale production enormous methods are available, but only a few large-scale manufacturing techniques are in use (Kawakami et al. 2001).

2.13 Cubosomes

Cubosomes are distinctive micro- and nanostructured particles formed by amphiphilic macromolecules separated by lipid bilayers resulting in a cubic bicontinuous crystalline phase. Till date, six different cubosome structures displaying cubic like symmetry have been characterized (O212, O223, O224, O227, O229 and O230) (Vargas et al. 1992). Generally, a cubic phase is indicated by Qn where Q means cubic phase and n represents the number of the corresponding space groups. On the basis of structure, they can be divided into nonbicontinuous or bicontinuous groups. When compared with the cubosome parent bulk cubic phase gel, cubosomes have a lower viscosity and a larger surface area. Cubosomes exhibit good biological properties such as bioadhesivity, biocompatibility and biodegradability and are easily scaled up for manufacturing purposes for various applications (Spicer et al. 2001; Nanjwade and Yallappamaharaj 2014). At first, cubosome particles are formed using some techniques into a three-phase region containing a liposomal dispersion. Its formation entirely differs from liposomes and can concurrently accumulate lipid soluble, water-soluble and amphiphilic molecules as a three-phase region (Barauskas et al. 2005).

Monolein is the base precursor of cubosome formation, and it consists of three macroscopic cubic phase forms; precursor, bulk gel and particulate dispersion. Dispersion of the particles is performed using a number of different ways spray drying, sonication, spontaneous emulsification and high-pressure homogenization (Siekmann et al. 2002).

2.14 Hexosomes

Hexosomes are reverse-hexagonal, close-packed, rod-like micelle arrangements with infinite water layers covered by surfactants monolayer lacking the difficulty of the internal bicontinuous cubic-phase formation. Hexosomes can be prepared in a similar way as those for cubosomes by self-assembly in aqueous solutions.

2.15 Lipoplexes and Polyplexes

Lipoplexes are the compounds containing lipid and DNA, whereas the polyplexes is made up of cationic polymer and DNA. Polyvalent cations (Ca²⁺, Mn²⁺, Co[NH₃]³⁺ and La³⁺), polycations (basic proteins, polyethylenimines, spermin, histones and spermidin), polyvalent electrolytes (dendrimers and polypeptides), cationic lipid or polymers react and combine with negatively charged DNA to form complexes known as lipoplexes used for delivering nonviral vectors for gene therapy. Ewert et al. investigated that DNA gets inserted in hexagonally arranged cylindrical tubular lipid micelles to configure a honeycomb lattice possessing superior transfection efficiency in mouse embryonic fibroblasts than that of commercially available DOTAP-based complexes (Ewert et al. 2006). Preparation of lipoplexes is alike the synthesis of liposomes with slight alteration. Plasmid DNA is entangled into lipoplexes by a lot of techniques such as ethanol dilution method, reverse-phase evaporation, lipid hydration–dehydration techniques, ether injection and (Cudd and Nicolau 1985; Fraley et al. 1980; Baru et al. 1995; Morishita and Kaneda 2002; Maurer et al. 2001) detergent dialysis.

2.16 Tubules

Lipid tubules are made through rolling up of layers of lipids to form open end hollow cylinders having internal lumen diameter around 10–70 nm. Their formation phenomenon is similar to cell division mechanism occurring naturally through the self-assembling process. Tubules are also formed by some supplementary substances like bile, synthetic surfactants and inorganic materials (e.g., halloysite) via closely resembling method of self-assemble for lipid tubule formation (Shimizu et al. 2005). Self-assembled lipid tubules are hollow in cylindrical shape with

crystalline molecular order having excellent mechanical properties with average stiffness, flexibility and chemical functionality making them worthy for divergent applications such as biotechnological, drug delivery and nanofabrication. Cholesterol, glycolipids and its derivatives, phospholipids such as dipalmitoyl phosphatidylcholine and 1,2-Dimyristoyl-sn-glycero-3-phosphocholine (DMPC) are other lipids that often favorably form tubules (Yager et al. 1985).

2.17 Ribbons

Ribbons are termed as intermediate products formed by unstable precursors of tubules during tubule formation. These are long rectangular strips that curl along the surface of cylindrical tubules. Similarly, helical ribbons are spontaneously formed during dilution of bile, possibly due to cholesterol supersaturation (Konikoff et al. 1992) and also found in bile produced from gall bladder of humans. In nature, ribbons are found to be crystalline. Examples of some other materials forming helical ribbons are diacetylenic lipids, glutamates, bile and inorganic or organic chiral molecules.

2.18 Cochleates

Cochleates are solid particulates projecting lipidic supramolecular arrangements formed as a result of interaction between the main anionic lipid (especially phosphatidylserine) component and divalent cations such as calcium (Ca^{2+}). It is a unique multilayered structure containing alternate layers of cationic components and anionic phospholipids resulting as solid, large, continuous, lipid bilayer sheets with little or no internal aqueous space rolled up in a spiral. The stability of encochleated molecule is enhanced by continuous bilayer rolling of lipid. In drug delivery applications, instead of cationic divalent metals, drugs with positive charge such as tobramycin may lead to formation of cochleates alongside reaction with phospholipids.

ISCOM and ISCOMATRIXTM

Immunostimulating complexes (ISCOMs) are a highly immunogenic formulation of microbial membrane antigens having cage-like structures developed in the early 1970s composed of lipid, cholesterol and immune-stimulating saponin (Quil A) (Horzinek and Mussgay 1971). These nanoparticulates showed good stability on storage and were roughly around 40–60 nm in diameter. ISCOMs are primarily categorized as traditional or more generally called classical and nonclassical ISCOMs or popularly known as ISCOMATRIX[™] (Myschik et al. 2006). Traditionally, antigens were found to be enticed into the cage-like shape of ISCOMs, whereas for ISCOMATRIX, antigens were muddled within the lipid

cage-like formation in varying ratios for better immune stimulatory action. These antigens were incorporated using different association techniques such as lipid anchors (cholesterol derivative), electrostatic interaction and chelation technique (Mowat a and Reid 2001). Four different methods were used for the preparation of ISCOMs and ISCOMATRIX: solvent injection methods, dialysis, thin lipid film hydration and ultracentrifugation. Properties such as shape, structure and stability depend upon the proportion of preparation technique.

From a manufacturing viewpoint, the assembly of multiple molecular constituents with diverse physicochemical properties into complex composites could additionally complicate the scale of the synthesis. To overcome and facilitate the challenges in scaling up of the fabrication process, various methodologies of nanoengineering have currently been explored. For example, in order to reduce the laborious and time-consuming nanoprecipitation production process, sonication, a single step method was introduced. The production time required to produce PLGA nanoparticles by nanoprecipitation coated with lipid monolayer could be significantly lessened without disturbing their physicochemical properties by replacing the ordinary heating method by vortexing and solvent evaporation techniques using a single sonication bath. Multi-inlet vortex reactor (MIVR) is used to produce lipidpolymer hybrids by continuous flow-confined mixing protocol and has already been assessed for the large-scale manufacturing of a multitude functioning nanoparticles. MIVR geometry consists of two or four radically symmetric inlets in a cylindrical mixing chamber which establishes a continuous flow of antisolvent aqueous phase containing the dispersed lipids and organic phase containing the dissolved hydrophobic polymers leading to instantaneous self-assembly and nanoprecipitation of homogeneous lipid-coated polymer nanoparticles. Utilizing this rapid and efficient nanoparticle mixing method, increased production rates >10 g h⁻¹ were achieved without satisfying the physicochemical characteristics of hybrid nanoparticles via the previously stated laboratory-scale sonication method. Alternatively, in recent years microfluidic-based perceptive has been adopted for the production of polymer nanoparticles on a larger scale via self-assembly with well-controlled and reproducible results. Valencia and coworkers used the Tesla micromixing for synthesizing lipid-coated PLGA nanoparticles (Valencia et al. 2010). To prompt rapid homogeneous mixing, separate hydrodynamic stream inlet focuses flow of aqueous antisolvent and organic solvent through a microchannel, which leads to development of (PEGylated) lipid-PLGA nanospheres. Overall, the methods covered here seem to further encourage to a greater probability of moving fast toward the clinical translation.

3 Lipid Functionalization with Polymeric Materials

Polymers are made by the combination of a number of small units which are indistinguishable and interchangeable known as monomers. Both synthetic and natural polymers have blossomed in recently owing to their distinctive style and usage in various conventional fields. Polymers are embedded with lipids to enhance the properties of polymers but the polymeric materials also behave interlinked having their own properties which they combined with lipids.

Unsaturated polyester resins are synthetic polymers that are thermosetting in nature. They are cheaper materials, easily processable, easily available and have good balance in their mechanical, chemical and electrical properties with only negativity as the rigidity. Flexibility is introduced into them by mixing castor oil into them. Originally thermoplastic starch is rigid and brittle but fatty acids are mixed into it to overcome these demerits (Winkler et al. 2014). Alternatively, fatty acids also improve some softness of starch. Quinoa proteins are natural hydrophilic polymers, and its hydrophilicity is increased more after blended chitosan and sunflower oil (Abugoch et al. 2011).

Lipids are also incorporated in polymeric materials such as pectin which enriched the pathogenic properties and water resistance capability of biodegradable pectin materials. Natural waxes are incorporated with polymeric materials like silk fibroin, starch, cellulose and polyethylene, and this leads to their usage for food packaging, wound dressing, solid fuel and food packaging and boosted their tensile strength, flexibility, wettability, hydrophobicity and rate of combustion. Phospholipids after blending with cellulose acetate improve its solubility and antifouling property and accelerated their biological and drug delivery applications.

When thyme oil is used in blend form with the native polymeric materials like alginate, pectin, chitosan films, they can be used for food preservation and drug delivery applications with improved antimicrobial properties (Liakos et al. 2014; Perdones et al. 2016).

Pectin derivatives with different fatty acids are synthesized by acylation of polysaccharide alcoholic functions to generate pectin based materials. Chemical reaction is proceeded via mechanical milling of polysaccharide along with specific fatty acid anhydride in presence of K_2CO_3 catalyst and few drops of ethanol. Finally, ethyl acetate and solid reacted with 0.5 N HCl to remove the remaining fatty acids (Monfregola et al. 2011). Polyurethanes which combine with materials derived from vegetable oils like castor oil, canola oil, can be used as a scaffold in which isolated cells may be seeded which allows the cells to grow and proliferate until it forms a tissue which can then be implanted back to the patient (Auad et al. 2010).

4 Characterization of Lipid-Based Polymers

Some characterization techniques are used to identify and analyze the newly formed blends and composites. Like NMR is used to study the molecular structure, X-ray chromatography is used to determine the degree of crystallinity of the sample. DSC is used to establish the decomposition temperature and other thermodynamic parameters. IR spectroscopy is used to ascertain the type of bonding and kind of functional groups attached to the materials formed. Electron microscopy is used to

probe the deeper structure formation, morphology of materials. Raman spectroscopy is used to observe vibrational and rotational modes in a system. TGA measures the rate of change in mass of the samples with respect to temperature. Size exclusion chromatography categorizes the molecules depending on their granular size and weights. Florescence correlation spectroscopy is helpful to analyze the quantity of proteins within biological samples. SEM is used to determine the surface morphology.

5 Applications of Lipid-Based Polymer

5.1 Cell Rejuvenation and Tissue Engineering

Lipids are primary units in any living organisms as they have polar head group region which is connected to the hydrophobic tail via a backbone. Hence, scientists have been utilizing the advantage of the versatile properties and flexible characteristics of lipids to find new applications in various fields. Among the lipids, micelles and liposomes are the most primarily used lipid-based nanoparticles using which all other structures can be formed. These lipid-based materials offer stability, and hence, they could be used as novel biological membranes for model study. It is strongly believed that materials made up of phospholipids may be progressively used as tools for the exploitation of cell and tissue behavior and for reconstructive surgery controlled release of bioactive agents (Collier and Messersmith 2001).

Although liposomes have been extensively used in treatment of cancer and other medical conditions, its future prospects are not restricted to those therapeutic applications. Liposomes have been progressively used in different fields of research including the production of vaccines, cosmetics, imaging and tissue engineering (Nikalje 2015). Herein, we will focus on lipids as a biomaterial and review some applications of the liposomes, mainly in tissue engineering (TE), drug delivery and theranostic applications. It is expected that therapeutic liposome nanoparticles have the capability of dramatically improving the efficacy and reducing the side-effect profile of new as well as already found bioactive agents. Therefore, future holds the possibilities of combining liposomes with scaffolds medicinal usage.

5.1.1 Combining Liposomes with Scaffolds

Application of biomaterials in the field of drug release, scaffolding, tissue engineering and regenerative medicine has been advancing toward the nanoscale design strategies. Scaffolds with combination of drug-loaded nanoparticles are used for controlled release of bioactive agents temporally and spatially, leading to a local and sustained delivery. In recent times, there have been lots of researches on direct stem cell growth and associated fields. The sheathing of the bioactive agents inside liposomes has an edge over other techniques but use of single liposomes has the limitation due to the absence of a three-dimensional mechanical support which is necessary for tissue regeneration (Santo et al. 2012).

Many types of scaffolds can be prepared by different techniques using natural and synthetic polymers. Tissue engineering scaffolds can be designed in a more efficient way to control the release pattern of bioactive agents physically and chemically (Rambhia and Ma 2015). Particularly, hydrogels exhibit an immense potential as smart and stimuli-responsive biomaterials. Stimulation of tissue regeneration by the delivery of bioactive agents from scaffolds is still challenging due to the complex processing associated with scaffolds. There is a better control of release profile, when the bioactive agent is encapsulated into hollow nanofibers. Due to presence of some complications during nanofiber preparation, the method did not allow for easy large-scale production.

All these phenomena combine the advantageous characteristics of liposomes and polymer matrices with the aim of developing biomaterials to segregate and sustain liposomes at a local tissue site. Liposomes which are sensitive toward stimulus have the ability to master chemical reactions ensuring the rapid formation of in situ biomaterials such as polymers, minerals and mineral/polymer composites (Westhaus and Messersmith 2001). Since, liposomes are highly sensitive molecules different ways to paralyze liposomes at the surface of the scaffolds. It can be done nonspecifically, in which liposomes are engrossed at the surface; or specific immobilization in which liposomes are covalently bound at the surface thus increasing their stability. To obviate the need for chemical conjugation, scaffold system is used. To simplify liposome adsorption, scaffold surfaces are coated with several extracellular matrix proteins, which are able to reduce the amount of required DNA and transfect a greater number of cells. Recently, a chemical modification of electrospun polycaprolactone (PCL) nanofiber meshes (NFMs) was reported which facilitates the immobilization of liposomes loaded with bioactive agents onto their surfaces. Dexamethasone and plasmid DNA, pDNA-encoding RUNX2-loaded liposomes were covalently attached to the SH groups available at the exterior of electrospun NFMs. It was concluded that the percentage of liposomes crippled is mainly controlled by the quantity of SH groups accessible at the surface of nanofibers (Monteiro et al. 2014). Liposomes can also be incorporated into the nanofibers by coaxial electrospinning.

Tissue regeneration not only depends on the bioactive agent itself, but also on the various parameters such as spatiotemporal gradients, concentration, target cell type and combination with other GFs. Bioactive agent-loaded liposomes when fused with scaffolds leads to enhancement like: (i) better and stable concentration; (ii) numerous bioactive agent delivery; and (iii) spatial patterning (Mufamadi et al. 2011). The delivery of bioactive agent by the liposome–scaffold device can be done by two ways: (i) by the incorporation of the proper bioactive agent-loaded liposomes into the scaffold; growth/differentiation factor and (ii) by the incorporation of the DNA (or RNAi) into liposomes.

5.1.2 Growth/Differentiation Factor Delivery

The tissue regeneration method involves complex cataracts of bioactive agents such as cytokines, GFs and other molecules. GFs are endogenous polypeptides that function as the cell-surface receptors involving organized cellular activities such as differentiation, migration and proliferation (Quaglia 2008). The GF therapeutics outcome mainly depends on the delivery modes. Furthermore, finding the better way to stimulate the accurate differentiation of stem cells is one of the important challenges in tissue engineering. So far, the most ordinary method involves the use of concoctions of growth/differentiation factors in the culture medium. To endorse the preferred regenerative outcome, combination of suitable signaling molecules should be delivered by controlled release systems. For example, bone morphogenetic protein 2 (BMP-2) is encapsulated to stimulate the osteogenic differentiation, on the other hand to promote the chondrogenic differentiation transforming growth factor b (TGF-b) is attached to it.

Liposomes are used as an animal model for demonstrating cartilage repair with some success. They are injected directly into the joint cavity for a period of some weeks. Transforming growth factor beta 1 (TGF-b1) is released from liposomes without any side effect with an improved local efficacy and release kinetics. Increased retention time of collagen/hydroxyapatite (HA) composite scaffold was observed during subcutaneous implantation in rats after coating liposomes with bisphosphonate. The BMP-2 entrapped bisphosphonate-coated liposomes are employed in local delivery (Wang et al. 2012). The poly (2-hydroxyethyl methacrylate) fibrous scaffold immobilized with fetal bovine serum loaded liposomes positively improved the chondrocyte proliferation and adhesion (Rampichová et al. 2012). Biological assays showed that the electrospun PCL NFMs immobilized with Dex-loaded liposomes surface has not displayed any sorts of cytotoxic consequences on human bone marrows which are basically derived mesenchymal stem cells (hBMSCs). Osteogenic differentiation of hBMSCs was achieved by them (Monteiro et al. 2015).

Bone formation is clinically approved by the RhBMP-2 growth factor. Due to shorter biological half-life and trouble in retention at regions of local delivery, large bolus doses are necessary to prompt bone healing. RhBMP was formulated into cubic phase gel enhanced sustained release, adhesion and local retention. In addition, cubic gels showed an improvement in bone repair in six weeks in Wistar rats (Issa et al. 2008).

Lipid tubules entrapped with proteins such as DNA, TGF-b1, cytokines BMPs and NGF have also been studied. Peptides or proteins encapsulated inside tubules show insignificant proteolysis by trypsin (Meilander et al. 2001). Jain et al. developed agarose scaffold containing hollow cylindrical multiple lipid bilayers inside microtubules encapsulated with trophic factors, such as BDNF. Agarose hydrogels and release of BDNF from gel in a sustained manner found to help in repair of spinal cord after six weeks of implantation with very minimal inflammatory response (Jain et al. 2006).
5.1.3 Therapeutic Gene Delivery

The in vivo stem cell differentiation uses growth/differentiation components which has some shortcomings such as time-consuming, denaturation during encapsulation, use of GFs, short half-lives, complications in differentiating the cells into one particular heredity and long time periods to acquire the differentiated cells. To overcome these limitations in controlling stem cell differentiation, gene therapy such as encoding a set or a peculiar proteins is carried out. Therefore, gene therapy may be a good approach involving encoding transcription factors for a specific or to a set of proteins. Transcription factors describe the expression of all natural splice variants occur in a sequence that may organize regulations of cataract of multiple different genes.

Initially, gene therapy was envisaged to replace a hereditary genetic defect in which functioning gene was inserted into the host cell genome or, more recently, a new function is provided for genes in a cell overexpressing GFs (Winn et al. 2005). PDNA enters into the nucleus and gets intercalated in host cell DNA and transformed into messenger RNA (mRNA). Therefore, GFs or therapeutic proteins are produced outside of the nucleus using the cell machinery.

Stem cell differentiation can be controlled in another way by the delivery of RNAi. As RNAi functions by binding to nucleic acids, hindering gene transcription and translation or by the insertion of small interfering RNAs (siRNAs), micro-RNAs (miRNAs) or small hairpin RNAs (shRNAs) for eradication of target mRNAs and silencing genes of interest (Yau et al. 2012). The main benefit of this tactic is that the targeted genes are silenced by RNAi trigger without inclusion into the host genome. Therefore, there is a huge substantial growth in this field from the last decades, due to its massive potential in treating various diseases by replacing or altering missing or defective genes or silencing undesirable gene expression.

The ex vivo process is a genes' delivery technique which involves direct insertion of genes into the target cell. The ex vivo technique commonly uses antilogous cells recovered from the patient's body. Viral vectors such as retrovirus or lentivirus are broadly used to transfer the genes into stem cells because of their higher transduction efficiency and transgene expression. To transfect cells, both viral and nonviral vectors are used as carriers. Viral vectors are preferred to express the transfer of gene for the time span of a patient's life, whereas the nonviral vectors are considered when the therapeutic genes are required to be transferred for shorter duration (Pornpattananangkul et al. 2010). Although viral vectors are more effective, they occupy some disadvantages such as high manufacture cost, safety concerns, lacking of desired tissue selectivity, immunogenicity of the virus proteins and recombination development of infectious viruses.

Therefore, there is a requirement of a superior delivery system that not only safeguards the nucleic acids and facilitates and their cellular uptake, but also should enhance the efficiency of the delivery. Nonviral delivery systems including liposomes have relatively lesser transfection efficiency, but they have been recommended due to their safety, low cost production and higher pDNA size entrapment. Moreover, in formulation design, nonviral vectors are very flexible and can be easily tailored to interact with the DNA cargo.

Liposomes are contemplated in the cell biology as first nonviral delivery systems. Development and evaluation of numerous cationic lipids were undertaken for the purpose of transfection of cell and for gene delivery (Woodle and Scaria 2001). Cationic liposomes interact with negatively charged cell membranes lead to higher transfection efficiency. A leading commercial reagent lipofectamine is generally used to transfect cells. Cytotoxicity, lack of colloidal stability combined with small duration of gene expression in in vivo gene therapy, has been cited as the demerits of cationic liposomes which had hindered its future growth and research (Samal et al. 2012). Liposomes in combination with gene and scaffolds may contribute to overcome the disputes of toxicity, gene silencing efficiency and long-term expression. Explicitly, delivery of gene-loaded liposomes through scaffold may lessen their contact to immune cells, enrich cellular uptake with a sustained delivery.

Liposome–scaffold system may be used as gene delivery system in spatially localized, efficient and cell-controlled TE applications. Tissue vascularization was developed for delivery of VEGF encoded genes applying bone marrow stromal cells. Drugs (liposomes loaded with DNA encoding the 165 amino acid form of VEGF) were injected into rat skin for nursing of wound healing (Liu et al. 2004). A plasmid expression vector containing VEGF was served as a wound bed of rat abdominal skin flaps in a fibrin and new vessel formation was observed in histological analysis. The fibrin-mediated administration of a VEGF-A plasmid topically enhanced flap survival rate by seven days. PDNA-encoding RUNX2-laden into liposomes were covalently deactivated at the exterior of PCL nanofibers (Michlits et al. 2007). Furthermore, in medium free of osteogenic supplementation, hBMSCs osteogenic differentiation was accomplished by the overexpression of other osteogenic markers.

5.1.4 Magnetite Cationic Liposomes

Magnetic nanoparticles that can react and affect the anionic cell membranes are known as magnetite cationic liposomes (MCLs). Its numerous applications include usage in hyperthermic treatments, regenerative medicine strategies and TE. The biocompatible and nontoxic nature are the main properties of magnetic cationic liposomes that can be injected into tissue by the application of an external magnetic field which slowly accumulate in the organ or target. They are attracted by applying highest magnetic flux density for stimulating cell sorting and bioactive agent targeting. For instance, magnetic nanoparticles loaded into liposomes may exemplify a new modality for bone tissue regeneration and therapeutic angiogenesis (Ishii et al. 2011).

5.2 In Vivo Imaging Applications

Early and timely detection and treatment of the diseases can only be possible with the usage of age cutting therapeutic agents. Conventional and traditional methods often undergo insufficient delivery of the bio active agents to the target tissues or cells, or create toxic side effects. To overcome these limitations, much effort has been dedicated in current years toward developing superior nanocarriers to increase their delivery efficiency. Incorporating both diagnostic and therapeutic agents into a single delivery system is another effective approach for simultaneous detection and therapy. To achieve these objectives, targeting ability with highest specificity and high stable, theranostic systems are needed to be established without the involvement of therapeutic agents in the system.

For targeted drug delivery, the surfaces of liposomes have been altered for detection of disease biomarkers and associated ligands with the help of receptors. Present-day imaging agents, such as Gd³⁺, ¹⁸F and ⁶⁴Cu, have been incorporated into phospholipid bilayer for nuclear imaging and magnetic resonance imaging (MRI). To date, hundreds of drugs and imaging agents including chelating agents, fluorophores, nanoparticles, proteins and peptides as well as antimicrobial agents and anticancer agents, oligonucleotides and vaccines and have been incorporated into liposomes for a wide-ranging theranostic applications.

Early detection of diseases and its stages such as cancer is a major factor of clinical outcome. As a result, the development of new analytical assays or diagnostic agents for detection of diseases has been noteworthy. Composition of liposomes and its control has generated tremendous interest toward the recognition of biomarkers and diseases in vivo.

5.2.1 Liposomes as Nanocarriers of Imaging Agents

Liposomes have been extensively used in medical imaging techniques, including magnetic resonance, fluorescence, nuclear and ultrasound imaging applications. For all of these techniques, liposomes offer highest stability, bioavailability and performance of prevailing contrast agents.

Fluorescence Imaging

Fluorescence imaging is the most broadly used diagnostic technique. It allows for visual imagining of gene expression, locating biomolecule and activities associated with enzymes in tissues. Liposomes with upgraded pharmacodynamics and pharmacokinetic characteristics assist the delivery fluorescence imaging agents specifically to the target area. PEG-coated quantum dots (QDs) encapsulated inside the aqueous phase of DOPC-supported liposome-hybrid nanoparticles for cancer imaging purpose were developed. The hybrid nanoparticles exhibited superior retention properties and enriched tumor penetration in both subcutaneous solid tumors and tumor spheroids. The hybrid formulation is compatible without further modification with various types of water-soluble quantum dots. Radioactive tracer europium complexes using liposomes were recently developed. Er^{3+} -doped Y_2O_3 : $(Y_2O_3:Er^{3+})$ nanoparticles into liposome-hybrid nanoparticle showed strong NIR

fluorescence at 1550 nm under 980 nm excitation. These liposomes were subjected to several surface modifications, and positively charged Y_2O_3 :Er³⁺ nanoparticles were successfully loaded inside negatively charged, DPPG-supported by modified liposomes.

Magnetic Resonance Imaging (MRI)

MRI is a noninvasive, extensively used imaging technique for medical applications. It is primarily used to identify the nuclear spins of hydrogen atoms present in water using radio frequency pulses, and to image noninvasive throughout the whole structure and physiological processes. Liposomes with fluorophores are able to load a large number of various MRI contrast agents simultaneously that allow controlled release and effective delivery of these probes for enriched imaging. Recently, a stimuli-responsive thermosensitive liposome was developed by a mixture of 1-myristoyl-2-stearoyl-sn-glycero-3-phosphocholine (MSPC), 1,2-dipalmitoyl-snglycero-3-phosphatidylcholine (DPPC), 1,2-distearoyl-sn-glycero-3-phospho ethanolamine (DSPE)-PEG loaded with doxorubicin (DOX) and MRI contrast agent Gd-DTPA. The simultaneous delivery of DOX and Gd-DTPA allows drug release and monitor instantaneously, with triggerable release by localized heating in the tumor environment. Another important paramagnetic MRI contrast agent, ferrimagnetic iron oxide (FMIO) nanoparticles, has been utilized for the development of liposomal MRI probes. The liposomal FMIO nanoparticle cluster (ferriliposome) has the capability of targeting both tumor microenvironment and tumors through external magnetic field.

Ultrasound Imaging

In medical field, ultrasound imaging is another noninvasive diagnostic imaging technique, which has the characteristics similar to sound waves with frequencies greater than >20,000 Hz. Ultrasound imaging is implemented by administering ultrasound pulses into tissue and measuring the echoes caused by the tissue at various reflection angles. Acoustic liposomes (ALs) are liposomes containing perfluoropropane gas. Acoustic liposomes with an approximate diameter of 100–200 nm can be used as drug carrier along with passive localization to tumor tissue. It is achieved through improved permeability and retention effect. When the acoustic liposomes are coupled with high-frequency ultrasound (HF-US), they can be used to analyze antitumor efficacy and drug delivery efficiency (Ferrara et al. 2009). Recently, Kodama and coworkers developed a cisplatin-loaded, DSPC-supported AL to evaluate the antitumor effects using HF-US imaging on angiogenesis. With this method, the authors were able to track and map the flow of ALs in blood vessels and microvessel structures (Kodama et al. 2011).

Nuclear Imaging

Nuclear imaging is a technique in which small molecules are used as radioactive tracers. Positron emission tomography (PET) and single photon emission computed tomography (SPECT) are two basic types of nuclear imaging methods. PET detects gamma rays emitted from positrons annihilation ⁶⁴Cu radioactive isotopes, whereas SPECT detects gamma rays emitted from isotopes such as 99 m Tc directly (Rahmim and Zaidi 2008). A number of liposomes have been reported on encapsulated radionuclide tracers inside the aqueous compartment or chemically engineered lipid bilayer. The hydrophilic model drug fluorophore Alexa Fluor 750 has been encapsulated in the liposome formulations of ¹⁸F or ⁶⁴Cu-labeled lipids. After liposomal treatment, FVB mice were used as model organism with bilateral Met-1 tumors. They were scanned and photographed with micro-PET and optical imaging in vivo techniques. Nine various types of radioisotopes functionalized liposomes formulations loaded with Alexa Fluor 750 were tested. It was found that in comparison to the free drugs, lower osmolarity in the aqueous portion along with cholesterol within the lipid bilayer highly resulted in much higher tumor accumulation. In live animal models, the combination of optical imaging techniques and PET will be helpful in screening the flow of liposomal vehicles through systemic delivery. The synergistic effect of the combination therapy of bimodal radio chemotherapeutic ¹⁸⁸Re-liposome-DOX showed larger tumor inhibition and higher median survival time than any other liposome (Chang et al. 2017).

6 Concluding Remarks

Liposomes are vesicular structures constructed with lipid bilayers resembling the biological lipid membrane and are created in aqueous solutions. When the liposomes emerged on the surface as the potential drug carrier, a lot of researches have been directed to achieve effective delivery system of therapeutic bioactive agents. However, there are some limitations to overcome. For instance, new strategies have to be developed to overcome the rapid blood clearance of PEGylated liposomes. The concept of triggered and stimuli-responsive controlled release in drug delivery is very promising, and effective research has to be dedicated to validate its applicability in vivo, in humans. Large-scale manufacturing techniques and advanced industrial technologies are required for producing sterile, well-characterized and stable products.

In this chapter, we have highlighted some applications of liposomes in theranostic, imaging, drug delivery and tissue engineering. Liposomes can be regarded as a versatile candidate to provoke the differentiation of stem cells through the release of bioactive agents. However, procedure of conventional method to provoke the overexpression of lineage-specific proteins relies on the usage of growth/ differentiation factor combinations with suboptimal outcomes. Liposomes can regulate growth/differentiation factor release and do not show any side effects. Liposomes mainly depend on the delivery of nucleotides (i.e., pDNA and RNAi). The incorporation of pDNA into the host cells genome enriches biocompatibility issues in the framework of tissue engineering, where differentiated cells are used for successive in vivo applications. The combination of liposomes with scaffolds appears to be a good method to solve this limiting factor. We strongly trust that lipid-based polymer composites may play a major role in biomedical applications such as tissue engineering, drug delivery, imaging and theranostics.

References

- Abugoch LE, Tapia C, Villamán MC et al (2011) Characterization of quinoa protein-chitosan blend edible films. Food Hydrocolloids 25:879–886. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.foodhyd.2010. 08.008
- Akbarzadeh A, Rezaei-Sadabady R, Davaran S et al (2013) Liposome: classification, preparation, and applications. Nanoscale Res Lett 8:1–8. https://doi.org/10.1186/1556-276X-8-102
- An SY, Bui MPN, Nam YJ et al (2009) Preparation of monodisperse and size-controlled poly (ethylene glycol) hydrogel nanoparticles using liposome templates. J Colloid Interface Sci 331:98–103. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jcis.2008.11.022
- Antimisiaris SG, Kallinteri P, Fatouros DG (2007) Liposomes and drug delivery. Pharmaceutical manufacturing handbook: production and processes. Wiley, Hoboken, NJ, USA, pp 443–533
- Auad ML, Mosiewicki MA, Richardson T et al (2010) Nanocomposites made from cellulose nanocrystals and tailored segmented polyurethanes. J Appl Polym Sci 115:1215–1225. https:// doi.org/10.1002/app.31218
- Barauskas J, Johnsson M, Joabsson F, Tiberg F (2005) Cubic phase nanoparticles (cubosome): principles for controlling size, structure, and stability. Langmuir 21:2569–2577. https://doi.org/ 10.1021/la047590p
- Baru M, Axelrod JH, Nur I (1995) Liposome-encapsulated DNA-mediated gene transfer and synthesis of human factor IX in mice. Gene 161:143–150. https://doi.org/10.1016/0378-1119 (95)00281-A
- Boerman OC, Laverman P, Oyen WJG et al (2000) Radiolabeled liposomes for scintigraphic imaging. Prog Lipid Res 39:461–475
- Chang C-M, Lan K-L, Huang W-S et al (2017) 188Re-liposome can induce mitochondrial autophagy and reverse drug resistance for ovarian cancer: from bench evidence to preliminary clinical proof-of-concept. Int J Mol Sci 18:903. https://doi.org/10.3390/ijms18050903
- Coleman RA, Lee DP (2004) Enzymes of triacylglycerol synthesis and their regulation. Prog Lipid Res 43:134–176
- Collier JH, Messersmith PB (2001) Phospholipid strategies in biomineralization and biomaterials research. Annu Rev Mater Res 31:237–263. https://doi.org/10.1146/annurev.matsci.31.1.237
- Cudd A, Nicolau C (1985) Intracellular fate of liposome-encapsulated DNA in mouse liver. Analysis using electron microscope autoradiography and subcellular fractionation. BBA—Mol Cell Res 845:477–491. https://doi.org/10.1016/0167-4889(85)90214-9
- Drummond DC, Meyer O, Hong K et al (1999) Optimizing liposomes for delivery of chemotherapeutic agents to solid tumors. Pharmacol Rev 51:691–743. doi: VL-51
- Eibl H, Kaufmann-Kolle P (1995) Medical application of synthetic phospholipids as liposomes and drugs. J Liposome Res 5:131–148. https://doi.org/10.3109/08982109509039914
- Ewert KK, Evans HM, Zidovska A et al (2006) A columnar phase of dendritic lipid-based cationic liposome-DNA complexes for gene delivery: hexagonally ordered cylindrical micelles embedded in a DNA honeycomb lattice. J Am Chem Soc 128:3998–4006. https://doi.org/ 10.1021/ja055907h

- Fahy E, Subramaniam S, Murphy RC et al (2009) Update of the LIPID MAPS comprehensive classification system for lipids. J Lipid Res 50:S9–S14. https://doi.org/10.1194/jlr.R800095-JLR200
- Farooqui AA, Horrocks LA, Farooqui T (2000) Glycerophospholipids in brain: Their metabolism, incorporation into membranes, functions, and involvement in neurological disorders. Chem Phys Lipid 106:1–29
- Ferrara KW, Borden MA, Zhang H (2009) Lipid-shelled vehicles: engineering for ultrasound molecular imaging and drug delivery. Acc Chem Res 42:881–892. https://doi.org/10.1021/ ar8002442
- Fraley R, Subramani S, Berg P, Papahadjopoulos D (1980) Introduction of liposome-encapsulated SV40 DNA into cells. J Biol Chem 255:10431–10435
- Gomez-Hens A, Manuel Fernandez-Romero J (2005) The role of liposomes in analytical processes. TrAC—Trends in Anal Chem 24:9–19
- Horzinek M, Mussgay M (1971) Studies on the substructure of togaviruses—I. Effect of urea, deoxycholate, and saponin on the sindbis virion. Archiv fur die gesamte Virusforschung 33:296–305. https://doi.org/10.1007/bf01254686
- Huang Z, Li X, Zhang T et al (2014) Progress involving new techniques for liposome preparation. Asian J Pharm Sci 9:176–182
- Ishii M, Shibata R, Numaguchi Y et al (2011) Enhanced angiogenesis by transplantation of mesenchymal stem cell sheet created by a novel magnetic tissue engineering method. Arterioscler Thromb Vasc Biol 31:2210–2215. https://doi.org/10.1161/ATVBAHA.111. 231100
- Issa JPM, Spadaro ACC, Bentley MVLB et al (2008) Monoolein and chitosan gels as potential carriers of the rhBMP-2, using decortication surgical technique in Wistar rats as experimental model. Micron 39:952–959. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.micron.2007.11.001
- Jain A, Kim YT, McKeon RJ, Bellamkonda RV (2006) In situ gelling hydrogels for conformal repair of spinal cord defects, and local delivery of BDNF after spinal cord injury. Biomaterials 27:497–504. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.biomaterials.2005.07.008
- Kawakami S, Sato A, Yamada M et al (2001) The effect of lipid composition on receptor-mediated in vivo gene transfection using mannosylated cationic liposomes in mice. STP Pharma Sci 11
- Kleusch C, Hersch N, Hoffmann B et al (2012) Fluorescent lipids: functional parts of fusogenic liposomes and tools for cell membrane labeling and visualization. Molecules 17:1055–1073. https://doi.org/10.3390/molecules17011055
- Kodama T, Tomita N, Yagishita Y et al (2011) Volumetric and angiogenic evaluation of antitumor effects with acoustic liposome and high-frequency ultrasound. Can Res 71:6957–6964. https:// doi.org/10.1158/0008-5472.CAN-11-2389
- Konikoff FM, Chung DS, Donovan JM et al (1992) Filamentous, helical, and tubular microstructures during cholesterol crystallization from bile. Evidence that cholesterol does not nucleate classic monohydrate plates. J Clinical Investigation 90:1155–1160. https://doi.org/ 10.1172/JCI115935
- Konrad Sandhoff AHM Jr, Alfred H Jr, Merrill KS (2002) Sphingolipids: metabolism and cell signaling. In: Biochemistry of lipids, lipoproteins and membranes, pp 373–406
- Koynova R, Tihova M (2010) Nanosized self-emulsifying lipid vesicles of diacylglycerol-PEG lipid conjugates: biophysical characterization and inclusion of lipophilic dietary supplements. Biochim et Biophys Acta—Biomembr 1798:646–653. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.bbamem.2009. 12.022
- Kulkarni M, Greiser U, O'Brien T, Pandit A (2010) Liposomal gene delivery mediated by tissue-engineered scaffolds. Trends Biotechnol 28:28–36
- Kuzuyama T, Seto H (2003) Diversity of the biosynthesis of the isoprene units. Nat Prod Rep 20:171-183
- Laouini A, Jaafar-Maalej C, Limayem-Blouza I et al (2012) Preparation, characterization and applications of liposomes: state of the art. J Colloid Sci Biotechnol 1:147–168. https://doi.org/ 10.1166/jcsb.2012.1020

- Liakos I, Rizzello L, Scurr DJ et al (2014) All-natural composite wound dressing films of essential oils encapsulated in sodium alginate with antimicrobial properties. Int J Pharm 463:137–145. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijpharm.2013.10.046
- Liu PY, Tong W, Liu K et al (2004) Liposome-mediated transfer of vascular endothelial growth factor cDNA augments survival of random-pattern skin flaps in the rat. Wound Repair and Regeneration 12:80–85. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1067-1927.2004.012114.x-1
- Maurer N, Wong KF, Stark H et al (2001) Spontaneous entrapment of polynucleotides upon electrostatic interaction with ethanol-destabilized cationic liposomes. Biophys J 80:2310–2326. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0006-3495(01)76202-9
- McNaught AD, Wilkinson A (2009) IUPAC compendium of chemical terminology. IUPAC. Research Triagle Park, NC
- Meilander NJ, Yu X, Ziats NP, Bellamkonda RV (2001) Lipid-based microtubular drug delivery vehicles. J Controlled Release 71:141–152. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0168-3659(01)00214-0
- Messias MCF, Mecatti GC, Priolli DG, De Oliveira Carvalho P (2018) Plasmalogen lipids: Functional mechanism and their involvement in gastrointestinal cancer. Lipids Health Disease 17:41. https://doi.org/10.1186/s12944-018-0685-9
- Michlits W, Mittermayr R, Schäfer R et al (2007) Fibrin-embedded administration of VEGF plasmid enhances skin flap survival. Wound Repair and Regeneration 15:360–367. https://doi. org/10.1111/j.1524-475X.2007.00238.x
- Monfregola L, Leone M, Vittoria V et al (2011) Chemical modification of pectin: Environmental friendly process for new potential material development. Polym Chem 2:800–804. https://doi.org/10.1039/c0py00341g
- Monteiro N, Martins A, Reis RL, Neves NM (2014a) Liposomes in tissue engineering and regenerative medicine. J R Soc Interface 11:20140459–20140459. https://doi.org/10.1098/rsif. 2014.0459
- Monteiro N, Ribeiro D, Martins A et al (2014b) Instructive nanofibrous scaffold comprising runt-related transcription factor 2 gene delivery for bone tissue engineering. ACS Nano 8:8082–8094. https://doi.org/10.1021/nn5021049
- Monteiro N, Martins M, Martins A et al (2015) Antibacterial activity of chitosan nanofiber meshes with liposomes immobilized releasing gentamicin. Acta Biomater 18:196–205. https://doi.org/ 10.1016/j.actbio.2015.02.018
- Morishita R, Kaneda Y (2002) HVJ (hemagglutinating virus of Japan; Sendai virus)-liposome method. In: Methods in Enzymology, pp 619–627
- Mowat a M, Reid G (2001) Preparation of immune stimulating complexes (ISCOMs) as adjuvants. Current protocols in immunology/ edited by John E Coligan. [et al] Chapter 2: Unit 2.11. https://doi.org/10.1002/0471142735.im0211s16
- Mozafari MR (2005) Liposomes: an overview of manufacturing techniques. Cell Mol Biol Lett 10:711–719
- Mufamadi MS, Pillay V, Choonara YE et al (2011) A review on composite liposomal technologies for specialized drug delivery. J Drug Delivery 2011:1–19. https://doi.org/10.1155/2011/939851
- Murao A, Nishikawa M, Managit C et al (2002) Targeting efficiency of galactosylated liposomes to hepatocytes in vivo: effect of lipid composition. Pharm Res 19:1808–1814. https://doi.org/ 10.1023/A:1021433206081
- Myschik J, Lendemans DG, McBurney WT et al (2006) On the preparation, microscopic investigation and application of ISCOMs. Micron 37:724–734. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. micron.2006.03.016
- Nanjwade BK, Yallappamaharaj R (2014) Development of cuboidal nanomedicine by nanotechnology. Austin J Nanomed Nanotechnol 2:1–8
- Nikalje AP (2015) Nanotechnology and its applications in medicine. Med. Chem. 5: https://doi. org/10.4172/2161-0444.1000247
- Perdones Á, Chiralt A, Vargas M (2016) Properties of film-forming dispersions and films based on chitosan containing basil or thyme essential oil. Food Hydrocolloids 57:271–279. https://doi. org/10.1016/j.foodhyd.2016.02.006

- Pornpattananangkul D, Olson S, Aryal S et al (2010) Stimuli-responsive liposome fusion mediated by gold nanoparticles. ACS Nano 4:1935–1942. https://doi.org/10.1021/nn9018587
- Quaglia F (2008) Bioinspired tissue engineering: the great promise of protein delivery technologies. Int J Pharm 364:281–297
- Raetz CRH, Garrett TA, Reynolds CM et al (2006) Kdo 2 -Lipid A of *Escherichia coli*, a defined endotoxin that activates macrophages via TLR-4. J Lipid Res 47:1097–1111. https://doi.org/ 10.1194/jlr.M600027-JLR200
- Rahmim A, Zaidi H (2008) Pet versus spect: Strengths, limitations and challenges. Nucl Med Commun 29:193–207
- Rambhia KJ, Ma PX (2015) Controlled drug release for tissue engineering. J Control Release 219:119–128. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jconrel.2015.08.049
- Rampichová M, Martinová L, Košťáková E et al (2012) A simple drug anchoring microfiber scaffold for chondrocyte seeding and proliferation. J Mater Sci—Mater Med 23:555–563. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10856-011-4518-x
- Reineccius GA (1995) Liposomes for controlled release in the food industry, pp 113–131
- Russell DW (2003) The enzymes, regulation, and genetics of bile acid synthesis. Annu Rev Biochem 72:137–174. https://doi.org/10.1146/annurev.biochem.72.121801.161712
- Samal SK, Dash M, Van Vlierberghe S et al (2012) Cationic polymers and their therapeutic potential. Chem Soc Rev 41:7147–7194
- Santo VE, Gomes ME, Mano JF, Reis RL (2012) From nano-to macro-scale: nanotechnology approaches for spatially controlled delivery of bioactive factors for bone and cartilage engineering. Nanomedicine 7:1045–1066
- Shimizu T, Masuda M, Minamikawa H (2005) Supramolecular nanotube architectures based on amphiphilic molecules. Chem Rev 105:1401–1443
- Siekmann B, Bunjes H, Koch MHJ, Westesen K (2002) Preparation and structural investigations of colloidal dispersions prepared from cubic monoglyceride-water phases. Int J Pharm 244:33– 43. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0378-5173(02)00298-3
- Singh AK, Cummings EB, Throckmorton DJ (2001) Fluorescent liposome flow markers for microscale particle-image velocimetry. Anal Chem 73:1057–1061. https://doi.org/10.1021/ ac001159x
- Spicer PT, Hayden KL, Lynch ML et al (2001) Novel process for producing cubic liquid crystalline nanoparticles (cubosomes). Langmuir 17:5748–5756. https://doi.org/10.1021/ la010161w
- Tsukanova V, Salesse C (2004) On the nature of conformational transition in poly(ethylene glycol) chains grafted onto phospholipid monolayers. J. Phys Chem B 108:10754–10764. https://doi.org/10.1021/jp036992n
- Valencia PM, Basto PA, Zhang L et al (2010) Single-step assembly of homogenous lipid-polymeric and lipid-quantum dot nanoparticles enabled by microfluidic rapid mixing. ACS Nano 4:1671–1679. https://doi.org/10.1021/nn901433u
- Vance JE, Vance DE (2008) Biochemistry of lipids. Elsevier, Lipoproteins and Membranes
- Vargas R, Mariani P, Gulik A, Luzzati V (1992) Cubic phases of lipid-containing systems. The structure of phase Q223 (Space group Pm3n). An X-ray scattering study. J Mol Biol 225:137– 145. https://doi.org/10.1016/0022-2836(92)91031-J
- Vemuri S, Rhodes CT (1995) Preparation and characterization of liposomes as therapeutic delivery systems: a review. Pharm Acta Helv 70:95–111
- Voinea M, Simionescu M (2002) Designing of "intelligent" liposomes for efficient delivery of drugs. J Cell Mol Med 6:465–474
- Wagner A, Vorauer-Uhl K (2011) Liposome technology for industrial purposes. J. Drug Delivery 2011:1–9. https://doi.org/10.1155/2011/591325
- Wang G, Mostafa NZ, Incani V et al (2012) Bisphosphonate-decorated lipid nanoparticles designed as drug carriers for bone diseases. J Biomed Mater Res—Part A 100 A:684–693. https://doi.org/10.1002/jbm.a.34002

- Westhaus E, Messersmith PB (2001) Triggered release of calcium from lipid vesicles: a bioinspired strategy for rapid gelation of polysaccharide and protein hydrogels. Biomaterials 22:453–462. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0142-9612(00)00200-3
- Winkler H, Vorwerg W, Rihm R (2014) Thermal and mechanical properties of fatty acid starch esters. Carbohyd Polym 102:941–949. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.carbpol.2013.10.040
- Winn S, Chen J, Gong X et al (2005) Non-viral-mediated gene therapy approaches for bone repair. Orthod Craniofac Res 8:183–190. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1601-6343.2005.00332.x
- Woodle MC, Lasic DD (1992) Sterically stabilized liposomes. BBA—Rev Biomembr 1113: 171–199
- Woodle MC, Scaria P (2001) Cationic liposomes and nucleic acids. Curr Opin Colloid Interface Sci 6:78–84. https://doi.org/10.1016/S1359-0294(00)00091-1
- Xia S, Xu S (2005) Ferrous sulfate liposomes: preparation, stability and application in fluid milk. Food Res Int 289–296
- Yager P, Schoen PE, Davies C et al (1985) Structure of lipid tubules formed from a polymerizable lecithin. Biophys J 48:899–906. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0006-3495(85)83852-2
- Yau WWY, Rujitanaroj P, Lam L, Chew SY (2012) Directing stem cell fate by controlled RNA interference. Biomaterials 33:2608–2628

Biomedical Applications of Electrospun Polymer Composite Nanofibres



Kalim Deshmukh, Sowmya Sankaran, M. Basheer Ahamed and S. K. Khadheer Pasha

Abstract Electrospun polymeric nanofibers (PNFs) play a pivotal role in every facet of science, engineering, and technology. Electrospinning (ES) is the technique that endows non-woven fibers in the nanometer scales and that owns superior properties including high surface areas, mechanical strength, easy processability, mass production, and ease of functionalization. This technique has a great versatility to be altered in different ways for synergizing material properties with different morphology, in order to fulfill the requirement of desired applications. In general, the precursor materials used for producing electrospun nanofibers (NFs) are natural and synthetic polymers, ceramics, or composites. These precursors are carefully selected based on the nature and the structure of desired tissues regeneration. The application of electrospun PNFs in the biomedical field is very vital. It is a well-known fact that all the tissues and organs such as bone, tendons, cartilage, skin, and dentine of living beings comprise fibrous structures in the nanometer range. This chapter attempts to make an overview of the recent advances in electrospun polymeric composite NFs for biomedical applications.

Keywords Electrospun nanofibers • Drug delivery • Tissue engineering • Wound dressing

K. Deshmukh (🖂) · S. Sankaran · M. Basheer Ahamed

Department of Physics, B. S. Abdur Rahman Crescent Institute of Science and Technology, Chennai 600048, Tamil Nadu, India e-mail: deshmukh.kalim@gmail.com

S. K. Khadheer Pasha

Department of Physics, VIT-AP University, Amaravati Campus, Guntur 522501, Andhra Pradesh, India

[©] Springer Nature Switzerland AG 2019

K. K. Sadasivuni et al. (eds.), Polymer Nanocomposites

in Biomedical Engineering, Lecture Notes in Bioengineering, https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-030-04741-2_5

1 Introduction

Of late, the biomedical industry has been witnessing the challenge of developing novel materials and equipment that will prove beneficial to both the patients and the healthcare industry. This can be attributed to the fact that the patients are consistently looking for quality medical treatment, whereas the healthcare professionals and insurance companies are constantly seeking for simple and economical diagnosis and treatments. In this bottleneck situation, the unification of biology and nanotechnology sectors is highly anticipated to revolutionize the research and development of biomedical field by making use of new and unique physical, chemical, and biological properties of the material at the nano-regime (10^{-9} m) via the fine-tuning of the matter in the nanometer (nm) scale and by directly applying the nanomaterials to biological sites/targets. Presently, the nanomaterials are developed for myriads of biomedical and biotechnological applications such as tissue engineering, drug delivery, enzyme immobilization, biosensors, wound healing, and implants (Menaa 2011).

The electrospinning (ES) technique involves the formation of an electric field in between a positively charged syringe that contains a polymer solution and a grounded collector, as shown in Fig. 1a (Barnes et al. 2007). Generally, a polymer jet is formed when the electrostatic charges overcome the dominant surface tension created by the pendent droplet-shaped polymer solution oozing at the positively charged metallic tip of the syringe (Fig. 1b). The continuously charged jet strands of polymer solution start to accelerate from the metallic tip of the syringe to that of the grounded collector and deposit in the collector to form the polymeric nanofibers (PNFs). The grounded collector can be flat plate collector, rotating drum collector, mesh collector, etc., which decides the orientation or alignment of the nanofibers (NFs) to form unique structures with respect to morphology and mechanical properties (Barnes et al. 2007; Liu et al. 2017). Figure 2 represents the flowchart of the electrospun NFs for biomedical applications (Weng and Xie 2015).

Tissue engineering or regenerative medicine is a multidisciplinary field that synergies the knowledge of biology, medicine, material science, and engineering fields (Agarwal et al. 2008; Greiner and Wendorff 2007). Generally, the main aim of tissue engineering is to understand and apply from basics to advanced level of these multidisciplinary fields, for constructing and controlling realistic 3D physiological substitutes such as restoring, maintaining, and recovering the normal functions of affected tissues and organs. It is anticipated to have tremendous potential to enhance the healthy and quality life of humans by means of regenerating, maintaining, and improving the functions of tissues and organs. It has been proven best in replacing the naturally harvested tissues and organs in reconstructive and transplantation surgery (Kanani and Bahrami 2010). The scaffolds produced in tissue engineering bestow excellent support for the damaged cells that fail to stimulate an immune response caused due to injury, disease, or congenital defects via regenerating new extracellular matrix (ECM). The natural ECM is composed mainly of carbohydrate polymers such as proteins and glycosaminoglycans



Fig. 1 a A pictorial representation of ES technique to depict the basic components and working process (Barnes et al. 2007). Copyright 2007. Reproduced with permission from Elsevier Ltd. **b** Formation of continuously charged jet of polymer strands between the pendant droplet-shaped polymer solution from the positively charged metallic syringe tip and the grounded collector (Liu et al. 2017). Copyright 2017. Reproduced with permission from Elsevier Ltd.

(GAGs), and it is used to segregate tissues, create a supportive meshwork all around the cells, and more importantly, offer excellent anchorage to the cells. Figure 3 highlights the basic concept involved in the tissue engineering field (Law et al. 2017). In this field, the stem cell from a slice of healthy tissue is isolated and then the harvested stem cells are in vitro cultured and expanded till the required number of cells is procured. After which, the stem cells are implanted in 3D polymeric scaffolds (or constructs) to produce an engineered tissue that can be transplanted back into the patients. However, it is to be noted that there are several types of tissue engineering techniques which may add or skip the steps depicted in Fig. 3. For instances, the cultured and expanded stem cells can be directly transplanted into the patient without seeding them on the 3D constructs (Law et al. 2017).

The ES technique bestows loosely attached 3D porous nanofibrous mats possessing high porosity and large surface area that can very well mimic the natural ECM structure making it an outstanding candidate for tissue engineering applications. The basic requirement for any scaffold material to be useful for the tissue



Fig. 2 A schematic illustration of the biomedical applications of electrospun NFs. Adapted from Weng and Xie (2015)



Fig. 3 Basic tissue engineering strategy (Law et al. 2017). Copyright 2017. Reproduced with permission from Springer

engineering applications is biodegradability and biocompatibility; i.e., the scaffold materials should have the ability to degrade with time, to be replaced with newly restored cells or tissues; and also be readily acceptable by the natural tissues. The next vital requisite in tissue engineering that influences the cell binding is the scaffold architecture. The scaffolds architecture in the nano-range holds high surface area that absorbs proteins and also offers additional sites to cell membrane receptors (Stevens and George 2005). Thus, the fate of the interactions of the tissue-engineered scaffolds in the cell environment purely depends upon its composition, i.e., synthetic or natural form of biopolymers. The tissue-engineered scaffolds are inserted into the body realizing the body as "self" which enable the damaged cells of the body to heal itself and to reinstate the "neo-native" functional tissues (Barnes et al. 2007).

To date, the benefits of ES technique for tissue engineering applications are focused upon two main reasons. The first reason is the production of non-woven nanofibrous mats from biomaterials that can mimic physical dimensions such as geometry and morphology in unison with the natural ECM in nano-dimensions. This necessitates the proper selection of biomaterials keeping in view of the degradation time and mechanical properties of the scaffolds which depend on the type of desired scaffolds, type of tissues to be restored, and time of regeneration. The biomaterials used for ES can be made from natural polymers, namely silk, nylon, wool, chitosan (CS), chitin, starch, protein, cellulose, and synthetic polymers, including polyvinyl alcohol (PVA), polylactic acid (PLA), polyglycolic acid (PGA), polycaprolactone (PCL), polyethylene glycol (PEG), polyethylene oxide (PEO) and polyurethane (PU). These biomaterials are designed to check and regulate the growth, differentiation, and organization of cells at the time of formation of functional tissues. The second main reason is the ease in the modification of the ES apparatus keeping in mind the specific requirement of mimicking the ECM in order to enhance the cell proliferation and cell differentiation (Agarwal et al. 2008).

For the drug delivery applications, the ES process bestows excellent flexibility to choose a diverse range of suitable materials. The materials selected can be biodegradable or non-degradable in nature for controlling the drug release that can occur either via diffusion alone or via the diffusion and scaffold degradation. Almost all drugs including proteins, anticancer agents, antibiotics, RNA, and DNA can be loaded into electrospun nanofibrous scaffolds. Different ES techniques can be used in a limitless manner, particularly for tissue engineering as well as drug delivery applications. The drug loaded into the polymer or polymer composites can be done by coatings, embedding, and encapsulation. Figure 4 displays the ES process for drug and molecule encapsulations in the ES process include co-ES, side-by-side ES, multi-jet ES, coaxial ES, emulsion ES, and surface immobilization. These drug loading methods can greatly aid in regulating the kinetics of drug release (Liu et al. 2017; Sill and Recum 2008).

A wound dressing is the most important part of the biomedical field which owns benefits such as excellent protection, decent appearance, exclusion of exudates, and halting the growth of an exogenous microorganism. One of the astounding features



Fig. 4 Different methods of loading drugs in ES process (Liu et al. 2017). Copyright 2017. Reproduced with permission from Elsevier Ltd.

of a wound dressing is the coagulation of any type of open wounds such as traumatic, chronic, or thermal wounds. The other key attributes of antimicrobial wound dressings include creating a moist environment for improving the rate of healing, possessing broad-spectrum antimicrobial activity inclusive of active defense against antibiotic-resistant bacteria, etc. (Jones et al. 2004; Wright et al. 2002; Leaper 2006; Boateng et al. 2008; Gallant-Behm et al. 2005). Figure 5 shows five subsequent wound healing phases, i.e., hemostasis and inflammation phases, migration phase, proliferation phase, and maturation phase. In the hemostasis and inflammation phases, the neutrophils infiltrate into the wounded site. In the next phase, i.e., migration phase, the epithelial cells invade the wounded site. In the proliferation phase, most of the fibroblasts and capillaries created at the initial stages disappear (Boateng et al. 2008).

The inherent properties of NFs include high surface area and high porosity that offer steadfast initial signaling pathways and pull the fibroblasts to the derma layer separating critical ECM components for repairing the damaged tissues. The electrospun nanofibrous mats also enhance the cell attachment and cell proliferation in the wound healing mechanism. The non-woven form of electrospun NFs is generally very effective for wound healing applications, as it has tiny pores to block the permeation of bacteria. The high surface area of electrospun NFs aids in efficient dermal drug delivery and absorption of fluid (Chen et al. 2008).

In recent years, there are several featured review articles reported on the electrospun polymeric composite NFs for biomedical applications. For instance, Manea et al. (2016) have highlighted the importance of selecting basic materials for producing polymeric NFs for suitable medical applications. A critical literature survey on the application of ES technique in the biomedical field was carried out by Jesus et al. (2016). Venugopal et al. (2011) have provided the brief review on the recent advances in the biomedical applications of electrospun NFs, wherein a special



Proliferation Phase

Remodelling Phase

Fig. 5 Consecutive cascade of events in wound healing (Boateng et al. 2008). Copyright 2008. Reproduced with permission from Wiley Interscience

attention was given to electrospun polymeric nanofibrous scaffolds for tissue engineering of bone, cartilage, blood vessels, skin, and nerves. Leung and Ko (2011) have outlined the different ES processes developed for fabricating NFs for tissue regeneration and drug delivery application. The recent advances and the new perspectives on the smart electrospun NFs for controlled drug release were reviewed by Weng and Xie (2015). Hassiba et al. (2016) provided an overview of recent advances in NFs synthesis via the ES technique for wound healing/wound dressing applications.

In the forthcoming section, an attempt has been made to critically review the polymer-based electrospun composites nanofibers for biomedical applications, specifically tissue engineering, drug delivery, and wound dressing. The insulating polymers such as PVA, PLA, PGA, polylactic-co-glycolic acid (PLGA), PCL, PEG, PU, polyethyleneimine (PEI) and conducting polymers such as polypyrrole (PPy), polyaniline (PANI), poly(3,4-ethylenedioxythiophene) (PEDOT) have been selected as a base polymer for the review.

2 Biomedical Applications of Various Polymer-Based Electrospun Composite Nanofibers

2.1 Biomedical Applications of Polyvinyl Alcohol-Based Electrospun Composite Nanofibers

Polyvinyl alcohol (PVA), a well-known linear synthetic polymer, possesses unique properties such as water solubility, easy processability, biodegradability, and film-forming capacity (Pawde and Deshmukh 2008; Marin et al. 2014; Muppalaneni and Omidian 2013). PVA can be readily used for blends and composites preparation with a variety of natural and renewable polymers. PVA is commercially synthesized by the hydrolysis of polyvinyl acetate (PVAc) in two steps, viz. free radical polymerization of vinyl acetate to PVAc and partial or full hydrolysis. The structural property of PVA is largely dependent on its molecular weight and the degree of hydrolysis. Despite the type of hydrolysis, the tacticity of PVA is one of the most important structural considerations that are primarily decided by the starting material and the method of synthesis. The hydrolysis is atactic if the PVA is produced from polymerization of vinyl acetate and vinyl trifluoroacetate. The radical polymerization of vinyl formate yields syndiotactic PVA, and the cationic polymerization of benzyl vinyl ether results in isotactic PVA. By increasing the molecular weight and degree of hydrolysis, the properties such as viscosity, solvents resistance, adhesive and tensile strength and film-forming ability drastically get improved (Muppalaneni and Omidian 2013; Marten 2002; Baker et al. 2012; Deshmukh et al. 2016a, b, c, d; Mohanapriya et al. 2016a, b, 2017).

The degree of hydrolysis and tacticity primarily decides the glass transition and melting temperature of PVA (Muppalaneni and Omidian 2013). PVA is colorless and odorless in nature with the melting temperature around 180–228 °C, exhibiting glass transition temperature ~ 85 °C. PVA structure is highly stable and chemically inert due to its crystallization making it relatively safe and biocompatible (Baker et al. 2012). The simple structure and unique features of this polymer have been identified for potential applications in textile, paper, adhesives, food, biomedical, and pharmaceutical industries (Hassan and Peppas 2000). The resistance of PVA against various organic solvents and its solubility in water paves way for many potential applications (Marin et al. 2014). Food and drug administration (FDA) has allowed PVA to be used in close contact with food products. PVA films, in fact, display extraordinary barrier properties for food packaging. It is highly useful biomaterial in medical devices because of its biocompatibility, non-carcinogenicity, swelling properties, and bio-adhesivity (Pawde and Deshmukh 2008; Deshmukh et al. 2017a; Pawde et al. 2008).

Agarwal and Pramanik (2016) prepared CS/PVA blend nanofibrous scaffolds (NS) via free surface ES for tissue engineering application. The average diameter of the NFs was observed to be 269 nm. The NS showed excellent features such as swelling, strength, and biodegradability. Asran et al. (2010) prepared biodegradable blend scaffolds of PVA and polyhydroxy butyrate (PHB) for skin tissue engineering

application. It was reported that as the PVA content increased, the rate of degradation was also subsequently increased. The biocompatibility tests of PHB/PVA NFs were carried out using the human keratinocyte cell line (HaCaT) and fibroblasts. The adhesion, the proliferation of HaCaT cells, and fibroblasts were enhanced in pure PHB NFs, whereas increasing the PVA content in PHB stimulated the HaCaT cell growth while inhibiting the growth in fibroblasts. Thus, the bio-selectivity was altered using different compositions of PVA and PHB. Shalumon et al. (2009) prepared a biocompatible and bioactive carboxymethyl chitin (CMC)/PVA blended NS. The evaluation of cytotoxicity and cell attachment studies of the NS was accomplished using human bone marrow mesenchymal stem cells (hMSCs) by MTT assays. The cell attachment and cell spreading in the NS were witnessed using the cell attachment studies. The CMC/PVA NS supports cell attachment, cell adhesion, and proliferation, making it useful for tissue engineering (Jayakumar et al. 2010).

Silica (SiO₂)/PVA composites were electrospun to form NFs using an indigenous ES set up. The optimized ES parameters include an applied voltage of 30 kV, tip–collector distance of 12 cm and flow rate of 1 ml/min. A comparative study of electrospun pristine PVA and SiO₂/PVA NFs was made. The SEM image of both the electrospun PVA NFs and the SiO₂/PVA composite NFs is shown in Fig. 6. The diameter of pure PNFs was about 100–500 nm while the SiO₂ incorporated PVA was about 100–700 nm. The presence of SiO₂ renders better fiber mats paving way for tissue engineering as well as textile applications (Sasipriya et al. 2013; Deshmukh et al. 2017b).

Taepaiboon et al. (2006) loaded four types of nonsteroidal anti-inflammatory drugs (NSAIDS) into electrospun PVA NF mats for transdermal drug delivery (TDD) applications. The four model drugs such as sodium salicylate (SS), diclofenac sodium (DS), naproxen (NAP), and indomethacin (IND) were individually mixed with the PVA solutions under constant stirring for 4 h. The viscosity, surface tension, and the conductivity of prepared solutions were measured prior to



Fig. 6 SEM image of a electrospun PVA NFs, b SiO_2/PVA NFs (Sasipriya et al. 2013). Copyright 2013. Reproduced under creative common license

electrospinning. These solutions were later electrospun to get NFs with an average diameter of 130 nm. The drug encapsulation efficiency of PVA NFs was observed to be in the range of 81-98%. The release characteristics of these model drugs from as spun PVA mats were carried out by total immersion method in which the SS drug-loaded PVA mat exhibited a burst release characteristics resulting from the high solubility of SS drug in an aqueous medium. The highly porous nature of the PVA NF mats contributed to high swelling in an aqueous medium. In general, for DDS, one of the factors that control the release of a drug is the swelling behavior of the hydrogel carrier (Rujiravanit et al. 2003). The PVA matrix absorbs water and swells causing the solvation of the SS drug molecules leading to the rapid removal from the matrix (Taepaiboon et al. 2006). Ketoprofen drug was dissolved in a small quantity of methanol, followed by mixing with the PVA solution containing fully hydrolyzed PVA in deionized water. A known quantity of surfactants such as Triton X-100 and acetic acid was added to ES with fully hydrolyzed PVA entrapping the ketoprofen. For cross-linking, the drug incorporated PVA matrix was treated with methanol which discarded the burst release of drug from the fiber mat. Also, the methanol stabilized fiber mat, displayed a slow drug discharge for two weeks. The extent of PVA hydrolysis also has some additional influence on the drug release rate (Kenawy et al. 2007).

Currently, several natural polymers have been checked and used as drug delivery systems (DDS). For instance, Yang et al. (2007) fabricated electrospun gelatin/PVA composite NS and investigated the effect of gelatin/PVA ratio, cross-linking time of glutaraldehyde vapor, and the amount of drug incorporated on the drug release profile of raspberry ketone (RK). The outcome of the analysis is that the burst release of the drug was witnessed in the first hr and became constant after 2 h. Zulkifli et al. (2013) fabricated hydroxyethyl cellulose (HEC)/PVA nanofibrous mats using ES process. HEC is a well-known biocompatible water-soluble polymer. PVA is chosen as a polymer for producing electrospun NFs because of its good fiber forming capacity, biocompatibility, and good chemical resistance. The 5 wt% concentration of HEC and 15 wt% concentration of PVA were blended in different weight ratios 50:50, 40:60, and 70:30 of HEC to PVA and electrospun to form the NFs with an applied voltage of 25 kV, tip to collector distance of 12 cm and a humidity of 50%. The nanofibrous mat was then treated with glutaraldehyde to form water-insoluble NFs. Human fetal osteoblastic (hFOB) cells were subjected to cell culture studies for a period of 14 days which revealed enhanced cell adherence and proliferation of hFOB on NS. The authors concluded that the cross-linked HEC/PVA fibers seem to be a relevant candidate for a variety of biomedical applications.

Zhou et al. (2008) evaluated the in vitro of electrospun N-CECS/PVA NF mats for skin regeneration scaffolds using L929 cells. Indirect cytotoxicity examination of the nanofibrous mats revealed non-toxicity to the L929 cells. The result from cell culture studies revealed that the NF mats boosted the cell attachment and proliferation in L929 cells. Hence, this novel electrospun mat can serve as a wound dressing material for skin regeneration. Chellamani et al. (2012) developed a special wound care product made of CS/PVA blended NFs. The CS/PVA weight ratio of 80/20, 70/30, 60/40, and 50/50 was used to electrospun the NFs. CS/PVA NFs as a wound dressing material exhibited very high moisture transmission, excellent antimicrobial activity, the complete absence of any of the cytotoxicity effects, and extraordinary odor absorbing capacity. Among the four different weight ratios, 50/ 50 CS/PVA NFs offered better results mainly because of its lower diameter. Even after 72 h of CS/PVA NFs in contact with the wounds of rat, no skin irritation was observed. Also, the total time taken for wound healing by CS/PVA NFs was 50% faster than that encountered in open wounds.

Kang et al. (2010) formed the PVA NFs with the mean diameter of 240 nm from ES of 10 wt% PVA aqueous solution. The as-spun PVA NFs were heated at 150 °C for 10 min for improving the physical cross-linking and the water resistance of PVA NFs. CS is coated on the heated PVA (H-PVA) NFs mat in order to construct biomimetic NF wound dressings. The CS-coated PVA (C-PVA) NFs mat exhibited better tensile properties and low hydrophilicity than the H-PVA NFs mat. The wounded portion of the rats was applied with C-PVA and H-PVA to observe their effect. Faster wound healing was noticed in C-PVA and H-PVA as compared to the control sample. The histological assessment and mechanical stability test concluded that the C-PVA NFs mat is more efficient as a wound healing accelerator in comparison with H-PVA NFs mat. The open wound healing test and histological assessment revealed that C-PVA mat more effectively renewed the damaged skin; however, the difference in H-PVA mat was not too remarkable. The tensile property of C-PVA was greater than H-PVA because of the inter-fiber bonds formed due to CS coating. These outcomes recommend the C-PVA NFs as a promising candidate for biomedical applications. A novel electrospun quantized chitosan (QCS)/PVA blend NFs with an average diameter of 60-200 nm was reported by Ignatova et al. (2006). The NF mats were subjected to UV irradiation for cross-linking using triethylene glycol diacrylate (DA) leading to stabilization of the NFs against disintegration in water (Jayakumar et al. 2010). Electrospun CS/PVA blended NS exhibited better physicochemical and biological properties in comparison with pure PVA NS for nerve tissue engineering applications. Adding CS to PVA scaffolds stimulates better proliferation of nerve cells, which in turn improves the biocompatibility of the blend scaffolds (Alhosseini et al. 2012; Gholipour et al. 2009).

Yeum et al. (2011) reported the study on silver nanoparticles (Ag NPs)/montmorillonite (MMT)/PVA composite NFs with 7.5 wt% concentration of PVA, 5 wt % of MMT, and 5 wt% of Ag NPs. Most of the MMT platelets were exfoliated with orderly distribution within the fiber mat and their orientation being along the fiber axis. The exfoliated MMT NPs enhance the thermal stability and tensile strength of the electrospun NFs. The well-dispersed Ag NPs offer good antibacterial performance to the NFs. The inference drawn from the study was that the NFs can be used for wound dressing, filtration, reinforcement in the polymer matrix, and protective clothing applications. Wound dressing materials prepared from silver nitrate (AgNO₃)/PVA aqueous solution was electrospun into non-woven webs which were subjected to heat or UV radiation treatments resulting in a reduction of the Ag ions into Ag nanoparticles. The crystallinity of the electrospun PVA fiber was improved on heat treatment and hence made the web insoluble in moisture environment. The Ag ions are a very effective antimicrobial agent for wound and burn healing functions deactivating the bacterial proteins and nucleic acids to their negatively charged components. Also, Ag ions generate O_2 that has the capability to destroy the cell wall membrane of the bacteria. Thus, the electrospun AgNO₃/PVA nanofibrous webs can be considered as a potential wound dressing materials (Duan et al. 2007). Iodine/PVA blends today are extravagantly used as antiseptic products. PVA NFs with iodine usually disinfect the skin treated with medicine. Iodine/PVA blend NFs can be easily generated using ES process (Matuseviciute et al. 2012). The iodine prominently influences the structure of the electrospun non-woven mat making it suitable for the biomedical application such as skin and wound healing and also in drug release.

El-Aassar et al. (2016) successfully prepared an antibacterial electrospun NFs using PVA, pluronic F127 (Plur), and PEI blend reinforced with TiO₂ NPs for wound dressing applications. The TiO₂ NPs were synthesized using the sol-gel method. PVA-Plur-PEI blended NFs with the concentration of 0.01, 0.03, and 0.05% TiO₂ NPs were prepared using ES. The surface microstructure and diameter of the blend NFs were dependent on Plur concentration. By adding TiO₂ NPs, the fiber diameter of the blend NFs was gradually reduced. The TiO2/PVA-Plur-PEI NFs had better antibacterial properties than PVA-Plur-PEI NFs against gram-negative bacteria. Thus, TiO₂/PVA-Plur-PEI NFs have promising future in advanced wound treatments, treatment of skin infections and also in tissue regeneration. Halloysite nanotubes (HNT)/PVA NS were found useful in numerous biomedical applications such as in bone tissue engineering, DDS, wound dressings, targeted tissue transportation systems, soft biomaterial implants due to their biocompatibility, non-toxicity, non-carcinogenicity, smoothness, and flexibility (Moreno et al. 2011; Deshmukh et al. 2017c). Table 1 depicts various biomedical applications of electrospun PVA composite NFs.

2.2 Biomedical Applications of Polylactic Acid-Based Electrospun Composite Nanofibers

PLA belongs to the biodegradable, aliphatic polyester family which stands second in the highest consumption volume of any bioplastic. It is commonly prepared from α -hydroxyl acids such as polyglycolic acid (PGA) and/or poly(mandelic acid) and can also be derived from renewable resources which include cornstarch, tapioca, and sugarcane. PLA is a thermoplastic polymer possessing high strength and high modulus. Generally, it is used for industrial packaging and in the biocompatible and bioabsorbable medical devices (Khoo et al. 2016; Garlotta 2001; Lasprilla et al. 2012). The structure of PLA can be modified by polymerization of a controlled mixture of L- or D-isomers to obtain high MW polymers both crystalline and amorphous which are mainly used as food contact agent as it is approved safe by FDA (Conn et al. 1995).

PVA-based composite NFs	Biomedical applications	References
PHB/PVA	Skin tissue engineering	Asran et al. (2010)
CMC/PVA	Tissue engineering	Shalumon et al. (2009) and Jayakumar et al. (2010)
SiO ₂ /PVA	Tissue engineering	Sasipriya et al. (2013)
Ketoprofen/ PVA	Drug delivery	Kenawy et al. (2007)
RK/gelatin/ PVA	Drug delivery	Yang et al. (2007)
HEC/PVA	Tissue engineering, drug delivery, medical prostheses	Zulkifli et al. (2013)
CS/PVA	Wound healing	Chellamani et al. (2012)
CS/PVA	Wound dressing, tissue engineering	Kang et al. (2010)
Ag NPs/MMT/ PVA	Wound dressing	Yeum et al. (2011)
AgNO ₃ /PVA	Wound dressing	Duan et al. (2007)
Iodine/PVA	Wound healing, drug release	Matuseviciute et al. (2012)
PVA-Plur-PEI/ TiO ₂	Wound healing, tissue regeneration	El-Aassar et al. (2016)
	PVA-based composite NFs PHB/PVA CMC/PVA SiO ₂ /PVA Ketoprofen/ PVA RK/gelatin/ PVA HEC/PVA CS/PVA CS/PVA CS/PVA Ag NPs/MMT/ PVA AgNO ₃ /PVA Iodine/PVA PVA-Plur-PEI/ TiO ₂	PVA-based composite NFsBiomedical applicationsPHB/PVASkin tissue engineeringCMC/PVATissue engineeringSiO_/PVATissue engineeringKetoprofen/ PVADrug deliveryRK/gelatin/ PVADrug deliveryRK/gelatin/ PVATissue engineering, drug delivery, medical prosthesesCS/PVAWound healingCS/PVAWound dressing, tissue engineeringAg NPs/MMT/ PVAWound dressingIodine/PVAWound dressingIodine/PVAWound healing, drug releasePVA-Plur-PEI/ TiO_2Wound healing, tissue regeneration

Table 1 Biomedical applications of electrospun PVA composite NFs

PLA is prepared using lactic acid (LA). LA is a basic block of PLA which can be produced by two methods, i.e., petrochemical feedstock and carbohydrate fermentation. The fermentation of natural products such as rice and corn was the common process to synthesize LA (>90%). The PLA is synthesized in multistep, starting with the production of lactic acid, followed by lactide formation and ends with its polymerization (Moreno et al. 2011). LA monomers can be converted into PLA using any of the three polymerization processes including polycondensation, ring opening polymerization (ROP), and azeotropic dehydration condensation reaction of which ROP allowed the production of a high MW PLA more economically. Hence, ROP is a suitable processing method (Hamad et al. 2015). PLA is easily degraded by hydrolysis of the ester bond on abiotic degradation. The particle isomer ratio, size, shape, and the temperature of hydrolysis decide the rate of degradation. The glass transition (T_g) and melting temperature of PLA homopolymer are about 55 and 175 °C, respectively.

The properties of high MW PLA are similar to polystyrene, which includes colorless, glossy, and stiffness. PLA hydrolyzes to harmless, natural products when properly disposed off (Garlotta 2001). PLA is regarded both as biodegradable and as biocompatible when in contact with living tissues. PLA can be considered as an environmentally friendly material as long as the LA is derived from renewable sources by fermentation. PLA has occupied a strong position in the biomedical applications, namely tissue engineering scaffolds, DDS, orthopedic device, wound

dressing and healing agent due to its excellent biodegradability, mechanical, thermal, barrier properties, processability, and low cost. Different PLA types can be used to prepare a range of biomedical devices such as degradable sutures, drug release systems, and porous scaffolds for cellular applications (Conn et al. 1995; Hamad et al. 2015; Lim et al. 2008). PLA, a bioplastic, usually derived from biomass is used commonly to make plastic films, bottles, and biodegradable medical devices.

Hydroxyapatite (HA)/PLA composite NFs prepared via ES showed excellent mechanical strength as a substrate for bone tissue regeneration (Takenaka et al. 2004). Superparamagnetic nano-Fe₂O₃/nano-HA/PLA NFs produced using ES process was tested on white rabbit model with lumbar transverse defects which induced the formation of bone tissues and remodeling (Meng et al. 2013). Wojasinski et al. (2014) prepared composite nano-HA/poly L-lactide (PLLA) NFs using ES. The composite nanofibrous mat was prepared by applying 17 kV and maintaining a relative humidity of 40-52%. The resulting nano-HA/PLLA composite NFs showed very good chemical resistance and high porosity, making it suitable for bone replacement application, dental filling, and bone tissue engineering. Prabhakaran et al. (2009) analyzed the electrospun PLLA, HA/PLLA, and HA/collagen/PLLA substrates for bone tissue regeneration. PLLA NFs possess controlled degradation which is very useful for tissue engineering and drug delivery therapies. The in vitro assays reported that introduction of HA in poly P-lactide (PPLA) matrix improved the cell proliferation to a greater extent compared to PLLA scaffolds. Furthermore, the presence of collagen has enhanced the cell attachment as well as cell proliferation of HA/collagen/PLLA NS. This NS was tested on osteoblastic cells which revealed a very good growth and adherence with mineral depositions 57% greater than in the HA/PLLA NFs.

Hoveizi et al. (2014) functionalized the surface of PLA scaffold with gelatin to increase the cell adherence and proliferation on the scaffold and also biocompatibility. The PLA and gelatin at varying compositions (gelatin: PLA at 7:3 and 3:7) were dissolved in hexafluoroisopropanol (HFIP). The FTIR and SEM analysis revealed that modified gelatin/PLA (3/7) scaffold is more relevant for attachment of fibroblasts and viability in comparison with pristine PLA NFs or gelatin NFs. Thus, culturing fibroblast on gelatin/PLA scaffold can improve skin wound healing. Gelatin modified PLA scaffold was tested on rat wound to study the structural properties and cytocompatibility of scaffolds. The average diameter of about 350 nm of electrospun gelatin/PLA NFs was more desirable to mimic the natural ECM. The cell adhesion and proliferation were considerably improved for the gelatin/PLA NFs. After 21 days, the formation of new tissues on the fibroblast cultured with gelatin/PLA blend NS was confirmed using histopathological analyses. Thus, the authors have developed simple, novel, and effective NFs that will potentially increase the reliance of PLA scaffold in the tissue engineering and wound healing applications. Xu et al. (2009a) fabricated CS/PLA blend NFs using ES which are suitable to mimic ECM providing a native environment to the cells for tissue engineering applications.

Single-walled carbon nanotubes (SWCNTs)/PLA biodegradable NS have been fabricated by Zhang et al. (2005a). The in vitro assay revealed that the SWCNTs loaded NS permits cell growth with no hostile effect on cell proliferation. Valente et al. (2016) created PLA fibers of both alignments, i.e., random and aligned membranes, via ES and sterilized them under UV, ethylene oxide (EO) and γ -radiation. UV and γ -radiation exposed PLA fibers did not show any morphology or alignment variation without any significant change in the physical properties. However, the wettability was slightly increased. The EO exposed PLA fibers exhibited changes in fiber orientation and morphology with 28% increase of polymer crystallinity. In vitro studies reveal that both UV and γ -radiation treated PLA fibers permits adhesion and proliferation of MG63 osteoblastic cells with a growth pattern highly sensitive to random or aligned orientation. Thus, the UV and γ -sterilized PLA fibers can be suggested for biomedical applications where the fiber morphology and alignment are of prime importance. Chen et al. (2007) prepared the electrospun blends of nano-TiO2/PLA NFs loaded with the daunorubicin (an anticancer drug for drug delivery in targeted cancer cells). Nano-TiO₂/PLA NFs showed a decent biocompatibility and a high surface area which helps in loading and accommodating a large number of drug molecules. Tetracycline hydrochloride (TCH) which is a hydrophilic antibiotic was encapsulated into the PEG/PLA NFs core using emulsion ES. These NFs exhibited a stable release rate along with no initial burst release and also proper protection of loaded active agent (Rieger et al. 2013). Spasova et al. (2008) electrospun PLA and PEG/PLA mats coated with CS for wound healing application, i.e., for immediate hemostatic activity.

Electrospun PLA fibers were loaded with ketoprofen drug whose structure is shown in Fig. 7 (Park and Lee 2011). Porous PLA NFs were fabricated by phase separation technique during the ES. The release of the ketoprofen drug from the NFs displayed higher release rate at body temperature (37 °C) than at room temperature (20 °C). The release effect increased as the ketoprofen content increased. The ketoprofen/PLA NFs release pattern exhibited a rapid release initially, i.e., in the first few hours with subsequent slower release rates. After 360 h, ketoprofen/PLA NFs with 1% ketoprofen exhibited 73 and 86% release of the ketoprofen drug at 37 and 20 °C, respectively, whereas the NFs containing 8% ketoprofen exhibited 43 and 39% drug release at 37 and 20 °C, respectively, as depicted in Fig. 8 (Park and Lee 2011).

Fig. 7 Chemical structure of ketoprofen drug (Park and Lee 2011). Copyright 2010. Reproduced with permission from Springer Ltd.





Fig. 8 Release profile of in vitro ketoprofen drug from electrospun PLA NFs in phosphate buffer 7.4 at a 20 °C and b 37 °C (Park and Lee 2011). Copyright 2010. Reproduced with permission from Springer Ltd.



Immich et al. (2013) proposed a study on electrospun ibuprofen/PLA-based sandwich nanomembranes for evaluating and quantifying the transport mechanism that controls the release of drugs in the sandwich mat. The operation conditions during ES process include applied voltage of 10 kV, the flow rate of 2 mm/h, the tip-collector distance of 8.5 cm and with spinneret opening diameter of 0.4 mm, to yield PLA NFs. The drug was dispersed in the first electrospun PLA membrane after drying and solidification. The second membrane layer was electrospun on the first layer containing the drug (Fig. 9). The thickness of the ibuprofen/PLA nanomembranes is a very crucial factor for controlling the drug delivery. Thicker membrane exhibited slower mass transference. The choice of thickness of PLA membrane and ibuprofen concentration can be fixed on the basis of intended therapy. Thinner membranes are appropriate for treatments that require less control over the release of an initial dose of ibuprofen drug. However, the dense and thick membranes are highly recommended for treatments that require higher control over the release of a low dose ibuprofen. The PLA-ibuprofen-PLA sandwiched membrane was cultured on HeLa cells (cells from cervix carcinoma) and was tested for cell viability and toxicity. The test confirms that PLA displayed no harmful effects on HeLa cells. Thus, the prepared PLA sandwiched membrane can be used as drug carriers without causing any effect on human cells or tissues.

Ultrafine PVA/PLA NFs were formed using coaxial ES with PVA as the core and PLA as the shell. During the ES process, the voltage of 20 kV was applied and the tip–collector distance kept was 13 cm. The NFs with homogeneous and smooth surface morphology were obtained. The core–shell NFs have some crystallinity and porosity with an average diameter of 200 nm which is purely dependent on the ES parameters. The core–shell fiber diameter increases from 1 to 2 μ m when the PLA solution flow rate is increased. The contact angles (Fig. 10) of ultrafine NFs obtained from the core–shell ES were lesser than that of monolithic PLA NFs, which demonstrated that the PVA/PLA (core–shell) NFs have improved hydrophilicity, showing application potential for controlled release of bioactive molecules (Goncalves et al. 2015).

The electrospun PEO/PLA NFs were loaded with two different anticancerous drugs, hydrophilic doxorubicin hydrochloride (DOX) and lipophilic paclitaxel (PTX). The results indicated that the most soluble hydrophilic DOX exhibited faster drug release. The in vitro assay for cytotoxicity revealed higher inhibition and apoptosis of the cells in NFs containing dual drug when compared to single drug-loaded NF system. This suggests a promising future of multi-drug delivery of NFs for combined therapies (Xu et al. 2009b). Ultrafine PEG/PLA NFs were loaded with both hydrophobic PTX and DOX, via emulsion ES where an increase in the release rate was observed due to the presence of DOX (Xu et al. 2008). Sun et al. (2006) reported the coaxial ES of polyvinylpyrrolidone (PVP)/PLA (sheath/core) NFs with fiber diameter ranging between 400 and 500 nm and total core diameter in the range 200–300 nm for drug delivery applications.

Yang et al. (2008) analyzed and reported the impact of fiber structure on the release profiles and structural stability of encapsulated proteins (Lysosomes and Bovine Serum Albumin (BSA)). These proteins were encapsulated into the



core-shell PLA NFs serving as a scaffold for controlled release of bioactive proteins in tissue engineering. The PCL/PLA sheath NFs encase the BSA containing nerve growth factor in the core via coaxial ES. The growth factors were well protected by the sheath polymers and therefore showed a near zero-order release mechanism over time. This is contrary to the initial burst release over a day in blends of BSA/ polymer NFs where the growth factor was directly incorporated. This reveals that the sheath plays a key role in establishing the molecular diffusion path and also controlling the growth factor release (Zhang et al. 2006).

Hardiansyali et al. (2015) prepared CS/PLA blends NFs via ES using solvents such as chloroform, water, acetic acid, and ethanol. The average diameter of the NFs reduced as the CS content was increased. The CS/PLA NFs displayed excellent antibacterial activity against *Escherichia Coli* (*E. Coli*). Also no cytotoxicity to the mouse fibroblasts L929 cells was observed which signifies the cytocompatibility of blended NFs. Thus, the CS/PLA NFs exhibited excellent antibacterial activity as well as non-cytotoxicity to the mammalian cells making it a potential candidate for tissue engineering, wound dressing, and also as DDS. Table 2 depicts various biomedical applications of electrospun PLA composite NFs.

	11	1	
ES type	PLA-based composites NFs	Biomedical applications	References
Traditional ES	HA/PLA	Bone tissue regeneration	Takenaka et al. (2004)
Traditional ES	Nano-Fe ₂ O ₃ /nano-HA/PLA	Bone tissue repair	Meng et al. (2013)
Traditional ES	HA/collagen/PLLA	Bone tissue regeneration	Prabhakaran et al. (2009)
Traditional ES	Gelatin/PLA	Tissue engineering	Hoveizi et al. (2014)
Traditional ES	Daunorubicin-nano TiO ₂ /PLA	Drug delivery	Chen et al. (2007)
Emulsion ES	TCH-PEG/PLA	Drug delivery	Rieger et al. (2013)
Traditional ES	PLA NFs and PEG/PLA	Wound healing	Spasova et al. (2008)
Traditional ES	Ketoprofen/PLA	Drug delivery	Park and Lee (2011)
Traditional ES	Ibuprofen/PLA	Drug delivery	Immich et al. (2013)
Coaxial ES	DOX and PTX-PEG/PLA	Multi-drug delivery	Xu et al. (2008)
Emulsion ES	BSA/Lysosomes/PLA	Tissue engineering	Yang et al. (2008)
Coaxial ES	BSA/PCL/PLA	Drug delivery	Zhang et al. (2006)
Traditional ES	CS/PLA	Tissue engineering, wound dressing, DDS	Hardiansyah et al. (2015)

Table 2 Biomedical applications of electrospun PLA composite NFs

2.3 Biomedical Applications of Polyglycolic Acid-Based Electrospun Composite Nanofibers

PGA, a well-known linear, biodegradable and thermoplastic polymer belongs to the family of the aliphatic polyester. The copolymers of PGA such as poly (lactic-co-glycolic acid) (PLGA), poly(glycolide-co-caprolactone), and poly (glycolide-co-trimethylene carbonate) are extensively used for synthesizing absorbable sutures. PGA possesses melting point around 225-230 °C, T_g around 35-40 °C with an elevated degree of crystallinity (45-55%) (Middleton and Tipton 2006). The solubility of PGA is unique in a sense that the high MW PGA is not soluble in most of the common organic solvents such as acetone, chloroform, dichloromethane, ethyl acetate and THF due to its high crystallinity while the low MW PGA is more soluble. Moreover, the PGA is highly soluble in fluorinated solvents such as HFIP and hexafluoroacetone sesquihydrate (Blomqvist et al. 2002). PGA can be synthesized via different methods such as polycondensation of GA, ROP of glycolide and solid-state polycondensation of halogenoacetates. The simplest method of PGA synthesis is the polycondensation of GA, but this method is not efficient as it yields a low MW product. In this process, the GA is heated to a temperature of 175-185 °C and at an atmospheric pressure, until the water distillation comes to an end. Thereafter, the pressure is decreased to 150 mm Hg, maintaining the same temperature for about 2 h, and forming the low MW PGA.

The ROP of glycolide is the most common method to produce high MW PGA (Fig. 11). Glycolide is a cyclic diester of glycolic acid. ROP of glycolide is catalyzed with the help of different catalysts such as antimony, zinc, and tin compounds. Stannous octoate (SnOct₂) is the most frequently preferred catalyst since it has been approved by FDA. Catalysts such as aluminum isopropoxide, calcium acetylacetonate, and several lanthanide alkoxides have also been identified for PGA preparation. In this method, the catalyst is added to the glycolide at a temperature of 195 °C under a nitrogen atmosphere for a reaction time of about 2 h. Then, the temperature is increased to 230 °C for a period of half an hr. The high MW polymer is obtained after solidification (Takahashi et al. 2000). Kahikara et al. (2007) prepared PLLA and PGA by ROP with tin (II) 2-ethyl hexanoate as a catalyst. Implantable medical devices such as anastomosis rings, pins, rods, plates, and screws have been created using PGA (Middleton and Tipton 2006). The potentiality of PGA for tissue engineering and control drug delivery applications has been

Fig. 11 Synthesis of PGA from glycolide through ROP (Kaihara et al. 2007). Copyright 2007. Reproduced under creative common license



explored. Tissue engineering scaffolds made from PGA in the form of non-woven meshes have been commonly used.

Hajiali et al. (2011), prepared gelatin/PGA blended NFs using ES. The gelatin/ PGA was blended at 0, 10, 30 and 50 wt% ratios to form electrospun NFs. The biocompatibility assay of prepared gelatin/PGA NS was cultured on human umbilical vein endothelial cells and human umbilical artery smooth muscle cells for evaluating the cell attachment and viability. Gelatin/PGA NFs with 10 wt% of PGA enhance the endothelial cells while the gelatin/PGA NFs with 30 wt% improved smooth muscle adhesion, viability, and penetration in comparison with other prepared (0% and 50 wt%) NF blends. It was observed that with increasing gelatin content, the mechanical properties of the NS were highly improved since the interaction between PGA and gelatin increased. Thus, it was concluded that the addition of gelatin into PGA enhances both the mechanical and biological properties of PGA making it suitable for vascular tissue engineering and regeneration in vivo applications.

PCL/PGA composite NFs via ES were fabricated using various compositions for soft tissue engineering applications (Aghdam et al. 2012). The average diameter of the NFs increased because of the addition of PGA to PCL. As the amount of PGA increased in the PCL/PGA blend, a simultaneous increase in the hydrophilicity and water uptake of the NF scaffolds was observed similar to PGA NFs. The dynamic mechanical thermal analysis (DMTA) and tensile properties revealed a significant increase in the mechanical properties of the PCL/PGA NFs due to an increase in the PGA content. Athanasiou et al. (2007) examined the effect of porosity of the electrospun PLA/PGA (50:50) copolymer NFs on in vitro characteristics of an osteochondral biodegradable implant. Nanofibrous specimens were fabricated with three porosities: (i) 0% (low) (ii) 33% (medium), and (iii) 75% (high) porosity. These specimens were placed in the phosphate-buffered saline at 37 °C for 8 weeks or more until the complete degradation was accomplished. The results analyzed from various characterization techniques such as SEM, PH, and molecular weight loss measurements, and the mechanical test indicated that the porosity highly influences the implants structural properties, i.e., low porous implants, were prone to larger losses in MW than the medium or high porous implants. A significant mass loss of the specimens was observed between 4 and 6 weeks. The mechanical assay showed that at the 0 weeks, the high and low porous specimens were two to three times stiffer than the medium porous specimens. PH measurements revealed that with an increase in porosity, the implant becomes less acidic, i.e., low porosity > medium porosity > high porosity (in terms of acidic levels of implants). Thus, the low porous implants experience faster degradation due to more acidic nature than medium or high porous specimens, hence leading to a short span of functional life of the low porous implants. This faster degradation in low porous implants can be attributed to improved autocatalysis in the implants as they are not able to clear the acidic degradation by-products.

Park et al. (2006) prepared electrospun biodegradable and biomimetic chitin/ PGA blended NS for tissue engineering. The average diameter of the as-spun NFs was around 140 nm. The degradation study (in vitro) of chitin/PGA NFs was

ES type	PGA-based composites NFs	Biomedical applications	References
Traditional ES	Gelatin/PGA	Vascular tissue engineering, Regeneration in vivo applications	Hajiali et al. (2011)
Traditional ES	PCL/PGA	Soft tissue engineering	Aghdam et al. (2012)
Traditional ES	PLA/PGA	Osteochondral bsiodegradable implants	Athanasiou et al. (2007)
Traditional ES	Chitin/PGA	Tissue engineering scaffolds	Park et al. (2006) and Jayakumar et al. (2011)

Table 3 Biomedical applications of electrospun PGA composite NFs

carried out in phosphate-buffered saline (pH \sim 7.2). The hydrolytic cleavage of PGA in the as-spun NFs was observed that is mainly due to the presence of chitin which is hydrophilic in nature. The cytocompatibility and cell behavior assay of chitin/PGA NFs were evaluated using normal human epidermal fibroblasts (NHEF) seeded on the NF scaffolds. The chitin/PGA NFs with the composition of 75/25 and BSA coating exhibited extraordinary cell attachment and spreading on NHEF, making it potential tissue engineering scaffolds (Jayakumar et al. 2011). In vitro degradation studies on non-porous ultrafine PLLA/PGA NFs were carried out by You et al. (2005). The degradation rates of the prepared ultrafine PLLA/PGA NFs were remarkably decreased with increasing content of PLLA since the PLLA has lower degradation rate as compared to PGA. Their inference on degradation rate was that the non-porous PGA > porous PGA/PLLA (90/10) > porous PGA/PLLA (50/50) > porous PGA/PLLA (30/70) which was mainly because of autocatalytic hydrolysis. Table 3 shows various biomedical applications of electrospun PGA composite NFs.

2.4 Biomedical Applications of Polylactic-co-Glycolic Acid-Based Electrospun Composite Nanofibers

PLGA has been approved by FDA for a variety of biomedical applications due to its excellent biodegradability and biocompatibility (Makadia and Siegel 2011; Danhier et al. 2012; Kim et al. 2003). PLGA with varying MW ranging from 10 to 100 KDa and molar ratios of lactide to glycolide is available globally. PLGA is commonly synthesized by ring opening copolymerization using twelve different monomers, i.e., the cyclic dimers of glycolic acid and lactic acid. PLGA is an amorphous polymer with degradation rates of 50–100 days or even up to 1 year in some cases. The fastest half-life degradation of PLGA copolymers with 50:50 lactide: glycolide is between 50 and 60 days (Ansary et al. 2014). PLGA is soluble in several organic solvents. It can also be easily electrospun into nano-/micro-fibrous mats to form a randomly oriented, non-woven scaffold. It is hydrophobic in nature when compared

to the natural ECM and hence cannot interact with cells and does not have the required functional groups for bonding with the biologically active molecules. PLGA has subunits that contain elevated levels of methyl functional groups making it even more hydrophobic (Croll et al. 2004). PLGA can be synthesized in different weight ratios of lactide and glycolide during polymerization (e.g., 75:25 PLGA contains 75% lactic acid and 25% glycolic acid). Lower MW (<10 KDa) PLGA can be synthesized from the polycondensation of LA and GA at temperatures greater than 120 °C under the complete water removal conditions (Gentile et al. 2014). ROP combines lactide and glycolide using metal catalysts (tin (II) 2-ethyl hexanoate, tin (II) alkoxides, or aluminum isopropoxide) at the high temperature ranging between 130 and 220 °C to yield high MW PLGA. The SnOct₂ is the most commonly used catalyst and a food additive (Kowalski et al. 2000).

Recently, Li et al. (2011) proposed a novel mechanism to yield a repeating sequence of PLGA with different tacticities using 1,3-diisopropylcarbodiimide (DIC) and 4-(dimethylamine) pyridinium p-toluenesulfonate (DPTS) as initiators. The resulting PLGA with a sequence and stereochemistry was highly controlled that allowed to tailor and reduce the hydrolysis rate (Gentile et al. 2014). The crystallinity of PLGA mainly depends on its block structure and molar ratios and the T_g of PLGA range from 40 to 60 °C. PLGA containing higher lactide contents can be easily soluble in chlorinated solvents while the PLGA with higher glycolide contents can be dissolved readily in fluorinated solvents such as HFIP (Pavot et al. 2014). Lactide-rich PLGA copolymer is less hydrophilic in nature as LA is more hydrophobic than GA and thereby the degradation rate is more gradual. Generally, the degradation rate will be slower for polymers with low MW, high hydrophilic nature, high amorphous nature, and also for copolymers with higher glycolide content (Mirakabad et al. 2014; Kim et al. 2004). The LA and GA under normal physiological conditions are produced as by-products of various metabolic pathways in the body. The toxicity in the body is almost negligible; since PLGA undergoes degradation by simple hydrolysis in the body, making it ideal for drug delivery, bone regeneration, etc. Also, PLGA can be used for producing various biomedical devices (Pavot et al. 2014; Mirakabad et al. 2014). One of the main advantages of PLGA NS is that they can be easily complexed with hydrophilic molecules for modifying the surface and internal morphology of the NFs for delivering a payload of hydrophilic/hydrophobic drugs. The morphology, porosity, and composition of PLGA can be altered by controlling its degradation kinetics (Stevanoviae et al. 2007).

PLGA in the microspheres and nanoparticles form is extensively used for sustained drug release such as anticancer, antibiotics, peptide, and protein drugs (human growth hormone, BSA, insulin, lysozymes). PLGA is highly biocompatible and biodegradable polyester that is commonly used as a biomaterial for a variety of DDS in the form of blends, films, matrices, microspheres, nanoparticles etc. PLGA nanoparticles are used for delivering various drugs such as antipsychotics, anesthetics, antibiotics, antiparasitics, antitumors, hormones, and proteins (Gilding and Reed 1979). The MW of PLGA influences the mechanical strength of the polymer used for formulating a drug delivery device. The physical property also affects the degradation rate and hydrolysis of PLGA. The crystallinity of the PLGA directly influences the mechanical properties, swelling behavior, hydrolysis, and biodegradability (Mirakabad et al. 2014; Lee et al. 2014).

Xin et al. (2007) synthesized PLGA via ES with 85:15 molar ratio of PLA: PGA. The PLGA non-woven fibers were obtained with an average diameter of 760 ± 210 nm and tested for viability, growth, and differentiation of hMSCs, their osteogenic (hMSCs-Ob) and derivatives of chondrogenic (hMSCs-Ch). The SEM micrographs demonstrated that the PLGA NFs were well attached to the hMSCs, hMSCs-Ob, and hMSCs-Ch. The authors suggested the electrospun PLGA MFs for tissue engineering applications. Wang et al. (2014) fabricated recombinant fibronectins (rFN)/Cadherin (CDH) loaded collagen/PLGA NS and estimated their effects on the differentiation and adhesion of hMSCs. The scaffold efficiency was assessed by investigating the viability, morphology, and osteogenic gene expression levels of hMSCs. The rFN/CDH discharge from PLGA NFs was examined using liquid chromatography-mass spectroscopy. Both rFN and CDH improve the osteogenesis and cell adhesion. It was noted that the controlled and sustained discharge of rFN/CDHs improves the proliferation of hMSCs and also induces osteogenic gene expression. The hMSCs differentiation into osteoblasts may be induced by rFN/CDHs, and hence, the rFN/CDH loaded collagen/PLGA NFs have great potential in bone tissue engineering.

Ajalloueian et al. (2014) prepared a novel CS/PLGA blended NFs through an emulsion ES process with PVA as an emulsifier. The extraction of PVA from the as-spun NFs resulted in CS/PLGA NFs as the final product. The CS content in PLGA solution was adjusted from 0 to 33%. It was found that the CS/PLGA nanofibrous mats are more hydrophilic in nature than the pure PLGA nanofibrous mats. Further, the tensile strength of CS/PLGA NFs in dry and wet conditions is 4.94 and 4.21 MPa implying that these NFs are very much strong for various biomedical applications. Also, the CS/PLGA NFs enhance the fibroblast attachment and proliferation as compared to neat PLGA NFs as revealed from cell structural studies. Thus, the authors concluded that the CS/PLGA NFs can be potentially used for skin tissue regeneration. Heo et al. (2014) prepared HA/PLGA NFs via ES and the morphological studies revealed that the PLGA NFs resembled the natural ECM and also showed the presence of HA. The cell adhesion test showed that the gelatin adheres well to the electrospun NFs. The electrospun HA/PLGA NFs used along with gelatin are suitable for bone repair applications.

Yu et al. (2015) used carbon nanotubes (CNTs) as carriers to load an anticancer drug (DOX) which was then incorporated into PLGA NFs via ES to form a DOX @ CNTs/PLGA NFs (Fig. 12). The release profiles of DOX-loaded NFs were studied, and the in vitro antitumor effectiveness on HeLa cells was detected. The release of DOX was sustained and controlled from the electrospun NF mats, making it suitable for biomedical applications where the drug molecule is required to maintain long-term effectiveness against cancer. The release profiles also revealed that the DOX can be incorporated into inner cavities or on the outside surface of the CNTs, so as to hinder the initial burst release of DOX. The electrospun DOX @ CNT/PLGA NFs also effectively restricts the cell viability of HeLa cells in vitro

Fig. 12 ES process of DOX @ CNTs/PLGA composite NFs (Yu et al. 2015). Copyright 2015. Reproduced under creative common license

Fig. 13 Cell viability of

specimens with different DOX concentrations

2015. Reproduced under

creative common license

(Yu et al. 2015). Copyright

HeLa cells of various



(Fig. 13). Electrospun DOX @ CNTs/PLGA composite NFs can be used for chemotherapy in clinical cancer treatment because of the long-term drug release. Wei et al. (2012) synthesized a fluorescein isothiocyanate–dextran (FITC-D)/PLGA NF composite scaffolds which were dissolved in water and emulsified into the PLGA/oil phase for emulsion ES process. The core–shell structure of the prepared NFs helped in the controlled release of the model drug from the NFs. In the first 2 weeks, the burst release profile was up to 60% after which the NFs displayed a release profile of about 1% for the next 4 consecutive weeks. Thus, the electrospun FITC drugs loaded PLGA NFs exhibited a release profile suitable for site-specific drug release systems (Thangamani et al. 2017).

Khalil et al. (2013) prepared and characterized electrospun Ag NPs/PLGA composite NFs for biomedical applications. Ag NPs of particle size 5-10 nm were incorporated into PLGA matrix without any chemical and structural modifications to form an organic-inorganic nanocomposite. The ES parameters were controlled by optimizing the applied voltage to 20 kV, tip-collector distance of 14 cm, and solution feed rate of 0.5 ml/h to form Ag NPs/PLGA NFs. The size of the NFs was 50-100 nm. The authors suggested the use of Ag NPs/PLGA composite NFs as an internal aid for water/air filter membranes and for long-lasting antimicrobial wound dressings. Woo et al. (2010) examined the porous electrospun PLGA NFs containing (1,3)-(1,6)- β -D-glucan (β -glucan) and their influence on adhesion, proliferation, migration, collagen gel contraction, cytotoxicity assay of adult human dermal fibroblast (aHDF) and adipose tissue-derived stem cell (ADSC). The pure β-glucans and the porous β-glucan/PLGA NFs supported and improved the cellular responses, proliferation, and migration of HDFs and ADSCs. The cytotoxicity assay revealed that the porous β-glucan/PLGA NFs are biologically safe for enhancing wound healings. Song et al. (2012) fabricated and analyzed the dual drug-loaded mesoporous silica nanoparticles (MSNs)/PLGA composite NF mats via ES. The dual model drug, viz. fluorescein (FLU) and rhodamine B (RHB), was loaded into the MSNs/PLGA during the ES process. The schematic diagram of the ES process wherein the dual drugs are loaded into the MSNs/PLGA NFs are depicted in Fig. 14.



Fig. 14 Schematic diagram of the ES process wherein the dual model drugs are loaded into the MSNs/PLGA NFs (Song et al. 2012). Copyright 2012. Reproduced with permission from Elsevier Ltd.

The amount of FLU was kept constant throughout the experiment (5% wt%), whereas the different amount of RHB was loaded to MSNs (5, 15, and 25% wt%) to study their releasing properties. The release profiles of the dual model drug-loaded electrospun NF mats revealed that the FLU and RHB discharge from the FLU/ RHB-loaded MSNs/PLGA NFs exhibit separate and distinct profiles. It was observed that most of the FLU was discharged promptly during the 324 h of the trial period while the RHB displayed controlled and sustained release behavior over the given trial period. The sustained release of RHB in the given trial period was because of the presence of MSNs in the NF mats. The release rates were evaluated depending on the location of the drugs in the electrospun NF mats. The FLU was located in the PLGA matrix, and hence, the release rate was rapid. The RHB displayed a sustained release behavior, mainly because of the hindrance from the MSNs and polymer matrix around the MSNs. The MSNs content in the dual drug-loaded mats controls the RHB release rate. The dual drug-loaded electrospun MSNs/PLGA NF mats when compared to the single drug-loaded system is expected to show different release kinetics which can be used for functional wound dressing and tissue engineering applications. Several biomedical applications of electrospun PLGA composite NFs are given in Table 4.

ES type	PLGA-based composites NFs	Biomedical applications	References		
Traditional ES	PLGA	Tissue engineering, 3D carrier vehicle for lineage specific cells	Xin et al. (2007)		
Coaxial ES	rFN/CDHscollagen/ PLGA	Bone tissue engineering	Wang et al. (2014)		
Emulsion ES	CS/PLGA	Skin tissue regeneration	Ajalloueian et al. (2014)		
Traditional ES	HA/PLGA	Bone repair	Heo et al. (2014)		
Traditional ES	DOX @ CNTs/ PLGA	Chemotherapy in clinical cancer treatment, drug release	Yu et al. (2015)		
Emulsion ES	FITC-Dextran/ PLGA	Site-specific drug release systems	Wei et al. (2012)		
Traditional ES	Ag NPs/PLGA	Internal aid for water/air filter membranes, wound dressing agents	Khalil et al. (2013)		
Traditional ES	β-glucan/porous PLGA	Wound healing	Woo et al. (2010)		
Traditional ES	FLU and RHB- MSNs/PLGA	DDS, functional wound dressing, tissue engineering	Song et al. (2012)		

Table 4 Biomedical applications of electrospun PLGA composite NFs
2.5 Biomedical Applications of Polycaprolactone-Based Electrospun Composite Nanofibers

PCL is biodegradable polyester with a melting point ~60 °C and T_g about -60 °C. PCL can be shaped or molded with bare hands. It can also be reheated, reshaped again and again (Mohamed and Yusoh 2016). It resembles nylon when it gets hardened. PCL is considered as non-hazardous, biodegradable and can be colored with fruit colors. The modulus of elasticity is typically around 440 MPa with the tensile strength approximately around 16 MPa. PCL, which is compatible with most of the materials, is usually mixed with starch for lowering its cost and increasing its biodegradability. ROP using catalyst (SnOct₂) is a common method of preparing PCL (Woodruff and Hutmacher 2010). Although PCL evokes a very mild inflammatory response, the intrinsic hydrophobic nature of PCL limits the cell attachment and growth (Choong et al. 2004). For enhancing the hydrophilicity of PCL homopolymer, it is copolymerized with hydrophilic blocks (Li et al. 2002). This copolymerization of PCL with a hydrophilic block enhances cell attachment and hydrophilic degradation. PCL-PEG-PCL triblocks at particular compositional ratios of PCL: PEG offers excellent support for human endothelial cell growth. In the human body, PCL undergoes hydrolysis of its ester linkages and gets degraded, thereby conquering immense attention as an implantable biomaterial. It has been found that the degradation rate of PCL is much slower than that of PLA. PCL has been declared as a safe polymer by FDA and can be used in the human body, for example, drug delivery device, suture, or adhesion barrier (Mohamed and Yusoh 2016). It is also used as scaffolds for tissue repair, guided bone, and tissue regeneration (GBR). Numerous drugs have been encapsulated within PCL beads for controlled discharge and targeted drug delivery. PCL has been vastly used in dentistry field as a night guard component and in the root canal filling due to its excellent biodegradability (Hirashi et al. 2007). Because of its hydrophobicity, PCL degrades very slowly and hence becomes a potential candidate for applications such as controlled DDS and implants for orthopedic surgery (Cohn et al. 2002).

Boakye et al. (2015) fabricated Keratin/Magnesium oxide (MgO)/PCL composite NFs by ES with diameters of as-spun NFs ranges from 0.2 to 2.2 μ m. Keratin was successfully extracted from human hair by modifying the usual methods. The novel Keratin/MgO/PCL composite NFs possessing suitable structural and mechanical property is highly suggested for tissue engineering. Lee et al. (2008) fabricated collagen (type 1)/PCL NFs using ES for vascular tissue engineering applications. The obtained NS displayed very good biocompatibility, cell growth, and cell proliferation in vivo. Fujihara et al. (2005) prepared a GBR membrane using CaCO₃/PCL composite NFs via layer-by-layer (LBL) ES. The GBR membrane obtained using LBL ES method constituted of two layers of a CaCO₃/PCL and a layer of PCL NFs for mechanical support having high tensile strength. Hiep et al. (2010) synthesized PLGA/PCL copolymer NFs with different compositions. The cytocompatibility test revealed that the biocompatibility of electrospun NF mats was enhanced with increasing content of PLGA. SEM micrographs clearly showed the in vitro adhesion and proliferation of fibroblast cells on the prepared NF mats. The enhancement in the mechanical properties of the electrospun NFs was observed due to the increasing concentration of PLGA, making it a trustable bio-material for biomedical applications.

PCL with and without TiO₂ was electrospun to form NFs with a diameter of 200–800 nm (Ghosal et al. 2014). The NFs were coated with collagen solution (10 and 20 mg/ml) by overnight soaking. The collagen-coated NS exhibited improved hydrophilicity when compared to the uncoated ones. The collagen coating improved the cell adhesion and proliferation. However, the presence of collagen decreases the tensile strength of the scaffold to some extent. Vaz et al. (2005) fabricated bilayered electrospun NS consisting of PLA as the sheath and PCL as the core for bio-mimicking the morphological and mechanical features of a native blood vessel scaffold. The NS cultured on a mouse fibroblasts and human myofibroblasts supported proper cell attachment, spread, and growth. Zhang et al. (2005b) performed the ES method for fabricating ultrafine gelatin NFs and ultrafine gelatin/PCL NFs for investigating the efficiency of NS for bone marrow stromal cell culture. The scaffolds were suitable for surface adhesions and cell migrations up to 114 µm inside the scaffolds.

Repanas et al. (2015) created PEG/PCL NS using ES for evaluating its suitability as a DDS. In this study, dipyridamole (DPA) is used as a model drug. PEG-containing two different chain lengths were used. A comparison between the DPA loaded NFs and without DPA loaded NFs was studied. The DPA loaded NS and that with higher MW was smooth in nature having an average diameter of around 586.75 \pm 204.79 nm. Young's modulus was around 0.61 \pm 0.05 mm with an ultimate tensile strength (UTS) as 16.79 ± 3.08 MPa. DPA contained in NFs usually undergoes two stages of cumulative release: an initial burst followed by slower Fickian diffusion (release exponent n = 0.432). Liao et al. (2006) incorporated bovine and platelet-derived growth factor bb (PDGF-bb) in aligned PCL NFs by coaxial ES for demonstrating the controlled release and bioactivity retention. Zhang et al. (2006) successfully incorporated model protein (fluorescein isothiocyanate-conjugated bovine serum albumin (fitcBSA)) and PEG into the PCL NFs using ES. The fitcBSA loaded into PCL was simply achieved by changing the inner flow rate and keeping constant outer flow rate. Core-sheath fitcBSA-PEG/ PCL blended NFs exhibited better sustainability when compared to normal electrospun fitcBSA-PEG/PCL NFs. Zhang et al. (2004) prepared core-shell NFs with PCL as the sheath and gelatin as the core. PCL NFs are encapsulated with two different types of medically pure drugs, i.e., gentamycin sulfate (GS), a water-soluble antibiotic to kill bacteria, and resveratrol (RT), an alcohol-soluble antibacterial antioxidant present in several types of plants using coaxial ES for drug delivery. The release profile of RT and GS was controlled and sustained with no burst release (Huang et al. 2006a).

Chellamani et al. (2014) successfully created PCL NFs and TCH/PCL NFs via ES for assessing their antibacterial properties, in vitro drug release study and wound healing ability. The TCH was added into 15% PCL solutions at varying concentrations of 0.5, 1, 1.5, and 2%. The ES setup was optimized with an applied voltage

ES type	PCL-based composite NFs	Biomedical applications	References
Traditional ES	MgO/PCL NFs and K/MgO/ PCL	Tissue engineering	Boakye et al. (2015)
Layer-by-layer (LBL) ES	CaCO ₃ /PCL	Guided bone regeneration	Fujihara et al. (2005)
Traditional ES	TiO ₂ /PCL	Tissue engineering	Ghosal et al. (2014)
Coaxial ES	PLA/PCL	Vascular scaffolds	Vaz et al. (2005)
Traditional ES	Gelatin/CS/PCL	Wound healing	Zhang et al. (2005b)
Traditional ES	DPA-PEG/PCL	Drug delivery	Repanas et al. (2015)
Coaxial ES	Bovine and platelet PDGF-bb/PEG/PCL	Drug delivery	Liao et al. (2006)
Coaxial ES	fitcBSA/PEG/PCL	Drug delivery	Zhang et al. (2006)
Coaxial ES	GS/RT/PCL	Drug delivery	Huang et al. (2006a)
Traditional ES	TCH/PCL	DDS, wound healing	Chellamani et al. (2014)

Table 5 Biomedical applications of electrospun PCL composite NFs

of 20 kV, tip–collector distance of 10 cm and solution flow rate of 3 ml/h. The morphology of both drug-free and drug-loaded PCL NFs remained unaltered. The TCH-loaded PCL NFs inhibited the bacterial growth and healed the wound 50% faster than standard wound dressing procedure. This indicates that TCH-loaded PCL NFs can perform a dual role as a DDS and also as a wound healing agent. The incorporation of 1,7-bis (3,4-dimethoxyphenyl)-5-hydroxy-1,4,6-heptatrien-3-one into collagen/PCL electrospun NFs facilitates cell migration, growth, and differentiation which is suitable for wound healing applications (Chong et al. 2013). The biomedical applications of various electrospun PCL composite NFs are discussed in Table 5.

2.6 Biomedical Applications of Polyethylene Glycol-Based Electrospun Composite Nanofibers

PEG or PEO is a water-soluble and non-toxic polyether which possesses numerous applications from industrial manufacturing to medicine. PEG, in its common form, is a linear or branched polymer having hydroxyl groups. As different applications need varying chain lengths, PEG and PEO possess MW roughly below 20,000 g/mol and above 20,000 g/mol, respectively. The physical properties of PEG and PEO are different while their chemical properties are almost similar. The different forms of

PEG are available, and their properties mainly depend upon the initiator used during polymerization. Monofunctional methyl ether PEG or methoxypolyethylene glycol (MPEG) is the most commonly used initiator (French et al. 2009; Roberts et al. 2002). The purification and separation of PEG are very difficult, and hence, its cost is ten to thousand-fold greater than that of polydispersed PEG (Winger et al. 2009).

PEG is synthesized by reaction of ethylene oxide with water, ethylene glycol or its oligomers with acidic or basic catalysts used for initiating the reaction. Ethylene glycol and its oligomers are preferred as a precursor in comparison with water because they permit the formation of low dispersity polymers. The ratio of reactants decides the polymer chain length. The polymerization mechanism can be anionic or cationic depending on the catalyst used. For PEG with a low polydispersity, anionic reactions are preferred. Anionic ROP of ethylene oxide is a common method used for the synthesis of PEG (Roberts et al. 2002; Winger et al. 2009; Louis 2012). In pharmaceutical products, PEG is often used as an excipient (Smolinske 1992). PEG is being used in lubricating eye drops (Kovar et al. 2009) and also finds application in chemical, biological, commercial, and industrial sectors. The covalent grafting of PEG derivative onto molecules called as PEGylation specifically enhances the water solubility and biocompatibility which is useful for developing drugs (Ni et al. 2011). PEGylated products especially used for medical applications undergo extensive characterization analysis to check regulatory compliance (Bai and Liu 2014; Baker et al. 2014).

Ni et al. (2011) blended the hybrid amphiphilic PEG and hydrophobic PLA to form NS. The authors observed that PLA/PEG NS showed improved regular and continuous morphology in comparison with pristine PLA fiber mats. Mesenchymal stem cell cultured on prepared PLA/PEG NS favored attachment and proliferation. The MSCs also penetrated through the interstitial pores in the NS and thus bonded exceptionally well with the surrounding. The prepared NS was implanted into the thigh muscle pouches of rats that presented a very good biocompatibility making it useful for bone tissue engineering application. Talebian et al. (2014) prepared a novel hybrid of CS/1.2 wt% PEO and bioactive glass (BG) via ES. The addition of BG into CS/PEO NFs improved the mechanical property as well as hydrophilicity of the NS as evaluated from tensile strength and water contact angle measurements. MTT assay was used for assessing the in vitro cell viability of hMSCs on NFs. This cell adhesion test revealed that the hMSCs were viable at several points on the BG/ CS/PEO NS. The BG present in the NS improved the alkaline phosphate activity of hMSCs cultured NS after 14 days when compared to that of pure CS and PEO NS. The authors recommended the BG/CS/PEO NS relevant for tissue engineering applications.

PLLA/PEG NFs were successfully electrospun with fiber diameter ranging between 100 nm and 6 μ m (Spasova et al. 2007). The cytocompatibility assay of the NS was tested on human dermal fibroblasts cells and the osteoblast-like cell line MG63. It was observed that both the types of cells attached uniformly and almost equally with the PLLA/PEG NS. For scaffolds containing higher PEG content (PLLA/PEG ~ 70/30), the long-term culturing of osteoblasts-like cells tends to

organize in tissue-like structure. Thus, the PLLA/hydrophilic PEG NFs can be suggested as promising new biocompatible scaffolds for tissue engineering applications. Polyhydrobutyrate (PHB) and PHB/PEO NFs with various concentration of chlorhexidine (CHX) were synthesized for drug delivery applications (Fernandes et al. 2014). The antibacterial activity of electrospun PHB and PHB/PEO NFs in the presence and absence of CHX against *Escherichia Coli* (*E. Coli*) and *Staphylococcus aureus* (*S. Aureus*) were investigated. The antibacterial assay revealed that electrospun NFs containing CHX displayed excellent bactericidal activity. PHB/PEO containing 1% CHX exhibited higher CHX discharge levels and equivalently good antibacterial activity in comparison with PHB/PEO containing 5 and 10 wt% CHX. The NFs containing 1 wt% CHX were assessed for bacterial performance by colony forming units (CFU) wherein 100 and 99.69% reductions of *E. Coli* and *S. Aureus*, respectively, were accomplished.

PCL NFs (sheath portion) with PEG incorporated PDGF-bb (core portion) were fabricated via coaxial ES. The synthesized NFs containing the growth factor were released in a controlled manner for about 2 months retaining its biological activity. Also, the discharge of the growth factor was highly dependent on the MW of PEG (Xu et al. 2005). Xu et al. (2006) incorporated the anticancer drug BCNU (generic name: carmustine) into electrospun PLLA/PEG NF mats with an average diameter of 690-130 nm dependent on the drug loading concentration of 5-30 wt%, respectively. The increase in BCNU loading increases the release rate and initial burst release. The authors examined the impact of BCNU release from the PLLA/ PEG NF mats on the rat glioma C6 cells. The BCNU loaded NF mats exhibited anticancer activity for a period of 72 h while the unloaded NF mats exhibited no anticancer activity and the naked BCNU lost its anticancer activity after 48 h. The authors also concluded that the drug encapsulation within the NFs protected it from degradation, and also the controlled release rate of BCNU from the NF mats was observed. Mirzaei et al. (2014) incorporated genipin into CS/PEO solution (90/10) to prepare electrospun NFs which were exposed to water vapor for complete cross-linking. The cytotoxicity of genipin cross-linked NFs was tested on human fibroblast cells which exhibit least toxic effects on fibroblast cells and the moderate amount in genipin. A decent interaction between the fibroblast cells and genipin cross-linked NFs was observed making CS/PEO electrospun NFs as a potential candidate for tissue engineering and wound dressing scaffolds. Xu et al. (2010) successfully incorporated TCH into PLA/PEG NFs via ES, without losing its bioactivity. The drug-loaded NS exhibited controlled release of TCH for a period of 6 days. Antimicrobial studies of TCH-loaded NFs inhibited the S. Aureus growth. As the content of antibiotic drug increased in the electrospun membranes, its antibacterial effectiveness was enhanced. The electrospun NFs provide mechanical barriers and have the capacity to deliver the antibiotics in a sustained manner, making it useful for wound dressing of ulcers caused by diabetes or any other disease such as malignant wounds. The various biomedical applications of electrospun PEG composite NFs are given in Table 6.

ES type	PEG- or PEO-based composites NFs	Biomedical applications	References
Traditional ES	PLA/PEG	Tissue engineering	Ni et al. (2011)
Traditional ES	CS/BG/PEO	Tissue engineering	Talebian et al. (2014)
Traditional ES	PLLA/PEG	Tissue engineering	Spasova et al. (2007)
Traditional ES	CHX loaded PHB/ PEO	Drug delivery	Fernandes et al. (2014)
Coaxial ES	PDGF-bb/PCL/PEG	Drug delivery	Xu et al. (2005)
Traditional ES	BCNU/PLLA/PEG	Drug delivery for cancer treatment	Xu et al. (2006)
Traditional ES	Genipin/CS/PEO	Wound dressing, tissue engineering	Mirzaei et al. (2014)
Traditional ES	TCH-loaded PLA/ PEG	Wound dressing for ulcers caused by diabetes or any other disease, malignant wounds	Xu et al. (2010)

Table 6 Biomedical applications of electrospun PEG composite NFs

2.7 Biomedical Applications of Polyurethane-Based Electrospun Composite Nanofibers

PU contains organic units joined by carbamate or urethane link that is available in the form of both thermoset and thermoplastic. The urethane linkages in PU backbone may also contain ester, ether, urea, and aromatic rings. PU is generally prepared by chemical reaction of a di/polyisocyanate and a diol or polyol. Usually, the isocyanate and polyols used for making PUs contain two or more functional groups. The use of isocyanates in making PUs is minimized because of their toxicity. Recently, non-isocyanate-based PUs (NIPUs) have been included as a separate important class of PUs to lessen the severity of health and environment issues. PU has been used for making high resilience foam seats and gaskets, durable elastomeric wheels and tires, synthetic fibers, hard plastic parts such as in electronic instruments, condoms, and high-performance adhesives (Delebecq et al. 2013).

Unnithan et al. (2012) incorporated ciprofloxacin HCl (cipHCl) model drug into the Dextran/PU NFs using ES for testing the antibacterial activity. The interaction parameters such as viability, proliferation, and attachment between the fibroblasts and the Dextran/PU NS and cipHCl/Dextran/PU NS were examined. The drug-containing NS exhibited favorable cell interaction with the fibroblasts. The nanofibrous mat showed a very decent bacterial activity against both gram-positive and gram-negative bacteria. The authors suggested this biomaterial scaffold for wound dressing applications. Unnithan et al. (2014) blended PU, cellulose acetate (CA), and Zein to prepare NFs having a diameter around 400–700 nm via ES. The PU was blended with CA and Zein to obtain good hydrophilicity, excellent cell attachment, proliferation, and blood clotting ability. The streptomycin sulfate was loaded into the NFs to examine its antimicrobial ability against the gram-negative and gram-positive bacteria. The viability, proliferation, and attachment between fibroblasts and the CA/PU NFs and CA/Zein/PU NFs were also investigated. The blood clotting ability was very much enhanced in CA/Zein/PU NFs in comparison with the pure PU NFs. It was also found that the presence of CA and Zein in the NFs enhanced its hydrophilicity, bioactivity and offered a moist environment for the wound to recover fast (Deshmukh et al. 2017d).

The synthetic PU and natural gelatin were blended into NFs via simple ES method which produced a mean diameter of 0.4–2.1 µm (Kim et al. 2009a). When the gelatin content was gradually decreased, there was an increase in contact angle with a concurrent decrease in water uptake of the prepared gelatin/PU NS. An increase in the gelatin content increases the cell proliferation. The NS exhibited elastic nature due to the increasing content of PU. The authors suggested the gelatin/PU blended NS to be useful in a wound dressing. Wang et al. (2012) prepared PU, heparin loaded gelatin blazered NFs using ES for examining its biocompatibility. PU is known for its elastic and mechanical properties but exhibits hydrophobicity. Gelatin improves the endothelial cell proliferation. Heparin is a highly sulfated linear glucosamine that functions to prevent thrombosis. The PU formed the external layer while the gelatin-heparin formed the inner layer of the NF from ES process. Higher platelet adhesion to external PU layer was observed in comparison with the inner heparin layer which shows that the probability of clot formation within the NS is lesser. Figure 15 depicts the SEM micrographs of the adhesion of platelet on the PU NS and cross-linked gelatin-5 wt% heparin NS, respectively.



Fig. 15 SEM micrographs of platelet adhesion on a PU NS and b cross-linked gelatin-5 wt% heparin NS (Wang et al. 2012). Copyright 2012. Reproduced with permission from Springer Ltd.

Wang et al. (2016a) prepared a blend of PU, Keratin, and Ag NPs' NFs using ES for wound dressing applications. Keratin was obtained by extraction from human hair. The extracted Keratin was chemically modified using nondiabetic acid to yield S-carboxymethyl Keratin which was mixed with PU and electrospun. Then, the Ag NPs were prepared in situ to obtain Ag NPs/Keratin/PU NF mats. The addition of Keratin accelerated the fibroblast cell proliferation. The Ag NPs loaded into the NFs did not alter the cytocompatibility. Also, the Ag NPs/Keratin/PU NF mats exhibited good antibacterial activity. The NF mats accelerated wound recovery than that of conventional gauze sponge dressing. It was observed that the synthesized Ag NPs/ Keratin/PU NF mats exhibited excellent biocompatibility, antibacterial activity, and negligible inflammatory responses, making them suitable for wound dressing applications. Kim et al. (2014) loaded the biocompatible Propolis (a natural resin) loaded PU NFs using ES. The small quantity of Propolis in the PU matrix improved the hydrophilicity and mechanical strength of the NF membranes. The cytocompatibility and cell behavior assay of the NF mats revealed that the fibroblasts were well seeded to the matrix. The results also claimed that the addition of Propolis into PU matrix increased its cell compatibility. Also, it was found that the NF mats had efficient antimicrobial performance. These desirable properties of the synthesized Propolis/PU NFs offer a promising role in wound dressing and skin tissue engineering. Verreck et al. (2003) loaded drugs Itraconazole and Ketanserin into PU solutions to form NS for wound healing applications. Nanoclay (MMT)/PU nanocomposite NFs were synthesized using ES. Antiseptic drug (Chlorhexidine Acetate) was loaded on to nanoclay which was further incorporated into PU NFs for topical drug delivery applications. The main aim of this study was to understand the release behavior of loaded NFs using nanoclay (Saha et al. 2014). Table 7 depicts various biomedical applications of electrospun PU composite NFs.

Type of electrospinning (ES)	PU-based composite NFs	Biomedical applications	References
Traditional ES	CA/Zein/PU	Fast wound recovery	Unnithan et al. (2014)
Traditional ES	Gelatin/PU	Wound dressing	Kim et al. (2009)
Coaxial ES	Heparin/gelatin/PU	DDS	Wang et al. (2012)
Traditional ES	Ag NPs/Keratin/PU	Wound dressing	Wang et al. (2016a)
Traditional ES	Propolis/PU	Wound dressing, skin tissue engineering	Kim et al. (2014)
Traditional ES	Itraconazole/ ketanserin/PU	Wound healing	Verreck et al. (2003)
Traditional ES	Chlorhexidine/ nanoclay/PU	Drug release systems	Saha et al. (2014)

Table 7 Biomedical applications of electrospun PU composite NFs

2.8 Biomedical Applications of Polyethyleneimine-Based Electrospun Composite Nanofibers

PEI contains repeating units of an amine group and two carbon aliphatic CH₂–CH₂ spacers. Linear PEI (L-PEI) contains secondary amine groups and the branched PEI (B-PEI) contains primary, secondary, and tertiary amino groups. In a totally branched chain, a dendric form of the amino group was reported (Yemuland and Imae 2008). The melting temperature of L-PEI ranges from 73 to 75 °C. The monomer unit of PEI is very simple which consists of a 3-membered ring (i) the 2 corners of the molecule possesses -CH₂ linkages and (ii) the third corner consists of the secondary amine group (=NH). This monomer can be transformed into a highly branched polymer with about (i) 25% primary amine groups, (ii) 50% secondary amine groups, and (iii) 25% tertiary amine groups, in the presence of a catalyst. ROP of aziridine is used for the production of B-PEI (Zintchenko et al. 2008). The post-modification of polymers such as poly(2-oxazolines) can be used to synthesize L-PEI. Furthermore, the hydrolysis of poly(2-ethyl-2-oxazoline) yields L-PEI (Brissault et al. 2003). PEI is used for enhancing the attachment of weakly anchoring cells in cell culture. PEI being a cationic polymer easily gets attracted to the negatively charged outer surfaces of cells, enabling stronger attachments between the cells and the plates coated with PEI (Liu and Liu 2015; Saraf et al. 2010).

Kim et al. (2009b) prepared the PCL/PEI blend NFs via ES to overcome the limitation of high hydrophobic nature of pristine PCL NFs. The PEI being a cationic polymer enhances the cell adhesion. The fiber diameter of the as-prepared NF mats ranges between 150.4 ± 33 and 220.4 ± 32 nm. The PCL/PEI NFs exhibited a good mechanical property, adequate porosity and improved hydrophilicity. The excellent hydrophilic properties of PEI improved the cell adhesion and cell proliferation of the as-spun NF mats, making it suitable scaffolds for tissue engineering applications. Wu et al. (2015) fabricated a novel biocompatible PVA/CO₂ modified PEI (CO₂-PEI) composite NFs using ES process. The CO_2 is used for modifying the surface of the PEI for reducing the cytotoxicity of the PEI. The fiber diameter ranges from 265 ± 53 nm to 423 ± 80 nm. The cytotoxicity assay of the as-spun NF mats was evaluated using the cell growth and proliferation of normal mice Schwann cells which revealed that the NS promoted the cell growth and proliferation. Fan et al. (2016) prepared electrospun PVA/PEI NFs modified with folic acid (FA). Here, the authors cross-linked the PVA/PEI NFs by exposing it to glutaraldehyde vapor which was then modified with FA through PEG spacers and then acetylation of the fiber surface through PEI amines. Despite the surface modification of the prepared FA-modified NFs, its morphology remained smooth and uniform. The hemolysis assay confirmed the good hemocompatibility of the FA-modified NFs. The quantitative cell counting assay and confocal microscopy results bespeak that the FA-modified PVA/PEI NFs were suitable specifically for capturing cancer cells overexpressing FA receptors. Hence, the authors suggested that the FA-modified PVA/PEI NFs can be potentially used for capturing circulating tumor cells during cancer cell diagnosis.



Fig. 16 DIC images **a** focused on the top view of NHF cells, **b** focused on the 3D L-PEI NS where the cell is inserted into pores, after 5 days of culture, **c** focused on the NHF cells (Khanam et al. 2007). Copyright 2007. Reproduced with permission from Elsevier Ltd.

Vongsetskul et al. (2012) prepared composite NFs of polymethyl methacrylate (PMMA)/PEI particles embedded in PVP using ES method. 18% w/v aqueous PVP solution was blended to 2% w/v PMMA/PEI particles with different pH concentrations. The prepared solution was electrospun with applied voltages (10, 12, 14, and 16 kV), tip-collector distance of 10 cm, yielding fibers with a diameter in the range of 141-353 nm. It can be noted that the ES at pH 2 concentration of PMMA/ PEI with an applied electrical voltage of 14 kV produced smaller and uniform composite NFs, potentially useful in biomedical applications as DDS. Khanam et al. (2007) fabricated a novel biocompatible NS of cross-linked L-PEI with succinic anhydride (SA) and 1,4-butanediol di-glycidyl ether. The PEI non-woven NF mats were obtained with the diameter range of 687-1000 nm and were tested on normal human fibroblast (NHF) cells for examining their interaction and growth. The SEM, optical and fluorescence microscopy was used for studying the growth pattern of NHF cells in the NS. Figure 16 shows the differential interference contrast (DIC) images of the L-PEI NS and NHF cells. The fluorescence analysis bespeaks that the NHF cells were very well attached, spread throughout, and supported by the cross-linked L-PEI NS (Fig. 17). The authors unraveled the potential of this biomaterial scaffolds for tissue engineering application. The high surface to volume ratio of L-PEI electrospun NFs favored cell attachment by mimicking the 3D native ECM which is capable to serve as skin substitutes. Table 8 depicts the biomedical applications of electrospun PEI composite NFs.

2.9 Biomedical Applications of Polypyrrole-Based Electrospun Composite Nanofibers

The intrinsic conducting polymers (ICPs) have been given immense attention as advanced materials in the recent years. One such polymer is PPy which has been used for various applications due to its good environmental stability, simple Fig. 17 Fluorescence microscopy images of fixed NHF cells on L-PEI NS at magnifications a 10X, b 40X, c 60X (Khanam et al. 2007). Copyright 2007. Reproduced with permission from Elsevier Ltd.



synthesis, and higher conductivity in comparison with other conducting polymers (Wang et al. 2001; Nagaraj et al. 2018). The facile synthesis of PPy includes an oxidative chemical or electrochemical polymerization of pyrrole (Huang et al. 2014; Balint et al. 2014; Kaur et al. 2015). In the oxidative polymerization process, the first step includes one-electron oxidation of pyrrole to a radical cation, which then couples with another radical cation to yield the 2,2-bi-pyrrole. The repetition

ES type	PEI-based composite NFs	Biomedical applications	References
Traditional ES	PCL/PEI	Tissue engineering	Kim et al. (2009)
Traditional ES	PVA/CO ₂ modified PEI	Tissue engineering	Wu et al. (2015)
Traditional ES	FA-modified PVA/PEI	Cancer cell capturing applications	Fan et al. (2016)
Coaxial ES	PMMA/PEI	DDS	Vongsetskul et al. (2012)
Traditional ES	SA/1,4-butanediol di-glycidyl ether/L-PEI	Skin tissue engineering	Khanam et al. (2007)

Table 8 Biomedical applications of electrospun PEI composite NFs

process leads to longer chains. Electrochemical synthesis method is generally preferred for research purposes because of its simplicity, control on material thickness, geometry and location, easy doping during the process itself, wide range of available dopant ions and the geometry and location, easy doping during the process itself, wide range of available dopant ions and the generation of good quality films. Depending on the dopant type and extent, the electrical conductivity of PPy can be increased from 10^{-12} to 10^2 S/cm (Balint et al. 2014). The unique electrical property and facile synthesis of PPy make it relevant material for biomedical applications; for instance, PPy biosensors modulate cellular activities such as cell adhesion, migration, DNA production, and protein secretion (Huang et al. 2014). PPy is considered as an excellent smart biomaterial because of its rapid stimulus responsiveness, good biocompatibility and chemical stability and excellent conductivity. Currently, the PPy is used in numerous applications such as fuel cells, corrosion protection, computer displays, and microsurgical tools and as a biomaterial in neural tissue engineering, neural probes, nerve guidance channels, and blood conduits (Kaur et al. 2015; Deshmukh et al. 2015).

Sudwilai et al. (2014) prepared a new biomaterial by coating electrospun PLA with a PPy conducting polymer for neural tissue engineering. The cytotoxicity assay of PPy-coated electrospun PLA NS is found to be non-toxic in nature. The NS supported the migration of neural progenitor cells. Under electrical stimulation, the neurons devised from progenitor displayed long neurite outgrowth. PPy-coated electrospun PLA NFs also exhibited good biocompatibility with neural progenitor cells. This nanofibrous material can be used as a potential candidate for controlling progenitor cell behaviors and also may enhance neural repair. Lee et al. (2009) prepared electrically conductive NFs and examined its effect on electrical stimulation. PPy was grown on random and aligned electrospun PLGA NFs to form conductive meshes. In comparison with non-coated PLGA control meshes, the PPy-coated electrospun PLGA nanofiber meshes (Fig. 18a) favored the growth and differentiation on rat pheochromocytoma 12 (PC 12) cells and hippocampal neurons. This suggests that PLGA/PPy conductive NFs may be suitable as neuronal tissue scaffolds. The SEM image of the single strands and section of PLGA/PPy NFs is shown in Fig. 18b. PC12 cells were stimulated electrically with a potential of 10 mV/cm on PLGA/PPy scaffolds, which showed 40-50% longer neurites with Fig. 18 a Photograph of electrospun pristine PLGA nanofibrous mat (white) and electrospun PPy-coated PLGA NF mats (black); SEM image of b single strands and c section of PLGA/PPy NFs (Lee et al. 2009). Copyright 2009. Reproduced with permission from Elsevier Ltd.



40–90% more neurite formation as compared to unstimulated cells tested on the same scaffolds. The section of PLGA/PPy NFs is magnified in SEM image (Fig. 18c). It was also noted that the aligned PLGA/PPy NFs stimulated cells with longer neurites and more neurite containing cells in comparison with pure PLGA/PPy NFs. This study suggests a synergistic effect of electrical stimulation and topographical guidance in PPy-coated PLGA NFs and its potential use as neural tissue engineering scaffolds and for neural interfacing. Aznar-Cervantes et al. (2012) successfully coated silk fibroin NFs and microfibers with PPy uniform films by polymerization method for biomedical applications. The results displayed that potential of both uncoated and coated PPy electrospun silk matrices to support ahMSCs (adult hMSCs) or human fibroblasts (hFb) adherence and proliferation

ES type	PPy-based composite NFs	Biomedical applications	References
Traditional ES	PLA/PPy	Nerve tissue engineering	Suwilai et al. (2014)
Traditional ES	PLGA/PPy	Neural tissue engineering,	Lee et al. (2009)
Traditional ES	Silk fibrion/PPy	Tissue engineering	Aznar-Cervantes et al. (2012)

Table 9 Biomedical applications of electrospun conducting PPy composite NFs

in vitro. It was found that the bioactivity of fibroin mesh was better than the PPy-coated silk fibroin NS. Table 9 shows several biomedical applications of electrospun conducting PPy composite NFs.

2.10 Biomedical Applications of Polyaniline-Based Electrospun Composite Nanofibers

PANI, which is also known as aniline black, is the second most important conductive polymer after PPy. Based on its level of oxidation, it exists in three forms (i) fully oxidized pernigraniline base (PB), (ii) half oxidized emeraldine base (EB), and (iii) fully reduced leucoemeraldine base (LB). Among them, EB is the most stable and conductive form of PANI. The benefits of PANI are numerous which includes easy synthesis, low cost, high environmental stability, and the capacity to electrically shift between its conductive and resistive states by doping and de-doping process (Wang et al. 2016b). The use of PANI in biomedical fields is limited mainly because of its poor processability, lack of flexibility and non-degradability, resulting in chronic inflammation after implantation and low cell compatibility. The processing of PANI is challenging as it is poorly soluble in most of the available solvents (Kaur et al. 2015). PANI also has excellent electrical, optical, mechanical, and magnetic properties. The oxidation and protonation state of PANI control its electrical properties. There are humongous routes for preparing PANI which includes chemical routes, i.e., hard and soft physical template synthesis and several lithographic techniques (MacDiarmid 2001). There are numerous limitations in using these preparation techniques, namely requirement of post-synthesis process, relatively poor size control and morphology uniformity, the poor orientation of nanostructure arrays and high cost, has hindered their production on an industrial scale. It is found that physical routes such as ES will be suitable for mass production when compared to above-mentioned chemical routes.

The potential applications of PANI include in electrical devices, flash welding, sensors and actuators, rechargeable batteries, electromagnetic shielding devices and biomedical applications (Huang et al. 2006b). PANI is one of the most useful conducting polymers that have tremendous potential to be used as conductive

substrates for tissue engineering applications (Li et al. 2006). The tunable electroactivity of the PANI has been quite recently explored in the biological field. The pure PANI and its blended form have been found to support cell growth. PANI has been investigated as a suitable biomaterial in biomedical research fields as the oxidative state of PANI can be varied easily (Tiwari et al. 2013). PANI, like many other conductive polymers, is not naturally biodegradable. However, it can be made biodegradable by forming composites, blending PANI with a biodegradable polymer, altering its backbone to permit degradability or preparation of short PANI chains for gradual erosion (Molapo et al. 2012). Blending PANI with a biodegradable or a biocompatible polymer via ES to form NFs is found to be very useful in tissue engineering applications (Gizdavic-Nikolaidis et al. 2010). Conducting polymers usually contracts upon reduction and expand after oxidation, i.e., a reversible electrochemical response. This unique feature permits the controlled release of various kinds of drugs. Till date, only a few works have been reported on electrospun PANI blends, particularly for controlled drug delivery applications.

Li et al. (2006) prepared electrospun gelatin/PANI NS for tissue engineering applications. The gelatin/PANI was electrospun for different volume ratio of 85:15, 70:30, 55:45, and 40:60, respectively. The prepared solutions were electrospun with an applied voltage of 10 kV and the tip–collector distance of 10 cm. It was observed that an increase in the PANI content from 0 to 5% w/w reduces the fiber diameter. These observations show that addition of few percentage of PANI to gelatin results in the complete change of the physicochemical properties of gelatin. The results clearly show that the electrospun conducting gelatin/PANI NFs was cultured on H9C2 rat cardiac myoblasts which resulted in high biocompatibility, readily supported cell attachment, migration, and proliferation. The authors recommended the novel conductive gelatin/PANI NF materials as a biocompatible scaffold for tissue engineering.

Prabhakaran et al. (2011) fabricated blends of PLLA/PANI NFs via ES in the ratio of 85:15 with a fiber diameter of 195 ± 30 nm. This NF mats exhibited a conductance of 3×10^{-9} S/cm using 2-point probe measurement. It was observed that the in vitro electrical stimulation of the nerve stem cells cultured on PLLA/ PANI NS with an applied electrical potential up to 100 MV/mm for 60 min led to extension of neurite outgrowth in comparison with the cells grown on non-stimulated scaffolds. The neurite elongation was observed due to the electrical stimulation of conducting NS on the nerve stem cells demonstrating its application in nerve tissue regeneration. Mckeon et al. (2010) successfully prepared poly(D,L-Lactide) (PDLA)/PANI NFs using ES to examine its conductivity and biocompatibility. Only at 25 wt% of PANI in the NF blends, promising results were observed. Specifically, at this wt% the NS was able to conduct a current of 5 mA with an electrical conductivity of 0.0437 S/cm. This novel NS was able to attach and proliferate on primary rat muscle cells, though the NFs degraded during the process. This primary degradation and shrinkage restrict the NS to be used in biomedical application but it seems to be useful as a biocompatible coating on sensor devices, etc. (Llorens et al. 2013).

ES type	PANI-based composites NFs	Biomedical applications	References
Traditional ES	Gelatin/ PANI	Tissue engineering	Li et al. (2006)
Traditional ES	PNIPAm/ MWCNTs/ PANI	Tissue regeneration	Tiwari et al. (2013)
Traditional ES	PLLA/PANI	Nerve tissue regeneration	Prabhakaran et al. (2011)
Traditional ES	PDLA/PANI	Biomedical applications, biocompatible coating on sensor devices	McKeon et al. (2010) and Llorens et al. (2013)
Traditional ES	PCL/CSA/ sPANI	Cardiac tissue regeneration	Borriello et al. (2011)

Table 10 Biomedical applications of electrospun conducting PANI composite NFs

Borriello et al. (2011) fabricated composite NFs substrate prepared using polyaniline synthesized (sPANI) in the laboratory, doped with camphor sulfonic acid (CSA) and PCL via ES process and investigated the prepared NFs for cardiac tissue regeneration. The conductivity assay revealed that sPANI short fibers offered a highly effective transfer of electrical signal due to the spatial arrangements of the electroactive phases to form a percolative network. Thus, the PCL/sPANI electrospun NF membranes potentially mimic the morphological or functional features of cardiac muscle ECM. The PANI needles offered conductive signals and thus stimulated the cardiogenic differentiation of hMSCs into cardiomyocyte cells which were observed using the biological tests. These primary studies on electroactive biodegradable substrates pave a broad way to a new class of synthetic patches that support the regeneration of damaged myocardium (Llorens et al. 2013). Electrospun poly(N-isopropylacrylamide) (PNIPAm)/CNTs/PANI NFs were investigated by Tiwari et al. (2013). PNIPAm, MWCNTs, and PANI offered balanced hydrophilic functions, mechanical strength, and conductance, respectively, to the NS and hence supported an excellent cell proliferation and viability suitable for tissue regeneration applications. Table 10 depicts the biomedical applications of various electrospuns conducting PANI composite NFs.

2.11 Biomedical Applications of Poly (3,4-ethylenedioxythiophene)-Based Electrospun Composite Nanofibers

PEDOT is a derivative of polythiophene (PT) and it is the third most studied conjugated polymer. PEDOT is normally synthesized by the polymerization of the 3,4-ethylene dioxythiophene. PEDOT, in comparison with PT, has a dioxyalkylene bridging group across 3- and 4-positions of its heterocyclic ring which is

responsible for its low band gap, low reduction and oxidation (redox) potential, good electrical and environmental stability, good electrical and thermal conductivity, and good optical transparency in its conducting state than PPy (Pyshkina et al. 2010). The insolubility nature of PEDOT was evaded by using it with water-soluble polyelectrolyte, namely polystyrene sulfonic acid (PSSA), which acts as a charge balancing dopant during the polymerization, resulting in PEDOT: polystyrene sulfonate (PEDOT: PSS) which is a water-soluble conducting polymer having high conductivity, high visible light transmissivity, and excellent stability (Mohanapriya et al. 2016a).

Groenendaal et al. (2000) classified the production of PEDOT derivatives into three types of polymerization reaction, which includes (i) oxidative chemical polymerization of 3,4-ethylenedioxythiopene (EDOT)-based monomers, (ii) electrochemical polymerization of EDOT-based monomers, and (iii) transition metal mediated coupling of dihalo derivatives of EDOT. The chemical oxidative polymerization of EDOT monomer is carried out using oxidizing agents such as FeCl₃ or Fe(OTS)₃. The electrochemical polymerization requires only a very small quantity of monomers and short polymerization times which results in both electrodes supported and freestanding films. PEDOT has well-established biocompatibility, and presently, it is being used in biosensing and bioengineering applications such as neural electrodes, nerve grafts, heart muscle patches. PEDOT can be fabricated in various nano-structural forms such as nanofilms, nanorods, and NF mats (Huang et al. 2014).

Sharma et al. (2015) investigated the PEDOT composite and temperature responsive PNIPAm NS for tissue engineering. The pristine PNIPAm NS and PNIPAm/PEDOT composite NFs were synthesized via normal ES technique. The biocompatibility of the PNIPAm/PEDOT NFs was studied by seeding the L929 fibroblast cells on the NF surfaces. The result revealed that the PNIPAm/PEDOT NFs exhibit highest cell growth with 98% which indicates its potential to be used as a scaffold for tissue engineering. Chang et al. (2016) used ES method for preparing NF composite membranes of PLA and a natural polymer namely poly (3-hydroxybutyrate-co-3-hydroxyvalerate) (PHBV). These NF membranes were made conductive by dipping it with PEDOT: PSS solution. Using MTT assay, in vitro cell cytotoxicity and cell viability of the PEDOT: PSS-coated PLA/PHBV NFs and uncoated PLA/PHBV NFs were studied by attaching the NFs to the surface of human skin fibroblast (HSF cells). Uniform NFs with no beads were produced for 20% w/v PLA/PHBV with a 50:50 weight ratio. The wettability and surface roughness of PLA/PHBV NF membranes coated with PEDOT: PSS were greatly enhanced in comparison with the uncoated membrane. The obtained results for cell viability from MTT assay revealed that the conductive PEDOT: PSS-coated PLA/PHBV NF membranes will be highly useful for tissue engineering as compared to their uncoated counterparts.

Jin et al. (2013) developed a novel and facile technique for creating PEDOT NF mats via ES in combination with in situ interfacial polymerization. The as-spun PEDOT NF mats exhibited enhanced mechanical properties with a tensile strength of 8.7 ± 0.4 MPa, Young's modulus 28.4 ± 3.3 MPa and excellent flexibility.

ES type	PEDOT-based composites NFs	Biomedical applications	References
Traditional ES	PNIPAm/PEDOT	Tissue engineering	Sharma et al. (2015)
Traditional ES	PLA/PHBV/PEDOT: PSS	Tissue engineering	Chang et al. (2016)
Traditional ES	PEDOT	Tissue engineering, cell culture, implanted electrodes, drug delivery	Jin et al. (2013)
Traditional ES	MWCNTs/PCL/ PEDOT	Skeletal muscle cell alignment and regeneration	McKeon-Fischer et al. (2015)

Table 11 Biomedical applications of electrospun conducting PEDOT composite NFs

The surface of PEDOT NF mats was cultured to human cancer stem cells (HCSCs) for three days to examine the cellular morphology and proliferation. The results bespeak that the PEDOT NF mats had similar biocompatibility to tissue culture plates (TCP). These PEDOT NF mats possess remarkable electrical conductivity $(7.8 \pm 0.4 \text{ S/cm})$ along with excellent mechanical properties and biocompatibility, making it a suitable material for biotechnological applications such as electroactive substrates, drug delivery, cell culture, and implanted electrodes. Mckeon-Fischer et al. (2015) created a conducting, biocompatible scaffold having superior mechanical properties for regenerating skeletal muscle. In this study, PEDOT NFs along with the PCL were electrospun to form conductive NS. As the PEDOT content was increased, the NS resulted in ribboning, increased in fiber diameters, and unaligned NFs during ES. This was circumvented by sonicating the PEDOT NPs prior to ES process, which resulted in decrease conductivity and enhanced mechanical properties. To increase the conductivity of the NS, MWCNTs were added in the ratio of 1:10 1:2, 3:4, and 1:1 to the PEDOT: PCL solution. The addition of MWCNTs slightly affected the scaffold conductivity and enhanced the elastic modulus, yield stress of the scaffold. The NS was attached to the rat muscle cell which was active for the 1:10, 1:2, 3:4, and 1:1 PCL: PEDOT scaffolds. It was observed that the 3:4 scaffolds had the lowest level of metabolic activity. It was also found that the scaffolds were cytocompatible. The authors suggested the need for further advancement of the fabrication method for producing more highly aligned scaffolds that have potential to promote skeletal muscle cell alignment and eventual regeneration. Table 11 depicts the various biomedical applications of the electrospun conducting PEDOT composite NFs.

3 Conclusions

The recent advances and state-of-the-art progress in ES technique for biomedical applications including tissue engineering, wound healing, and drug delivery have been discussed in this chapter hoping that the information provided will help in planning future research endeavors in both ES and biomedicine fields. The coaxial or emulsion ES has promising benefits of sustained drug release and reduces the initial burst release commonly encountered with the polymer/drug blends. Designing new collectors can enhance the geometry: control the fiber alignment. mechanical, and biological properties of the scaffolds. Also, the surface modification of electrospun NFs can further improve the scaffolds interaction with cells. Novel NS prepared from ES can be readily used for steadfast wound healing and modern wound dressing as compared to traditional methods. Another major benefit of ES is that the synthetic, natural, and hybrid polymers can be chosen readily and electrospun by precisely tailoring the scaffold properties for the desired applications. The multifunctional NFs that generate active therapeutics can be preferred for more than one biomedical function for effective treatments. The researchers from various sectors such as biology, physics, mechanical engineering, material science, life science, chemistry, medicine, and biotechnology must focus on gaining a proper understanding of the ES process and its mechanism and more importantly use this technique to tap its immense potentiality, especially in biomedical applications.

References

- Agarwal P, Pramanik K (2016) Chitosan-poly(vinyl alcohol) nanofibers by free surface electrospinning for tissue engineering applications. Tissue Eng Regenerative Med 13(5): 485–497
- Agarwal S, Wendorff JH, Greiner A (2008) Use of electrospinning technique for biomedical applications. Polymer 49(26):5603–5621
- Aghdam RM, Najarian S, Shakhesi S, Khanlari S, Shaabani K, Sharifi S (2012) Investigating the effect of PGA on physical and mechanical properties of electrospun PCL/PGA blend nanofibers. J Appl Polym Sci 124(1):123–131
- Ajalloueian F, Tavanai H, Hilborn J, Donzel-Gargand O, Leifer K, Wickham A, Arpanaei A (2014) Emulsion electrospinning as an approach to fabricate PLGA/chitosan nanofibers for biomedical applications. BioMed Res Int 2014(Article ID: 475280)
- Alhosseini SN, Moztarzadeh F, Mozafari M, Asgari S, Dodel M, Samadikuchaksaraei A, Kargozar S, Jalali N (2012) Synthesis and characterization of electrospun polyvinyl alcohol nanofibrous scaffolds modified by blending with chitosan for neural tissue engineering. Int J Nanomed 7:25–34
- Ansary RH, Awang MB, Rahman MM (2014) Biodegradable poly (D,L-lactic-co-glycolic acid)based micro/nanoparticles for sustained release of protein drugs-a review. Trop J Pharm Res 13(7):1179–1190
- Asran AS, Razghandi K, Aggarwal N, Michler GH, Groth T (2010) Nanofibers from blends of polyvinyl alcohol and polyhydroxy butyrate as potential scaffold material for tissue engineering of skin. Biomacromolecules 11(12):3413–3421
- Athanasiou KA, Schmitz JP, Agrawal CM (2007) The effects of porosity on in vitro degradation of polylactic acid–polyglycolic acid implants used in repair of articular cartilage. Tissue Eng 4(1):53–63
- Aznar-Cervantes S, Roca MI, Martinez JG, Meseguer-Olmo L, Cenis JL, Moraleda JM, Otero TF (2012) Fabrication of conductive electrospun silk fibroin scaffolds by coating with polypyrrole for biomedical applications. Bioelectrochemistry 85:36–43

- Bai MY, Liu SZ (2014) A simple and general method for preparing antibody-PEG-PLGA sub-micron particles using electrospray technique: an in vitro study of targeted delivery of cisplatin to ovarian cancer cells. Colloids Surf B 117:346–353
- Baker MI, Walsh SP, Schwartz Z, Boyan BD (2012) A review of polyvinyl alcohol and its uses in cartilage and orthopedic applications. J Biomed Mater Res B Appl Biomater 100(5):1451– 1457
- Baker DW, Zhou J, Tsai YT, Patty KM, Weng H, Tang EN, Nair A, Hu WJ, Tang L (2014) Development of optical probes for in vivo imaging of polarized macrophages during foreign body reactions. Acta Biomateralia 10(7):2945–2955
- Balint R, Cassidy NJ, Cartmell SH (2014) Conductive polymers: towards a smart biomaterial for tissue engineering. Acta Biomaterialia 10(6):2341–2353
- Barnes CP, Sell SA, Boland ED, Simpson DG, Bowlin GL (2007) Nanofiber technology: designing the next generation of tissue engineering scaffolds. Adv Drug Deliv Rev 59 (14):1413–1433
- Blomqvist J, Mannfors B, Pietila LO (2002) Amorphous cell studies of Polyglycolic, Poly(Llactic), Poly(L,D-lactic) and Poly(glycolic/L-lactic) acids. Polymer 43(17):4571–4583
- Boakye MAD, Rija NP, Adhikari U, Bhattarai N (2015) Fabrication and characterization of electrospun PCL-MgO-Keratin-based composite nanofibers for biomedical applications. Materials 8(7):4080–4095
- Boateng JS, Matthews KH, Stevens HNE, Eccleston GM (2008) Wound healing dressings and drug delivery systems: a review. J Pharm Sci 97(8):2892–2923
- Borriello A, Guarino V, Schiavo L, Alvarez-Perez MA, Ambrosio L (2011) Optimizing PANi doped electroactive substrates as patches for the regeneration of cardiac muscle. J Mater Sci: Mater Med 22(4):1053–1062
- Brissault B, Kichler A, Guis C, Leborgne C, Danos O, Cheradame H (2003) Synthesis of linear polyethylenimine derivatives for DNA transfection. Bioconjug Chem 14(3):581–587
- Chang HC, Sun T, Sultana N, Lim MM, Khan TH, Ismail AF (2016) Conductive PEDOT:PSS coated polylactide (PLA) and poly(3-hydroxybutyrate-co-3-hydroxybutyraterate) (PHBV) electrospun membranes: fabrication and characterization. Mater Sci Eng C 61:396–410
- Chellamani KP, Sundaramoorthy P, Suresham T (2012) Wound dressing made out of poly vinyl alcohol/chitosan nanomembranes. J Acad Ind Res 1(6):342–347
- Chellamani KP, Balaji RSV, Veerasubramanian D (2014) Development of wound dressing made of electro spun tetracycline hydrochloride drug incorporated PCL (Poly(E-Caprolactone)) nanomembrane. Int J Emerging Technol Adv Eng 4(4):251–256
- Chen C, Lv G, Pan C, Song M, Wu C, Guo D, Wang X, Chen B, Gu Z (2007) Poly(lactic acid) (PLA) based nanocomposites—a novel way of drug-releasing. Biomed Mater 2(4):1–4
- Chen JP, Chang GY, Chen JK (2008) Electrospun collagen/chitosan nanofibrous membrane as wound dressing. Colloids Surf A 313–314:183–188
- Chong C, Wang Y, Maitz PKM, Simanainen U, Li Z (2013) Electrospun scaffold loaded with anti-androgen receptor compound for accelerating wound healing. Burns Trauma 1(2):95–101
- Choong C, Triffitt JT, Cui ZF (2004) Polycaprolactone scaffolds for bone tissue engineering: effects of a calcium phosphate coating layer on osteogenic cells. Food Bioprod Process 82(2):117–125
- Cohn D, Stern T, Gonzalez MF, Epstein J (2002) Biodegradable poly(ethylene oxide)/poly (epsilon-caprolactone) multiblock copolymers. J Biomed Mater Res 59(2):273–281
- Conn RE, Kolstad JJ, Borzelleca JF, Dixler DS, Filer LJ, LaDu BN, Pariza MW (1995) Safety assessment of polylactide (PLA) for use as a food contact polymer. Food Chem Toxicol 33(4): 273–283
- Croll TI, O'Connor AJ, Stevens GW, Cooper-White JJ (2004) Controllable modification of poly (lactic-co-glycolic acid) (PLGA) by hydrolysis or amunolysis I: physical, chemical, and theoretical aspects. Biomacromolecules 5(2):463–473
- Danhier F, Ansorena E, Silva JM, Coco R, Breton AL, Preat V (2012) PLGA-based nanoparticles: an overview of biomedical applications. J Controlled Release 161(2):505–522

- Delebecq E, Pascault JP, Boutevin B, Ganachaud F (2013) On the versatility of urethane/urea bonds: reversibility, blocked isocyanate and non-isocyanate polyurethane. Chem Rev 113(1): 80–118
- Deshmukh K, Ahamed MB, Pasha SKK, Deshmukh RR, Bhagat PR (2015) Highly dispersible graphene oxide reinforced polypyrole/polyvinyl alcohol blend nanocomposites with high dielectric constant and low dielectric loss. RSC Adv 5:61933–61945
- Deshmukh K, Ahamed MB, Deshmukh RR, Pasha SKK, Chidambaram K, Sadasivuni KK, Ponnamma D, AlMaadeed MAA (2016a) Eco-friendly synthesis of graphene oxide reinforced hydroxypropyl methyl cellulose/polyvinyl alcohol blend nanocomposites filled with zinc oxide nanoparticles for high-k capacitor applications. Polym-Plast Technol Eng 55(12):1240–1253
- Deshmukh K, Ahamed MB, Sadasivuni KK, Ponnamma D, Deshmukh RR, Pasha SKK, AlMaadeed MAA, Chidambaram K (2016b) Graphene oxide reinforced polyvinyl alcohol blend composites as high performance dielectric materials. J Polym Res 23:159
- Deshmukh K, Ahamed MB, Deshmukh RR, Pasha SKK, Sadasivuni KK, Ponnamma D, Chidambaram K (2016c) Synergistic effect of vanadium pentoxide and graphene oxide in polyvinyl alcohol for energy storage applications. Eur Polym J 76:14–27
- Deshmukh K, Ahamed MB, Deshmukh RR, Bhagat PR, Pasha SKK, Bhagat A, Shirbhate R, Telare F, Lakhani C (2016d) Influence of K₂CrO₄ doping on the structural, optical and dielectric properties of polyvinyl alcohol/K₂CrO₄ composite films. Polym-Plast Technol Eng 55(3):231–241
- Deshmukh K, Ahamed MB, Deshmukh RR, Sadasivuni KK, Ponnamma D, Pasha SKK, AlMaadeed MAA, Polu AR, Chidambaram K (2017a) Eeonomer 200F®: A high performance nanofiller for polymer reinforcement-Investigation of the structure, morphology and dielectric properties of polyvinyl alcohol/Eeonomer 200F® nanocomposites for embedded capacitor applications. J Electron Mater 46(4):2406–2418
- Deshmukh K, Ahamed MB, Sadasivuni K, Ponnamma D, AlMaadeed MAA, Deshmukh RR, Pasha SKK, Polu AR, Chidambaram K (2017b) Fumed SiO₂ nanoparticle reinforced biopolymer blend nanocomposites with high dielectric constant and low dielectric loss for flexible organic electronics. J Appl Polym Sci 134(5):44427
- Deshmukh K, Ahamed MB, Deshmukh RR, Pasha SKK, Sadasivuni KK, Ponnamma D, AlMaadeed MAA (2017c) Striking multiple synergies in novel three-phase fluoropolymer nanocomposites by combining titanium dioxide and graphene oxide as hybrid fillers. J Mater Sci: Mater Electron 28(1):559–575
- Deshmukh K, Ahamed MB, Deshmukh RR, Pasha SKK, Sadasivuni KK, Polu AR, Ponnamma D, AlMaadeed MAA, Chidambaram K (2017d) Newly developed biodegradable polymer nanocomposites of cellulose acetate and Al₂O₃ nanoparticles with enhanced dielectric performance for embedded passive applications. J Mater Sci: Mater Electron 28(1):973–986
- Duan YY, Jia J, Wang SH, Yan W, Jin L, Wang ZY (2007) Preparation of antimicrobial poly (ε-caprolactone) electrospun NFs containing silver loaded zirconium phosphate nanoparticles. J Appl Polym Sci 106(2):1208–1214
- El-Aassar MR, El-Fawal GF, El-Deeb NM, Hassan SH, Mo X (2016) Electrospun polyvinyl alcohol/pluronic F127 blended nanofibers containing titanium dioxide for antibacterial wound dressing. Appl Biochem Biotechnol 178(8):1488–1502
- Fan ZY, Zhao YL, Zhu XY, Luo Y, Shen MW, Shi XY (2016) Folic acid modified electrospun poly(vinyl alcohol)/polyethyleneimine nanofibers for cancer cell capture applications. Chin J Polym Sci 3(6):755–765
- Fernandes JG, Correia DM, Botelho G, Padrao J, Dourado F, Ribeiro C, Lanceros-Mendez S, Sencadas V (2014) PHB-PEO electrospun fiber membranes containing chlorhexidine for drug delivery applications. Polym Testing 34:64–71
- French AC, Thompson AL, Davis BG (2009) High purity discrete PEG oligomer crystals allow structural insight. Angew Chem Int Ed 48(7):1248–1252
- Fujihara K, Kotaki M, Ramakrishna S (2005) Guided bone regeneration membrane made of polycaprolactone/calcium carbonate composite nano-fibers. Biomaterials 26(19):4139–4147

- Gallant-Behm CL, Yin HQ, Jui S, Heggers JP, Langford RE, Olson ME, Hart DA, Burrell RE (2005) Comparison of in vitro disc diffusion and time kill-kinetic assays for the evaluation of antimicrobial wound dressing efficacy. Wound Repair Regeneration 13(4):412–421
- Garlotta D (2001) A literature review of poly(lactic acid). J Polym Environ 9(2):63-84
- Gentile P, Chiono V, Carmagnola I, Hatton PV (2014) An overview of poly(lactic-co-glycolic) acid (PLGA)-based biomaterials for bone tissue engineering. Int J Mol Sci 15(3):3640–3659
- Gholipour AK, Bahrami SH, Nouri M (2009) Chitosan-poly(vinyl alcohol) blend nanofibers: Morphology, biological and antimicrobial properties. E-Polym 9(1):1–12
- Ghosal K, Thomas S, Kalarikkal N, Gnanamani A (2014) Collagen coated electrospun polycaprolactone (PCL) with titanium dioxide (TiO₂) from an environmentally benign solvent: preliminary physico-chemical studies for skin substitute. J Polym Res 21(410):1–5
- Gilding DK, Reed AM (1979) Biodegradable polymers for use in surgery—polyglycolic/poly (lactic acid) homo- and copolymers. Polymer 20(12):1459–1464
- Gizdavic-Nikolaidis M, Ray S, Bennett JR, Easteal AJ, Cooney RP (2010) Electrospun functionalized polyaniline copolymer-based nanofibers with potential application in tissue engineering. Macromol Biosci 10(12):1424–1431
- Goncalves RP, da Silva FFF, Picciani PHS, Dias ML (2015) Morphology and thermal properties of core-shell PVA/PLA ultrafine fibers produced by coaxial electrospinning. Mater Sci Appl 6(2):189–199
- Greiner A, Wendorff JH (2007) Electrospinning: a fascinating method for the preparation of ultrathin fibers. Angew Chem Int Ed 46(30):5670–5703
- Groenendaal LB, Jonas F, Freitag H, Pielartzik H, Reynolds JR (2000) Poly (3,4-ethylenedioxythiophene) and its derivatives: past, present, and future. Adv Mater 12(7): 481–494
- Hajiali H, Shahgasempour S, Naimi-Jamal MR, Peirovi H (2011) Electrospun PGA/gelatin nanofibrous scaffolds and their potential application in vascular tissue engineering. Int J Nanomed 6:2133–2141
- Hamad K, Kaseem M, Yang HW, Deri F, Ko YG (2015) Properties and medical applications of polylactic acid: A review. Express Polym Lett 9(5):435–455
- Hardiansyah A, Tanadi H, Yang MC, Liu TY (2015) Electrospinning and antibacterial activity of chitosan-blended poly(lactic acid) nanofibers. J Polym Res 22(59):1–10
- Hassan CM, Peppas NA (2000) Structure and applications of poly(vinyl alcohol) hydrogels produced by conventional crosslinking or by freezing/thawing methods. Adv Polym Sci 153:37–65
- Hassiba AJ, Zowalaty ME, Nasrallah GK, Webster TJ, Luyt AS, Abdullah AM, Elzatahry AA (2016) Review of recent research on biomedical applications of electrospun polymer nanofibers for improved wound healing. Nanomedicine 11(6):715–737
- Heo SY, Seo JW, Kim NS (2014) Characterisation and assessment of electrospun poly/ hydroxyapatite nanofibres together with a cell adhesive for bone repair applications. Vet Med 59(10):498–501
- Hiep NT, Lee BT (2010) Electro-spinning of PLGA/PCL blends for tissue engineering and their biocompatibility. J Mater Sci: Mater Med 21(6):1969–1978
- Hirashi N, Yau JY, Loushine RJ, Armstrong SR, Weller RN, King NM, Pashley DH, Tay FR (2007) Susceptibility of a polycaprolactone-based root canal-filling material to degradation. III. Turbidimetric evaluation of enzymatic hydrolysis. J Endod 33(8):952–956
- Hoveizi E, Nabiuni M, Parivar K, Zeleti SR, Tavakol S (2014) Functionalisation and surface modification of electrospun polylactic acid scaffold for tissue engineering. Cell Biol Int 38(1): 41–49
- Huang ZM, He CL, Yang A, Zhang Y, Han XJ, Yin J, Wu Q (2006a) Encapsulating drugs in biodegradable ultrafine fibers through co-axial electrospinning. J Biomed Mater Res Part A 77(1):169–179
- Huang LM, Chen CH, Wen TC (2006b) Development and characterization of flexible electrochromic devices based on polyaniline and poly(3,4-ethylenedioxythiophene) poly (styrene sulfonic acid). Electrochim Acta 51(26):5858–5863

- Huang ZB, Yin GF, Liao XM, Wen J (2014) Conducting polypyrrole in tissue engineering applications. Front Mater Sci 8(1):39–45
- Ignatova M, Starbova K, Markova N, Manolova N, Rashkov I (2006) Electrospunnano-fibre mats with antibacterial properties from quaternized chitosan and poly(vinyl alcohol). Carbohydr Res 341(12):2098–2107
- Immich APS, Arias ML, Carreras N, Boemo RL, Tornero JA (2013) Drug delivery systems using sandwich configurations of electrospun poly(lactic acid) nanofiber membranes and ibuprofen. Mater Sci Eng C 33(7):4002–4008
- Jayakumar R, Nair SV, Furuike T, Tamura H (2010) Perspectives of chitin and chitosan nanofibrous scaffolds in tissue engineering. In: Eberli D (ed) tissue engineering. InTech, Rijeka. https://doi.org/10.5772/8593
- Jayakumar R, Chennazhi KP, Srinivasan S, Nair SV, Furuike T, Tamura H (2011) Chitin scaffolds in tissue engineering. Int J Mol Sci 12(3):1876–1887
- Jesus VGL, Cornejo-Bravo JM, Vera-Graziano R, Grande D (2016) Electrospinning as a powerful technique for biomedical applications: a critically selected survey. J Biomater Sci Polym Ed 27(2):157–176
- Jin L, Wang T, Feng ZQ, Leach MK, Wu J, Mo S, Jiang Q (2013) A facile approach for the fabrication of core-shell PEDOT nanofiber mats with superior mechanical properties and biocompatibility. J Mater Chem B 1(13):1818–1825
- Jones SA, Bowler PG, Walker M, Parsons D (2004) Controlling wound bioburden with a novel silver containing hydrofiber dressing. Wound Repair Regeneration 12(3):288–294
- Kaihara S, Matsumura S, Mikos AG, Fisher JP (2007) Synthesis of poly(L-lactide) and polyglycolide by ring-opening polymerization. Nat Protoc 2(11):2767–2771
- Kanani AG, Bahrami SH (2010) Review on electrospun nanofibers scaffold and biomedical applications. Trends Biomater Artif Organs 24(2):93–115
- Kang YO, Yoon IS, Lee SY, Kim DD, Lee SJ, Park WH, Hudson SM (2010) Chitosan-coated poly (vinyl alcohol) nanofibers for wound dressings. J Biomed Mater Res B Appl Biomater 92(2):568–576
- Kaur G, Adhikari R, Cass P, Bown M, Gunatillake P (2015) Electrically conductive polymers and composites for biomedical applications. RSC Adv 5:37553–37567
- Kenawy ER, Abdel-Hay FI, El-Newehy MH, Wnek GE (2007) Controlled release of ketoprofen from electrospun poly(vinyl alcohol) nanofibers. Mater Sci Eng A 459(1–2):390–396
- Khalil KA, Fouad H, Elsarnagawy T, Almajhdi FN (2013) Preparation and characterization of electrospun PLGA/silver composite nanofibers for biomedical applications. Int J Electrochem Sci 8:3483–3493
- Khanam N, Mikoryak C, Draper RK, Balkus KJ Jr (2007) Electrospun linear polyethyleneimine scaffolds for cell growth. Acta Biomateralia 3(6):1050–1059
- Khoo RZ, Ismail H, Chow WS (2016) Thermal and morphological properties of poly(lactic acid)/ nanocellulose nanocomposites. Procedia Chem 19:788–794
- Kim K, Yu M, Zong X, Chiu J, Fang D, Seo YS, Hsiao BS, Chu B, Dadjiargyrou M (2003) Control of degradation rate and hydrophilicity in electrospun non-woven poly (D,L-lactide) nanofiber scaffolds for biomedical applications. Biomaterials 24(27):4497–4585
- Kim K, Luu YK, Chang C, Fang D, Hsiao BS, Chu B, Hadjiargyrou M (2004) Incorporation and controlled release of hydrophilic antibiotic using Poly(lactide-co-glycolide)—based electrospun nanofibrous scaffolds. J Controlled Release 98(1):47–56
- Kim SE, Heo DN, Lee JB, Kim JR, Park SH, Jeon SH, Kwon IK (2009a) Electrospun gelatin/ polyurethane blended nanofibers for wound healing. Biomed Mater 4(4):044106
- Kim JH, Choung PH, Kim IY, Lim KT, Son HM, Choung YH, Cho CS, Chung JH (2009b) Electrospun nanofibers composed of poly(ε-caprolactone) and polyethylenimine for tissue engineering applications. Mater Sci Eng C 29(5):1725–1731
- Kim JI, Pant HR, Sim HJ, Lee KM, Kim CS (2014) Electrospun propolis/polyurethane composite nanofibers for biomedical applications. Mater Sci Eng C 44(1):52–57
- Kovar J, Wang Y, Simpson MA, Olive DM (2009) Imaging lymphatics with a variety of near-infrared-labeled optical agents. In: World molecular imaging conference, pp 67–68

- Kowalski A, Duda A, Penczek S (2000) Mechanism of cyclic ester polymerization initiated with tin(II) octoate. 2. Macromolecules fitted with tin (II) alkoxide species observed directly in MALDI-TOF spectra. Macromolecules 33(3):689–695
- Lasprilla AJR, Martinez GAR, Lunelli BM, Jardini AL, Fiho RM (2012) Poly-lactic acid synthesis for application in biomedical devices—a review. Biotechnol Adv 30(1):321–328
- Law JX, Liau LL, Saim A, Yang Y, Idrus R (2017) Electrospun collagen nanofibers and their applications in skin tissue engineering. Tissue Eng Regenerative Med 14(6):1–20
- Leaper DJ (2006) Silver dressings: their role in wound management. Int Wound J 3(4):282–294
- Lee SJ, Liu J, Oh SH, Soker S, Atala A, Yoo JJ (2008) Development of a composite vascular scaffolding system that withstands physiological vascular conditions. Biomaterials 29(19): 2891–2898
- Lee JY, Bashur CA, Goldstein AS, Schmidt CE (2009) Polypyrrole-coated electrospun PLGA nanofibers for neural tissue applications. Biomaterials 30(26):4325–4335
- Lee EJ, Lee JH, Shin YC, Hwang DG, Kim JS, Jin OS, Jin L, Hong SW, Han DW (2014) Graphene oxide-decorated PLGA/collagen hybrid fiber sheets for application to tissue engineering scaffolds. Biomater Res 18(1):18–24
- Leung V, Ko F (2011) Biomedical applications of nanofibers. Polym Adv Technol 22(3):350-365
- Li S, Garreau H, Pauvert B, McGrath J, Toniolo A, Vert M (2002) Enzymatic degradation of block copolymers prepared from epsilon-caprolactone and poly(ethylene glycol). Biomacromolecules 3(3):525–530
- Li M, Guo Y, Wei Y, MacDiarmid AG, Lelkesa Peter I (2006) Electrospinning polyanilinecontained gelatin nanofibers for tissue engineering applications. Biomaterials 27(13):2705–2715
- Li J, Stayshich RM, Meyer TY (2011) Exploiting sequence to control the hydrolysis behavior of biodegradable PLGA copolymers. J Am Chem Soc 133(18):6910–6913
- Liao IC, Chew SY, Leong KW (2006) Aligned core-shell nanofibers delivering bioactive proteins. Nanomedicine 1(4):465–471
- Lim LT, Auras R, Rubino M (2008) Processing technologies for poly(lactic acid). Prog Polym Sci 33(8):820–852
- Liu XF, Liu XB (2015) Polyethyleneimine as targeted gene vectors: a review. J Int Pharm Res 42(4):478–482
- Liu M, Duan XP, Li YM, Yang DP, Long YZ (2017) Electrospun nanofibers for wound healing. Mater Sci Eng C 76:1413–1423
- Llorens E, Armelin E, Pérez-Madrigal MDM, Valle LJD, Aleman C, Puiggalí J (2013) Nanomembranes and nanofibers from biodegradable conducting polymers. Polymers 5(3): 1115–1157
- Louis CS (2012). Drug for adults is popular as children's remedy. The New York Times
- MacDiarmid AG (2001) Synthetic metals: a novel role for organic polymers (Nobel lecture). Angew Chem Int Ed 40(14):2581–2590
- Makadia HK, Siegel SJ (2011) Polylactic-co-glycolic acid (PLGA) as biodegradable controlled drug delivery carrier. Polymers 3(3):1377–1397
- Manea LR, Hristian L, Leon AL, Popa A (2016) Recent advances of basic materials to obtain electrospun polymeric nanofibers for medical applications. IOP Conf Ser: Mater Sci Eng 145(3):032006
- Marin E, Rojas J, Ciro Y (2014) A review of polyvinyl alcohol derivatives: promising materials for pharmaceutical and biomedical applications. Afr J Pharm Pharmacol 8(24):674–684
- Marten FL (2002) vinyl alcohol polymers. Encycl Polym Sci Technol 8:399-437
- Matuseviciute A, Butkiene A, Stanys S, Adomaviciute E (2012) Formation of PVA nanofibres with iodine by electrospinning. Fibres Textiles Eastern Eur 20(3):21–25
- McKeon KD, Lewis A, Freeman JW (2010) Electrospun poly (D,L-Lactide) and polyaniline scaffold characterization. J Appl Polym Sci 115(3):1566–1572
- McKeon-Fischer KD, Browe DP, Olabisi RM, Freeman JW (2015) Poly(3,4-ethylenedioxythiophene) nanoparticle and poly(ε-caprolactone) electrospun scaffold characterization for skeletal muscle regeneration. J Biomed Mater Res Part A 103(11):3633–3641

- Menaa B (2011) The importance of nanotechnology in biomedical sciences. J Biotechnol Biomater 1(5):105e
- Meng J, Xiao B, Zhang Y, Liu J, Xue HD, Lei J, Kong H, Huang YG, Jin ZY, Gu N, Xu H (2013) Super-paramagnetic responsive nanofibrous scaffolds under static magnetic field enhance osteogenesis for bone repair in vivo. Sci Rep 3:2655
- Middleton J, Tipton A (2006) Synthetic biodegradable polymers as medical devices. Med Plast Biomater Mag
- Mirakabad FST, Nejati-Koshki K, Akbarzadeh A, Yamchi MR, Milani M, Zarghami N, Zeighamian V, Rahimzadeh A, Alimohammadi S, Hanifehpour Y, Joo SW (2014) PLGA-based nanoparticles as cancer drug delivery systems. Asian Pac J Cancer Prev 15(2): 517–535
- Mirzaei E, Faridi-Majidi R, Shokrgozar MA, Paskiabi FA (2014) Genipin cross-linked electrospun chitosan-based nanofibrous mat as tissue engineering scaffold. Nanomed J 1(3):137–146
- Mohamed RM, Yusoh K (2016) A review on the recent research of polycaprolactone (PCL). Adv Mater Res 1134:249–255
- Mohanapriya MK, Deshmukh K, Ahamed MB, Chidambaram K, Pasha SKK (2016a) Zeolite 4A filled poly(3,4-ethylenedioxythiophene): (polystyrenesulfonate) and polyvinyl alcohol blend nanocomposites as high-k dielectric materials for embedded capacitor applications. Adv Mater Lett 7(12):996–1002
- Mohanapriya MK, Deshmukh K, Ahamed MB, Chidambaram K, Pasha SKK (2016b) Influence of cerium oxide (CeO₂) nanoparticles on the structural, morphological, mechanical and dielectric properties of PVA/PPy blend nanocomposites. Mater Today: Proc 3(6):1864–1873
- Mohanapriya MK, Deshmukh K, Chidambaram K, Ahamed MB, Sadasivuni KK, Ponnamma D, AlMaadeed MAA, Deshmukh RR, Pasha SKK (2017) Polyvinyl alcohol (PVA)/polystyrene sulfonic acid (PSSA)/carbon black nanocomposites for flexible energy storage device applications. J Mater Sci: Mater Electron 28:6099–6111
- Molapo KM, Ndangili PM, Ajayi RF, Mbambisa G, Mailu SM, Njomo N, Masikini M, Baker P, Iwuoha I (2012) Electronics of conjugated polymers (I): polyaniline. Int J Electrochem Sci 7(12):11859–11875
- Moreno I, Gonzalez-Gonzalez V, Romero-Garcia J (2011) Control release of lactate dehydrogenase encapsulated in poly(vinyl alcohol) nanofibers via electrospinning. Eur Polym J 47:1264–1272
- Muppalaneni S, Omidian H (2013) Polyvinyl alcohol in medicine and pharmacy: a perspective. J Dev Drugs 2(3):1–5
- Nagaraj A, Govindaraj D, Rajan M (2018) Magnesium oxide entrapped polypyrole hybrid nanocomposites as an efficient selective scavenger for fluoride ion in drinking water. Emergent Mater 1(1–2):1–9
- Ni P, Fu S, Fan M, Guo G, Shi S, Peng J, Luo F, Qian Z (2011) Preparation of poly(ethylene glycol)/polylactide hybrid fibrous scaffolds for bone tissue engineering. Int J Nanomed 6:3065–3075
- Park JY, Lee IH (2011) Controlled release of ketoprofen from electrospun porous polylactic acid (PLA) nanofibers. J Polym Res 18(6):1287–1291
- Park KE, Kang HK, Lee SJ, Min BM, Park WH (2006) Biomimetic nanofibrous scaffolds: preparation and characterization of PGA/chitin blend nanofibers. Biomacromolecules 7(2): 635–643
- Pavot V, Berthet M, Resseguier J, Legaz S, Handke N, Gilbert SC, Paul S, Verrier B (2014) Poly (lactic acid) and poly(lactic-co-glycolic acid) particles as versatile carrier platforms for vaccine delivery. Nanomedicine 9(17):2703–2718
- Pawde SM, Deshmukh K (2008) Characterization of polyvinylalcohol/gelatin blend hydrogel films for biomedical applications. J Appl Polym Sci 109(5):3431–3437
- Pawde SM, Deshmukh K, Parab S (2008) Preparation and characterization of polyvinylalcohol and gelatin blend films. J Appl Polym Sci 109(2):1328–1337
- Prabhakaran MP, Venugopal J, Ramakrishna S (2009) Electrospun nanostructured scaffolds for bone tissue engineering. Acta Biomaterilia 5(8):2884–2893

- Prabhakaran MP, Ghasemi-Mobarakeh L, Jin G, Ramakrishna S (2011) Electrospun conducting polymer nanofibers and electrical stimulation of nerve stem cells. J Biosci Bioeng 112(5): 501–507
- Pyshkina O, Kubarkov A, Sergeyev V (2010) Poly(3,4-ethylenedioxythiophene): synthesis and properties. Mater Sci Appl Chem 21:51–54
- Repanas A, Wolkers WF, Gryshkov O, Müller M, Glasmacher B (2015) PCL/PEG electrospun fibers as drug carriers for the controlled delivery of dipyridamole. J In Silico In Vitro Pharmacol 1(2):1–10
- Rieger KA, Birch NP, Schiffman JD (2013) Designing electrospun nanofiber mats to promote wound healing—a review. J Mater Chem B 1(36):4531–4541
- Roberts MJ, Bentley MD, Harris JM (2002) Chemistry for peptide and protein PEGylation. Adv Drug Deliv Rev 54(4):459–476
- Rujiravanit R, Kruaukitanan S, Jamieson AM, Tokura S (2003) Preparation of crosslinked chitosan/silk fibroin blend films for drug delivery systems. Macromol Biosci 3:604–611
- Saha K, Butola BS, Joshi M (2014) Drug-loaded polyurethane/clay nanocomposite nanofibers for topical drug-delivery application. J Appl Polym Sci 131(10):40230
- Saraf A, Baggett LS, Raphael RM, Kasper FK, Mikos AG (2010) Regulated non-viral gene delivery from coaxial electrospun fiber mesh scaffolds. J Controlled Release 143(1):95–103
- Sasipriya K, Suriyaprabha R, Prabu P, Rajendran V (2013) Synthesis and characterisation of polymeric nanofibers poly(vinyl alcohol) and poly(vinyl alcohol)/silica using indigenous electrospinning set up. Mater Res 16(4):824–830
- Shalumon KT, Binulal NS, Selvamurugan N, Nair SV, Menon D, Furuike T, Tamura H, Jayakumar R (2009) Electrospinning of carboxymethyl chitin/poly(vinyl alcohol) nanofibrous scaffolds for tissue engineering applications. Carbohyd Polym 77(4):863–869
- Sharma AK, Sharna Y, Duhan S (2015) Biocompatible smart matrices based on poly (3,4-ethylenedioxythiophene)-poly(n-isopropylacrylamide) composite. Int J Polym Mater Polym Biomater 64(7):333–337
- Sill TJ, Recum HAV (2008) Electrospinning: applications in drug delivery and tissue engineering. Biomaterials 29(13):1989–2006
- Smolinske SC (1992) Handbook of food, drug and cosmetic excipients. CRC Press, Boca Raton, p 287. ISBN 0-8493-3585-X
- Song B, Wua C, Chang J (2012) Dual drug release from electrospun poly(lactic-co-glycolic acid)/ mesoporous silica nanoparticles composite mats with distinct release profiles. Acta Biomaterilia 8(5):1901–1907
- Spasova M, Stoilova O, Manolova N, Rashkov I, Altankov G (2007) Preparation of PLLA/PEG nanofibers by electrospinning and potential applications. J Bioact Compatible Polym 22(1): 62–76
- Spasova M, Paneva D, Manolova N, Radenkov P, Rashkov I (2008) Electrospun chitosan-coated fibers of poly(L-lactide) and poly(L-lactide)/poly(ethylene glycol): preparation and characterization. Macromol Biosci 8(2):153–162
- Stevanoviae M, Saviae J, Jordoviae B, Uskokoviae D (2007) Fabrication, in vitro degradation and the release behaviours of poly(DL-lactide-co-glycolide) nanospheres containing ascorbic acid. Colloids Surf B Bioniterfaces 59(2):215–223
- Stevens MM, George JH (2005) Exploring and engineering the cell surface interface. Science 310(5751):1135–1138
- Sun B, Duan B, Yuan X (2006) Preparation of core/shell PVP/PLA ultrafine fibers by coaxial electrospinning. J Appl Polym Sci 102(1):39–45
- Suwilai T, Ng JJ, Boonkrai C, Israsena N, Chuangchote S, Supaphol P (2014) Polypyrrole-coated electrospun poly(lactic acid) fibrous scaffold: effects of coating on electrical conductivity and neural cell growth. J Biomater Sci: Polym Ed 25(12):1240–1252
- Taepaiboon P, Rungsardthong U, Supaphol P (2006) Drug loaded electrospun mats of Poly(vinyl alcohol) fibres and their release characteristics of four model drugs. Nanotechnology 17(9): 2317–2329

- Takahashi K, Taniguchi I, Miyamoto M, Kimura Y (2000) Melt/solid polycondensation of glycolic acid to obtain high molecular weight poly(glycolic acid). Polymer 41(24):8725–8728
- Takenaka S, Ishida M, Serizawa M, Tanabe E, Otsuka K (2004) Formation of carbon nanofibers and carbon nanotubes through methane decomposition over supported cobalt catalysts. J Phys Chem B 108(31):11464–11472
- Talebian S, Mehrali M, Mohan S, Raghavendran HRB, Mehrali M, Kamarul K, Afifi AM, Abass AA (2014) Chitosan (PEO)/bioactive glass hybrid nanofibers for bone tissue engineering. RSC Adv 4:49144–49152
- Thangamani GJ, Deshmukh K, Sadasivuni KK, Chidambaram K, Ahamed MB, Ponnamma D, AlMaadeed MAA, Pasha SKK (2017) Recent advances in electrochemical biosensors and gas sensors based on graphene and carbon nanotubes (CNT): a review. Adv Mat Lett 8(3):196–205
- Tiwari A, Sharma Y, Hattori S, Terada D, Sharma AK, Turner APF, Kobayashi H (2013) Influence of poly(N-isopropylacrylamide)-CNT-polyaniline three dimensional electrospun microfabric scaffolds on cell growth and viability. Biopolymers 99(5):334–341
- Unnithan AR, Barakat NAM, Pichiah PBT, Gnanasekaran G, Nirmala R, Cha YS, Jung CH, El-Newehy M, Kim HY (2012) Wound-dressing materials with antibacterial activity from electrospun polyurethane–dextran nanofiber mats containing ciprofloxacin HCl. Carbohyd Polym 90(4):1786–1793
- Unnithan AR, Gnanasekaran G, Sathishkumar Y, Lee YS, Kim CS (2014) Electrospun antibacterial polyurethane-cellulose acetate-zein composite mats for wound dressing. Carbohyd Polym 102(15):884–892
- Valente TA, Silva DM, Gomes PS, Fernandes MH, Santos JD, Sencades V (2016) Effect of sterilization methods on electrospun poly(lactic acid) (PLA) fiber alignment for biomedical applications. ACS Appl Mater Interfaces 8(5):3241–3249
- Vaz CM, Van Tuij S, Bouten CVC, Baaijens FPT (2005) Design of scaffolds for blood vessel tissue engineering using a multi-layering electrospinning technique. Acta Biomateralia 1 (5):575–582
- Venugopal J, Zhang YZ, Ramakrishna S (2011) Electrospun nanofibres: biomedical applications. Proc Inst Mech Eng Part N: J Nanomater Nanoeng Nanosyst 218(1):35–45
- Verreck G, Chun I, Rosenblatt J, Peeters J, Dijck AV, Mensch J, Noppe M, Brewster ME (2003) Incorporation of drugs in an amorphous state into electrospun nanofibers composed of a water-insoluble, non-biodegradable polymer. J Controlled Release 92(3):349–360
- Vongsetskul T, Kongjumnean P, Sunintaboon P, Rangkupan R, Tangboriboonrat P (2012) Electrospun composite fibers of polyvinylpyrrolidone with embedded poly(methyl methacrylate)-polyethyleneimine core-shell particles. Polym Bull 69:1115–1123
- Wang LX, Li XG, Yang YL (2001) Preparation, properties and applications of polypyrroles. React Funct Polym 47(2):125–139
- Wang H, Feng Y, Zhao H, Xiao R, Lu J, Zhang L, Guo J (2012) Electrospun hemocompatible PU/ gelatin-heparin nanofibrous bilayer scaffolds as potential artificial blood vessels. Macromol Res 20(4):347–350
- Wang J, Cui X, Zhou Y, Xiang Q (2014) Core-shell PLGA/collagen nanofibers loaded with recombinant FN/CDHs as bone tissue engineering scaffolds. Connect Tissue Res 55(4):292–298
- Wang Y, Li P, Xiang P, Lu J, Yuan J, Shen J (2016a) Electrospun polyurethane/keratin/AgNP biocomposite mats for biocompatible and antibacterial wound dressings. J Mater Chem B 4 (4):635–648
- Wang H, Lin J, Shen ZX (2016b) Polyaniline (PANi) based electrode materials for energy storage and conversion. J Sci: Adv Mater Dev 1(3):225–255
- Wei K, Li Y, Mugishima H, Teramoto A, Abe K (2012) Fabrication of core-sheath structured fibers for model drug release and tissue engineering by emulsion electrospinning. Biotechnol J 7(5):677–685
- Weng L, Xie J (2015) Smart electrospun nanofibers for controlled drug release: recent advances and new perspectives. Curr Pharm Des 21(15):1944–1959

- Winger M, de Vries AH, Van Gunsteren WF (2009) Force-field dependence of the conformational properties of α , ω -dimethoxypolyethylene glycol. Mol Phys 107(13):1313–1321
- Wojasinski M, Bożyk J, Wasiak I, Ciach T (2014) Electrospun poly-L-lactic acid/ nanohydroxyapatite nanofibrous composite as a potential bone tissue replacement material. Inzynieria I Aparatura Chemiczna 53(4):322–323
- Woo YI, Park BJ, Kim HL, Lee MH, Kim J, Yang YI, Kim JK, Tsubaki K, Han DW, Park JC (2010) The biological activities of (1,3)-(1,6)-β-D-glucan and porous electrospun PLGA membranes containing β-glucan in human dermal fibroblasts and adipose tissue-derived stem cells. Biomed Mater 5(4):1–8
- Woodruff MA, Hutmacher DW (2010) The return of a forgotten polymer-polycaprolactone in 21st century. Prog Polym Sci 35(10):1217–1256
- Wright JB, Lam K, Buret AG, Olson ME, Burrell RE (2002) Early healing events in a porcine model of contaminated wounds: effects of nanocrystalline silver on matrix metalloproteinases, cell apoptosis, and healing. Wound Repair Regeneration 10(3):141–151
- Wu HB, Bremmer DH, Nie HL, Quan J, Zhu IM (2015) Electrospun polyvinyl alcohol/carbon dioxide modified polyethyleneimine composite nanofiber scaffolds. J Biomater Appl 29 (10):1407–1417
- Xin X, Hussain M, Mao JJ (2007) Continuing differentiation of human mesenchymal stem cells and induced chondrogenic and osteogenic lineages in electrospun PLGA nanofiber scaffold. Biomaterials 28(2):316–325
- Xu XL, Yang LX, Xu XY, Wang X, Chen XS, Liang QZ, Zeng J, Jing XB (2005) Ultrafine medicated fibers electrospun from W/O emulsions. J Controlled Release 108:33–42
- Xu X, Chen X, Xu X, Lu T, Wang X, Yang L, Jing X (2006) BCNU-loaded PEG/PLLA ultrafine fibers and their in vitro antitumor activity against Glioma C6 cells. J Controlled Release 114 (3):307–316
- Xu X, Chen X, Ma P, Wang X, Jing X (2008) The release behavior of doxorubicin hydrochloride from medicated fibers prepared by emulsion-electrospinning. Eur J Pharm Biopharm 70 (1):165–170
- Xu J, Zhang J, Gao W, Liang H, Wang H, Li J (2009a) Preparation of chitosan/PLA blend micro/ nanofibers by electrospinning. Mater Lett 63(8):658–660
- Xu X, Chen X, Wang Z, Jing X (2009b) Ultrafine PEG-PIA fibers loaded with both paclitaxel and doxorubicin hydrochloric and their in vitro cytotoxicity. Eur J Pharm Biopharm 72(1):18–25
- Xu X, Zhong W, Zhou S, Trajtman A, Alfa M (2010) Electrospun PEG–PLA nanofibrous membrane for sustained release of hydrophilic antibiotics. J Appl Polym Sci 118(1):588–595
- Yang D, Li Y, Nie J (2007) Preparation of gelatin/PVA nanofibers and their potential application in controlled release of drugs. Carbohyd Polym 69(3):538–543
- Yang Y, Li X, Cui W, Zhou S, Tan R, Wang C (2008) Structural stability and release profiles of proteins from core-shell poly(DL-lactide) ultrafine fibers prepared by emulsion electrospinning. J Biomed Mater Res Part A 86(2):374–385
- Yemuland O, Imae T (2008) Synthesis and characterization of poly(ethyleneimine) dendrimers. Colloids Polym Sci 286(6–7):747–752
- Yeum JH, Park JH, Kim IK, Cheong IW (2011) Electrospinning fabrication and characterization of water soluble polymer/montmorillonite/silver nanocomposite nanofibers out of aqueous solution. In: Reddy B (ed) Advances in nanocomposites—synthesis, characterization and industrial applications. InTech, Rijeka. https://doi.org/10.5772/14720
- You Y, Lee SW, Youk JH, Min BM, Lee SJ, Park WH (2005) In vitro degradation behavior of non-porous ultra-fine poly(glycolic acid)/poly(L-lactic acid) fibres and porous ultra-fine poly (glycolic acid) fibres. Polym Degrad Stab 90(3):441–448
- Yu Y, Kong L, Li L, Li N, Yan P (2015) Antitumor activity of doxorubicin-loaded carbon nanotubes incorporated poly(lactic-co-glycolic acid) electrospun composite nanofibers. Nanoscale Res Lett 10:343
- Zhang Y, Huang ZM, Xu X, Lim CT, Ramakrishna S (2004) Preparation of core-shell structured PCL-r-gelatin bi-component nanofibers by co-axial electrospinning. Chem Mater 16(18):3406–3409

- Zhang YZ, Venugopal JR, Huang ZM, Lim CT, Ramakrishna S (2005a) Characterization of the surface biocompatibility of the electrospun PCL-collagen nanofibers using fibroblasts. Biomacromolecules 6(5):2583–2589
- Zhang Y, Ouyang H, Lim CT, Ramakrishna S, Huang ZM (2005b) Electrospinning of gelatin fibers and gelatin/PCL composite fibrous scaffolds. J Biomed Mater Res B Appl Biomater 72(1):156–165
- Zhang YZ, Wang X, Feng Y, Li J, Lim CT, Ramakrishna S (2006) Coaxial electrospinning of (fluorescein isothiocyanate-conjugated bovine serum albumin)-encapsulated poly(ε-caprolactone) nanofibers for sustained release. Biomacromolecules 7(4):1049–1057
- Zhou YS, Yang D, Chen X, Xu Q, Lu F, Nie J (2008) Electrospun water-soluble carboxyethyl chitosan/poly(vinyl alcohol) nanofibrous membrane as potential wound dressing for skin regeneration. Biomacromolecules 9(1):349–354
- Zintchenko A, Philipp A, Dehshahri A, Wagner E (2008) Simple modifications of branched PEI lead to highly efficient siRNA carriers with low toxicity. Bioconjug Chem 19(7):1448–1455
- Zulkifli FH, Shahitha F, Yusuff MM, Hamidon NN, Chaha SS (2013) Cross-linking effect on electrospun hydroxyethyl cellulose/poly(vinyl alcohol) nanofibrous scaffolds. Procedia Eng 53:689–695

Biomedical Applications of Hydroxyapatite Nanocomposites



Mariappan Rajan and Murugan Sumathra

Abstract This book chapter details the recent and very recent work on biomedical applications of hydroxyapatite nanocomposites. Single component of hydroxyapatite-reinforced polymer nanocomposites imitate the inhabitant tissue microenvironment due to their porous and molecular structure. An emerging approach has been involved as the reinforced polymeric compounds and to include multiple functionalities. Wide ranges of nanocomposites such as carbon-based, polymeric, ceramic, and metallic nanomaterial can be integrated within the hydrogel network to obtain nanocomposites can be engineered to possess superior physical, chemical, electrical, and biological properties. Mainly this book chapter deals with the hydroxyapatite composites applied for various application specifically tissue engineering, drug delivery, gene carriers and photodynamic therapy are discussed.

Keywords Biomedical · Hydroxyapatite · Tissue regeneration

Abbreviations

ALG	Alginate
ALP	Alkaline phosphate activity
ARG	Arginine
AMX	Amoxillin-clavulanate
BMSCs	Bone marrow-derived mesenchymal stem cells
BSP	Bone sialoprotein
BMP-2	Bone Morphogenic Protein
β-TCP	Beta-Tri-calcium phosphate
CS	Chitosan
CMC	Carboxy Methyl Cellulose

M. Rajan (🖂) · M. Sumathra

Biomaterials in Medicinal Chemistry Laboratory, Department of Natural Products Chemistry, School of Chemistry, Madurai Kamaraj University, Madurai 625021, India e-mail: rajanm153@gmail.com

K. K. Sadasivuni et al. (eds.), Polymer Nanocomposites

in Biomedical Engineering, Lecture Notes in Bioengineering, https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-030-04741-2_6

[©] Springer Nature Switzerland AG 2019

CMPs	Chitosan microspheres
CNT	Carbon Nanotube
5-FCil	5-Fluorouracil
nCHA	Nanocrystalline Carbonated Hydroxyapatite
COLL	Collagen
Dox	Doxorubicin
DEX/BSA	Dexamethasone-bovine serum albumin
ECM	Extracellular Matrix
GG	Gellan gum
GM	Gentamicin
HA	Hydroxyapatite
n-HA	Nano-Hydroxyapatite
HARV	High Perspective Proportion Vessel
MBG/HA	Mesoporus Bioactive glass
MSCs	Mesenchymal stem cells
hMSCs	Human mesenchymal stem cells
MC3T3-E1	osteoblast cell line separated from mus musculus calvaria
MMT	Montmorillonite
PCL	Polycaprolactone
PEG	Polyethylene Glycol
PEI	Polyethylen imine
PHB	Poly(hydroxybutyrate)
PLGA	Poly(lactic-co-glycolic acid)
PLLA	Poly-L-Lactic acid
PLEA	Poly (ethylene adipate-co-D,L-lactic acid)
PVA	Polyvinyl alcohol
mRNA	messenger Ribonucleic acid
SA	Sodium Alginate
SF	Silk
SBF	Stimulated Body Fluid
M-THPP	Tetrakis Hydroxy Phenyl Porphrin
XRD	X-ray diffraction
XPS	X-ray photoelectron spectroscopy

1 Introduction

The ideal characteristics of nanocomposites have focused in prominent investigate significance, particularly within bio-therapeutic applications attributable to their biophysical characteristics. The distinctive sorts of nanocomposites as natural inorganic, inorganic–inorganic, and bioinorganic nanocomposites have permitted their utilization in clinical areas, for example, malignancy rehabilitation, drug delivery,



clinical imaging, and compound sensing (Zohaib et al. 2014; Muthu Vignesh et al. 2015). A nanocomposite is characterized while a numerous stages solid matter in which distinct of the stages has 1–3 dimensions less than 100 nm (Gaharwar et al. 2014; Wu et al. 2010). These substances might be both synthetically created or from the natural source. The objectives of this chapter are to concentrate on the primary uses of biocompatible hydroxyapatite (HA) nanocomposites, with specific concentrate on tissue revamp and rejuvenation (Govindaraj et al. 2017a; Govindaraj and Rajan 2018; Chung et al. 2016). Before to begin with this it is significant to establish the types of composites. Subsequently, the chapter will explore the significances identified with that particular territory of investigating (Fig. 1).

2 Established Hydroxyapatite Nanocomposite Information

Hydroxyapatite nanocomposites are a biocompatible substance and it appropriate for biomedical applications, because of the numerous physiological interfaces and physic-chemical performance at the nano-level. The terms tissue revamp also recovery can be utilized reciprocally, specifically while in orientation to injury recovering (Venkatesan and Kim 2014). On the other hand, in the right utilization, in renovate structure of tissue shapes the harmed tissue returning to normal functioning though in improvement undamaged tissues inside epithelia can renovate tissue to work as typical without wound formation (Samira and Khosro 2015; Pistone et al. 2014a).

The expressions for biocompatible fabrics can be a commitment to 1969, while Hench characterized the idea biocompatible fabrics as "one that evokes a particular physiological reaction at the interaction of the substance which brings about the arrangement of a bond among the tissues and the substance" (Hench et al. 1993). Hench gave an early criterion to the detail of biocompatible fabrics, which was spent until 1994 when a different two-characterization framework was recommended (Arcos et al. 2002). Class (I) substances (bio-glass) are Osseo-prolific, they acquire a bio-compacts exterior, which can be co-culture via osseo-genic stem cells as a result of the substance suggesting both an intra and extracellular reactions. Class (II) is Osseo-conductive, affording a bioactive exterior for Osseo cells relocation. This substance nature, an instance of which is reproduction hydroxyapatite, encourages only physiological reactions starting the objective tissue (Fig. 2).

Biocompatible can also identify with tissue engineering substances through the objective to make frameworks that consolidate together bio-inductive with bioresorbable characters that can perform in vivo process of tissue rejuvenation, prompting encouragement for the physique to cure itself, furthermore which at that point prompts substitution of the composite through the rejuvenated tissue (Oh et al. 2006).

The interface experienced with a composite can be significantly more capable than possible among micro-or macro-morphology substitutes, by biocompatible nanocomposites frequently being employed in one of two situations, whichever as a thin bio-stimulative deposition or as a mass item (Sumathra et al. 2017a, 2018a). With regard to tissue engineering, nanocomposites all the more firmly copy the structure of characteristic normal tissues (bone), which can be characterized as a profoundly progressive nanocomposite including nano-HA powder and collagen. Nano-hydroxyapatite is the chief inorganic constituent of teeth and bone.



Fig. 2 Schematic representation for HA-based nanocomposites of biomedical evaluations

Chemically fabricated n-HA is cytocompatible and widely used for orthopedics and orthodontic implants and sustainable drug discharge (Sumathra et al. 2018a, c). The nanocomposites enclose n-HA with biophysical properties close to those of physiological bones. Cytocompatibility investigations on the n-HA demonstrated safe to mesenchymal stem cells (MSCs) (Benning et al. 2017).

A perfect contestant for orthopedic and orthodontic inserts is n-HA owing to its tremendous bioactivity and bone combination capability. The exercise of n-HA bio-ceramics in medical applications is restricted because of its poor mechanical potency, fragility, and weariness breakdown. Additionally, revamp of orthopedic and orthodontic imperfections over 30 mm using tissue engineering techniques is a hard biomedical problem. Consequently, reinforcing material/nHA-based nanocomposites will be capable advance to defeat the aforementioned anxieties (Govindaraj et al. 2015; Sumathra et al. 2017b).

3 Classification of HA Nanocomposite

In HA, nanocomposite investigates there is numeral of decision for the part that includes the composite. Traditionally, they are described into the classifications based on the polymer network: polymer, metallic, ceramic, and hybrids-based nanocomposites (Fig. 3). HA nanocomposites have favorable circumstances above their ordinary partners as expanded quality, hardness, and assimilation protection, accomplished by refining particles dimension alongside improving the flexibility, custom, and super flexible owing to the nano-phase (Govindaraj et al. 2017b).



Fig. 3 Flowchart for HA nanocomposites

3.1 Polymer-Based Nanocomposites

As specified before, polymers are of extraordinary utilized in the biomedical field. The polymers employed in tissue rejuvenation can be also bio-decomposable or non-decomposable with can have a natural or synthetic origin. There are several researchers completed that macromolecules stimulated hard tissue construction in vivo animals models (Corcione et al. 2017; Roul et al. 2012). Mixtures of artificial and natural macromolecules have been experienced straight or in mixture with HA to imitate natural tissues and bone networks (Fig. 4).

3.1.1 Biopolymers Based HA Nanaocomposites

Polymers can fill as a framework having different characters with bio-decomposable (Corcione et al. 2017; Roul et al. 2012). Currently, biopolymer nanocomposites engaged with more consideration than artificial polymer nanocomposites for biomedical uses. This is frequently a result of the bioactive and bio-decomposable behavior of biopolymers. The biopolymer-based substances are natural macro-molecules which comprise chitosan, starch, hyaluronic acid, fibrin, soy, silk, collagen, and gels with a reputable variety of bio-fibers (Zheng et al. 2015). Biopolymers frequently force very sorted out structures and may contain extracellular materials, called ligand which is important to tie with cell acceptors. Biopolymers often have extremely sorted out structures, which can manage cells to develop at different phases of advancement; they may reinforce an insusceptible reaction in the meantime (Mano et al. 2007). A few biopolymers-based HA nanocomposites have accounted for their uses in biomedical application.



Fig. 4 Classification HA nanocomposites

3.1.2 Synthetic Polymers-Based HA Nanocomposites

Synthetic polymers have been employed in hard as well as soft tissue engineering owing to their improved mechanical strength and chemical constancy than natural macromolecules. Presently, synthetic polymers used for biomedical engineering are polyethylene, polypropylene, polytetrafluoroethylene, poly(vinyl chloride), polyamide, PMMA, poly(ethylene terephthalate), and PEEK among others. Synthetic polymer/HA nanocomposites are generally employed while tissue cannot be rejuvenated because of great sufferers or foraged patients with a fewer efficient self-curing capability of the tissue (Guo and Ma 2014).

3.1.3 Hybrids-Based HA Nanocomposites

Nanocomposites have recognized themselves as a capable class of hybrid substances derivative from biopolymer to artificial polymer also inorganic fillers. The natural polymer with synthetic polymer scaffolds, polymer with ceramic nanocomposites, and carbon-based nanocomposite combined with n-HA have been developed for bone graft substitute. All the fabricated nanocomposites demonstrated adequate pore range, increased mechanical strength, superior in cell adhesion and proliferation; sustain drugs and gene delivery, and ALP discharge with mineralization (Rao et al. 2017; McCarthy 2017; Reddy and Swamy 2005).

4 Applications of Hydroxyapatite Nanocomposites

The fabrication of nanocomposites will be discussed within each application. Each type of nanocomposite substances recommends its own advantages in imitating the association of natural tissue arrangement. An explanation of each application is subjected as follows.

4.1 Tissue Engineering Applications

Design and improvement of nanocomposites ready to replace the frame and capacity of local tissue and to advance recovery without rot/disfigure development is a present investigate theme. Nanocomposite substances can copy the regular topography of the extracellular matrix (ECM) that encompasses cells and thus might be perfect for recovery of tissue arrangements (Chen and Liu 2016). To this end, main qualities of the ECM ought to be considered: (A) a hybrid arrangement made out of bio-macromolecules and inorganic substance as well as (B) a polymer surface described by an excessive perspective proportion and a nanoscale size. These nanoscale substances can afford improved mechanical performance with permit appropriate transduction of the automatic stimulus toward the cellular stage.


Composites concerning natural and synthetic matrix and biocompatible reinforcement materials (nano-fillers) have been considered as a technique for tissue rejuvenation (Fig. 5). The reinforcement materials with nano-sized characteristics can seriously alter the physicochemical possessions of the bio-macromolecules matrixes, considering the designing of enhanced biomaterials that the entity materials cannot accomplish. The nanoparticles have an extensive surface region while contrasted with the regular micro-sized reinforcement materials, which can frame a stretched interaction by the macromere matrixes, contribution enhanced compressive characters, whereas keeping up the great osteo-conductivity as well as cytocompatibility of the reinforcement materials, accordingly impacting biomolecules adsorption, cells grip, expansion with integration for fresh tissue development (Bramhill 2017).

4.1.1 Biopolymer-Based HA Nanocomposites

Numerous natural polymeric substances have been examined for hard and soft tissue designing uses, despite the fact that the firm necessities for clinical requests cannot be proficient via solitary polymers. Subsequently, the multi-segment framework turns into a feasible technique and particularly the presentation of n-HA into natural polymers is a standout among the most appealing options (Rao et al. 2017).

Chitosan (CS) and its compounds are extremely smart contenders for composites in biomedical applications owing to their non-toxicity, biodegradability, pore configuration actions, appropriateness for the cell enlargement also essential bactericidal properties. Additional benefits of CS composites are the development of extremely spongy materials with consistent pores, and the capability to develop bone configuration both in vitro cell colonization and ex vivo animal studies (Pina et al. 2015; Tanase et al. 2013). Fabricated chitosan/HA nano-fibrous nanocomposite by improved human hFOBs propagation for hard tissue engineering. The viability of CS/n-HA composites was assessed (Nguyen et al. 2013; Govindaraj et al. 2018a; Hunter and Ma 2013). It was revealed that the CS/HA nanocomposite mechanical potency is in the sort of trabecular cartilage, propagation as well as segregation of osteoblast cells on the nanocomposite. Likewise, **MSCs** co-colonization on CS/HA nanocomposite demonstrated enlarged propagation while contrasted to that co-colonization on pristine CS (Liao et al. 2010; Kim et al. 2013). The synthesized porous CS/HA nanocomposite with 3D dimensions illustrating an excessive amount of propagation of osteoblast cell, attachment as well as ALP movement (Peng et al. 2012; Zhang et al. 2014).

Alginate (ALG) has been broadly utilized for tissue designing frameworks for hard tissue, skin, and ligament. Such enthusiasm for ALG is credited to its compound morphology, which takes after glycosaminoglycan one of the significant segments of the usual ECM in the human being tissue (Jiaxzhen et al. 2014). ALG/ HA nanocomposite fibrous scaffolds acquired utilizing electro-spinning and a biomimetic in situ fabrication has as of lately been proposed (Liu et al. 2012). This procedure brought about a uniform loading of nano-apatite on the nano-fibers, beating the serious cluster of composites handled via the ordinary mixing/ electro-spinning strategy. The connection of rodent osseous cells on these ALG frameworks was steadier than bond on pristine ALG.

Additionally, MSCs encapsulating HA/alginate nanocomposite have revealed compressive strength coordinated the accounted rates of cancellous tissues, and the summarize cells continued feasible with osteo-inductivity, yielding high ALP, and gene appearances (Bartkowiak-Jowsa et al. 2011). Similarly, it was published that nanocomposite of HA/ALG composite encourages the development of the hard tissue-like network in vitro for the rejuvenation of bone-chondral crossing point tissue manufacturing (Hu and Yu 2013; Kang et al. 2012; Gong et al. 2012; Luo et al. 2013; Park et al. 2014; Nguyen and Lee 2012; Lee et al. 2011; Zhao et al. 2010; Khanarian et al. 2012). Also, GG-based hydrogels blended with gellan gum/ HA nanocomposite hydrogels have been projected for cartilages and bone-chondral uses demonstrating better compressive with physiological properties in contrast to the micrometric composite (Bajaj et al. 2007). Besides, the addition of n-HA in hyaluronic acid networks has exposed high prospective for the healing of bone injury (Jansson et al. 1983; Correia et al. 2013; Kang and Veeder 1982).

The Coll/apatite composite showed superior compressive properties also the same high biochemical action as the Collagen control scaffold, exhibiting its potential as a hard tissue graft substitute in bone regenerative prescription. Gelatin/ n-HA nanocomposite-based porous materials fabricated via freeze dehydrate (Cunniffe 2010; Curtin 2012; Villa 2015). The mechanical strength of the nanocomposites was very close to normal cartilage. In vitro investigations demonstrated superior adhesion and propagation of human MSCs on Coll/apatite composite (Sotome et al. 2004; Maehara et al. 2010). Gelatin/n-HA nanocomposite synthesized by a co-precipitation technique. This nanocomposite displayed a mechanical potency of 13,300 kPa and demonstrated a superior bioactive founded on cell adhesion, propagation, ALP formation, and mineralization investigations (Marino et al. 2016; Djagny et al. 2001; Gorgieva and Kokol 2011; Barbani et al. 2012; Baheiraei et al. 2015; Bakhtiari et al. 2010; Khan et al. 2012; Azami et al. 2010).

Silk (SF)-based nanocomposite materials with improved biophysical and biochemical properties have been established for hard tissue engineering (Li et al. 2006; Kim et al. 2005, 2008; Unger et al. 2004; Suganya et al. 2014). The addition of n-HA/SF nanocrystal into silk demonstrated a progressed porous morphology, osteogenic integrations, and in vivo cartilage formation (Liu et al. 2011; Niu et al. 2012). SF composites in mixture with mesenchymal stem cells for hard as well as ligament tissues production have been developed (Tanaka et al. 2007). The osseous cell integration of stem cells, L929 cells, and MG63 is fusion of SF composites (He et al. 2012).

Schemes-based on Collagen fibers as well as n-HA are the nanocomposite substances most considered because the indicated constituents are prearranged at the nanoscale in normal cartilages (Sotome et al. 2004). Electro-spinning is potentially the least demanding approach to join natural's polymers having a nano-fiber topography with biocompatible inorganic substances, for example, HA (Maehara et al. 2010). In addition, the produced nano-fibers may have suitable properties focused on bone recovery.

Little quantities of n-HA powder can be joined keen on the fiber mats strands in three distinctive methods to rely upon the virtual volume among substances and fibers. In this manner, surface connection, incomplete encapsulation, and the aggregate embodiment can be watched if the measurement of the mats is altogether littler, comparative, with bigger, separately than that of the n-HA. Fractional and sum loading of n-HA are normal for strands enclosing a lot of substances. Finished loading of nano-powder might be great while compressive strength is measured, though fractional nano-substances interface to the mats exterior ought to be high sufficient toward upgrade the biocompatibility of the spun mats.

Electro-spinning of polymer–filler nanocomposites may have intrinsic issues identified with the readiness of a uniform electrospinnable arrangement. Moreover, it has been accounted for that relying upon the dissolvable electro-spun regular biopolymers should prompt a denatured shape that free the common physiological properties got as of their morphology. For instance, the multiple helixes normal for Collagen atoms are gone in the wake of electro-spinning offering ascend to gelatin (Hassan et al. 2014; Tetteh et al. 2014; Fadiran et al. 2018; Illa et al. 2018). However, cross-connected electro-spun Collagen is accepted to in any case have great prospective as a nano-fibrous substrate for bone rejuvenation.

Electro-spinning of n-HA specifically blended with a gelatin arrangement is difficult since more often than not prompt the development of inexhaustible beads. The issue can be proficiently comprehended by electro-spinning natural solutions of a formerly formed HA/gelatin precipitate. n-HA showed up for this situation very much dispersed in the gelatin framework showing a uniform nano-fibrous topography. Strangely, amino acids having a place with the natural polymer appear to be ready to balance the precipitation of n-HA (Junxing et al. 2006; Jianchao and Ping 2012).

4.1.2 Synthetic Polymer-Based HA Nanocomposite

Incredible endeavors are subsequently occupied in control of the uniform of the macromolecule/inorganic composite and to maintain a strategic distance from the disturbance of fiber texture, being the utilization of ultrafine n-HA powder a key instrument. The interfacial attachment has likewise been fortified by adjusting n-HA with surface-united macromere to enhance communications with the hydrophobic polyesters (Cunningham et al. 2011) (Fig. 6).

The 3D PLGA/HA nanocomposite has been produced while a prospective hard tissue engineering network appropriate for elevated perspective proportion container bio-responders uses. The mix of these frameworks with stem cells in bio-responders may take into consideration the production of designed hard tissue. Consequences have a biomedical importance because tissue engineering develops may give contrasting options to customary bone grafts (Jose et al. 2009). To enhance the bioactivity of n-HA/Poly (L-Lactide Acid), the polymerization of PLLA on n-HA exteriors by various exterior OH⁻ ions usefulness was achieved. The PLLA-g-HA nanocomposite could be steadily scattered in CHCl₃ and could be effectively electro-spun providing hard tissue directed recovery layers of potential intrigue (Lan et al. 2014; Wang et al. 2016).

Fine mixing of HA with water-soluble polymers, for example, the polyethylene glycol has additionally been shown viable toward enhancing properties because of the solid interfacial grip among HA and the hydrophilic polymer (Govindaraj et al. 2017c; Akhbar et al. 2017). Lamentably, hydrophilic PEG needs biodegradability and is not steady in watery conditions without fabrication cross-connecting, influencing un-modified polyethylene glycol inadmissible for manufacturing decomposable HA-polymer nanocomposites by spin coating. To defeat this test, triblock copolymer PELA was likewise assessed (Kutikov et al. 2013). HA-PELA nanocomposite was remarkably extensible, superhydrophilic, advanced osteo-chondral genetics responsibility of BMSCs cells, and reinforced osteogenic quality articulation upon induction. Results unmistakably maintain that consolidation of PEG shows up a powerful procedure to enhance the execution of degradable polymer/HA nanocomposites for hard tissue designing applications.



Fig. 6 Mechanism of osteogenic integration

HA nanocomposites with poly(L-Lactide Acid) or poly(lactic-co-glycolic acid) have good compressive strengths except may demonstrate poor effects produced via degradation results from this macromolecule on the nearby cells (Gentile et al. 2014). Subsequently, an expanding attention carries on to investigate the perspective utilization of further degradable macromolecule. Polyvinyl alcohol, an aqua-solvent as well as the degradable macromolecule, has been utilized broadly in the clinical area as a result of its cytocompatibility, demonstrated mechanical quality, and anabolic impact on hard tissues arrangement (Chen et al. 2017).

Furthermore, PVA has a self-crosslink capacity owing to the bottomless numeral of hydroxyl active groups originating from the monomer sequence. Though, nano-fibers have confinements, quick dissociation, and a biostatic character that damage the biomolecules and cell bond (Zafar et al. 2016). So as to enhance the properties of PVA nano-fibers, n-HA and collagen were joined by the electro-spinning procedure. These nanocomposites could associate with PVA particles expanding the hydrolytic protection and enhancing mechanical properties. These inorganic-natural nanocomposites were observed to be in vitro biodegradable and indicated an upgraded attachment and multiplication of murine osseous cells (Song et al. 2012).

As an elective approach for n-HA with PVA nano-fiber nanocomposites were synthesized via spinning-coating additionally after that calcium deposition was done for secure in a medium of calcium/phosphate toward nature an n-HA film. These deposited Ca particles in the fiber could leave about as nucleation locales with enhanced promote phase development amid secure treatment. Very permeable three-dimensional nano-fibrous HA/polymer nanocomposites were effectively given for prospective applications in hard tissue engineering (Antonio et al. 2016).

Electro-spun nanocomposites were likewise fabricated from n-HA to PLGA/PCL (Cai et al. 2017). It was demonstrated that the combination of n-HA could back off the biodegradation degree of PLGA-based substances in HA-subordinate way. Under pH 8, the n-HA may respond to balance acidic biodegradation results of poly (lactic-co-glycolic acid)as well as in this manner may maintain a strategic distance from their unfriendly impact on the hard tissue reaction as showed through bring down filtration of provocative cells subsequent to in vivo surgery (Cai et al. 2017).

Physiological characters, for example, cell multiplication, interaction, and ALP movement were established to increment the apatite deposition on the outer surface of fiber mats by means of interchange extinguish development as opposed to electro-spinning a macromere arrangement containing nanoparticles (Dongming et al. 2016). The n-HA deposition has additionally been performed over uniform CS nano-fibers by using SBF. After six days, SBF immersed the CS fiber mats were observed to be adequate to achieve the greatest mineralization. Besides, tissue feasibility and integration on these deposited nano-fibers was considerably higher than on non-deposited CS nano-fibers (Thien et al. 2015; Frohbergh et al. 2012). The amino and hydroxyl groups on CS went about as atomic conditions for the arrangement of n-HA in simulative body fluid action. Also, the expansion in the particular exterior territory of platforms expanded the powerful thickness of cores for n-HA development.

Electro-spinning was connected to manufacture PLLA layers that were grafted on their exterior with CS through aminolysis responses. The biocompatibility of the layer was shown by XRD, XPS subsequent to absorbing simulative body fluid. The stores had a calcium/phosphate proportion of 1.67, showing the n-HA arrangement on poly(lactic-co-glycolic acid)/CS film. Contrasted with an unadulterated PLLA electro-spun film that was relatively non-decomposable, the debasement degree of poly(lactic-co-glycolic acid)/CS nanocomposite was capable of 30% of every a month and a half while keeping up its fundamental engineering to continue supporting the recovered tissue (Chen et al. 2013a). Electrospraying of n-HA nanoparticles onto the exterior of macromere nano-fibers shows up likewise a capable system for upgrade attachments, multiplication, with an integration of stem cells. The capable outcome was particularly accomplished while n-HA were electro-sprayed on the exterior of PCL nano-fibers for hard and soft tissue engineering (Seyedjafari et al. 2010).

Injectable hydrogels with enhanced arrangement steadiness and upgraded hard tissue repair work were created by mixing triblock copolymers with n-HA. Furthermore, the joining of reinforcing nano-substances addicted to polymer framework prompted a sustainable reduction on basic gelation parameters to regard

to the pristine composite (Liu et al. 2017). n-HA/PLA fabricated via air-jet spinning as a new and simplistic nanocomposite preparation procedure. Advanced cell enlargement and propagation were experiential on n-HA-PLA nanocomposite contrasted to pure PLA with MC3T3 osseous cells (Kondiah et al. 2016). Poly-2-hydroxyethylmethacrylate, poly(hydroxyl butyrate-co-hydroxyvalerate), poly diisopropyl fumarate and poly-2-hydroxyethylmethacrylate nanocomposites were fabricated with n-HA-PCL as a choice for hard and soft tissue engineering. Poly(caprolactone fumarate)-N-vinyl pyrrolidone nanocomposites with n-HA were fabricated by solvent vanishing and electro-spinning technique. n-HA/Polymer nanocomposites could bolster the development of MSCs and guide their osteogenic separation. After refined hMSCs on nanocomposite nano-fibers, the joining of either HA to the polymer nano-fibers did not influence cell practicality, in the meantime, the nearness of the mineral stage builds the action of ALP, and mRNA articulation stages of the bone cell transmitted qualities, in all-out nonappearance of osseous-genic enhancements (Kondiah et al. 2016; Mousa et al. 2018).

4.1.3 Hybrids Polymer-Based HA Nanocomposite

Not withstanding characteristic bio-macromolecules like Coll, ALG, as well as CS, diverse bio-decomposable engineered macromolecules have likewise been assessed to acquire nanocomposites with biocompatible-reinforcing substances via utilizing the spin-coating procedure. Along these lines, PLA, PLGA, PCL, and PHB have been examined with various accomplishments because of the issues related to their hydrophobic character that formulates hard to get a uniform as well as the great scattering of the fillers stages. Indeed, nano-fillers tend to aggregate in the spin-coating arrangement also prompt the development of dabs. For instance, this issue has been as late abstained from utilizing surface active agent toward balance out the inter-stage among n-HA substance and the Poly(L-Lactide acid) (Bajaj et al. 2007; Liu et al. 2017; Kondiah et al. 2016; Hajiali et al. 2018). Determined nano-filament frameworks can advance osseous cell development and phenotype articulation on the larger amount than platforms in view of strands without the bioactive n-HA.

4.1.4 Miscellaneous Nanocomposites

Bio-clays, 45S5 Bio-glass, KGS Ceravital, 55S4 Bio-glass, A/W glass-ceramic, KGX ceravital, Al_2O_3 -Si₃N₄, SWCNT, MWCNT, calcium sulfate, and graphene combined with n-HA have been developed for bone graft substitute. All the fabricated nanocomposites showed enough pore volume, increased mechanical strength, excellent in cell attachments, and improved cell propagation, ALP emission and mineralization (Mousa et al. 2018; Sumathra and Rajan 2017; Bellucci et al. 2017; Basirun et al. 2017; Zhijiang et al. 2018; Park et al. 2017; Hossein et al. 2017; Ponnamma et al. 2018; Meng et al. 2018).

4.2 Applications of HA Nanocomposites as Drug Delivery Systems

Enhancing human well-being is at present experiencing an explosion of consideration drove by the utilization of nanocomposites to convey drugs to cells. Such HA nanocomposites are designed with the goal that they are pulled in particularly to sick cells, which takes into account the immediate treatment of those cells, enhancing adequacy, diminishing reactions, and generally enhancing human well-being. This method diminishes the side effects of medications in the body. Though, in spite of the guarantee of nanomedicine over all problems, there are various burdens for utilizing these nano-drug conveyance vehicles, which ought not to be disregarded. Medications conveyed from nanoscale elements may act uniquely in contrast to when conveyed in an ordinary or customary frame (Goldberg et al. 2007) (Fig. 7).

4.2.1 Biopolymer-Based HA Nanocomposite

HA has high absorbability and restricting proclivity with an assortment of atoms and in this manner, constitutes a perfect composite to be utilized as medication conveyance framework, and furthermore in division, isolation, as well as refinement



Fig. 7 Antibacterial properties of HA nanaocomposites

of biomolecules (Chung et al. 2016). HA substance can be effortlessly suspended down at low pH as clarified before; furthermore, they can without much stretch discharges the fused drug in proper situations. Nanocomposites intended for tissue designing applications are an unmistakable case of fascinating medication conveyance frameworks, since they can have an additional esteem when going about as stores for drugs. The sustained arrival of anti-infection agents, anticancer drugs, and development elements to dispose of disease and protect osseous cell integration is, for instance, a pertinent theme for the plan of porous implantable gadgets of osteogenisis (Govindaraj et al. 2018b; Venkatasubbu et al. 2011).

Bioactive particles can be fused into bioactive composites via physisorption. This straightforward strategy can accomplish neighborhood delivery, however, in addition a constrained fleeting control over discharge kinetics. On the other hand, development factor can be consolidated amid the framework arrangement, being conceivable for this situation to get a homogeneous circulation and a slower discharge. In any case, keeping in mind the end goal will not harming the bioactive particle of the scaffold fabrication step alerts must be fittingly considered. The adsorption and arrival of medications depend additionally on the surface of n-HA. As a rule, the examinations as of recently performed demonstrated that n-HA and medications can be chosen such that the biocompatible of the medicine-HA composite could be custom fitted for particular remedial uses. Several fascinating late efforts concentrated on the utilization of n-HA as medication delivery framework legitimacy to be remarked (Venkatesan and Kim 2014).

Minocycline, a semi-manufactured antibiotic medication anti-toxin that is additionally intriguing for upgrading bone development, diminish bridging tissue collapse, moreover reduce osseous resorption, was stacked in a bio-substance integrated utilizing a bio-imitating technique. The n-HA-gelatin-minocycline nanocomposite was gotten in the wake of maturing overnight and frizz drying. n-HA was observed to be all around circulated equally in the fibrils of gelatin. The medication was gradually discharged from the nanocomposite and advanced rodent bone marrow stromal cells attachment, expansion, and integration in vitro (Vekatesan and Kim 2014).

Alginate/HA nanocomposite circles were set up by adding n-HA powder to a watery alginate arrangement and consequent drops-wise expulsion of the framed glue into a Ca connecting arrangement. Round molded particles were promptly created by a volume that could be controlled by managing the expulsion stream speed. Powerful dosages of antimicrobials (i.e., erythromycin and amoxicillin) were beforehand stacked via drenching of n-HA in antimicrobial arrangement and consequent dehydrated. Osseous multiplied well on composites, being cell development improved within the sight of anti-infection agents with particularly erythromycin displayed the majority gainful impact. Consolidating the controlled antitoxin discharge with the osteo-inductive prospective used as injectable hard tissues filling substance are permeable nanocomposites, these frameworks gave a forward overlap advantageous impact (Dou et al. 2011).

Microwave light strategy was utilized to blend acid functionalized n-HA, and n-HA/CS-gelatin nanocomposite spheres were formed by the water/oil emulsion

technique joined with various emulsification mixture crosslink procedure. n-HA was extraordinarily inserted by CS-gelatin offering ascend to circular microspheres. Gentamicin could be viably stacked with a normal entanglement effectiveness of 49.20%. Nanocomposite could keep up restorative fixation inside 3 days (Govindaraj et al. 2017d).

Drug-loaded bioactive nanocomposite is utilized for the treatment of bone and teeth problems and remedial action of disease or provocative response after surgical implantation. An antimicrobial (amoxicillin-AMX) and anticancer (5-fluorouracil-5FCil) sedate loaded microwave-warmed n-HA/agarose nanocomposite gave a stretched out medication discharge when contrasted with the as-combined and the traditionally warmed specimens. The specimens were hemo-compatible and sedate loaded powders were firmly dynamic against the most widely recognized bacterial strains. Nanocomposite powder could be utilized for bone filling, medicate conveyance and for reconstructive surgery applications (Budiatin et al. 2014).

The nanocomposites are tremendously utilized for filling of voids in bone and as drug delivery carrier to keep the infection or burning response in the harmed tissues. Mesoporous, n-CHA/agarose nanocomposites with n-CHA exemplified by agarose were set up by solvothermal strategy at two distinct temperatures (120 and 150 °C). At 150 °C, prolonged nanorods of nanocomposites have formed. The nanocomposites demonstrated a controlled sedate (AMX, 5-FCil) discharge and the high antimicrobial movement against normal bacterial stain of E. coli, S. aureus, and S. epidermidis in complexity to calcined (n-HA) tests. The devise of porous nanocomposites showed an improved surface territory, bioactivity, managed sedate discharge, and high antimicrobial safe against gram-positive and gram-negative local microscopic organisms, empowering their void filling applications for bone and drug delivery framework. The calcined tests can be utilized for the fast arrival of the anti-toxin and against tumor medication to harmed tissues (Kolanthai et al. 2016).

Local antimicrobial delivery is favored for treating periodontitis because of the advantages of high neighborhood sedate fixation and insignificant symptoms. Conversely, marketable polymeric drug delivery frameworks need bioactivity and need extra hard tissue joining to treat the periodontal bone misfortune. Calcium inadequate HA (CDHA) consolidated gelatin–alginate (GA) films were created as anti-infection delivery bone substitutes for treating infra bony periodontal imperfections. CDHA were consolidated into GA polymer mix films arranged by salting out technique. GA/CDHA nanocomposite films equipped with supported antimicrobial delivery while all the while encouraging alveolar bone recovery was created (Isikli et al. 2012).

n-HA/Coll-ALG nanocomposites have been created as a cartilage filler as well as drug delivery cargo. In particular, development features that invigorated hard tissue arrangement were stacked in the nanocomposites (Madhumathi et al. 2018). Permeable HA/collagen frameworks are exceedingly effective for together cartilage and ligament recovery and have furthermore been composed as bearers for skin cell development feature (Amaro Martins and Goissis 2000). Ca-inadequate apatite

(CIA)/CS scaffolds have likewise been set up as medication stacked grids, as well as the sustain arrival of nutrients from such networks assessed (Kane et al. 2015). Furthermore, the part of macromolecule-reinforcing materials collaboration in the drug delivery was additionally assessed. It was discovered that both the measure of CDHA fused and the engineered procedure adjusted essentially the degree of the filler–polymer interface, which impacts clearly the distribution example and porous of CDHA/CS nanocomposites. Consequently, CDHA could simultaneously assume the parts as bioactive nano-filler and medication discharge controller (Bose and Tarafder 2012).

4.2.2 Synthetic Polymer-Based HA Nanocomposite

Electro-spun composite made out of PCL/Coll/HA was established to help more noteworthy stem cells grip, multiplication, also the initiation of integrin-connected flagging falls than platforms made out of PCL or collagen only. Likewise, these cartilage-imitating composites were demonstrated toward fill in as bearers for the conveyance of the platelet-inferred developed feature, which can intersect osseous chemo axis. This developed feature was adsorbed toward, moreover along these lines discharged from PCL/Coll/HA composite in a superior sum than utilizing ordinary polycaprolactam frameworks. The composite discharged was chemically dynamic, demonstrating that biocompatible was not decreased by sorption to the bio-substances (Liu et al. 2006).

Fresh polycaprolactam/polyvinyl alcohol composite mixed with together n-HA along with Collagen has been contemplated. DOX and dexamethasone were effectively consolidated into these coaxial nano-fibers for sustain discharge. These nano-fibers embodying medicines demonstrated incredible prospective in improving insert bone cell coordination also anticipating insert contamination (Phipps et al. 2012). Permeable triphasic nanocomposites for hard tissue designing and medication conveyance scaffold were additionally arranged from n-HA, bio-decomposable calcium connected polyvinyl alcohol with SA via the strategy for co-precipitation. It was exhibited that n-HA segment could scatter consistently in PVA/SA copolymer grid. Phenomenal solubility existed between the three stages as well as between otherwise intra-hydrogen holdings could be shaped with the three stages. The passage of polyvinyl alcohol network in the compound improved the compressive strength of the nanocomposite (Song et al. 2013).

Osteomyelitis is an extreme problem that generates dynamic hard tissue annihilation and the development of sequestra. A ceaseless spread of disease, hematogenous seeding, and coordinate immunization of microorganisms are conceivable causes that ought to be kept away from by utilizing, for instance, GM as an aminoglycoside anti-toxin. The GM-loaded composite was assessed toward broadening the medication discharge occasion for the action of constant osteomyelitis. The composites were set up an arrangement comprised of n-HA, CS, with GM-stacked EC composite. These composites were furnished by superb

medication discharge properties that help an extraordinary corrective impact on the behavior of endless osteomyelitis (Wang et al. 2010).

Healing impact of the tetra component framework comprised via PBH-PEG-GM/n-HA has been assessed as a neighborhood sedate delivery framework for osteomyelitis treatment. Staphylococcus aureus was infused into animal tibia toward deciding the impact of conveyed sedate. Consequences demonstrated that the gentamicin stacked platform could be embedded as essential unity keen on the staying contaminated deformity to adequately treat osteomielitis (Shi et al. 2010; Popelka et al. 2018).

4.2.3 Hybrids Polymer-Based HA Nanocomposite

Significant endeavors have been made to build up an appropriate biocompatible platform for hard and soft tissue designing. A permeable CS-PLLA-co-acrylamide/ HA composite was combined via a several-step course as a bone embeds and a medication bearer. Celecoxib as a model medication was effectively stacked into the readied platforms due to the substantial particular surface territory. The in vitro arrival of the medication showed a biphasic design with a small starting rupture with a supported arrival of two weeks. The outcomes proposed that the cytocompatible nanocomposite frameworks may be effective embeds in bone tissue engineering (Zhang et al. 2011).

PCL-Gel composite nano-fibers arranged by electro-spinning method were utilized as the co-conveyance arrangement of Dox and n-HA. The co-conveyance arrangement of Dox and n-HA has a double helpful impact. To start with, the impacts of Dox/n-HA treatment on Caco-2, 4T1 and 431 tumor cells, and the outcomes demonstrate that the mix of the two operators advances higher cytotoxic impact in vitro contrasted with single-specialist treatment. Second, the blended treatment of the discharged Dox/n-HA from PCL/Gel is more proficient in its capacity to repress S. aureus and P. gingivalis microscopic organisms development in a static situation. Obviously, utilization of anti-infection agents as anticancer medication shapes an essential procedure for the treatment of early malignant injuries and progressed metastatic illness. In this regard, Dox/n-HA-stacked PCL/ Gel composite nano-fibers are exceptionally appealing for biomedical applications, for example, postsurgical chemotherapeutic gadgets and additionally encouraging material in the field of periodontal recovery (Samaneh and Samandari 2017). Some common application of hydroxyapatite in drug delivery is illustrated in Fig. 8.

4.2.4 Miscellaneous Nanocomposites

Successful addition of the MBG particles to the nano-fibrillar (Nf) gelatin network give substance exceptional properties for its application in hard tissues treatment, for example, high antibiotic stacking limit and supported discharge capacity, solidness, swelling and debasement rate limitation and osteoprogenitor cells



Fig. 8 Application of hydroxyapatite composites in drug delivery

biocompatibility. Industrial versatility potential regarding process dependability and nonappearance of dangerous substance specialists, low crude substance natural price, and immunogenicity are other vital favorable circumstances supporting MBG-Nf Gel as a prospective possibility to grow to assist for application as the local anti-infection gadget in hard tissues surgery and treatment (Ramirez-Agudelo et al. 2018). The manufactured HA/MWCNT/Fe₃O₄ nanocomposites indicated high cytocompatibility, and the clodronate-doped frameworks could discharge the medication in vitro, demonstrating a superior diminishment of the osteoclast development contrasted with the parent ones not including clodronate; specifically, the osteoclast restraint action for the attractive HA clodronate-substituted framework is equivalent to that applied by clodronate only. This composite can symbolize a multistage that could be utilized for hard and soft tissue designing functions (Pistone et al. 2014a).

Biocompatible inorganic substances are appealing for hard tissue recovery, and they are utilized as conveyance vehicles for pharmaceutical particles, segments for nanocomposites. The bioactive glass (BG) nanospheres that exhibited the ability to release the drug molecules. Permeable BG circles were stacked with ibuprofen (IBU); they displayed a supported discharge profile in reproduced body liquid (SBF). Meanwhile, the IBU-stacked BG nanospheres corrupted in SBF, and actuated apatite layer development at first glance because of their great bioactivity. At the point when the BG nanospheres were utilized as composite filler to PCL, they were appeared to be successful at enhancing the in vitro bioactivity of PCL microspheres (Sara Borrego et al. 2018).

The DEX/BSA-stacked MBG/n-HA nanocomposites displayed and all the while maintained discharge conduct, and the DEX/BSA discharge speeds diminished with expanding the calcification time frame. Consequently, the calcification of bio-glass substances to shape the MBG/HA nanocomposites is a capable methodology to manage co-conveyance of remedial medications and biomolecules for cartilage recovery (Pistone et al. 2014b). Ibuprofen loaded into sodium montmorillonite, CS, and CS montmorillonite nanocomposites as a sustained release drug carrier. The consequences exposed that ibuprofen was released from MMT, CS, and Mod-CS/ MMT progressively and was pH dependent (Wang and Li 2016).

4.3 Applications of HA Nanocomposites as Gene Carriers

In the area of tissue designing, the part of quality treatment in helping injury recuperating and care for different ailments/deformities has turned out to be progressively essential. The utilization of n-HA-based nanocomposite in quality conveyance has developed as a famous and essential conveyance vehicle for getting controlled quality conveyance (Zhu et al. 2014). The primary test for any fruitful little meddling RNA-based treatments is the innovative work of a proficient in vivo conveyance vehicle. Li et al. (Abdeen and Salahuddin 2013) recommended the productive conveyance by means of intravenous organization of RNA to a xenograft tumor display utilizing HA nanopowder with a normal width of around 60-80 nm covered through liposome. As indicated by the writers, the nanoparticle demonstrated high-quality hushing proficiency in refined pancreatic tumor cells without related cytotoxicity. Intravenously infused nanoparticles consolidating vascular endothelium development factor siRNA prompted huge lessening in tumor development. Right now, n-HA is a standout among the most alluring non-viral vectors being explored for the in vitro conveyance of plasmid DNA (pDNA) into refined cells because of elements, for example, the simplicity of dealing with, biodegradability, biocompatibility and known adsorption limit with regards to pDNA (Fig. 9).

4.3.1 Biopolymer-Based HA Nanocomposite

Non-viral quality treatment turns out to be these days a quickly developing system for the healing of both gained as well as acquired maladies. Non-viral vectors have clear favorable circumstances because of their low or no immunogenicity, generally basic arrangement methodology, minimal effort, and high adaptability to oblige the measure of the conveyed transgene (Li 1998).



Awesome endeavors are engaged, for instance, in the advancement of quality conveyance frameworks that can secure pDNA and forces a prospective focusing on capacity. The benefits of HA substance lie in its common productivity for an extensive variety of soft tissue, straightforwardness, viability, and bio-decomposition. Combination of HA/DNA buildings can be executed through co-precipitation, embodiment, multi-orbital morphology arrangement, with cover. These edifices can be consolidated into the tissue via endocytosis through shaping ECMcargos, which converge with biomolecules. Top nanoparticles can be broken down still in low acidic support discharging gene. In this manner, the gene can be discharged in the endosomal section and in the long run enter the cores of cells to impact quality exchange and articulation (Qiu et al. 2007).

The take-up component of HA materials through tissue is still under scrutiny because the course of the section of HA furthermore their last intracellular confinement is unequivocal for a prospective use as quality conveyance specialist. For HA nanoparticles, a macro pinocytosis component appears to be supported as derived from contemplating completed utilizing particular inhibitors for the diverse take-up forms. A direct centralization of HA nanoparticles inside cells is wanted to keep away from cell apoptosis created when a high intracellular Cacontents achieved subsequent to the disintegration of HA (Sun et al. 2009).

Resulting atomistic subatomic elements reproductions permitted reasoning that the foundation of the DNA twofold helix can go about as at template for HA development (Sumathra et al. 2018b). Hypothetical estimations were additionally validated by the planning of nanocapsules and HA with DNA inside. These composite shows up very important for clinical purposes requiring the insurance of gene from forceful ecological circumstances.

Diverse pertinent works have been accounted for in the most recent decade to investigate the utilization of n-HA as exceedingly encouraging quality transporter vectors. HA/DNA nano-half and halves from lamellar-organized HA. Gel electrophoresis examination affirmed that the lamellar HA could shield gene from the

Fig. 9 Gene delivery profile

debasement of DNase I. The so-secured gene could be recuperated promptly under acidic circumstances and the honesty of discharged gene was affirmed by UV–vis spectra. EGFP-N1 pDNA on n-HA as well as in this way exhibited these buildings transfected in vitro the plasmid into disease SGC-7901 cells with proficiency $\sim 80\%$ (Neumann et al. 2009; Bertran et al. 2013).

Arginine (ARG)-adjusted nano-HA could shape quickly nanocomposite with gene by electrostatic collaboration. These nanoparticles could adequately tie and ensure gene and be measured as a prospective quality bearer (Chen et al. 2013b). DNAzymes are manufactured, single-stranded, synergist DNA that quandary also divide target mRNA in a grouping particular way. These have been investigated for geno-healings in spite of the fact that their application is genuinely blocked because of the absence of an effective conveyance framework. That all around n-HA can be using as a carrier. It was watched that in a rat cancer display, the ARG-n-HA composite was productively conveyed to cancer cells, down regulating articulation of dormant film biomolecules in nasopharyngeal carcinoma tissues and smothering cancer development (Nouri et al. 2012).

4.3.2 Synthetic Polymer-Based HA Nanocomposite

New ternary HA/biopolymer/engineered polymer composite networks—involving β -TCP as well as nHA, Coll, GAG, and PCL—were read utilizing cryogelation strategy. They got nanocomposite platform as a quality conveyance framework demonstrated that it can be proficiently stacked with polyplexes shaped between the non-viral vectors in light of PEI25 and a pDNA, and that this one can go about as a warehouse for the managed arrival of hereditary material, transgene articulation being seen at an abnormal state until 3 weeks. It was likewise discovered that the framework diminishes the harmfulness of cationic hyper expanded polymer PEI 25 while keeping up an expanded quality transfection for PEI25/pDNA framework relative to pDNA alone in HEK 293T cells. In this way, the cross-breed bio-substance could speak to a decent contender for the regenerative drug, as a framework or reasonable stage for quality conveyance (Raina et al. 2018).

A gelatin/n-HA platform was set up by glutaraldehyde synthetic crosslinking of a gelatin fluid arrangement with n-HA granules and after that BMP-2 stacked fibrin stick was consolidated. The readied half breed framework had a three-dimensional permeable morphology and could be utilized as a bone marrow protein-2 maintained discharge framework to enhance the regeneration in vivo of a basic volume sectional cartilage imperfection (Kaito et al. 2005).

4.3.3 Hybrids Polymer-Based HA Nanocomposites

CMPs typified with manufactured protein got from bone marrow protein-2 were arranged also joined on a framework comprising on n-HA, Coll, and PLLA (Wang et al. 2013). The composites showed up as a perfect conveyance framework for the

maintained arrival of bone marrow protein-2-inferred engineered protein and existing advancement for the conveyance of development features. The incredible bioactive of the CMPs/n-HA/PLLA nanocomposite was credited to both the CS part and the biocompatible engineered peptide embodied within.

CMPs containing adrenomedullin (ADM), a biocompatible administrative protein that influences relocation and expansion of assorted tissue, were likewise consolidated and all around scattered into a half-breed platform constituted through PLGA and n-HA. The expansion of CMPs expanded aqua assimilation and enhanced the compressive strength of the frameworks without influencing their articulation levels elevated porosity. The of osteogenic-related and angiogenic-related qualities were likewise enhanced the ADM conveyance frameworks, upgrading the enthusiasm of such for osseous tissue building. BMPs, particularly BMP-2, are the best in actuating complete bone morphogenesis. A sustained, limited conveyance framework is one of the most extreme significance in ensuring BMP-2 biocompatible and drawing out its quality at the imperfection site for powerful cartilage recovery (Seeherman and Wozney 2005).

4.3.4 Miscellaneous Nanocomposites

2D-layered materials show wanted functionalities while being utilized as quality conveyance materials. In this investigation, a novel quality vector, overlaid attractive hydroxyapatite, is blended through a template strategy in situ. The outcomes propose that the LM-HA is potential to be connected with focusing on quality conveyance and quality division (Zuo et al. 2012). A basic aqueous methodology was executed to get ready n-HA nanorods developed on graphene oxides (GO) sheet. The CD comes about were all around bolstered by enduring state and lifetime estimations, which too demonstrate that the instrument of unfurling and ensuing refolding is reversible in nature despite the fact that the protein does not recover its structure in totality. The fabricated HA/GO nanocomposites demonstrated no cytotoxicity impacts on A431 malignancy cell lines. Subsequently, HA/GO nanocomposites utilized as biocompatible possibility for a few biomedical applications (Ramadas et al. 2017) (Fig. 10).

4.4 Application of HA Nanocomposites for Photodynamic Therapy

Bioimaging and restorative release purposes are territories of clinical where nanocomposites have had a huge effect, yet the utilization of nanocomposites in these purposes can be restricted by its biophysical properties. HA nanocomposites are biocompatible and degradable and are subsequently viewed as the alluring contender for bioimaging and helpful medication conveyance applications.



Fig. 10 Interaction of DNA on HA nanocomposites

Likewise, the pH-subordinate solvency profiles of n-HA substances make this class of nanocomposite particularly valuable for in vitro and in vivo conveyance of stains, oligonucleotides, and medicines. In this section, we discussed how HA nanocomposite satisfies a portion of the necessities regularly made for nanocomposites for clinical purposes. We also highlight current articles in bioimaging and restorative conveyance applications concentrating on how these investigations have tended to a portion of the difficulties related with utilizing these nanocomposites in bioimaging and release of therapeutics (Wu et al. 2015) (Fig. 11).

4.4.1 Biopolymer-Based HA Nanocomposite

The charge of nanocomposites impacts their capacity to go during the tissue film, and a positive charge ought to be valuable. The negative charge of calcium phosphate nanoparticles with an inward shell of CMC was switched by including an external shell of PEI into which the photoactive color mTHPP was stacked. They demonstrated a decent proficiency against HIG-82 and J774A.1 cells. A little measure of the nanocomposite is valuable for tissue endurance in light of the fact that the measure of possibly unsafe PEI and calcium is decreased. The unadulterated color must be regulated in an alcoholic arrangement which makes torment the patient. Moreover, aqua-dispersible nanocomposite opens the way for additionally



Fig. 11 Schematic representation of the photodynamic activity of HA nanocomposites

surface functionalization toward accomplishing a photodynamic activity coordinated to the particular tissue or microscopic organisms (Klesing et al. 2010).

4.4.2 Synthetic Polymer-Based HA Nanocomposite

n-HA fortified photosensitizer-stacked polymer composite has been produced for photodynamic treatment. Chlorin e6 (Ce6)-loaded core-shell-corona polymer micelles of poly(ethylene glycol)-b-poly(L-aspartic acid)-b-poly(L-phenylalanine) (PEG-PAsp-PPhe) were utilized as a layout nanoparticles for calcification with n-HA. The top affidavit was performed by the electrostatic restriction of Ca particles at the anionic PAsp center shells and the consequent expansion of PO_4^{3-} anions. n-HA strengthened nanoparticles showed upgraded dependability. The n-HA mineral layer viably hindered Ce6 discharge from the Ce6-stacked mineralized nanoparticles (Ce6-NP-HA) at physiological pH esteem. At an acidic endosomal pH estimation of 5.0, Ce6 discharge was improved, attributable to the quick disintegration of the n-HA minerals. An endless supply of Ce6-NP-HA treated MCF-7 bosom tumor cells, the phone feasibility significantly diminished with expanding light occasion. The phototoxicity of Ce6-NP-n-HA was considerably superior to that of free Ce6. Non-obtrusive optical picture comes about demonstrated that Ce6-NP-CaP showed improved cancer specificity contrasted and free Ce6 and Ce6-stacked non-mineralized polymer composite (Ce6-NP) (Lee et al. 2013).

4.4.3 Hybrids-Based HA Nanocomposites

The DOX-stacked center shell-crown micelles with CaP mineralized center shells (DOX- n-HA -PM) showed improved tumor aggregation and antitumor helpful efficacy contrasted and their non-mineralized partners (DOXNPM). DOX-n-HA-PM heartily kept up their morphology in serum with below micelle destabilization

circumstances (SDS). The testimony of pH-responsive minerals into the center shell of PEG-PAsp-PPhe micelles may meet the significant necessities of focused nanocarriers with high conveyance effectiveness and low poisonous quality: (i) high solidness in the circulatory system because of the stable mineralized shells; (ii) delayed blood course because of the PEG external crown; (iii) capacity to diminish medicate spillage before achieving target tissues; (iv) improved EPR impact; (v) encouraged medication discharge inside target cells by disintegration of the n-HA mineral; and (vi) discharge from the body as non-lethal PEG, amino acids, and calcium and phosphate particles. The shell-particular CaP mineralization inside the center shell-crown micelles may give a valuable apparatus to improving the antitumor viability of existing or recently created polymer micelles and nano-totals (Min et al. 2012).

The nano-carrier was developed by the basic blending of HA particles, PEG-PAsp, and Ce6 in the fluid arrangement, trailed by aqueous amalgamation. The n-HA-based nano-carrier stifled photochemical harm in the circulatory system, though its PDT viability was recouped in the focused on the tissue. This investigation was shown the pH receptive on/off switch of PDT viability utilizing n-HA. This endogenous jolts responsive switch will offer a promising way to deal with plan PS-stacked nano-cargos focusing on harmful cancer through the broken cancer-related vasculature with negligible photosensitivity (Nomoto et al. 2016).

The HA micelles hybridized with PEG-polyanion piece copolymers and consolidated with the clinical MRI differentiate specialist Gd-diethylene triamine penta acetic acid (Gd-DTPA/HA). The Gd-DTPA/HA were nontoxic to malignancy cells at the grouping of 100 μ M in view of Gd-DTPA, while more than half of the tumor cells were murdered by warm neutron illumination at this fixation. In addition, the Gd-DTPA/HA demonstrated a drastically expanded amassing of Gd-DTPA in tumors, prompting the specific differentiation improvement on cancer tissues for exact tumor area by MRI (Mi et al. 2015). The upgraded cancer-to-blood conveyance proportion of Gd-DTPA/HA brought about the compelling concealment of tumor development exclusive of loss of body mass, demonstrating the capability of Gd-DTPA/HA for safe malignancy healing (Zhou et al. 2017).

The cross-connected HA-ss-HA prepared HA half and half nanoparticles are basic and smaller mixture nanocarriers that have various capacities, for example, redox responsiveness, endosomal escape, and tumor focusing, for quality conveyance in antitumor treatment. This framework has promising potential as a stage for quality conveyance in focused tumor treatment (Kopp et al. 2017). The autofluorescent protein R-phycoerythrin is effectively taken up by 4 diverse cell lines with the assistance of HA composite, yet not in broke down shape without composite. Outcomes feature the way that subsequent a fluorescent name connected to proteins isn't the same as following the protein itself. An effective composite-intervened take-up of a marked biomolecule does not really imply that the biomolecule is as yet practical. As the capacity of a biomolecule inside a cell is regularly hard to gauge and to evaluate, autofluorescent biomolecule offers a simple method to examine the proficiency of new transporter frameworks for protein.

Early identification is a vital component for the convenient conclusion and fruitful treatment of every single human growth yet is restricted by the affectability of current imaging philosophies. Combined and examined bioresorbable HA in which atoms of the close infrared (NIR) producing fluorophore, indocyanine green (ICG), are implanted. The ICG-CPNPs exhibit uncommon colloidal and optical qualities. Suspensions comprising of 16 nm normal measurement particles are colloidally steady in biological arrangements with carboxylate or PEG surface usefulness. ICG-doped HA display altogether more prominent force at the greatest outflow wavelength in respect to the free ingredient fluorophore, steady with the different atoms exemplified/molecule. The quantum productivity per particle of the ICG-HA is 200% more noteworthy at 0.0490.003 over the free fluorophore in PBS. Photostability in view of fluorescence half-existence of epitomized ICG in PBS is 500% longer under run of the mill clinical imaging conditions in respect to the free color. PEGylated ICG-CPNPs gather in strong, 5 mm breadth xenograft bosom adenocarcinoma tumors via enhanced maintenance and penetrability (EPR) inside 24 h after fundamental tail vein infusion in a bare mouse model. Exsitu tissue imaging further confirms the office of the ICGCHA for profound tissue imaging with NIR signals discernible from profundities up to 3 cm in the porcine muscle cell. Ex vivo and in vivo analyzes confirm the guarantee of the NIR CPHA for analytic imaging in the early recognition of strong cancers (Altinoglu et al. 2008).

Leukemia (LUK) is a standout among the most widely recognized and forceful grown-up growths, and additionally, the most pervasive youth tumor. LUK is a tumor of the hematological framework and can be isolated into an assorted variety of exceptional malignancies in light of the beginning of the illness and additionally the particular cell genealogies included. Growth immature microorganisms, including as of late distinguished leukemia undifferentiated organisms (LSCs), are speculated to be in charge of disease advancement, backslide, and protection from treatment and new therapeutics focusing on these cell populaces are critically required. Nontoxic and non aggregating HA characterized the near infrared fluoroprobe indocyanine green (ICG) was as of late produced for analytic imaging and medication conveyance and also PDT of strong tumors. Earlier examinations uncovered that particular focusing of HA considered improved amassing inside bosom growth tumors, by means of CD71 focusing on, or pancreatic disease cancers, via gastric accepter focusing on. The ICG loaded HA was assessed as photo sensitizers for PDT of LUK. Utilizing a fresh bio-conjugation way to deal with particularly target CD117 or CD96, surface highlights upgraded on LUK foundational microorganisms, in vitro ICG-HA-PDT of a murine LUK tissue and human LUK tests were drastically progressed. Besides, the in vivo adequacy of PDT was significantly upgraded in a murine leukemia display by using CD117-focused on ICG-CPSNPs, bringing about 29% infection free continued existence. Inside and out, this investigation exhibits that LUK-focused on ICG-stacked CPSNPs offer the guarantee to successfully treat backsliding and multidrug-safe LUK and to enhance the life of LUK patients (Barth et al. 2011).

4.4.4 Miscellaneous Nanocomposites

The hybridization of HA with CNTs and graphene nano-sheets not just enhanced the photothermal proficiency of CNTs-COOH-HAP and GR-HA yet, in addition, their photostability. This technique gives a multipronged way to deal with defeat from the non-bioactive PTE operators right now being used. Aside from PTT, the fantastic NIR assimilation capacity of CNTs-COOH-HAP and GR-HAP is favorable to other naturally significant purposes, for example, bio-sensing. Both CNTs-COOH-HAP and GRHAP could be promising multimodal stages to enhance current malignancy therapeutics inferable from their incredible bioactive as well as multi-functionality (Neelgund and Oki 2016).

5 Concluding Remarks

Nanocomposites containing hydroxyapatite are a successful field of biomedical research. The bioactivity of n-HA and its efficiency of being associated with a massive portion of materials also converted with numerous methods have supported the fabrication of a range of nanocomposites with superior properties and fascinating biomedical studies. Its outstanding physicochemical and biochemical properties are correlated to its crystalline phase and its chemical content. In addition, the complication of the structure is achieved with its efficiency of integrating various bioactive minerals and macromolecules that greatly influence the phase development with its biochemical properties.

All these past highlights turn into the reason for the nanocomposite investigatearea searching for improved properties while n-HA is associated with bioactive materials (polymers, bio-glass, ceramics, and clays ect). Hard tissues (bone and teeth) are shaped joining n-HA and collagen protein to acquire an astounding substance in regards to its mechanical strength and elasticity. Analysts have created distinctive methodologies with a specific end goal to consolidate both n-HA and bioactive reinforcing materials in order to investigate how some demanding medical circumstances can be overcome. Several encouraging methods have been connected to acquire the nanocomposites, as discussed expulsion, electro-spinning, freeze drying and solvent casting, however it can be effortlessly comprehended that novel method ready to blend, soften, or make more liquid without debasement n-HA and reinforcing materials, are prospective contender to be utilized for acquiring novel ages of nanocomposites with enhanced physicochemical properties. These nanocomposites can perform with improved quality, long-haul stability, superior compressive and modulus properties, or expanded cytocompatibility.

The significance for biomedical applications isn't just identified with the physicochemical properties of the nanocomposites. They are likewise referred to the biochemical aspects that represent conceivable to encapsulate distinct materials in the HA nanocomposites. Also, they can be utilized as nano-cargo to target particular cells or to manage the arrival of the medication in order to accomplish more

adequacies or sustain discharge. This methodology permits various blends with reinforcing materials that shield the nano-container from the physiological hit or postpones the arrival of the drug material sequentially to accomplish long-haul viability. The advances identified with co-precipitation, deposition, and emulsion, and so on, are significant to formulate the composite viable. They can acquire benefit of the components utilized via the tissue to disguise the composite, process them through suspend or decomposition. Concerning the impact of the physiological chemical features of HA nanocomposites, It has to be observed the case of apatite with the gene, wherever the natural composition permits the loading and sustained release of the gene and proteins into the targeted cell nucleus. HA nanocomposites continue as a recognized and harmless choice to be combined with novel methods as well as advances for enhanced genetic material treatment.

It is likewise significant to say that HA-based nanocomposites can be joined with bioactive reinforcing materials (polymers, ceramic, and clays) to shape composites with particular attributes of porosity and compressive and modulus properties while the live cells can move and recover the tissue meanwhile the composites is debased. Also, this technique for tissue rejuvenation open innovative inquiries regarding how the procedure can be restricted or enhanced as best in the class of operation strategies requires the finest approach for tissue rejuvenation.

Ultimately, the absolute most vital physiological responses in the living beings happen just an interface with the characteristic composites of hydroxyapatite. This reality demonstrates how vital the part of HA nanocomposites for supporting life. At the point when n-HA is mixed with characteristic or manufactured materials, as reinforcing materials, to acquire nanocomposites, the demand and prospects are significant. Toward the end, the nanocomposites put on a show to imitate or enhance what nature has created following million years of development. To investigate on the off chance that it is conceivable is the thing that makes so energizing the examination in this new area. Though, at the premise of the execution of these nanocomposites are intermingle between the synthetic or natural polymer and the hydroxyapatite filler, which can be adjusted and consummated to suit particular requires. We trust that further research into these connections will demonstrate important in thinking about the design of novel hydroxyapatite nanocomposites for biomedical applications.

References

- Abdeen R, Salahuddin N (2013) Modified Chitosan-Clay nanocomposite as a drug delivery system intercalation and in vitro release of Ibuprofen. J Chem 576370:9
- Akhbar S, Subuki I, Sharudin RW, Ismail MH (2017) Morphology of polycaprolactone/needle shaped hydroxyapatite (PCL/HAN) nanocomposite blends using ultrasound assisted melt blending. Mater Sci Eng 213:012025
- Altinoglu EI, Russin TJ, Kaiser JM, Barth BM, Eklund PC, Kester M, Adair JH (2008) Near-infrared emitting fluorophore-doped calcium phosphate nanoparticles for in vivo imaging of human breast cancer. ACS Nano 2(10):2075–2084

- Amaro Martins VC, Goissis G (2000) Nonstoichiometric hydroxyapatite-anionic collagen composite as support for the double sustained release of gentamicin and norfloxacin/ ciprofloxacin. Artif Organs 24(3):224–230
- Antonio E, Forte Stefano G, Francesco Manieri F, Rodriguez Y, Baena Daniele D (2016) Preparation, optimization and property of PVA-HA/PAA composite hydrogel. 112:227–238
- Arcos D, Greenspan DC, Vallet-Regi M (2002) Influence of the stabilization temperature on textural and structural features and ion release in SiO₂-CaO-P₂O₅ sol-gel glasses. Chem Mater 14:1515–1522
- Azami M, Samadikuchaksaraei A, Poursamar S (2010) Synthesis and characterization of a laminated hydroxyapatite/gelatin nanocomposite scaffold with controlled pore structure for bone tissue engineering. Int J Artif Organs 33:86–95
- Baheiraei N, Azami M, Hosseinkhani H (2015) Investigation of magnesium incorporation within gelatin/calcium phosphate nanocomposite scaffold for bone tissue engineering. Int J Appl Ceram Technol 12(20):245–253
- Bajaj I, Survase S, Saudagar P, Singhal R (2007) gellan gum: fermentive production downstream processing and application. Food Technol Biotechnol 45:341–354
- Bakhtiari L, Rezaie H, Hosseinalipour S, Shokrgozar M (2010) Investigation of biphasic calcium phosphate/gelatin nanocomposite scaffolds as a bone tissue engineering. Ceram Int 36:2421–2426
- Barbani N, Guerra G, Cristallini C, Urciuoli P, Avvisati R, Sala A (2012) Hydroxyapatite/gelatin/ gelan sponges as nanocomposite scaffold for bone reconstruction. J Mater Sci Mater Med 23:51–61
- Barth BM, Altinoglu EI, Shanmugavelandy SS, Kaiser JM, Crespo-Gonzalez D, DiVittore NA, McGovern C, Goff TM, Keasey NR, Adair JH, Loughran TP, Claxton DF, Kester M (2011) Targeted indocyanine-green-loaded calcium phosphosilicate nanoparticles for in vivo photodynamic therapy of leukemia. ACS Nano 5(7):5325–5337
- Bartkowiak-Jowsa M, Bedzinski R, Szaraniec B, Chlopek J (2011) Mechanical, biological, and microstructural properties of biodegradable models of polymeric stents made of PLLA and alginate fibers. Acta Bioeng Biomech 13(4):21–28
- Basirun WJ, Tabrizi BN, Baradaran S (2017) Overview of hydroxyapatite–graphene nanoplatelets composite as bone graft substitute: mechanical behavior and in-vitro biofunctionality. Crit Rev Solid States Mater Sci 1–36
- Bellucci D, Anesi A, Salvatori R, Chiarini L, Cannillo V (2017) A comparative in vivo evaluation of bioactive glasses and bioactive glass-based composites for bone tissue repair. Mater Sci Eng C 79:286–295
- Benning L, Gutzweiler L, Tröndle K, Riba J, Zengerle R, Koltay P, Zimmermann S, Stark GB, Finkenzeller G (2017) Cytocompatibility testing of hydrogels toward bioprinting of mesenchymal stem cells. J Biomed Mater Res A 105(12):3231–3241
- Bertran O, Valle D, Revilla-Lopez LJ, Chaves G, Cardus G, Casas L, Casanovas MT, Turon J, Puiggalí J, Aleman C (2013) Mineralization of DNA into nanoparticles of hydroxyapatite. Dalton Trans 43(1):317–327
- Bose S, Tarafder S (2012) Calcium phosphate ceramic systems in growth factor and drug delivery for bone tissue engineering: a review. Acta Biomater 8(4):1401–1421
- Bramhill J (2017) Bioactive nanocomposites for tissue repair and regeneration: a review. Int J Environ Res Public Health 14(66):1–2
- Budiatin AS, Zainuddin M, Khotib J (2014) biocompatable composite as gentamicin delivery system for osteomyelitis and bone regeneration. Int J Pharm Pharm Sci 6(3):223–226
- Cai X, Ten Hoopen S, Zhang W, Yi C, Yang W, Yang F, Jansen JA, Walboomers XF, Yelick PC (2017) Influence of highly porous electrospun PLGA/PCL/nHA fibrous scaffolds on the differentiation of tooth bud cells in vitro. J Biomed Mater Res A 105(9):2597–2607
- Chen FM, Liu X (2016) Advancing biomaterials of human origin for tissue engineering. Prog Polym Sci 53:86–168
- Chen S, Hao Y, Cui W, Chang J, Zhou Y (2013a) Biodegradable electrospun PLLA/chitosan membrane as guided tissue regeneration membrane for treating periodontitis. J Mater Sci 48:6567–6577

- Chen Y, Yang L, Huang S, Li Z, He J, Xu Z, Liu L, Cao Y, Sun L (2013b) Delivery system for DNA enzyme using arginine-modified hydroxyapatite nanoparticles for therapeutic application in a nasopharyngeal carcinoma model. Int J Nano Med 8:3107–3118
- Chen K, Liu J, Yang X, Zhang D (2017) Preparation, optimization and property of PVA-HA/PAA composite hydrogel. Mater Sci Eng C Mater Biol Appl 78:520–529
- Chung J-H, Kim YK, Kim K-H, Kwon T-Y, Vaezmomeni SZ, Samiei M, Aghazadeh M, Davaran S, Mahkam M, Asadi G, Akbarzadeh A (2016) Synthesis, characterization, biocompatibility of hydroxyapatite–natural polymers nanocomposites for dentistry applications. Artif Cells Nanomed Biotechnol 44(1):277–284
- Corcione CE, Gervaso F, Scalera F, Montagna F, Maiullaro T, Sannino A, Maffezzoli A (2017) 3D printing of hydroxyapatite polymer-based composites for bone tissue engineering. J Polym Eng 37(8):741–746
- Correia J, Correia S, Pereira H, Espregueira-Mendes J, Oliveira J, Reis R (2013) Tissue engineering strategies applied in the regeneration of the human intervertebral disk. J Biotechnol Adv 31:1514–1531
- Cunniffe GM (2010) Development and characterisation a collagen nano-hydroxyapatite composite scaffold for bone tissue engineering. J Mater Sci Mater Med 8:2293–2298
- Cunningham E, Dunne N, Clarke S, Seong Ying C, Walker G, Wilcox R, Unger RE, Buchanan F, Kirkpatrick CJ (2011) Comparative characterisation of 3-D hydroxyapatite scaffolds developed via replication of synthetic polymer foams and natural marine sponges. J Tissue Sci Eng S:1
- Curtin CM (2012) Innovative collagen nano-hydroxyapatite scaffolds offer a highly effi cient non-viral gene delivery platform for stem cell-mediated bone formation. Adv Mater 24(6): 749–754
- Djagny KB, Wang Z, Xu S (2001) Gelatin: a valuable protein for food and pharmaceutical industries: review. Crit Rev Food Sci Nutr 41:481–492
- Dongming R, Ping C, Yuchao Y, Qingtao L, Wenbing W, Xingxing F, Jie Z, Zhongyu H, Jing T, Jun O (2016) Fabrication of gelatin/PCL electrospun fiber mat with bone powder and the study of its biocompatibility. J Funct Biomater 7(6):1–11
- Dou XC, Zhu XP, J. Zhou HQ, Cai J, Tang Q, Li L (2011) Minocycline-released hydroxyapatitegelatin nanocomposite and its cytocompatibility in vitro. Biomed Mater 025002, 1–8
- Fadiran OO, Girouard N, Carson Meredith J (2018) Pollen fillers for reinforcing and strengthening of epoxy composites. Emergent Mater 1(1–2):95–103
- Frohbergh ME, Katsman A, Botta GP, Lazarovici P, Schauer CL, Wegst UG, Lelkes PI (2012) Electrospun chitosan/hydroxyapatite nanofibers crosslinked with genipin for bone tissue engineering. Biomaterials 33(36):9167–9178
- Gaharwar AK, Peppas NA, Khademhosseini A (2014) Nanocomposite hydrogels for biomedical applications. Biotechnol Bioeng 111(3):441–453
- Gentile P, Chiono V, Carmagnola I, Hatton PV (2014) An overview of poly (lactic-co-glycolic) acid (PLGA)-based biomaterials for bone tissue engineering. Int J Mol Sci 15(3):3640–3659
- Goldberg M, Langer R, Jia X (2007) Nanostructured materials for applications in drug delivery and tissue engineering. J Biomater Sci Polym Ed 18(3):241–268
- Gong Y, Han G, Zhan Y, Pan Y, Xia Y, Wu Y (2012) Antifungal activity and cytotoxicity of zinc, calcium and copper alginate fibers. Biol Trace Elem Res 148:415–419
- Gorgieva S, Kokol V (2011) Collagen-vs. Gelatin-based biomaterials and their biocompatibility: review and prespective. In Biomaterials applications for nanomedicine. In Tech, pp 1–37
- Govindaraj D, Rajan M (2018) Coating of Bio-mimetic minerals-substituted hydroxyapatite on surgical grade stainless steel 316L by electrophoretic deposition for hard tissue applications. In: IOP conference series: materials science and engineering, vol 314, issue no. 1, p 012029
- Govindaraj D, Rajan M, Munusamy MA, Dakshinamoorthi Balakumaran M, Kalaichelvan PT (2015) Osteoblast compatibility of minerals substituted hydroxyapatite reinforced poly(sorbitol sebacate adipate) nanocomposites for bone tissue application. RSC Adv 5:44705–44713
- Govindaraj D, Govindaraj C, Rajan M (2017a) Binary functional porous multi mineral-substituted apatite nanoparticles for reducing osteosarcoma colonization and enhancing osteoblast cell proliferation. Mater Sci Eng C 79:875–885

- Govindaraj D, Rajan M, Munusamy MA, Alarfaj AA, Higuchi A, Suresh Kumar S (2017b) Carbon nanotubes/pectin/minerals substituted apatite nanocomposite depositions on anodized titanium for hard tissue implant: in vivo biological performance. Mater Chem Phys 194:77–89
- Govindaraj D, Rajan M, Murugan A, Alarfaj Abdullah A, Suresh Kumar S (2017c) Mineral-substituted hydroxyapatite reinforced poly(raffinose-citric acid)–polyethylene glycol nanocomposite enhances osteogenic differentiation and induces ectopic bone formation. New J Chem 41:3036–3047
- Govindaraj D, Rajan M, Hatamleh AA, Munusamy MA, Alarfaj AA, Sadasivuni KK, Suresh Kumar S (2017d) The synthesis, characterization and in vivo study of mineral substituted hydroxyapatite for prospective bone tissue rejuvenation applications. Nanomed Nanotechnol Biol Med 13(8):2661–2669
- Govindaraj D, Rajan M, Hatamleh AA, Munusamy MA, Alarfaj AA (2018a) From waste to high-value product: jackfruit peel derived pectin/apatite bionanocomposites for bone healing applications. Int J Biol Macromol 106:293–301
- Govindaraj D, Pradeepkumar P, Rajan M (2018b) Synthesis of morphology tuning multi mineral substituted apatite nanocrystals by novel natural deep eutectic solvents. Mater Discov 9:11–15
- Guo BL, Ma PX (2014) Synthetic biodegradable functional polymers for tissue engineering: a brief review. Sci China Chem 57(4):490–500
- Hajiali F, Tajbakhsh S, Shojaei A (2018) Fabrication and properties of polycaprolactone composites containing calcium phosphate-based ceramics and bioactive glasses in bone tissue engineering: a review. Polym Rev 1558–3716
- Hassan MI, Sultana N, Hamdan S (2014) Bioactivity assessment of poly(ε-caprolactone)/hydroxyapatite electrospun fibers for bone tissue engineering application. J Nanomater 573238:1–6
- He P, Ng K, Toh S, Goh J (2012) In vitro ligament-bone interface regeneration using a trilineage coculture system on a hybrid silk scaffold. Biomacromolecules 13:2692–2703
- Hench LL, Andersson O, Wilson J (eds) (1993) An introduction to bioceramics. In: Bioactive glasses, vol 1. World Scientific Publishing, pp 139–180
- Hossein J, Ensieh Ghasemain L, Thomas JW, Roshanak R, Yadollah A (2017) A review of drug delivery systems based on nanotechnogy and green chemistry green nanomedicine. Int J Nanomed 12:2957–2978
- Hu W, Yu H (2013) Coelectrospinning of chitosan/alginate fibers by dual-jet system for modulating material surfaces. Carbohydr Polym 95:716–727
- Hunter K, Ma T (2013) In vitro evaluation of hydroxyapatite-chitosan-gelatin composite membrane in guided tissue regeneration. J Biomed Mater Res A 101:1016–1025
- Illa MP, Khandelwal M, Sharma CS (2018) Bacterial cellulose-derived carbon nanofibers as anode for lithium-ion batteries. Emergent Mater 1(3–4):1–6
- Isikli C, Hasirci V, Hasirci N (2012) Development of porous chitosan-gelatin/hydroxyapatite composite scaffolds for hard tissue-engineering applications. J Tissue Eng Regenerative Med 6 (2):135–143
- Jansson PE, Lindberg B, Sandford P (1983) Molecular origin for the thermal stability of S-88 gum produced by Pseudomonas. Carbohydr Res 124:135–139
- Jianchao Z, Ping L (2012) The review on electrospun gelatin fiber scaffold. J Res Updates Polym Sci 1:59–71
- Jiaxzhen Z, Jingyi N, Qirong Z, Youliang L, Zhengke W, Qiaoling H (2014) Preparation and characterization of bionic bone structure chitosan/hydroxyapatite scaffold for bone tissue engineering. J Biomed Mater Poly Res 25:61–74
- Jose MV, Thomas V, Johnson KT, Dean DR, Nyairo E (2009) Aligned PLGA/HA nanofibrous nanocomposite scaffolds for bone tissue engineering. Acta Biomater 5(1):305–315
- Junxing L, Aihua H, Jianfen Z, Charles CH (2006) Gelatin and gelatin–hyaluronic acid nanofibrous membranes produced by electrospinning of their aqueous solutions. Biomacromolecules 7:2243–2247
- Kaito T, Myoui A, Takaoka K, Saito N, Nishikawa M, Tamai N, Ohgushi H, Yoshikawa H (2005) Potentiation of the activity of bone morphogenetic protein-2 in bone regeneration by a PLA– PEG/hydroxyapatite composite. Biomaterials 26(1):73–79

- Kane RJ, Weiss-Bilka HE, Meagher MJ, Liu Y, Gargac JA, Niebur GL, Wagner DR, Roeder RK (2015) Hydroxyapatite reinforced collagen scaffolds with improved architecture and mechanical properties. Acta Biomater 17:16–25
- Kang K, Veeder G (1982) Gellan polysaccharide S-60 and bacterial fermentation process for its preparation. US 4326053A
- Kang E, Choi Y, Chae S, Moon J, Chang J, Lee S (2012) Microfluidic spinning of flat alginate fibers with grooves for cell-aligning scaffolds. Adv Mater 24:4271–4277
- Khan M, Islam J, Khan M (2012) Fabrication and characterization of gelatin-based biocompatible porous composite scaffold for bone tissue engineering. J Biomed Mater Res A 100:3020–3028
- Khanarian N, Jiang J, Wan L, Mow V, Lu H (2012) A hydrogel-mineral composite scaffold for osteochondral interface tissue engineering. Tissue Eng 18:533–545
- Kim UJ, Park J, Kim HJ, Wada M, Kaplan DL (2005) Three-dimensional aqueous- derived biomaterial scaffolds from silk fibroin. Biomaterials 26:2775–2785
- Kim HJ, Kim UJ, Kim HS, Li C, Wada M, Leisk GG, Kaplan DL (2008) Bone tissue engineering with premineralized silk scaffolds. Bone 42:1226–1234
- Kim B, Kim J, Chung Y, Sin Y, Ryu K, Lee J, You H (2013) Growth and osteogenic differentiation of alveolar human bone marrow-derived mesenchymal stem cells on chitosan/ hydroxyapatite composite fabric. J Biomed Mater Res A 101:1550–1558
- Klesing J, Wiehe A, Gitter B, Grafe S, Epple M (2010) Positively charged calcium phosphate/ polymer nanoparticles for photodynamic therapy. J Mater Sci Mater Med 21(3):887–892
- Kolanthai E, Ganesan K, Epple M, Narayana Kalkura S (2016) Synthesis of nanosized hydroxyapatite/agarose powders for bonefiller and drug delivery application. Mater Today Commun 8:31–40
- Kondiah PJ, Choonara YE, Kondiah PP, Marimuthu T, Kumar P, du Toit LC, Pillay V (2016) A review of injectable polymeric hydrogel systems for application in bone tissue engineering. Molecules 21(11):1580
- Kopp M, Rotan O, Papadopoulos C, Schulze N, Meyer H, Epple M (2017) Delivery of the autofluorescent protein R-phycoerythrin by calcium phosphate nanoparticles into four different eukaryotic cell lines (HeLa, HEK293T, MG-63, MC3T3): highly efficient, but leading to endolysosomal proteolysis in HeLa and MC3T3 cells. PLoS One 12(6):0178260
- Kutikov AB, Reyer KA, Song J (2013) Shape-memory performance of thermoplastic amphiphilic triblock copolymer poly(D, L-lactic acid-co-ethylene glycol-co-D, L-lactic acid) (PELA)/ hydroxyapatite composites filled with nanometer calcium carbonate. J Macromol Sci Part B Phys 52(7):964–972
- Lan L, Shuang Y, Miron RJ, Junchao W, Yufeng Z, Meng Z (2014) In vitro characterization of PBLG-g-HA/PLLA nanocomposite scaffolds. J Wuhan Univ Technol Mater Sci Ed 29(4): 841–847
- Lee G, Park J, Shin U, Kim H (2011) Direct deposited porous scaffolds of calcium phosphate cement with alginate for drug delivery and bone tissue engineering. Acta Biomater 7:3178–3186
- Lee SU, Min KH, Jeong SY, Bae H, Lee SC (2013) Calcium phosphate-reinforced photosensitizer-loaded polymer nanoparticles for photodynamic therapy. Chem Asian J 8(12): 3222–3229
- Li RH (1998) Materials for immunoisolated cell transplantation. Adv Drug Deliv Rev 133:87-109
- Li C, Vepari C, Jin HJ, Kim HJ, Kaplan DL (2006) Electrospun silk-BMP-2 scaffolds for bone tissue engineering. Biomaterials 27:3115–3124
- Liao F, Chen Y, Li Z, Wang Y, Shi B, Gong Z, Cheng X (2010) A novel bioactive three-dimensional beta-tricalcium phosphate/chitosan scaffold for periodontal tissue engineering. J Mater Sci Mater Med 21:489–496
- Liu TY, Chen SY, Li JH, Liu DM (2006) Study on drug release behaviour of CDHA/chitosan nanocomposites-effect of CDHA nanoparticles. J Control Release 112(1):88–95
- Liu L, Liu JY, Kong XD, Cai YR, Yao JM (2011) Porous composite scaffolds of hydroxyapatite/ silk fibroin via two-step method. Polym Adv Technol 22:909–914

- Liu Y, Sakai S, Taya M (2012) Production of endothelial cell-enclosing alginate-based hydrogel fibers with a cell adhesive surface through simultaneous cross-linking by horseradish peroxidase-catalyzed reaction in a hydrodynamic spinning process. J Biosci Bioeng 114:353– 359
- Liu M, Zeng X, Ma C, Yi H, Ali Z, Mou X, Li S, Deng Y, He N (2017) Injectable hydrogels for cartilage and bone tissue engineering. Bone Res 5(17014):1–16
- Luo Y, Lode A, Gelinsky M (2013) Direct plotting of three-dimensional hollow fiber scaffolds based on concentrated alginate pastes for tissue engineering. Adv Healthc Mater 2:777–783
- Madhumathi K, Jeevana Rekha L, Sampath Kumar TS (2018) Tailoring antibiotic release for the treatment of periodontal infrabony defects using bioactive gelatin alginate/apatite nanocompositefilms. J Drug Delivery Sci Technol 43:57–64
- Maehara H, Sotome S, Yoshii T, Torigoe I, Kawasaki Y, Sugata Y, Yuasa M, Hirano M, Mochizuki N, Kikuchi M (2010) Repair of large osteochondral defects in rabbits using porous hydroxyapatite/collagen (HAp/Col) and fibroblast growth factor-2 (FGF-2). J Orthop Res 28:677–686
- Mano JF, Silva GA, Azevedo HS, Malafaya PB, Sousa RA, Silva SS, Boesel LF, Oliveira JM, Santos TC, Marques AP, Neves NM, Reis RL (2007) Natural origin biodegradable systems in tissue engineering and regenerative medicine: present status and some moving trends. J R Soc Interface 4:999–1030
- Marino A, Tonda-Turo C, De Pasquale D, Ruini F, Genchi G, Nitti S, Cappello V, Gemmi M, Mattoli V, Ciardelli G (2016) Gelatin/nanoceria nanocomposite fibers as antioxidant scaffolds for neuronal regeneration. Biochim Biophys Acta (BBA) Gen Subj 1861:386–395
- McCarthy G (2017) Calcium pyrophosphate dihydrate, hydroxyapatite, and miscellaneous crystals. In: Primer on the rheumatic diseases. Springer Link, pp 263–270
- Meng T, Yi C, Liu L, Karim A, Gong X (2018) Enhanced thermoelectric properties of two-dimensional conjugated polymers. Emergent Mater 1(1–2):1–0
- Mi P, Dewi N, Yanagie H, Kokuryo D, Suzuki M, Sakurai Y, Li Y, Aoki I, Ono K, Takahashi H, Cabral H, Nishiyama N, Kataoka K (2015) Hybrid calcium phosphate-polymeric micelles incorporating gadolinium chelates for imaging-guided gadolinium neutron capture tumor therapy. ACS Nano 9(6):5913–5921
- Min KH, Lee HJ, Kim K, Kwon IC, Jeong SY, Lee SC (2012) The tumor accumulation and therapeutic efficacy of doxorubicin carried in calcium phosphate-reinforced polymer nanoparticles. Biomaterials 23:5788–5797
- Mousa M, Evans ND, Oreffo ROC, Dawson JI (2018) Clay nanoparticles for regenerative medicine and biomaterial design: a review of clay bioactivity. Biomaterials 159:204–214
- Muthu Vignesh V, Arunpandian B, Aruna Priyadharshini S, Agnes Aruna J, Saravana Kumar J, Selvkumar M, Hemanth M, Eko S, Mustafa Y (2015) Tangible nanocomposites with diverse properties for heart valve application. Sci Technol Adv Mater 16:033504
- Neelgund GM, Oki AR (2016) Influence of carbon nanotubes and graphene nanosheets on photothermal effect of hydroxyapatite. J Colloid Interface Sci 484:135–145
- Neumann S, Kovtun A, Dietzel ID, Epple M, Heumann R (2009) The use of size-defined DNA-functionalized calcium phosphate nanoparticles to minimise intracellular calcium disturbance during transfection. Biomaterials 30:6794–6802
- Nguyen T, Lee B (2012) Fabrication of oxidized alginate-gelatin-BCP hydrogels and evaluation of the microstructure, material properties and biocompatibility for bone tissue regeneration. J Biomater Appl 27:311–321
- Nguyen D, McCanless J, Mecwan M, Noblett A, Haggard W, Smith R (2013) Balancing mechanical strength with bioactivity in chitosan–calcium phosphate 3D microphhere scaffolds for bone tissue engineering: air-vs freeze drying processes. J Biomater Sci Polym 24:1071–1083
- Niu L, Zou R, Liu QD, Li QL, Chen XM, Chen ZQ (2012) A novel nanocomposite particle of hydroxyapatite and silk fibroin: biomimetic synthesis and its biocompatibility. J Nanomater 729457(2010):1–7

- Nomoto T, Fukushima S, Kumagai M, Inoue A, Mi P, Maeda Y, Toh K, Matsumoto Y, Morimoto Y, Kishimura A, Nishiyama N, Kataoka K (2016) Calcium phosphate-based organic–inorganic hybrid nanocarriers with pH-responsive on/off switch for photodynamic therapy. Biomater Sci 4:826–838
- Nouri A, Castro R, Santos JL, Fernandes C, Rodrigues J, Tomas H (2012) Calcium phosphate-mediated gene delivery using simulated body fluid (SBF). Int J Pharm 434:199–208
- Oh S, Oh N, Appleford M, Ong JL (2006) Bioceramics for tissue engineering applications—a review. Am J Biochem Biotechnol 2(2):49–56
- Park J, Lee E, Knowles J, Kim H (2014) Preparation of in situ hardening composite microcarriers: calcium phosphate cement combined with alginate for bone regeneration. J Biomater Appl 28:1079–1084
- Park JE, Jang YS, Park IS, Jeon JG, Bae TS, Lee MH (2017) The effect of multi-walled carbon nanotubes/hydroxyapatite nanocomposites on biocompatibility. Adv Compos Mater 27:53–65
- Peng H, Yin Z, Liu H, Chen X, Feng B, Yuan H, Su B, Ouyang H, Zhang Y (2012) Electrospun biomimetic scaffold of hydroxyapatite/chitosan supports enhanced osteogenic differentiation of mMSCs. Nanotechnology 23:485102
- Phipps MC, Xu YY, Bellis SL (2012) Delivery of platelet-derived growth factor as a chemotactic factor for mesenchymal stem cells by bone-mimetic electrospun scaffolds. PLoS ONE 7(7): e40831
- Pina S, Oliveira JM, Reis RL (2015) Natural-based nanocomposites for bone tissue engineering and regenerative medicine: a review. Adv Mater 27:1143–1169
- Pistone A, Iannazzo D, Panseri S, Montesi M, Tampieri A, Galvagno S (2014a) Hydroxyapatite-magnetite-MWCNT nanocomposite as a biocompatible multifunctional drug delivery system for bone tissue engineering. Nanotechnology 25(42):425701
- Pistone A, Iannazzo D, Panseri S, Montesi M, Tampieri A, Galvagno S (2014) Hydroxyapatitemagnetite-MWCNT nanocomposite as a biocompatible multifunctional drug delivery system for bone tissue engineering. Nanotechnology 25:425701, 1–9
- Ponnamma D, Erturk A, Parangusan H, Deshmukh K, Basheer Ahamed M, Al-Maadeed MAA (2018) Stretchable quaternary phasic PVDF-HFP nanocomposite films containing graphene-titania-SrTiO3 for mechanical energy harvesting. Emergent Mater 1(1–2):55–65
- Popelka A, Sobolčiak P, Mrlík M, Nogellova Z, Chodák I, Ouederni M, Al-Maadeed MA, Krupa I (2018) Foamy phase change materials based on linear low-density polyethylene and paraffin wax blends. Emergent Mater 1(1–2):47–54
- Qiu C, Chen M, Yan H, Wu HK (2007) Generation of uniformly sized alginate microparticles for cell encapsulation by using a soft-lithography approach. Adv Mater 19:1603–1607
- Raina DB, Larsson D, Mrkonjic F, Isaksson H, Kumar A, Lidgren L, Tagil M (2018) Gelatin-hydroxyapatite-calcium sulphate based biomaterial for long term sustained delivery of bone morphogenic protein-2 and zoledronic acid for increased bone formation: in-vitro and in-vivo carrier properties. J Control Release 272:83–96
- Ramadas M, Bharath G, Ponpandian N, Ballamurugan AM (2017) Investigation on biophysical properties of Hydroxyapatite/Graphene oxide (HAp/GO) based binary nanocomposite for biomedical applications. Mater Chem Phys 199:179–184
- Ramirez-Agudelo R, Scheuermann K, Gala-Garcia A, Monteiro APF, Pinzon-Garcia AD, Cortes ME, Sinisterra RD (2018) Hybrid nanofibers based on poly-caprolactone/gelatin/ hydroxyapatite nanoparticles-loaded Doxycycline: effective antitumoral and antibacterial activity. Mater Sci Eng C Mater Biol Appl 83:25–34
- Rao SH, Harini B, Shadamarshan RPK, Balagangadharan K, Selvamurugan N (2017) Natural and synthetic polymers/bioceramics/bioactive compounds-mediated cell signaling in bone tissue engineering. Int J Biol Macromol 17:32128–32131
- Reddy R, Swamy MKS (2005) The use of hydroxyapatite as a bone graft substitute in orthopaedic conditions. Miscellaneous 39(1):52–54
- Roul J, Mohapatra R, Sahoo SK, Tribhuvan N (2012) Design and characterization of novel biodegradable polymer-clay-hydroxyapatite nanocomposites for drug delivery applications. Asian J Biomed Pharm Sci 2(11):19–23

- Samaneh S, Samandari S (2017) Biocompatible nanocomposite scaffolds based on copolymergrafted chitosan for bone tissue engineering with drug delivery capability. Mater Sci Eng C C75:721–732
- Samira J, Khosro A (2015) Application of hydroxyapatite nanoparticle in the drug delivery systems. Mol Pharm J Org Process Res 3(1):1000–1118
- Sara Borrego G, Lilian B, Romero S, Jesus B, Aranzazu D (2018) Nanostructured hybrid device mimicking bone extracellular matrix as local and sustained antibiotic delivery system. Microporous Mesoporous Mater 256:165–176
- Seeherman H, Wozney JM (2005) Delivery of bone morphogenetic proteins for orthopedic tissue regeneration. Cytokine Growth Factor Rev 16(3):329–345
- Seyedjafari E, Soleimani M, Ghaemi N, Shabani I (2010) Nanohydroxyapatite-coated electrospun poly(l-lactide) nanofibers enhance osteogenic differentiation of stem cells and induce ectopic bone formation. Biomacromolecules 11(11):3118–3125
- Shi P, Zuo Y, Li X, Zou Q, Liu H, Zhang L, Li Y, Morsi YS (2010) Gentamicin-impregnated chitosan/nanohydroxyapatite/ethyl cellulose microspheres granules for chronic osteomyelitis therapy. J Biomed Mater Res Part A 93(3):1020–1031
- Song W, Markel DC, Wang S, Shi T, Mao G, Ren W (2012) Electrospun polyvinyl alcoholcollagen–hydroxyapatite nanofibers: a biomimetic extracellular matrix for osteoblastic cells. Nanotechnology 23(11):115101, 1–16
- Song W, Yu X, Markel DC, Shi T, Ren W (2013) Coaxial PCL/PVA electrospun nanofibers: osseointegration enhancer and controlled drug release device. Biofabrication 5(035006):1–11
- Sotome S, Uemura T, Kikuchi M, Chen J, Itoh S, Tanaka J, Tateishi T, Shinomiya K (2004) Synthesis and in vivo evaluation of a novel hydroxyapatite/collagen alginate as a bone filler and a drug delivery carrier of bone morphogenetic protein. Mater Sci Eng C 24:341–347
- Suganya S, Venugopal J, Ramakrishna S, Lakshmi B, Dev V (2014) Aloe vera/silk fibroin/ hydroxyapatite incorporated electrospun nanofibrous scaffold for enhanced osteogenesis. J Biomater Tissue Eng 4:9–19
- Sumathra M, Rajan M (2017) Greener synthesis of nano hydroxyapatite using fatty acids template for the application of tissue engineering nano hydroxyapatite: fatty acids synthesis and characterizations. J Mol Pharm Org Process Res 5(1):1000136, 1–4
- Sumathra M, Rajan M, Alyahya SA, Alharbi NS, Shine K, Suresh Kumar S (2017a) Development of self-repair Nano-rod scaffold materials for implantation of osteosarcoma affected bone tissue. New J Chem 42:725–735
- Sumathra M, Govindaraj D, Jeyaraj M, Arfaj AA, Munusamy MA, Suresh Kumar S, Rajan M (2017b) Sustainable pectin fascinating hydroxyapatite nanocomposite scaffolds to enhance tissue regeneration. Sustain Chem Pharm 5:46–53
- Sumathra M, Munusamy MA, Alarfaj AA, Rajan M (2018a) Osteoblast response to Vitamin D3 loaded cellulose enriched hydroxyapatite Mesoporous silica nanoparticles composite. Biomed Pharmacother 103:858–868
- Sumathra M, Munusamy MA, Alarfaj AA, Rajan M (2018b) A phosphorylated chitosanarmed hydroxyapatite nanocomposite for advancing activity on osteoblast and osteosarcoma cells. New J Chem. https://doi.org/10.1039/c8nj01316k
- Sumathra M, Sadasivuni KK, Suresh Kumar S, Rajan M (2018c) Cisplatin-Loaded graphene oxide/chitosan/hydroxyapatite composite as a promising tool for osteosarcoma-affected bone regeneration. ACS Omega 3(11):14620–14633
- Sun B, Tran KK, Shen H (2009) Enabling customization of non-viral gene delivery systems for individual cell types by surface-induced mineralization. Biomaterials 30(31):6386–6393
- Tanaka T, Hirose M, Kotobuki N, Ohgushi H, Furuzono T, Sato J (2007) Nano-scaled hydroxyapatite/silk fibroin sheets support osteogenic differentiation of rat bone marrow mesenchymal cells. Mater Sci Eng C 27(4):817–823
- Tanase C, Sartoris A, Popa M, Verestiuc L, Unger R, Kirkpatrick C (2013) In vitro evaluation of biomimetic chitosan–calcium phosphate scaffolds with potential application in bone tissue engineering. Biomed Mater 8:025002

- Tetteh G, Khan AS, Delaine-Smith RM, Reilly GC, Rehman IU (2014) Electrospun polyurethane/ hydroxyapatite bioactive Scaffolds for bone tissue engineering: the role of solvent and hydroxyapatite particles. J Mech Behav Biomed Mater 39:95–110
- Thien DVH, Ho MH, Hsiao SW, Wet CHL (2015) Chemical process to enhance osteoconductivity of electrospun chitosan nanofibers. J Mater Sci 50(4):1575–1585
- Unger RE, Wolf M, Peters K, Motta A, Migliaresi C, Kirkpatrick CJ (2004) Growth of human cells on a non-woven silk fibroin net: a potential for use in tissue engineering. Biomaterials 25:1069–1075
- Vekatesan J, Kim SK (2014) Nano-hydroxyapatite composite biomaterials for bone tissue engineering—a review. J Biomed Nanotechnol 10(10):3124–3140
- Venkatasubbu GD, Ramasamy S, Ramakrishnan V, Kumar J (2011) Hydroxyapatite-alginate nanocomposite as drug delivery matrix for sustained release of ciprofloxacin. J Biomed Nanotechnol 7(6):759–767
- Villa MM (2015) Bone tissue engineering with a collagen-hydroxyapatite scaffold and culture expanded bone marrow stromal cells. J Biomed Mater Res B Appl Biomater 103(2):243–253
- Wang X, Li W (2016) Biodegradable mesoporous bioactive glass nanospheres for drug delivery and bone tissue regeneration. Nanotechnology 27(22):225102
- Wang HL, Zuo Y, Zhang L, Yang WH, Zou Q, Zhou S, Li YB (2010) Preparation and characterisation of nanohydroxyapatite–sodium alginate–polyvinyl alcohol composite scaffold'. Mater Res Innov 14(5):375–380
- Wang L, Li C, Chen Y, Dong S, Chen X, Zhou Y (2013) Poly(lactic-co-glycolic) acid/ nanohydroxyapatite scaffold containing chitosan microspheres with adrenomedullin delivery for modulation activity of osteoblasts and vascular endothelial cells. Biomed Res Int 530712:1–13
- Wang Z, Wang Y, Ito Y, Zhang P, Chen X (2016) A comparative study on the in vivo degradation of poly(L-lactide) based composite implants for bone fracture fixation. Sci Rep 6:20770
- Wu C-J, Gaharwar AK, Schenailder PJ, Gudrum Schmidt C (2010) Development of Biomedical polymer-silicate nanocomposites: a materials science perspective. Material 3:2986–30056
- Wu SY, An SSA, Hulme J (2015) Current applications of graphene oxide in nanomedicine. Int J Nanomed 10(Spec Iss):9–24
- Zafar M, Najeeb S, Khurshid Z, Vazirzadeh M, Zohaib S, Najeeb B, Sefat F (2016) Potential of electrospun nano fibers for biomedical and dental applications. Materials (Basel) 9(2):73, 1–21
- Zhang BP, Tang SH, Zhang L, Ren-Fa L, Lu HF, Jin AM, Wang XD (2011) J Clin Rehabilit Tissue Eng Res (CRTER) 15:3871 (Wiely Publication)
- Zhang J, Nie J, Zhang Q, Li Y, Wang Z, Hu Q (2014) Difference between chitosan hydrogels via alkaline and acidic solvent systems. J Biomater Sci Polym Ed 25:61–74
- Zhao L, Weir M, Xu H (2010) An injectable calcium phosphate-alginate hydrogel-umbilical cord mesenchymal stem cell paste for bone tissue engineering. Biomaterials 31:6502–6510
- Zheng Y, Monty J, Linhardt RJ (2015) Polysaccharide-based nanocomposites and their applications. Carbohyd Res 405:23–32
- Zhijiang C, Cong Z, Jie G, Qing Z, Kongyin Z (2018) Electrospun carboxyl multi-walled carbon nanotubes grafted polyhydroxybutyrate composite nanofibers membrane scaffolds: preparation, characterization and cytocompatibility. Mater Sci Eng C Mater Biol Appl 2:29–40
- Zhou Z, Li H, Wang K, Guo Q, Li C, Jiang H, Hu Y, Oupicky D, Sun M (2017) Bioreducible cross-linked hyaluronic acid/calcium phosphate hybrid nanoparticles for specific delivery of siRNA in melanoma tumor therapy. ACS Appl Mater Interfaces 9(17):14576–14589
- Zhu M, Zhang J, Tao C, He X, Zhu Y (2014) Design of mesoporous bioactive glass/ hydroxyapatite composites for controllable co-delivery of chemotherapeutic drugs and proteins. Mater Lett 115:194–197
- Zohaib K, Mhammad Z, Saad Q, Sana Shahab, Mustafa N, Ammar A (2014) Advances in nanotechnology for rregenerative dentistry. Mater Basel 2015(2):717–731
- Zuo G, Wan Y, Zhang Y (2012) Preparation and characterization of a novel laminated magnetic hydroxyapatite for application on gene delivery. Mater Lett 68:225–227

3D Printing Technology of Polymer Composites and Hydrogels for Artificial Skin Tissue Implementations



Jenifer Joseph, Kalim Deshmukh, Tran Tung, K. Chidambaram and S. K. Khadheer Pasha

Abstract Today, the need for tissue and organ transplant has occupied the centre stage in the field of biomedical engineering. The requirement and the replacement ratio increase drastically where the supply was not met by the demand due to the lack of donors, poor biocompatibility of tissues from donors that boycotts the transplant itself. On the other hand, from the advancement in technology, it is possible to replace natural tissues with some polymeric hydrogels whose mechanical behaviour and biocompatibility resembles the natural tissues. Additionally, hydrogels are one of the effective materials that offer an aqua environment with enriched oxygen and nutrition content that a biological cell needs. Further, three-dimensional (3D) printing, a manufacturing technique where the biomedical organs are fussed with materials such as plastic, ceramics, liquids, powder, living cell etc. in such a way that it provides a 3D object in the micron-scale resolution. Therefore, the combination of polymer composites, hydrogels and 3D printing has its application in skin bioprinting and tissue engineering. Thus, it contributes in acquiring a new, efficient, cost-effective and enhanced biocompatible biological organ.

Keywords 3D printing • Hydrogels • Polymer composites • Artificial skin • Biomedical field

J. Joseph · K. Chidambaram

Department of Physics, School of Advanced Sciences, VIT University, Vellore 632014, Tamil Nadu, India

K. Deshmukh Department of Physics, B.S. Abdur Rahman Crescent Institute of Science and Technology, Chennai 600048, Tamil Nadu, India

T. Tung The University of Adelaide, Building-Engineering Annex Floor/Room-204 Campus, North Terrace, Adelaide, Australia

S. K. Khadheer Pasha (⊠) Department of Physics, VIT-AP University, Amaravati, Guntur 522501, Andhra Pradesh, India e-mail: khadheerbasha@gmail.com

© Springer Nature Switzerland AG 2019 K. K. Sadasivuni et al. (eds.), *Polymer Nanocomposites in Biomedical Engineering*, Lecture Notes in Bioengineering, https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-030-04741-2_7

List of Abbreviations

3D printing	Three-dimensional printing
AM	Additive manufacturing
APS	Ammonium persulfate
CA	Cellulose acetate
Ca2 ⁺	Calcium
CAD	Computer-aided design
CMC	Carboxymethylcellulose
dECM	Decellularized extracellular matrix
ECHs	Electro-conductive hydrogels
ECM	Extracellular matrix
FDM	Fused deposition modelling FDM
GelMA	Gelatin methacrylate
GO	Graphene oxide
HA	Hydroxyapatite
KPS	Potassium persulfate
LAB	Laser-assisted bioprinting
MgO	Magnesia
MWCNTs	Multiwall carbon nanotubes
PAN	Polyacrylonitrile
PANI	Polyaniline
PCL	Polycaprolactone
PE	Polyethylene
PEG	Poly ethylene glycol
PEGDA	Poly ethylene glycol diacrylate
PES	Polyethersulfone
PGA	Poly glycolic acid
PLA	Polylactic acid
PLGA	Poly lactic-co-glycolic acid
PNIPAAm	Poly N-isopropyl acrylamide
PPy	Polypyrrole
PSF	Polysulfone
PTFE	Poly (tetrafluoroethylene)
PU	Poly urethane
PVA	Poly vinyl alcohol
PVC	Poly vinyl chloride
PVDF	Polyvinylidene fluoride
PVME	Poly (viny1 methyl ether)
RP	Rapid prototyping
SFF	Solid-free form technology
STL	Stereolithography
SWCNTs	Single-wall carbon nanotubes

1 Evolution of **3D** Printing

Three-dimensional (3D) printing is a mechanism in which 3D solid objects were designed from a digital file. The 3D printing is also known as additive manufacturing (AM)/rapid prototyping (RP)/solid-free forms technology (SFF) that was established by Charles Hull. In 1980s, Hull started working on the fabrication of plastic devices from photopolymers (Gross et al. 2014). The tedious fabrication process in addition to the high chances of design imperfection made him go for several iterations to get it done perfectly. This process triggered him to improve current methods in prototype development. In 1986, he rooted 3D system and promoted the stereo lithography (STL) that can finish the electronic 'handshake' from computer-aided design (CAD) programming and accordingly transmits records to print 3D objects (Jones et al. 2011). Hull developed the initial 3D printer named the 'Stereo lithography Apparatus' which is accessible to the general population, the SLA-250. In addition to Hull's efforts and the evolution of fused deposition modelling (FDM) by Scott Crump in 1990, 3D printing was ready to refashion not only research but also manufacturing areas. In 1993, the MIT teachers Michael Cima and Emanuel Sachs introduced the first device named '3D printer' after which many organizations have progresses 3D printers for commercial uses. 3D printing technology has also got its place in mechanical applications both in automotive and in aviation corporations for printing the models of auto and plane segments. The application of 3D imprinting in architecture includes the printing of structural models and in case of defence, 3D printing is used in gun prototyping. Thus, 3D printing emerged in almost all the areas (Gross et al. 2014; Jones et al. 2011).

2 Concept of 3D Organ-Printing Technology

The notion 3D printing has occupied the centre stage in vast regions including building, fabricating, art, education and drug (Murphy and Atala 2014). The concept of 3D printing in the field of medicine is given more interest considering the complications faced due to the lack of organs. Though there is an increase in the number of volunteer donors, the organ shortage surpasses the transplantation needs. In order to put an end to these serious problems, a long-term solution is needed. In the past three decades, tissue engineering has developed as one of the solutions where the biological organ that mimics the native tissue were created by seeding cells onto the scaffolds thus new cell generates. An extension of tissue engineering is 3D organ printing that has the potential to create de novo organs; the process includes the deposition of living cells along with the hydrogel base scaffolds and it is a computer-aided bio-additive process (Ozbolat and Yu 2013). Thus, in 3D bioprinting, the 3D structure of biological structures is made by arranging the organic samples and living cells explicitly (layer-by-layer) with spatial optimization and placement of functional units.

3 Methods in Bioprinting—A Brief Description

The 3D printing concept is the origin for the evolution of 3D bioprinting. For bioprinting, the bioink is built by biomaterials, living cells, etc. (Arslan-Yildiz et al. 2016; Stanton et al. 2015). If the bioink is prepared just by cells in suspension, then the pre-arranged hydrogel scaffold whereupon the bioink printed is turned to be a bio paper (Xu et al. 2006). Figure 1 shows the fabrication of the biomaterial based on bioprinting that has some successive stages such as designing of ink, computer-assisted designs of the scaffold complex, reading script using a computer program, final shaping done by depositing the specimen through hardware and specimen testing followed by culturing them in bioreactor (Pati et al. 2016; Gu et al. 2016; Włodarczyk-Biegun and del Campo 2017).

4 Approaches for 3D Bioprinting

In order to perform 3D bioprinting effectively, three central approaches are there such as biomimicry, autonomous self-assembly and mini-tissue as shown in Fig. 2.



Fig. 1 The process of material printing (Włodarczyk-Biegun and del Campo 2017). Copyright 2017. Reproduced with permission from Elsevier Ltd.



4.1 Biomimicry

Biologically influenced engineering techniques have been implemented in various application areas to solve numerous technological issues such as materials research (Reed et al. 2009), cell-culture techniques and nanotechnology (Huh et al. 2012). The well engineered biological system has a great response in the case of 3D bioprinting applications such as manufacturing the identical reproductions of the cellular and tissue/organ's extracellular components (Ingber et al. 2006). This can be accomplished by the re-creation of definite cellular functional units of tissues like replicating the branching arrangements of the vascular tree or assembling physiologically precise biomaterial groups and gradients. This method is valid only when the biological tissue is on the micro-scale range. Thus, it is obvious to analyse the microenvironment, such as the distinct settlement of functional and aiding cell types, gradients of soluble/insoluble aspects, content of the extracellular matrix (ECM) and the quality of the biological strength within the microenvironment. These preliminary ideas will help in succeeding this technique (Murphy and Atala 2014).

4.2 Autonomous Self-assembly

Autonomous self-assembly is a 'scaffold-free' technique where the cellular organization mimics the evolving tissues and self-assembling cellular spheroids bear coalition. It depends upon the cell, as the elementary driver of histogenes is operating the content along with the localization, structural and functional properties of the tissue (Derby 2012; Kasza et al. 2007). It is necessary to have the knowledge of developed mechanisms of immature tissue genesis and organogenesis in order to drive undeveloped mechanism in bioprinted tissues (Murphy and Atala 2014).

4.3 Mini-Tissues

The approach can be related to both biomimicry and autonomous self-assembly techniques of 3D bioprinting. In this technique, organs and tissues amount to tinier,
functional building blocks are also called mini-tissues (Kelm et al. 2010). It tends to be characterized as the basic structural and functional unit of a tissue, like a kidney nephron. Mini-tissues are made and arranged into the bigger construct by logical model, either by self-assembly technique or by the combination of both methods (Murphy and Atala 2014).

5 Tissue Bioprinting Strategies

Figure 3 reveals the flow chart of different technologies used for printing of biological materials they were inkjet (Xu et al. 2013), micro-extrusion (Iwami et al. 2010) and laser-assisted printing (Guillotin et al. 2010), respectively. In addition to this, the schematic representations of these strategies are shown in Fig. 4 and their advantages and disadvantages were compared in Table 1.

5.1 Inkjet Bioprinting

Inkjet printers or drop-on-demand printers are the one of the widely utilized kinds of the printer in both non-natural and biological applications. In this type of printers, controlled amount of fluids are deposited into predefined regions. These printers are formed by modifying the monetarily accessible two dimensional (2D) ink-based printers (Xu et al. 2008) where the ink in the cartridge was altered by a biological material, and the paper was changed by an electronically guarded lift arrangement in order to afford the authority over Z-axis along with the two axes (X and Y) (Xu et al. 2008). At this point, the inkjet-based bioprinters are specially crafted and ready to deal with and print biological samples with enhanced resolution, accuracy and speed. This printer uses either thermal (Cui et al. 2012) or acoustic (Xu et al. 2008) forces to discharge the drops of fluid onto a substrate (Murphy and Atala 2014). Thus, the two sub-categories of inkjet bioprinters are thermal inkjet printers and piezoelectric inkjet printers.





Fig. 4 Schematic representation of different bioprinting strategies (Duan 2017). Copyright 2017. Reproduced with permission from Springer

5.1.1 Thermal Inkjet Printers

In this case, the print head has been heated electrically in order to deliver pulses of pressure which pushes beads from the nozzle. Form the literature survey, it is clear that this confined heating that can vary between 200 and 300 °C will not have a massive effect on the strength of biological molecules (Okamoto et al. 2000) and the viability of mammalian cells (Murphy and Atala 2014; Xu et al. 2005).

5.1.2 Piezoelectric Inkjet Printers

Several inkjet printers consist of a piezoelectric crystal which generates an acoustic wave within the print head to crack the fluid into beads at customary interims (Murphy and Atala 2014). When the voltage is applied to a piezoelectric substance, a quick variation in the shape was induced that produces the pressure required to discharge droplets from the nozzle (Murphy and Atala 2014). Scarcely any inkjet

Bioprinting strategies	Advantages	Disadvantages	References
Inkjet printers	It is low cost, high speed It has multimaterial capability	Posses moderate strength	Rengier et al. (2010)
Extrusion based	High resolution and accuracy, capability to produce high degree-of-freedom motion, the ability to dispense various biomaterials simultaneously, Is friendly, compact, sterilizability, affordability and versatility	Still more to be investigated to generate robust and viable end-products for applications such as pharmaceutics, transplantation and clinics	Ozbolat and Hospodiuk (2016), Dababneh and Ozbolat (2014), Ozbolat (2015)
Laser based	Is without nozzle, consequently issue of stopping up with cells or samples can be bypassed LAB is compatible with viscosities ranges from 1 to 300 mPa/s In LAB, the cells with density of up to 108 cells/ ml with micro-scale resolution of a solitary cell can be deposited per each drop utilizing a laser pulse recurrence rate of 5 kHz, with acceleration up to 1600 mm/s	Less flow rate Synthesis of every individual ribbon is time consuming	Murphy and Atala (2014), Guillotin et al. (2010), Guillotin and Guillemot (2011)

Table 1 Advantages and disadvantages of bioprinting strategies

printers' uses acoustic radiation constrains joined with an ultrasound field in order to discharge liquid beads from an air–liquid interface (Murphy and Atala 2014; Fang et al. 2012).

5.2 Micro-Extrusion Bioprinting

Micro-extrusion printers are one of the most familiar and economical non-biological 3D printers. It works by mechanically controlled extrusion of a substance that is collected onto a substrate by a micro-extrusion head. It provides uninterrupted beads of material instead of fluid droplets. A myriad of materials, for example, biocompatible copolymers, cell spheroids and hydrogels, were adaptable



with the micro-extrusion printers (Peltola et al. 2008). Pneumatic (Chang et al. 2011) or mechanical cylinder or screw (Visser et al. 2013) administering frameworks are the well-known strategies to expel biological materials in 3D organ-printing applications. Also, the materials with viscosity vary from 30 mPa/s to $>6 \times 10^7$ mPa/s can be suitable for micro-extrusion bioprinters (Murphy and Atala 2014; Jones 2012).

5.3 Laser-Assisted Bioprinting

Laser-induced forward transfer is the principle behind the functioning of Laser-assisted bioprinting (LAB) (Barron et al. 2004). Laser-induced forward transfer technique was implemented effectively in biological components including cells, DNA and peptides (Colina et al. 2005; Dinca et al. 2008). Though LAB is not as familiar as inkjet or micro-extrusion bioprinting, its applications in engineering the organs and tissue have increased. A typical LAB device comprises of a pulsed laser shaft, a focusing framework, a 'ribbon' with a donor transit bolster (Murphy and Atala 2014). In order to replicate the biological systems, the bioprinting material should possess the characteristics as shown in Fig. 5.

6 Polymers with Biomedical Compatibility

Biopolymers such as Polycaprolactone (PCL), Polylactic acid (PLA) and poly lactic-*co*-glycolic acid (PLGA) were widely utilized as common materials for scaffolding. Biopolymers added with hydroxyapatite (HA) have shown outstanding

chemical and biological properties leading to bone tissues. To the biopolymers, some other additives were used in scaffolding (Poh et al. 2016; Tsai et al. 2017; Wong et al. 2014; Kim and Kim 2015). In recent days, research work has been done on numerous nanomaterials to understand their function as an additive with biopolymers. Few examples are magnesia (MgO) was added to PCL that shows a significant change in the regulation of signal transduction, stamina metabolism and cell multiplication that leads to the new bone arrangement (Roh et al. 2017). On the other hand, when PCL is added with magnetic nanoparticles like Fe₃O₄ or γ -Fe₂O₃ provides the scaffold with the potential of magnetic heating that triggers proliferation (Meng et al. 2013; Zhang et al. 2014). They are also research work based on nanomaterials including nanoclay, single-wall carbon nanotubes (SWCNTs), multiwall carbon nanotubes (MWCNTs), graphene and graphene oxide-GO with polymers (PCL/PLA) has been reported (Gonçalves et al. 2016; Aboutalebi Anaraki et al. 2015; Yang et al. 2016) in order to customize the thermal, electrical and mechanical properties of the base biopolymer (Wang et al. 2017). In particular, thermoplastic polymers have been commonly used to produce supporting frameworks in combination with other materials for engineering clinically relevant and mechanically robust tissues, such as bone and cartilage. A high viscosity thermoplastic polymer, such as PCL and PLGA, has their own unique properties, including good printability and high strength to maintain 3D shapes (Park et al. 2015, 2016; Lee et al. 2017; Shim et al. 2016; Jang et al. 2018).

Cheng et al. (2014) worked on making Heparin (an anti-coagulant/blood thicker) and heparin-like emulating polymer-functionalized biomedical membranes which has an exceptional demand in the biomedical applications, for example blood refinement and organ fabrications, etc. The heparin and heparin-like emulating polymer-functionalized membranes were outstanding materials for the medication of organ deterioration and blood-contacting areas. The widely used artificial membranes that are commercial were comprised of polymeric materials like cellulose acetate (CA), polyacrylonitrile (PAN), polyurethane (PU), polysulfone (PSF), polyvinylidene fluoride (PVDF), polyvinyl chloride (PVC), polyethylene (PE), polyethersulfone (PES), polytetrafluoroethylene (PTFE) and also various kinds of polyesters such as PLA, PCL and poly glycolic acid (PGA) (Zhu et al. 2013). The polymeric membranes have explored its properties in numerous expansive applications like fluid and gaseous separation, catalysis, biomaterials and lab-on-a-chip advances (Cheng et al. 2014; Ulbricht 2006).

7 Hydrogels

A 3D polymeric network hydrogels were produced using hydrophilic-natural or manufactured polymers. Thus, hydrogels/hydrophilic polymer networks have the potential to absorb a significant quantity of fluids from the neighbouring atmosphere (Ullah et al. 2015; Varaprasad et al. 2017).

7.1 Classification of Hydrogels

Hydrogels have been classified under two broad categories: one is the cross-linkage mechanism oriented and the other is based on the physical properties as shown in Fig. 6. They are explained under two divisions (i) physical cross-linkage or self-assembled hydrogel (ii) chemical cross-linkage hydrogel (Ullah et al. 2015; Varaprasad et al. 2017; Yue et al. 2015). Different cross-linking methods were depicted in Fig. 7, and various applications of physical and chemical cross-linking are summarized in Table 2.



Regenerative medicine, tissue engineering, drug/gene delivery wound healing, water purification, agriculture etc.

Fig. 6 Flow chart of classifications of hydrogels (Yue et al. 2015). Copyright 2015. Reproduced with permission from Elsevier Ltd.



Fig. 7 Flow chart of various methods to obtain physical and chemical cross-linked hydrogels

Cross-links	Method	Polymers	Application		
Physically cross-linked hydrogel	Freeze-thawing technique	Poly vinyl alcohol (PVA), PVA/chitosan, PVA/starch, PVA/ gelatine	Therapeutic applications, Tissue engineering (Varaprasad et al. 2017)		
	Stereocomplex Formation technique	Dextran, PLA Poly ethylene glycol— PEG	Drug delivery Biomedical and pharmaceutical (Varaprasad et al. 2017)		
	Ionic interaction technique	Cellulose microfibrils Chitosan	Drug delivery Antigen delivery (Varaprasad et al. 2017)		
	H-bonding technique	Hyaluronic acid Cyclodextrin, polypseudorotaxane	Drug delivery Biomedical (Varaprasad et al. 2017)		
	Maturation (heat-induced aggregation) technique	Alginate capsules Hyaluronic acid	Cartilage tissue Delicate tissue engineering, cell scaffold, advancing medicine and in also, ligament repair (Varaprasad et al. 2017)		
Chemically cross-linked hydrogel	Chemical cross-linking technique	PEG	Biomedical		
	Grafting				
	(a) Chemical grafting technique	Chitosan-cellulose, PCL, PEG	Agriculture and horticultural		
	(b) Radiation grafting technique	Carboxymethyl cellulose, styrene sulphonate	Water purging (Varaprasad et al. 2017)		
	Radical technique polymerization technique	Kolliphor Poly ethylene glycol methyl ether methacrylate	Antibacterial Antifouling (Varaprasad et al. 2017)		
	Condensation reaction technique	B-Cyclodextrin	Restrained delivery (Varaprasad et al. 2017)		
	Enzymatic reaction technique	PEG, methacrylate Chitosan	Tissue engineering and Bio catalysis Wound dressing (Varaprasad et al. 2017)		
	High-energy radiation technique	Poly oligo propylene glycol methacrylate Polyvinyl methyl ether	Biomedical Biological (Varaprasad et al. 2017)		

 Table 2
 Various applications of physically and chemically cross-linked hydrogels (Varaprasad et al. 2017)

Copyright 2017. Reproduced with permission from Elsevier Ltd.

7.1.1 Physical Cross-Linkage Hydrogels

Physical cross-linkage hydrogels (also known as reversible gels) have picked up popularity because of their easy production and potential to be free from cross-linking agents during synthesis process (Varaprasad et al. 2017). The physical collaborations that take place between distinct polymer chains can stop the disintegration of physically cross-linked gels (Varaprasad et al. 2017; Slaughter et al. 2009). The election of hydrocolloid group relies upon the concentration and pH that develops a vast collection of gel textures and is presently drawing appreciable attention, in areas like nourishment, pharmaceutical and biomedical zones because of the usage of cross-linking materials being restricted (Varaprasad et al. 2017; Slaughter et al. 2009; Chung and Park 2009). On the basis of literature survey, different techniques for acquiring physical cross-linkage hydrogels were explained as follows.

(i) Freeze-thawing

Repetitive freeze-thaw cycles result in achieving physical cross-linking. In this technique, the microcrystal in the complex can be developed because of freezing and thawing (Varaprasad et al. 2017). One of the well-known examples is the preparation of PVA hydrogels by freeze-thawing. These hydrogels were attached by hydrogen bonds, exhibiting high porosity, sponginess, rubbery with improved elasticity than PVA hydrogels that are prepared by different techniques (Varaprasad et al. 2017; Jayaramudu et al. 2016a).

(ii) Stereocomplex formation

For drug delivery systems, the stereo complex formation-based hydrogels were developed in the recent times (Varaprasad et al. 2017). The hydrogels can be effectively assembled by liquefying every individual material in water and blending the solution, and this is one of the considerable advantages of this system. PLA is a standout among other cases that offer great stereo complex properties (Varaprasad et al. 2017).

(iii) Ionic interaction

This category contains the hydrogels of ionic polymers that are cross-linked with the inclusion of di-/tri-valent counter. The gelling of polyelectrolyte solution with multivalent ions of opposite charge is the principle under which this technique functions (Varaprasad et al. 2017). Some hydrogels that falls under this class were as follows: poly-[di(carboxylatophenoxy) phosphazene] calcium salt and chitosan-glycerol phosphate salt (Varaprasad et al. 2017; Zhao et al. 2009; Ebara et al. 2014).

(iv) H-bonding

The physical cross-linkage gel-like complexes were formed from hydrogenbonding interactions (Varaprasad et al. 2017).

(v) Maturation

It involves a heat-instigated aggregation mechanism that outcomes in the arrangement of hydrogel with accurately complexed molecular dimensions. The heat-instigated gelation of gum arabic is one of the perfect examples of this hydrogel system (Varaprasad et al. 2017). This aspect is recognized because of the collection of proteinaceous segments exhibit in gum arabic, produced from thermal treatment. The mechanical properties along with the water binding ability of the hydrogel are enhanced as the molecular weight increases due to aggregation (Varaprasad et al. 2017; Aoki et al. 2007).

7.1.2 Chemical Cross-Linkage Hydrogels

(i) Chemical cross-linking

When covalent bonds occur amidst various polymer chains, there comes the evolution of chemically cross-linked hydrogels. Thus, chemically cross-linked hydrogels are stable and cannot be broken up in any solvents due to the presence of strong covalent cross-links (Varaprasad et al. 2017). In case of physically cross-linked hydrogel, there is a lack of flexibility as it faces difficulty to decouple the factors including, gelation time, pore size of the inner network, chemical functionalization and debasement time (Varaprasad et al. 2017; Slaughter et al. 2009), whereas in the case of chemical cross-linking, the networks are with comparatively increased mechanical stability and on the basis of the chemical bonds and the cross-links, the degradation period can also be extended (Varaprasad et al. 2017). The various techniques involved in getting chemically cross-linked hydrogels are listed as follows.

(ii) Grafting

Hydrogels can be prepared from grafting through the process of polymerization of a monomer. Depending on the activation initiator, grafting can be differentiated as, chemical or radiation grafting (Varaprasad et al. 2017).

(iii) Chemical grafting

In chemical grafting, the macromolecular backbones were stimulated with the response of chemical reagents (Varaprasad et al. 2017).

(iv) Radiation grafting

In radiation grafting, high-energy radiation such as gamma (γ) and electron beams initiates the grafting process (Varaprasad et al. 2017). An example of radiation grafting includes the grafting of carboxymethylcellulose (CMC) using acrylic acid with the existence of electron beam radiation in aqueous solvent. The free radical polymerization of acrylic acid on the backbone of CMC can be stimulated by utilizing electron beam (Varaprasad et al. 2017; Said et al. 2004).

(v) Radical polymerization

In this technique, chemically cross-linked gels were derived from monomers (less-molecular-weight) in combination with a cross-linking agent. This efficient and extensively implemented method for preparing hydrogels and forming gels is quick even under gentle atmosphere (Varaprasad et al. 2017). Hydrogel prepared using free radical initiator: potassium persulfate (KPS)/ammonium persulfate (APS) is the best example of this method (Varaprasad et al. 2017; Jayaramudu et al. 2016b).

(vi) Condensation reaction

The formation of hydrogels by means of condensation reactions falls under this division. Usually, the hydrogels with hydroxyl groups and carboxylic acids or their subordinates are utilized for the development of these kinds of hydrogels. De Nooy et al. (1999, 2000) have given the perfect example of this condensation reaction by means of Passerini and Ugi condensation process.

(vii) Enzymatic reaction

It is a unique hydrogel approach, where hydrogels are formed from the enzymatic reaction. Sperinde et al. (Sperinde and Griffith 1997) proclaimed an intriguing technique where PEG-based hydrogels are fabricated from an enzyme.

(viii) High-energy radiation

To polymerize a compound that is unsaturated, a high-energy radiation (γ -electron beam radiations) can be applied. When polymers that are soluble in water exposed to γ -electron beam emission, they become derivatized with vinyl groups in order to produce radicals on the polymer chains by the homolytic scission (Varaprasad et al. 2017). In addition to this, micro-radicals are formed when a emission of high energy promotes water molecules to create hydroxyl groups which strike the polymeric chains. The covalent bonds, which offers a cross-linked complex, can be formed when micro-radicals combines with various chains (Varaprasad et al. 2017). A major benefit in this technique is that the procedure can be carried out in water under gentle conditions without the influence of any harmful cross-linking agents. But one of the disadvantages is that the irradiation creates C=C cross-links which results in the formation of non-biodegradable gels (Varaprasad et al. 2017; Hennink and van Nostrum 2012). Few cases that falls in this class were the evolutions of poly viny1 methyl ether (PVME) and poly N-isopropyl acrylamide (PNIPAAm) hydrogels which are obtained by applying high-energy γ -emission (Varaprasad et al. 2017; Kishi et al. 1993; Suzuki and Hirasa 1993).

7.2 Hydrogels Classified Under Physical Properties

Nowadays, due to the noteworthy physical properties, the evolved hydrogels have immense significance in biomedical applications because of their peculiar properties like swelling and dissemination (Varaprasad et al. 2017). Based on the physical properties, hydrogel has been categorized into three forms, solid, semi-solid and liquid as shown in Fig. 8.

7.2.1 Solid Hydrogels

It has the potential to mimic the most complex tissue architecture; also it replicates the organic tissues physical, chemical, electrical and biological properties (Varaprasad et al. 2017).

7.2.2 Semi-solid Hydrogels

They possess a durable adhesive interaction with interfacial forces like van der Waals, hydrogen bonds, electrostatic and delicate tissue networks which makes them applicable for the extended drug delivery and efficient dosage applications in biomedical areas including buccal, ocular, rectal, vaginal, nasal and sublingual routes (Varaprasad et al. 2017).



Fig. 8 Hydrogels with various physical forms (Varaprasad et al. 2017). Copyright 2017. Reproduced with permission from Elsevier Ltd.

7.2.3 Liquid Hydrogels

Hydrogels of these kinds are of great interest due to their flexible synthesis and the ability of self-alteration of their system as indicated by ecological conditions. The organic, inorganic, medication, proteins and cells can be fused effortlessly in the hydrogels with no surgeries which is the fundamental points of interest of this technique. Due to its highly hydrophilic properties, these drugs can be injected into the living systems (Varaprasad et al. 2017).

7.3 Role of Hydrogels in Biomedical Applications

As discussed, the properties of hydrogels make them applicable in many fields as illustrated in Fig. 9.



Fig. 9 Applications of hydrogel in their various fields (Yue et al. 2015). Copyright 2015. Reproduced with permission from Elsevier Ltd.

8 Need for Polymeric Hydrogels

Hydrogel plays a huge role in medical applications because of its closeness to its inherent ECM, in addition to its impressive biocompatibility, controllable mechanical and biochemical behaviour (Ullah et al. 2015; Yue et al. 2015). But, the main drawback of hydrogels is that they are non-conductive, that restricts their application as bioactive scaffolds for sensitive tissues, such as neural, cardiovascular and furthermore skeletal muscle tissues (Wu et al. 2016). But the electro-conductive behaviour of the hydrogels can be optimized by fusing it with other materials (nanomaterials or conducting polymers). Few examples for the materials added to hydrogels including carbon nanotubes, gold nanoparticles, GO and silver nanowires and conductive polymers such as polyaniline (PANI), polypyrrole (PPv), polythiophene (PT) to the hydrogel network (Wu et al. 2016; Lu et al. 2014; Kaith et al. 2015; Kaur et al. 2015; Shin et al. 2016). The utility of electro-conductive hydrogels (ECHs) and conductive polymers has increased in different biomedical applications, for example electrochemical biosensors, and electro-responsive medication conveyance systems because of their response with electrical stimulation (Noshadi et al. 2017). Mechanical stability of the material is also enriched when biodegradable polymers are added with hydrogel (Kang et al. 2016). On the other hand, synthetic thermoplastic materials are gaining popularity not only because of biodegradable polymers but also numerous different polymers can be combined to produce mechanically stable constructs. Though hard thermoplastic polymers are thoroughly applicable for musculoskeletal organs but for 3D printing it may not be ideal for soft tissue engineering (Radenkovic et al. 2016). Vandenhautea et al. (Vandenhaute et al. 2017) reported that the hydrogel degrades with the change in time and reveals its noticeable degradation while storing in dry and wet conditions both room temperature and at body temperature. From the results, it is confirmed that the application of hydrogels for self-healing concrete was obviously limited. However, biodegradation may be especially useful for various biomedical applications like drug delivery.

8.1 Polymeric Hydrogels in Biomedical Applications

In the earlier days, 3D printing mechanisms were designed in such a way that it will be applicable only for non-biological applications including thin film coating of metals, ceramics and polymers, etc., and with the presence of parameters like organic solvents, processing at elevated temperatures or cross-linking substance made them unsuitable with living cells and biological systems. Hence, the ultimate challenge here is to not only discover a material that is good with organic materials and the printing procedure yet in addition should offer the required mechanical and functional properties for tissue builds (Murphy and Atala 2014). Natural polymers such as gelatin, fibrin, collagen, chitosan, etc., and synthetic polymers such as PEG

play a major role in regenerative prescription for repair and recovery of tissues. The main benefits of using organic polymers for 3D organ-printing and other tissue-designing applications are their resemblance to human ECM, and their in-built bioactive property. Also, various natural polymers have high molecular weights that develops the gels with increased viscosities with lesser protein concentrations and decreasing obstruction for cells in comparison with the engineered biodegradable materials (Włodarczyk-Biegun and del Campo 2017). On the other hand, the convenience of using engineered polymers that the physical properties can be modified according to specific applications. The drawback of manufactured polymers incorporates poor biocompatibility, lethal debasement items and a lessening in mechanical properties during degradation. Still, engineered hydrogels that are hydrophilic and also retentive are desired candidate for 3D organ-printing and regenerative-medication applications because of its ability to control their physical properties while synthesizing (Murphy and Atala 2014).

8.2 Hydrogels for Skin Bioprinting

Tissue engineering-skin constructs technology has limited the problems faced due to the restricted number of donor skin, and this technology actually transformed an injury management done using traditional wound dressings into a bioactive cell-impregnated skin construct (Ng et al. 2016). Various biomaterials were suitable for organ-printing and tissue-building applications, such as metals, hydrogels and ceramics (Ng et al. 2016). But the factor that makes polymer hydrogels special because it has a 3D structure with cross-linkage that is enriched with an immense measure of water through hydrogen-bonding interactions, which results in high hydrophilicity. These remarkable hydrophilic qualities with cell non-harmfulness make polymer hydrogels a helpful tissue-building tools (Jeong et al. 2017). As we know, polymer-based hydrogels are known for their similarity to the structural ECM to advance cell proliferation with development. Thus, polymeric hydrogels have been taken into consideration when it comes to scaffolding such as burn injuries and cares for skin (Jeong et al. 2017). In Fig. 10, a skin biopsy is gathered from the patient and to get a desired measure of cells it is cultured in vitro. To make a bioprinted skin constructs, bioinks as cell suspensions, cell-epitomized hydrogels are utilized. Under immersed atmosphere followed by an air-liquid interface, the printed constructs are cultured to achieve a matured skin that is compatible with tissue transplantation (Ng et al. 2016).

8.3 Hydrogels in Tissue Regeneration

It is well-known that polymers occupy an important role in the 3D bioprinting especially as scaffolds in tissue engineering applications. Polymers which are used



Fig. 10 Representation of bioprinting-skin tissue transplantation (Ng et al. 2016). Copyright 2016. Reproduced with permission from Elsevier Ltd.

in the formation of hydrogels include manufactured poly ethylene glycol diacrylate (PEGDA) and organic gelatine methacrylate (GelMA) (Billiet et al. 2014). Due to the attractive properties like biocompatibility, tuneable mechanical property and their capability to be hydrated and still being insoluble and not losing its 3D structure are remarkable which enables them to mimic biological tissues. The engineered polymers such as PLGA and PCL have certain advantages like minimal toxicity. The major drawback of using PLGA is that it results in inflammatory reaction while oligomers development (Intra et al. 2008). Infection has a serious impact on tissue recovery prompts poor functioning of tissue or even dismissal of the embedded scaffold. Hence, it is essential to control the height of inflammation. Research has been done already where 3D printed PLA and chitosan scaffolds were contrasted for their capacity to induce infection of their effect on tissue recovery (Almeida et al. 2014; Do et al. 2015).



Fig. 11 Schematic representation of 'top-down' and 'bottom-up' approaches for tissue engineering (Lu et al. 2013). Copyright 2013. Reproduced with permission from Dove Medical Press Ltd.

9 Different Approaches for Tissue Engineering

Various tissue engineering techniques were produced to face the difficulties of reconstructing/reproducing very convoluted and functional tissues (Zhang et al. 2017). The traditional method for loading the cells is done by making use of scaffolds as matrices as shown in Fig. 11. The scaffolds are prepared either from intrinsically derived polymers such as gelatin, collagen, hyaluronic acid and alginate (Drury and Mooney 2003; Hoffman 2012) or engineered polymers such as PCL, PLA, PGA, and PLGA (Zhang et al. 2013, 2017). The scaffolds act as 3D templates which facilitate the cells to adhere, multiply and enlarge all through the integrated structure before they grow their own ECM, that at last prompts the production of developed cell-laden grafts with equal properties to their native counterparts. From analysis, it is clear that the phenotypes of seeded cells can be coordinated in the scaffolds by implementing a sequence of various organic and physical stimuli such as development factors (Tayalia and Mooney 2009) shear stress with electric and mechanical cues. But these traditional scaffold-based approaches have certain limitations such as the intrinsic inefficiency to mimic the complicated microstructures of biological tissues (Zhang et al. 2017).

10 Selection of Bioinks

A successful bioprinting begins with the selection of desired biomaterials as the bioink. Bioinks obtained from both organic and inorganic biomaterials has been used as they offer a wide range of properties including biocompatibility, printability and long-standing functionality. For example, the flexibility in deposition of free-standing structures depends on the viscosity of the bioink which is one of the vital rheological factors. Commonly used bioinks are shear thinning biomaterials including Pluronic, gelatin, PEG-based materials or their combinations with other hydrogels. These bioink can prevent the structure from collapsing as they acquire a liquid-like behaviour while experiencing extreme shear stress during the extrusion procedure, yet at that point rapidly recovers its gel state after bioprinted. In order to obtain more stabilized bioprinted structures, the bioprinted tissue constructs generally rely on a secondary cross-linking mechanism (Zhang et al. 2017). The cross-linking mechanisms are of two types: (i) Physical cross-linking and (ii) Chemical cross-linking.

Physical cross-linking are formed by means of non-covalent interactions for example, thermally actuated sol–gel transitions or ionic interactions while, chemical cross-linkage: such networks were developed due to the evolution of advanced covalent bonds (Zhang et al. 2017; Malda et al. 2013). For example, it is obvious that a solid physical hydrogel can be formed when alginate solutions which rapidly cross-link's with the presence of Ca2⁺ ions (Christensen et al. 2015). Also, permanent 3D polymeric networks are developed when GelMA hydrogels are photo cross-linked with the existence of a photo-initiator upon light exposure (Yue et al. 2015). Due to the instability of physically cross-linked gels over a long time, they can be efficient outlaw formats where just fleeting dependability is required including making of conciliatory bioprinted constructs like the vasculature systems. On the other hand, chemically cross-linked gels are suited for helpful bioprinting to work as the biomimetic ECM as they acquire better long-term stability than physically cross-linked gels (Zhang et al. 2017).

As already discussed both natural biopolymers and synthetic polymers has been experimented to satisfy some required prerequisites for use as bioinks (Zhang et al. 2017). Though this bioinks from natural/synthetic polymer helps in the growth and enhances the activity of bioprinted living cells as they may fail to offer the support as sacrificial/constructive scaffolds. To overcome this drawback, recently a category of naturally derived composite biomaterials namely decellularized extracellular matrix (dECM). dECM contains a distinct advantage because it has the potential to administer materials from a similar tissue in the bioprinting procedure, which provides a very much coordinated compositional many sided quality with the engineering allegiance between the printed natural structures and the objective tissues as shown in Fig. 12. Nowadays dECM has occupied the centre stage for their application as bioinks (Murphy and Atala 2014; Zhang et al. 2017; Pati et al. 2014).



Fig. 12 Tissue printing process using dECM as bioink (Pati et al. 2014). Copyright 2014. Reproduced with permission from Nature Publishing Group

11 Advantage of 3D Printing Technology

- The main factor that showcases the difference between 2D and 3D printing technologies is that 3D printing does not follow the traditional manufacturing process. Also, it is a powerful technique for quickly creating patient-specific, high-constancy, medical hallucination at an economically profitable price.
- 3D-printed medical models gives the benefit of tactile criticism, explicit manipulation in addition to that it provides a clear understanding of a patients biological system.
- In comparison with other approaches, the 3D bioprinting technique enables to connect the dissimilarity between synthetically engineered tissue constructs and intrinsic tissues.
- 3D organ printing provides remarkable adaptability and the potential to distribute cells and biomaterials with definite authority over spatial circulation.
- In most of the cases, 3D-printed medical phantoms helps in assisting the surgeries; thus, it reduces the duration of medical procedures (Schubert et al. 2014).

- 3D-printed neuroanatomical models are used to carry out the surgical planning by neurosurgeons that reveals the physical portrayal of some difficult structures in the human body. Thus, the surgeon can visualize and understand the complications among sensitive parts like connections between cranial nerves, vessels, cerebral structures and skull design that are not possible in 2D technologies (Ventola 2014).
- Thus, errors in the surgery can be reduced by optimizing the medical procedure after visualizing the image (Wang et al. 2017).

12 Conclusions

The development of 3D printing technology in these recent days is commendable. This technology has offered numerous platforms in various fields, but a lot more in the field of biomedicine has been explained in this chapter. The contribution of polymeric hydrogels is enormous, and it helps in satisfying the patients requirement for repair and regeneration in the field of organ and tissue replacement, even polymeric scaffolds are used for tissue engineering. When there is a drastic increase in the number of organs needed, on the other hand, there is paucity in the number of donors and poor biocompatibility tends to immune rejection. Thus, scientist has found an alternate in scaffolds that can be used for transplantation. These scaffolds can mimic the ECM by granting structural support and contributes in yielding desired tissues and organs which is the ultimate aim. By applying 3D printing techniques, ECM-like scaffolds can be generated with a high precision, also it is possible to obtained fine informations even at a microscopic regime. Thus, these 3D printing technologies enables to take care of the demand of the patients for tissues and organs immediately without any delay or wait from the contributors for transplantation.

References

- Aboutalebi Anaraki N, Roshanfekr Rad L, Irani M, Haririan I (2015) Fabrication of PLA/PEG/ MWCNT electrospun nanofibrous scaffolds for anticancer drug delivery. J Appl Polym Sci 132 (3):41286
- Almeida CR, Serra T, Oliveira MI, Planell JA, Barbosa MA, Navarro M (2014) Impact of 3-D printed PLA-and chitosan-based scaffolds on human monocyte/macrophage responses: unraveling the effect of 3-D structures on inflammation. Acta Biomater 10(2):613–622
- Aoki H, Al-Assaf S, Katayama T, Phillips GO (2007) Characterization and properties of Acacia senegal (L.) Willd. var. senegal with enhanced properties (Acacia (sen) SUPER GUM[™]). Food Hydrocolloids 21:329–337
- Arslan-Yildiz A, El Assal R, Chen P, Guven S, Inci F, Demirci U (2016) Towards artificial tissue models: past, present, and future of 3D bioprinting. Biofabrication 8(1):014103

- Barron JA, Ringeisen BR, Kim H, Spargo BJ, Chrisey DB (2004) Application of laser printing to mammalian cells. Thin Solid Films 453:383–387
- Billiet T, Gevaert E, De Schryver T, Cornelissen M, Dubruel P (2014) The 3D printing of gelatin methacrylamide cell-laden tissue-engineered constructs with high cell viability. Biomaterials 35(1):49–62
- Chang CC, Boland ED, Williams SK, Hoying JB (2011) Direct-write bioprinting three-dimensional biohybrid systems for future regenerative therapies. J Biomed Mater Res B Appl Biomater 98(1):160–170
- Cheng C, Sun S, Zhao C (2014) Progress in heparin and heparin-like/mimicking polymer-functionalized biomedical membranes. J Mater Chem B 2(44):7649–7672
- Christensen K, Xu C, Chai W, Zhang Z, Fu J, Huang Y (2015) Freeform inkjet printing of cellular structures with bifurcations. Biotechnol Bioeng 112(5):1047–1055
- Chung HJ, Park TG (2009) Self-assembled and nanostructured hydrogels for drug delivery and tissue engineering. Nano Today 4(5):429–437
- Colina M, Serra P, Fernández-Pradas JM, Sevilla L, Morenza JL (2005) DNA deposition through laser induced forward transfer. Biosens Bioelectron 20(8):1638–1642
- Cui X, Boland T, DD'Lima D, Lotz MK (2012) Thermal inkjet printing in tissue engineering and regenerative medicine. Recent Pat Drug Deliv Formul 6(2):149–155
- Dababneh AB, Ozbolat IT (2014) Bioprinting technology: a current state-of-the-art review. J Manuf Sci Eng 136(6):061016
- de Nooy AE, Masci G, Crescenzi V (1999) Versatile synthesis of polysaccharide hydrogels using the Passerini and Ugi multicomponent condensations. Macromolecules 32(4):1318–1320
- de Nooy AE, Capitani D, Masci G, Crescenzi V (2000) Ionic polysaccharide hydrogels via the Passerini and Ugi multicomponent condensations: synthesis, behavior and solid-state NMR characterization. Biomacromolecules 1(2):259–267
- Derby B (2012) Printing and prototyping of tissues and scaffolds. Science 338(6109):921-926
- Dinca V, Kasotakis E, Catherine J, Mourka A, Ranella A, Ovsianikov A, Chichkov BN, Farsari M, Mitraki A, Fotakis C (2008) Directed three-dimensional patterning of self-assembled peptide fibrils. Nano Lett 8(2):538–543
- Do AV, Khorsand B, Geary SM, Salem AK (2015) 3D printing of scaffolds for tissue regeneration applications. Adv Healthc Mater 4(12):1742–1762
- Drury JL, Mooney DJ (2003) Hydrogels for tissue engineering: scaffold design variables and applications. Biomaterials 24(24):4337–4351
- Duan B (2017) State-of-the-art review of 3D bioprinting for cardiovascular tissue engineering. Ann Biomed Eng 45(1):195–209
- Ebara M, Kotsuchibashi Y, Narain R, Idota N, Kim YJ, Hoffman JM, Uto K, Aoyagi T (2014) Smart biomaterials. Springer, Berlin
- Fang Y, Frampton JP, Raghavan S, Sabahi-Kaviani R, Luker G, Deng CX, Takayama S (2012) Rapid generation of multiplexed cell cocultures using acoustic droplet ejection followed by aqueous two-phase exclusion patterning. Tissue Eng Part C Methods 18(9):647–657
- Gonçalves EM, Oliveira FJ, Silva RF, Neto MA, Fernandes MH, Amaral M, Vallet-Regí M, Vila M (2016) Three-dimensional printed PCL-hydroxyapatite scaffolds filled with CNTs for bone cell growth stimulation. J Biomed Mater Res B Appl Biomater 104(6):1210–1219
- Gross BC, Erkal JL, Lockwood SY, Chen C, Spence DM (2014) Evaluation of 3D printing and its potential impact on biotechnology and the chemical sciences. Anal Chem 86(7):3240–3253
- Gu BK, Choi DJ, Park SJ, Kim MS, Kang CM, Kim CH (2016) 3-dimensional bioprinting for tissue engineering applications. Biomater Res 20(12):1–8
- Guillotin B, Guillemot F (2011) Cell patterning technologies for organotypic tissue fabrication. Trends Biotechnol 29(4):183–190
- Guillotin B, Souquet A, Catros S, Duocastella M, Pippenger B, Bellance S, Bareille R, Remy M, Bordenave L, Amedee J, Guillemot F (2010) Laser assisted bioprinting of engineered tissue with high cell density and microscale organization. Biomaterials 31(28):7250–7256
- Hennink WE, van Nostrum CF (2012) Novel crosslinking methods to design hydrogels. Adv Drug Deliv Rev 64:223–236

- Hoffman AS (2012) Hydrogels for biomedical applications. Adv Drug Deliv Rev 64:18-23
- Huh D, Torisawa YS, Hamilton GA, Kim HJ, Ingber DE (2012) Microengineered physiological biomimicry: organs-on-chips. Lab Chip 12(12):2156–2164
- Ingber DE, Mow VC, Butler D, Niklason L, Huard J, Mao J, Yannas I, Kaplan D, Vunjak-Novakovic G (2006) Tissue engineering and developmental biology: going biomimetic. Tissue Eng 12(12):3265–3283
- Intra J, Glasgow JM, Mai HQ, Salem AK (2008) Pulsatile release of biomolecules from polydimethylsiloxane (PDMS) chips with hydrolytically degradable seals. J Controlled Release 127(3):280–287
- Iwami K, Noda T, Ishida K, Morishima K, Nakamura M, Umeda N (2010) Bio rapid prototyping by extruding/aspirating/refilling thermoreversible hydrogel. Biofabrication 2(1):014108
- Jang J, Park JY, Gao G, Cho DW (2018) Biomaterials-based 3D cell printing for next-generation therapeutics and diagnostics. Biomaterials 156:88–106
- Jayaramudu T, Li Y, Ko HU, Shishir IR, Kim J (2016a) Poly (acrylic acid)-Poly (vinyl alcohol) hydrogels for reconfigurable lens actuators. Int J Precis Eng Manuf Green Technol 3(4): 375–379
- Jayaramudu T, Raghavendra GM, Varaprasad K, Raju KM, Sadiku ER, Kim J (2016b) 5-Fluorouracil encapsulated magnetic nanohydrogels for drug-delivery applications. J Appl Polym Sci 133:37
- Jeong KH, Park D, Lee YC (2017) Polymer-based hydrogel scaffolds for skin tissue engineering applications: a mini-review. J Polym Res 24(7):112
- Jones N (2012) Science in three dimensions: the print revolution. Nature 487:22-23
- Jones R, Haufe P, Sells E, Iravani P, Olliver V, Palmer C, Bowyer A (2011) RepRap-the replicating rapid prototyper. Robotica 29(1):177–191
- Kaith BS, Sharma R, Kalia S (2015) Guar gum based biodegradable, antibacterial and electrically conductive hydrogels. Int J Bio Macromol 75:266–275
- Kang HW, Lee SJ, Ko IK, Kengla C, Yoo JJ, Atala A (2016) A 3D bioprinting system to produce human-scale tissue constructs with structural integrity. Nat Biotechnol 34(3):312
- Kasza KE, Rowat AC, Liu J, Angelini TE, Brangwynne CP, Koenderink GH, Weitz DA (2007) The cell as a material. Curr Opin Cell Biol 19(1):101–107
- Kaur G, Adhikari R, Cass P, Bown M, Gunatillake P (2015) Electrically conductive polymers and composites for biomedical applications. RSC Adv 5(47):37553–37567
- Kelm JM, Lorber V, Snedeker JG, Schmidt D, Broggini-Tenzer A, Weisstanner M, Odermatt B, Mol A, Zünd G, Hoerstrup SP (2010) A novel concept for scaffold-free vessel tissue engineering: self-assembly of microtissue building blocks. J Biotechnol 148(1):46–55
- Kim YB, Kim GH (2015) PCL/alginate composite scaffolds for hard tissue engineering: fabrication, characterization, and cellular activities. ACS Comb Sci 17(2):87–99
- Kishi R, Ichijo H, Hirasa O (1993) Thermo-responsive devices using poly (vinyl methyl ether) hydrogels. J Intell Mater Syst Struct 4(4):533–537
- Lee JS, Kim BS, Seo D, Park JH, Cho DW (2017) Three-dimensional cell printing of large-volume tissues: application to ear regeneration. Tissue Eng Part C Methods 23(3):136–145
- Lu T, Li Y, Chen T (2013) Techniques for fabrication and construction of three-dimensional scaffolds for tissue engineering. Int J Nanomed 8:337
- Lu Y, He W, Cao T, Guo H, Zhang Y, Li Q, Shao Z, Cui Y, Zhang X (2014) Elastic, conductive, polymeric hydrogels and sponges. Sci Rep 4:5792
- Malda J, Visser J, Melchels FP, Jüngst T, Hennink WE, Dhert WJ, Groll J, Hutmacher DW (2013) 25th anniversary article: engineering hydrogels for biofabrication. Adv Mater 25(36):5011– 5028
- Meng J, Xiao B, Zhang Y, Liu J, Xue H, Lei J, Kong H, Huang Y, Jin Z, Gu N, Xu H (2013) Super-paramagnetic responsive nanofibrous scaffolds under static magnetic field enhance osteogenesis for bone repair in vivo. Sci Rep 3:2655
- Murphy SV, Atala A (2014) 3D bioprinting of tissues and organs. Nat Biotechnol 32(8):773-785
- Ng WL, Wang S, Yeong WY, Naing MW (2016) Skin bioprinting: impending reality or fantasy. Trends Biotechnol 34:689–699

- Noshadi I, Walker BW, Portillo-Lara R, Sani ES, Gomes N, Aziziyan MR, Annabi N (2017) Engineering biodegradable and biocompatible bio-ionic liquid conjugated hydrogels with tunable conductivity and mechanical properties. Sci Rep 7(1):4345
- Okamoto T, Suzuki T, Yamamoto N (2000) Microarray fabrication with covalent attachment of DNA using bubble jet technology. Nat Biotechnol 18(4):438–441
- Ozbolat IT (2015) Bioprinting scale-up tissue and organ constructs for transplantation. Trends Biotechnol 33(7):395–400
- Ozbolat IT, Hospodiuk M (2016) Current advances and future perspectives in extrusion-based bioprinting. Biomaterials 76:321–343
- Ozbolat IT, Yu Y (2013) Bioprinting toward organ fabrication: challenges and future trends. IEEE Trans Biomed Eng 60(3):691–699
- Park JY, Shim JH, Choi SA, Jang J, Kim M, Lee SH, Cho DW (2015) 3D printing technology to control BMP-2 and VEGF delivery spatially and temporally to promote large-volume bone regeneration. J Mater Chem B 3(27):5415–5425
- Park SH, Jung CS, Min BH (2016) Advances in three-dimensional bioprinting for hard tissue engineering. Tissue Eng Regen Med 13(6):622–635
- Pati F, Jang J, Ha DH, Kim SW, Rhie JW, Shim JH, Kim DH, Cho DW (2014) Printing three-dimensional tissue analogues with decellularized extracellular matrix bioink. Nat Commun 5:3935
- Pati F, Gantelius J, Svahn HA (2016) 3D bioprinting of tissue/organ models. Angew Chem Int Ed 55(15):4650–4665
- Peltola SM, Melchels FP, Grijpma DW, Kellomaki M (2008) A review of rapid prototyping techniques for tissue engineering purposes. Ann Med 40(4):268–280
- Poh PS, Hutmacher DW, Holzapfel BM, Solanki AK, Stevens MM, Woodruff MA (2016) In vitro and in vivo bone formation potential of surface calcium phosphate-coated polycaprolactone and polycaprolactone/bioactive glass composite scaffolds. Acta Biomater 30:319–333
- Radenkovic D, Solouk A, Seifalian A (2016) Personalized development of human organs using 3D printing technology. Med Hypotheses 87:30–33
- Reed EJ, Klumb L, Koobatian M, Viney C (2009) Biomimicry as a route to new materials: what kinds of lessons are useful? Phil Trans R Soc A 367:1571–1585
- Rengier F, Mehndiratta A, Von Tengg-Kobligk H, Zechmann CM, Unterhinninghofen R, Kauczor HU, Giesel FL (2010) 3D printing based on imaging data: review of medical applications. Int J CARS 5(4):335–341
- Roh HS, Lee CM, Hwang YH, Kook MS, Yang SW, Lee D, Kim BH (2017) Addition of MgO nanoparticles and plasma surface treatment of three-dimensional printed polycaprolactone/ hydroxyapatite scaffolds for improving bone regeneration. Mater Sci Eng 74:525–535
- Said HM, Alla SG, El-Naggar AW (2004) Synthesis and characterization of novel gels based on carboxymethyl cellulose/acrylic acid prepared by electron beam irradiation. React Funct Polym 61(3):397–404
- Schubert C, Van Langeveld MC, Donoso LA (2014) Innovations in 3D printing: a 3D overview from optics to organs. Br J Ophthalmol 98(2):159–161
- Shim JH, Jang KM, Hahn SK, Park JY, Jung H, Oh K, Park KM, Yeom J, Park SH, Kim SW, Wang JH (2016) Three-dimensional bioprinting of multilayered constructs containing human mesenchymal stromal cells for osteochondral tissue regeneration in the rabbit knee joint. Biofabrication 8(1):014102
- Shin SR, Zihlmann C, Akbari M, Assawes P, Cheung L, Zhang K, Manoharan V, Zhang YS, Yüksekkaya M, Wan KT, Nikkhah M (2016) Reduced graphene oxide-gel MA hybrid hydrogels as scaffolds for cardiac tissue engineering. Small 12(27):3677–3689
- Slaughter BV, Khurshid SS, Fisher OZ, Khademhosseini A, Peppas NA (2009) Hydrogels in regenerative medicine. Adv Mat 21(32–33):3307–3329
- Sperinde JJ, Griffith LG (1997) Synthesis and characterization of enzymatically-cross-linked poly (ethylene glycol) hydrogels. Macromolecules 30(18):5255–5264
- Stanton MM, Samitier J, Sanchez S (2015) Bioprinting of 3D hydrogels. Lab Chip 15(15): 3111–3115

- Suzuki M, Hirasa O (1993) An approach to artificial muscle using polymer gels formed by micro-phase separation. Springer, Berlin
- Tayalia P, Mooney DJ (2009) Controlled growth factor delivery for tissue engineering. Adv Mater 21(32–33):3269–3285
- Tsai KY, Lin HY, Chen YW, Lin CY, Hsu TT, Kao CT (2017) Laser sintered magnesium-calcium silicate/poly-ε-caprolactone scaffold for bone tissue engineering. Materials 10(1):65
- Ulbricht M (2006) Advanced functional polymer membranes. Polymer 47(7):2217-2262
- Ullah F, Othman MB, Javed F, Ahmad Z, Akil HM (2015) Classification, processing and application of hydrogels: a review. Mater Sci Eng C 57:414–433
- Vandenhaute M, Snoeck D, Vanderleyden E, De Belie N, Van Vlierberghe S, Dubruel P (2017) Stability of Pluronic[®] F127 bismethacrylate hydrogels: reality or utopia? Polym Degrad Stab 146:201–211
- Varaprasad K, Raghavendra GM, Jayaramudu T, Yallapu MM, Sadiku R (2017) A mini review on hydrogels classification and recent developments in miscellaneous applications. Mater Sci Eng C 79:958–971
- Ventola CL (2014) Medical applications for 3D printing: current and projected uses. Pharm Ther 39(10):704–711
- Visser J, Peters B, Burger TJ, Boomstra J, Dhert WJ, Melchels FP, Malda J (2013) Biofabrication of multi-material anatomically shaped tissue constructs. Biofabrication 5(3):035007
- Wang K, Ho CC, Zhang C, Wang B (2017) A review on the 3D printing of functional structures for medical phantoms and regenerated tissue and organ applications. Engineering 3(5):653–662
- Włodarczyk-Biegun MK, del Campo A (2017) 3D bioprinting of structural proteins. Biomaterials 134:180–201
- Wong HM, Chu PK, Leung FK, Cheung KM, Luk KD, Yeung KW (2014) Engineered polycaprolactone–magnesium hybrid biodegradable porous scaffold for bone tissue engineering. Prog Nat Sci Mater Int 24(5):561–567
- Wu Y, Chen YX, Yan J, Quinn D, Dong P, Sawyer SW, Soman P (2016) Fabrication of conductive gelatin methacrylate–polyaniline hydrogels. Acta Biomater 33:122–130
- Xu T, Jin J, Gregory C, Hickman JJ, Boland T (2005) Inkjet printing of viable mammalian cells. Biomaterials 26(1):93–99
- Xu T, Gregory CA, Molnar P, Cui X, Jalota S, Bhaduri SB, Boland T (2006) Viability and electrophysiology of neural cell structures generated by the inkjet printing method. Biomaterials 27(19):3580–3588
- Xu T, Kincaid H, Atala A, Yoo JJ (2008) High-throughput production of single-cell microparticles using an inkjet printing technology. J Manuf Sci Eng 130(2):021017
- Xu T, Zhao W, Zhu JM, Albanna MZ, Yoo JJ, Atala A (2013) Complex heterogeneous tissue constructs containing multiple cell types prepared by inkjet printing technology. Biomaterials 34(1):130–139
- Yang C, Chen S, Wang J, Zhu T, Xu G, Chen Z, Ma X, Li W (2016) A facile electrospinning method to fabricate polylactide/graphene/MWCNTs nanofiber membrane for tissues scaffold. Appl Surf Sci 362:163–168
- Yue K, Trujillo-de Santiago G, Alvarez MM, Tamayol A, Annabi N, Khademhosseini A (2015) Synthesis, properties, and biomedical applications of gelatin methacryloyl (GelMA) hydrogels. Biomaterials 73:254–271
- Zhang YS, Choi SW, Xia Y (2013) Inverse opal scaffolds for applications in regenerative medicine. Soft Matter 9(41):9747–9754
- Zhang J, Zhao S, Zhu M, Zhu Y, Zhang Y, Liu Z, Zhang C (2014) 3D-printed magnetic Fe ₃O₄/ MBG/PCL composite scaffolds with multifunctionality of bone regeneration, local anticancer drug delivery and hyperthermia. J Mater Chem B 2(43):7583–7595
- Zhang YS, Yue K, Aleman J, Mollazadeh-Moghaddam K, Bakht SM, Yang J, Jia W, Dell'Erba V, Assawes P, Shin SR, Dokmeci MR (2017) 3D bioprinting for tissue and organ fabrication. Ann Biomed Eng 45(1):148–163

- Zhao QS, Ji QX, Xing K, Li XY, Liu CS, Chen XG (2009) Preparation and characteristics of novel porous hydrogel films based on chitosan and glycerophosphate. Carbohydr Polym 76(3): 410–416
- Zhu Y, Mao Z, Gao C (2013) Aminolysis-based surface modification of polyesters for biomedical applications. RSC Adv 3(8):2509–2519

Polymer Composite Strategies in Cancer Therapy, Augment Stem Cell Osteogenesis, Diagnostics in the Central Nervous System, and Drug Delivery



Mariappan Rajan, Rajendran Amarnath Praphakar and Periyakaruppan Pradeepkumar

Abstract This chapter covers the wide knowledge about polymer composite strategies in cancer therapy, augment stem cell osteogenesis, diagnostics in the central nervous system, and drug delivery. Many polymer composites were applied for the diagnosis and curing of cancer diseases. These areas include different types of polymer composites, their degradation, drug release mechanism from the polymer composites, and their needfulness for cancer therapy. In addition, this chapter explores the augmentation stem cell osteogenesis including morphology, environment, and polymer nanocomposites for osteogenesis. In the end, we focus on the drug delivery system for central nervous system.

Keywords Cancer · Central nervous system · Drug delivery system · Osteogenesis · Polymer composites

1 Introduction

In the current past, there has been an improvement in the best treatments using biopharmaceuticals and biological macromolecules including nucleic acids, peptides, proteins, as theranostics for identifying the disease. These innovative drugs have needed a purified drug releases framework which can be utilized to enhance absorption, distribution, metabolism, excretion and moreover additionally upgraded cell/tissue specificity and biocompatibility. In such manner, the improvement of novel drug release frameworks and instruments to limit them is required which has stimulated the advance in the up and coming phase of drug delivery systems (DDSs) (Vogelson 2001). The improvement of the medical research field has been impacted by the design and development of the DDS for more controlled and

in Biomedical Engineering, Lecture Notes in Bioengineering, https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-030-04741-2_8

M. Rajan (🖂) · R. A. Praphakar · P. Pradeepkumar

Biomaterials in Medicinal Chemistry Laboratory, Department of Natural Products Chemistry, School of Chemistry, Madurai Kamaraj University, Madurai 625021, Tamil Nadu, India e-mail: rajanm153@gmail.com

[©] Springer Nature Switzerland AG 2019

K. K. Sadasivuni et al. (eds.), Polymer Nanocomposites

target-based therapeutic use. The cutting-edge DDS is one of the quickly creating areas of the pharmaceutical wholesale place (Shahani 2009).

In recent years, controlled DDS has turned out to be a standout among the most requesting and quick-advancing logical zones. It can give more important properties by the by shapes, excellent absorption, biocompatibility, the tissue, and cells, is focusing the bioactive compounds, soundness of the medicine against degradation by proteolytic catalysts, and the limited drug has been stable in the human body at a very long time, within the supportive limited (Grund et al. 2011). In the many cases, the most reassuring plausibility for controlled drug delivery is given by natural and synthetic polymers, respectively, due to their ideal, adaptable qualities, which can be effectively created at modern size and excellent for extra modification (Tiwari et al. 2012).

The necessary part of the drug release from the polymer carrier is suggested improvement measurements, the arrival of the both natures (hydrophilic and hydrophobic), the consistent arrival way at the very long time. Polymeric composite therapeutics incorporate straight otherwise extended polymeric composite long chain works have bioactive molecules. Ex. polymer medication or on the other hand as the latent transporter to which a medication cannot non-covalent attached Ex. synthetic polymer, polymer-counter acting agent conjugates, DNA grafted polymers, amphiphilic micelle, dendrimers, polymeric nanocarrier, different functionalized polymer (Amarnath Praphakar et al. 2018a). The polymers for medicate conveyance are legitimately grouped in view of the accompanying qualities: (I) Initial of the polymer can be technology aspects (II) Synthetic nature can be different functional of the polymer as well as natural polymers based and so forth (III) Backbone security the polymer can be biocompatibility nature. (IV) The soluble in polymers have been two natures: polar and than non-polar charter (Pradeepkumar et al. 2018; Amarnath Praphakar et al. 2018b). In any case, all the previously mentioned highlights have their own impediments, for example, common polymers, albeit most copious and good soluble, which are hard to repeat and purge. Design and development of polymers have very large immunogenicity, which is kept their long uses. Some polymers which are not good soluble in solvent medium should be removed by surgery after they discharge the medication at the focused in the vicinity. The general trademark includes the potential polymers that make protected, adequacy, hydrophobicity, non-appearance of immunogenicity, organic idleness, adequate pharmacokinetics, the synthetic polymer is useful gathering nearby medication, targeted moieties, and the arrangement of synthetic copolymers (Mehnath et al. 2017a). There are a few important points polymer is going about a vain transporter to which may be attached to the medication, for example the enhanced polymers applicable for pharmacokinetic and pharmacodynamic character biopharmaceuticals through different routes such as increase the plasma half-life, reduce the immunogenicity, support solidness of biopharmaceuticals, increase the solubility of the low molecular weights, and in the conveyance, medication has been focused (Ponnamma et al. 2018; Hobel and Aigner 2010; Kodaira et al. 2004). The functionalized polymers have focused on different sicknesses, likewise rheumatoid joint inflammation and some human disease such as diabetes (Cooper 1993).

The functionalized polymer-related medication conveyance framework is separated into different classifications: dissemination controlled, artificially controlled (biodegradable), remotely activated frameworks, for example, pH, temperature (Rajan et al. 2017a), dissolvable initiated (Mrlik et al. 2000), and polymeric nanocarrier-related conveyance frameworks that execute three primary advancements (Amarnath Praphakar et al. 2017a): (I) PEGylation (Howard et al. 2008; Knop et al. 2010), (II) dynamic cell and organ particular focusing on (Bae and Kataoka 2009; Marcucci and Lefoulon 2004; Torchilin 2010), and (III) inactive focusing by utilization of the enhanced permeability and retention (EPR) impact (Torchilin 2010; Bhadra et al. 2002). The polymeric nanoparticles incorporate covered nanoparticles, enzyme, hydrogels, and SL nanoparticles. Other than this, promote the functionalized polymer medication conveyance frameworks is being imagined as a different functionalized of the broad framework which will give immediately excellent pharmacokinetics, reduced poisonous, sped up focusing on, and modified materials are discharged by medication. Also, more convincing treatment could be offered through mix treatment including conveyance of at least two medications/diagnostics specialists at the same time (Lammers et al. 2010; Ahmed et al. 2006a, b).

Moreover that case, there are some difficulties, it is used to polymers as medication conveyance vehicle that is should tend to. For instance, different types of polymers have a few points of heterogeneity. Every polymer-sedate conjugate particle contrasts with respect to atomic weight, medicate stacking, and resulting adaptation. Additionally, the complexities in combination and portrayal increments as the conjugates turn out to be more minds boggling, i.e., different functionalized nanobiomedicine. From now on, it is significant that the variations properties such as that are very limited to satisfy the stringent administrative principle. To overcome this problem, the polymeric grafted must be joined reproducibly. The approved techniques for physio-chemical portrayal should likewise be set up to guarantee the nature of the reproducible item. The measure of medication discharge is specifically corresponding to the adequacy and well-being of polymer-tranquilize conjugates; in this way, novel methodologies, for example, the arrangement of better linker sciences, will be valuable in empowering the further difference in polymer conjugates (Rajan et al. 2017b). In this chapter, we discussed the polymeric composite strategies for the drug delivery systems in cancer therapy, augment stem cell osteogenesis, and diagnostics in the central nervous system treatments.

2 Cancer

Cancer is a complicated disease that represents imperative reason for death in developing and developed countries (Emal et al. 2011; Al-Dimassi et al. 2014). Even though, the enormous of chemotherapeutic cancer drugs have been successfully accomplished in a medicinal point of view; it has been effectively utilized as a part of

a clinical perspective. But, there is no development in chemotherapeutic cancer treatment due to opposed to cancer cells (Pradeepkumar et al. 2017; Bildstein et al. 2011; He et al. 2014). In addition to that, the metal complex, metal organic framework (MOF), catalyst, heterocyclic compounds, inorganic material, and organic compounds resistance of cancer cells and these are used in limited anticancer treatment (Rajan and Raj 2013a; Ibrahim et al. 2017; Torshina et al. 2010; Martins et al. 2015a, b). Therefore, to overcome these problems, polymer composite, lipids, dendrimers, and carbon-based materials have been utilized as carrier part in cancer therapies (Ramakrishna et al. 2001; You et al. 2016; Gillies and Frechet 2005; Lee et al. 2006). Recently, nanotechnology was used in cancer therapies (Rajan and Raj 2013b). In fact, that few nanosized polymeric particles conveyance transporters have been affirmed for FDA (Food and Drug Administration). Moreover, nanotechnologies will probably constitute a developing of the cancer treatment. In recent years, lot of peoples cured in cancer therapies. Since remarkable fulfilments have been supported in the field of the cancer therapies drug delivery system. These nanoparticles can be lot of advantages in cancer therapies, the possibility to encapsulated different anticancer drugs, and protect therapeutic molecules. Further, the surface modification with target ligands (Biotin, folic acid, and peptides) enhances the effectiveness of the in vitro biological aspect and controlled release of the target anticancer drug delivery system (DDS) (Rajan and Raj 2013c; Sulistio et al. 2011). As we know that the lot of nanocarrier used in anticancer drug delivery system (ADDS) as well as these nanocarrier can be easily removed by the cancer cells of the reticuloendothelial system (RES), the present work has been focused on polymer composite of the nanocarrier. These nanocarriers used to cancer cells due to the invisible. Functionalized natural polymers such as starch, carbohydrates etc. Also, functionalized synthetic polymers such as PLA, PGA, PCL, PAA, Poly (amino acids). Polymethacrylate, Polymethyl methacrylate is commonly used to modify polymer composite of the nanoparticle which can bestow protection from protein adsorption (Saheb and Jog 1999; Rajan et al. 2013). These focal points make nanoparticles a potential method of treatment better than customary cancer therapies.

2.1 Polymer Composite for Drug Delivery System

Polymer composite has been used widely in the advancement of the DDS. The sustainable structure of polymer composite accepts for tunable characters (Fadiran et al. 2018). It is extensively used for drug delivery system.

2.2 Polymer Composite Properties

Polymer composite that displays diverse properties is broadly investigated as potential drug delivery system. Different polymer composites have been utilized for

drug delivery system. This polymeric system can be the release of the anticancer drug in the target sites. Moreover, theses manner have lot of advantage and reduced side effects (Rajan and Hari Balakrishanan 2015). Undoubted variety of polymer composite goods uses full properties such as biodegradability, biocompatibility, water solubility, and amphiphilic nature. Moreover, the modification of polymer composite nanoparticles can enhance colloidal stability with natural and synthetic polymer composite. In addition, the modified polymer composite may be used for nanoparticles. This polymer nanocomposite can form multifunctional drug delivery systems because these properties are unique character (Oh and Park 2011; Jeyaraj et al. 2016). The biodegradation of the particular polymer has some critical factors because of the controlled discharge of drugs. The polymeric nanoparticles were controlled by environmental pollution. By adjusting amphiphilic polymer composite, drug loading can be prolonged to largely undervalued drugs such as proteins, peptides, and further natural large molecules. The surface-modified polymer composite nanoparticles with different moiety can enormously enhance the cooperation among nanoparticles and psychology conditions. These results are a greater cell uptake and a more attractive biodistribution technique Specifically, bio-degradable polymeric nanocomposite particles appears to cancer targeted cancer cells and sustainable delivery of anticancer chemotherapeutic drugs which would some way released from the human body. The bio-degradable polymer composite utilized for drug delivery system still now have been used as a part of the type of nanoparticle frameworks which needs for critical methods using by organic solvents. Basically an organic solvent is pollution, toxicity, and so far. The introduce innovative methods have some issues likewise low stability, in-vitro, in-vivo, and cellular uptake nature; very limited drug release of bio-degradable polymeric nanocomposites could to a grerat extent enhance specificity and cell viability (Rajan et al. 2016).

2.3 Polymeric Composite Degradation

The more important role of polymer nanocomposite particles used to in-vitro and in-vivo applications (Amarnath Praphakar et al. 2016). There is a different type of polymeric composite degradation mechanism that is one of the properties of physic chemo method. The determined highly degradation pathway had given for biomedical applications; it is more important; while choosing the suitable polymer composite for a given application (Nagaraj et al. 2018). Thermal and photodegradation is a perfect application for drug delivery system (DDS). Another one, mechanical degradation of a polymeric composite, is an extremely durability nature. Ultimately, the polymeric composite bonds are broken by chemical degradation method. The chemical degradation processes was used for biomedical applications. The hydrolysis of chemical bond can be water medicated and enzyme catalyst. The last impact is frequently referred to as biodegradation; the degradation is well soluble in biological environment conditions.

The chemical degradation of the polymeric composite is minor intricate process (Popelka et al. 2018). Polymer composite enters in water molecules; later then, this might be joined by swelling nature. Afterwards, this water easily penetrates with polymer composite to hydrolysis process, and promoting the making of oligomers and monomers. The degradation of the polymer composites changed the surface morphology, through which oligomers and monomers are discharged. Generally, polymer composite at covalent bond degradation properties has two principal statements such as (A) hydrolysis reaction and (B) enzymatic reaction. Some factors affecting the rate of the reaction, phys chem bond nature's, different polymer composition, potential of hydrogen solution, and the most important for water uptake process. The polymer composite changed the physochemo potential of hydrogen solution and phase properties. The improvement of biodegradable polymeric composites during the most recent two decades has expanded exponentially. Particularly, these polymeric composites have been utilized for DDS due to the good biocompatibility more than biodegradation natures.

2.4 DDRM of Polymer Composites

Generally, consider how a drug molecule migrates from a beginning point in a polymer composite framework to the polymer composite's external surface and at last how it is discharged into the encompassing condition. The techniques of drug delivery incorporate extracellular infiltration, intracellular drug release, and cell uptake. The efficiency of anticancer drugs loaded polymeric nanocomposite would be decreased enter the tumor tissues. Generally, because of the defective tumor vasculatures and the impaired lymphatic system, the nanoparticles can passively target the tumor sites through the enhanced permeability and retention effect (EPR effect) (Mehnath et al. 2017b). Extracellular penetration can be reached by the fixed polymeric carrier of morphology tumor penetration biology molecules and various strategies, for example, the use of ultrasound. The tumor cell take-up can be encouraged by receptor-interceded endocytosis and tumor pH-activated non-particular endocytosis or TAT-intervened transduction. Drug release from pH-responsive polymer nanocomposite by intracellular cells. It is well know about, Extracellular, endo/lysosomal cellular pHs corresponding to 6.5-7.2, and 5.0-6.5. These tumors have been different pH solutions released by anticancer drugs in cancer cells and targeted drug delivery. Moreover, the incidence of hypoxia inside tumor cells also provides the acidic pHs. For example, a similar research group established a pH-sensitive polymer composite nanoparticle are used to some cancer drugs such as curcumin, paclitaxel, doxorubicin, cisplatin, chlorambucil, and 5-fluorouracil, a natural anticancer agent, for the treatment of various cancer studies such as breast cancer, prostate cancer, colon cancer, lung cancer, and leukemia cancer. The results exposed that the cancer drugs loaded polymeric nanocomposite is soluble in cancer cell pHs it is easily released to cancer cells (Fig. 1).



Fig. 1 Strategies of drug release (Xinru 2016)



Fig. 2 Drug discharge system (mechanism) from polymeric composite nanoparticles; **a** drug spread way to water condition, **b** polymeric composite, **c** osmotic pumping, and **d** ich (Xinru 2016)

Until the principle, drug release tool could be compressed as four procedures. 1) Drug spread to water condition, 2) polymer composite 3) through drug spread water 4) osmotic pumping, and 5) erosion (Fig. 2). These drug release mechanisms would be able to the same time in the human body (Krishnan et al. 2017). This mechanism view, different polymer composite useful; the design and development DDS have been prepared to reducing time and matched dosing carrier.

3 Polymeric Nanocarrier for Cancer Chemotherapy

3.1 Designing Material

Cancer is a sickness originating from the epithelial cells covering the cancer cells parts of the place tract as previously mentioned. In the beginning period of cancer cells, surgical treatment is a reduced tumor (Wang et al. 2012). Another treatment is chemotherapy that utilizations against cancer growth. It can likewise be utilized

before surgery to shrivel the tumor and limit chance (Fredenberg et al. 2011). Chemotherapeutic anticancer drugs such as 5-fluorouracil, cisplatin, DOX, and PTX have been used for one type of the colon cancer therapy (Meyerhardt and Mayer 2005; Tol et al. 2009a, b). More, these therapies used to colon cancer contain radiation therapy (Bosset et al. 2006), stem cell transplant (Todaro et al. 2010), and immunotherapy (Koido et al. 2013).

Tumor tissues show an acidic condition and additionally a broken vasculature. The treatment of cancer usually depends upon the tumor estimate, the limited pH condition, and the scope of cancer metastasis (Anitha et al. 2016). Thinking about these physiological highlights, drug-loaded polymer nanocomposite can be an attractive biologic barrier. While treating specific cancer cells, the drug-loaded polymer nanocomposite can be easily penetrated with tumor sites. Moreover, the active agents should be therapeutic efficiency and reducing side effects.

The therapeutic efficiency, the nanoparticles surface morphology, and size of the ligand are a most vital role. There ought to be a profound thought of the synthesis technique to accomplish the desired nanostructure and the preparation of natural nanopolymers; these polymers grafted targeted ligands. The surface-modified polymer composite has shown that hydrophilic surfaces enhance circulation time and more can improve cell take-up. Polymer frameworks may offer incredible flexibility in the customization and optimization of nanoparticles to deliver capable agents and upgrade their movement to clinical practice; however, with such a significant number of parameters equipped for optimization, a thoughtful system design is required to reach the ideal.

3.2 Drugs for Cancer Therapy

Up to now, the number of drug delivery system for the treatment of cancer was developed which focuses on cancer affected patients. Chemotherapy is a cancer therapy after other treatments, Table 1.

Some chemotherapeutic compounds are used in cancer treatment such as cisplatin, carboplatin, camptothecin, doxorubicin, and paclitaxel, Table 2.

3.3 Polymer Composite Needs for Cancer Therapies

A usual nanoparticle plan is opsonized and cleared quickly by the mononuclear phagocytic system (MPS) because of the numerous factor influences, similar to insightful size, surface, and state of the properties, which are mainly determined by polymer composite properties. The utilization of biodegradable polymer composite nanoparticles (PCNPs) for delivery the medicinal drugs and bioactive molecules has demonstrated huge helpful therapeutic value with the recent finding for the effects of nanoparticles (Egusquiaguirre et al. 2012). The nanoparticle size is 10–100 nm.

Polymer composite	Anticancer drugs	Cancer cell line
PLGA-PEG-PLGA	Salidroside	Breast cancer, pancreatic cancer
Hyaluronic acid ceramide (HACE)	Ginsenoside Rg3	Lung cancer
2-Hydroxyethyl methacrylate + choline formate ionic liquid	Curcumin	Breast cancer (MCF-7 cells)
PLGA	Doxorubicin, combretastatin A4	Lewis lung carcinoma, melanoma
HPESO	Doxorubicin, elacridar (GG918)	MDR breast cancer (MDA435/LCC6/ MDRI)
PLA-PEG-PLA	TGF-β receptor-I inhibitor (SB505124), IL-2	Melanoma (B16-F10 cells)
PLGA	PTX-loaded nanocrystals; sorafenib, and Cy7 NIR dye in lipid shell	Colon cancer cell (LS174 T)
PLA	Mitomycin C	(Lung cancer, A549, H22 cells)
PLGA	Paclitaxel, combretastatin A4, doxorubicin, pEGFP	Breast cancers (MCF-7, MDA-MB-231)
PLGA	10-Hydroxycamptothecin	MCF-7 and MDA-MB-435s cells)

 Table 1
 Polymer composite used anticancer drugs for cancer therapies

 Table 2
 List of drug used for the treatment of cancer

Types of cancer	Drugs used
Brain cancer	Cyclophosphamide, everolimus, cisplatin, carmustine
Breast cancer	Paclitaxel, doxorubicin, capecitabine
Colon cancer	Cisplatin, cyclophosphamide
Cervical cancer	Hycamtin, topotecan
Lung cancer	Abraxane
Stomach cancer	Doxorubicin, fluorouracil
Skin cancer	Fluorouracil

The polymer composite properties can be utilized by broken veins and specially collected from the tumor by means of the EPR effect. The polymer composite utilized for the generation of these nanoparticles might be both of synthetic and natural origin. This polymer composite nanoparticle can enhance medication bioavailability, increase drug releasing time, and reduce side effect. Furthermore, the functionalized polymeric composite nanoparticles are capable of targeting specific tissue sites and enhancing the intracellular penetration of the drugs into the

tumor site. The excellent property of biodegradable polymeric nanocomposite are used to targeted and controlled drug delivery for cancer therapeutics.

We used several polymer composites such as hydroxyapatite (HA)/polyethylene (PE), carbon/polyethylene, silica/silicone rubber (SR), carbon fiber (CF)/epoxy, CF/ polyetheretherketone (PEEK) which have been designed for delivery of therapeutic agents through passive or active manner (Sun et al. 2014). In general, a biodegradable polymer nanocomposite materials are used to drug delivery applications due to the hydrolysis of the human body which is a prompts metabolite monomers. Since, these monomers are easily metabolized by the cancer human body. This polymeric composite used to bio-medical applications due to the biologically active and sustained release manner and biocompatible natures.

In current studies, different types of polymer nanocomposite have been constructed mostly as controlled release biological active molecules in specific sites in the cancer therapies treatment. From the previous study of Monika datta et al., have composed a 5-FU loaded MMT based PLGA nanocomposite used to treating cancer therapies. The results demonstrated that this NP was able to significantly improve the therapeutic efficacy of 5-FU as well as induce tumor cell apoptosis, hence reducing systemic toxicity (Haley and Frenkel 2008). This drug delivery system showed a significant cell growth inhibition in cancer cell tumor compared to free 5-FU drugs at the same dose, which indicates an improvement of anticancer efficacy for 5-FU in cancer therapeutics. The usage of anticancer drugs is limited by their low bioavailability because of rapid metabolism. Hence, the polymeric drug delivery system plays a vital role in drug delivery system for cancer therapy to increase the bioavailability of the drug and enhance therapeutic effects.

3.4 Important Requirement of Nanostructured Drug Delivery System

For improving a highly efficient therapeutics, there are numerous issues that should be considered. To this overcome problem, the biological aspects. The arrangement of polymer nanocomposite should be able biological barriers, distinguish the tumor tissues from the normal cells, and biologically active molecules release from carrier to reach targeted sites. For that reason, the nanostructure is applicable for drug delivery system has exhibited huge promise to determine in previously issues (Prabhu et al. 2015). The nanostructures have a lot of advantages used to drug delivery system because of their flexibility sizes, surface charges. The molecular mechanism of different cancer cells and joining the therapeutic nanostructures are the importance for the effectiveness of the treatment of cancer and improved cancer patients (Xiao et al. 2015a). A sequence of polymeric composite nanostructures, such as polymer composite nanoparticles, self-assemble polymers, polymer composite hybrid systems, and Protein-drug formulation (Fig. 3), have current used for the developed for site specific drug delivery.



Fig. 3 Structure of various polymeric nanoparticle used in anticancer therapy: a polymeric nanoparticle, b polymersome, c dendrimer, and d polymer-drug conjugate (Xinru 2016)

The polymer nanocomposite particles have been an exact structure with well-defined carrier formation through self-assembly approach to the creation of spherical shape, capsules based on the assembling of the polymers. In nanoparticles, the stacking drugs (specialists) are disintegrated and scattered all through the polymer network, while the compound embodied in nanocapsules are restricted in a shell-like divider made by a lonely polymer membrane (Venkataraman et al. 2011). As beforehand talked about, there are numerous kinds of polymeric composite nanoparticles utilized as a part of the treatment of different various tumor therapies. A 5-fluorouracil (5-FU) enteric-covered polymeric composite nanoparticle has been created. This restricted the 5-FU to the malignancy cell region and delayed the concentration of drug in the tumor tissues in a controlled manner. This molecule conduct considered a huge diminishment in the tumor estimate contrasted with the free 5-FU control (Elsabahy et al. 2015).

Micelle polymeric composite have different nanostructures; it is utilized for carrier. They can be planned by amphiphilic square copolymers to self-amass into a core-shell structure. To be more specific, the center is framed by hydrophobic squares to convey the therapeutics with a high encapsulation/entrapment efficacy, while the shell is made out of the hydrophilic squares to balance out the center and give steric connection defense to the polymeric composite micelles (Rao and Geckeler 2011). This imaginative structure makes for drug release because, of course, the firmness of the natural conditions, ensuring the therapeutic compounds (Tummala et al. 2015). To treat growth patients, have been combined ZnO@polymer composite to form micelle (isotretinoin (ISO)) which had a mean size of around 50 ± 2 nm compared with free ISO; this micelle exhibited a managed and sustained release in vitro beside upgraded cytotoxicity and cell take-up way (Cabral and Kataoka 2014).

Polymer composites are a class of self-assembled polymer vehicle which can be utilized to embody and secure particles, for example, drugs, compounds, RNA and DNA molecules. Despite the fact that they have an equivalent structure of liposomes, the polymer composites display upgraded soundness and higher stacking productivity. Lorenza Gardella et al. have manufactured PLLA/porphyrin films biodegradable polymer composite for proficient and particular conveyance of 5,10,15,20-tetrakis(4-hydroxyphenyl)porphyrin (THPP) to human tumor cells. The outcomes demonstrated that this drug releasing framework can diminish symptoms and expand the dissemination time. These nanostructures produced for growth treatment demonstrate a broad potential to enhance the restorative viability of malignancy (Oerlemans et al. 2010).

Polymer composite-therapeutic compound conjugates are tranquilized particles held up in water-dissolvable (solvent) polymeric composite. This structure can make them more proficient for a tumor targeting through the EPR impact and enable endocytic get at the cell level (Wei et al. 2017). Maybe a couple polymer composite conjugated anticancer drugs such as poly(3,4-ethylenedioxythiophene), triterpenoid have been effectively used to anticancer treatments (Lorenza et al. 2016) and settled excellent restorative potential at tumor cancer therapeutics.

3.5 Site-Specific Release of Anticancer Drug

Polymeric composite nanoparticles have an extensive measure of inclinations as a drug carrier in light of their biocompatibility, low poisonous quality, and controlled discharge properties. In any case, the most vital properties can be effortlessly adjusted and particularly drug releases is focused on tumor tissues; which can in a general sense enhance the remedial adequacy of the anticancer medications and diminish the manifestation (Duncan 2006). Typically, the site-specific delivery of polymeric carrier in the treatment of disease treatment can be isolated into latent and dynamic focusing on.

The pathophysiologic in tumor vessel are one of kind properties and nanoparticle carrier are fit for passive delivering because of the quick duplication of endothelial cells and tumor tissues are described by their flawed microvasculature (Pasut and Veronese 2007) additionally, tumor tissues generally need successful lymphatic elimination. From this subsequent, the vessels combined with lymphatic carrier and can encourage the extravasation of macromolecules and nanoparticles to the tumor tissue through the generally detailed "enhanced permeation and retention (EPR) impact." As of now, it is an imperative on play of the components which influence the EPR impact so as to plan a tumor-target carrier. Be that as it may, the pathophysiological heterogeneity of expansive tumors and the absence of EPR impact in the focal districts of the metastatic tumor both lower the amassing of nanoparticles all through tumors (Kim et al. 2012). On-going years, all the more much consideration has been centered around polymer composite nanoparticle with focusing on ligand fuctionlized drug carrier, which empowers dynamic focusing in different tumor cells.

It is broadly detailed that dynamic focusing on can be refined by the change of polymer composite nanoparticles with focusing on ligands, for example, antibodies and their parts, nucleic acid, peptides, and smidgen atoms (Heinemann et al. 2013a). These focusing on ligands can overhaul official to the receptors which are overexpressed on the tumor surface cell, improving the maintenance impact and cell
take-up of polymeric composite nanoparticles. At the point when contrasted, untargeted polymeric nanocomposite, tumor therapeutic activity which is becoming effectively is focused on nanoparticles for drug releases; the ligands biocompatibility, cell specificity, restricting liking and also the ligand surface thickness and organization must be painstakingly considered to acquire the ideal impact. In any case, with indications of advance in the improvement of ligands and nanoparticles effectively site specific drug of polymeric carriers can be an attractive correlative methodology for uninvolved focusing on, additionally enhances the viability of tumor treatment (Byrne et al. 2008).

In the treatment of a variety of expansion therapeutics, equally active and inactive is focusing on assumes a critical part in releasing helpful of polymer nanocomposite particles of specific tumor sites. Small interfering RNA (siRNA) is extensively used to vascular endothelial growth factor (VEGF) and inhibiting angiogenesis to achieve therapeutic efficacy in the various cancer cell. siRNA are short double-stranded RNA fragments, It can be silence a target mRNA in a sequence of specific manner (Bertrand et al. 2014). As past detail, explained, polyvinylidene fluoride(PVDF) has been developed nanocarrier to carry SN-38 and small interfering RNA that can be targeted to the vascular endothelial growth factor (VEGF) for cancer therapy. The results showed that these polymer nanocomposites can passively target tumor regions and synergistically enhance VEGF chemotherapy, thus significantly suppressing the tumor growth (Heinemann et al. 2013b). Hyaluronic acid (HA) is polysaccharide which has been used as a tumor cell-targeting ligand due to its high affinity for the CD44 receptor. These receptors have only one chain of the glycoprotein has been found to different cancer cells such as lung, colon, ovarian, brain, and breast cell line (Rychahou et al. 2015). Recently, HA were modified polymeric nanocomposite for cancer targeted therapeutics (Lee et al. 2016). These fabricated HA modified polymeric composite nanoparticles which contain different contains anticancer drugs such as camptothecin/curcumin). These results are used to HA as a targeted ligand in cancer cells; it is a cell uptake compared with non-targeted polymer composite nanoparticles. In addition, these targeted polymeric composite nanoparticles have suggested the cell membrane and enhancing nanoparticle endocytosis via the folate receptors which are shown in cancer cells (Ponta et al. 2003). Several excellent targeted drug deliveries for cancer therapy are shown in Table 3.

Ligand	Target
Folic acid	Folate receptor
Antibody	Carcinoembryonic antigen (CEA)
Antibody	Death receptor 5 (DR-5)
Peptide GE 11	Epidermal growth factor receptor
Hyaluronic acid	Hyaluronic acid receptor
Hyaluronic acid	CD44 receptor
Transferrin	Cancer cells that over expressed the transferring receptor

Table 3 Targeted compounds based therapeutics in cancer cell line

4 Osteogenesis

Osteogenesis is the process laying down a new bone formation by cells called osteoblasts. In worldwide every year, billions of people were suffered from bone defects and thereby orthopedics became a multibillion-dollar industry (Levi et al. 2011). After six weeks in embryos, the bone appears and the growth continues till about 25 years old. There is a critical need for bone renovation, not only for fractures, but also for trauma, tumor resections, skeletal diseases, and bone malformations (Wang et al. 2014). In bone construction, marrow stromal fibroblastic stem cell termed as mesenchymal stem cell is responsible for the major source (Richard et al. 2005). To improve the remedial properties of conventional bone marrow transplantation with mesenchymal cells affected by genetic disorders, treatment with mesenchymal cells has the promising potential for patients (Horwitz et al. 2002). Recently, polymer-based stem cell osteogenesis in the nanorange has involved considerable interest as biologically active scaffolds to encourage the discrimination of various stem cells to definite lineages (Lee et al. 2015).

4.1 Types of Ossification

Intramembranous ossification: bone developed from mesenchyme or fibrous connective tissue.

Endochondral ossification: bone development occurred from the pre-existing cartilage model.



Fig.4 Process of intramembranous ossification (Eyckmans 2006)

4.2 Intramembranous Ossification Process

Mesenchymal cells migrate and aggregate in some specific areas known as ossification center. Then, the aggregated cells differentiate into osteoblasts. The developed osteoblasts create bone matrix, which response for calcification. The encased osteoblasts into bone matrix are called as osteocytes (Hall 1998; Ducy et al. 1997). Linear extensions of bone formation from ossification center are called as spicules. Then, the bone tissue was supported by the blood vessels around the spicules. As a result, the enlarged spicules in the trabecular network (spongy nature) were formed at ossification centers. Further, the reconstruction fabricated the spongy bone, marrow cavities, and characteristic of mature bone (Otto et al. 1997). The overall process of intramembranous ossification was given in Fig. 4.

4.3 Endochondral Ossification Process

Endochondral ossification arises in bone cartilage model of developing embryo. The cartilage model planned the bone shape and growth (interstitial and appositional growth) (Horton 1997; Cserjesi et al. 1995). The center of the cartilage model chondrocytes grows to be larger, and the nearby matrix becomes calcified. These chondrocytes perform planned death leaving behind cavities in cartilage matrix (Sosic et al. 1997). The osteogenic layer formed by the perichondrium of the cartilage model becomes altered into a periosteum. Finally, a bone thin collar around cartilage was produced by the periosteum (Safadi et al. 2009). The overall process of endochodral ossification was given in Fig. 5.



Fig. 5 Process of endochondral ossification (Safadi et al. 2018)

4.4 Stem Cells for Osteogenesis

Types of cells	Uses
Bone marrow mesenchymal stem cells (BM-MSCs)	High osteogenic potential (Potten 1997)
Embryonic stem cells (ESCs)	Pluripotency, able to differentiate all cell types in bone (Baldwin et al. 2017; Shrivats et al. 2014)
Umbilical cord blood mesenchymal stem cells (CB-MSCs)	Broad differentiation and proliferation potential, higher in vivo safety than embryonic stem cells (Rao et al. 2012)
Amniotic fluid derived stem cells (AFSC)	Pluripotency, able to differentiate all cell types in bone (Ko et al. 2013)
Adipose derived stem cells (ASCs)	Similar osteogenic characteristics as BM-MSCs

Various types of stem cells were listed below.

4.5 Morphology of Stem Cells

The different morphologies of stem cells are represented in Fig. 6.



Fig. 6 Different stem cells

4.6 Environment for Osteogenesis

The proper micropore arrangement fulfills perfect osteogenesis effect for the porous scaffolds. Pore size, porosity, connectivity, surface area, and the degree of distortion are the characteristics of micropore structure (Bara et al. 2014; Liu et al. 2013). For growth of cell and reproduction, the scaffolds of bone tissue engineering build the microenvironment. In scaffold, no inflammation or toxicity occurred when a smooth cell growth is observed (Loh and Choong 2013; Forbes and Rosenthal 2014). The good biocompatibility of scaffold offers the high-quality microenvironment for cells (Lane et al. 2014).

4.7 Polymer Composites for Osteogenesis: An Overview

Currently, a sequence of biomedical materials including inorganic substances, polymers, and their composites has been improved into scaffolds for bone tissue engineering to explore their importance on osteogenesis (Weissman et al. 1991). Hydroxyapatite (HAp) and β -Triphosphate calcium (β -TCP) are the extremely used ceramic material and had been utilized in animal models to support the remedial of numerous kinds of crucial sized imperfections.

Polymers are alginate, cellulose, chitosan, collagen, gelatin, PLGA, PCL, silk fibroin, PEG, which posses the required properties of good biocompatibility, predictable degradation rates, tunable mechanical properties and good elasticity, osteoconductivity properties which make them outstanding materials for biomedical application. The various properties of organic polymer materials can be further considered; hence, these materials occupy significant position as the materials for extracellular matrix (Govindaraj and Rajan 2018; Srinivasan et al. 2012; Teh et al. 2018; Wang et al. 2006; Rottensteiner et al. 2014; Newman and McBurney 2004).

4.8 Polymer Composite for Stem Cell Augmentation

Recently, mesocellular silica foam (MCF)—481 embedded gelatin was designed for the delivery of dentin matrix protein 1 (DMP1). DMP1 was chosen due to the biological importance and the significance of biomimetic nature in scaffolding preparation for tissue renovation; we planned MCF as a delivery device for DMP1 and then embedded DMP1/MCF into a gelatin to form a new customized scheme for craniofacial bone renovation. This scheme shows a multilevelled porous structure including mesopores (MCF) and macropores (gelatin) to imitate the natural bone ECM porous structural design (Govindaraj et al. 2018). In osteogenesis and biomineralization, DMP1 is a well-known protein that plays a crucial function. The simultaneous release of Si ion and DMP1 from the hybrid system and the bone marker level of BMSCs suggested that a promising effect was observed between DMP1 and Si ion. Consequently, to improve the activity of DMP1 with better application and effectiveness, it is required to extend its release throughout bone regeneration. In this work, the DMP1/MCF/gel was successfully prepared and reveals a prolonged release compared to other systems. Compared with other systems, this hybrid system shows an accelerated osteoinduction and osteogenesis during bone regeneration. The in vitro results confirm that this hybrid system encouraged separation and mineralization of BMSC. The in vivo calvarial defect study designated that the system reinforced more bone with superior quality after 8 weeks. These observations verified that all osteoinductive, regenerative, and biomineralization regulative properties were appreciably enhanced in our biomimetic DMP1/MCF/gel system, signifying that this system is a promising potential system for recovering bone regeneration (Sumathra et al. 2017).

As shown in Fig. 7, preparation scheme was investigated to design a coating of GEL/HAP hybrid on PLTGA terpolymer scaffolds. The PLTGA terpolymer was prepared via ring-opening polymerization with definite monomer supply (Lin et al. 2018; Yuan et al. 2015; Dong et al. 2014). Then, results show that the hybrid system coating could develop the hydrophilic properties and raise the surface roughness and improve other properties such as cell adhesion, proliferation, and osteogenesis. Therefore, MC3T3-E1 cells in vitro study show that the hybrid coating not only encourages cell adhesion and proliferation but also increases favorable properties. Overall, the coating system improves the PLTGA scaffolds behavior in osteogenesis (Munusamy et al. 2017).

Due to the cell endocytosis effect, nanomedicines posses attracting applications in regulation of cell biological behaviors. To improve the bone marrow mesenchymal stromal cell osteogenic differentiation, simvastatin (SIM)-tagged polyphosphazene-based nanoparticles (NPs) were prepared. In addition to that, polyphosphazene is further grafted with tryptophan ethyl ester and glycine ethyl ester. The NPs were prepared through precipitation technique. Finally, the resulting system shows the effective features in BMSCs. From the observation, the current study recommended an amazing biomaterial for bioactive components as a flexible and functional vehicle was reported by Amarnath Praphakar et al. (2017b).



Fig. 7 Poly(simvastatin)_{0.10}–CO–(ethyl tryptophanato)_{1.64}–CO–(ethyl glycinato)_{0.26}phosphazene (PTGP-SIM) preparation (Huang et al. 2017)

Nanocomposites consisting of hydroxyapatite NPs coated with carboxylterminated PLGA through an ionic colloidal molding method conferred homogeneous dispersion and uniformity of the particles in the fabricated biomimetic scaffolds. HA-NPs with average diameters about 45 nm were produced. The carboxylate-modified PLGA (PLGA-COOH) was prepared by dissolving PLGA, succinic anhydride, and 4-(dimethylamino) pyridine (DMAP) in dichloromethane. The PLGA–COOH was achieved by precipitation method. Briefly, based on CMC, CTAB was used to control the size of HA-NPs. Calcium acetate hydrate solution and potassium phosphate tribasic monohydrate solution with the same molarity (0.15 m) were blended in the presence of CTAB. Recently, carboxyl-functionalized synthetic polymers have been shown to mimic the carboxyl-rich surface motifs of non-collagenous proteins in stabilizing hydroxyapatite and directing intrafibrillar mineralization in vitro. Based on this biomimetic approach, it is herein demonstrated that carboxyl functionalization of poly(lactic-co-glycolic acid) can achieve great material homogeneity in nanocomposites. This ionic colloidal molding method stabilizes hydroxyapatite precursors to confer even nanodopant packing, improving therapeutic outcomes in bone repair by remarkably improving mechanical properties of nanocomposites and optimizing controlled drug release, resulting in better cell in-growth and osteogenic differentiation using MC3T3-E1, a mouse calvaria-derived osteoblastic cell line, evolved by Huang et al. (2017).

Compared with other polymers used in scaffold preparation, gelatin has gained much attention for 3D porous scaffold fabrication in tissue engineering owing to its availability, low immunogenicity, easy handling and that it is inexpensive. Furthermore, the nature of gelatin-based scaffolds can be further improved by cross-linking and combining with inorganic compounds, thereby making it possible for them to become appropriate constructs for bone regeneration. Moreover, MSNs have been incorporated into polymer materials to increase their mechanical properties, improve cell adhesion and proliferation, and enhance the osteogenic differentiation of osteoblasts. In this study, Xiaojun Zhou et al. fabricated a composite scaffold based on vancomycin (Van) loaded mesoporous silica nanoparticles (Van@MSNs) and a gelatin matrix. The microscopic structure of the gelatin-based composite scaffolds was characterized as highly porous. By the addition of MSNs, an enhancement in the compression property of MSNs-incorporated composite scaffolds was observed. The drug-loaded composite scaffold showed no unfavorable effects on the proliferation and differentiation of bone mesenchymal stem cells (BMSCs), confirming good biocompatibility. Moreover, in vivo results demonstrated that promoting bone healing. Thus, results suggest that the fabricated Van@MSNs/ Gelatin composite scaffold with a localized and sustained release of antibiotics is a promising biomaterial for treating infected bone defects (Govindaraj et al. 2017).

Later, graphene-based polymer nanocomposite was investigated in tissue regeneration field. Graphene was incorporated into the soft polymers to improve the soft polymers mechanical strength for wide applications in hard tissue engineering (Kumar et al. 2015). Polymer nanomaterials composed with graphene show better cell adhesion, proliferation, and differentiation due to its flexibility and adaptability (Zhang et al. 2012). Due to its noncovalent binding capability, graphene plays a

critical part in targeting the unmodified stem cells to osteogenic lineage (Lee et al. 2011). The strong interaction of polymer matrix with nanoparticles is believed to exhibit mechanically strong. The best way to achieve strong interaction was carried through surface modifications (Ramanathan et al. 2008). The introduction of functional groups (-OH and -NH₂) onto the surface of the NPs shows good response biologically (Chen et al. 2012; Wang et al. 2003). Owing to their several advantages, polyesters are a broadly favoured class of polymers for biomedical applications (Depan et al. 2011). Due to their unmodified structure such as surface erosion mechanism, thermoset polymers have widely applied in biomedical applications (Girase et al. 2012). Previously, nanocomposites of GO-based polymer had been considered for bone renovation (Wang et al. 2011; Natarajan et al. 2017). These results conclude the importance of graphene to improve the stem cell differentiation to osteogenic lineage. Extreme level toxicity was observed for high dose, whereas for a low and medium level, no toxicity was observed for GO. One more polymer poly(galactitol adipate) is also prepared through esterification in which water molecule was eliminated. From the osteogenic differentiation analysis, poly(galactitol adipate) has proved an excellent one (Stichel and Wernermueller 1998).

5 Central Nervous System Drug Delivery

Permanent neurological deficits and widespread functional losses may occur when adult mammalian central nervous system (CNS) suffered by injury (Tosi et al. 2008). Over the past few decades, several studies are performed to investigate the new medical treatments for various CNS disorders. Thus, this research field represents one of the most inspiring challenges for the medical world, as a result of the narrow quantity of therapeutics capable of reaching the most "secret and sacred" system of the body as the CNS (Pardridge 2003). The blood-brain barrier (BBB) and blood-cerebrospinal fluid barrier are responsible for the control and protection of CNS (Fig. 8). Owing to their molecular or physio-chemical properties, only small amount of drugs (2%) are capable to reach the blood-brain barrier, whereas large amount of drugs (98%) are unable to reach the BBB (Kroll et al. 1996). There are two possible approaches to rectifying the problem of drugs to reach the BBB. Invasive techniques of neurosurgery and direct distribution of drug at the target site are the first one (Patel et al. 2012). But this method incurs neurosurgical costs and increases the risk of infections, in addition to a low patient compliance. Second approach to drug delivery to the CNS is the noninvasive method. In the noninvasive drug delivery method, the polymeric nanosystems were designed and developed, which could be either natural or synthetic. The main advantage of nanocarriers are to improve effective delivery, drug kinetics, reduce off-target effects, and allow release of various therapeutic agents (Missirlis et al. 2005). For prolonged circulation without any degradation, the carriers should have enough tensile strength (Kasinathan et al. 2015). It involves the delivering of drug as control and target site binding delivery with the binding of CNS receptors.



Fig. 8 Blood brain barrier (BBB) (Goyal et al. 2014)

5.1 Receptor-Mediated Transcytosis

In polymeric nanocarrier system, the receptor-mediated transcytosis mechanism was involved for the molecule transportation (Fig. 9) (Calvo et al. 2001). Receptor-mediated transcytosis mechanism is predominantly important in brain capillaries endothelial cells. In receptor-mediated transcytosis, the macromolecule ligand of macromolecule bind with the surface receptor of cell (luminal membrane) and internalized into endocytic vesicles with cell membrane. Transcytosis is achieved if the endocytic vesicle containing the macromolecule reaches the other end of the cell (basal membrane) without fusing with the lysosome, which may degrade the contents of endocytic vesicle. The macromolecules are finally exocytosed and released into the brain. In adsorptive-mediated transcytosis, the cationic macromolecule ligand interacts with negatively charged cell surface and enhances endocytosis and subsequent transcytosis.

5.2 The Role of Other Barriers

In spite of desires, there are locales of the CNS that really advantage from introduction to a more tolerant hindrance, for example, the ventricular and circumventricular regions. Four cavities are the reason for the formation of ventricular



Fig. 9 Schematic representation of receptor-mediated transcytosis mechanism of bioactive compound delivery (Liu et al. 2016)

framework: two parallel and the remaining ventricles (3&4) whose choroid plexus and vessels are in charge of the formation of CSF. Vascularized structures have frail astrocytic contact that permits an immediate trade among the circulation system and the parenchyma. These regions divide a typical characteristic, a defective BBB, which invests them with a more prominent capacity to see harm and to participate in brain repair. Strikingly, late examinations have demonstrated that intravenous infusion of nanoparticles (NPs), freely of their payload and instrument of transport over the BBB, aggregates at abnormal states in these flawed areas. The brain regions which depend on a defective BBB may give an elective course to NP entrance into the brain and, significantly, balance the regenerative capacity of neural stem/progenitor cells. In any case, it ought to be noticed that these brain regions may stand different types of hindrance to helpful medications, by having expanded enzymatic action (i.e., enzymatic hindrance) in CVO.

5.3 Nanoparticles Based Drug Delivery

Nanoparticles for CNS delivery, many polymers such as poly(ethylenimines), poly(alkylcyanoacrylates), poly(methylidenemalonates), polysaccharides, proteins, amino acids, and polyesters are widely used. Commonly, the option of polymer is determined by the remedial goals of the nanoparticle system. Calvo et al. developed 130–150 nm range polycyanoacrylate nanoparticles for CNS delivery. The PEGylated nanoparticles with the size of 137 nm were the most efficient ones to reach the brain (Koziara et al. 2004). Koziara et al. developed polysorbate nanoparticles with size less than 100 nm for brain delivery (Gao and Jiang 2006). The similar results were reproduced by Gao et al., which firmly established that the

particle size for brain delivery should be less than 100 nm (Nance et al. 2012). They developed polysorbate 80 coated polybutylcyanoacrylate nanoparticles to deliver methotrexate across the BBB. In a similar research, which elucidated the effect of size on effective brain delivery, it was confirmed that the polysorbate 80 nanoparticles coated with PEG-COOH in between the size range of 40-100 nm diffused to the brain tissue rapidly (Oppenhiem 1981).

Gelatin is a smart polymer having anionic and cationic charge in addition with hydrophilic group. In preparative techniques, desolvation or coacervation techniques (Zambaux et al. 1999) or emulsion method (Li et al. 1998) was used to prepare gelatin NPs to deliver peptide sequence (Aymard et al. 2001). Hyaluronic acid is another one found in the brain extracellular matrix (ECM) and is also used in CNS drug delivery. It encourages prolonged circulation, which is important to improve sustained drug release. The delivering bioactive compounds on CNS systems were employed various systems like polymeric nanoparticles, polymeric micelles, lipid-based, cationic liposomes, solid lipid, nanoemulsions, polymerbased, liposomes, magnetic and magneto electric nanoparticles. This chapter deals with stimuli-responsive drug carrier systems with triggered drug releasing of drug on the CNS system. The natural response behavior of NPs was investigated to acquire the coveted and elevated therapeutic activity. At the point when presented to external stimuli, NPs property changes support the arrival of a drug at the objective site. These external stimuli might be a light, temperature, magnetic field and ultrasound, pH, ionic strength, redox potential, and enzymic activity. Significant endeavors are as of now being applied to grow more proficient and safe DDS that give remedial levels of drug in particular site.

5.4 Stimuli-Responsive Nanocarriers

Stimuli-responsive nanocarriers are classified into three categories based on the type of responsive factor: intrinsic stimuli-responsive nanocarriers, external stimuli-responsive nanocarriers, and multifunctionally responsive nanocarriers

5.4.1 Intrinsic Stimuli-Responsive Nanocarriers

Stimuli-responsive system responded to intrinsic factors like pH, redox level, or the concentrations of enzymes in CNS. Predictable solutions which by and large achieved their specific place by a prompt or dynamic bioactive compounds flooding of the body are no longer legitimate for the vast majority of the rising engineered and biotechnological bioactive compounds, as a result of their unpredictability what's more, toxicity issues or the issues of achieving the exact structure from the systemic circulation.

5.4.2 pH-Responsive Nanocarriers

In many CNS disorders, pH is a key of a target site. Few reports were reported for pH-responsive nanocarriers overcoming BBB and enter into the brain. Monteiro and Airoldi (1999) synthesized TAT-modified, PEGylated AuNPs (TAT-AuNPs) in which TAT induces the capability of nanocarriers to cross BBB. When compared to the normal system, pH-responsive carrier posses some advantages. First, it reduces the biodegradation of polymeric carrier at normal site. Second, it improves the accumulation of drug at the required site.

5.4.3 Enzyme-Responsive Nanocarriers

In metabolic processes, enzymes play a vital role. In various sites, enzyme level and activity varied, which mean that enzymes have specificity in nature. In several diseases, some enzymes activity and levels are altered when compared with their level in normal physiological conditions (Calvo et al. 1997; Kim et al. 2010; Gialeli et al. 2011; Park et al. 2012). Gao et al. developed angiopep-2 and an activatable cell-penetrating peptide (ACPP), a dual targeting ligand core (Gao et al. 2014). Furthermore, enzyme activity changes the drug active, inactive or changes over it in a nontherapeutic midway molecule.

5.4.4 Redox-Responsive Nanocarriers

The GSH level is too low in CNS tumor compared with the level of glutathione (GSH) results in the low level of redox potential in between tumor cells surrounding. In particularly, GSH cleaved the disulfide bonds easily and provided redox sensitivity. This information helps to design redox-responsive micelles. Jiang et al. synthesized polymeric micelles with redox response by using functionalized poly-PLAA block copolymers (Musumeci et al. 2006).

5.5 External Stimuli-Responsive Nanocarriers

External stimuli-responsive nanocarrier system is also used in the CNS treatment. They are magnetically responsive nanocarriers and light-responsive nanocarriers.

5.5.1 Magnetically Responsive Nanocarriers

In this type, the carrier system is constructed with a stable compound with magnetic behavior in normal conditions (Torchilin 2009). Cui et al. (2013) synthesized DOXand PTX-loaded magnetic silica poly(lactic-co-glycolic acid) (PLGA) nanoparticles modified with transferrin (Tf) to enable their anti-proliferative effect. Fang et al. (2014) developed PVA- and PAA-based iron oxide nanoparticles/lactoferrin nanocapsules (Lf-MDCs).

5.5.2 Light-Responsive Nanocarriers

Owing to the non-invasiveness of light, these type carriers are the most amazing one among all (Knezevic et al. 2011; Gu et al. 2010). Yoo et al. prepared GNRs coated by cetyltrimethylammoniumbromide (CTAB) (Yoo et al. 2014). The neural activity inhibition by the use of light-responsive nanocarrier offers a dominant remedial device to control the functions of cell.

5.5.3 Multifunctionally Responsive Nanocarriers

In recent years, multifunctional responsive nanocarriers have some attractions due to their multirole in the CNS microenvironments. An extensive range of nanocarriers exists dual or multiresponse (Zhu et al. 2014; Zhao et al. 2014; Xiao et al. 2015b; Wu et al. 2013; Hakeem et al. 2014; Fu et al. 2013; Baeza et al. 2015) to deliver drugs to CNS sites. Joosten et al. (1995) constructed a dual response carrier. They improved the dual response system by triggering the pH and MMP2 enzyme.

5.6 Polymer Micelles

The main objective of introducing polymeric micelles in CNS environment is due to the interaction between cell and polymer. Previous different polymeric micelle reports show that the interaction between micelles and drug provides a size controlled and stable drug delivery system. Block copolymers are normally used in the micelles preparation, which self-assembles to form a corona layer with hydrophilic inner and hydrophobic outer core.

5.7 Injectable Hydrogels

However, polymeric NPs are effective in CNS environment; they need invasive technique for sustainable drug delivery. Hence, injectable gelling hydrogels are an alternative approach. Agarose is a polysaccharide which converts its nature to gel when temperature is decreased and thus used widely in pharmaceutical field. (Lampe et al. 2011). Chitosan with TPP is also used as a hydrogel (Cheng et al. 2014) or cross-linked with glutaraldehyde (Jhaveri et al. 2014). Ellagic acid was delivered to brain cancer by using cross-linked chitosan with beta-glycerophosphate (Kessenbrock et al. 2010). Due to the thermogel properties, collagen also is used as a delivery candidate (Huang et al. 2013). PLA is a synthetic polymer which can be



Fig. 10 Highlights of the major developments in the field of CNS drug delivery since 1980 (Goyal et al. 2014)

used to design micro-/nanoparticles. In rat models, the delivery of NT-3/ PLA-PEG-PLA toward the spinal cord was analyzed. The synthetic polymer PLA-based gel also shows an interesting effect to deliver GDNF and BDNF to brain (Hillaireau and Couvreur 2009) (Fig. 10).

5.8 General Strategies for Crossing the BBB Through Polymeric NanoParticles

The activation of polymeric system is strictly associated with surface charge, hydrophobicity, and size of the nanoparticles. By the endocytosis-mediated transport mechanism, nanocarriers below 200 nm are easily taken up. Due to the positive surface charge, nanocarriers can quickly interact with negative surface of the cell (Albanese et al. 2012). Among all surface properties, the nanocarriers with small size and negative charges endorse the interaction between carrier and cell. The following are the important factors for polymer strategies in CNS drug delivery.

5.8.1 Role of Surface Charge

The surface of BBB was constructed with glycoproteins, and lipids confer a negative charge on the surface of the BBB. Thus, the nanocarriers with negative surface are not able to reach the BBB by electrostatic repulsion. Receptor mediated endocytosis only the way to enter the nanocarriers to the BBB. At the same time, the nanocarriers with positive charge could be preferred to enhance the accumulation in CNS. However, a nanocarrier with positive charge causes transient disruption. In addition to that, in vivo system can easily eliminate positive carriers when compared to negative surface carriers (Nagpal et al. 2010). Previously several reports have been proposed to cross BBB with high-density positive charge on its surface. Chitosan, a natural biodegradable polymer, has the tendency to form nanoparticles with a high positive charge (Kumar et al. 2007). For effective CNS delivery, the pH < 6, the chitosan is easily protonated due to the amine group and the polymer is then covered with positive charge. In addition to that, cationic poly (ethylenimines) (PEIs) polymers that are well-suited for delivery of nucleic acid. Recently, systemically delivered, disulfide-linked PEI nanoparticles have been shown to deliver microRNAs to the CNS (Kumar et al. 2007; Hwang et al. 2011).

5.8.2 Role of Size

The size of nanocarriers also plays a vital role in transportation. Nanocarriers with size less than 100 nm can enter into the BBB irrespective to their surface charge. After entering into the BBB, the surrounding of nanocarriers was coated with plasma proteins. This concept was called as plasma protein corona formation, and this depends on the size of the carrier (Tenzer et al. 2011). For the small-sized nanocarriers, the surface and energy will be higher. Based on this at higher energy, the corona formation with plasma proteins will be more stable and favoured.

5.8.3 Role of Surface Modification

After drug loading, the surface of polymeric carrier should modify with some suitable polymers or ligands to enhance the prolonged circulation and minor elimination rate (Schoenmakers et al. 2004). Without any surface modification, the system can rapidly clear from the blood by spleen and liver. Previously, the surface modification with PEG promotes the circulation time when compared to the unmodified one. Coating with polysorbate 80 is also found to enhance the endocytosis process (Wohlfart et al. 2012).

6 Conclusion

Concepts such as polymeric drug delivery and injectable polymeric hydrogel systems may be designed based on their individual specifications to deliver drugs for cancer, CNS disease, and osteogenesis. The analysis of polymeric carrier design in various drug delivery applications and the interaction of functional groups toward cell are necessary for better and sustained release of drugs. The role of carrier in various drug delivery applications was briefly analyzed in this chapter. Especially, the role of charge, size, and surface modification improves the release of drugs with high potential. In particular, this work was designed to discuss the essential concepts in the polymeric strategies of injectable hydrogels and polymeric drug delivery, focusing on the nanocarriers system. Overall, this chapter explains the strategies of polymeric composites in cancer, CNS, and osteogenesis.

References

- Ahmed F, Pakunlu RI, Srinivas G, Brannan A, Bates F (2006a) Shrinkage of a rapidly growing tumor by drug-loaded polymersomes: pH-triggered release through copolymer degradation. Mol Pharm 3:340
- Ahmed F, Pakunlu RI, Brannan A, Bates F, Minko T (2006b) Biodegradable polymersomes loaded with both paclitaxel and doxorubicin permeate and shrink tumors, inducing apoptosis in proportion to accumulated drug. J Controlled Release 116:150
- Albanese A, Tang PS, Chan WCW (2012) The effect of nanoparticle size, shape, and surface chemistry on biological systems. Annu Rev Biomed 14:1–16
- Al-Dimassi S, Abou-Antoun T, El-Sibai M (2014) Cancer cell resistance mechanisms: a mini review. Clin Transl Oncol 16:511–516
- Amarnath Praphakar R, Munusamy MA, Sadasivuni KK, Rajan M (2016) Targeted delivery of rifampicin to tuberculosis-infected macrophages: design, in-vitro, and in-vivo performance of rifampicin loaded poly(ester amide)s nanocarriers. Int J Pharm 513(1–2):628–635
- Amarnath Praphakar R, Alarfaj AA, Munusamy MA, Azger Dusthackeer VN, Suresh Kumar S, Rajan M (2017a) Phosphorylated κ-carrageenan-facilitated chitosan nanovehicle for sustainable anti-tuberculosis multi drug delivery. ChemistrySelect 2:7100–7107
- Amarnath Praphakar R, Munusamy MA, Alarfaj AA, Suresh Kumar S, Rajan M (2017b) Zn²⁺ cross-linked sodium alginate-g-allylamine-mannose polymeric carrier on rifampicin for macrophage targeting tuberculosis nanotherapy. New J Chem 41:11324
- Amarnath Praphakar R, Jeyaraj M, Mehnath S, Higuchi A, Ponnamma D, Kishor Kumar S, Rajan M (2018a) pH-sensitive guar gum grafted lysine-β-cyclodextrin drug carrier for controlled releases on cancer cells. J Mater Chem B 6:1519–1530
- Amarnath Praphakar R, Shakila H, Azger Dusthackeer VN, Munusamy MA, Kumar S, Rajan M (2018b) Mannose conjugated multi-layered polymeric nano carrier system for controlled and targeted release on alveolar macrophages. Polym Chem 9:656–667
- Anitha A, Maya S, Sivaram AJ, Mony U, Jayakumar R (2016) Combinatorial nanomedicines for colon cancer therapy. Wiley Interdisc Rev Nanomed Nanobiotechnol 8:151–159
- Aymard P, Martin DR, Plucknett K, Foster TJ, Clark AH, Norton IT (2001) Influence of thermal history on the structural and mechanical properties of agarose gels. Biopolymers 59(3): 131–144
- Bae Y, Kataoka K (2009) Intelligent polymeric micelles from functional poly(ethylene glycol)poly(amino acid) block copolymers. Adv Drug Deliv Rev 61:768
- Baeza A, Colilla M, Vallet-Regi M (2015) Advances in mesoporous silica nanoparticles for targeted stimuli-responsive drug delivery. Expert Opin Drug Deliv 12(2):319–337
- Baldwin JG, Wagner F, Martine LC, Holzapfel BM, Theodoropoulos C, Bas O, Savi FM, Werner C, DeJuan-Pardo EM, Hutmacher DW (2017) Periosteum tissue engineering in an orthotopic in vivo platform. Biomaterials 121:193–204
- Bara JJ, Richards RG, Alini M, Stoddart MJ (2014) Concise review: bone marrow-derived mesenchymal stem cells change phenotype following in vitro culture: implications for basic research and the clinic. Stem Cells 32(7):1713–1723
- Bertrand N, Wu J, Xu X, Kamaly N, Farokhzad OC (2014) Cancer nanotechnology: the impact of passive and active targeting in the era of modern cancer biology. Adv Drug Deliv Rev 66:2–25

- Bhadra D, Bhadra S, Jain P, Jain NK (2002) Pegnology: a review of PEG-ylated systems. Pharmazie 57:5
- Bildstein L, Dubernet C, Couvreur P (2011) Prodrug-based intracellular delivery of anticancer agents. Adv Drug Deliv Rev 63:3–23
- Bosset JF, Collette L, Calais G, Mineur L, Maingon P, Radosevic-Jelic L, Daban A, Bardet E, Beny A, Ollier JC (2006) Chemotherapy with preoperative radiotherapy in rectal cancer. N Engl J Med 355:1114–1123
- Byrne JD, Betancourt TL, Brannon P (2008) Active targeting schemes for nanoparticle systems in cancer therapeutics. Adv Drug Deliv Rev 60:1615–1626
- Cabral H, Kataoka K (2014) Progress of drug-loaded polymeric micelles into clinical studies. J Controlled Release 190:465–476
- Calvo P, Remunan-Lopez C, Vila-Jato JL, Alonso MJ (1997) Novel hydrophilic chitosan-polyethylene oxide nanoparticles as protein carriers. J Appl Polym Sci 63:125–132
- Calvo P, Gouritin B, Chacun H, Desmaële D, D'Angelo J, Noel JP, Georgin D, Fattal E, Andreux JP, Couvreur P (2001) Long-circulating PEGylated polycyanoacrylate nanoparticles as new drug carrier for brain delivery. Pharmaceut Res 18(8):1157–1166
- Chen GY, Pang DWP, Hwang SM, Tuan HY, Hu YC (2012) A graphene-based platform for induced pluripotent stem cells culture and differentiation. Biomaterials 33(2):418–427
- Cheng Y, Dai Q, Morshed RA, Fan X, Wegscheid ML, Wainwright DA, Han Y, Zhang L, Auffinger B, Tobias AL, Rincón E, Thaci B, Ahmed AU, Warnke PC, He C, Lesniak MS (2014) Blood-brain barrier permeable gold nanoparticles: an efficient delivery platform for enhanced malignant glioma therapy and imaging. Small 10(24):5137–5150
- Cooper PD (1993) Activators and inhibitors of complement. Kluwer Academic Publishers, Springer, Netherlands
- Cserjesi P, Brown D, Ligon KL, Lyons GE, Copeland NG, Gilbert DJ, Jenkins NA, Olson EN (1995) Scleraxis: a basic helix-loop-helix protein that prefigures skeletal formation during mouse embryogenesis. Development 121:1099–1110
- Cui Y, Xu Q, Chow PK, Wang D, Wang CH (2013) Transferrin-conjugated magnetic silica PLGA nanoparticles loaded with doxorubicin and paclitaxel for brain glioma treatment. Biomaterials 34(33):8511–8520
- Depan D, Girase B, Shah JS, Misra RD (2011) Structure-process-property relationship of the polar graphene oxide-mediated cellular response and stimulated growth of osteoblasts on hybrid chitosan network structure nanocomposite scaffolds. Acta Biomater 7(9):3432–3445
- Dong J, Liao L, Shi L, Tan Z, Fan Z, Li S, Lu Z (2014) A bioresorbable cardiovascular stent prepared from L-lactide, trimethylene carbonate and glycolide terpolymers. Polym Eng Sci 54 (6):1418–1426
- Ducy P, Zhang R, Geoffroy V, Ridall AL, Karsenty G (1997) Osf₂/Cba1: a transcriptional activator of osteoblast differentiation. Cell 89:747–754
- Duncan R (2006) Polymer conjugates as anticancer nanomedicines. Nat Rev Cancer 6:688-701
- Egusquiaguirre SP, Igartua M, Hernandez RM, Pedraz JL (2012) Nanoparticle delivery systems for cancer therapy: advances in clinical and preclinical research. Clin Transl Oncol 14:83–93
- Elsabahy M, Heo GS, Lim SM, Sun G, Wooley KL (2015) Polymeric nanostructures for imaging and therapy. Chem Rev 115:10967–11011
- Emal A, Bray F, Center MM, Ferlay J, Ward E, Forman D (2011) Cancer J Clin 61:69-90
- Eyckmans J (2006) Periosteum derived progenitor cells in bone tissue engineering
- Fadiran OO, Girouard N, Meredith JC (2018) Pollen fillers for reinforcing and strengthening of epoxy composites. Emergent Mater 1(1–2):95–103
- Fang JH, Lai YH, Chiu TL, Chen YY, Hu SH, Chen SY (2014) Magnetic core-shell nanocapsules with dual-targeting capabilities and co-delivery of multiple drugs to treat brain gliomas. Adv Healthc Mater 3(8):1250–1260
- Forbes SJ, Rosenthal N (2014) Preparing the ground for tissue regeneration: from mechanism to therapy. Nat Med 20(8):857–869
- Fredenberg S, Wahlgren M, Reslow M, Axelsson A (2011) The mechanisms of drug release in poly(lactic-co-glycolic acid)-based drug delivery systems-a review. Int J Pharm 415:34–52

- Fu J, Chen T, Wang M, Yang N, Li S, Wang Y, Liu X (2013) Acid and alkaline dual stimuliresponsive mechanized hollow mesoporous silica nanoparticles as smart nanocontainers for intelligent anticorrosion coatings. ACS Nano 7(12):11397–11408
- Gao K, Jiang X (2006) Influence of particle size on transport of methotrexate across blood brain barrier by polysorbate 80-coated polybutylcyanoacrylate nanoparticles. Int J Pharmaceut 310 (1):213–219
- Gao H, Zhang S, Cao S, Yang Z, Pang Z, Jiang X (2014) Angiopep–2 and activatable cell-penetrating peptide dual functionalized nanoparticles for systemic glioma-targeting delivery. Mol Pharm 11(8):2755–2763
- Gialeli C, Theocharis AD, Karamanos NK (2011) Roles of matrix metalloproteinases in cancer progression and their pharmacological targeting. FEBS J 278(1):16–27
- Gillies ER, Frechet JMJ (2005) Dendrimers and dendritic polymers in drug delivery. Drug Discovery Today 10:35-43
- Girase B, Shah JS, Misra RDK (2012) Cellular mechanics of modulated osteoblasts functions in graphene oxide reinforced elastomers. Adv Eng Mater 14(4):B101–B111
- Govindaraj D, Rajan M (2018) Coating of bio-mimetic minerals-substituted hydroxyapatite on surgical grade stainless steel 316L by electrophoretic deposition for hard tissue applications. IOP Conf Series Mater Sci Eng 314(1):012029
- Govindaraj D, Rajan M, Hatamleh AA, Munusamy MA, Alarfa AA, Sadasivuni KK, Kumar SS (2017) The synthesis, characterization and in vivo study of mineral substituted hydroxyapatite for prospective bone tissue rejuvenation applications. Nanomed Nanotechnol Biol Med 13 (8):2661–2669
- Govindaraj D, Pradeepkumar P, Rajan M (2018) Synthesis of morphology tuning multi mineral substituted apatite nanocrystals by novel natural deep eutectic solvents. Mater Discov 9:11–15
- Grund S, Bauer M, Fischer D (2011) Polymers in drug delivery—state of the art and future trends. Adv Eng Mater 13:B61–B87
- Gu Z, Biswas A, Joo KI, Hu B, Wang P, Tang Y (2010) Probing protease activity by single-fluorescent-protein nanocapsules. Chem Commun 46(35):6467–6469
- Hakeem A, Duan R, Zahid F, Dong C, Wang B, Hong F, Ou X, Jia Y, Lou X, Xia F (2014) Dual stimuli-responsive nano-vehicles for controlled drug delivery: mesoporous silica nanoparticles end-capped with natural chitosan. Chem Commun 50(87):13268–13271
- Haley B, Frenkel E (2008) Nanomedicine and Nanorobotics Urol Oncol: Semin Orig Invest 26:57-64
- Hall BK (1998) The embryonic development of bone. Am Sci 76:174-181
- Hao Z, Song Z, Huang J, Huang K, Panetta A, Gu Z, Wu J (2017) Scaffold microenvironment for stem cell based bone tissue engineering. Biomater Sci 5:1382–1392
- He H, WangY Wen H, Jia X (2014) Dendrimer-based multilayer nanocarrier for potential synergistic paclitaxel–doxorubicin combination drug delivery. RSC Adv 4:3643–3652
- Heinemann V, Douillard JY, Ducreux M, Peeters M (2013a) Angiogenic inhibitors for older patients with advanced colorectal cancer: does the age hold the stage? Cancer Treat Rev 39:592–601
- Heinemann V, Douillard JY, Ducreux M, Peeters M (2013b) Targeted therapy in metastatic colorectal cancer—an example of personalised medicine in action. Cancer Treat Rev 39:592–601
- Hillaireau H, Couvreur P (2009) Nanocarriers' entry into the cell: relevance to drug delivery. Cell Mol Life Sci 66(17):2873–2896
- Hobel S, Aigner A (2010) Polyethylenimine (PEI)/siRNA-mediated gene knockdown in vitro and in vivo. Mol Biol 623:283
- Horton WA (1997) The biology of bone growth. Growth Genet Horm 6(2):1-3
- Horwitz EM, Gordon PL, Koo WKK, Marx JC, Neel MD, Ry McNall, Muul L, Hofmann T (2002) Isolated allogeneic bone marrow-derived mesenchymal cells engraft and stimulate growth in children with osteogenesis imperfecta: Implications for cell therapy of bone. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 99(13):8932–8937
- Howard MD, Jay M, Dziubla TD, Lu X (2008) PEGylation of nanocarrier drug delivery systems: state of the art. J Biomed Nanotechnol 4:133

- Huang S, Shao K, Liu Y, Kuang Y, Li J, An S, Guo Y, Ma H, Jiang C (2013) Tumor-targeting and microenvironment-responsive smart nanoparticles for combination therapy of antiangiogenesis and apoptosis. ACS Nano 7(3):2860–2871
- Huang ZH, Wei PF, Jin L, Hu XQ, Cai Q, Yang X (2017) Photoluminescent polyphosphazene nanoparticles for in situ simvastatin delivery for improving the osteocompatibility of BMSCs. J Mater Chem B 5:9300–9311
- Hwang DW, Son S, Jang J, Youn H, Lee S, Lee D, Lee YS, Jeong JM, Kim WJ, Lee DS (2011) A brain-targeted rabies virus glycoprotein-disulfide linked PEI nanocarrier for delivery of neurogenic microRNA. Biomaterials 32(21):4968–4975
- Ibrahim M, Sabouni R, Husseini GA (2017) Anti-cancer drug delivery using metal organic frameworks (MOFs). Curr Med Chem 24(2):193–214
- Jeyaraj M, Amarnath Praphakar R, Rajan M (2016) Surface functionalization of natural lignin isolated from Aloe barbadensis Miller biomass by atom transfer radical polymerisation for enhanced anticancer efficacy. RSC Adv 6:51310–51319
- Jhaveri A, Deshpande P, Torchilin V (2014) Stimuli-sensitive nanopreparations for combination cancer therapy. J Control Release 190:352–370
- Joosten EAJ, Bär PR, Gispen WH (1995) Collagen implants and cortico-spinal axonal growth after mid-thoracic spinal cord lesion in the adult rat. J Neurosci Res 41:481–490
- Kasinathan N, Jagani HV, Alex AT, Volety SM, Rao JV (2015) Strategies for drug delivery to the central nervous system by systemic route. Drug Delivery 22(3):243–257
- Kessenbrock K, Plaks V, Werb Z (2010) Matrix metalloproteinases: regulators of the tumor microenvironment. Cell 141(1):52–67
- Kim S, Nishimoto SK, Bumgardner JD, Haggard WO, Gaber MW, Yang Y (2010) A chitosan/ beta-glycerophosphate thermo-sensitive gel for the delivery of ellagic acid for the treatment of brain cancer. Biomaterials 31(14):4157–4166
- Kim JH, Li Y, Kim MS, Kang SW, Jeong JH, Lee DS (2012) Synthesis and evaluation of biotin-conjugated pH-responsive polymeric micelles as drug carriers. International Journal of Pharmaceutics 427:435–442
- Knezevic NZ, Trewyn BG, Lin VS (2011) Functionalized mesoporous silica nanoparticle-based visible light responsive controlled release delivery system. Chem Commun 47(10):2817–2819
- Knop K, Hoogenboom R, Fischer D, Schubert US (2010) Poly(ethylene glycol) in drug delivery: pros and cons as well as potential alternatives. Angew Chem Int Ed 49:6288
- Ko E, Yang K, Shin J, Cho SW (2013) Polydopamine-assisted osteoinductive peptide immobilization of polymer scaffolds for enhanced bone regeneration by human adipose-derived stem cells. Biomacromol 14(9):3202–3213
- Kodaira H, Tsutsumi Y, Yoshioka Y, Kamada H, Kaneda Y (2004) The targeting of anionized polyvinylpyrrolidone to the renal system. Biomaterials 25:4309
- Koido S, Ohkusa T, Homma S, Namiki Y, Takakura K, Saito K, Ito Z, Kobayashi H, Kajihara M, Uchiyama K, Arihiro S, Arakawa H, Okamoto M, Gong J, Tajiri H (2013) Immunotherapy for colorectal cancer. World J Gastroenterol 19:8531–8542
- Koziara JM, Lockman PR, Allen DD, Mumper RJ (2004) Paclitaxel nanoparticles for the potential treatment of brain tumors. J Controlled Release 99(2):259–269
- Krishnan P, Rajan M, Kumari S, Sakinah S, Priya SP, Amira F, Danjuma L, Ling MP, Fakurazi S, Arulselvan P, Higuchi A, Arumugam R, Alarfaj AA, Munusamy MA, Awang Hamat R, Benelli G, Murugan K, Suresh Kumar S (2017) Efficiency of newly formulated camptothecin with β-cyclodextrin-EDTA-Fe₃O₄ nanoparticle-conjugated nanocarriers as an anti-colon cancer (HT29) drug. Sci Rep 7:10962
- Kroll RA, Pagel MA, Muldoon LL, Roman-Goldstein S, Neuwelt EA (1996) Increasing volume of distribution to the brain with interstitial infusion: dose, rather than convection, might be the most important factor. Neurosurgery 38(4):746–752
- Kumar P, Wu H, McBride JL, Jung KE, Hee Kim M, Davidson BL, Kyung Lee S, Shankar P, Manjunath N (2007) Transvascular delivery of small interfering RNA to the central nervous system. Nature 448(7149):39–43

- Kumar S, Raj S, Kolanthai E, Sood AK, Sampath S, Chatterjee K (2015) Chemical functionalization of graphene to augment stem cell osteogenesis and inhibit biofilm formation on polymer composites for orthopedic applications. ACS Appl Mater Interfaces 7(5):3237–3252
- Lammers T, Kiessling F, Hennink WE, Storm G (2010) Nanotheranostics and image-guided drug delivery: current concepts and future directions. Mol Pharm 7:1899
- Lampe KJ, Kern DS, Mahoney MJ, Bjugstad KB (2011) The administration of BDNF and GDNF to the brain via PLGA microparticles patterned within a degradable PEG-based hydrogel: protein distribution and the glial response. J Biomed Mater Res A 96(3):595–607
- Lane SW, Williams DA, Watt FM (2014) Modulating the stem cell niche for tissue regeneration. Nat Biotechnol 32(8):795–803
- Lee CC, Gillies ER, Fox ME, Guillaudeu SJ, Frechet JMJ, Dy EE, Szoka FC (2006) A single dose of doxorubicin-functionalized bow-tie dendrimer cures mice bearing C-26 colon carcinomas. Natl Acad Sci USA 103:16649–16654
- Lee WC, Lim CHYX, Shi H, Tang LAL, Wang Y, Lim CT, Loh KP (2011) Origin of enhanced stem cell growth and differentiation on graphene and graphene oxide. ACS Nano 5(9):7334–7341
- Lee JH, Shin YC, Lee SM, Jin OS, Kang S, Hong SW, Jeong C, Huh JB, Han D (2015) Enhanced osteogenesis by reduced graphene oxide/hydroxyapatite nanocomposites. Sci Rep 5:18833
- Lee SY, Yang CY, Peng CL, Wei MF, Chen KC, Yao CJ, Shieh MJ (2016) A theranostic micelleplex co-delivering SN-38 and VEGF siRNA for colorectal cancer therapy. Biomaterials 86:92–105
- Levi B, Derrick C, Wan Jason P, Jeong Hyun G, Januszyk M, Montoro D, Sorkin M, Aaron W, James Emily R, Shuli Li N, Quarto N, Lee M, Geoffrey C, Gurtner Longaker MT (2011) CD105 protein depletion enhances human adipose-derived stromal cell osteogenesis through reduction of transforming growth factor β1 (TGF-β1) signaling. J Biol Chem 286(45):39497–39509
- Li JK, Wang N, Wu XS (1998) Gelatin nanoencapsulation of protein/peptide drugs using an emulsifier-free emulsion method. J Microencapsul 15(2):163–172
- Lin S, Cao L, Wang Q, Du J, Jiao D, Duan S, Wu J, Gan Q, Jiang X (2018) Tailored biomimetic hydrogel based on a photopolymerised DMP1/MCF/gelatin hybrid system for calvarial bone regeneration. J Mater Chem B 6:414–427
- Liu Y, Lim J, Teoh SH (2013) Review: development of clinically relevant scaffolds for vascularised bone tissue engineering. Biotechnol Adv 31(5):688–705
- Lockman PR, Koziara JM, Mumper RJ, Allen DD (2004) Nanoparticle surface charges alter blood-brain barrier integrity and permeability. J Drug Target 12(9–10):635–641
- Loh QL, Choong C (2013) Three-dimensional scaffolds for tissue engineering applications: role of porosity and pore size. Tissue Eng Part B Rev 19(6):485–502
- Lorenza G, Samuele C, Alberto F, Orietta M (2016) A novel electrostimulated drug delivery system based on PLLA composites exploiting the multiple functions of graphite nanoplatelets. ACS Appl Mater Interfaces 8:24909–24917
- Marcucci F, Lefoulon F (2004) Active targeting with particulate drug carriers in tumor therapy: fundamentals and recent progress. Drug Discovery Today 9:219
- Martins P, Jesus J, Santos S, Raposo L, Rodrigues CR, Baptista P, Alexandra R (2015a) Heterocyclic anticancer compounds: recent advances and the paradigm shift towards the use of nanomedicine's tool box. Molecules 20(9):16852–16891
- Martins P, Jesus J, Santos S, Raposo L, Rodrigues CR, Baptista P, Alexandra R (2015b) Organic and inorganic nano-systems used in cancer treatment. Molecules 20:16852–16891
- Mehnath S, Rajan M, Sathishkumar G, Amarnath Praphakar R, Jeyaraj M (2017a) Thermoresponsive and pH triggered drug release of cholate functionalized poly(organophosphazene)—polylactic acid co-polymeric nanostructure integrated with ICG. Polymer 133:119– 128. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.polymer.2017.11.020
- Mehnath S, Sathishkumar G, Arivoli A, Rajan M, Praphakar RA, Jeyaraj M (2017b) Green synthesis of AgNPs by Walnut seed extract and its role in photocatalytic degradation of a textile dye effluent. Trans Eng Sci 5(1):31–40
- Meyerhardt JA, Mayer RJ (2005) Systemic therapy for colorectal cancer. N Engl J Med 352: 476–487

- Missirlis D, Tirelli N, Hubbell JA (2005) Amphiphilic hydrogel nanoparticles. Preparation, characterization, and preliminary assessment as new colloidal drug carriers. Langmuir 21 (6):2605–2613
- Monteiro OAC Jr, Airoldi C (1999) Some studies of crosslinking chitosan-glutaraldehyde interaction in a homogeneous system. Int J Biol Macromol 26(2-3):119-128
- Mrlik M, Sobolciak P, Krupa I, Kasak P (2018) Light-controllable viscoelastic properties of a photolabile carboxybetaine ester-based polymer with mucus and cellulose sulfate. Emergent Mater 1(1–2):35–45
- Munusamy MA, Suresh Kumar S, Rajan M, Alarfa AA (2017) Reducing indicator organism escherichia coli in drinking water using chitosan nano coated pot system: an inexpensive technique. Prog Biosci Bioeng 1(1):36–43
- Musumeci T, Ventura CA, Giannone I, Ruozi B, Montenegro L, Pignatello R, Puglisi G (2006) PLA/PLGA nanoparticles for sustained release of docetaxel. Int J Pharm 325(1–2):172–179
- Nagaraj A, Govindaraj D, Rajan M (2018) Magnesium oxide entrapped Polypyrrole hybrid nanocomposite as an efficient selective scavenger for fluoride ion in drinking water. Emergent Mater 1(1–2):25–33
- Nagpal K, Singh SK, Mishra DN (2010) Chitosan nanoparticles: a promising system in novel drug delivery. Chem Pharm Bull 58(11):1423–1430
- Nance EA, Woodworth GF, Sailor KA, Shih TY, Xu Q, Swaminathan G, Xiang D, Eberhart C, Hanes J (2012) A dense poly(ethylene glycol) coating improves penetration of large polymeric nanoparticles within brain tissue. Sci Translat Med 4(149):149ra119
- Natarajan J, Madras G, Chatterjee K (2017) Development of graphene oxide-/galactitol polyesterbased biodegradable composites for biomedical applications. ACS Omega 2:5545–5556
- Newman KD, McBurney MW (2004) Poly(D, L lactic-co-glycolic acid) microspheres as biodegradable microcarriers for pluripotent stem cells. Biomaterials 25(26):5763–5771
- Oerlemans C, Bult W, Bos M, Storm G, Nijsen JFW, Hennink WE (2010) Polymeric micelles in anticancer therapy: targeting, imaging and triggered release. Pharm Res 27:2569–2589
- Oh JK, Park JM (2011) Nanomaterial: impacts on cell biology and medicine. Prog Polym Sci 36:168–189
- Oppenhiem RC (1981) Solid colloidal drug delivery systems: nanoparticles. Int J Pharm 8(3):217
- Otto F, Thornell AP, Crompton T, Denzel A, Gilmour KC, Rosewell IR, Stamp GW, Beddington RS, Mundlos S, Olsen BR, Selby PB, Owen MJ (1997) *Cba1*, a candidate gene for cleidocranial dysplasia syndrome, is essential for osteoblast differentiation and bone development. Cell 89:765–771
- Pardridge WM (2003) Blood-brain barrier drug targeting: the future of brain drug development. MolInterv 3(2):90–105
- Park JB, Lee CS, Jang JH, Ghim J, Kim YJ, You S, Hwang D, Suh PG, Ryu SH (2012) Phospholipase signalling networks in cancer. Nat Rev Cancer 12(11):782–792
- Pasut G, Veronese FM (2007) Polymer–drug conjugation, recent achievements and general strategies. Prog Polym Sci 32:933–961
- Patel T, Zhou J, Piepmeier JM, Saltzman MW (2012) Polymeric nanoparticles for drug delivery to the central nervous system. Adv Drug Deliv Rev 64(7):701–705
- Ponnamma D, Erturk A, Parangusan H, Deshmukh K, Ahamed MB, Al-Maadeed MA (2018) Stretchable quaternary phasic PVDF-HFP nanocomposite films containing graphenetitania-SrTiO3 for mechanical energy harvesting. Emergent Mater 1(1–2):55–65
- Ponta H, Sherman L, Herrlich PA (2003) CD44: from adhesion molecules to signalling regulators. Nat Rev Mol Cell Biol 4:33–45
- Popelka A, Sobolčiak P, Mrlík M, Nogellova Z, Chodák I, Ouederni M, Al-Maadeed MA, Krupa I (2018) Foamy phase change materials based on linear low-density polyethylene and paraffin wax blends. Emergent Mater 1(1–2):47–54
- Potten CS (1997) Stem cells. London Academic Press
- Prabhu RH, Patravale VB, Joshi MD (2015) Polymeric nanoparticles for targeted treatment in oncology: current insights. Int J Nanomed 10:1001–1018

- Pradeepkumar P, Govindaraj D, Jeyaraj M, Munusamy MA, Rajan M (2017) Assembling of multifunctional latex-based hybrid nanocarriers from Calotropis gigantea for sustained (doxorubicin) DOX releases. Biomed Pharmacother 87:461–470
- Pradeepkumar P, Abdallah Mohamed E, Ali Hassan B, Rajan M (2018) Natural solvent-assisted synthesis of amphiphilic co-polymeric nanomicelle for prolonged release of camptothecin delivery. New J Chem 42(12):10366–10375. https://doi.org/10.1039/c8nj00901e
- Rajan M, Hari Balakrishanan M (2015) Size controlled synthesis of biodegradable nanocarriers for targeted and controlled cancer drug delivery using salting out cation. Bull Mater Sci 39(1):69–77
- Rajan M, Raj V (2013a) Gelatin-PEG coated modified Chitosan/Hyaluronidase nanoparticles for tumor-targeted drug delivery and controlled release. Adv Mater Process Charact Appl 269–274
- Rajan M, Raj V (2013b) Potential drug delivery applications of chitosan based nanomaterials. Int Rev Chem Eng 5(2). ISSN: 2035-1755
- Rajan M, Raj V (2013c) Formation and electrochemical characterization of chitosan/poly lactic acid/poly ethylene glycol/gelatin nanoparticles. A novel biosystem for controlled drug delivery. Carbohydr Polym 98(1):951–958
- Rajan M, Raj V, Al-Arfaj AA, Murugan A (2013) Hyaluronidase enzyme core-5-fluorouracil loaded chitosan-PEG-gelatin polymer nanocomposites targeted and controlled drug delivery vehicles. Int J Pharm 453(2):514–522
- Rajan M, Murugan M, Ponnamma D, Kishor Kumar S, Munusamy MA (2016) Poly-carboxylic acids functionalized chitosan nanocarriers for controlled and targeted anti-cancer drug delivery. Biomed Pharmacother 83:201–211
- Rajan M, Amarnath Praphakar R, Govindaraj D, Arulselvan P, Suresh Kumar S (2017a) Cytotoxicity assessment of palbociclib-loaded chitosan-polypropylene glycol nano vehicles for cancer chemotherapy. Mater Today Chem 6:26–33
- Rajan M, Poorani K, Pradeepkumar P, Jeyanthinath M, Jeyaraj M, Mok Poi L, Palanisamy A, Akon H, Munusamy MA, Arumugam R, Benelli G, Murugan K, Suresh Kumar S (2017b) Magneto-chemotherapy for cervical cancer treatment with camptothecin loaded Fe₃O₄ functionalized β-cyclodextrin nanovehicles. RSC Adv 7:46271
- Ramakrishna S, Mayer J, Wintermantel E, Leong KW (2001) Biomedical applications of polymer composite materials; a review. Compos Sci Technol 61:11189–12224
- Ramanathan T, Abdala AA, Stankovich S, Dikin DA, Herrera-Alonso M, Piner RD, Adamson DH, Schniepp HC, Chen X, Ruoff RS, Nguyen ST, Aksay IA, Prud'Homme RK, Brinson LC (2008) Functionalized graphene sheets for polymer nanocomposites. Nat Nanotechnol 3(6):327–331
- Rao JP, Geckeler KE (2011) Polymer nanoparticles: preparation techniques and size-control parameters. Prog Polym Sci 36:887–913
- Rao M, Ahrlund-Richter L, Kaufman DS (2012) Concise review: cord blood banking, transplantation and induced pluripotent stem cell: success and opportunities. Stem Cells 30(1):55–60
- Richard OC, Oreffo Cooper C, Mason C, Clements M, Cells Mesenchymal Stem (2005) Mesenchymal stem cells. Stem Cell Rev 5(1):169–178
- Rottensteiner U, Sarker B, Heusinger D, Dafinova D, Rath SN, Beier JP, Kneser U, Horch RE, Detsch R, Boccaccini AR, Arkudas A (2014) In vitro and in vivo biocompatibility of alginate dialdehyde/gelatin hydrogels with and without nanoscaled bioactive glass for bone tissue engineering applications. Materials 7(3):1957–1974
- Rychahou P, Haque F, Shu Y, Zaytseva Y, Weiss HL, Lee EY, Mustain W, Valentino J, Guo P, Evers BM (2015) Delivery of RNA nanoparticles into colorectal cancer metastases following systemic administration. ACS Nano 9:1108–1116
- Safadi FF, Barbe MF, Abdelmagid SM, Rico MC, Aswad RA, Litvin J, Popoff SN (2009) Popoff bone structure, development and bone biology: bone pathology. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-1-59745-347-9_1
- Safadi FF, Barbe MF, Abdelmagid SM, Rico MC, Aswad RA, Litvin J, Popoff SN (2018) Bone structure, development and bone biology: bone pathology. Available from: https://www. researchgate.net/publication/224929158_Bone_Structure_Development_and_Bone_Biology_ Bone_Pathology (accessed Dec 20 2018)

- Saheb DN, Jog JP (1999) Natural polymer composites: a review. Polym Adv Technol 18:351-363
- Schoenmakers RG, Van de Wetering P, Elbert DL, Hubbell JA (2004) The effect of the linker on the hydrolysis rate of drug-linked ester bonds. J Control Release 95:291–300
- Shahani S (2009) A pH-sensitive guar gum-grafted-lysine-β-cyclodextrin drug carrier for the controlled release of 5-flourouracil into cancer cells. Advanced Drug Delivery Systems: New Developments, New Technologies. bcc Research
- Shrivats AR, Mcdermottand MC, Hollinger JO (2014) Bone tissue engineering: state of the union. Drug Discov Today 19(6):781–786
- Sosic D, Brand-Saberi B, Schmidt C, Christ B, Olson E (1997) Regulation of *paraxis* expression and somite formation by ectoderm- and neural tube-derived signals. Dev Biol 185:229–243
- Srinivasan S, Jayasree R, Chennazhi KP, Nair SV, Jayakumar R (2012) Biocompatible alginate/ nano bioactive glass ceramic composite scaffolds for periodontal tissue regeneration. Carbohydr Polym 87(1):274–283
- Stichel CC, Wernermueller H (1998) Experimental strategies to promote axonal regeneration after traumatic central nervous system injury. Prog Neurobiol 56(2):119–148
- Sulistio A, Lowenthal J, Blencowe A, Marie N, Ong L, Sally L, Zhang X, Greg G (2011) Folic acid conjugated amino acid-based star polymers for active targeting of cancer cells. Biomacromolecules 12:3469–3477
- Sumathra M, Rajan M, Alyahya SA, Alharbi NS, Kadaikunnan S, Suresh Kumar S (2017) Development of self-repair nano-rod scaffold materials for implantation of osteosarcoma affected bone tissue. New J Chem. https://doi.org/10.1039/c7nj03143b
- Sun T, Zhang YS, Pang B, Hyun DC, Yang M, Xia Y (2014) Engineered nanoparticles for drug delivery in cancer therapy. Angew Chem Int Ed 53:12320–12364
- Teh SW, Mok PL, Rashid MA, Bastion MLC, Ibrahim N, Higuchi A, Murugan K, Rajan M, Suresh Kumar S (2018) Recent updates on treatment of ocular microbial infections by stem cell therapy: a review. Int J Mol Sci 19:558. https://doi.org/10.3390/ijms19020558. IF- 3.226
- Tenzer S, Docter D, Rosfa S, Wlodarski A, Kuharev J, Rekik A, Knauer SK, Bantz C, Nawroth T, Bier C, Sirirattanapan J, Mann W, Treuel L, Zellner R, Maskos M, Schild H, Stauber RH (2011) Nanoparticle size is a critical physicochemical determinant of the human blood plasma corona: a comprehensive quantitative proteomic analysis. ACS Nano 5:7155–7167
- Tiwari G, Tiwari R, Sriwastawa B, Bhati L, Pandey S (2012) Drug delivery systems: an updated review. Int J Pharm Investig 2:2–11
- Todaro M, Francipane MG, Medema JP, Stassi G (2010) Colon cancer stem cells: promise of targeted therapy. Gastroenterology 138:2151–2162
- Tol J, Koopman M, Cats A, Rodenburg CJ, Creemers GJM, Schrama JG, Erdkamp FLG, Vos AH, van Groeningen CJ, Sinnige HAM, Richel DJ, Voest EE, Dijkstra JR, Vink-Borger ME, Antonini NF, Mol L, van Krieken JHJM, Dalesio O, Punt CJA, Engl N (2009a) Prognostic value of KRAS genotype in metastatic colorectal cancer (MCRC) patients treated with intensive triplet chemotherapy plus bevacizumab (FIr-B/FO_x) according to extension of metastatic disease. J Med Chem 360:563–572
- Tol J, Koopman M, Cats A, Rodenburg CJ, Creemers GJM, Schrama JG, Erdkamp FLG, Vos AH, van Groeningen CJ, Sinnige HAM, Richel DJ, Voest EE, Dijkstra JR, Vink-Borger ME, Antonini NF, Mol L, van Krieken JHJM, Dalesio O, Punt CJA, Engl N (2009b) Live cell integrated surface plasmon resonance biosensing approach to mimic the regulation of angiogenic switch upon anti-cancer drug exposure. J Med Chem 360:563–572
- Torchilin V (2009) Multifunctional and stimuli-sensitive pharmaceutical nanocarriers. Eur J Pharm Biopharm 71(3):431–444
- Torchilin VP (2010) Passive and active drug targeting: drug delivery to tumors as an example. Handb Exp Pharmacol 197:3
- Torshina NR, Jin Z, Diane Z, Heck E (2010) Catalytic therapy of cancer with ascorbate and extracts of medicinal herbs. eCAM7(2):203–212
- Tosi G, Costantino L, Ruozi B, Forni F, Vandelli MA (2008) Polymeric nanoparticles for the drug delivery to the central nervous system. Expert Opin Drug Deliv 5(2):155–174

- Tummala S, Kuppusamy G, Satish Kumar MN, Praveen TK, Wadhwani A (2015) 5-Fluorouracil enteric-coated nanoparticles for improved apoptotic activity and therapeutic index in treating colorectal cancer. Drug Deliv 23(8):1–9
- Venkataraman S, Hedrick JL, Ong ZY, Yang C, Ee PLR, Hammond PT, Yang YY (2011) Personalized medicine with a nanochemistry twist: nanomedicine. Adv Drug Deliv Rev 63:1228–1246
- Verma RK, Mishra B, Garg S (2000) Osmotically controlled oral drug delivery. Drug Dev Ind Pharm 26:695–708
- Prashansa A (2014) significance of Polymers in Drug Delivery System. J Pharmacovigil 3:1
- Wang Y, Kim YM, Langer R (2003) In vivo degradation characteristics of poly(glycerol sebacate). J Biomed Mater Res A 66(1):192–197
- Wang YJ, Yang CR, Chen XF, Zhao NR (2006) Development and characterization of novel biomimetic composite scaffolds based on bioglass-collagen-hyaluronic acid-phosphatidylserine for tissue engineering applications. Macromol Mater Eng 291(3):254–262
- Wang K, Ruan J, Song H, Zhang J, Wo Y, Guo S, Cui D (2011) Biocompatibility of graphene oxide. Nanoscale Res Lett 6(1):8
- Wang AZ, Langer R, Farokhzad OC (2012) Nanoparticle delivery of cancer drugs. Annu Rev Med 63:185–198
- Wang P, Zhao L, Liu J, Weir MD, Zhou X, Xu HK (2014) Bone tissue engineering via nanostructured calcium phosphate biomaterials and stem cells. Bone Res 2:14017
- Wei Z, Ji-Shi W, Peng Z, Jie C, Ji-Lie K, Lian-Hua S, Huan-Ming X, Helmuth M (2017) Self-assembled ZnO nanoparticle capsules for carrying and delivering isotretinoin to cancer cells. ACS Appl Mater Interfaces 9:18474–18481
- Weissman I, Spangrude G, Heimfeld S, Smith L, Uchida N (1991) Stem-cells. Nature 353 (6339):26–26
- Wohlfart S, Gelperina S, Kreuter J (2012) Transport of drugs across the blood-brain barrier by nanoparticles. J Control Release 161:264–273
- Wu X, Wang Z, Zhu D, Zong S, Yang L, Zhong Y, Cui Y (2013) pH and thermo dual-stimuli-responsive drug carrier based on mesoporous silica nanoparticles encapsulated in a copolymer – lipid bilayer. ACS Appl Mater Interfaces 5(21):10895–10903
- Xiao B, Zhang M, Viennois E, Zhang Y, Wei N, Baker MT, Jung Y, Merlin D (2015a) Inhibition of MDR1 gene expression and enhancing cellular uptake for effective colon cancer treatment using dual-surface-functionalized nanoparticles. Biomaterials 48:147–160
- Xiao Y, Wang T, Cao Y, Wang X, Zhang Y, Liu Y, Huo Q (2015b) Correction: Enzyme and voltage stimuli-responsive controlled release system based on β-cyclodextrin-capped meso-porous silica nanoparticles. Dalton Trans 44(9):4355–4361
- Yoo S, Hong S, Choi Y, Park JH, Nam Y (2014) Photothermal inhibition of neural activity with near-infrared-sensitive nanotransducers. ACS Nano 8(8):8040–8049
- You X, Kang Y, Hollett G, Chen X, Zhao W, Gu Z, Wu J (2016) Polymeric nanoparticles for colon cancer therapy: overview and perspectives. J Mater Chem B 4:7779–7792
- Yuan Y, Jin X, Fan Z, Li S, Lu Z (2015) In vivo degradation of copolymers prepared from L-lactide, 1,3-trimethylene carbonate and glycolide as coronary stent materials. J Mater Sci Mater Med 26(3):139
- Zambaux MF, Bonneaux F, Gref R, Dellacherie E, Vigneron C (1999) Preparation and characterization of protein C-loaded PLA nanoparticles. J Control Release 60(2–3):179–188
- Zhang Y, Nayak TR, Hong H, Cai W (2012) Graphene: a versatile nanoplatform for biomedical applications. Nanoscale 4:3833–3842
- Zhao P, Liu H, Deng H, Xiao L, Qin C, Du Y, Shi X (2014) A study of chitosan hydrogel with embedded mesoporous silica nanoparticles loaded by ibuprofen as a dual stimuli-responsive drug release system for surface coating of titanium implants. Biointerfaces 123:657–663
- Zhu CL, Wang XW, Lin ZZ, Xie ZH, Wang XR (2014) Cell microenvironment stimuli-responsive controlled-release delivery systems based on mesoporous silica nanoparticles. J Food Drug Anal 22(1):18–28

Photopolymerization of Polymeric Composites in Drug Delivery, Tissue Engineering, and Other Biomedical Applications



Husam M. Younes

Abstract Photopolymerization of polymeric composites has been widely used in several biomedical applications including, drug delivery, tissue engineering, and cell encapsulation as it combines the properties of both the photopolymerizable precursors and the photo-cross-linked polymeric networks. Nowadays, photopolymerization technology has expanded to show promising applications and uses in protein and gene delivery as well as other drug delivery designs and technologies. The present chapter aimed at providing an in-depth discussion on the latest advances in the utilization of photopolymerization technology in the drug delivery and tissue engineering fields with emphasis on the principles of photoirradiation and photopolymerization technology, common precursors, compatibility of photoinitiators, and their potential pharmaceutical and biomedical applications.

Keywords Photopolymerization • Photocuring • Photoinitiator • Ultraviolet light • Visible light • Composite polymers • Elastomers • Drug delivery • Hydrogels • Elastomers • Tissue engineering

1 Introduction

The history of photopolymerization or photocuring of resins and polymeric composites can be traced 4000 years ago when utilized by ancient Egyptians in the mummification process (Christian 2001). The mummies were wrapped in cloths which were soaked in a mix of resins and oils that were later dried and photopolymerized into a protective polymer once exposed to sunlight (Benson et al. 1978). Since then, the use of photopolymerization technology has significantly expanded into many industrial and biomedical applications as it offered a rapid conversion of liquid precursors to gels or solid cross-linked polymeric networks.

H. M. Younes (🖂)

Pharmaceutics and Polymeric Drug Delivery Research Laboratory, College of Pharmacy, Qatar University, Doha, Qatar e-mail: husamy@qu.edu.qa

K. K. Sadasivuni et al. (eds.), Polymer Nanocomposites

in Biomedical Engineering, Lecture Notes in Bioengineering, https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-030-04741-2_9

[©] Springer Nature Switzerland AG 2019

Consequently, the research in this field has attracted significant attention for its wide uses and applications in the engineering of soft tissue and drug delivery systems (Baroli 2006; Challa 1993; Lu and Anseth 1999; Nguyen and West 2002; Schmedlen et al. 2002; Seymour and Carraher Jr 1993; Bose and Bogner 2010a, b; Liu et al. 2010; Hakala et al. 2011; Elvin et al. 2010; Di Biase et al. 2011; Matsuda and Magoshi 2002; Park et al. 2013; Sando et al. 2010; Vuocolo et al. 2012; Mishra et al. 2012). In fact, a significant number of current strategies to control drug delivery and tissue engineering applications are based on the design and fabrication of synthesized biodegradable photopolymerizable devices. The polymer composites have occupied a central status in fabrication of implantable systems since they can meet several criteria such as biocompatibility, reproducibility, and slow degradability thus allowing the successful design of controlled release drug systems and medical device (Nguyen and West 2002; Schmedlen et al. 2002).

Photopolymerization is a flexible polymerization process and possesses numerous advantages over conventional thermal and solution polymerization techniques (Table 1). First, precise control over the polymerization process can be easily achieved by controlling the exposure area and the time of light incidence. Second, photopolymerization can take place very rapidly at room temperature, in a matter of few seconds to minutes. Third, polymerization process can be conducted at a temperature and pH that resemble the physiological ranges during fabrication which can allow easy and rapid production of various complex matrix devices (Baroli 2006; Lu and Anseth 1999; Nguyen and West 2002). Fourth, photopolymerizable formulations can be typically solvent-free hence minimizing volatile

Parameter	Thermal polymerization	Photopolymerization			
Scientific					
Chemical Resistance	×	√			
Variety in formulation		±			
No substrate damage	±				
Low cure temperature	×	±			
Commercial					
Operational cost	×				
Formulation cost		×			
Capital cost	×				
Cure rate	×	√			
Skill level required		±			
Environmental					
Non-solvent releasing	×				
Energy consumption	×				
Health and safety					
Radiation hazard		±			
Fire hazard	×				

Table 1 Summary of advantages and disadvantages of thermal versus photopolymerization ($\sqrt{-}$ advantage, $\times =$ disadvantage, $\pm =$ intermediate)

organic omissions and possible toxicities. In addition to the aforementioned, the biomaterials can be created in situ in a minimally invasive manner. In situ fabrication of polymers is attractive for a variety of biomedical applications as it can allow one to form complex shapes and designs that adhere and conform to tissue structures. It is not surprising then that the utilization of photo-polymerized polymer networks has been suggested in many drug delivery system and other biomedical application (Nguyen and West 2002; Elisseeff et al. 1999). Table 1 lists and compares advantages and disadvantages of traditional thermal versus ultraviolet (UV) photopolymerization.

This chapter aims at providing an in-depth discussion on the latest advances in the utilization of photocuring technology in the drug delivery, tissue engineering, and other biomedical fields with emphasis on the principles of photoirradiation and photopolymerization technology, common precursors used, compatibility of photoinitiators, and the potential use of photopolymerization in the targeted, controlled, and sustained drug delivery systems.

2 Photoinitiators: Modes of Action and Classifications

The photopolymerization process is mainly dependent on the availability of three main components which are: the photoenergy/light curing source (LCS), photoinitiators (PIs), and the photoreactive precursor which traditionally known as the photoreactive prepolymer (PRP). Frequently used sources of electromagnetic radiation comprise electron beam radiation, UV light (200–400 nm), and γ -radiation. Increasing use is being made of deep UV light (<200 nm), visible light (VL) (400–700 nm), near infrared (700–2500 nm) radiation, and microwaves (Kade and Tirrell 2013). Generally speaking, VL is considered the most benign light source and is more readily available than other light sources. This allows wide applications for drug delivery and tissue engineering (Zhou and Ito 2014).

The photopolymerization process takes place when PRP is exposed to irradiation from the LCS at the proper wavelength while the PI in the prepolymer composite or resin absorbs the incoming photons from the LCS and the monomers in the molecular structure become excited and in that active state change from monomers into a cross-linked polymeric network takes place. It is important to mention here that the success of this process strongly depends on having the light emission of the LCS matches with the requirements of the PI system to convert the monomers into a polymeric network. Knowing that different PIs absorb light at different wavelengths necessitates that PI maximum wavelength matches that of the LCS. As such, the choice of the photoinitiator moiety is a critical step in securing success to the photopolymerization process. It is common to use one or combination of PIs in achieving a successful photopolymerization process. PIs blends offer the advantages of absorbing light at a wider range of wavelengths to increase photopolymerization efficiency by making use of available light energy and avoid interference from other moieties.

2.1 Classes of Photoinitiators

There are three classes of PIs according to the reactive species: anionic, cationic, and radical. Anionic and cationic photoinitiators act upon molecules containing epoxies with cycloaliphatic epoxies being the most commonly used under this category. This type of photoinitiator is usually not compatible with biological systems as its reactivity is diminished by water and hence will not be dealt with further in this chapter. Radical photoinitiators on the other hand are water compatible and act on molecules containing an acrylate or styrene group with double bonds. The range of wavelengths for their utilization is typically near UV (300–400 nm) (Kade and Tirrell 2013).

According to their mechanism of action, radical photoinitiators can be categorized into two categories. The first category (Type I) undergoes a uni-molecular bond cleavage upon exposure to radiations to generate free radicals. The majority of these types include aromatic carbonyl compounds containing suitable groups which facilitate direct photo-fragmentation (Fouassier 1995). Whereas the second category (Type II) is subjected to bimolecular reaction, where the excited photoinitiator interacts with photosensitizer to generate free radicals. The polymerization pathways of this type II are two: hydrogen abstraction, which absorbs light and abstracts hydrogen from another molecule and photo-induced electron transfer, followed by fragmentation (Fouassier 1995). It is important to mention that UV photoinitiators of both types I and II are available. However, VL photoinitiators belong almost exclusively to the type II class of photoinitiators.

Photoinitiators have also been categorized according to the type of light used to induce photoinitiation process into UV, visible, and laser photoinitiators (Allen 1996). The only difference between them is the difference in light energy absorption capacity at the appropriate wavelength. The UV photoinitiators in turn include various classes, and over the last decade, most of them have been reported to be used for drug delivery purposes. As stated earlier, the system is exposed to appropriate light intensity and wavelength, the photosensitizers, which can be regarded as photocatalysts, absorb the energy and transfer it to the photoinitiators and/or act with photoinitiators, which then cause the photoinitiator to break into primary reactive species, usually free radicals. Reactive species then generate the polymerization in subsequent steps. Some photopolymerization system can be irradiated without using photoinitiators such as inulin-methacrylic anhydride which can be photo-cross-linked by long wave UV irradiation (Tripodo et al. 2005). Figure 1a shows a schematic representation of a typical free radical photopolymerization reaction which takes place through the initiation, propagation, and finally termination steps to form the photo-cross-linked polymeric network. Also, as illustrated in Fig. 1b, photoinitiation utilizes photoinitiators which are molecules responsible for initiating the polymerization reaction upon generating reactive species when exposed to light energy (Baroli 2006; Nguyen and West 2002).

Over the last two decades, various PIs have been investigated for the purpose of photopolymerization (Table 2). Since photoinitiators are reactive molecules, that



Fig. 1 Schematic representation of the photoinitiated polymerization. a Stages of a typical photopolymerization reaction and b the role of photoinitiator in the photopolymerization process

may even in trace amounts cause damage to human tissues and cells, only those photoinitiators with stringent characteristics and criteria with accepted biocompatibility can be utilized for drug delivery, tissue engineering, and other biomedical applications (Baroli 2006; Quick and Anseth 2003; Reiner 1987). First, photoinitiators should be completely stable and when dissolved in reactive monomers should not initiate spontaneous or random polymerization. Second, when irradiated, photoinitiators should undergo photolysis with high quantum efficiency and without liberation of biproducts that inhibit polymerization or compromise the quality of the final product. Third, photoinitiators should have as low toxicity as possible, both locally and systemically. Fourth, photoinitiators should be biocompatible with cells or other molecules loaded within the forming polymers, and also with cells and tissues in the vicinity of implantation or injection site. Finally, the synthesis of the prospective photoinitiators should be reasonably straightforward and inexpensive. Apart from for the above criteria, the final choice of initiators is frequently based upon similarly reported systems in the literature or prior experience (Fisher et al. 2001).

One of the most important groups of UV photoinitiators used in various biomedical applications includes *ketones* as functional groups. The reactive radicals in this group can be formed through a photo-cleavage of a bond to the carbonyl group. Different kinds of ketones photoinitiators with different reactive side chains were reported such as α -hydroxy ketone, α -amino ketone, and amino aryl ketone.

Table 2 Selected e	stamples of comme	only used classes c	of photoinitiators		
Type	Class	Photoinitiator	Chemical name	λ _{max} (nm)	References
UV photoinitiators	α-hydroxyketone	Irgacure 184	1-Hydroxycyclohexyl-1-phenyl ketone	246, 280, 333	Bryant et al. (2000)
		Irgacure 2959	1-[4-(2-Hydroxyethoxy)-phenyl]- 2-hydroxy-2-methyl-1-propane-1-one	276	Bahney et al. (2011)
		Darocur 1173	2-Hydroxy-2-methyl-1-phenyl-1-propanone	245, 280, 331	Li et al. (2016)
	α-aminoketone	Irgacure 369	2-Benzyl-2-dimethylamino-1-(4-morpholinophenyl)- butanone-1	233, 324	Elomaa et al. (2011)
		Irgacure 907	2-Methyl-1-[4-(methylthio) phenyl]-2-(4-morpholinyl)- 1-propanone	230, 304	Elomaa et al. (2011)
	Acetophenones	Irgacure 651	2,2-dimethoxy-2-phenyl acetophenone (DMPA)	340	Bryant et al. (2000)
		Caccure 907	2-methyl-4'-(methylthio)-2-Morpholinopropiophenone (MMMP)	351	Frick et al. (2014)
	Phosphines	Irgacure 819	Phosphine oxide, phenyl bis (2,4,6-trimethyl benzoyl)	295, 370	Luo et al. (2016)
		Lucirin TPO	Diphenyl (2,4,6-trimethylbenzoyl)-phosphine oxide	295, 368, 380, 393	Ronca et al. (2017)
	Iodonium salt	Irgacure 250	Iodonium, (4-methylphenyl) [4-(2-methylpropyl) phenyl] hexafluorophosphate (1-)	242	Xu et al. (2015)
		DPIC	Diphenyliodonium chloride (DPIC)	350	Xu et al. (2015)
VL photoinitiators	α-diketones	Camphorquinone	4,7,7-trimethylbicyclo [2.2.1] heptane-2,3-dione	475	Zhou and Ito (2014)
		Dion	1-phenyl-1,2-propanedione		Zhou and Ito (2014)
	Dyes	Eosin Y	2',4',5',7'-Tetrabromofluorescein	510	Bahney et al. (2011)
	Metallocene	Irgacure 784	bis (eta 5-2-4-cyclopentadien-1-yl) bis [2,6-difluoro-3- (IH-pyrrol-1-yl) phenyl] titanium	398, 475	Lin et al. (2013)

276

Irgacure 2959 (2-hydroxy-1-[4-(hydroxyl ethoxy) phenyl]-2-methyl-1-propanone) and Irgacure 184 (1-hydroxycyclohexyl-1-phenyl ketone) are the most commonly used ketone photoinitiators in tissue engineering (Schmedlen et al. 2002; Quick and Anseth 2003: Reiner 1987: Kim and Park 2002: Williams et al. 2005). Also, it has been invested for cross-linking of pH-sensitive glycol-polymers for oral drug delivery systems (Burkoth and Anseth 2000). Acetophenone derivatives of 4-Benzovlbenzyl-trimethylammonium chloride (BTC) are another group of UV photoinitiators used in drug delivery and biomedical applications. The 2. 2-dimethoxy-2-phenyl acetophenone (DMPA) is an example of acetophenones that has been significantly used as photoinitiators for photopolymerization of PEG to form hydrogels for use in biomaterial studies (Nguyen and West 2002; Hill-West et al. 1994; Hill-West and Chowdhury 1994; West and Hubbell 1998). Irgacure 6512 (2-dimethoxy-2-phenyl acetophenone) was also used to form hydrogels from PEG derivatives in several other studies (Baroli 2006; West and Hubbell 1998; Oudshoorn et al. 2006). Also, Phosphine oxide such as monoacylphosphine (Lucirin TPO), bisacylphosphine (Irgacure 819), as well as iodonium salt derivatives such as diphenyl iodonium hexafluorophosphate have also been used in photopolymerized biomaterial studies (Luo et al. 2016).

Photoinitiators having absorption capabilities in the VL energy range are based on dyes, quinines, diketones, and heterocyclic chemical structures. *Camphor compounds* such as camphorquinone (CQ), camphor and amine compounds such as triethylamine and triethanolamine (Baroli 2006; Poshusta 2001) and compounds such as Isopropyl thioxanthone (ITX) and ethyl 4-*N*, *N*-dimethylamino-benzoate (EDMAB) have also found used as photoinitiators for tissue engineering, drug delivery, and cell capsulation. Also, metallocene compounds such as Irgacure 784 have been used in drug delivery (Baroli 2006; Burdick et al. 2001; Davis et al. 2003). In addition, eosin Y belonging to the UV and IR light energy range has a broad biomedical use such as interfacial photopolymerization of PEG diacrylate and photo-cross-linked Pluronic hydrogel for plasmid DNA release (Chun et al. 2005; Cruise et al. 1998; Elbert and Hubbell 2001).

3 Biocompatibility of Photoinitiation System

One of the major requirements for advancing any tested polymeric formulation or device is to ensure its safety and efficacy. As such, any biomaterial designed to make a pharmaceutical device or drug carrier must be subjected to intensive processing and characterization as well as comprehensive safety testing. A biocompatible material must show acceptable interaction with the host in specific application and implant site. Biocompatibility reflects the interaction that may be affected by numerous factors related to the material. Learning that the synthesis of photopolymerized composite polymers utilizes photoinitiators and encompass generation of reactive chemical species such as free radicals as part of the photocuring process, make the issue of biocompatibility surface as an important aspect

that must be addressed and dealt with when light curing technology is utilized to prepare photo-cross-linked polymers intended for delivery in the body or used in contact with living cells and tissues (Burg and Shalaby 2013). Consequently, much of research related to utilization of photopolymerization in various biomedical applications focused on testing the possible effect of radiation source type, intensity, and duration of exposure on cells and living tissues. Also, much of research work has been reported concerning the testing of possible toxicities and compatibility of various photoinitiators and the generated free radicals (Baroli 2006).

One of the reported most comprehensive studies which extensively investigated the biocompatibility of different photoinitiating systems for cell encapsulation and tissue engineering applications was carried out by Bryant et al. (2000). Both UV and VL photoinitiators were tested. The tested UV photoinitiators included 2,2-dimethoxy-2-phenylacetophenone (Irgacure 651), 1-hydroxy cyclohexyl phenyl ketone (Irgacure 184), 2-methyl-1-[4-(methylthio) phenyl]-2-(4-morpholinyl)-1-propanone (Irgacure 907), and 2-hydroxy-1-[4-(hydroxyethoxy) phenyl]-2-methyl-1-propanone (Darocur 2959). On the other hand, the VL photoinitiators included camphorquinone (CQ) with ethyl 4-N, N-dimethylaminobenzoate (4EDMAB) and triethanolamine (TEA) and the photosensitizer, isopropyl thioxanthone. Fibroblast NIH/3T3 cell line was cultured and incubated with the photo initiators at varying concentrations ranging from 0.01 to 0.1% w/w in the presence and absence of photoinitiating light source. The study showed that at low photoinitiator concentrations (i.e., less or equal to 0.1% w/w), all of the tested photoinitiator molecules were cytocompatible with the exception of CQ, Irgacure 651, and 4EDMAB which had a relative survival of around 50% lower than a control. In the presence of low intensity initiating light ($\sim 6 \text{ mW cm}^{-2}$ of 365 nm UV light and $\sim 60 \text{ mW cm}^{-2}$ of 470–490 nm VL) and photoinitiating radicals. Darocur 2959 at concentrations equal or less than 0.05% w/w and CQ at concentrations less or equal to 0.01% w/w were the most promising cytocompatible UV and VL initiating systems, respectively. To compare the effect of using cytocompatible versus non-cytocompatible photoinitiators, chondrocytes were encapsulated in a photo-cross-linked hydrogel using 0.05% w/w of cytocompatible Darocur 2959 and 0.01% w/w of cyto-incompatible Irgacure 651. Upon photoirradiation for 10 min with around 8 mW cm⁻² of 365 nm light, cell assay conducted demonstrated that nearly all the exposed chondrocytes survived the process with Darocur 2959 while very few only survived the process with Irgacure 651 (Bryant et al. 2000).

Another study carried out to test the cytocompatibility of the photoinitiator Irgacure 2959 demonstrated that different cell lines showed variable responses to similar concentrations of the same photoinitiator. The study also showed that the Irgacure 2959 was well tolerated by many cell lines over a range of various mammalian species (Williams et al. 2005).

Finally, it is important to report here that the existing testing practices and guidelines used for the assessment of cytocompatibility are not suitable for photocured hydrogels, since it is difficult to avoid causing damage to the cells upon removing the cell-hydrogel placed in contact with cells. As such, separate protocols have to be utilized for testing the hydrogel–cells interaction. Transwell inserts

containing the hydrogel and polymeric solutions were developed as an outstanding technique for an indirect cell contact testing (Trudel and Massia 2002).

In light of the previous discussion, it is important to carry out either in vitro cytocompatibility or more informative in vivo biocompatibility studies to ensure that the used precursors, photoinitiators, and light source in the photopolymerization process are not causing toxicities to the cells and tissues or affecting the health of the human body.

4 Acrylates and Methacrylates-Based Photo-Curable Polymeric Matrices

Various polymeric composites and biomaterials have been explored for photopolymerization as matrices for use in drug delivery, tissue engineering, and other biomedical applications. The development of novel drug delivery systems in specific is a very active part of the biomedical industry due to obvious therapeutic and economic advantages in the method of drug administration. Considering the application, biodegradable polymeric materials were most commonly used as they evade the need of a surgery to remove the implanted biomaterials after the healing of the tissues and it offers the ability of triggering and guiding the tissue regeneration via degradation of the material. It is worth mentioning here that almost all the photopolymerizable biomaterials commonly have a photopolymerizable moiety in their backbone, which is traditionally located at one or both ends of the monomer or polymer chain. Acrylate or methacrylate moieties are reported to be the most commonly used in that regard as they can be covalently cross-link upon the excitation of radical generating photoinitiators (Sershen and West 2002; Qui and Park 2001). Selected examples of biodegradable polymers possessing acrylate or methacrylate photoreactive moieties with their biomedical applications are listed in Table 3.

As a result of its excellent biocompatibility and biodegradability, PEG has been extensively investigated for its biomedical applications. PEG derivatives that have been probed include acrylate or methacrylate derivatives, poly (propylene fumarate-co-ethylene glycol) (Shin et al. 2003), and PEG fumarate (Suggs et al. 1998). PEG di-methacrylate and PEG urethane-di-methacrylate have also been explored and showed good biocompatibility when successfully employed in both in vivo and in vitro studies by several groups as scaffold materials (Lin-Gibson et al. 2004). PEG-diacrylamide was also emerged as an interesting new derivative for in vivo photopolymerization. Although acrylamide is known to be very toxic, PEG-acrylamide was found to be nontoxic, because its hydrophilicity and high molecular weight will restrict access of the polymer to within the cells. Furthermore, it will undergo rapid free radical polymerization and easily attach with peptides via a conjugate addition reaction (Elisseeff et al. 1999).

Polyvinyl alcohol (PVA) has been reported to be protein nonadhesive, thus PVA offers the possibility of cell selectivity through incorporation of bioactive moieties.

Delawara	Distance 12.1	D:	Deferment
Polymers	Photo-cross-linked	Biomedical	References
	moiety	application	
Poly (ethylene glycol)	Methacrylate	Cartilage tissue	Lin-Gibson et al.
		engineering	(2004)
Pluronic	Acrylate	Controlled DNA	Chun et al. (2005)
		release	
Polyvinyl alcohol	Methacrylate	Scaffolds material	Schmedlen et al.
			(2002)
Polyester polyol	Acrylate	Tissue sealants	Nivasu et al. (2004)
Inulin-succinic anhydride	Methacrylate	pH-responsive drug	Tripodo et al. (2005)
		delivery	
Polyanhydrides	Methacrylate	Orthopedic	Burkoth and Anseth
		application	(2000)
Poly (acrylic acid)	Methacrylate	Mucoadhesive drug	Burkoth and Anseth
• • • •		delivery system	(2000), Serra et al.
			(2006)
PEG-diacrylamide	Di-acrylamide	Reendothelialization	Elbert and Hubbell
	-	promoting materials	(2001)
Poly	Acrylate	Implantable drug	Younes et al. (2004)
(ε-caprolactone-co-D,		delivery	
L-Lactide)			
Hyaluronic acid	Methacrylate	Cell encapsulation	Bae et al. (2006)
Dextran and	Glycidyl	pH-responsive drug	Pitarresi et al. (2003)
polyaspartamide	methacrylate	delivery	
Polyphosphoester	Acrylate	Injectable scaffolds	Li et al. (2006)
Fumarate-based	Diacrylate	Local anticancer	Guo (2007)
unsaturated poly (ester		drug delivery	
amide) and PEG			
Poly	Acrylate	Implantable drug	Shaker et al. (2012),
(Diol-co-Tricarballylate)		delivery	El-Laboudy et al.
			(2011)

 Table 3 Selected examples of biodegradable photocured polymers and their biomedical applications

The number of photoreactive groups on the PVA chain can be significantly varied which facilitates the manipulation of hydrogel mechanical properties. In addition, the pendant hydroxyl groups on PVA offer many more accessible sites for the attachment of bioactive molecules (Schmedlen et al. 2002). Furthermore, PVA hydrogels have been scrutinized as a promising candidate of protein-releasing matrices (Peppas and Scott 1992). The use of photoactive PVA derivatives that form cross-linked hydrogels in the presence of cells and tissues functionalized with the cell-adhesive peptide RGDS (Arg-Gly-Asp-Ser) was also investigated. It was found that photo-cross-linked PVA supported the attachment and spreading of fibroblasts in a dose-dependent manner (West and Hubbell 1998; Ward and Peppas 2001).

Block copolymers of poly (ethylene oxide) and poly (propylene oxide) which are also known as Pluronic polymers and exhibit thermal gelling properties have also been investigated. Photo-cross-linked Pluronic hydrogels have been used as delivery systems for several proteins and genes including IL-2, urease (Schmedlen et al. 2002; Fults 1990), rat intestinal natriuretic factor (Peppas and Scott 1992; Korsmeyer et al. 1983). Poly(2-hydroxyet) (poly(HEMA)) were also used as a drug carriers due to their ability to release entrapped drugs in aqueous medium as well as its good biocompatibility (Lu and Anseth 1999). Hyperbranched polyglycerol methacrylate, derived from glycidyl methacrylate also, shows great potential for drug delivery and tissue engineering (Amsden et al. 2004).

Naturally occurring polymers such as dextran, inulin (Tripodo et al. 2005). collagen (Trudel and Massia 2002; Pitarresi et al. 2003), hyaluronic acid (Trudel and Massia 2002), and polyphosphoesters (Li et al. 2006) whose biodegradability in the body is well known have been broadly explored for photopolymerization use. From among the natural materials available for photopolymerization, polysaccharides are the best choice for preparing bioerodible hydrogels used for drug delivery system. Polysaccharides are readily available and are easily undergo degradation by hydrolysis or enzymatically in certain cases. They possess hydroxyl functional groups in the backbone which can be used for the chemical modifications leading to cross-linking of hydrogels. These hydroxyl groups can also be used to covalently attach drugs or other therapeutic moieties to the hydrogel backbone (Tripodo et al. 2005; Pitarresi et al. 2003). Dextran is another natural polysaccharide that has found extensive use in the pharmaceutical field (Reynolds 1993; Kim et al. 2001). Photo-cross-linked dextran derivative containing methacrylate moieties represent a straightforward and reproducible procedure to obtain networks capable to swell in aqueous medium to form hydrogels.

Gellan Gum-based hydrogels have been proposed for tissue engineering application. These hydrogels were synthesized by reacting Gellan Gum with methacrylic anhydride in different ratios to yield photo-cross-linkable methacrylated Gellan Gum hydrogels (MeGG) with two different degrees of methacrylation (Xiao et al. In Press). This has enabled the development of MeGG hydrogels with highly tunable physical and mechanical properties with high biocompatibility. These hydrogels have been reported for a wide range of tissue engineering applications.

Jansen et al. reported on the fumaric acid monoethyl ester-functionalized poly (trimethylene carbonate) photo-cross-linkable oligomers which were synthesized and copolymerized with *N*-vinyl pyrrolidone (NVP) and vinyl acetate (VAc) to form biodegradable polymeric networks (Jansen et al. 2010). They found that the copolymerization reactions were much faster than homo-polymerization of the fumarate end-groups of the macromers. The hydrophilicity of the networks was varied by mixing NVP and VAc at different ratios. The extract of the prepared network was compatible with NIH 3T3 fibroblasts. It was found that the release of vitamin B12, which was used as a model drug, could be adjusted by varying polymeric network hydrophilicity and macromer molecular weight. A more hydrophilic and less densely cross-linked network resulted in faster release of vitamin B12. Many other polyesters-based photo-cross-linked polymers have been reported in the literature which utilized photocuring technology to prepare highly biocompatible and tunable matrices which constituted very promising carriers for

drug delivery and tissue engineering application (Shaker et al. 2010, 2012; Gu et al. 2005; Shaker and Younes 2010, 2015). The details of their preparations and applications shall be discussed extensively in the next section of this chapter.

5 Forms, Pharmaceutical, and Biomedical Applications of Photo-cross-linked Polymers

Photopolymerization has been extensively used in the last two decades in a wide range of pharmaceutical and biomedical applications and still constitutes a fundamental approach to further advances in the biomedical research in medicine such as scaffold and tissue fabrication (Cooke et al. 2003), blood vessel adhesives (Hubbell 1996), adhesion prevention barriers (Elbert and Hubbell 2001), joint replacement (Poshusta 2001), teeth restoration (Anseth et al. 1995; Khosroshahi et al. 2008), and in cell encapsulation for tissue replacement strategies (Cruise et al. 1999).

Traditionally, drug molecules are mixed with the photoreactive monomer or prepolymer in the presence of the PI prior to its exposure to the LCS at the required wavelength. Once the mix is poured into a specific mold or shaped into the required three-dimensional structure, the mass is exposed to the LCS of optimum intensity to form the drug-loaded photo-cross-linked polymer. Figure 2 shows a schematic



Fig. 2 Schematic representation of the stages involved in the UV photocuring process to prepare a drug-loaded photo-cross-linked scaffold
representation of the stages involved in the fabrication of a drug-loaded scaffolds or matrices. In the following sections, we shall discuss in more detail some of the main utilization and applications of photopolymerization in the biomedical and pharmaceutical fields. The discussion shall be categorized based on the physical form of the photo-cross-linked polymers and the intended application.

5.1 Photo-cross-linked Hydrogels

Photo-cross-linked hydrogels are three-dimensional polymeric networks composed of hydrophilic polymers held together by association bonds such as covalent bonds and weaker cohesive forces such as hydrogen, ionic bonds, and intermolecular hydrophobic associations (Singh et al. 2018). Their high-water content, biocompatibility, and the fact that their mechanical properties can be manipulated in such a way that they match those of many soft tissues made them gain wide popularity as controlled release carriers for drugs and proteins. Moreover, they possess high permeability to oxygen, nutrients, and other water-soluble metabolites, which make them a good niche for cells and transplantation applications (Nguyen and West 2002; Schmedlen et al. 2002; Severian 2011). In addition, the biodegradation of the photocured hydrogel matrices not only allows a tunable release of entrapped molecules, but also evades the removal of the device from body (Pitarresi et al. 2003; Reynolds 1993; Kim et al. 2001).

There are two main approaches for loading drugs into photo-cross-linked hydrogels. One approach requires the monomer to be mixed with drug, photoinitiator, and cross-linker and is photopolymerized to load the drug within the matrix as previously demonstrated in Fig. 2. In another approach, a photopolymerized hydrogel is placed to swell to equilibrium in a suitable drug solution. The drug diffuses from the photopolymerized hydrogel when it is placed in an environment causing it to swell and increases the mesh size (Reynolds 1993; Buwalda et al. 2017). It is also important to ensure that the hydrogel possesses the optimal needed cross-linking density since the drug will not be able to diffuse out of the system. At the same time, the drug should withstand the polymerization conditions and should not react with the monomers in the system. A kinetic experiment to study the effect of solute presence on the polymerization process developed by Peppas et al. demonstrated that the solutes presence result in a more heterogeneous material, a delay in the gel point and in greater microgel regions (Peppas and Scott 1992). Additionally, other studies also revealed that the presence of a low molecular weight solute increases the rate of polymerization (Elisseeff et al. 2000; Jeong et al. 1997).

Upon exposure to UV or the less destructive VL and in the presence of compatible photoinitiator, some photopolymerized hydrogels can be prepared at physiological pH and body temperature. The fast photopolymerization procedure allows cells to be seeded homogeneously within the hydrogel mass with minimal exposure to light. Furthermore, by altering monomer and photoinitiator concentration, exposure time, and distance to light source, the cross-linking of the hydrogel to reach the gelation point can be easily controlled and therefore enabling the control of drug release from the hydrogel (Schmedlen et al. 2002).

Photo-cross-linked hydrogels are attractive to apply for localized drug delivery as they can be cross-linked in situ and hence can conform and adhere to the targeted tissue (Nguyen and West 2002). The applications of photopolymerizable hydrogels are unlimited due to the large number of drugs, hormones, and therapeutic proteins available. These applications include but not limited to sustained DNA delivery (Kim and Park 2002; Madsen and Mooney 2000), controlled release of insulin and growth factors (Younes and Amsden 2002), mucoadhesive delivery systems, and live vaccine ballistic delivery (Serra et al. 2006; Christie et al. 2006). For instance, photo-cross-linked Pluronic hydrogel has been used for sustained delivery of therapeutic genes for wound healing and tissue regeneration (Madsen and Mooney 2000). Kim and Park successfully synthesized degradable and temperatureresponsive hyaluronic acid/Pluronic composite hydrogels for controlled release of human growth hormone (Kim and Park 2002). Various release profiles were attained by varying UV irradiation time and modified hyaluronic acid amounts. This demonstrated that the made hydrogels can be utilized as a potential candidate material for in vivo sustained gene delivery after fine-tuning various formulation parameters (Kim and Park 2002).

Photopolymerized hydrogel has been utilized for the controlled delivery of highly potent, but relatively toxic, anticancer drugs without inducing side effects. Kai et al., synthesized paclitaxel loaded biodegradable hydrogel by the photopolymerization of two precursors: a fumarate-based unsaturated poly (ester amide) and a PEG diacrylate. Sustained paclitaxel release over a two-month period was observed without initial burst release (Guo 2007). Other drugs such as theophylline (Pitarresi et al. 2003), gentamicin (Missirlis et al. 2006), and live vaccine (Christie et al. 2006), have also been loaded into photo-cross-linked hydrogels and shown to possess well-defined release patterns. Additionally, prepared doxorubicin encapsulated, polymeric hydrogel nanoparticles, by photopolymerization of PEG and poloxamer 407 was investigated. The study showed that the drug was released in a sustained fashion over a period of one week with minor burst observed (Missirlis et al. 2006).

Photo-cross-linked hydrogels have been also reported to be used in site specific delivery of drugs. Serra et al. for instance reported on the UV photo-cross-linked Poly (acrylic acid)-based hydrogels which were modified by grafting their backbone chains with chains such as PEG thus promoting the adhesive process (Serra et al. 2006). Finally, the aforementioned applications of photo-cross-linked hydrogels usually involve the loading of drugs in a single layer hydrogel in which drugs are uniformly dispersed. Since it is indeed challenging to fabricate one single hydrogel layer that possess all the needed physicochemical properties required for a specific application, the capability to construct multiple layered hydrogels of varied composition in a single membrane or device was explored. For example, Lu et al. investigated the use of photopolymerization of multi-laminated Poly (hydroxyethyl methacrylate) to design layered matrix-based devices with

nonuniform concentration profiles aiming at controlling the drug release. They reported that the polymerization conditions were sufficiently mild to be carried out in the presence of biological materials (Lu and Anseth 1999).

5.2 Photo-cross-linked Biodegradable Elastomers

Polymers possessing rubber-like elasticity, known also as elastomers, have been extensively studied for their use in various pharmaceutical and biomedical applications. Elastomers possess many advantages over other synthesized tough polymers. Their mechanical properties can be tailored to simulate soft body tissues; they have the ability to withstand the mechanical stress upon implantation in mobile parts of the human body and they can also be designed to possess a three-dimensional structure with uniform degradation pattern which make them well suited for various biomedical applications (Bruggeman et al. 2008; Storey et al. 1997; Yang et al. 2006). Additionally, the use of photo-cross-linking in preparing photocured biodegradable elastomers offers a number of advantages over the thermal or solution cross-linking techniques in preparing these elastomers (Younes 2016). The process, with thermosensitive drugs, can be carried out in situ, and the degree of cross-linking and mechanical properties of the photocured elastomer can be tailored by changing the density of photosensitive termini in the prepolymer (Shaker et al. 2010). Due to these potential advantages, many researchers intensively investigated the utilization of photo-cross-linked elastomers and their biomedical application in protein drug delivery and tissue engineering.

In one of the recent studies, Guo et al. reported on the synthesis and characterization of cross-linked elastomers based on methyl-acrylic-star-poly (ɛ-caprolactone-co-d, l-lactide) cyclic ester and methyl-bi-acrylic-poly(ɛ-caprolactone-b-poly(ethylene glycol)-b-ɛ-caprolactone) as potential implantable controlled drug delivery system for protein drugs. The elastomers prepared using varying molecular weight and their in vitro degradation and release of bovine serum albumin (BSA) and recombinant human interleukin-2 (IL-2) studies were conducted. The release rate of BSA and IL-2 increased with a higher degree of swelling, higher sol content, and lower cross-linking density of the elastomers. The cytocompatibility assays showed good biocompatibility (Guo et al. 2017). The same team as well explored the fabrication of insulin-loaded cylinders using a UV cross-linking process based on the same elastomers and studied the stability and in vitro release of insulin as well as its in vivo hypoglycemic effect on mice (Guo et al. 2018). The study revealed that the loaded insulin retained its bioactivity and the rate of insulin release was controlled by manipulating the polymer composition. Furthermore, in vivo studies showed that most of the insulin-loaded elastomers fabricated decreased blood glucose levels and maintained it at a low level. It was also observed that the hypoglycemic effect of the drug-loaded elastomers was directly proportional to the rate of in vitro insulin release (Guo et al. 2018).

"Younes et al. reported earlier on the use of UV photopolymerization to fabricate acrylated star poly (ε -caprolactone-co-d, l-lactide) implantable biodegradable elastomers loaded with the therapeutic protein, Interferon-gamma (IFN- γ) (Younes et al. 2004; Gu et al. 2005). The same prepared biodegradable elastomer loaded with IFN- γ , VEGF, and IL-2 has also been researched and reported lately for their suitability for sustained drug delivery (Gu et al. 2006). Retaining the protein bioactivity and prolonging the release duration was achieved by incorporating IFN- γ as lyophilized particles within the matrix prior to photopolymerization and relied on the osmotic activity of the co-formulated excipients like trehalose to drive the protein release out of the elastomer matrix. The obtained release rate was found to be constant (23 ng/day), and the release pattern was nearly zero-order with minimal burst effect. It was also found that around 83% of released protein, in the first week of release studies, remained bioactive."

In an attempt to address the quick loss of bioactivity of loaded proteins following the first week of release due to the accumulation of acidic monomers followed by a drop in the pH of the microenvironment causing the denaturation of the protein, Chapanian et al. substituted the use of ε -caprolactone in the elastomer with trimethylene carbonate (TMC) (Chapanian and Amsden 2010). They investigated the ability of UV photo-cross-linked TMC-based elastomers to release VEGF165 and hepatocyte growth factor (HGF) separately or in combination with a sequential release mode using the osmotic-driven release mechanism. VEGF165 and HGF were lyophilized separately and together with trehalose, rat serum albumin, and sodium chloride. It was found that no significant degradation of the elastomer occurred over the initial 8 weeks, during which the majority of the loaded growth factors were released. The TMC-based elastomer was able to provide a sustained release of bioactive VEGF165 and HGF for more than 10 days (Chapanian and Amsden 2010). Although the bioactivity of the loaded proteins improved compared to previous reports, the use of both organic solvents in loading the protein and utilization of UV light constituted a challenging issue that was later addressed by other researchers.

Younes et al. have recently reported on the synthesis and biocompatibility of a novel family of amorphous photoset poly(diol-co-tricarballylate)-based elastomers for use in tissue engineering and controlled delivery of small molecules and therapeutic proteins (Shaker et al. 2010, 2012; Shaker and Younes 2010; Younes 2016). These new elastomers were prepared by VL photocuring and a solvent-free drug loading approach (Shaker and Younes 2010; Younes 2010; Younes and Shaker 2011). The elastomers possessed mechanical properties that can be easily controlled and proved to be amorphous with glass transition temperatures below physiological body temperature, making them excellent candidates as biodegradable implants in vivo. The hydrophilic and hydrophobic nature of these elastomers was controlled by changing the chain length of the aliphatic diol in their backbone structure. The study also demonstrated that the use of VL cross-linking indeed addressed many of the drawbacks associated with UV photocuring by making the polymerization conditions mild for use with biological materials, that is, for encapsulation of viable cells, loading of heat sensitive drugs or in biosensing applications. Additionally, VL

utilization may limit the need for invasive surgical procedures by allowing trans-tissue polymerizations, whereby the material is injected subcutaneously to polymerize the material in situ.

In another recent study, Younes. et al. also showed that the osmotic-driven release of drugs from those elastomers was constant, linear, and controllable. The cell-based bioactivity assays on the released IL-2 showed that more than 94% of its original activity was retained over a controlled release period of 28 days. The further in vivo studies on BALB/c mouse tumor model clearly suggested that controlled localized delivery of bioactive IL-2 from these new elastomers, at the site of tumor inoculation is sufficient to prevent tumor growth in vivo (Younes and Shaker 2011).

5.3 Other Biomedical Applications

5.3.1 Tissue Engineering

The art and science of tissue engineering has witnessed new trends with the major advances in photopolymerization technologies. Many researchers were able to fabricate three-dimensional scaffolds using stereolithography and photolithography methods as well as polymer chemistries. Stereolithography is a three-dimensional photopolymerization technique that uses an UV laser beam to photo-cure the photopolymerizable polymer. Laser beam is directed into a layer of liquid polymer, causing cross-linking to the exposed area and after covering with a new layer of polymer the process is repeated (Cooke et al. 2003). Cooke et al. reported on the application of stereolithography for the production of biodegradable threedimensional structure tissue (Cooke et al. 2003). Photolithography method on the other hand is potentially used for the production of both single and multilayer biomaterials. Yu et al. successfully demonstrated the utilization of photolithography process to build and control the fabrication of polymer scaffolds. They reported a photolithographic method of pattering dried 2-hydroxyethyl methacrylate, which is later rehydrated before cell seeding (Yu et al. 2000). Also, Hubbell developed a simple yet rapid method of creating various shaped patterned surfaces using photopolymerizable chitosan. They reported the prepared chitosan patterned surfaces (cardiac fibroblasts, cardiomyocytes, and osteoblasts) to be stable for up to 18 days (Hubbell 1996).

An alternative method for hepatocyte transplantation involves the implantation of tissue engineered hepatocyte spheroids (i.e., hepatocytes on biodegradable polymer) which have a liver-like morphology and preserved specific metabolic function which could serve as an in vivo substitute for lost liver function. Tsang et al. have fabricated a spheroid using a multilayer photo-patterning approach. They have used a photopolymerizable PEG hydrogel which is able to support survival of hepatocyte and liver function. They incorporated adhesive peptides able to ligate integrin on these adhesion-dependent cells (Tsang et al. 2006).

Anseth et al. investigated a new class of methacrylate anhydride monomers such as methacrylated sebacic acid, methacrylated 1,3-bis(p-carboxyphenoxy) propane, and meth-acylated 1,6-bis(p-carboxyphenoxy) hexane for orthopedic applications (Anseth et al. 1995). They successfully used such monomers in tibia bone defect and preliminary histological evaluation showed good adhesion of the polymer to the cortical bone and medullar cavity. Furthermore, to secure metallic orthopedic implants, bone cements based on methyl methacrylate have been used to form rigid polymers (Kohn and Ducheyne 1992).

Photoreactive electrospinning (PRES) is a very recent technology currently utilized to fabricate photo-cross-linked electrospun nanofibers for tissue engineering applications. The principle of PRES is based on combining the conventional electrospinning method with a photo-cross-linking method applied in situ to the jet flowing from the needle to the collector (Xu 2011). Figure 3 illustrates a schematic representation of the utilization of PRES for the preparation of photo-cross-linked electrospun nanofibers.

In a very recent study, Ismail et al. (2018) reported on the fabrication and in vitro cytocompatibility of new electrospun fibrous scaffolds (EFS) based on photo-cross-linkable acrylated poly (1,10-decanediol-co-tricarballylate) (PDET) copolymer prepared utilizing UV photoreactive electrospinning process. Those ESF were intended to be used for cardiac tissue engineering applications (Fig. 4). The fabricated ESF were compared to those prepared using the sodium chloride particulate leaching process for preparing porous scaffolds. The newly prepared



Fig. 3 Schematic illustration of the photoreactive electrospinning process to prepare photo-cross-linked nanofibers for tissue engineering applications



Fig. 4 Schematic illustration of the PDET synthesis and further cross-linking to prepare **a** electrospun fibers using UV photoreactive electrospinning or **b** UV photo-cross-linked scaffolds using NaCl particulate leaching technique (Ismail et al. 2018). Copyright 2018. Reproduced with permission from MDPI

photo-cross-linked elastomeric fibrous scaffolds proved to possess above 70% porosity. More importantly, the mechanical testing confirmed the elastomeric nature of the fibers required to withstand cardiac contraction and relaxation. Cell viability assays confirmed the cytocompatibility of the ESF with cultured cardiomyoblasts which also facilitated a significant increase in cell attachment and growth on the electrospun fibers compared to reference. Interestingly, the H9C2 cells also demonstrated a certain degree of alignment along the fibers, potentially due to the fiber collection method used in this study and offering the required anisotropic effect consistent with cardiac tissue engineering applications.

5.3.2 Cell Encapsulation

In cell encapsulation, transplanted cells are shielded from immune rejection by biocompatible artificial semi-permeable membrane. Such encapsulation can be achieved using photo-cross-linked polymers. The photopolymerized polymer should potentially allow allo- or xeno-transplantation without the use of immuno-suppressants. Several photo-polymeric encapsulation systems have been developed or advanced to clinical trials in humans (Elisseeff et al. 1999; Bae et al. 2006; Cruise et al. 1999).

Diabetes is one of the most significant areas of current research for encapsulation of cells, specifically the pancreatic islets of Langerhans cells that produces insulin.

Cruise et al. investigated a method of xenograft protection toward a bioartificial endocrine pancreas (Cruise et al. 1998). They illustrated the importance of interfacial photopolymerization to form PEG membranes for encapsulating islets of Langerhans. Results from this study demonstrated the in vitro and in vivo function of the photo-encapsulated porcine islets and the capability of this PEG membrane to prevent immune rejection in a discordant xenograft model. Moreover, using static glucose stimulation and perfusion assays, the encapsulated islets were shown to be responsive to glucose level (Cruise et al. 1999). Additionally, Elisseeff et al. have suggested that the feasibility of photopolymerizing system provides an efficient method to encapsulate living cells (Elisseeff et al. 1999). They described the encapsulation of bovine and ovine chondrocytes in a PEO-di-methacrylate and PEG semi-interpenetrating network using a photopolymerization technique (Elisseeff et al. 2000). Finally, a new concept for cell encapsulation was introduced by Bae et al. who developed photopolymerizable beads with methacrylated hyaluronic acid and N-vinylpyrrolidone. Using microinjection technique, they directly injected viable cells into the beads. Cells proliferated well within these beads which could potentially be used as injectable cell delivery vehicles for regenerating tissue defects (Bae et al. 2006).

5.3.3 Therapeutic Protein Delivery

Many of the therapeutic proteins require sustained and localized delivery. Currently, most proteins are delivered via multiple injection regimens. Also, poor stability upon storage and low patient compliance has disadvantaged their advancement to clinical approval (Gu et al. 2005, 2006; Burdick et al. 2002). Hence, there is a great need to develop better delivery systems and strategies of administering protein drugs. In an attempt to develop an implantable elastomer which can retain proteins stability and reserve their activity, Younes et al. designed a photo-cross-linked biodegradable elastomer based on poly (*ɛ*-caprolactone-co-d, l-lactide), in an attempt to deliver (IFN- γ utilizing osmotic-driven release mechanism. The delivery and release of IFN- γ from this photo-cross-linked biodegradable elastomer was achieved successfully. IFN- γ was released at a constant rate of 23 ng/day over three weeks. A cell-based bioassay demonstrated that over 83% of released IFN-y was bioactive. Furthermore, it was demonstrated that BSA co-lyophilized with IFN- γ was released at the same rate. These findings may be clinically useful for sustained, local protein drug delivery applications (Younes and Amsden 2002).

Growth factor protein was loaded in poly (lactide-co-glycolide) (PLGA) microspheres using double emulsion technique. The microspheres were photo-encapsulated with bovine articular chondrocytes in PEG-based hydrogel. Controlled release of the active proteins was observed confirming that PEG-based hydrogel provides a method to deliver protein molecules in porous hydrogel systems (Quick and Anseth 2004).

5.3.4 Genes Delivery

Gene delivery is the process of introducing foreign DNA into host cells. It is one of the vital steps needed for gene therapy treatment and the genetic modification. Photopolymerization techniques were reported to improve the efficiency of gene delivery (Quick and Anseth 2003, 2004; Chun et al. 2005; Wieland et al. 2007). Foreign gene expression can be prolonged by sustained DNA delivery which is an important advantage for a long-term non-viral gene therapy (Quick and Anseth 2003, 2004). Anseth et al. addressed this issue by designing photopolymer matrices that enabled simultaneous encapsulation of plasmid DNA (Quick and Anseth 2003). They first protected the DNA from the impact of UV photoinitiating conditions. The study results showed that encapsulated plasmid DNA was released in its active form with an approximate 60% recovery in activity which allowed the creation of engineered tissues with enhanced control of cell behavior through controlling the release of plasmid DNA (Quick and Anseth 2003).

Controlled DNA release was also achieved by loading plasmid DNA in a photopolymerizable di-acrylated pluronic in the presence and absence of vinyl group-modified hyaluronic acid (HA). Various release profiles were attained by varying UV irradiation time and modifying the amounts hyaluronic acid. The released DNA was stable during the release period and maintained functional gene expression activities (Chun et al. 2005).

Wieland et al. investigated the photo-cross-linking of acrylated PEG-hyaluronic acid as a controlled release carrier for gene therapy vectors. The release from these hydrogels depended significantly on the physicochemical properties of both the hydrogel and the vector. The polymer content and relative composition of HA and PEG influenced the transportation of the vector through the hydrogel by modulating the swelling ratio, water content, and degradation rate. The release studies revealed that the majority of the release occurred during the initial two days and the cumulative release increased upon decreasing PEG or increasing HA concentrations. It was also demonstrated the dependence of non-viral vector release on the physicochemical properties of the hydrogel and the vector (Wieland et al. 2007).

5.3.5 Drug Delivery of Small Molecules

Controlled drug delivery can occur when a photopolymerizable polymer is combined with a drug in such a way that the active agent is released from the material in a predetermined and controlled manner. The release of the active agent may be controlled over a long period or may be triggered by the environment or other external stimuli. In any case, the purpose behind the photopolymerization use is to control the drug delivery extent and rate to achieve more effective clinical efficacy while eliminating the potential for both under- and overdosing.

Photopolymerization has been used in synthesis and design of minimally invasive implantable drug delivery systems, by utilizing in situ photopolymerization techniques. Nivasu et al. reported on the in situ photopolymerization of polyester polyol which were prepared with succinic acid and PEG of varying molecular weights and in vitro release of loaded sulfamethoxazole from these matrices was studied (Nivasu et al. 2004). In vitro release studies with sulfamethoxazole suggested that these in situ photo-cross-linked polymers can be used as well for controlled delivery of antibiotics over a short period of time.

Photopolymerizable drug derivatives can also be used to achieve modified release of drugs, to improve the drug's efficiency in intended therapies. Lawson et al. synthesized a photopolymerizable PEG-acrylate derivative of vancomycin, which is covalently attached to a titanium implant alloy to form a bactericidal surface that is capable of preventing the infections in the setting of orthopedic hardware (Lawson and Anseth 2007). This technique achieved significantly higher dose loading than with photopolymerizable polymer coupling approaches and holds hope for the treatment of orthopedic infections.

6 Conclusion

Photocured polymers are widely used as polymeric composites for various pharmaceutical and biomedical applications. The advantages they offer have supported their recent wide applications in numerous biomedical applications. Herein we have reported on photopolymers developments extending to drug delivery, tissue engineering, and other pharmaceutical and biomedical applications. When photopolymerization and photocured systems are applied in these biomedical fields, the most important points are the compatibility and photopolymerization efficiency of the photo-cross-linked materials. Fabrication of more compatible and more efficiently curable materials will be also important for any future application.

References

- Allen NS (1996) Photoinitiators for UV and visible curing of coatings: mechanisms and properties. J Photochem Photobiol A 100(1–3):101–107
- Amsden B, Wang S, Wyss U (2004) Synthesis and Characterization of Thermoset Biodegradable Elastomers Based on Star-Poly(ε-caprolactone-co-d, l-lactide). Biomacromolecules 5(4):1399– 1404
- Anseth K, Newman S, Bowman C (1995) Polymeric dental composites: properties and reaction behavior of multimethacrylate dental restorations. In: Peppas N, Langer R (eds) Biopolymers II, 122 edn. Advances in Polymer Science. Springer, Berlin, pp 177–217
- Bae KH, Yoon JJ, Park TG (2006) Fabrication of hyaluronic acid hydrogel beads for cell encapsulation. Biotechnol Prog 22(1):297–302
- Bahney CS, Lujan TJ, Hsu CW, Bottlang M, West JL, Johnstone B (2011) Visible light photoinitiation of mesenchymal stem cell-laden bioresponsive hydrogels. Eur Cells Mater 22:43–55

- Baroli B (2006) Photopolymerization of biomaterials: issues and potentialities in drug delivery, tissue engineering, and cell encapsulation applications. J Chem Technol Biotechnol 81(4):491– 499
- Benson GG, Hemingway SR, Leach FN (1978) Composition of the wrappings of an ancient Egyptian mummy [proceedings]. J Pharm Pharmacol 30(Suppl):78P
- Bose S, Bogner RH (2010a) Solventless visible light-curable coating: I. Critical formulation and processing parameters. Int J Pharm 393(1):32–40
- Bose S, Bogner RH (2010b) Solventless visible light-curable coating: II Drug release, mechanical strength and photostability. Int J Pharm 393(1):41–47
- Bruggeman JP, de Bruin BJ, Bettinger CJ, Langer R (2008) Biodegradable poly(polyol sebacate) polymers. Biomaterials 29(36):4726–4735
- Bryant S, Nuttelman CR, Anseth K (2000) Cytocompatibility of UV and visible light photoinitiating systems on cultured NIH/3T3 fibroblasts
- Burdick JA, Mason MN, Anseth KS (2001) In situ forming lactic acid based orthopaedic biomaterials: influence of oligomer chemistry on osteoblast attachment and function. J Biomater Sci Polym Ed 12:1253–1265
- Burdick JA, Mason MN, Hinman AD, Thorne K, Anseth KS (2002) Delivery of osteoinductive growth factors from degradable PEG hydrogels influences osteoblast differentiation and mineralization. J Controlled Release 83(1):53–63
- Burg K, Shalaby S (2013) Absorbable/biodegradable polymers. In: Absorbable and biodegradable polymers. Advances in polymeric biomaterials. CRC Press
- Burkoth AK, Anseth KS (2000) A review of photocrosslinked polyanhydrides: in situ forming degradable networks. Biomaterials 21(23):2395–2404
- Buwalda SJ, Vermonden T, Hennink WE (2017) Hydrogels for therapeutic delivery: current developments and future directions. Biomacromolecules 18(2):316–330
- Challa G (1993) Polymer chemistry: an introduction, 3rd edn. Ellis Horwood, London
- Chapanian R, Amsden BG (2010) Combined and sequential delivery of bioactive VEGF165 and HGF from poly(trimethylene carbonate) based photo-cross-linked elastomers. J Controlled Release 143(1):53–63
- Christian D (2001) UV-radiation curing chemistry. Pigm Resin Technol 30(5):278-286
- Christie RJ, Findley DJ, Dunfee M, Hansen RD, Olsen SC, Grainger DW (2006) Photopolymerized hydrogel carriers for live vaccine ballistic delivery. Vaccine 24(9):1462– 1469
- Chun KW, Lee JB, Kim SH, Park TG (2005) Controlled release of plasmid DNA from photo-cross-linked pluronic hydrogels. Biomaterials 26(16):3319–3326
- Cooke MN, Fisher JP, Dean D, Rimnac C, Mikos AG (2003) Use of stereolithography to manufacture critical-sized 3D biodegradable scaffolds for bone ingrowth. J Biomed Mater Res B Appl Biomater 64B(2):65–69
- Cruise GM, Hegre OD, Scharp DS, Hubbell JA (1998) A sensitivity study of the key parameters in the interfacial photopolymerization of poly(ethylene glycol) diacrylate upon porcine islets. Biotechnol Bioeng 57(6):655–665
- Cruise G, Hegre O, Lamberti FV, Hager S, Hill R, Scharp D, Hubbell J (1999) In vitro and in vivo performance of porcine islets encapsulated in interfacially photopolymerized poly(ethylene glycol) diacrylate membranes. Cell Transplant 8(3):293–306
- Davis KA, Burdick JA, Anseth KS (2003) Photoinitiated crosslinked degradable copolymer networks for tissue engineering applications. Biomaterials 24(14):2485–2495
- Di Biase M, Saunders RE, Tirelli N, Derby B (2011) Inkjet printing and cell seeding thermoreversible photocurable gel structures. Soft Matter 7(6):2639–2646
- Elbert DL, Hubbell JA (2001) Conjugate addition reactions combined with free-radical cross-linking for the design of materials for tissue engineering. Biomacromolecules 2 (2):430–441
- Elisseeff J, Anseth K, Sims D, McIntosh W, Randolph M, Langer R (1999) Transdermal photopolymerization for minimally invasive implantation. Proc Natl Acad Sci 96(6):3104–3107

- Elisseeff J, McIntosh W, Anseth K, Riley S, Ragan P, Langer R (2000) Photoencapsulation of chondrocytes in poly(ethylene oxide)-based semi-interpenetrating networks. J Biomed Mater Res 51(2):164–171
- El-Laboudy H, Shaker MA, Younes HM (2011) Soft biodegradable elastomers based on poly (octanediol-tartarate) for drug delivery and tissue engineering: synthesis, characterization and biocompatibility studies. Soft Mater 9(4):409–428
- Elomaa L, Teixeira S, Hakala R, Korhonen H, Grijpma DW, Seppälä JV (2011) Preparation of poly(ε-caprolactone)-based tissue engineering scaffolds by stereolithography. Acta Biomater 7 (11):3850–3856
- Elvin CM, Vuocolo T, Brownlee AG, Sando L, Huson MG, Liyou NE et al (2010) A highly elastic tissue sealant based on photopolymerised gelatin. Biomaterials 31(32):8323–8331
- Fisher JP, Dean D, Engel PS, Mikos AG (2001) Photo-initiated polymerization of biomaterials. Annual Review of Materials Research; 8/1/2001: Annual Reviews, pp 171–181
- Fouassier JP (1995) Photoinitiation, photopolymerization, and photocuring: fundamentals and applications. Hanser Publishers, Munich
- Frick E, Ernst HA, Voll D, Wolf TJA, Unterreiner A-N, Barner-Kowollik C (2014) Studying the polymerization initiation efficiency of acetophenone-type initiators via PLP-ESI-MS and femtosecond spectroscopy. Polym Chem 5(17):5053–5068
- Fults KAJT (1990) Sustained-release of urease from a poloxamer gel matrix. J Parenter Sci Technol 44(2):58–65
- Gu F, Younes HM, El-Kadi AO, Neufeld RJ, Amsden BG (2005) Sustained interferon-gamma delivery from a photocrosslinked biodegradable elastomer. J Control Release 102(3):607–617
- Gu F, Neufeld R, Amsden B (2006) Osmotic-driven release kinetics of bioactive therapeutic proteins from a biodegradable elastomer are linear, constant, similar, and adjustable. Pharm Res 23(4):782–789
- Guo KCC (2007) Controlled release of paclitaxel from biodegradable unsaturated poly(ester amide)s/poly(ethylene glycol) diacrylate hydrogels. J Biomater Sci Polym Ed 18:489–504
- Guo F, Zhang W, Pei X, Shen X, Yan Q, Li H et al (2017) Biodegradable star-shaped polycyclic ester elastomers: preparation, degradability, protein release, and biocompatibility in vitro. J Bioact Compat Polym 32(2):178–195
- Guo F, Huang D, Zhang W, Yan Q, Yang Q, Yang Y et al (2018) Star-shaped polyester-based elastomers as an implantable delivery system for insulin: development, pharmacokinetics, pharmacodynamics, and biocompatibility. Mater Sci Eng C 84:180–187
- Hakala RA, Korhonen H, Meretoja VV, Seppälä JV (2011) Photo-cross-linked biodegradable poly (ester anhydride) networks prepared from alkenylsuccinic anhydride functionalized poly (ε-caprolactone) precursors. Biomacromolecules 12(7):2806–2814
- Hill-West JL, Chowdhury S (1994) Prevention of postoperative adhesions in the rat by in situ photopolymerization of bioresorbable hydrogel barriers. Obstet Gynecol 83(1):59–64
- Hill-West J, Chowdhury S, Dunn R, Hubbell J (1994) Efficacy of a resorbable hydrogel barrier, oxidized regenerated cellulose, and hyaluronic acid in the prevention of ovarian adhesions in a rabbit model. Fertil Steril 62(3):630–634
- Hubbell JA (1996) Hydrogel systems for barriers and local drug delivery in the control of wound healing. J Controlled Release. Proceedings of the seventh international symposium on recent advances in drug delivery systems; 5/1996, pp 305–313
- Ismail H, Zamani S, Elrayess M, Kafienah W, Younes H (2018) New three-dimensional poly (decanediol-co-tricarballylate) elastomeric fibrous mesh fabricated by photoreactive electrospinning for cardiac tissue engineering applications. Polymers 10:455
- Jansen J, Boerakker MJ, Heuts J, Feijen J, Grijpma DW (2010) Rapid photo-crosslinking of fumaric acid monoethyl ester-functionalized poly(trimethylene carbonate) oligomers for drug delivery applications. J Controlled Release 147(1):54–61
- Jeong B, Bae YH, Lee DS, Kim SW (1997) Biodegradable block copolymers as injectable drug-delivery systems. Nature 388(6645):860–862
- Kade M, Tirrell M (2013) Free radical and condensation polymerizations. Monitoring polymerization reactions. Wiley, Hoboken, pp 1–28

- Khosroshahi M, Atai M, Nourbakhsh M (2008) Photopolymerization of dental resin as restorative material using an argon laser. Lasers Med Sci 23(4):399–406
- Kim MR, Park TG (2002) Temperature-responsive and degradable hyaluronic acid/Pluronic composite hydrogels for controlled release of human growth hormone. J Controlled Release 80 (1–3):69–77
- Kim I-S, Jeong Y-I, Kim D-H, Lee Y-H, Kim S-H (2001) Albumin release from biodegradable hydrogels composed of dextran and poly(ethylene glycol) macromer. Arch Pharmacal Res 24 (1):69–73
- Kohn DH, Ducheyne P (1992) Materials for bone and joint replacement. In: Medical and dental materials (Materials science and technology: a comprehensive treatment), vol 14, pp 29–44
- Korsmeyer RW, Gurny R, Doelker E, Buri P, Peppas NA (1983) Mechanisms of solute release from porous hydrophilic polymers. Int J Pharm 15(1):25–35
- Lawson MCBC, Anseth KS (2007) Vancomycin derivative photopolymerized to titanium kills S. epidermidis. Clin Orthop Relat Res 461:96–105
- Li Q, Wang J, Shahani S, Sun DDN, Sharma B, Elisseeff JH et al (2006) Biodegradable and photocrosslinkable polyphosphoester hydrogel. Biomaterials 27(7):1027–1034
- Li M, Joung D, Hughes B, Waldman SD, Kozinski JA, Hwang DK (2016) Wrinkling non-spherical particles and its application in cell attachment promotion. Sci Rep 6:30463
- Lin H, Zhang D, Alexander PG, Yang G, Tan J, Cheng AW-M et al (2013) Application of visible light-based projection stereolithography for live cell-scaffold fabrication with designed architecture. Biomaterials 34(2):331–339
- Lin-Gibson SBS, Cooper JA, Wetzel SJ, Antonucci JM, Vogel BM, HorkayF Washburn NR (2004) Synthesis and characterization of PEG dimethacrylates and their hydrogels. Biomacromolecules 5(4):1280–1287
- Liu J, Nie J, Zhao Y, He Y (2010) Preparation and properties of different photoresponsive hydrogels modulated with UV and visible light irradiation. J Photochem Photobiol A 211 (1):20–25
- Lu S, Anseth KS (1999) Photopolymerization of multilaminated poly(HEMA) hydrogels for controlled release. J Controlled Release 57(3):291–300
- Luo Y, Dolder CK, Walker JM, Mishra R, Dean D, Becker ML (2016) Synthesis and biological evaluation of well-defined poly(propylene fumarate) oligomers and their use in 3D printed scaffolds. Biomacromolecules 17(2):690–697
- Madsen SK, Mooney DJ (2000) Delivering DNA with polymer matrices: applications in tissue engineering and gene therapy. Pharm Sci Technol Today 3(11):381–384
- Matsuda T, Magoshi T (2002) Preparation of vinylated polysaccharides and photofabrication of tubular scaffolds as potential use in tissue engineering. Biomacromolecules 3(5):942–950
- Mishra S, Scarano FJ, Calvert P (2012) Entrapment of *Saccharomyces cerevisiae* and 3T3 fibroblast cells into blue light cured hydrogels. J Biomed Mater Res Part A 100A(10):2829–2838
- Missirlis D, Kawamura R, Tirelli N, Hubbell JA (2006) Doxorubicin encapsulation and diffusional release from stable, polymeric, hydrogel nanoparticles. Eur J Pharm Sci 29(2):120–129
- Nguyen KT, West JL (2002) Photopolymerizable hydrogels for tissue engineering applications. Biomaterials 23(22):4307–4314
- Nivasu VM, Yarapathi RV, Tammishetti S (2004) Synthesis, UV photo-polymerization and degradation study of PEG containing polyester polyol acrylates. Polym Adv Technol 15 (3):128–133
- Oudshoorn MHM, Rissmann R, Bouwstra JA, Hennink WE (2006) Synthesis and characterization of hyperbranched polyglycerol hydrogels. Biomaterials 27(32):5471–5479
- Park H, Choi B, Hu J, Lee M (2013) Injectable chitosan hyaluronic acid hydrogels for cartilage tissue engineering. Acta Biomater 9(1):4779–4786
- Peppas NA, Scott JE (1992) Controlled release from poly (vinyl alcohol) gels prepared by freezing-thawing processes. J Controlled Release 18(2):95–100

- Pitarresi G, Palumbo FS, Giammona G, Casadei MA, Micheletti Moracci F (2003) Biodegradable hydrogels obtained by photocrosslinking of dextran and polyaspartamide derivatives. Biomaterials 24(23):4301–4313
- Poshusta AKAK (2001) Photopolymerized biomaterials for application in the temporomandibular joint. Cells Tissues Organs 169(3):272–278
- Qui Y, Park K (2001) Environment-sensitive hydrogels for drug delivery. Adv Drug Deliv Rev 53:321–339
- Quick DJ, Anseth KS (2003) Gene delivery in tissue engineering: a photopolymer platform to coencapsulate cells and plasmid DNA. Pharm Res 20(11):1730–1737
- Quick DJ, Anseth KS (2004) DNA delivery from photocrosslinked PEG hydrogels: encapsulation efficiency, release profiles, and DNA quality. J Controlled Release 96(2):341–351
- Reiner A (1987) New trends in the photochemistry of polymers. In: Allen NS, Rabek JF (eds) Elsevier Applied Science, London and New York (1985), 321 pp. J Polym Sci Part C Polym Lett 25(3):80–110
- Reynolds JEF (1993) The extra pharmacopoeia, 30th edn. The Pharmaceutical Press, London
- Ronca A, Maiullari F, Milan M, Pace V, Gloria A, Rizzi R et al (2017) Surface functionalization of acrylic based photocrosslinkable resin for 3D printing applications. Bioact Mater 2(3):131–137
- Sando L, Kim M, Colgrave ML, Ramshaw JA, Werkmeister JA, Elvin CM (2010) Photochemical crosslinking of soluble wool keratins produces a mechanically stable biomaterial that supports cell adhesion and proliferation. J Biomed Mater Res Part A 95A(3):901–911
- Schmedlen RH, Masters KS, West JL (2002) Photocrosslinkable polyvinyl alcohol hydrogels that can be modified with cell adhesion peptides for use in tissue engineering. Biomaterials 23 (22):4325–4332
- Serra L, Domqnech J, Peppas NA (2006) Design of poly(ethylene glycol)-tethered copolymers as novel mucoadhesive drug delivery systems. Eur J Pharm Biopharm 63(1):11–18
- Sershen S, West J (2002) Implantable, polymeric systems for modulated drug delivery. Adv Drug Deliv Rev 54(9):1225–1235
- Severian D (2011) Polymeric biomaterials, 2nd edn
- Seymour RB, Carraher CE Jr (1993) Polymer chemistry: an introduction, 3rd edn, 71 edn. American Chemical Society, pp 158–170
- Shaker MA, Younes HM (2010) Osmotic-driven release of papaverine hydrochloride from novel poly(decane-co-tricarballylate) elastomeric matrices. Ther Deliv 1(1):37–50
- Shaker MA, Younes HM (2015) Photo-irradiation paradigm: mapping a remarkable facile technique used for advanced drug, gene and cell delivery. J Controlled Release 217:10–26
- Shaker MA, Dore JJ, Younes HM (2010) Synthesis, characterization and cytocompatibility of a poly(diol-tricarballylate) visible light photo-cross-linked biodegradable elastomer. J Biomater Sci Polym Ed 21(4):507–528
- Shaker MA, Daneshtalab N, Dore JJE, Younes HM (2012) Biocompatibility and biodegradability of implantable drug delivery matrices based on novel poly(decane-co-tricarballylate) photocured elastomers. J Bioact Compat Polym 27(1):78–94
- Shin H, Quinten Ruhq P, Mikos AG, Jansen JA (2003) In vivo bone and soft tissue response to injectable, biodegradable oligo(poly(ethylene glycol) fumarate) hydrogels. Biomaterials 24 (19):3201–3211
- Singh T, Laverty G, Donnelly R (2018) Hydrogels: design, synthesis and application in drug delivery and regenerative medicine. CRS Press, Boca Raton
- Storey RF, Warren SC, Allison CJ, Puckett AD (1997) Methacrylate-endcapped poly(d, l-lactide-co-trimethylene carbonate) oligomers Network formation by thermal free-radical curing. Polymer 38(26):6295–6301
- Suggs L, Kao E, Palombo L, Krishnan R, Widmer M, Mikos A (1998) Preparation and characterization of poly(propylene fumarate-co-ethylene glycol) hydrogels. J Biomater Sci Polym Ed 9(7):653–666
- Tripodo G, Pitarresi G, Palumbo FS, Craparo EF, Giammona G (2005) UV-photocrosslinking of inulin derivatives to produce hydrogels for drug delivery application. Macromol Biosci 5 (11):1074–1084

- Trudel J, Massia SP (2002) Assessment of the cytotoxicity of photocrosslinked dextran and hyaluronan-based hydrogels to vascular smooth muscle cells. Biomaterials 23(16):3299–3307
- Tsang VL, Chen AA, Cho LM, Jadin KD, Sah RL, DeLong S et al (2006) Fabrication of 3D hepatic tissues by additive photopatterning of cellular hydrogels. FASEB J 21(3):790–801
- Vuocolo T, Haddad R, Edwards GA, Lyons RE, Liyou NE, Werkmeister JA et al (2012) A highly elastic and adhesive gelatin tissue sealant for gastrointestinal surgery and colon anastomosis. J Gastrointest Surg 16(4):744–752
- Ward JH, Peppas NA (2001) Preparation of controlled release systems by free-radical UV polymerizations in the presence of a drug. J Controlled Release 71(2):183–192
- West JL, Hubbell JA (1998) Polymeric biomaterials with degradation sites for proteases involved in cell migration. Macromolecules 32(1):241–244
- Wieland JA, Houchin-Ray TL, Shea LD (2007) Non-viral vector delivery from PEG-hyaluronic acid hydrogels. J Controlled Release 120(3):233–241
- Williams CG, Malik AN, Kim TK, Manson PN, Elisseeff JH (2005) Variable cytocompatibility of six cell lines with photoinitiators used for polymerizing hydrogels and cell encapsulation. Biomaterials 26(11):1211–1218
- Xiao W, He J, Nichol JW, Wang L, Hutson CB, Wang B et al. Synthesis and characterization of photocrosslinkable gelatin and silk fibroin interpenetrating polymer network hydrogels. Acta Biomaterialia (In Press, Corrected Proof)
- Xu X (2011) inventors; Louisiana State University and Agricultural and Mechanical College, assignee. Process of fabricating nanofibers by reactive electrospinning. US Patent # US8066932B2, 2011-11-29
- Xu L, Sheybani N, Yeudall WA, Yang H (2015) The effect of photoinitiators on intracellular AKT signaling pathway in tissue engineering application. Biomater Sci 3(2):250–255
- Yang J, Webb AR, Pickerill SJ, Hageman G, Ameer GA (2006) Synthesis and evaluation of poly (diol citrate) biodegradable elastomers. Biomaterials 27(9):1889–1898
- Younes H (2016) Inventor Qatar University, assignee. Biodegradable elastomers prepared by the condensation of an organic di-, tri- or tetra-carboxylic acid and an organic diol. US patent # US9422396B2. 2016-08-23
- Younes H, Amsden B (2002) Interferon-gamma therapy: evaluation of routes of administration and delivery systems. J Pharm Sci 91(1):2–17
- Younes HM, Shaker M (2011) Preserving therapeutic IL-2 stability and bioactivity: a novel controlled release polymeric drug delivery approach. In: Qatar Foundation Annual Research Forum Proceedings BMO8
- Younes HM, Bravo-Grimaldo E, Amsden BG (2004) Synthesis, characterization and in vitro degradation of a biodegradable elastomer. Biomaterials 25(22):5261–5269
- Yu T, Chiellini F, Schmaljohan D, Solaro R, Ober C (2000) Microfabrication of hydrogels as polymer scaffolds for tissue engineering applications, vol 41. Polymer Preprints America, pp 1699–1700
- Zhou D, Ito Y (2014) Visible light-curable polymers for biomedical applications. Sci China Chem 57(4):510–521

Shape Memory Polymer Composites in Biomedical Field



Aqib Muzaffar, Kalim Deshmukh, M. Basheer Ahamed and S. K. Khadheer Pasha

Abstract This chapter is anticipated to provide a brief insight into shape memory polymers (SMPs). The insight comprises of the designing aspects pertaining to SMP which include a description of mechanical properties, biocompatibility, hemocompatibility, genotoxicity, histocompatibility, biodegradability, and sterilizability. The biocompatibility comprising of cytotoxicity, mitochondrial activity, membrane damage, and cytokine production is described. The main discussion is intended toward the biomedical applications of shape memory polymer composites. In addition to that, electro-active shape memory polymer composites are mentioned along with SMPs containing fillers like Ni, electromagnetic fillers, and carbon nanotubes (CNTs). The impact on the addition of these fillers on the overall characteristics of the shape memory polymer composite is discussed. The potential of different polymer materials with their applicability in the biomedical field and their current research progress is also reviewed.

Keywords Shape memory polymers • Biocompatibility • Biodegradability • Biomedical applications

1 Introduction

The effect as a consequence of which the originality of a plastically deformed material is restored on the application of an external stimulus such as heat is termed as the shape memory effect (Khan et al. 2013). This effect incorporates the change in the crystalline phase called as thermoelastic martensitic transformation. Shape

Department of Physics, B.S. Abdur Rahman Crescent Institute of Science and Technology, Chennai 600048, Tamil Nadu, India e-mail: basheerahamed@bsauniy.ac.in

A. Muzaffar \cdot K. Deshmukh \cdot M. Basheer Ahamed (\boxtimes)

S. K. Khadheer Pasha

Department of Physics, VIT-AP University, Amaravati Campus, Guntur 522501, Andhra Pradesh, India

[©] Springer Nature Switzerland AG 2019

K. K. Sadasivuni et al. (eds.), Polymer Nanocomposites

in Biomedical Engineering, Lecture Notes in Bioengineering, https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-030-04741-2_10

memory materials, especially polymers, exhibit a unique property of showing transformational responses, when subjected to heating, exposed to light, on the application of pressure, placed under electric and magnetic field, etc. (Wang et al. 2016). There exists a temperature limit for such materials known as transformation temperature, below which shape memory materials behave as hard or martensitic materials categorized by self-accommodating twins. Above this temperature, these materials get softened to restore their original shape in addition to the conversion of the material into high strength austenitic material. The reverse transformation of material from austenitic to martensitic and vice versa occurs at different temperatures. The shape transformation and restoration are endorsed by the contraction and re-expansion of aligned and oriented chains due to temperature. Shape memory materials are potentially smart materials having a wide range of applications like in textile and apparel industry, space programs, packaging, aerospace, engineering field (bionics, electronic, civil), dairy products, and biomedical field (Liu et al. 2014). In the biomedical field, the shape memory materials are used as sutures, catheters, in repairing cardiac valves for drug delivery and cardiovascular treatment, orthodontic and surgical applications (Wang et al. 2017). The shape memory materials for biomedical applications require features like biodegradability and biocompatibility to avoid any prospective harmful impacts on human body like continuous pain, improper functioning. In addition, these materials possess excellent mechanical properties, better tunability to actuation temperature, and easy synthesis procedure.

Shape memory polymers (SMPs) came into existence in 1960 while designing heat-shrinkable tubes composed of cross-linked polyethylene (PE). On the basis of their structure, the SMPs are classified as shape memory blocks, shape memory foams, shape memory films, and shape memory fibers. The main synthesis procedure regarding SMPs for biomedical applications involves naturally occurring polymers like polysaccharides, natural peptides, derivatives of natural composites present in the body (lactic acid, bile juice, glycerol, etc.), and monomers (caprolactone) (Wang et al. 2017). The SMPs for biomedical applications require actuation by direct thermal treatment around human body temperature (37 °C). This temperature acts as threshold temperature below which the material might retain its original permanent shape prior to implantation due to improper actuation. Above this temperature the shape memory effect cannot be achieved. There are reports regarding the use of developed indirect heating methods using stimuli means like light, electric field, magnetic field, microwave, and ultrasound (Pan et al. 2016). The application of indirect heating prepares the shape memory material for right time actuation by raising the temperature to the threshold value. The ability of a material to show shape memory effect mainly depends on shape fixity ratio and shape recovery ratio. The shape fixity ratio signifies the capability of the material to restore its temporary shape deformation, while the shape recovery ratio signifies the capability of the material to completely recuperate its original or permanent shape. The shape transformation on actuation of such materials also leads to the significant transformation in material properties like phase separation, material permeability, mechanical, optical and electrical properties (Focarete and Gualandi 2016). These property transformations are accompanied by miniature changes in temperature, pH, solvent, ions, enzymes, sonic field, electrical field, light and magnetic field (Meng and Li 2013).

In SMPs, there exists an abundance of cross-linking along with higher macromolecular weight (Hearon et al. 2011). In addition to that, there exists a stable polymer network and a reverse transitional switching desired for shape memory effect. The stability in polymer network entails to the original shape determination created by the arrangement of molecules, phase crystallization, cross-linkage of chemical nature, or interpenetrating polymer network. In SMPs, lock in polymer network symbolizes reversible transition switching, accountable for fixation of temporary shape. The switching transitions could be a crystallization–melting transition, vitrification glass transition, liquid crystal anisotropic or isotropic transition, reversible molecule cross-linking transition, and supramolecular association or disassociation (Shojaei and Li 2013). Pertaining to these switching transitions, the emblematic reversible cross-linkage reactions comprise of photo-dimerization, redox reactions, Diels–Alder reaction, hydrogen bonding, metal–ligand coordination, and self-assembly (Wei et al. 2014).

Considering the shape memory alloys, the shape memory effect is achieved due to the application of stress in the desired temperature range (Duerig et al. 2013). There are certain temperature stages regarding shape memory alloys, viz. austenite start temperature (As), austenite finish temperature (Af), the martensite start temperature (Ms), and martensite finish temperature (Mf). The temperature range to achieve shape memory effect or deformation temperature on the application of stress is set between austenite finish temperature and maximum martensite temperature (Perkins 2012). Comparing the amount of energy required to produce deformations in alloys, the martensitic phase requires less energy than an austenitic phase for stress-induced deformations using conventional mechanisms. The martensitic materials can accommodate up to 10% of strain when deformed by stress induction under conventional methods exhibiting pseudo-elasticity. Since the austenitic phase of shape memory is thermodynamically stable at the deformation temperature range under no stress or no load circumstances, the alloy material shifts itself back to original shape. This condition is termed as pseudo-elasticity or transformational super-elasticity as the alloy displays astonishing elastic behavior. This condition is only experienced over a constricted temperature range as at maximum martensite temperature the martensite becomes independent of stress-induced deformations. The designing of shape memory components is related to the stress-strain curves of martensite and austenite along with the temperature difference.

The metallic alloys are used for various implants due to their biocompatibility particularly during the implantation phase (Li et al. 2011). In addition to metallic alloys, the materials like electro-active polymers and ionic polymeric metal composites are also displaying same characteristic features as that of shape memory metallic alloys in the biomedical field. These materials show the same kind of shape memory effect along with damping capacity which is defined as the energy absorbed by the material in order to convert mechanical energy to heat. The shape

memory materials are deployed for biomedical applications either inside or outside the human body including dental applications, orthopedics, clamping means, as surgical tools, during endoscopy, stents, for disks cure, as pumping actuators for hearts, and delivery of drugs. In the biomedical field, the parameters required for a shape memory material to satisfy particular application area include the impact of stress, straining, working frequency, temperature variations as well as connected exhaustion (Wu et al. 2014). Therefore, the materials before application undergo modeling procedure and proper designing for desired application-related optimization. While designing, the desired shape of the shape memory material can be triggered by application of changing external electric or magnetic field. For superelastic material, the working requirement includes definite stress and temperature range. During the operation of a shape memory material, the temperature undergoes certain changes due to external temperature or by means of electric current through the material.

The shape memory materials exhibit excellent structural features, lower manufacturing cost, easy processing, elevated elastic deformations, and lower recovery temperature (Thompson 2011). The recent trends regarding shape memory materials utilizing different actuation means have been enormously rising with the demand according to their applications. This chapter aims to provide the biomedical aspects of such materials.

2 Shape Memory Polymers

Contrary to shape memory alloys, the SMPs are adaptive soft materials exhibiting shape memory effect. The SMPs act as smart materials possessing a tendency to regain their original permanent or partially deformed shape on application of external stimuli in the form of heating, electric or magnetic field or by light stimulation (Zhang et al. 2014). The polymeric materials displaying shape memory effect are not restricted to polymers in pure form, but the polymeric blends, polymer composites, as well as polymer network-based materials, also exhibit the shape memory effect. The SMPs are soft materials having a tendency of large strain recovery along with cost affordability than the alloys. The SMPs as such are appropriate for sensors, actuators, remote controls, smart textiles, robotics, and biomedical applications. Commercially, the SMPs have been used as electric wire insulation in the form of heat-shrinkable PE tubes. The simplicity in the polymer structure, however, limits their developments as shape-changing materials and practical applicability (Zhang et al. 2015). In addition to that, the SMPs in comparison with shape memory alloys show some drawbacks like lower mechanical strength and low shape recovery stress. These limiting factors can be trounced by the proper fabrication process.

Generally, the stimulus provided to SMPs is in the form of temperature. The temperature governing the shape transitions lies in the proximity of glass or melting transition temperature range to deform the shape of the material (Gunes and Jana 2008). The recovery of permanent shape after deformation and temporary shape fixation is achieved by cooling of the material. Due to temperature-based transitions, the mechanical strength of SMPs lies in the range of 5–100 MPa while that of shape memory alloys is in the range of 700–2000 MPa (Yu et al. 2010). In addition to that, the SMPs have recovery stress in the range of few 1/tens to few tens of MPa, while in shape memory alloys, the recovery stress can attain values higher than 800 MPa. The range of mechanical strength, as well as recovery stress, can be reinforced in SMPs by incorporation of high modulus inorganic or organic fillers. Pertaining to biomedical applications, one of the important criteria to be followed regarding SMPs is the consideration of proper designing. Based on the design, the properties of the material vary to a greater extent, especially in the biomedical field. The designing requirements for SMPs provide validity of materials concerned with biomedical applications which are listed in the next section.

3 Designing Aspects of Shape Memory Polymers

The compatibility of SMPs in the biomedical application is due to the combination of their functionality and tunability properties. This combination presents the SMPs as an attractive option with consideration of designing entailing to their proper exploitation in the biomedical field. Shape memory behavior is pragmatic in several polymer systems with different morphologies and molecular structures. As per reports, the shape memory effect is not only a consequence of molecular structure, but the material morphology and the processing methods also play a vital role (Meng and Hu 2009). The shape memory behavior of polymers is explained on the basis of the cyclic tensile analysis, strain recovery examination, bending trials, and shrinkage determination tests. The shape memory behavior follows the sequential shape deformation procedure. Initially, by suitable processing, the temporary shape of the polymer is fixed followed by the recovery of permanent shape from temporary shape by means of external stimulus like heating. The polymers reported for shape memory effect include cross-linked PE, trans-polyisoprene (TPI), poly(styrene-co-butadiene), poly-norbornene, PE/nylon-6-graft copolymer, and cross-linked PE-poly(vinyl acetate) copolymer (Hu et al. 2005).

The cross-linked PE was reported to exhibit shape memory effect when provided external stimulus in the form of heat revealing large deformation recovery and as such was utilized in applications like electric wiring (Ware et al. 2010). The structure of PE consists of intertwined chains distinguished into amorphous and crystalline regions. The cross-linked structure is induced by the application of ionizing radiation and leads to the formation of a three-dimensional (3D) network in amorphous regions. On the other hand, the crystalline regions retained temporary deformed shape on cooling the material below the melting point of crystalline regions. However, heating the material above melting point eliminates the shape recovery property of the material (Hearon et al. 2013). Hence, the shape recovery in cross-linked PE owes to cross-linked structure and the entropy of elasticity. The

designing aspects of SMPs include considerations of mechanical properties, biocompatibility, biodegradability, and sterilizability which are discussed in the next section.

3.1 Mechanical Properties

The polymers with a wide range of mechanical and physical properties demonstrate better adaptability in biomedical perspective especially for requirements of human tissue. The SMPs possess physical properties identical to that of soft biological tissues, thereby enabling the growth of smart polymeric materials in biomedical applications beyond the explored features of hard biological tissues. SMPs are physically and mechanically very active polymers and represent a division of polymers with response stimulation (He et al. 2008). The matching of physical properties of SMPs and biological tissues is essential in designing the smart material prototypes intended to substitute natural tissue functionality. Generally, the biological tissues are under a variety of physiological circumstances like compressive stress condition, tension and shear stress during weight loading, heart pumping, and circulation of blood, respectively (Lu et al. 2017). As such, the SMPs implanted instead of the biological tissue must possess the capability of performing the same function as that of the tissue and deal with the forces that the tissue is subjected to under normal functioning. For instance, the smart material used for scaffolds for bone tissue implant must possess stiffness and strength in addition to functionality of the natural bone tissue. In SMPs, the shape transformation is unidirectional involving a temporary programmable shape and a final permanent shape as shown in Fig. 1. However, the activation can take place by heat, mechanical stimulation, and by the combination of both in a stepwise manner.

In the first phase as shown in Fig. 1a, the SMP is in original shape and undergoes thermal treatment and the material is heated above the activation temperature (mainly glass transition temperature or melting point temperature). After thermal treatment, the SMP gets deformed to a temporary shape followed by cooling below activation temperature and the steps followed in this phase are termed as programming. During cooling, the temporary shape of SMP is maintained. The SMP then undergoes the second phase of activation as depicted in Fig. 1b in which it is again heated in the range of activation temperature. During the second phase, the SMP returns to its original shape and this phase is termed as recovery. The thermal activation is attained by either direct heating method or indirect heating method. The former method is the main method of thermal activation without aiding from any filler (Yakacki et al. 2011), whereas the latter method uses a variety of fillers and particles accompanied by resistance- or induction-based heating or heating by lasers. Contrary to thermal activation, there are reports regarding solvent activation based on immersion of the SMP in water. The immersion of polymers in water leads to relaxation of polymer chains thereby decreasing the glass transition temperature (T_g) . The interaction of polymer directly



Fig. 1 a Schematic representation of SMP driven by thermal activation, **b** mechanical activation, and **c** a combination of mechanical force and temperature-based activation (Yakacki et al. 2011). Copyright 2011. Reproduced with permission from Elsevier

with water is known as bound-type interaction, while as the indirect interaction leading to swelling of the polymer is known as free-type interaction. In free-type interaction, the swelling of polymer leads to disruption of intermolecular bonding or mechanical softening called as plasticization (Safranski et al. 2013). The final phase transformation occurs as a consequence of mechanical force in the form of external stress stimulus as shown in Fig. 1c. After stress stimulation, the original shape of SMP is recovered.

In SMP, the change in entropic elasticity of polymer has an impact on overall shape memory effect in polymer (Yakacki et al. 2011). The programming of SMPs into a momentary shape and recovery from this momentary shape to original shape is observed at the macroscopic level. The polymer chains of SMPs in original state at the macromolecular level are at low energy state initially. The parameters like cross-linkage, chemical, and physical interactions in SMPs cause the temporary shape fixation. During programming of SMPs, the polymer chains undergo energy state transformation. The energy transformation is from low energy state to a state of higher energy accompanied by cooling below activation temperature leading to polymer fastening. Due to the instability of polymer at higher energy state, the polymer tends to come back to allow energy state in its original form. This transformation in SMPs from energy states is neither escorted by vitrification nor by crystallization (Meng and Hu 2009). The shape recovery of the polymer is however

achieved by application of thermal energy, by which the polymer chains regain their low energy state and the whole process of shape recovery is similar to that of an entropic spring. Instead of thermal energy application in shape recovery, there are reports suggesting application of mechanical force as the stimulus for polymer shape recovery entailing to energy state transformation (Yakacki et al. 2011). The activation via mechanical stimulus leading to shape transformation accompanying changes in energy states is very swift. Hence, shape recovery can be accomplished in SMP either by thermal or mechanical assistance or combination of both is also an alternative.

In addition to mechanical property consideration while designing the SMP, the other properties worthy of consideration include the polymer rigidity and flexibility. By consideration of flexibility and rigidity, the consequences on the biological tissues can be minimized (Zhang et al. 2014). The SMP in biomedical applications must inhibit optimization of characteristics for better functionality like the catheter used as a biomedical device. The catheter requires stability in the characteristic optimization as well as flexibility. Generally, there are two types of biomedical catheters, viz. soft catheter and stiff catheter. The soft catheter is designated for movement compatibility within the body, while the stiff catheter is designated for easy functionality outside the body. The wide range of mechanical properties along with high tunability and versatility places SMPs in prime focus as far as biomedical applications are concerned.

3.2 Biocompatibility

Biocompatibility aspect of SMP designing is the most vital aspect related to the configuration of material for biomedical applications. This property enables the ability of the polymer material to perform within a living organism by means of the suitable host response. Thus, the prime concern is the non-cytotoxicity of smart material (Sokolowski 2010). The viability of smart material is attained by means of in vitro cytotoxicity analysis thereby enabling cell feasibility and cell membrane reliability to evaluate biocompatibility. Biocompatibility tests validate the creation of non-toxic SMP systems (He et al. 2008). SMPs designed for biomedical credibility, analyzed by cell viability, undergo reduction of tetrazolium compound into an insoluble and colored formazan product. The cell viability tests include MTT and MTS types of analysis (Govindarajan and Shandas 2014). Contrary to cell viability test, cell membrane assessment is achieved by incorporation of lactate dehydrogenase (LDH) and trypan blue tests by means of well-choreographed etiquettes. The cell membrane integrity evaluation is attained via LDH examination which works on the principle of cytotoxicity of compounds and shattering of cell membranes. The trypan blue cell membrane integrity test uses blue dye to stain dead cells thereby evaluating cell viability by the application of hemocytometer (cell counting apparatus). In contrast, LDH test operates on the basis of rupturing of cell membranes while releasing LDH enzyme. The rupturing of cell membrane leads to the pyruvate reduction to lactate and reduced nicotinamide adenine dinucleotide (NADH) oxidation to NAD + state (Chadwick et al. 2012). As a consequence of redox reaction, the presence of LDH is detected by means of a spectrophotometer. Both the tests are obliged with extra precaution requirements while choosing components during sculpturing of the SMPs.

Biocompatibility analysis involves techniques to study material stability, cytotoxicity, pyrogenicity, cellular functional response, physiological functional response, and protein adsorption. These studies help in the evaluation of SMPs by inspecting the material at the cellular and subcellular levels to avail the genetic behavior (Turan et al. 2016). By means of genetic behavior, the existence of the plasma membranes disruption or mitochondrial damage or by nucleus impairment leading to the death of cell can be evaluated. In addition to that, the response of the body to the exposure of SMP causes triggering of the inflammatory response, which leads to the same evaluations of the death of cells and damage of tissue. According to international standards, the procedures for biocompatibility investigation is in vitro thereby availing the investigation of noxiousness of SMPs by means of direct contact with the cells accompanied by extracts of SMPs on cells called as cytotoxicity or cytocompatibility. To determine the general toxicity of SMPs inside or outside the human body, no single method can cover all the required aspects, especially in vitro testing. Therefore, in vitro toxicity testing, there are various established assays by virtue of which the measurements like cytotoxicity, hemocompatibility, genotoxicity, and histocompatibility are carried out.

3.2.1 Cytotoxicity

There are numerous ways of attaining cell cytotoxicity of inspected extracts or elements. Specifically, in cytotoxicity, there are measurements related to mitochondrial activity and cell membrane integrity evaluation using LDH. In addition to that, there is an establishment of cytokine production to indicate the cellular pro-inflammatory reaction carried out with immortalized cells like V79, L929, and 3T3 (Boncler et al. 2014). The test comprises of assessment of extracts attained by submerging the CHEM sample in Dulbecco's Modified Eagle's Medium in accordance with standard practice of American Society for Testing and Materials (ASTM) F619. The solution is kept in incubation for 2-7 days followed by the addition of water and the extract to L929 cell. The overall cell culture is prolonged up to 48 h, and finally, the cell feasibility is estimated by means of MTT 3-(4, 5-dimethylthiazol-2-yl)-2, 5-diphenyltetrazolium bromide colorimetric biochemical assay (Sigma Tox-1 kit, Saint Louis, US) measuring the living cell activity using mitochondrial activity (Tanzi et al. 2015). The results based on absorbance at 570 nm articulated as the relative ratio of the cultured control cells and cultured plastic tissue are listed in Table 1. From the table, it is clear that after 2 days, the results are showing the difference of p > 0.05 between the controlled and

Material		Two days	Seven days
CHEM 3520	Control	62.75 ± 3.44	86.93 ± 6.25
	PL	66.11 ± 3.39	93.52 ± 2.87
CHEM 5520	Control	55.67 ± 8.21	99.07 ± 4.80
	PL	56.77 ± 5.74	93.02 ± 6.04

Table 1 MTT absorbance values for L929 cells cultured in the presence of 2 and 7 days MEMextracts of untreated (control) and plasma-sterilized (PL) CHEM foams

Reproduced with permission from Tanzi et al. (2015). Copyright © 2015, Elsevier

plasma-sterilized CHEM specimens displaying almost similar absorbance values at both the time points of incubation. To achieve better results in vitro cytotoxicity test, the sample testing must be carried out in plasma-sterilized samples only. The cytotoxicity includes tests like mitochondrial activity, membrane damage, and cytokines production.

Mitochondrial Activity

The mitochondrial activity can be perceived by the application of MTT and resazurin (7-hydroxy-10-oxido phenoxazin-10-ium-3-one) (Al-Nasiry et al. 2007). The MTT evaluation is the most common screening method used for measurement of cell viability. The evaluation is done on the basis of the reduction of tetrazolium salt by mitochondrial succinic dehydrogenizes in feasible cells. This reduction results in the formation of purple-colored formazan crystals. These purple crystals are insoluble in aqueous solutions specific to the cell surroundings. The evaluation begins with the insertion of the cells in suspension in a 96-well microtiter plate and development of these cells in a humidified atmosphere containing 5% CO₂ in air at the temperature of 37 °C (Kuźma et al. 2012). This is followed by exposure of cells to SMP extract pursued by cautious removal of supernatant. This is followed by the addition of MTT solution to the plate placed at 37 °C. The feasible cells cause reduction of MTT to blue-colored formazan crystals. The reduction process takes almost 2 h after which the crystals of formazan are dispersed in dimethyl sulfoxide (DMSO) or isopropanol/HCl mixer. The absorbance of the feasible cells exposed to SMP material on the multi-functional plate reader at 570 nm is measured in contrast to the unexposed feasible cells.

MTT is extensively used due to its inexpensiveness; still, it suffers from a few demerits like the criteria of solubility of formazan crystals in DMSO or HCl/ isopropanol. As such, this evaluation leads to the killing of cells thereby allowing single measurements at a single point in time. The other demerit being the variability in the results caused by the alterations in metabolic cellular activity (Kavanagh et al. 2011). The alterations are as a consequence of reduction taking place in only metabolically active cells without altering the number of cells. Mitochondrial activity determination can be viable by means of Alamar Blue [®] test and Presto Blue [®] test.

Membrane Damage

The analysis pertaining to membrane damage is accessed using LDH test. LDH is an enzyme which is stable inside cytoplasm of all cells, and its quick release into the cell culture supernatant predicts the damage of plasma membrane of the cells (Park et al. 2016). The detection by means of LDH and method of quantification are optically chromophore-based methods. Hence, these are the broadly used quantitative tests to determine toxicity in SMPs owing to simplicity, reliability, quick, cost-effectiveness, and giving up reproducible outcomes. The membrane damage test follows a two-step procedure in which the centrifugation of supernatant occurs at 500 g for 10 min (Turan et al. 2016). In the first step, NAD⁺ is reduced to NADH and H⁺ followed by lactate oxidation to pyruvate accompanied by catalysis of LDH. In the second step, there is the utilization of NADH and H⁺ by an enzyme called as diaphorase which catalyzes the tetrazolium salt reduction to a colored formazan salt. The LDH activity measurements are taken using a standard LDH kit like Sigma TOX7-1KT.

The procedure requires the mixing of proper fractions of supernatant with warm reagent in a 96-well plate, and the microplate spectrophotometer system is used to record absorbance (Park et al. 2016). The LDH measurements yield the quantity of LDH released during cell analysis and cell membrane damage. The amount of LDH is directly related to the production of formazan at a specific time, or the quantity of color formation during the test is directly related to the quantity of leaked and analyzed cells, while the amount of LDH for every cell has been already established.

Cytokines Production

This test in cytotoxicity involves detection of cytokines and immunologically active molecules using an enzyme-based immunosorbent tests or enzyme-linked immunosorbent assays (ELISA) (Turan et al. 2016). Since the immune cells of the immune system are peripatetic, as such the immune system suffers from communication dilemma. The immune system cells detect any inflammatory stimuli thereby presenting an antigen to lymphocytes. As a consequence of lymphocytes along with other cell effects, the antigen is cleared and repaired the damaged tissue. These lymphocytes move inside the body via circulation through tissues and organs resulting in the formation of ordered structures in the lymphoid tissues. The ordered structure formation causes a quick response to an antigenic offense in the body. In order to address the issue, the immune system requires communication networks that can act in the vicinity or at a distance, exclusively or inclusively, and momentarily or in a persistent manner. The networks allowing such response in immune system possess an amazing kind of cell membrane-bound and soluble messenger. One of such best-categorized group of networking messengers is cytokines.

ELISA is a plate-based test to identify and measure cytokines like TNF-a, interleukins (IL-6, 8, 10, etc.) in the co-culture supernatants in the cytotoxicity of SMP (Turan et al. 2016). In ELISA, one of the essential criteria is immobilization of antigen to a solid surface followed by the complexion of antigen with an antibody related to an enzyme. The measurements are attained by calculation of conjugated enzyme activity by means of incubating the substrate to yield quantified product (Shah and Maghsoudlou 2016). The main ingredient in the detection procedure is a vastly definite antigen–antibody reaction. Usually, the cultured supernatant collection is done after cytokines to be analyzed are entirely generated. The antigen and antibody measurements are done using a spectrophotometer thereby enabling the measurements regarding absorbance of the solution in ELISA reader plate. ELISA is also executed in a 96-well microtiter with disadvantages like high cost, the bulkiness of ELISA readers, the requirement of costly reagents, and longer time period for incubation.

3.3 Hemocompatibility

The hemocompatibility of SMPs intends toward the development of standards for the interaction of blood and material during surgical sutures, stents, or dentistry (Motlagh et al. 2006). Since blood can respond to shape memory materials in different ways, therefore it is essential to assess blood compatibility of shape memory materials so that the unwanted triggering by shape memory materials can be avoided. Hemocompatibility can be assessed by means of coagulation of blood, the function of platelets, hematology, and activation of complement system. In blood coagulation test, hemocompatibility of SMPs is evaluated by means of clotting factor cascade activation (Turan et al. 2016). The evaluation is attained by the use of prothrombin activation time thereby evaluating the extrinsic and regular passageway of the activated coagulation cascade. However, the evaluations of intrinsic and regular coagulation passageways are attained by measurement of partially activated thromboplastin time. The time evaluation leads to the determination of thrombin activity or fibrin polymerization. The other way for hemocompatibility evaluation is by measurement of platelet response comprising of counting the number of platelets, their structural evaluation, and analysis of components released. However, the most commonly used assay is the platelet adhesion (Motlagh et al. 2006). The degree of platelet adhesion leads to the evaluation of the material's potential to be thrombogenic. In platelet adhesion, preparation of platelet-rich plasma occurs from fresh blood samples by centrifugation (1500 rpm) for 15 min. Almost 50 µl of this freshly prepared platelet-rich plasma is allowed to interact with SMP positioned in a 24-well plate through incubation at 37 °C. After incubation, the SMP along with platelet-rich plasma is washed using NaCl aqueous solution (0.9 wt%) 2-3 times followed by fixation of the samples by means of glutaraldehyde solution (2.5 wt%) overnight at 4 °C. This is followed by second washing using NaCl aqueous solution (0.9 wt%) with synchronized immersion in 30, 50, 75, 90, 95, and 100% (v/v) ethanol/water solutions for 10 min each (Turan et al. 2016). The sample morphologies are observed after drying and gold sputtering of the samples using scanning electron microscope. The platelet count on each sample is taken by platelets calculation in six different areas.

The other way of hemocompatibility assessment is done by enumeration of cellular and plasma components of the blood known as hematology by means of hemolysis. Hemolysis refers to the election of erythrocytes containing hemoglobin which are damaged either partially or completely. It is an easy and trustworthy test regarding measurements of blood biocompatibility of materials. The normal value for hemolysis is less than 5%. For hemolysis test, a new whole blood sample of human is taken from a fit donor (Zhou et al. 2011). The blood samples are then rinsed in for 30 min at 37 °C using 1.5 ml of aqueous NaCl solution (0.9 wt%). Simultaneously, the negative and positive controls are provided by unprocessed aqueous NaCl solution (0.9 wt%) and distilled water, respectively. Approximately, 0.8 ml of blood is diluted in 1 ml of aqueous NaCl solution (0.9 wt%) and 30 ml of this diluted solution is supplemented to the samples followed by incubation for 30 min. The solution is simultaneously centrifuged at 3600 rpm for 5 min, and finally, the supernatant absorbance is calculated at 545 nm. The hemocompatibility can also be determined by complement activation in which an element of an intrinsic system consists of enzyme, plasma proteins, and receptors, which are activated for cell analysis called as complement system. After the initiation of complement activation, the ejection of peptide anaphylatoxins (C3a, C4a, and C5a) occurs resulting in binding of these humoral messengers (peptide anaphylatoxins) to suitable receptors on macrophages, mast cells, neutrophils, monocytes, and smooth muscle cells yielding cell assessment (Bamberg et al. 2010).

3.4 Genotoxicity

Genotoxicity enables the study related to the basic perception of materials consequences that may result in damage of genetic code of the host and donor organism. The resemblance in genetic compositions of living organisms provides an authoritative means to envisage the similar effects between different species (de Lima and Fraceto 2014). The genotoxicity assessment can be attained by allium cepa chromosome aberration test, comet analysis, micronucleus test, and cytogenetic analysis. In *Allium cepa* chromosome aberration test, the ratio between the number of cells displaying changes at different cyclic phases and number of cells in the division yields the measurements pertaining to a damaged portion of the cells (Gonzalo et al. 2015). The relative indices are determined in terms of mitotic index, change index, or alteration index for each treatment and negative control values. The test based on the ratio of the number of cells involved in the division to a total number of cells is termed as a mitotic index. This test is useful in monomer evaluation of the polymer in addition to degraded products of the polymer and its composites.

On the other hand, comet assay is used in the determination of the capacity of the material causing DNA lesions. It actually gives the damage capacity of the material at a pretest stage, when no repair processes are possible. This test does not involve cell division and hence is fast, easy, and cost-effective. This test is possible in vitro as well as in vivo methods requiring two controls (positive and negative). The cells undergoing this test are crippled in agarose gel thereby exposing its genetic material after undergoing lyse process (Tice et al. 2000). The analysis of materials requires electrophoresis, and the material involved could have resemblance with the tail of a comet. The results of this test are either positive meaning small fragments of DNA are migrating faster than the larger ones or negative meaning vice versa.

The micronucleus test is an in vivo method for screening of chemicals causing chromosomal breakdown effects (Benites et al. 2006). This testing substance is generally done in small mammals, and its effects are taken from the exfoliation of bone marrows. Like comet test, micronucleus test is also fast and easy but lacks accuracy. Contrary to micronucleus test, cytogenic analyses are exposure-based analyses in which samples are exposed to a particular chemical at different concentrations for different time periods. Any toxicity present is measured in accordance with a reference mutagen leading to incline or decline in micronucleus frequencies.

3.5 Histocompatibility

It is difficult for an in vitro system to exactly replicate the biodynamics of the human body. This difficulty arises due to lack of regulatory factors like hormones, enzymes, nervous system, and immune system. In addition to that, the in vitro system lacks biotransformation and passage for excreta elimination. Hence, it becomes essential to test any material designed for biomedical applications in vivo system using animal models before testing on a human, since no animal genus presents a generic or ideal model of genetics relevant to an anatomy of human beings. Therefore, for any biochemical, physiological, anatomical, psychological, and pathological consideration, a proper animal model should be selected (Motlagh et al. 2006). The guidelines and standards for biocompatibility testing on animal are illustrated by the regulating organizations like Food and Drug Administration (FDA), US and European pharmacopeia, ASTM, the International Organization for Standardization (ISO), and National Institute of General Medical Sciences (Turan et al. 2016).

Histological evaluation of tissues reveals the groups of cells comprising of fibroblasts, macrophages, osteoclasts, besides various bioactive products like enzymes, cytokines, and growth factors in loose and well-fixed implants. In histological evaluations, the inflammatory response of SMPs after implantation in animal models is studied (Benites et al. 2006). The interaction between SMP and the tissue in histocompatibility is investigated by means of histological and histomorphometric evaluations. The evaluation of histological studies is taken from subcutaneous implants and organs of the model animal during predetermined time periods. The retrieved organs or implants undergo fixation in periodate-lysineparaformaldehyde solution at 4 °C for 1 and 2 days, respectively (Lendlein et al. 2010). After fixation, the investigations regarding tumor formation in the organ are carried out. The sections of paraffin (5 mm) are stained with Ki67 (dye), hematoxylin, and eosin from the subcutaneous explants. The staining acts as a marking procedure for cell proliferation. This is followed by retrieval sections of paraffin stained using hematoxylin and eosin on histological slides. The slides are examined by a pathologist measuring the lymphocytes count, macrophages, mast cells, eosinophils, and neutrophils of each sample at each time interval. The slide examination is possible by both dark and light microscopy. Whereas in histomorphometric evaluation, the specimens containing tissue covering undergo fixation in 10% formalin followed by dehydration in a graded series of ethanol and finally are implanted in paraffin. The implanted specimen is sliced in the transversal direction into 6 mm segments. These segments are again sliced at three random points normal to the long axis of tissue capsule. After second slicing, staining of sections of paraffin with hematoxylin and eosin is carried out. The stained specimens are photographed covering all sections using a Zeiss Imager Z1 jointly with the AxioCam MRc5 camera, via AxioVision 4.6.3 software (Carl Zeiss MicroImaging GmbH, Germany) (Turan et al. 2016). From the photographs, histological evaluation is attained. The images provide an insight into the impacts produced on the tissue.

3.6 Biodegradability

The biodegradability in SMPs used in biomedical applications is primarily concerned with the degradation processes by means of oxidation or hydrolytic reactions. Biodegradability is one of the important aspects regarding shape memory designing yielding durability measurements of the materials. The SMPs used in biomedical applications as permanent implants must be non-biodegradable. Their non-biodegradability property will provide resistance to any degradation by the body and will certify their extensive durability and performance (Lendlein et al. 2010). Contrary to that, the SMPs used for temporary functioning should inherit biodegradability. The biodegradability provides a brief functioning time of the material and after their functional period the SMP material is removed using the surgical procedure. The SMP undergoes biodegradation prior to its use, in order to avail rate of biodegradation measurements. The paradigm of biodegradability is mostly practicable in the field of tissue engineering, where the manageable rates of degradation during scaffold construction permit the coordination between natural tissue growth and scaffold degradation. In SMPs, by regulating the rate of biodegradation, control over overall material is obtained especially in drug delivery systems.

The amalgamation of shape memory property and biodegradability results in the formation of multi-functional materials useful in minimally invasive surgeries. The presence of polymer permits insertion of bigger implants of compressed shapes into the human body via small cut (Turan et al. 2016). The implant after receiving stimulation inside the body changes its shape in accordance with its application. Biodegradability in SMPs can be accessed in presence of weak, hydrolyzable bonds cleaving under physiological conditions. SMPs can be classified as bulk-eroding and surface-eroding SMPs on the basis of biodegradability (Lendlein et al. 2010). The bulk-eroding SMPs display nonlinear characteristics, while surface-eroding SMPs display linear degradation. In bulk-eroding SMPs, degradation is characterized by hydrolysis of chemical bonds at the material center and the diffusion of water in the polymer material happens more rapidly than degradation resulting in nonlinearity of degradation profile. On the other hand in surface-eroding SMPs, there is a loss of material at the surfaces only due to mass relief at the materialwater interface. The mass relief is larger than the diffusion of water resulting in linear and well-expected mass loss profiles. As such, the bulk-eroding materials like PLA permit the hydrolytic diffusion and permeability desired for tissue engineering applications. Contrary to that, surface erosion materials like polyanhydrides and polyorthoesters are desired for delivering constant drug release kinetics while sustaining its structural and mechanical properties amid degradation. The type of degradation can be determined on the basis of reactivity of polymer when diffused in water (Al-Nasiry et al. 2007). The degradation does not depend on water diffusion only but also depends on labile bond degradation rate, material diffusion, monomer solubility, homogeneity, processing technique, device geometry, and size. The degradation of SMPs can be adjusted by varying the chemical composition of the polymer or by blending and surface modifications.

3.7 Sterilizability

It is mandatory for all medical equipment to be sterilized prior to their use. In medical applications, the commonly used sterilizing reagents include ethylene oxide and low-temperature plasma. In case of SMPs, sterilization must be obligatory without any quality compromise. Pertaining to the shape memory effect activation, the other parameters like thermal and chemical stability cannot be neglected. The methods and guidelines for SMP sterilization are established by FDA. According to the standards, the SMPs should be exposed to ethylene oxide, irradiations, and steam (Lyu and Untereker 2009).

The sterilization methods inherit some advantages and disadvantages to their credit. The sterilization by conventional steam method uses high-temperature range and hence cannot be used for thermal SMPs. The high temperature presents a potential threat to the morphological structure of the SMP (Ulery et al. 2011). To

address this issue, cold sterilization method was developed. But the temperatures in that too were relatively higher in the range of 30-60 °C along with other issues. On the other hand, low-temperature methods of sterilization are inappropriate for biodegradable polymers due to their high deteriorating character induced by irradiation via chain scission. In addition to that, the cold sterilization technique using low plasma produces its consequences on the surface of the polymer by means of plasma etching and cytotoxic effects. The best sterilization considered is ethylene oxide sterilization. But water-activated SMPs cannot be sterilized by that method because of humidity factor.

The impact of plasma sterilization at low temperature and ethylene oxide on SMP network composed of poly (ϵ -caprolactone) dimethacrylate and *n*-butyl acrylate revealed noteworthy statistical variation pertaining to cell analysis especially in vitro cell screening tests (Tice et al. 2000). However, in chorioallantoic membrane tests (CAM), sterilization produced no impact on the angiogenesis (the growth of blood vessels). In CAM test (in vivo), a fertilized chicken egg is partially peeled pursued by placement of polymer on the outer skin of the egg in the shell free area, followed by incubation. The in vitro and in vivo results are calculated by the amount of ethylene oxide or silicon particles remain in the polymer material and surface modification due to low-temperature plasma sterilization. From the test, it can be established that the presence of polymer produces no effect on the neighboring tissue; however, the sterilization method has its prime significance.

4 Shape Memory Polymers in the Biomedical Field

The SMPs inherit an extraordinary ability of response to external stimuli. The stimulus-response can be in the form of heat in thermo-responsive materials, stress or pressure in mechano-responsive materials, current or voltage in electroresponsive materials, magnetic response in magneto-responsive materials, response to pH of solvent or water or moisture in chemo-responsive materials, stimulus-response in the form of light in photo-responsive materials and in the form of sound in ultrasound-responsive materials (Lendlein et al. 2001). The thermo-responsive SMPs include homopolymers and copolymers. The response to a thermal stimulus is a consequence of the intrinsic thermal transitions producing shape memory effect. The intrinsic transitions are glass transition temperature (T_g) and melting transition $(T_{\rm m})$ (Zhang et al. 2014). The melting transition takes place over a smaller range of temperature, while glass transition takes place over a higher temperature range. The melting transitions are considered more for shape transitions involving the application of strain beyond the thermal transition. After strain introduction, cooling beneath the thermal transition takes place to secure the SMPs' deformed shape. The maintenance of temporary deformed shape is because of the development of the crystalline domains (in a $T_{\rm m}$ transition) or abrupt decent in free volume (in a T_{g} transition) thereby restricting motion of molecular chains. Subsequently, the temporarily deformed SMPs exposed to thermal stimulus above

transition temperature lead to an increase in mobility of polymer chain and elicit elasticity-driven shape regain process based on entropy.

The shape memory homopolymers include amorphous thermoplastic poly (para-phenylene) (PPP), thermoplastic polyurethane based on polycaprolactone and polydimethylsiloxane, thermoplastic polyurethane/poly(ethylene-alt-maleic anhydride) blends, and graphene nanoplatelet composite (Collins et al. 2016). The studies on PPP reveal the effect of temperature and time on its shape recovery characteristics. Consequently, the shape memory copolymers include polyurethane and poly (urea-urethane) copolymers. PE melt modified by ethyl acrylate/acrylic acid copolymers, poly(norbornyl-POSS) copolymers, ethylene-vinyl acetate copolymers etc., (Kausar 2016). Copolymer-based shape memory systems form an interesting class of SMPs due to their applicability in the biomedical field. These materials are versatile and have the ability to blend and counterpart the required properties of distinct parts of the molecules by copolymerization. In addition to that, the copolymer systems in linear form utilize phase segregation between hard and switching segments which provides control over the shape memory effect of the material. For instance, in polyurethane and poly (urea-urethane) copolymer system, urethane and urea functional groups possess strong intermolecular interactions and hence act as hard segment. On the other hand, polymer moieties act as switching segment.

In chemo-responsive SMPs, the shape memory effect is achieved by softening, swelling, or dissolving the polymer in desired solvents. The softening-induced shape memory effect occurs in those polymers responding to some solvents like water, *N*,*N*-dimethylformamide (DMF), toluene, methanol etc., (Kausar 2016). The shape recovery is attained by diffusion of solvent molecules into the polymer network like polyurethane. The absorbed solvent acts as a plasticizer and depresses the interaction forces among macromolecules thereby increasing the flexibility of macromolecule. This causes depression of cohesive energy and lowering of transition temperature. In swelling-induced shape memory effect, the polymers like polystyrene used for traditional packaging display shape recovery after immersion in DMF through chemical conjunct interaction. The conjunct interactions leading to swelling of the polymer network are interpreted as shape recovery. Due to the induced shape memory effect, the polymers like polyurethane block copolymer prepared from polyhedral oligomeric silsesquioxanes achieve over 70% shape recovery upon complete dilution in water.

The SMPs reported for biomedical applications include triple-shape memory polyurethane (TSMPU) consisting of poly(ε -caprolactone) (PCLU), methylene diphenyl diisocyanate (MDI), and *N*, *N*-bis-(2-hydroxyethyl) cinnamamide (BHECA). This resultant SMP was found to be biocompatible when examined by Alamar blast test on osteoblast cells (Lv et al. 2008). The schematic four step synthesis route of this biocompatible SMP is shown in Fig. 2. The first step comprises of synthesis of poly(ε -caprolactone)-diols (PCL-diols) (HO-PCL-OH) by typical ring-opening polymerization as shown in Fig. 2a (Xu and Song 2010). The precursors for the synthesis of PCL-diols (HO-PCL-OH) are ε -CL (10 g, 87.7 mmol), EG (0.155 g, 2.51 mmol), and SnCl₂ (0.05 g) in a 50-mL bottom flask



Fig. 2 Schematic representation of the synthesis route of a PCL-Diols, b BHECA, c photosensitive PCLU with Pendant Cinnamon Groups, and d TSMPU prepared by UV light cross-link with a 365-nm wavelength (Wang et al. 2013). Copyright 2013. Reproduced with permission from American Chemical Society

with a stopcock. The device in which reaction is carried out was kept under vacuum for the duration of 3 h followed by polymerization at 140 °C for 6 h. After polymerization, the polymer is purified by successively dissolving the polymer in dichloromethane followed by precipitation using ethanol and drying of final precipitate using the vacuum at room temperature.

The second step comprises of synthesizing BHECA by means of ammonolysis reaction using methyl cinnamate recrystallized in ethanol and diethanolamine (DEA) via the ammonolysis reaction as shown in Fig. 2b (Wang et al. 2013). The precursors for the synthesis of BHECA are methyl cinnamate (4.86 g, 0.03 mol), sodium methylate (0.029 g), and DEA (6.31 g, 0.06 mol). These precursors were poured into a 100-mL flask and heated to 120 °C under constant stirring and reduced pressure forming yellow-green viscous solution after 2 h. Form this viscous solution, BHECA is separated by means of precipitation with 150 mL of a liquid mixture of ice water and HCL. The yield after precipitation is a white solid which undergoes purification through column chromatography using 1:1 dichloromethane/petroleum ether. Finally, the purified white solid is obtained which is dried under vacuum for 24 h. From this dried solid, about 85.3% of BHECA is obtained (Lv et al. 2008).

The third step comprises of preparation of PCLU by means of solution copolymerization at the temperature of 85 °C in DMF (Lv et al. 2008). The photo-induced PCLU was synthesized by two ways as shown in Fig. 2c. The PCL-diols (2 g) was added to 100-mL three-necked round flak under constant magnetic stirring at 80 °C for 3 h under vacuum to avoid moisture intervention. This was followed by the addition of MDI (0.0676 g) into the same flask connected to back glow device and gas (Ar) protection device. The reaction was carried out for 2 h at 80 °C under constant stirring in Ar atmosphere. Finally, the BHECA dispersed in DMF was added in a dropwise manner to Sn(Oct)₂ as a catalyst. A light yellow-colored viscous liquid was acquired, which was precipitated in hexane to yield white solid. The precipitated white solid was then dried using the vacuum at room temperature for 48 h. Finally, the fourth step as shown in Fig. 2d comprises of preparing TSMPU from PCLU dissolved in 20-mL DMF irradiated at 365 nm wavelength using 100 W UV light for 10 min. The photo-cross-linked PCLU solution was dispensed in PTFE plate (2×2 cm) at 65 °C for 24 h followed by drying under vacuum for 48 h. Finally, 1.1 mm thick TSMPU films were obtained with TSMPU as a soft segment and diphenylmethane diisocyanate (MDI), N, N-bis (2-hydroxyethyl) cinnamamide (BHECA) as the hard segments, respectively (Lv et al. 2008).

The other SMPs used in the biomedical field include star-shaped polyurethane synthesized with multiple-arm PCL coupled with MDI and chain extended using 1, 4-butylene glycol (BDO). The six-arm PCL copolymer is additionally cross-linked by means after application of electrospinning. If the structure is fibrous instead of bulky structure, faster shape recovery response was reported (Tanzi et al. 2015). The other reported shape polymers include biodegradable shape memory copolymer composed of D, L-lactide copolymerized with trimethylene carbonate, PCL-diacrylate SMP foams coated with polydopamine (PD), polyurethane cellular

solids for less invasive surgeries, thiol-ene/acrylate systems, polylactic acid (PLA)based shape memory materials and polyurethane-based shape memory polymers. The SMPs are mostly endorsed for less invasive surgeries, where a device is compressed to a compact shape in order to pass through a smaller incision and later the transformation of the device to its full shape inside the body.

5 Electro-active Shape Memory Polymer Composites

The SMPs which can be triggered by application of stimulus such as electricity form electro-active SMPs. The SMPs are filled with suitable fillers to achieve better triggering and shape recovery through electricity. The fillers incorporated with SMP include metallic fillers, conductive fibers, CNTs, and carbon particles (Tanzi et al. 2015). The incorporation of fillers leads to the change in the values of electrical conductivity to a greater extent. The impact of fillers over SMPs is mentioned in the next section.

5.1 Shape Memory Polymers Containing Metallic (Ni) Fillers

The incorporation of magnetic particles with polymers resulted in the formation of chains on the application of a magnetic field in the cured process. The incorporation reduces the electrical resistance to a significant extent. When Ni is added as filler to polymer network, the single chain formation is observed at the 1 volume fraction percentage of Ni. If Ni concentration is increased, multi-chains are formed with no clear recognition of Ni. After five stretching shape recovery cycles, the overall material still contains Ni chains. The presence of Ni chains in polymer matrix indicates their possibility for cyclic actuation and reduction of overall electrical resistivity (Yu et al. 2011). The resistivity reduction is accompanied by the presence of conductive chains acting as conductive channels to connect isolated aggregations of other fillers (like carbon black). The increase in electrical conductivity enhances their applicability in shape memory composites for biomedical applications.

5.2 Shape Memory Polymer Containing Electromagnetic Filler

The incorporation of surface-modified super-paramagnetic nanoparticles with SMP matrix results in the formation of composites with compound shape transitions. The transitions are achievable on the application of electromagnetic field (Tanzi et al.
2015). The thermosetting composite composed of oligo(e-caprolactone) dimethacrylate/butyl acrylate with 2–12 wt% of magnetic nanofillers acts as nanoantennas during magnetic field heating. The shape transition is attained without any temperature elevation in such materials. The electromagnetically induced shape memory effect is detected in the specimen {oligo(e-caprolactone) dimethacrylate/butyl acrylate with 2–12 wt% of magnetic nanofillers} by heating the sample at 70 °C followed by cooling. The heating causes shape deformation into a helical structure which is cooled by the formation of oligo(e-caprolactone) crystallites leading to the recovery of temporary deformed helical shape. The helical shape is retained in the absence of external forces after the programming process. The concluding shape of the SMP with magnetic nanofillers resembles a rod structure with some flexions as a result of friction.

5.3 Shape Memory Polymer Containing CNTs as Filler

The conducting SMPs containing CNTs as fillers recover their shape on the application of electrical current as per reports (Yu et al. 2011). The conducting SMP-carbon nanotube assembly is formed from chemically surface-modified multi-walled carbon nanotubes (MWCNTs). The modified MWCNTs are dissolved in a solvent containing nitric acid to improve interfacial bonding between the polymer and the filler. The increase in MWCNT composition leads to increase in electrical conductivity. The electrical conductivity of modified MWCNT is greater than that of unmodified one at same concentrations. The modification using an acid causes an increase in the defects in the lattice structure of carbon-carbon bonds created at the nanotube surface. The mechanical and electrical properties are both dependent on the surface modification of the nanotubes to yield the desired shape memory effect. In the electro-active SMPs, the shape memory effect is proportional to the concentration of fillers and also to the degree of surface modification. SMP-MWCNT composites consisting of surface-modified MWCNT display enhanced mechanical properties, energy conversion efficiency, and stress at 100% elongation based on MWCNT concentration. Besides these, the hybrid fillers like micro-carbon powder and short carbon fiber are also incorporated with SMPs to enhance their electrical conductivity.

6 Biomedical Applications of SMPs

The SMPs are used as active medical devices like the removal of blood clots by the laser-activated device, biodegradable intragastric implants for obesity problems, surveillance of shape of a human ear canal, stents for stroke prevention. (Westbrook

et al. 2011). For blood clot removal, the device is introduced into the blood vessel through minimum invasive surgery as shown in Fig. 3. The blood clot removal follows a three-step protocol. In the first step as shown in Fig. 3a, the corkscrew SMP device in its secondary straight shape is inserted at the position of the clot by means of a catheter to pierce the clot. In the second step as shown in Fig. 3b, the inserted device is heated using a diode laser converting it into its primary corkscrew shape, and in the last step as shown in Fig. 3c, the clot is captured by the device and removed from its position. The laser activation of the device leads to deformation of SMP coils into a permanent shape. The deformed shape causes the mechanical removal of the blood clot (thrombus).

On the other hand, obesity problem can be circumvented by restriction of appetite by means of biodegradable intragastric implants. The SMP prior to implant is in the form of a capsule and inflates after being implanted inside the stomach as shown in Fig. 4. The implantation takes place through an endoscopic tool having



Fig. 3 Three-step protocol for blood clot removal: **a** insertion of SMP device in its secondary shape, **b** heating of the device and conversion to its primary shape, and **c** capturing and removing of the clot (https://www.flickr.com/photos/llnl/ 2845). Reprinted under creative common license



Fig. 4 Schematic sketch of SMP gastric implantation

the ability to stimulate SMP inflation and deflation. Once implanted, the person feels less hungry due to the space occupancy of the inflated SMP. The implant inflates after an estimated time duration thereby providing a feeling of satiety to the obese patients on the intake of little quantity of food. After its functioning duration, the same endoscopic tool is used to deflate SMP and is removed from the site inside the stomach.

In shape surveillance of human ear, SMP in the form of foam is used as measuring device to fit the hearing aid device properly (Westbrook et al. 2011). The foam contains commercially available polyurethane foam with a T_g switching transition and with recovery after 83% compression. Contrary to that, in the prevention of strokes composite coils consist of tantal and a polyether urethane ($T_g = 33$ °C). In the combination, tantal is used for diagnostic detection thereby acting as radio-opaque filler without altering any shape recovery effect of polyether urethane. The recoiling of the composite coils acts as a cushion to absorb the effects of the shock.

The SMP as ingenious dialysis needle adapter has been reported. In dialysis adapter, a compact SMP tube is inserted through the dialysis needle, which inflates thermally on contact with blood to produce an equilibrium shape that splits the cross section (Kumar et al. 2010). The SMP can sheathe through the needle during dialysis. The setup was established to trim down intimal hypertension and stenotic lesions through reduction of vascular wall stress (Safranski et al. 2013). The vascular wall stress reduction, in turn, is due to descent in flow separation and oscillations.

Magnetically triggered SMPs used in tumor therapy circumventing the use of direct heating have been reported (Zhang et al. 2014). The SMP filled with

magnetite is installed into the tumor location via minimally invasive surgery. This treatment involves heating at a localized position without causing any heat alterations to the surrounding healthy tissues. During astrocytosis (brain implantation), commercial epoxy is used as a self-deploying neuronal electrode to minimize the surrounding tissue damage. The neuronal electrode provides immediate deficiency exploration post-implantation and boosts the electrode compliance. It was observed that slow implantation rates reduce the post-implantation tissue damage.

The treatment of endovascular embolization of fusiform aneurysms and stents is another medical application of SMP. The prototype uses a combination of SMP stent and SMP foam to uphold opening of the lumen in the artery and activation of embolization of an aneurysm, respectively (Ortega et al. 2007). The stimulus used for triggering is provided in the form of photo-thermal actuation using a laser. The shape recovery is due to a photo-thermal effect, where heat production occurs due to absorption of light. The SMP used in stent utilizes glass transition-based thermoplastic shape memory polyurethane and Diaplex MM5520 doped with a platinum-based dye. The stent-based treatment involves expansion of SMP in which the equilibrium state is chosen and compact SMP is fixed on optical fiber forming light diffusion and SMP system. From the effectiveness of expansion, the credibility of SMP for the treatment can be determined.

Apart from the above-mentioned applications, the biodegradable SMPs are also interesting candidates for biomedical applications like drug delivery carrier, fasteners, self-tightening sutures, and orthodontic appliances (Wang et al. 2017). However, the biodegradable SMP requires switching temperature in close proximity to body temperature. In drug delivery, a biodegradable material consisting of citric acid-based elastomers at clinically relevant temperatures for drug-eluting devices with slow release has been reported. The SMP composed of cross-linked poly(ethylene glycol) (PEG)-PCL copolymer networks with $T_{\rm m}$ in the range of body temperature having both biocompatibility and biodegradability has been reported for drug delivery (Serrano et al. 2011). In addition to that, biodegradable PCL/Tsp POSS loaded with theophylline, shape memory nanocomposite films have also been reported. In drug delivery, an additional material is added to the SMP network to increase the drug release at the desired position. Similar sort of results follows when SMPs are used in fasteners or in sutures and dentistry. In these fields, the SMPs are used either as implants or for recovery of the functionality of a tissue or an organ. The different polymers used in biomedical applications are listed in Table 2.

There has been keen interest in the development of science and technology of polymers for biomedical usage. These polymers must adhere to the very rigid standard and must be non-toxic, non-carcinogenic, biocompatible, and in no way injurious to the biological environment.

The overall applications of SMPs in the medical field can be listed as:

Baluman tuna	Applications
Polymer type	Applications
Poly(methyl methacrylate)	Bone cement, middle ear orthopedic surgery, dentures, prosthesis, and intraocular lenses
Poly(2-hydroxyethyl	Cartilages, burn treatments, as matrix in drug delivery
methacrylate)	system, and contact lenses
Poly(2-(dimethylamino) ethyl methacrylate)	In devices meant for drug delivery and radical scavenging agent
Poly(methyl methacrylate)-co- (methacrylic acid)	As gel for encapsulation of biological materials, tablet coatings, biofilm on medical implants
Polyester	Tissue fixation device, repair of hernia, heart patches, vascular graft prostheses, sutures
Polytetrafluoroethylene	Heart patches, vascular graft prostheses, detachment of retina
Polyurethane	Pumping artificial material for heart, prostheses of heart valve, balloon, vascular graft prostheses, blood compatibility coating
Polymethyl methacrylates	Denture material, bone prostheses, bone cement, artificial teeth, bone replacement (cranial), intraocular lenses, dialysis membrane
Polyvinyl chloride	Extracorporeal devices, hemodialysis or hemoperfusion, blood tubing, cardiac catheters, blood bag and IV infusion set, endotracheal tubes, surgical tapes, sheet, oxygenator, artificial heart, blood pump, artificial limb
Ultrahigh MW PE	Acetabulum in total hip prostheses, artificial knee prostheses
Polypropylene	Oxygenator membrane, prostheses of finger joint, absorbable sutures
Silicone rubber	Hydrocephalus shunts, catheters, membrane for oxygenator, artificial skin for burn dressing, plastic surgery implant, artificial heart, heart-assisted pump, drug release system, atrioventricular shunts, ear prostheses, facial prostheses, artificial heart valve, tendon, finger joint repair, tracheal prostheses, bladder prostheses, bladder patch, prostheses, retinal detachment, heart pacemaker leads
Polycarbonates	Membrane for oxygenator, hemodialyzer, plasmapheresis membrane

 Table 2
 Polymers used in different biomedical applications

- Intracorporeal (implanted) materials
- Temporal devices
- Surgical dressing
- Sutures
- Adhesives
- Polymeric intermedullary nails
- Polymer fiber composite bone plates
- Semipermanent devices
- Tendons
- Reinforcing meshes

- · Heart valves
- Joint reconstruction and bone cement
- Tubular devices
- Soft tissue replacement
- Interocular and contact lenses
- Drug delivery implants
- Complex devices
- Artificial kidney/blood dialysis
- Artificial lungs/blood oxygenator
- Artificial pancreas/insulin delivery system
- Artificial heart
- · Paracorporeal or extracorporeal materials
- Catheters
- Blood bags
- Pharmaceutical containers
- Tubing
- Syringes
- Surgical instruments, etc.

In particular, to understand the applicability of SMPs in the biomedical field, the example of PE seems to be appropriate. High-density PE is used in pharmaceutical bottles, nonwoven fabrics, and caps. Low-density PE is found in flexible container applications, nonwoven disposable and laminated (or coextruded with paper) foil, and polymers for packaging. In the medical field, PE is used in the knee joint and total hip replacements (orthopaedics) as shown in Fig. 5a, b. PE is sandwiched between the femur with metallic coating and tibia for knee joint surgery. Similarly, in hip replacement, PE is made in the shape of a cap and is placed between the femoral head and acetabular shell.

7 Conclusions

The SMPs are the quite interesting class of smart materials with a bright future, especially in the biomedical field. Their biocompatibility and biodegradability add icing to the cake and can serve as the replacement of conventional SMPs. In this chapter, we have briefly summarized shape memory alloys, SMPs, the designing aspects comprising of mechanical properties, biocompatibility, and sterilizability. The SMPs designated for biomedical applications were also discussed briefly. It is clear that the demand for SMP will only rise in the coming times due to their versatility. Their applicability will increase in different aspects of biomedical engineering. There is also great scope regarding SMP engineering to suit a particular application.



Fig. 5 Polyethylene used in a knee joint and b hip replacement

References

Al-Nasiry S, Geusens N, Hanssens M, Luyten C, Pijnenborg R (2007) The use of Alamar Blue assay for quantitative analysis of viability, migration and invasion of choriocarcinoma cells. Hum Reprod 22:1304–1309

- Bamberg CE, Mackay CR, Lee H, Zahra D, Jackson J, Lim YS, Whitfeld PL, Craig S, Corsini E, Lu B, Gerard C (2010) The C5a receptor (C5aR) C5L2 is a modulator of C5aR-mediated signal transduction. J Biol Chem 285:7633–7644
- Benites CI, Amado LL, Vianna RAP, da Graça Martino-Roth M (2006) Micronucleus test on gas station attendants. Genet Mol Res 5:45–54
- Boncler M, Różalski M, Krajewska U, Podsędek A, Watala C (2014) Comparison of PrestoBlue and MTT assays of cellular viability in the assessment of anti-proliferative effects of plant extracts on human endothelial cells. J Pharmacol Toxicol Methods 6:9–16
- Chadwick D, Everard C, McDonnell K (2012) optimising point source CO₂ mitigation by microalgae using near-infrared spectroscopy. Biosyst Eng Res Rev 17:139
- Collins DA, Yakacki CM, Lightbody D, Patel RR, Frick CP (2016) Shape-memory behavior of high-strength amorphous thermoplastic poly (para-phenylene). J Appl Polym Sci 133:3
- de Lima R, Fraceto LF (2014) Genetic studies on the effects of nanomaterials. Nanotoxicology. Springer, New York, pp 177–199
- Duerig TW, Melton KN, Stöckel D (2013) Engineering aspects of shape memory alloys. Butterworth-Heinemann
- Focarete ML, Gualandi C (2016) Cell delivery for regenerative medicine by using bioresorbable. Bioresorbable Polym Biomed Appl: From Fundam Transl Med 365
- Gonzalo S, Rodea-Palomares I, Leganés F, García-Calvo E, Rosal R, Fernández-Piñas F (2015) First evidences of PAMAM dendrimer internalization in microorganisms of environmental relevance: a linkage with toxicity and oxidative stress. Nanotoxicology 9:706–718
- Govindarajan T, Shandas R (2014) A survey of surface modification techniques for next-generation shape memory polymer stent devices. Polymers 6:2309–2331
- Gunes IS, Jana SC (2008) Shape memory polymers and their nanocomposites: a review of science and technology of new multifunctional materials. J Nanosci Nanotechnol 8:1616–1637
- He C, Kim SW, Lee DS (2008) In situ gelling stimuli-sensitive block copolymer hydrogels for drug delivery. J Controlled Release 127:189–207
- Hearon K, Gall K, Ware T, Maitland DJ, Bearinger JP Wilson TS (2011) Post-polymerization crosslinked polyurethane shape memory polymers. J Appl Polym Sci 121:144–153
- Hearon K, Smith SE, Maher CA, Wilson TS, Maitland DJ (2013) The effect of free radical inhibitor on the sensitized radiation crosslinking and thermal processing stabilization of polyurethane shape memory polymers. Radiat Phys Chem 83:111–121 https://www.flight.com/bates/flpl/28456215611/in/abatestracm/
- https://www.flickr.com/photos/llnl/2845621541/in/photostream/
- Hu J, Yang Z, Yeung L, Ji F, Liu Y (2005) Crosslinked polyurethanes with shape memory properties. Polym Int 54:854–859
- Kausar A (2016) Physical properties and shape memory behavior of thermoplastic polyurethane/ poly (ethylene-alt-maleic anhydride) blends and graphene nanoplatelet composite. Iran Polym J 25:945–955
- Kavanagh K, Flynn DM, Nelson C, Zhang L, Wagner JD (2011) Characterization and validation of a streptozotocin-induced diabetes model in the vervet monkey. J Pharmacol Toxicol Methods 63:296–303
- Khan MI, Pequegnat A, Zhou YN (2013) Multiple memory shape memory alloys. Adv Eng Mater 15:386–393
- Kumar UN, Kratz K, Wagermaier W, Behl M, Lendlein A (2010) Non-contact actuation of triple-shape effect in multiphase polymer network nanocomposites in alternating magnetic field. J Mater Chem 20:3404–3415
- Kuźma Ł, Wysokińska H, Różalski M, Krajewska U, Kisiel W (2012) An unusual taxodione derivative from hairy roots of Salvia austriaca. Fitoterapia 83:770–773
- Lendlein A, Schmidt AM, Langer R (2001) AB-polymer networks based on oligo (ε-caprolactone) segments showing shape-memory properties. Proc Natl Acad Sci 98:842–847
- Lendlein A, Behl M, Hiebl B, Wischke C (2010) Shape-memory polymers as a technology platform for biomedical applications. Expert Rev Med Devices 7:357–379
- Li J, Lewis CL, Chen DL, Anthamatten M (2011) Dynamic mechanical behavior of photo-cross-linked shape-memory elastomers. Macromolecules 44:5336–5343

- Liu Y, Du H, Liu L, Leng J (2014) Shape memory polymers and their composites in aerospace applications: a review. Smart Mater Struct 23:023001
- Lu W, Le X, Zhang J, Huang Y, Chen T (2017) Supramolecular shape memory hydrogels: a new bridge between stimuli-responsive polymers and supramolecular chemistry. Chem Soc Rev 46 (5):1284–1294
- Lv H, Leng J, Liu Y, Du S (2008) Shape-memory polymer in response to solution. Adv Eng Mater 10:592–595
- Lyu S, Untereker D (2009) Degradability of polymers for implantable biomedical devices. Int J Mol Sci 10:4033–4065
- Meng Q, Hu J (2009) A review of shape memory polymer composites and blends. Compos A Appl Sci Manuf 40:1661–1672
- Meng H, Li G (2013) Reversible switching transitions of stimuli-responsive shape changing polymers. J Mater Chem A 1:7838–7865
- Motlagh D, Yang J, Lui KY, Webb AR, Ameer GA (2006) Hemocompatibility evaluation of poly (glycerol-sebacate) in vitro for vascular tissue engineering. Biomaterials 27:4315–4324
- Ortega JM, Small W, Wilson TS, Benett WJ, Loge JM, Maitland DJ (2007) A shape memory polymer dialysis needle adapter for the reduction of hemodynamic stress within arteriovenous grafts. IEEE Trans Biomed Eng 54:1722–1724
- Pan M, Yuan QJ, Gong XL, Zhang S, Li BJ (2016) A Tri-stimuli-responsive shape-memory material using host-guest interactions as molecular switches. Macromol Rapid Commun 37:433–438
- Park H, Harrison P, Guo Z, Lee MG, Yu WR (2016) Three-dimensional constitutive model for shape memory polymers using multiplicative decomposition of the deformation gradient and shape memory strains. Mech Mater 93:43–62
- Perkins J (2012) Shape memory effects in alloys. Springer Science & Business Media
- Ryou M, Cantillon-Murphy P, Azagury D, Shaikh SN, Ha G, Greenwalt I, Ryan MB, Lang JH, Thompson, CC (2011) Smart self-assembling magnets for endoscopy (SAMSEN) for transoral endoscopic creation of immediate gastrojejunostomy (with video). Gastrointest Endosc 73.353–359
- Safranski DL, Smith KE, Gall K (2013) Mechanical requirements of shape-memory polymers in biomedical devices. Polym Rev 53:76–91
- Serrano MC, Carbajal L, Ameer GA (2011) Novel biodegradable shape-memory elastomers with drug-releasing capabilities. Adv Mater 23:2211–2215
- Shah K, Maghsoudlou P (2016) Enzyme-linked immunosorbent assay (ELISA): the basics. Br J Hosp Med (London, England: 2005) 77:C98–101
- Shojaei A, Li G (2013) Viscoplasticity analysis of semicrystalline polymers: a multiscale approach within micromechanics framework. Int J Plast 42:31–49
- Sokolowski W (2010) Shape memory polymer foams for biomedical devices. Open Med Devices J 2:20–23
- Tanzi MC, De Nardo L, Bertoldi S, Fare S (2015) Invasive surgical procedures. Shape Mem Polym Biomed Appl: 133
- Tanzi MC, De Nardo L, Bertoldi S, Fare S (2015) invasive surgical procedures. Shape Mem Polym Biomed Appl 133–156
- Tice RR, Agurell E, Anderson D, Burlinson B, Hartmann A, Kobayashi H, Miyamae Y, Rojas E, Ryu JC, Sasaki YF (2000) Single cell gel/comet assay: guidelines for in vitro and in vivo genetic toxicology testing. Environ Mol Mutagen 35:206–221
- Turan D, Gunes G, Seniha Güner F (2016) Synthesis, characterization and O_2 permeability of shape memory polyurethane films for fresh produce packaging. Packag Technol Sci 29:415– 427
- Ulery BD, Nair LS, Laurencin CT (2011) Biomedical applications of biodegradable polymers. J Polym Sci Part B: Polym Phys 49:832–864
- Wang L, Yang X, Chen H, Gong T, Li W, Yang G, Zhou S (2013) Design of triple-shape memory polyurethane with photo-cross-linking of cinnamon groups. ACS Appl Mater Interfaces 5:10520–10528

- Wang Y, Tian W, Xie J, Liu Y (2016) Thermoelectric responsive shape memory graphene/ hydro-epoxy composites for actuators. Micromachines 7:145
- Wang K, Strandman S, Zhu XX (2017) A mini review: shape memory polymers for biomedical applications. Front Chem Sci Eng:1–11
- Ware T, Voit W, Gall K (2010) Effects of sensitizer length on radiation crosslinked shape–memory polymers. Radiat Phys Chem 79:446–453
- Wei Q, Mukaida M, Kirihara K, Ishida T (2014) Experimental studies on the anisotropic thermoelectric properties of conducting polymer films. ACS Macro Lett 3:948–952
- Westbrook KK, Mather PT, Parakh V, Dunn ML, Ge Q, Lee BM, Qi HJ (2011) Two-way reversible shape memory effects in a free-standing polymer composite. Smart Mater Struct 20:065010
- Wu G, Huang C, Li H, Ke Y, Fang GY, He JZ, Wang SH Chunlin D (2014) Controlling the biological activity and mechanical properties of sol-gel synthesized PEG-CaO-SiO₂-P₂O₅ hybrid materials for bone tissue engineering. J Biomater Tissue Eng 4:1047–1053
- Xu J, Song J (2010) High performance shape memory polymer networks based on rigid nanoparticle cores. Proc Natl Acad Sci 107:7652–7657
- Yakacki CM, Nguyen TD, Likos R, Lamell R, Guigou D, Gall K (2011) Impact of shape-memory programming on mechanically-driven recovery in polymers. Polymer 52:4947–4954
- Yu Z, Liu Y, Fan M, Meng X, Li B, Zhang S (2010) Effects of solvent, casting temperature, and guest/host stoichiometries on the properties of shape memory material based on partial α-CD-PEG inclusion complex. J Polym Sci Part B: Polym Phys 48:951–957
- Yu K, Zhang Z, Liu Y, Leng J (2011) Carbon nanotube chains in a shape memory polymer/carbon black composite: to significantly reduce the electrical resistivity. Appl Phys Lett 98:074102
- Zhang X, Zhou Q, Liu H, Liu H (2014) UV light induced plasticization and light activated shape memory of spiropyran doped ethylene-vinyl acetate copolymers. Soft Matter 10:3748–3754
- Zhang F, Zhang Z, Zhou T, Liu Y, Leng J (2015) Shape memory polymer nanofibers and their composites: electrospinning, structure, performance, and applications. Front Mater 2:62
- Zhou HY, Zhang YP, Zhang WF, Chen XG (2011) Biocompatibility and characteristics of injectable chitosan-based thermosensitive hydrogel for drug delivery. Carbohyd Polym 83:1643–1651

Silver Nanoparticles and Its Polymer Nanocomposites—Synthesis, Optimization, Biomedical Usage, and Its Various Applications



Kishor Kumar Sadasivuni, Sunita Rattan, Sadiya Waseem, Snehal Kargirwar Brahme, Subhash B. Kondawar, S. Ghosh, A. P. Das, Pritam Kisore Chakraborty, Jaideep Adhikari, Prosenjit Saha and Payal Mazumdar

Abstract Nanomaterials have emerged as an extremely valuable asset in the world of material science. It's unique, and substantial properties lurk scientist all over the world into incorporating them in various material synthesis. Composites are yet another powerful tool for the development of specific material according to our needs. Fusion of the above-mentioned two mighty tools results in birth of a whole

K. K. Sadasiyuni (🖂)

Center for Advanced Materials, Qatar University, P.O. Box 2713, Doha, Qatar e-mail: kishor_kumars@yahoo.com

S. Rattan · P. Mazumdar Amity Institute of Applied Sciences, Amity University, Sector-125, Noida, India

S. Waseem

Advanced Carbon Products, CSIR-NPL, New Delhi 110012, India

S. K. Brahme

Department of Humanities and Applied Science, SIES Graduate School of Technology, Nerul, Navi Mumbai 400706, India

S. B. Kondawar

Department of Physics, Rashtrasant Tukadoji Maharaj Nagpur University, Nagpur 440033, India

S. Ghosh

Bioengineering & Biomineral Processing Laboratory, Centre for Biotechnology, Siksha O Anusandhan University, Kakinga Nagar, Ghatikia, Bhubaneswar, India

A. P. Das Department of Chemical and Polymer Engineering, Tripura Central University, Suryamanigar, Tripura, India

P. K. Chakraborty · J. Adhikari Dr. M.N. Dastur School of Materials Science and Engineering, Indian Institute of Engineering Science and Technology, Shibpur, Howrah 711103, India

© Springer Nature Switzerland AG 2019 K. K. Sadasivuni et al. (eds.), *Polymer Nanocomposites in Biomedical Engineering*, Lecture Notes in Bioengineering, https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-030-04741-2_11

The original version of this chapter was revised: Belated corrections have been incorporated. The correction to this chapter is available at https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-030-04741-2_13

new domain called nanocomposites. This unit provides details about different aspects of nanomaterials, composites, and their categories. This chapter talks thoroughly about the basics behind the various synthesis process involved along with optimization of various parameters related to fabrication of such nanocomposites. Among the pool of nanocomposites, silver nanoparticles and the composites based on these particles have harnessed much attention because of the striking properties of Ag nanoparticles like high electrical and thermal conductivity, chemical stability, catalytic activities, antimicrobial properties, nonlinear optical behavior, and surface-enhanced Raman scattering. Synthesis and development of AgNPs in the literature have been mentioned, and techniques have been reviewed. Detailed discussions based on each individual property have also been carried out along with exploring the applications in numerous varied fields.

Keywords Nanomaterials · Composites · Nanocomposites · Ag nanoparticles · Biomedical · Applications

1 Introduction

A "composite material" is defined as a mixture made up of materials having strikingly different physical and chemical properties on the macroscopic levels (Fadiran et al. 2018). The resultant material usually possesses properties different from those of any of their constituents. By using composites, it is possible to have properties like high strength and stiffness at high temperature, corrosion resistance, ability to withstand extreme temperature conditions, and desirable thermal expansion coefficient. Composite materials comprise of two phases: the matrix which is generally the continuous phase and the other phase(s) embedded in this matrix is known as the "reinforcement." A variety of unique combinations of these matrices (e.g., polymers, carbon, metals, and ceramics) and reinforcements (e.g., particles, fibers, and layered materials) have been employed for the synthesis of various composite and nanocomposite materials.

Quite recently, nanocomposites have garnered a lot of attention since they are nearly 1000 times tougher than their bulk counterparts. Sincere steps have been taken, and lots of work is still undertaken towards creation of controlled nanostructures using novel and innovative techniques. The field of synthesis and characterization of nanocomposites of both organic and inorganic materials is a rapidly growing area of research. The characteristic properties of nanocomposites materials synthesized depend mainly on the features of the fundamental material from where it is originating. In terms of physical properties, nanocomposites and conventional composite materials differ a lot in terms of surface area, where

P. Saha

Materials Science Centre, IIT Kharagpur, Kharagpur 721302, West Bengal, India

nanocomposites have strikingly high surface to volume ratio. The matrix materials are having various properties such as it binds the dispersed phase together. It protects the dispersed phase from chemical action and keeps it in proper position and orientation (Ajayan et al. 2003). It is commonly observed that with polymer nanocomposites, the properties associated with chemistry, extent of thermoset cure, mobility of polymer chains, conformation of polymer chains, extent of ordering in polymer chains can all differ from the interface between the reinforcement and the bulk of the matrix.

1.1 Types of Nanocomposites

1.1.1 Ceramic Matrix Nanocomposites

This category of composites has ceramic as the main portion of the volume. Ceramic is a chemical compound which is part of the group of oxides, nitrides, borides, etc. More often, the second component of the ceramic matrix nanocomposites consists of a metal as their second component. Theoretically, both the components, i.e., the metallic and the ceramic component, are finely dispersed in each other in order to get uniformly distributed and embedded into each other to elicit the particular nanoscopic properties. These results in the formation of nanocomposites, which shows improvement in their optical, electrical, and magnetic properties (Kruis et al. 1998), and apart from optical, thermal, conductive, electrical properties, it shows tremendous corrosion resistance and other protective properties (Popelka et al. 2018).

1.1.2 Metal Matrix Nanocomposites

Metal matrix nanocomposites are made up of reinforced metal as matrix to form composites. These kinds of composites can be divided into two categories, i.e., continuous and non-continuous reinforced materials. One of the most important categories of nanocomposites is where carbon nanotube and metal are embedded as matrix to form composites (CNT-MMC), which is new emerging trend of materials that is being worked upon taking full advantage of the characteristic features of CNTS which includes high tensile strength and electrical conductivity. CNT-MMC has properties aptly required for the development and synthesis of synthetic techniques that will lead to the production of nanocomposites which will be advanced in many aspects. Although carbon nanotubes metal matrix composites possess various optimal properties, recent research emphasizes mostly upon the synthesis techniques consisting of boron and carbon nitride reinforced metal matrix composites (Bakshi et al. 2010).

1.1.3 Polymer Nanocomposites

Polymer nanosciences are the study and application of nanoscience in field related to polymer-nanoparticle matrices. These kinds of composites are made up of a polymer/copolymer with nanoparticles/nanofillers dispersed in the polymer matrix. These reinforcements could be of a variety of shapes (like platelets, fibers, spheroids) one among which at least should have dimension in the range of 1–50 nm. These systems have strict requirements in each of its steps. The mixing/ compounding should be controlled and optimized, dispersion should be stabilized, and orientation of the dispersed phase should be controlled for all MPS.

The transition of any particle from micro to nano is due to drastic changes in its physical as well as chemical structure, which further appears in the form of unique properties. The enhanced surface area-to-volume ratio, which further accelerates as the particles get smaller, leads toward the increasing dominant behavior of atoms in comparison with the surface area of particle. This greatly affects the properties of such particles when they react with other particles. Now, since nanoparticles have a higher surface area, there is more likely greater one-to-one interaction with the other kinds of particles present inside. This in turn increases the mechanical strength, thermal resistivity, and many such factors of the mixture. Addition of nanoparticulates to a polymer matrix enhances its performance by inclusion of the nanoscale filler (Evangelos 2007). These are also called nanofilled polymer composites. Uniform dispersion of the filler is essential as it substantially improves the properties of the composites. Nanoparticles like graphene, carbon nanotubes, molybdenum disulfide, and tungsten disulfide are more generally used as reinforcing agents for the fabrication of mechanically strong biodegradable polymeric nanocomposites for applications in bone tissue engineering. These nanocomposites have huge potential in terms to be used as a novel, mechanically strong, lightweight composite as substitute for bone implants. These emphasizes the relation that inclusion of mechanical reinforcement is largely dependent on the nanostructure morphology, defects, amount of dispersion of nanomaterials in the polymer matrix as well as cross-linking density of the polymer. Hence, extremely low amount of filler is needed to achieve the desired requirements. In general, these kinds of polymeric nanocomposites are opening up a whole new generation of macromolecular materials having low densities along with multifunctional properties (Paul and Robeson 2008; Fayyad et al. 2018).

1.1.4 Polymer/Silver Nanocomposites

Nanoproducts and nanoparticles produced with the help of nanotechnology depict significant physicochemical properties differing from the bulk materials (Ponnamma et al. 2018). Among them, silver nanoparticles (AgNPs or nanosilver) have strikingly huge popularity owing to their unique physical, chemical, and biological properties in comparison with gold and platinum, their counterparts (Sharma et al. 2009a, b). Silver nanoparticles are precisely interesting regarding usage in the industries concerning

polymer composites since these particles have remarkable properties like excellent electrical and thermal conductivity, surface-enhanced Raman scattering, chemical stability, catalytic activity, and nonlinear optical behavior (Krutyakov et al. 2008). Although they are frequently described as being "silver," some of them really comprise a huge amount of silver oxide. A variety of shapes are possible for such nanoparticles which can be devised based on the application required. The most commonly used shapes are spherical. Other shapes like diamond, octagonal, and thin sheets are also quite popular. The silver nanoparticles are currently under investigation for their usage in human health treatments. In laboratory, studies are being carried for assessing potential efficacy, toxicity, and costs.

Some of the other highlights of polymer/silver nanocomposites in between the wide range of available hybrid materials are their unique properties (Temgire and Joshi 2003; Zheng et al. 2001). In particular, the antimicrobial action of silver has led to its increased usage in numerous applications like incorporation in apparel, footwear, paints, wound dressings, appliances, cosmetics, and plastics (Brett 2006). It has been reported previously that the dispersed silver ions are responsible for biological actions, especially against microorganisms (Raffi et al. 2008; Choi et al. 2008). Generally, inorganic nanomaterials can be effortlessly bonded to the polymer matrix for the synthesis of a metal complex (Radheshkumar and Münstedt 2005; Espuche et al. 2005). The ability of the polymer matrix in preparation of composites is to form a metal chelate as well as its application as an ion capping agent (Khanna et al. 2005). Varied forms of magnetite and silver nanocomposites in dispersed form are used as corrosion inhibitors (El-Mahdy et al. 2013, 2014; Atta et al. 2011; Blinova et al. 2009). Polymer acts as an excellent host for embedding nanoparticles as well as terminates the growth of the particles by controlling the nucleation process, and the Ag nanoparticles enhance their overall performance (Li et al. 2012).

2 Methods of Synthesis

2.1 Synthesis of Silver Nanoparticles

Silver nanoparticles can be synthesized by physical, chemical, and biological approaches. Evaporation–condensation and laser ablation are the most important physical approaches. In evaporation–condensation method, the particles are generated using an evaporation–condensation technique (Scheibel and Porstendörfer 1983). Sample amount of bulk silver is kepton the ceramic crucibles which are further kept inside the ceramic boat to be finally kept in a tube furnace. The silver is evaporated from the center of the furnace at a very high temperature. The metal vapor formed is carried outside the furnace. The dilution is carried out using inert N_2 gas streams which makes sure that only the silver vapor tends to condense which leads to formation of primary nanoparticles. These particles coagulate to form agglomerates of the nanoparticles. It has been previously reported that with

such setup of particle generation formation of chain-like silver agglomerates, bonds consisting of spherical primary particles can be formed (Weber and Friedlander 1997; Ku and Maynard 2006). The evaporation/condensation technique is quite simple; however, it lacks in many aspects. This technique consumes a large amount of energy and is quite slow. Also, it requires the development of nanoparticles in large concentrations. However, in cases where long-term synthesis is required, this method is the most reliable one (Jung et al. 2006). At high concentration with high heater surface temperature, spherical NPs without agglomeration were observed.

Laser ablation synthesis in solution (LASiS) is the other commonly used methods for obtaining colloidal solution of nanoparticles in a variety of solvents (Amendola and Meneghetti 2009; Amendola et al. 2006). LASiS is the process in which laser ablation of a bulk metal plate dipped in a liquid solution is used to generate the condensation of a plasma plume formed which in turn is utilized for the synthesis of nanoparticles. Previously, LASiS has proved itself as a reliable alternative in comparison with conventionally used reduction methods including chemicals for the development of noble metal nanoparticles (NMNp). LASiS is clearly greener approach which will be harmless for the environment. Laser ablation of metallic bulk materials in solution has been used for the synthesis of silver NPs in lot of studies (Mafune et al. 2000, 2001; Kabashin and Meunier 2003; Sylvestre et al. 2004; Dolgaev et al. 2002). The efficiency of ablation as well as the characteristics of the produced nanosilver particles by laser ablation depends largely upon the type of laser used along with the surfactant requirements (Kim et al. 2005; Link et al. 2000; Tarasenko et al. 2006; Kawasaki and Nishimura 2006). One of the major advantages of using laser ablation in place of other technique is that no chemical agents are required for this process (Tsuji et al. 2002). Silver nanospheroids (20-50 nm) have been synthesized by the application of femtosecond laser pulses at 800 nm (Tsuji et al. 2003). The synthesized particles were studied and compared with those of colloidal particles prepared by nanosecond laser pulses. As a consequence, it was observed that the formation efficiency for femtosecond pulses was significantly less in comparison with that for nanosecond pulses. The particulate size of colloids matter obtained by femtosecond pulses was quite less dispersed than that of colloids prepared by nanosecond pulses. Furthermore, it was also observed that the ablation efficiency was guite less in water than that in air.

The most commonly used method for the production of silver NPs is via chemical reduction of materials. Conventionally, reducing agents like sodium citrate, ascorbate, sodium borohydride (NaBH₄), elemental hydrogen, polyol process, Tollens reagent, *N*,*N*-dimethylformamide (DMF), and poly(ethylene glycol)-block copolymers are used for reduction of silver ions (Ag⁺) in various solutions. These agents reduce Ag⁺ which lead to the formation of metallic silver (Ag⁰). Afterward, these are agglomerated into oligomeric clusters. This in turns initiates the formation of metallic colloidal silver particles (Wiley et al. 2005; ChumanovEvanoff and Evanoff 2004; Merga et al. 2007). Protective agents are used which also protect the NPs from getting adsorbed, binded, or agglomerated (Oliveira et al. 2005).

There is an urgent need regarding development of high-yield, low-cost, non-toxic, and environmental-friendly procedures for synthesis of metallic

nanoparticles. Therefore, the approaches concerning biological and greenways for the synthesis of nanoparticles become important in this regard. A vast number of biological resources which are available in nature including plants and plant products, algae, fungi, yeast, bacteria, and viruses can be employed for synthesis of nanoparticles. It is noteworthy that both unicellular and multicellular organisms have been known to produce intracellular or extracellular inorganic materials. Chemically, synthesis of AgNPs requires a silver salt (usually AgNO₃), a reducing agent (i.e., ethylene glycol) and a stabilizer or aping agent (i.e., PVP) which will control the growth of the NPs as well as regulate them from aggregating. The living organisms are quite capable of replacing the reducing agent and the stabilizer in the biological synthesis of AgNPs. These reducing and regulating compounds can be picked from bacteria, fungi, yeasts, algae, or plants (Sintubin et al. 2012). It has been reported that the AgNPs in the particle size of 4 ± 1.5 nm was formed using the metal-reducing bacterium, Shewanella oneidensis, with a silver nitrate solution (Suresh 2010). This method of synthesis is based on utilizing natural bacteria. This would be economical, simple, and reproducible and would consume less energy in comparison with harmful chemical synthesis routes.

2.2 Microwave Synthesis and Related Properties of Silver Nanoparticles Synthesis

The conventional methods to synthesize AgNPs include physical, chemical, and biological methods. The typical processing methods for nanosized silver particles includes: (1) the classical Turkevich preparation of metal colloids, (2) reversed micelle process, (3) photoreduction, (4) ultrasonic radiation, and (5) 60 Co g-irradiation.

Through the above-mentioned processes, we can synthesize AgNPs consisting of varying shapes and sizes, but these processes are limited to Ag colloids having low concentration (in millimoles) and in presence of suitable stabilizers and surfactants, which are difficult to remove from the surface of the nanoparticles after synthesis, which further hinder the catalysis process and disrupt physical nature of the NPs. Also, the conventional methods of the preparation of AgNPs have lower yield, higher cost, and lower size control over the produced NPs. Thus, a recently developed method of NP synthesis via microwave (MW) heating is adopted to counter these disadvantages. The advantage of MW heating is that it provides uniform heating of the solvents and reactant mixtures, which leads to uniform nucleation and growth of the agglomerates, which in turn leads to the formation of homogenous smaller nanoparticles (Ajayan et al. 2003). MW heating is a new emerging technology for rapid synthesis of various inorganic NPs. In MW heating-assisted silver NP synthesis, we can have better control on size distribution of the synthesized NPs compared to conventional thermal convection heating having the same reactant compositions and having larger silver yield. The first and



Fig. 1 TEM images of Ag and Pd nanostructures synthesized using MW irradiation in the presence of PVP as capping agent **a** Ag with **a**-D-glucose. **b** Ag with sucrose. **c** Ag with maltose (Huang and Yang 2004). Copyright 2004. Reproduced with permission from Elsevier

foremost process of large-scale AgNP synthesis by MW heating was demonstrated by Yin et al. in 2003 in which the NPs were prepared from aqueous solution of silver nitrate and trisodium citrate in the presence of formaldehyde as reducing agent (Chen et al. 2008).

The MW synthesis of AgNPs is basically a "bottom-up" process that involves capping agents such as surfactants and polymers to stop the growth of the agglomerates at nanoscale regime. These capping materials are often harmful and detrimental to the environment in view of green chemistry (Huang and Yang 2004; Mukherjee et al. 2001). Thus, a variety of methods of synthesis have come up in last few years for green synthesis of the nanoparticles using environment-friendly polysaccharides that are biodegradable and environmentally benign. Some of the methods are spontaneous reduction using MW heating-assisted methods using aqueous solution of **a**-D-glucose, sucrose, and maltose as reported by Verma et al. (Mukherjee et al. 2001), the TEM images of which AgNPs are shown in Fig. 1, synthesis of gold and silver nanoparticles using polysaccharide both as reducing and a stabilizing agent as reported by Huang and Yong (Mukherjee et al. 2001), use of fungus Verticillium to prepare silver and gold nanoparticles as reported by Mukherjee et al. (Pal et al. 2009; Sreeram et al. 2008).

With time, different variations have come up in the process of MW-assisted synthesis of AgNPs, such as MW-assisted green synthesis using organic capping agents as mentioned above, and some variations are listed in Table 1.

2.3 Synthesis of Polymer/Silver Nanocomposites

2.3.1 In Situ Polymerization

Silver nanoparticles are also synthesized using a quite simple yet effective method following in situ methodology. It is a one-step method of fabrication of nanoparticles which uses the corresponding precursors for the synthesis. The nanoparticles

Process variation	Results obtained	References
AgNP prepared from MW irradiation from an aqueous solution of silver nitrate and trisodium citrate in the presence of formaldehyde as a reductant	Silver citrate colloids support the nucleation of AgNP by reduction with formaldehyde under MW irradiation	Chen et al. (2008)
Generation of nanospheres of Ag via MW-assisted spontaneous reduction of noble metal salts using an aqueous solution of a-D-glucose, sucrose, and maltose	Bulk and size-controlled synthesis of nanostructures of Ag having varying shapes and sizes can be generated from aqueous sugar solutions using MW irradiation	Huang and Yang (2004)
Carboxymethyl cellulose sodium (CMS) is used to work both as a reducing and a stabilizing reagent in the reaction to produce AgNP from the solution using MW heating	The AgNPs prepared by this green synthesis method are uniform and stable, which can be stored at room temperature for a period of 2 months without any significant change	Mukherjee et al. (2001)
AgNPs were prepared by MW irradiation of (AgNO ₃) solution in ethanolic medium (which acts as reducing agent) using (PVP) as a stabilizing agent	Spherical, highly monodispersed AgNPs were synthesized under MW heating	Saifuddin et al. (2009)
Use of starch as a template and reducing agent in the controlled, directed, and MW heating-assisted synthesis of AgNPs and comparing them	Comparing altogether the MW-assisted, controlled, and directed heating methods of AgNP synthesis, MW heating was found to give better results for reduction of Ag ions to AgNPs as they had smaller particle size and particle size distribution. The pure AgNP produced by MW heating is more suitable for medical and biological applications, as non-toxic stabilizing agents were used in this work	Singh and Raykar (2008)
Novel rapid, simple, and "green" combinatorial synthesis approach for the synthesis of metallic nanostructures of noble metals such as AgNPs by using a combination of culture supernatanant of <i>Bacillus subtilis</i> and microwave (MW) heating in water in the absence of a surfactant or soft template	The kinetics of AgNP synthesis using the cell filtrates in combination with MW irradiation indicates that the rapid synthesis of nanoparticles would be suitable for developing a green nanotechnology biosynthesis process for mass-scale production	Wang et al. (2010)
MW synthesis applied to prepare stable Ag nanofluids in ethanol by reduction of AgNO ₃ with polyvinylpyrrolidone (PVP) and used as stabilizing agent, having Ag concentrations of 1% by volume	Stable nanofluids containing AgNPs of 30 and 60 nm have been prepared by MW-assisted one-step method. MW method being fast is suitable for large-scale production of nanofluids	Li et al. (2011)

Table 1 Variations of AgNP synthesis by MW irradiation

(continued)

Process variation	Results obtained	References
AgNPs were prepared by MW irradiation of silver nitrate solution with carboxymethyl chitosan as reducing agent and a stabilizer	The AgNPs were chemically generated in the AgNO ₃ and CMCT alkalic aqueous solution by MW irradiation, and sizes of the NPs were varying between 2 and 20 nm range having FCC structure	Li et al. (2011)
MW-assisted synthesis of cellulose–Ag NC with AgNPs dispersed homogenously in the cellulose matrix using cellulose solution, AgNO ₃ , and ascorbic acid in N, N-dimethylacetamide (DMAc)	This MW-assisted method does not need any seed/template/surfactant and thus is a convenient and fast pathway for large-scale and low-cost production of cellulose-based NCs	Zhao et al. (2014)
A facile $\overline{\text{MW}}$ -assisted method to fabricate cellulose–Ag NC by reducing AgNO ₃ in EG, which acts as a solvent, a reducing reagent, and a MW absorber in the system, thus canceling the requirement of additional reductant	Cellulose–Ag NCs with superior antimicrobial properties have been successfully produced through this MW-assisted method	Singh and Rawat (2016)
A simple, green, MW-assisted method of synthesizing AgNPs was developed using sodium alginate as stabilizer and reducer	Use of environment-friendly and renewable materials like sodium alginate for the synthesis of AgNPs in an aqueous medium offers a number of benefits in fields such as biomedical, textile, and pharmaceutical applications. MW irradiation accelerates the formation rate of particles	Chen et al. (2009)
AgNPs were rapidly synthesized using aqueous leaf extract of <i>O. majorana</i> and <i>C. sinensis</i> on MW irradiation	MW irradiation and its mode of heating make the synthesis of the NPs fast, uniform, and reproducible. AgNPs showed superior antibacterial activity toward <i>E. coli</i> and <i>B. subtilis</i> pathogens. It is a green process for the production of SNPs and is completely free from toxic solvents and chemicals	Melvin et al. (2014)

Table 1 (continued)

can be directly grown using this method. The most important advantage of this route is that it prevents particle agglomeration, maintaining a good spatial distribution in the polymer matrix at the same time whereas, the major drawback of this method is the slight probability of left unreacted educts in course of the reaction. This might be having influence on the properties of the final product.

2.3.2 Ex Situ Polymerization

The ex situ synthesis method is more suitable wherever large-scale industrial applications are required. The key challenge related to this method is preparation of



Fig. 2 Schematic illustration of silver/polypyrrole/graphene (Ag-PPy/Gr) nanocomposite synthesis (Dhibar and Das 2017). Copyright 2017. Reproduced with permission from Wiley

nanoparticles which possess higher dispersibility in the polymer and have long-term stability against aggregation. In the ex situ method, firstly the silver nanoparticles are formed and these are then dispersed into a polymer matrix. The nanoparticles that are formed possess higher dispersibility in the polymer and have long-term stability against aggregation. Dispersion of nanoparticles is generally obtained through sonication (Guo et al. 2014).

Dhibar et al. reported a simple method to synthesize silver/polypyrrole/graphene (Ag-PPy/Gr) nanocomposite as an efficient supercapacitor electrode material as shown in Fig. 2. The graphene sheets are homogeneously coated by polypyrrole polymer in presence of silver nanoparticle. The Ag-PPy/Gr nanocomposite achieved a specific capacitance of 472 F/g at a 0.5 A/g current density. The presence of both silver nanoparticles and graphene is the key factor for the enhancement of the electrochemical properties of the nanocomposite.

3 Applications of Polymer/Silver Nanocomposites

3.1 Biomedical Applications

Figure 3 illustrates the various applications of silver nanoparticles in the biomedical field including antimicrobial activity, protein detection, cancer therapy, clinical fabrics, antimicrobial catheters, and biological assays. The wide applicability of the

silver nanoparticles is due to the novel properties of the nanoparticle, which help with applications in good biocompatibility. Table 2 summarizes the biomedical applications of the silver nanoparticles.



Fig. 3 Biological applications of AgNPs

Biomedical applications	Mode of action	Reference
Dressing for surgical wound	Disruption of cell membrane and electron transport	Sondi and Salopek-Sondi (2004)
Antifungal agent	Production of ROS	Mallikarjuna and Varma (2007)
Portable water filters	Release of Ag ⁺ ions	Pal et al. (2007a, b)
Antibacterial agent	DNA damage	Yin et al. (2004)
Coatings for medical devices	Disruption of cell membrane and electron transport	Noorbakhsh et al. (2011)
Infected wound and diabetic foot treatment	Production of ROS	Sondi and Salopek-Sondi (2004)

 Table 2
 Biomedical application of AgNPs and their mode of action

3.1.1 Antibacterial Agent

Silver nanoparticles (AgNPs) have now been established as an effective biocidal agent and acts on a wide range of both gram-negative and gram-positive bacteria as shown in Fig. 4a (Jones and Hoek 2010). It has also been successful in demonstrating its antibacterial property on drug-resistant bacterial strains, qualifying it to be a potential candidate for pharmaceutical use (Lara et al. 2011). Several studies have been carried out on the mode of antibacterial action of AgNPs on bacteria and summarized in Table 3.

Sondi et al. 2003 investigated the effect of AgNPs on *E. coli, Vibria cholera, P. aeruginosa,* and *Syphillis typhus* using advanced microscopic tools. AgNPs were able to restrict bacterial growth at concentrations beyond 75 μ g/mL (Sondi and Salopek-Sondi 2004). The cell wall damage was inspected and has been inferred to be caused due to the high level of interaction of AgNPs with compounds containing phosphorus and sulfur. Moreover, the results suggest that an oxygen-rich environment induced the antibacterial activity of AgNPs in comparison with an anaerobic environment. These interactions can be assumed to be the reason for prevention of DNA replications, which eventually lead to bacterial death (Melaiye et al. 2005; Feng et al. 2000; Zhang et al. 2008; Nasrollahi et al. 2011).

Another study reported the antibacterial activity of AgNPs against *S. typhus, E. coli, B. subtilis,* and *Klebsiella mobilis* in where the nanoparticles had an average size of 14–40 nm (Kim et al. 2012).

Three probable antibacterial mechanisms have been proposed (Sondi and Salopek-Sondi 2004; Kim 2007; Yin et al. 2004). They can elicit an antibacterial response by hindering the production of ATP and DNA replication due to uptake of



Fig. 4 a Modes of action of silver nanoparticles on bacteria. **b** Cellular basis of the antimicrobial activity of AgNP-coated catheters (Jones and Hoek 2010). Copyright 2010. Reproduced with permission from Springer

Туре	Microbial strain	References
AgNP powder	E. Coli	Sondi and Salopek-Sondi (2004)
AgNP powder	Salmonella typhus	Morones (2005)
AgNPs in aqueous media	S. aureaus	Shrivastava et al. (2007)
AgNPs in culture media	Streptococcus sp.,	Le (2012)
AgNPs	V. cholerae	Le (2012)
AgNPs	T mentagrophyte	Roe et al. (2008)
AgNP-coated plastic catheters	C. albicans	Panáček et al. (2009)
AgNPs	Candida spp.	Monteiro et al. (2011)
AgNPs	T. rubrum	Monteiro et al. (2011)
AgNPs	Candida glabrata	Elechiguerra et al. (2005)
AgNPs	HIV-1	Rogers et al. (2008)
AgNPs	HBV	De Gusseme et al. (2010)
AgNPs	MNV-1	Matsumura et al. (2002)
AgNPs	MPV	Sondi et al. (2003)

Table 3 Antimicrobial effects of AgNPs

free silver ions or by the generating reactive oxygen species or by damaging the cell membranes (Fig. 1). However, the exact mechanism is yet to be unraveled.

Silver is known for its fantastic antimicrobial and antibacterial properties and has rapid healing properties (Imai et al. 2010; Jing et al. 2005). Every year, thousands of patients, all over the world, die succumbing to infections from the contracted post-injury of surgery. AgNPs have shown good and desirable properties in prevention of contraction of infectious bacteria such as E. coli (found on contaminated wounds), Enterococcus, Staphylococcus aureus, Candida albicans, Staphylococci, and Pseudomonas aeruginosa. Li et al. in 2011a, b measured the growth of E. coli (gram-negative bacteria) and S. aureus (gram-positive bacteria) for antibacterial activity in cellulose-silver nanocomposites. They found that for both the bacteria samples, the growth of the bacterial assay was retarded, showing the antibacterial activity of the cellulose-silver nanocomposite (Eswaraiah et al. 2011). In 2013 Zhao et al. synthesized AgNPs by green MW synthesis using sodium alginate as stabilizer and reducer to study antibacterial activity of the AgNPs on same E. coli and S. aureus bacteria. The results showed good antibacterial activity from both gram-negative E. coli and S. aureus bacteria, with higher antibacterial activity for E. coli. This can be attributed to the fact that gram-positive bacteria have thicker cell wall than gram-negative bacteria, thus leading to lesser penetration of AgNP and consequently lower antibacterial activity (Chen et al. 2009). They are widely used as an antibacterial silver coating for dressing the wounds.

These days owing to its antibacterial properties silver nanoparticles are extensively incorporated in apparel, footwear, paints, wound dressings, appliances, cosmetics, and plastics. Silver nanoparticles are highly stable, which supports the production of silver nanoparticle embedded in homogeneous paints. These serve as an optimal coating material. It can be used to cover various surfaces including wood, glass, and polystyrene. Moreover, the surface coated with the nanopaints exhibits antibacterial properties (Kumar et al. 2008).

3.1.2 Antifungal Agent

Fungal infections are on the rise, and fungi are being recognized as major pathogens (Enoch et al. 2006). AgNPs have now been known to demonstrate antifungal activities. AgNPs have been reported to act against *C. albicans* by cell membrane disruption and inhibition of normal budding (Kim et al. 2009). The results of the study to investigate the antifungal activity of AgNP-coated plastic catheters affirmed the complete inhibition of *C. Albicans* (Roe et al. 2008). Minimum inhibition against *C. albicans* was revealed at 0.21 mg⁻¹ using naked AgNPs. AgNPs were also effective in growth inhibition of yeasts against the tested human fibroblasts. Antifungal activities have also been reported in case of *C. glabrata* and *Trichophyton rubrum* (Noorbakhsh et al. 2011).

Nasrollahi et al. 2011 investigated the antifungal effects of AgNPs on *Candida albicans* (ATCC 5027) and *Saccharomyces cerevisiae* (ATCC 5027) and found that AgNPs has considerable antifungal activity in comparison with other antifungal drugs (Das et al. 2015). The study was carried out using the technique of minimum inhibitory concentration (MIC), and the drugs tested along with AgNPs were amphotericin B and fluconazole. They also found several changes in the membrane reactions of yeasts which was visualized using scanning electron microscopy (SEM).

Kim et al. (2012) evaluated the antifungal properties of AgNPs on various plant pathogens. AgNP sat concentrations ranging from 10 to 100 ppm along with 18 different plant fungi were used for this study. Fungal inhibition was calculated, and the results showed various levels of antifungal activities of AgNPs (Park et al. 2014). WA-CV-WB13R AgNPs were found to be potent against most fungi, and significant inhibition of fungi was observed at 100 ppm concentration of AgNPs. Therefore, AgNPs seem to possess antifungal characteristics which can aid in prevention of fungal infections.

3.1.3 Antiviral Agent

Apart from being an antibacterial and antifungal agent, AgNPs have also been recognized as antiviral agents. The first report on the antiviral study of AgNPs on HIV-1 reports that the interaction occurs through the preferential binding of AgNPs to the sulfur residues of glycoproteins on the membrane which eventually inhibits the binding of the virus to other host cells. The interaction was reported to be size-dependent in which NPs of 1–10 nm yielded attachment to the virus. The binding of AgNPs with the virus results in the prevention of CD4-dependent virion binding, fusion, and infectivity which makes AgNPs an effective virucidal agent (Lara et al. 2011). The effects of AgNPs on H1N1 influenza A virus has also been

investigated, and AgNPs were shown to induce apoptosis in MDCK cells (Xiang et al. 2011). The antiviral effects of AgNPs are based on their binding to cells that target host cells proteins.

Park et al. (2014) evaluated the efficacy of AgNPs against the inactivation of bacteriophage X174, murine norovirus (MNV), and adenovirus serotype 2 (AdV2) by using molecular methods. Ag30-MHCs were able to demonstrate the highest level of inactivation into viruses (Raimondi et al. 2005). Although the antiviral mechanism of AgNPs is yet to be elucidated, they exhibit great potential as antiviral agents (Galdiero et al. 2011).

3.1.4 Antimicrobial Catheters

Reduction in infections at hospitals was observed when AgNPs were used for coating plastic catheters (Roe et al. 2008). In vitro and in vivo determination of silver release from these devices was carried out using radioactive silver. These improved catheters demonstrated commendable in vitro antimicrobial activity and also prevented the formation of biofilms against pathogens as shown in Fig. 4b. These catheters are capable of sustained releasing silver ions at a specific target site. The released silver ions cause leakage of the cell membranes of microbial cells, thereby entering the cytosol. Once inside the cell, the Ag ions start damaging the mitochondrial membrane. This leads to the initiation of apoptosis and also the generation of reactive oxygen species (ROS). The ROS thus generated along with AgNPs cause DNA damage inside the cell. The ROS also causes the oxidation of certain proteins which eventually render them incapable to carry out their designated roles (Fig. 2). Due to the non-toxic and efficient antimicrobial action, AgNPs may be a boon in the prevention of infections arising due to long-term use of catheters.

3.1.5 Antimicrobial Therapeutic Gel

AgNPs are now being used for therapeutic purposes, especially for dealing with wounds caused from burns. A gel of antibacterial AgNPs was used, and it was found to be as effective as conventional silver compounds even at a 30 times lower concentration (Jain et al. 2009). Toxicity studies reported the mitochondrial localization of AgNPs ($IC_{50} = 251 \ \mu g \ ml^{-1}$). AgNPs resulted in apoptosis resulting in healing of wounds without leaving behind scars. The effect of AgNPs gel in Sprague-Dawley rats was studied, and the results rendered it completely safe for tropical use. Therefore, AgNP gels can be considered to be an efficient alternative to other antimicrobial agents used conventionally for tropical use.

3.2 Clinical Fabrics

Contamination of clinical clothing is common due to the highly contaminating environments prevalent in the hospitals. Pathogenic bacterial strains have the capability to survive up to 3 months on fabrics worn by patients or healthcare professionals. These strains sometimes are potent enough to survive on freshly laundered clothes as well. The transfer of these strains from nurses' uniforms, surgical wounds to patient beddings and clothing is very likely. These strains are often transferred to the visitors clothing creating a wide web of pathogenic environment. The investigation on the efficacy of AgNP-impregnated clinical scrubs was carried out, and it was found that modified scrubs had lower bacterial counts on them (Freeman et al. 2012). The results confirmed the use of AgNP-impregnated fabrics was highly effective in the reduction of bacterial contamination in hospitals.

3.3 Cancer Therapy

Compared to the conventional forms of cancer therapy, photodynamic therapy is recognized as a promising noninvasive method of treatment. It involves the targeting of a tumor followed by its destruction caused due to irradiation with UV light of specific wavelengths (Ghosh and Das 2015). When AgNP are irradiated by UV light, electron and hole pairs are created leading to the generation of oxidative radicals (Serpone et al. 2006) which eventually destroys the tumor cells. However, the focus on the aspect of toxicity needs to be evaluated largely in the future. AgNPs have also been known for its capacity in biosensing. The plasmonic properties of nanosilver make it an ideal candidate regarding this aspect. These biosensors can be used for biosensing abnormal proteins and can find their application in diagnosis of a wide array of diseases including cancer (Zhou et al. 2011).

3.4 Biological Assays

The escalating research using an OMICS approach leads to the generation of colossal amounts of data which requires high-throughput screening technologies (Klasen 2000). The array technologies are being used for such analysis, and they are also almost reaching their saturation points due to the huge number of array elements. A 3D approach, based on optical "bar coding" of polymer particles in solution can be used for reliable detection and analysis (Han et al. 2001). Single quantum dots of compound semiconductors like AgNPs were successfully used for replacing organic dyes in various biotagging applications (Parak et al. 2003).

3.5 Protein Detection

Proteins play an essential role for maintenance of human well-being. Immunohistochemistry involves the use of nanoparticles for the identification of interaction between proteins. However, this technique is not very successful in detection of simultaneous interactions. Surface-enhanced Raman scattering spectroscopy is used for the identification of single molecules that has been dyed. There can be drastic improvement in the multiplexing of protein probes by the combination of these methods in a single nanoparticle probe. Gold nanoparticles coated with solution of Ag(I) and hydroquinone have been successfully used for the detection of the substrate in question. Apart from the recognition of small molecules, proteins can also be recognized by modifying the probe to contain surface antibodies. Since now, no cross-reactivity has been reported of this method (Cao et al. 2003).

3.6 Other Miscellaneous Applications

Energy storage devices (batteries and supercapacitors) possess capacity to store electrical energy to be used at a later time. Incorporation of Ag nanoparticles into these polymers can upshot their electrochemical storage capacity. Hydrogen storage applications using silver nanoparticle increase high efficiency of fuel cells which is used in transportation, portable uses, and stationary installations. Another application related to inclusion of silver nanoparticles in polymer nanofibers is that they speed up the hydrolysis of the bulk material. Pertaining to their unique properties, such as surface area, nanoparticles have found to be highly active catalytically. Silver nanoparticles exhibit strong catalytic properties for hydrolysis and electrolysis of organic materials, particulary when they are used to manufacture and conversion into silver nanoparticle/polymer composites (Bu et al. 2013; Salehi-Khojin et al. 2013).

Thermal conductivity of polymers is a vital property when it comes to applications of polymer related materials. Traditionally, polymers themselves have intrinsic thermal conductivity of the lower order than those for metals or ceramic materials. These are good thermal insulators at room temperature. Further elevation of this thermal insulating quality can be achieved via incorporating silver nanoparticles into these polymers. Applications with requirement of high degree of thermal conductivity are generally required in a lot of fields. Hence, they become useful in electronic packaging, encapsulations, and satellite devices.

Silver nanoparticles can be combined with metal-enhanced fluorescence (MEF) and surface-enhanced Raman scattering (SERS) to effectively harvest sunlight. These may also be used as antireflection coatings, light-based sensors for cancer diagnosis (Mrlik et al. 2018). Ag nanoparticles are used effectively in density storage media to increase its capacity, nanomagnetic particles to create improved

detail and contrast in MRI images. The presence of the nanoparticles up to an optimum amount facilitates the dipole direction to align well under external electric fields, which in turn leads to increase in the polarization of the entire film. On the other hand, the nanoparticles agglomerate to enhance the charge transport, which results in increased leakage current and decreased piezoelectric properties. Ag nanoparticles may be useful in medical centers to reduce contamination in polluted derange and liquid wastes materials as well as some other devices. It can also be used to protect medical and laboratory equipment to provide protection against interfering signals, including FM, TV, emergency services, dispatch, and pagers. It can also be utilized to protect the equipment at the FM or TV broadcast facilities. Silver nanoparticle-based selective colorimetric sensor has been successfully applied for the determination of Cd(II) ions in groundwater and industrial effluent wastewater samples. This method could also be used as colorimetric assay for sensing applications of ammonia in water. The silver nanoparticles incorporated in polymer matrix give the better dielectric constant which gives better ability to store electric potential energy under the influence of alternative electric field. Silver nanoparticles are used in conductive inks, and their incorporation into such composites enhances the thermal and electrical conductivity. Ag nanoparticles embedded into polyaniline resulted in an increased electrical conductivity and improved dielectric properties by two orders of magnitude in comparison with pure polyaniline matrix and are generally used in microelectronic devices. Nanosilver can prove to be very useful and handy in the textile industry by embedding them into the fiber (spun) or embedded in filtration membranes of water purification systems.

4 Polymer-/AgNP-Based EMI Shielding

Ouite recently, electronics and communication have witnessed a technology boom. This have been realized with the development of advanced products like cellular phones, high-speed communication systems, military wireless devices, advanced radars, etc. Sometimes electromagnetic waves are emitted out from the electronic circuits. These EM waves combine and create hindrance in the normal functioning of other electronic circuits. Adjacent electronic devices experience several malfunction by processing several noise signals. This interference is known as Electromagnetic Interference (EMI). It has been reported that exposure to electromagnetic waves for a substantial amount of time may poses health hazards to the human life (Kalia 2015). Therefore, a considerable amount of efforts in terms of research has been put toward development low-cost and lightweight EMI shielding materials which can minimize the impact of EMI (Chen et al. 2014; Meng et al. 2018; Azim et al. 2006). EMI shielding is the property of a material which can attenuate EM waves or a part of it either by reflection and/or by adsorption (Azim et al. 2006). Reflection occurs because of the impedance mismatch between incident wave and shielding material (Li et al. 2013). For lowering the impact of the

absorption loss, the shield should have nomadic charge carriers and/or electric or magnetic dipoles which will interact with the EM field in the radiation (Yu et al. 2012; Choi et al. 2017). EM waves attenuate due to ohmic and heat losses of material when it enters in a current induced medium. This is known as absorption loss, and to deal with this problem, such kind of materials should have high amount of conductivity as well as permeability (Lee et al. 2016). EMI shielding works upon the principle of the good electrical conductivity of materials (Kim et al. 2016). However, major disadvantages associated with them are that they suffer from poor chemical resistance, corrosion, high density, and difficulty in processing. On this backdrop, the advent of conductive polymers and polymer composites has taken place. Flexibility, processibility, corrosion resistant, light weight are some of the key attributes of conducting polymer composites which makes them an ideal alternative for metal-based EMI shielding materials. However, modification of these polymer-based composites is highly desirable since they consume a large filler loading yet lack in providing adequate conductivity to the material (Lee et al. 2016). Polyaniline and polypyrrole (PPy) are the widely used conducting polymers for EMI shielding applications providing shielding efficiency in the range of 26–30 dB. Nanocomposites with thicker film offer better shielding efficacy, where absorption remains the principle shielding mechanism. Processability of these films can be enhanced by suitably blending with synthetic resin; however, shielding efficiency gets constrained in this process (Lee et al. 2016). Fillers with higher aspect ratio (higher length and/or lower diameter) provide more paths to create contact with each other which in term helps in providing higher electrical conductivity to the system. Higher aspect ratio of the filler provides more surface area; hence, percolation threshold gets lowered and shielding efficiency gets increased. The large surface area is also beneficial as it helps in multiple reflections near the surface. EM radiation at higher frequency penetrates only near the skin of material, and it is known as the skin depth. In this perspective, metallic nanowires with superior electrical conductivity are used in polymers nanocomposites. Initially, copper nanowires were used as reinforcement. However, oxidization under atmospheric condition limits the usage of copper in the nanocomposites, and thus, silver nanowires were introduced to the system (Ahmed et al. 2015). EMI shielding materials sometimes require flexibility and transparency of film for specified applications such as transparent coatings. Silver nanowires can be incorporated on the flexible substrate to obtain flexible transparent films. Hu et al. paved synthesized silver nanowires in assistance with polyethylene oxide (PEO) on flexible substrate of polyethylene terephthalate (PET). Further, a layer of transparent poly(ethersulfone) (PES) was given to prevent the corrosion of silver nanowires, and a sandwich system with enhanced shielding efficiency was fabricated (Gashti et al. 2015). Weak adhesion forces between Ag nanowires and substrate often restrict the viability for commercialization of the product in the field of transparent conducting films. Poly(diallyldimethyl-ammonium chloride) (PDDA) has been used as a substrate to mitigate the adherence problem. Li et al. in their research prepared a sandwich material consisting poly(diallyldimethyl-ammonium chloride) (PDDA) and AgNW as bottom layer and graphene oxide (GO) and PDDA as a overcoating layer (OCL). The top layer has been fabricated in layer-by-layer (LbL) assembly route (Kwon et al. 2001). In another approach to increase the compatibility of Ag nanowires with different resin 3-Aminopropyltriethoxysilane (APTES) silane has been used as surface modifier (Kreuer 2001). Over the years, several methods have been incorporated with an aim to provide effective shielding effectiveness along with several other auxiliary yet essential properties as stretchability, flexibility, and transmittance. The overview of the literature on Ag nanoparticle-incorporated polymer nanocomposites for EMI shielding applications has been summarized in Table 4.

Table 4	Summary	of the literat	ure on Ag	nanoparticle	e-incorporated	polymer	nanocomp	osites for
EMI shie	lding							

Key attributes in process	Obtained results and inferred conclusions	References
In situ polymerization of pyrrole. Variable loading of AgNPs (0.5– 10 wt%)	Maximum shielding effectiveness (SE) was observed in the range of -30 to -35 dB for 5 and 10% Ag-loaded films	Lee et al. (2016)
Variation in deposition sequence of. Ag NWs and MWCNTS on cellulosic papers	Ag NW as top layer hybrid papers displayed better electrical conductivity compared to the hybrid cellulose papers with MWCNT top-coating layer	Mamlouk and Scott (2012)
Ag NWs were coated on cellulose papers by dip coating method Coatings were stabilized by poly (vinylpyrrolidone) (PVP)	Light weight, flexible material for EMI shielding applications	Zhang and Chen (2011)
Microporous SBS (styrene-b-butadiene-b-styrene) polymer was prepared from sugar templates Microporous SBS were dipped in silver precursor solution Infiltrated precursors were reduced to obtain the composites	Porous structures enables higher loading of AgNPs After 300 stretching cycles EMI SE values were still around 30 dB in 8– 12 GHz frequency ranges	Agel et al. (2001)
AC electrodeposition of Ag into porous aluminum oxide templates Solution processing technique AgNWs in polystyrene matrix	Higher percolation threshold was observed with Ag NWs compared to multi-wall carbon nanotubes EMI SEs with Ag NWs/PS composites were found 31.85 dB at 2.5 vol. % filler loading	Ahmed et al. (2015)
Coating on wool surface with polypyrrole (PPy) by one-step UV-induced polymerization AgNO ₃ was used as catalyst for oxidation of pyrrole monomers	Lightweight textile-based EM shielding material for civil applications	Wang et al. (2014)

(continued)

Key attributes in process	Obtained results and inferred conclusions	References
Large-scale industrial reduction of AgNPs from lucose and silver nitrate at low temperature	10 wt% AgNPs in PVA matrix results in EMI SE of maximum 51 dB in the 1 GHz frequency Increasing filler loading reduces skin depth	Matsui et al. (1986)
Incorporation of Ag nanoflakes and AgNP decorated multi-wall carbon nanotube on NBR matrices Finally, bar coating on polyimide films	Reflction was dominant shielding mechanism. Maximum SE was observed 75 dB at1 GHz	Matsui et al. (1986)
Use of poly (diallyldimethyl-ammonium chloride) for enhancement of adhesion strength between Ag NWs and the substrate	Aggregation of Ag NWs gets reduced	Kwon et al. (2001)
PVDF-BaTiO ₃ -Ag composites were prepared by ultrasonic mixing, followed by solvent evaporation and finally hot pressing	EMI SE of PVDF can be enhanced with incorporation of nanolevel or micron level BaTiO ₃ powders Small volume of Ag inclusion-enhanced SE significantly	Arranz-Andrés et al. (2013)
Enhancement of corrosion resistance of Ag NWS through poly (ethersulfones) (PESs)	EMI SE can be enhanced by increasing the thickness of Ag NWs	Gashti et al. (2015)
Use of APTES silane (aminopropyltriethoxysilane) for enhancement of compatibility of AgNPs with hydrophilic and hydrophobic resin	Loading of filler can be reduced up to 4 times by incorporating Ag NWs compared to AgNPs in epoxy resins	Kreuer (2001)

Table 4 (continued)

5 Polymer-/AgNP-Based Supercapacitor

There is a continuous search for new material to meet the requirements of high power density, long durability, moderate energy density, and long cycle for novel applications in energy storage.

Supercapacitors have attracted much attention due to their excellent high power density, safe operation, easy handling, and long cycle life. In order to achieve fast charging devices for the purpose of energy storage, supercapacitor devices are designed such as to traverse the gap between the batteries and capacitors. These energy storage devices are considered as the future of the next-generation electric vehicles. Supercapacitors can be used for harnessing more regenerative breaking energy and will deliver rapid acceleration due to their ability to charge and discharge quickly. Based on the variety of charge storage mechanism, supercapacitors are classified into two subclasses: (i) electrical double-layer capacitor (EDLC) where the capacitance comes from the charge separation at the electrode–electrolyte interface and (ii) pseudo-capacitors where the pseudo-capacitance comes from the faradaic reaction occurring at the electrode–electrolyte interface (Sawangphruk et al. 2013; Lee et al. 2015; Das et al. 2017).

Nowadays, conducting polymer has attracted much attention because of its properties such as high electrical conductivity, chemical stability, and environmental firmness (Zang et al. 2008). An extensive review was reported by Snook et al. describing the background of conducting polymers as supercapacitor electrode materials (Abdelhamid et al. 2015). The cost-effective approach for fabrication of high-performance supercapacitor polymer composite materials with tunable energy and power densities is in high demand, and Table 5 summarizes the supercapacitors based on the silver/polymer composites. Thus, the synthesis of polymer/silver nanoparticle films as electrodes for supercapacitor offers the advantages of lower cost and high charge density in comparison with metal oxides. Over last few years, polymer-nanoparticle-based nanocomposites supercapacitors have gained prominence. The combination of two or more individual components enhances the electrical, mechanical, and thermal properties of the entire composite system. The combination of polymers with nanoparticle with attractive properties results in the formation of a material with unique electronic properties. The incorporation of

	1 1		1
Composition	Method	Capacitance result	References
Polyacrylic acid/ polypyrrole/ silver composite	Chemical polymerization method	Specific capacitance 226 F $g^{-1}at$ 10 mV s ⁻¹ and energy density of 17.45 Wh kg ⁻¹ at 0.5 m A cm ⁻²	Patil et al. (2013)
AgNP film on PET substrate	Roll-to-roll process	(i) Specific capacitance of T/EDLC- (49.5 F g ⁻¹ at 5 mV s ⁻¹) (ii) Specific capacitance of L/EDLC- (99.4 F g ⁻¹ at 5 mV s ⁻¹)	Yeo et al. (2014)
AgNP–PANI– graphene	In situ polymerization technique	The specific capacitance of 142 F/g ⁻¹ at applied current density of 1.5 A/g ⁻¹ was found for AgNP– PANI–graphene/CFP	Sawangphruk et al. (2013)
AgNP electrode on (PVA– H3PO4)	The roll-to-roll printing process	The areal capacitance of 45 mF cm ^{-2} at 0.3 mA cm ^{-2} was obtained for the electrode	Lee et al. (2015)
PEDOT: PSS– AgNP	Dip coating technique	The specific capacitance of about 140 F g^{-1} at 20 mVs ⁻¹ was obtained for PEDOT: PSS–AgNP electrode	Patil et al. (2016)
PGs–Ag (GPGs)	Compression method	The specific capacitance of 253 F/g at 1 A/g was obtained for PEDOT-coated GPGs (PGPG) electrode	Das et al. (2017)
Ag-(PPy/Gr) nanocomposite	Simple mixing	The specific capacitance of 472 F/g at a 0.5 A/g current density was obtained for Ag-PPy/Gr nanocomposite	Dhibar and Das (2017)

Table 5 Overview of supercapacitors based on various AgNP/polymer nanocomposites

silver nanoparticles in polymers decreases the resistivity of the polymers with an acceptance level of specific conductance. Silver nanoparticles have unique optical, electrical, electrochemical, and catalytic properties. Thus, silver nanoparticles are employed with the selection of the organic and inorganic phases to develop specific properties in the novel materials.

So far, numerous strategies have been employed toward attainment of vividly unique and different conductive polymer nanostructures and devices based on it. Numerous methods have been employed for the synthesis of polymer silver nanoparticle nanocomposites via chemical or electrochemical treatment for various electronic applications. Afzal et al. studied the structural and electrical properties of the PANI/silver nanocomposite. Moreover, the optical and electrical transport properties of a PANI/silver nanocomposite were extensively studied by Gupta et al. (2010) PANI/silver nanocomposite as a function of silver weight percentage for vapor sensing application was studied by Choudhury (2009). The electrochemical properties of PANI/silver nanocomposite films were studied by Zhou et al. (2009). According to Patil et al. (2013), polyacrylic acid/polypyrrole/silver shows supercapacitive behavior of the electrodes by using cyclic voltammetry and charge–discharge test (Patil et al. 2013). For PPY/PAA/Ag composite electrodes, maximum specific capacitance 226 F g⁻¹ at 10 mV s⁻¹ and energy density of 17.45 Wh kg⁻¹ at 0.5 mA cm⁻² was reported.

Recently, there is an increasing interest in the development of flexible/bendable and lightweight supercapacitor for energy storage. Yeo et al. 2014 focus on the fabrication of flexible supercapacitors by printed silver nanoparticle films on polyethylene terephthalate substrate. The thermal and laser annealing treatment was employed to increase the conductivity of silver nanoparticle films effectively. The silver nanoparticles are linked together to form a continuous and bulk metal through melting and solidification steps. In comparison with the conventional thermal processed supercapacitor, superior electrical and thermal properties were obtained for laser-processed supercapacitors. The supercapacitors were fabricated by roll-to-roll process for developing wearable electronics. The thermally processed/ electric double-layer capacitor (T/EDLC) shows 49.5 F g⁻¹ specific capacitance at 5 mV s⁻¹ as compared to laser-processed/electric double-layer capacitor (L/EDLC, 99.4 F g⁻¹ at 5 mV s⁻¹). Two times higher overall improvement was reported for laser-processed/electric double-layer capacitor.

Sawangphruk et al. (2013) synthesized nanocomposite of silver nanoparticlepolyaniline-graphene (AgNP-PANI-graphene) by an in situ polymerization technique as shown in Fig. 5. Silver nanoparticles and graphene were obtained by their respective precursor, i.e., silver nitrate and graphene oxide. These materials act as co-oxidizing agents which enables the conversion of aniline monomers to PANI in the AgNP-PANI-graphene nanocomposite system. With increasing interest in the field of flexible supercapacitors, AgNP-PANI-graphene composites were dispersed in acetone and then coated on flexible carbon fiber paper (CFP) by simple spray-coating technique.

The electrochemical kinetic properties of the prepared electrodes were examined using cyclic voltammetry and galvanostatic charge–discharge methods. The specific



Fig. 5 Illustration of **a** Ag nanoparticle ink is deposited on the PET film. **b** Schematic diagram of optical experimental setup. **c** SEM image of fabricated AgNP films (Sawangphruk et al. 2013). Copyright 2013. Reproduced with permission from Royal Society of Chemistry

capacitance of 142 F/g^{-1} at an applied current density of 1.5 A/g^{-1} was found for AgNP–PANI–graphene/CFP. After the charge–discharge test, the AgNP–PANI–graphene/CFP electrode shows capacity retention of up to 3000 cycles with 97.5% of the original specific capacitance.

Among recent reports, Lee et al. (2015) fabricate solid supercapacitor with flexible silver nanoparticle current collector by a roll-to-roll printing process. The laser annealed silver nanoparticle electrode depicts excellent electrical conductivity. The as-prepared flexible electrodes with silver nanoparticle current collector along with active materials were sandwiched with a polymer medium layer (polyvinyl alcohol–phosphoric acid) as shown in Fig. 6. Both the electrolyte and separator are assembled together to form flexible supercapacitors that can be easily bent up to 135 °C. These kind of fabricated flexible electrodes were studied for electrochemical properties using cyclic voltammetry and charge–discharge test. The electrode retains its properties and performance even under physical disturbance such as bending. The areal capacitance of 45 mF cm⁻² at 0.3 mA cm⁻². In order to evaluate the cyclic stability of the supercapacitor based on laser annealing, the assembling supercapacitor was inspected with the help of galvanostatic charge–discharge measurement at 5 mA cm² for 1200 cycles under varied kinds of bending



Fig. 6 Schematic depicting the fabrication of flexible Ag electrodes through a R2R gravure offset printing followed by **b** focused laser sintering. **c** Fabrication of an all-solid-state supercapacitor using Ag electrodes as current collectors (Lee et al. 2015). Copyright 2015. Reproduced with permission from Royal Society of Chemistry

conditions. The flexible supercapacitors exhibited electrochemical function of over 1200 operating cycles even under intense stressful bending conditions.

Recently, Patil et al. (2016) reported the synthesis of poly(3,4ethylenedioxythiophene): poly(styrene sulfonate) (PEDOT: PSS)-silver nanoparticles (AgNP) electrode by a very simple yet cost-effective dip coating technique mainly used for supercapacitor application. Cyclic voltammetry was employed to study the supercapacitor behavior of the electrodes by three electrode systems with 0.1 M H₂SO₄ electrolyte. 140 F g⁻¹ at 20 mV s⁻¹ specific capacitance was obtained for PEDOT: PSS–AgNP electrode.

Very recently in 2017, Patil et al. (2016) reported PEDOT-coated GPGs composite for supercapacitor application which retains their specific capacitance even after the application of large compression. They also possess the ability to recover elastically even from a hundred compression-expansion cycles. Initially, the macroporous cross-linked polymer (PG) was impregnated with polyphenols derived from organic green tea. As the PG is insulating in nature, the conductivity was introduced by the deposition of gold on its surface. The gold was deposited by using two-step methods; firstly, the silver nanoparticles are formed using in situ reduction on the PG walls using polyphenols. Afterward, the gold films are deposited on these same walls. The gold coated PGs (GPGs) were then deposited on the surface of poly(3,4-ethylenedioxythiophene) as a pseudocapacitive material. The PEDOT-coated GPGs (PGPG) was then evaluated for electrochemical studies. The specific capacitance of 253 F/g at 1 A/g was found for PEDOT-coated GPGs (PGPG). Upon compressing the device to 25% of its original size, the capacitance was found to be 243 F/g. Thus, the large compression does not affect the performance of the device. Moreover, the macroporous nature of these PGPG makes it an ideal choice to fulfill the PGPG pores using gel electrolyte.
6 Polymer-/AgNP-Based Fuel Cells

Fuel cells are one of the promising means for generating power in the twenty-first century. Compared to the coal combustion engine, the fuel cell is highly efficient and eco-friendly. Recently, the polymer electrolyte membrane fuel cells encountered several drawbacks such as high fuel crossover and cost-effectiveness. This has diverted the focus of the researchers on making PEMs with low fuel crossover, high proton conductivity, durability, thermal stability, maximum power density, high proton conductivity, and low cost (Wang et al. 2013; Tedsree et al. 2011; Trogadas et al. 2011). This material has very promising applications in view and with regard of the progress in catalytic systems, electronic and photovoltaic devices, fuel cells, sensors, biomaterials, among various others. Recently, hybrid organic-inorganic composite membranes have arisen as an effective alternative approach toward application in the field of a fuel cell. This review mainly focuses on the study of polymer nanocomposites toward fuel cell application. In order to establish and maintain the basic standards of environment and clean energy technologies, they should be powered with fuels acquired from renewable and nonpolluting source with cost-effectiveness. Till now, many efforts are made by various researchers for the development of these technologies (Tang et al. 2011; Nguyen et al. 2012).

Currently, the available commercial fuel cells face the huge challenge of high manufacturing cost, mainly because platinum (Pt) is used as a catalyst to accelerate the reactions. Platinum is the major cost contributor in the fabrication of fuel cell which results in a high price of fuel cell stacks. In order to overcome these challenges, other catalysts need to be explored. Out of various metal complexes, silver (Ag) and nickel (Ni) are the cheaper catalysts used in alkaline media. The silver nanoparticles (AgNPs) exhibit significant physicochemical properties due to its high surface area and reactivity. Precisely, the low cost of silver nanoparticles replaces other noble metals such as (Au, Ru, Pt, and Pd) to become the best catalyst in fuel cells. The fuel cell application involves certain components like polymer in the proton exchange membrane, binder for the electrodes, and matrix for bipolar Al'tshuler 2012). plates (Ostapova and The electrodes typically comprise of nanoparticles as catalyst particles and polymers as a binder. The nanoparticles deposited with polymeric binder are designed to deliver improved performance over the conventional electrodes. The incorporation of nanoparticle in the proton exchange membrane enhances the proton conductivity and also improves the mechanical properties. The polymer serves as high surface and provides protection against the fouling of the metal surface, a scaffold for high dispersion and anchoring of the metal particle. Several kind of polymers are being used in fuel cell applications, such as a hyperbranched polymer with a hydroxyl group at the periphery, cross-linked sulfonated poly(ether ketone), sulfonated polybenzimidazole copolymer, phosphoric acid doped polybenzimidazole, sulfonated polyarylenethioethersulfone, and sulfonated polybenzimidazole. The availability of the finely dispersed particles in the polymer ensures high surface area and possible enhancement of the unique characteristics of the composites. However, the one of the most important contributory factors adding toward the membrane decaying which in turn eventually limits the lifetime of polymer electrolyte fuel cells (PEFCs) and its degradation is this only (Chang et al. 2013; Park et al. 2014; Seo et al. 2015). The degradation in the PEFC is a multi-step mechanism. This review talks in detail about the technologies involved with Ag nanoparticle-based polymer nanocomposites fuel cell interests (Şimşek et al. 2016).

Over the last few years, several excellent comprehensive reviews have been published in the study of polymer silver nanocomposites for fuel cell application. Jiang et al. produced an extremely active electrocatalyst for oxygen reduction reactions (ORRs) in an alkaline media via coating carbon-based silver nanoparticles along with Pd (Pd@Ag/C) using a galvanic displacement method (Stoševski et al. 2016). Both the Pd and Ag coated catalyst were fabricated by employing galvanic displacement process along with the usage of carbon-supported silver nanoparticles as substrate. The ORR current degradation rate for the Pd@Ag/C was about 154 A cm⁻² h⁻¹. The incorporation of Pd@Ag/C targeting the ethanol oxidation was found to be inactive making it a promising non-Pt catalyst for ORRs in alkaline media for the direct alcohol fuel cells (Stoševski et al. 2016; Jiang et al. 2010).

So far, the production of hydrogen from formic acid restricts at room temperature by the sufficiently active and/or selective solid catalysts. According to Tedsree et al., the Ag nanoparticle coated with a thin layer of Pd atoms can significantly enhance the production of H_2 from formic acid at ambient temperature (Mi et al. 2007). They have reported a new class of catalyst (Ag–Pd core–shell) with interfaces and can be tailored for structural and electronic effects. This catalyst affectedly promotes the production of hydrogen from the decomposition of formic acid, which favors the processing and separation at room temperature. The production of catalyst offers a number of exciting possibilities for the development and exploitation of small portable PEM fuel cell devices (Mi et al. 2007; Tedsree et al. 2011).

Trogadas et al. have focused on the efficiency of freestanding silica-supported metal (Pt, Pd, Ag, and Au) nanoparticles for (PEM) degradation in an actual working fuel cell (Frackowiak et al. 2006). The fuel cell performance and the macroscopic rate of PEM degradation were examined, depending upon the effect of incorporating the metal nanoparticles into Nafion. The composite membranes were prepared by unsupported and silica-supported Au, Ag, Pt. and Pd nanoparticles. Compared to the Nafion membrane (control), the addition of these freestanding nanoparticles lowers the fluoride emission rate (FER) by 35, 60, 80, and 90%, respectively. These results emphasize toward the fact that the incorporation of certain selected metal nanoparticles having radical scavenging abilities proves to be a promising approach toward mitigation of PEM degradation in a full-fledged operating fuel cell as shown in Fig. 7 (Frackowiak et al. 2006).

Tang et al. studied the synthesis of flexible and unique network structure of polyaniline (PANi) and polypyrrole (PPy) supported by Pt and Ag catalysts having membranes in the form of eggshells (Stankovich et al. 2006). The uniform dispersion of Pt and Ag nanomaterials along with the polymers resulted in the



Fig. 7 Image depicting the performance of Nafion and composite Nafion (metal nanoparticles) membrane-based MEAs at 80 °C and 75% RH using air as oxidant and hydrogen as fuel (Frackowiak et al. 2006). Copyright 2011. Reproduced with permission from Elsevier

formation of catalysts depicting much higher electrocatalytic activities than those of bare Pt and Ag electrodes. The role of the conducting polymer network supports highlighted in this study could be of great importance and can eventually be applied for the designing and development of numerous efficient and effective MOR catalysts; also, these PANi and PPy supported Pt and Ag catalysts. The above-mentioned desirable properties allow these materials to be successfully used in high-temperature PEMFCs and other fields (Stankovich et al. 2006; Tang et al. 2011).

Nguyen et al. successfully synthesized Pt nanoparticles by modified polyol and using silver nitrate as an effective structure-modifying agent (Hirata et al. 2004). The as-prepared nanoparticles could be further used as an efficient catalyst for polymer electrolyte membrane fuel cells (PEMFCs) and direct methanol fuel cells (DMFCs) since they exhibited the complexity in terms of surface structure and morphology (Hirata et al. 2004; Nguyen et al. 2012).

In early publications, Ostapova et al. provide a study on the cross-linking of polymers based on macrocyclic polyphenols (Peng et al. 2008). In particular, the metacyclophaneoctols can serve as a matrix of proton-conducting membranes and electrode materials for generating chemical current sources. The metacyclophaneoctols were produced from coking coal, the main source of raw materials for the production. Furthermore, the conductometric and potentiometric studies were performed for the properties of polymetacyclophaneoctols and metal/polymer nanocomposites. According to the study, the H^+ form of polysulfonatote-traphenylmetacyclophaneoctol with 0.2 S/cm electrical conduction corresponds to the best performance characteristics for proton exchange membranes of hydrogen fuel cells.

Moreover, the polysulfonatotetraphenylmetacyclophaneoctol comprising 2% palladium and 10% silver was chosen as a material for the positive electrode, at which oxygen is reduced.

With the increase in technological demands, the polymer electrolyte membranes comprised of highly conductive metal nanowires for novel current collectors were fabricated in such a way to develop an extremely high stretchable function for flexible fuel cells. Moreover, this flexible current collector maximizes the clamping forces under bent conditions resulting in the reduction of ohmic resistance. These fuel cells show an increase in the power density with a decrease in radius of curvature of the cells. Recently, flexible power sources have been extensively studied by various researchers. Chang et al. synthesized polydimethylsiloxane-coated flexible current collect layer of silver nanowires by using a successive multi-step growth method for enhancing the length of the silver nanowires (Zang et al. 2008). Under high bending conditions of silver nanowires electrode, considerable improved electrical conductivity was achieved. The cell achieved a power density of 71 mW cm⁻² under various bending conditions (Fig. 8).

Park et al. discuss the flexible polymer electrolyte fuel cell fabricated by polydimethylsiloxane coated with very long Ag nanowires percolation network (VAgNPN) current collector (Afzal et al. 2009). The cell shows a decrease in the tendency of electrochemical performances with an increase in torsion.



Fig. 8 Schematic of the process for fabricating p Ag NW percolation network electrode patterns on the flow channel patterned PDMS for bendable fuel cell (Zang et al. 2008). Copyright 2013. Reproduced with permission from the Royal Society of Chemistry

The investigation of electrochemical impedances shows loss of performance of flexible fuel cell with an increase of ohmic and faradaic resistances. The maximum power densities 16.8 and 10.9 mW/cm⁻² were observed for a flexible fuel cell at no torsion and 25° of torsion. The result shows the decrease in the tendency of power density with increase of torsion.

Recently, Seo et al. devoted major time and attention in the synthesis of graphene nanosheet-supported Pd, Pd_3Ag , Pd_3Fe , and Pd_3Co nanoparticles through impregnation along with heat treatment (Gupta et al. 2010). These catalysts having similar metal particle size were used to compare the oxygen reduction reaction (ORR) activity under both acidic and alkaline conditions. The results of electrochemical testing exhibit the ORR activity of high loading Pd and Pd alloy catalysts on GNS. The exhibition of excellent ORR activity by GNS-supported Pd or Pd-based alloy nanoparticle catalyst makes it a strong potential candidate for replacing Pt for usage as cathode electrodes of fuel cells shown in Fig. 9.

Among the recent reports, Şimşek et al. synthesized multifunctional polymer electrolytes by various fabrication methods (Choudhury 2009). Polymer matrix (intercalated poly(vinyl alcohol)/octadecylamine montmorillonite), with partner polymer [poly(maleic anhydride-alt-methyl vinyl ether)], NaOH, and Ag-carrying polymer complexes was fabricated via solution blends as shown in Fig. 10. These fabricated novel nanofiber electrolytes are the potential candidates for applications in energy harvesting and fuel cell nanotechnology.

Very recently, Ivan et al. report the synthesis of carbon-supported silver nanoparticles (Ag: NPs/C) with the help of gamma irradiation-induced reduction



Fig. 9 Schematic of oxygen reduction reaction, ORR, performances of graphene-supported palladium (Pd) and palladium alloys (Pd_3X : X = Ag, Co, and Fe) catalysts (Gupta et al. 2010) Copyright 2015. Reproduced with permission from Elsevier



Fig. 10 Schematic depicting the synthetic pathways and chemistry of the multifunctional nanofiber structures (Choudhury 2009). Copyright 2016. Reproduced with permission from Wiley

method; the morphology is shown in Fig. 11 (Zhou et al. 2009). The as-prepared Ag: NPs/C was studied by rotating ring disk method. These can be potentially used as an electrocatalysts in alkaline fuel cells.

Marcos et al. focus on the permeation of silver nanoparticles in poly [sulfonated-co-AA] and poly[styrene sulfonated-co-AA] membranes with the help of electrochemical techniques (Patil et al. 2013). This report indicates the fact that sulfonated copolymer in the medium is more permeable toward the diffusion of silver nanoparticles in comparison with non-sulfonated film. Moreover, in the electrodes, the presence of polymeric film does not affect the redox process Ag^{+}/Ag^{0} . These membranes are a promising material for application in the development of fuel cells.



Fig. 11 TEM images of Ag:NPs/C/polymer electrocatalysts with corresponding Ag particle size distributions (Zhou et al. 2009). Copyright 2009. Reproduced with permission from Elsevier

7 Polymer-/AgNP-Based Sensors

Conducting polymer nanocomposites are widely reported as potential sensors with good sensitivity, response/recovery time, stability, durability, and selectivity. Nanoparticles significantly enhance these parameters which are very much essential for the commercialization; however, the selectivity and durability still remain as challenges. Many sensors work quite exceptionally under controlled laboratory atmospheres, whereas target detection in a complex environment stands difficult. PANI is an important polymer in fabricating sensors of various kinds. For instance, PANI/AgNP sensors detect methanol vapor at room temperature with excellent repeatability and reversibility. The composite showed an increase in voltage when exposed to methanol vapors, and the value decreased when it was placed in nitrogen. PANI influences the composite microstructure by creating a porous fibrous structure with small grain size which enables superior methanol vapor detection compared to pure AgNP. PANI/tin oxide nanocomposites are also reported for its sensing performance toward aqueous ammonia. Several interactions such as hydrogen bonding, chemical bonding, and van der Waals forces exist between the vapor molecules adsorbed and PANI. Due to this effect, the conductivity of PANI increases when exposed to acidic atmosphere and decreases when exposed to basic atmosphere. When the sensor is kept in aqueous NH₃, the resistance value changes abruptly depending on the concentration. The response time and recovery time for the sensor to NH₃ exposure were, respectively, 1–7 and 14 min. At high NH₃ concentration (30%), the sensing material showed faster response.

NH₃ sensing at room temperature was studied for the P3HT:1.00 mol% Au/ AgNP nanocomposite films by Kruefu et al. The samples were synthesized by single-step FSP process and further optimized. The optimal composite showed better NH₃ sensing over ethanol, CO, H₂S, NO₂, and H₂O compared to neat P3HT, 1.00 mol% Au/AgNP, and other composites. The higher sensing performance is because of the catalytic effect of Au/AgNP nanoparticles and the porous blended nanoparticle structure. Detection of aqueous HCl vapors at different concentrations (10, 20, and 30%) was done using PANI/AgNP composite. The resistance value decreased when exposed to the vapors and at 30%, and fastest response was achieved. Deprotonation happening in PANI reduces it from the emeraldine salt state to the emeraldine base state which reduces the hole density and increases the resistance. The sensitivity results of the PANI/AgNP composite show its high sensitivity and good repeatability toward both ammonia and HCl vapors as compared to neat PANI. The high-performance can be attributed to the porous structure due to the incorporation of AgNP nanoparticles. Another conducting polymer, PPy, was used to fabricate the AgNP nanocomposite by electro-polymerization method on Pt substrates. The AgNP affects the electro-polymerization, and the polymerization on composite initial layers is easier than the pure PPy initial layers. Humidity sensors from AgNP/PANI nanocomposite were also reported which showed change in resistance/impedance with water adsorption. Adsorption of water generates ions and leads to efficient directional charge conduction. PANI/AgNP showed three times better performance than the PANI due to the composite porosity.

The photo sensitivity of AgNP-10/PET composites towards different UV power densities were checked and compared with other photodetectors, these materials exhibited faster response/recovery, good orientation, high sensitivity, reproducibility, reliability, and multi-level photoresponse. This flexible sensor proved its high mechanical stability through bending test as well. Chen et al. reported the pressure sensing properties of AgNP nanowire-PMMA composite layers. The interacting surface area of the composite was maintained as $\sim 1 \text{ cm}^2$ by keeping

0.1 g weighing plastic cup on the sensor surface. In the absence of external pressure, the dielectric constant and initial capacitance were 6.38 and 90.42 pF, respectively. The electrical and dielectric properties in addition to the capacitance values are influenced by the nature and type of polymer matrices and nanoparticles. Thin films of AgNP–PSS/PVA composites were characterized for their pressure sensing behavior by changing the applied dynamic strain. For the same strain, the voltage generated were compared and correlated to observe the piezoelectric response. With dynamic strain, the voltages generated were enhanced and the main reason for the piezoelectricity of (AgNP–PSS/PVA) films is the embedment of nanoparticles. The generation of piezoelectric potential across the composite thin film is a result of mechanical deformation occurring because of the periodically varying longitudinal tensile and compressive stress vibrations. The output voltage depends strongly on the vibrations, and the d₃₁ piezoelectric coefficient measures the vibration sensing.

Humidity sensing curves for the PANI/AgNP composite showed a decrease in resistance with an increase in AgNP concentration. The sensitivity is calculated as the ratio of resistance in dry condition (20% relative humidity) to the resistance at a particular humidity. In the composite, charge transfer capacity of PANI increases in presence of zinc and gives distinct response to water vapor. Similar humidity sensors from PANI/AgNP composites are also reported. Lao et al. practiced electrochemical polymerization to fabricate PANI/AgNP composites and PANI-AgNP/PVA double layers to be useful in sensing applications.

Photoconductive responses of a device made using AgNP NBs functionalized with different polymers (PSS, PS-co-Mac, PNIPAM, and CMC) indicate interesting results. When the UV was radiated on, the photoconductance of PSS-coated AgNP NB (red line) increased by 75,000 times, differing from the other polymer-coated AgNPs. This can be due to the coupling effect formation between the AgNP particles and PSS polymer. At the time of UV illumination, the non-moving electrons trap photon-generated holes and reduce the rate of electron-hole recombination which in turn enhances the lifetime of the carrier. The UV absorption spectrum of PSS has a peak around 260 nm that is close to the applied UV source wavelength, 280 nm.

8 Conclusion

Although there are a variety of methods for the synthesis of AgNP, the one including MW shows the enhancement in various properties such as electrical, microwave absorption, transport, and antimicrobial. We found that MW synthesis of AgNP is a highly efficient, reliable, high-yielding, and low-cost method. The antibacterial and antimicrobial properties of AgNP and their nanocomposites are a huge interest area for research in present time as they show great potential for reducing infections and hence providing faster healing and better health to the patients.

Acknowledgements This publication was partially made possible by UREP grant 23-116-2-041 from Qatar National Research Fund (a member of Qatar Foundation). The statements made herein are solely the responsibility of the authors.

References

- Abdelhamid ME, O'Mullane AP, Snook GA (2015) Storing energy in plastics: a review on conducting polymers & their role in electrochemical energy storage. RSC Adv 5(15):11611–11626
- Afzal AB, Akhtar MJ, Nadeem M, Ahmad M, Hassan MM, Yasin T, Mehmood M (2009) Structural and electrical properties of polyaniline/silver nanocomposites. J Phys D Appl Phys 42:015411
- Agel E, Bouet J, Fauvarque JF (2001) Characterization and use of anionic membranes for alkaline fuel cells. J Power Sour 101:267–274
- Ahmed A, Al-Ghamdi OA, Al-Hartomy F, El-Tantawy FY (2015) Novel polyvinyl alcohol/silver hybrid nanocomposites for high performance electromagnetic wave shielding effectiveness. Microsyst Technol 21:859–868
- Ajayan PM, Schadler LS, Braun PV (2003) Nanocomposite science and technology. Wiley. ISBN 3-527-30359-6
- Amendola V, Meneghetti M (2009) Laser ablation synthesis in solution and size manipulation of noble metal nanoparticles. Phys Chem 11(20):3805–3821
- Amendola V, Polizzi S, Meneghetti M (2006) Laser ablation synthesis of gold nanoparticles in organic solvents. J Phys Chem B 110:7232–7237
- Arranz-Andrés J, Pulido-González N, Marín P, Aragón AM, Cerrada ML (2013) Electromagnetic shielding features in lightweight PVDF-aluminum based nanocomposites. Prog Electromagn Res B 48:175–196
- Atta AM, Hegazy M, El-Azabawy OE, Ismail HS (2011) Novel dispersed magnetite core-shell nanogel polymers as corrosion inhibitors for carbon steel in acidic medium. Corros Sci 53:1680–1689
- Azim SS, Satheesh A, Ramu KK, Ramu S, Venkatachari G (2006) Studies on graphite based conductive paint coatings. Prog Org Coat 55:1–4
- Bakshi SR, Lahiri D, Argawal A (2010) Carbon nanotube reinforced metal matrix composites-a review. Int Mater Rev 55(1):41–64
- Blinova NV, Stejskal J, Trchova M, Sapurina I (2009) Ciric-marjanovic the oxidation of aniline with silver nitrate to polyaniline-silver composites. Polymer 50:50–56
- Brett DW (2006) A discussion of silver as an antimicrobial agent: alleviating the confusion. Ostomy/Wound Manag 52:34–41
- Bu Y, Chen Z, Li W (2013) Dramatically enhanced photocatalytic properties of Ag-modified graphene–ZnO quasi-shell–core heterojunction composite material. RSC Adv 3:24118
- Cao YC, Jin R, Nam JM, Thaxton CS, Mirkin CA (2003) Raman dye-labeled nanoparticle probes for proteins. JACS 125:14676–14677
- Chang I, Park T, Lee J, Lee MH, Ko SH, Cha SW (2013) Bendable polymer electrolyte fuel cell using highly flexible Ag nanowire percolation network current collectors. J Mater Chem A 1:8541
- Chen J, Wang J, Zhang X, Jin Y (2008) Microwave-assisted green synthesis of silver nanoparticles by carboxymethyl cellulose sodium and silver nitrate. Mater Chem Phys 108(2–3):421–424
- Chen D, Qiao X, Qiu X, Chen J (2009) Synthesis and electrical properties of uniform silver nanoparticles for electronic applications. J Mater Sci 44(4):1076–1081
- Chen M, Zhang L, Duan S, Jing S, Jiang H, Luo M, Li C (2014) Highly conductive and flexible polymer composites with improved mechanical and electromagnetic interference shielding performances. Nanoscale 6:3796–3803

- Choi O, Deng KK, Kim NJ, Ross LJ, Surampalli RY, Hu Z (2008) The inhibitory effects of silver nanoparticles, silver ions, and silver chloride colloids on microbial growth. Water Res 42:3066–3074
- Choi HY, Lee TW, Lee SE, Lim JD, Jeong YG (2017) Silver nanowire/carbon nanotube/cellulose hybrid papers for electrically conductive and electromagnetic interference shielding elements. Compos Sci Technol 150:45–53
- Choudhury A (2009) Polyaniline/silver nanocomposites: dielectric properties and ethanol vapour sensitivity. Sens Actuators B: Chem 138(1):318–325, 24 Apr 2009
- ChumanovEvanoff DD, Evanoff G (2004) Size-controlled synthesis of nanoparticles. 2. Measurement of extinction, scattering, and absorption cross sections. J Phys Chem B 108:13957–13962
- Das AP, Bal B, Mahapatra PS (2015) CRC press, Taylor & Francis, pp 277-288
- Das C, Chatterjee S, Kumaraswamy G, Krishnamoorthy K (2017) Elastic compressible energy storage devices from ICE templated polymer gels treated with polyphenols. J Phys Chem C 121(6):3270–3278, 6 Feb 2017
- De Gusseme B, Sintubin L, Baert L, Thibo E, Hennebel T, Vermeulen G, Uyttendaele M, Verstraete W, Boon N (2010) Biogenic silver for disinfection of water contaminated with viruses. Appl Environ Microb 76:1082
- Dhibar S, Das CK (2017) Silver nanoparticles decorated polypyrrole/graphene nanocomposite: a potential candidate for next-generation supercapacitor electrode material. J Appl Polym Sci 134 (16), 20 Apr 2017
- Dolgaev SI, Simakin AV, Voronov VV, Shafeev GA, Bozon-Verduraz F (2002) Nanoparticles produced by laser ablation of solids in liquid environment. Appl Surf Sci 186:546–551
- Elechiguerra JL, Burt JL, Morones JR, Camacho-Bragado A, Gao X, Lara HH, Yacaman MJ (2005) Interaction of silver nanoparticles with HIV-1. J Nanobiotechnol 3:6
- El-Mahdy G, Atta AM, Dyab A, Al-Lohedan HA (2013) Protection of petroleum pipeline carbon steel alloys with new modified core-shell magnetite nanogel against corrosion in acidic medium. J Chem 1–9
- El-Mahdy GA, Atta AM, Al-Lohedan HA (2014) Synthesis and evaluation of poly(sodium 2-acrylamido-2-methylpropane sulfonate-co-styrene)/magnetite nanoparticle composites as corrosion inhibitors for steel. Molecules 19:1713–1731
- Enoch DA, Ludlam HA, Brown NM (2006) Invasive fungal infections: a review of epidemiology and management options. J Med Microbiol 55:809
- Espuche E, David L, Rochas C, Afeld JL, Compton JM, Thompson DW, Kranbuehl DE (2005) In situ generation of nanoparticulate lanthanum(III) oxide-polyimide films: characterization of nanoparticle formation and resulting polymer properties. Polymer 46:6657–6665
- Eswaraiah V, Sankaranarayanan V, Ramaprabhu S (2011) Inorganic nanotubes reinforced polyvinylidene fluoride composites as low-cost electromagnetic interference shielding materials. Nanoscale Res Lett 6:137
- Evangelos M (2007) Nanocomposites: stiffer by design. Nat Mater 6(1):9-11
- Fadiran OO, Girouard N, Meredith JC (2018) Pollen fillers for reinforcing and strengthening of epoxy composites. Emergent Mater 1(1–2):95–103
- Fayyad EM, Abdullah AM, Hassan MK, Mohamed AM, Jarjoura G, Farhat Z (2018) Recent advances in electroless-plated Ni-P and its composites for erosion and corrosion applications: a review. Emergent Mater 1(1–2):1–22
- Feng QL, Wu J, Chen GQ, Cui FZ, Kim TN, Kim JO (2000) A mechanistic study of the antibacterial effect of silver ions on *Escherichia coli* and *Staphylococcus aureus*. Biomed Mater Res 52:662–668
- Frackowiak E, Khomenko V, Jurewicz K, Lota K, Béguin F (2006) Supercapacitors based on conducting polymers/nanotubes composites. J Power Sour 153:413–418
- Freeman AI, Halladay LJ, Cripps P (2012) The effect of silver impregnation of surgical scrub suits on surface bacterial contamination. Vet J 192:489
- Galdiero S, Falanga A, Vitiello M, Cantisani M, Marra V, Galdiero M (2011) Silver nanoparticles as potential antiviral agents. Molecules 16:8894

- Gashti MP, Ghehi ST, Arekhloo SV, Mirsmaeeli A, Kiumarsi A (2015) Electromagnetic shielding response of UV-induced polypyrrole/silver coated wool. Fibers Polym 16:585–592
- Ghosh S, Das AP (2015) Modified titanium oxide (TiO₂) nanocomposites and its array of applications: a review. Toxicol Environ Chem 97(5):491–514
- Guo Q, Ghadiri R, Weigel T, Aumann A, Gurevich E, Esen C, Medenbach O, Cheng W, Chichkov B, Ostendorf A (2014) Comparison of in situ and ex situ methods for synthesis of two-photon polymerization polymer nanocomposites. Polymers 6(7):2037
- Gupta K, Jana PC, Meikap AK (2010) Optical and electrical transport properties of polyaniline– silver nanocomposite. Synth Met 160:1566
- Han M, Gao X, Su JZ, NieS (2001) In vivo cancer targeting and imaging with semiconductor quantum dots. Nat Biotechnol 19:631-635
- Hirata M, Gotou T, Horiuchi S, Fujiwara M, Ohba M (2004) Thin-film particles of graphite oxide 1: high-yield synthesis and flexibility of the particles. Carbon 42:2929
- Huang H, Yang X (2004) Synthesis of polysaccharide-stabilized gold and silver nanoparticles: a green method. Carbohydr Res 339:2627–2631
- Imai M, Akiyama K, Tanaka T, Sano E (2010) Highly strong and conductive carbon nanotube/ cellulose composite paper. Compos Sci Technol 70:1564–1570
- Jain J, Arora S, Rajwade JM, Omray P, Khandelwal S, Paknikar KM (2009) Silver nanoparticles in therapeutics: development of an antimicrobial gel formulation for topical use. Mol Pharm 6:1388
- Jing X, Wang Y, Zhang B (2005) Electrical conductivity and electromagnetic interference shielding of polyaniline/polyacrylate composite coatings. J Appl Polym Sci 98:2149–2156
- Jones CM, Hoek EMV (2010) A review of the antibacterial effects of silver nanomaterials and potential implications for human health and the environment. J Nanopart Res 12:1531
- Jung J, Oh H, Noh H, Ji J, Kim S (2006) Metal nanoparticle generation using a small ceramic heater with a local heating area. J Aerosol Sci 37:1662–1670
- Kabashin AV, Meunier M (2003) Synthesis of colloidal nanoparticles during femtosecond laser ablation of gold in water. J Appl Phys 94:7941–7943
- Kalia S (2015) Springer series on polymer and composite material. Springer
- Kawasaki M, Nishimura N (2006) 1064-nm laser fragmentation of thin Au and Ag flakes in acetone for highly productive pathway to stable metal nanoparticles. Appl Surf Sci 253:2208– 2216
- Khanna PK, Singh N, Charan S, Subbarao VVVS, Gokhale R, Mulik UP (2005) Synthesis and characterization of Ag/PVA nanocomposite by chemical reduction method. Mater Chem Phys 93:117–121
- Kim JS (2007) Antimicrobial effects of silver nanoparticles. Nanomed Nanotechnol 3:95
- Kim S, Yoo B, Chun K, Kang W, Choo J, Gong M et al (2005) Catalytic effect of laser ablated Ni nanoparticles in the oxidative addition reaction for a coupling reagent of benzylchloride and bromoacetonitrile. J Mol Catal A: Chem 226:231–234
- Kim K-J, Sung WS, Suh BK, Moon S-K, Choi J-S, Kim JG, Lee DG (2009) Antifungal activity and mode of action of silver nano-particles on *Candida albicans*. Biometals 22:235
- Kim SW, Jung JH, Lamsal K, Kim YS, Min JS, Lee YS (2012) Antifungal effects of silver nanoparticles (AgNPs) against various plant pathogenic fungi. Mycobiology 40(1):53–58
- Kim E, Lim DY, Kang Y, Yoo E (2016) Fabrication of a stretchable electromagnetic interference shielding silver nanoparticle/elastomeric polymer composite. RSC Adv 6:52250–52254
- Klasen HJ (2000) Historical review of the use of silver in the treatment of burns. I. Early Uses Burns 26:117–130
- Kreuer KD (2001) On the development of proton conducting polymer membranes for hydrogen and methanol fuel cells. J Membr Sci 185:29–39
- Kruis FE, Fissan H, Peled A (1998) Synthesis of nanoparticles in the gas phase for electronic, optical and magnetic applications—a review. J Aerosol Sci 29(5–6):511–535
- Krutyakov YA, Kudrynskiy AA, Olenin AY, Lisichkin GV (2008) Synthesis and properties of silver nanoparticles: advances and prospects. Russ Chem Rev 77:233

- Ku BK, Maynard AD (2006) Generation and investigation of airborne silver nanoparticles with specific size and morphology by homogeneous nucleation, coagulation and sintering. J Aerosol Sci 37(4):452–470
- Kumar A, Vemula P, Ajayan PM, John G (2008) Silver-nanoparticle-embedded antimicrobial paints based on vegetable oil. Nat Mater 7:236
- Kwon S, Ma R, Kim U, Choi HR, Baik S (2001) Flexible electromagnetic interference shields made of silver flakes, carbon nanotubes and nitrile butadiene rubber. Carbon 214(68):118–124
- Lara HH, Garza-trevino EN, Ixtepan-turrent L, Singh DK (2011) Silver nanoparticles are broad-spectrum bactericidal and virucidal compounds. J Nanobiotechnol 9:30
- Le AT (2012) Powerful colloidal silver nanoparticles for the prevention of gastrointestinal bacterial infections. Adv Nat Sci Nanosci Nanotechnol 4:045007
- Lee H, Hong S, Kwon J, Suh YD, Lee J, Moon H, Yeo J, Ko SH (2015) All-solid-state flexible supercapacitors by fast laser annealing of printed metal nanoparticle layers. J Mater Chem A 3:8339–8345
- Lee TW, Lee SE, Jeong YG (2016) Highly effective electromagnetic interference shielding materials based on silver nanowire/cellulose papers. ACS Appl Mater Interfaces 8:13123-13132
- Li SM, Jia N, Zhu JF, Ma MG, Xu F, Wang B, Sun RC (2011a) Rapid microwave-assisted preparation and characterization of cellulose–silver nanocomposites. Carbohyd Polym 83 (2):422–429
- Li SM, Jia N, Ma MG, Zhang Z, Liu QH, Sun RC (2011b) Cellulose-silver nanocomposites: microwave-assisted synthesis, characterization, their thermal stability, and antimicrobial property. Carbohyd Polym 86(2):441–447
- Li HJ, Zhang AQ, Hu Y, Sui L, Qian DJ, Chen M (2012) Large-scale synthesis and self-organization of silver nanoparticles with tween 80 as a reductant and stabilizer. Nanoscale Res Lett 7(1):612
- Li Y, Cui P, Wang L, Lee H, Lee K, Lee H (2013) Highly bendable, conductive, and transparent film by an enhanced adhesion of silver nanowires. ACS Appl Mater Interfaces 5:9155–9160
- Link S, Burda C, Nikoobakht B, El-Sayed M (2000) Laser-induced shape changes of colloidal gold nanorods using femtosecond and nanosecond laser pulses. J Phys Chem B 104:6152– 6163
- Mafune F, Kohno J, Takeda Y, Kondow T, Sawabe H (2000) Structure and stability of silver nanoparticles in aqueous solution produced by laser ablation. J Phys Chem B 104:8333–8337
- Mafune F, Kohno J, Takeda Y, Kondow T, Sawabe H (2001) Formation of gold nanoparticles by laser ablation in aqueous solution of surfactant. J Phys Chem B 105:5114–5120
- Mallikarjuna NN, Varma RS (2007) Microwave-assisted shape-controlled bulk synthesis of noble nanocrystals and their catalytic properties. Cryst Growth Des 7(4):686–690
- Mamlouk M, Scott K (2012) Effect of anion functional groups on the conductivity and performance of anion exchange polymer membrane fuel cells. J Power Sour 211:140–146
- Matsui K, Tobita E, Sugimoto K, Kondo K, Seita T, Akimoto A (1986a) J Appl Polym Sci 32:4137–4143
- Matsui K, Tobita E, Sugimoto K, Kondo K, Seita T, Akimoto A (1986b) Novel anion exchange membranes having fluorocarbon backbone: preparation and stability. J Appl Polym Sci 32 (3):4137–4143
- Matsumura Y, Yoshikata K, Kunisaki SI, Tsuchido T (2002) Mode of bactericidal action of silver zeolite and its comparison with that of silver nitrate. Appl Environ Microbiol 69:4278–4281
- Melaiye A, Sun Z, Hindi K, Milsted A, Ely D, Reneker DH, Tessier CA, Youngs WJ (2005) Silver (I) – imidazole cyclophane gem-diol complexes encapsulated by electrospun tecophilic nanofibers: formation of nanosilver particles and antimicrobial activity. J Am Chem Soc 127:2285–2291
- Melvin GJ, Ni QQ, Suzuki Y, Natsuki T (2014) Microwave-absorbing properties of silver nanoparticle/carbon nanotube hybrid nanocomposites. J Mater Sci 49(14):5199–5207
- Meng T, Yi C, Liu L, Karim A, Gong X (2018) Enhanced thermoelectric properties of two-dimensional conjugated polymers. Emergent Mater 1(1–2):1

- Merga G, Wilson R, Lynn G, Milosavljevic B, Meisel D (2007) Redox catalysis on "naked" silver nanoparticles. J Phys Chem C 111:12220–12206
- Mi H, Zhang X, An S, Ye X, Yang S (2007) Microwave-assisted synthesis and electrochemical capacitance of polyaniline/multi-wall carbon nanotubes composite. Electrochem Commun 9:2859–2862
- Monteiro DR, Gorup LF, Silva S, Negri M, de Camargo ER, Oliveira R, Barbosa DD, Henriques M (2011) Silver colloidal nanoparticles: antifungal effect against adhered cells and biofilms of *Candida albicans* and *Candida glabrata*. Biofouling 27:711–719
- Morones JR (2005) The bactericidal effect of silver nanoparticles. Nanotechnology 16:2346
- Mrlik M, Sobolciak P, Krupa I, Kasak P (2018) Light-controllable viscoelastic properties of a photolabile carboxybetaine ester-based polymer with mucus and cellulose sulfate. Emergent Mater 1(1–2):1–1
- Mukherjee P, Ahmad A, Mandal D, Senapati S, Sainkar SR, Khan MI, Parishcha R, Ajaykumar PV, Alam M, Kumar R, Sastry M (2001a) Fungus-mediated synthesis of silver nanoparticles and their immobilization in the mycelial matrix: a novel biological approach to nanoparticle synthesis. Nano Lett 1(10):515–519
- Mukherjee P, Ahmad A, Mandal D, Senapati S, Sainkar SR, Khan MI, Ramani R, Parischa R, Ajayakumar PV, Alam M, Sastry M (2001b) Bioreduction of AuCl₄– ions by the fungus, Verticillium sp. and surface trapping of the gold nanoparticles formed. Angew Chem Int Ed 40:3585–3588
- Nasrollahi A, Pourshamsian KH, Mansourkiaee P (2011) Antifungal activity of silver nanoparticles on some of fungi. Int J Nano Dim 1(3):233–239
- Nguyen VL, Ohtaki M, Ngo VN, Cao MT, Nogami M (2012) Structure and morphology of platinum nanoparticles with critical new issues of low-and high-index facets. Adv Nat Sci: Nanosci Nanotechnol 3:025005
- Noorbakhsh F, Rezaie S, Shahverdi AR (2011) Antifungal effects of silver nanoparticle alone and with combination of antifungal drug on dermatophyte pathogen *Trichophyton rubrum*. Int Proc Chem Biol Environ Eng 5:364
- Oliveira M, Ugarte D, Zanchet D, Zarbin A (2005) Influence of synthetic parameters on the size, structure, and stability of dodecanethiol-stabilized silver nanoparticles. J Colloid Interface Sci 292:429–435
- Ostapova EV, Al'tshuler GN (2012) Electrochemical properties of polymetacyclophaneoctols and metal-polymer nanocomposites on their basis. Solid Fuel Chem 6:368–370
- Pal S, Tak YK, Song JM (2007a) Does the antibacterial activity of silver nanoparticles depend on the shape of the nanoparticle? A study of the gram-negative bacterium *Escherichia coli*. Appl Environ Microbiol 73:1712
- Pal S, Tak YK, Song JM (2007b) Dose the antibacterial activity of silver nanoparticles depend on the shape of the nanoparticle? A study of the gram-negative bacterium *Escherichia coli*. Appl Environ Microbiol 27:1712–1720
- Pal A, Shah S, Devi S (2009) Microwave-assisted synthesis of silver nanoparticles using ethanol as a reducing agent. Mater Chem Phys 114(2–3):530–532
- Panáček A, Kolář M, Večeřová R, Prucek R, Soukupová J, Kryštof V, Hamal P, Zbořil R, Kvítek L (2009) Antifungal activity of silver nanoparticles against Candida spp. Biomaterials 30:6333
- Parak WJ, Gerion D, Pellegrino T, Zanchet D, Micheel C, Williams CS, Boudreau R, Le Gros MA, Larabell CA, Alivisatos (2003) Biological applications of colloidal nanocrystals. Nanotechnology 14: R15–R27
- Park S, Park HH, Kim SY, Kim SJ, Woo K, Ko G (2014a) Antiviral properties of silver nanoparticles on a magnetic hybrid colloid. Appl Environ Microbiol 80(8):2343–2350
- Park T, Chang I, Lee J, Ko SH, Cha SW (2014b) Performance variation of flexible polymer electrolyte fuel cell with Ag nanowire current collector under torsion. ECS Trans 64(3):927–934
- Patil DS, Pawar SA, Patil PS, Kim JH, Shin JC (2016) Silver nanoparticles incorporated PEDOT-PSS electrodes for electrochemical supercapacitor. J Nanosci Nanotechnol 16 (10):10625–10629, 1 Oct 2016

- Patil DS, Pawar SA, Devan RS, Gang MG, Ma YR, Kim JH, Patil PS (2013) Electrochemical supercapacitor electrode material based on polyacrylic acid/polypyrrole/silver composite. Electrochim Acta 105:569–577
- Paul DR, Robeson LM (2008) Polymer nanotechnology: nanocomposites. Polymer 49:3187–3204
- Peng C, Zhang S, Jewell D, Chen GZ (2008) Carbon nanotube and conducting polymer composites for supercapacitors. Prog Nat Sci 18:777–788
- Ponnamma D, Erturk A, Parangusan H, Deshmukh K, Ahamed MB, Al-Maadeed MA (2018) Stretchable quaternary phasic PVDF-HFP nanocomposite films containing graphene-titania-SrTiO₃ for mechanical energy harvesting. Emergent Mater 1(1–2):55–65
- Popelka A, Sobolciak P, Mrlík M, Nogellova Z, Chodák I, Ouederni M, Al-Maadeed MA, Krupa I (2018) Foamy phase change materials based on linear low-density polyethylene and paraffin wax blends. Emergent Mater 1(1–2):1–8
- Radheshkumar C, Münstedt H (2005) Morphology and mechanical properties of antimicrobial polyamide/silver composites. Mater Lett 59:1949–1953
- Raffi M, Hussain F, Bhatti TM, Akhter JI, Hameed A, Hasan MM (2008) Antibacterial characterization of silver nanoparticles against *E. Coli*. J Mater Sci Technol 24:192–196
- Raimondi F, Scherer GG, Kötz R, Wokaun A (2005) Nanoparticles in energy technology: examples from electrochemistry and catalysis. Angew Chem Int Ed Engl 44:2190–2209
- Roe D, Karandikar B, Bonn-Savage N, Gibbins B, Roullet J-B (2008) Antimicrobial surface functionalization of plastic catheters by silver nanoparticles. J Antimicrob Chemoth 61:869
- Rogers JV, Parkinson CV, Choi YW, Speshock JL, Hussain SM (2008) A preliminary assessment of silver nanoparticle inhibition of monkeypox virus plaque formation. Nanoscale Res Lett 3:129
- Saifuddin N, Wong CW, Yasumira AA (2009) Rapid biosynthesis of silver nanoparticles using culture supernatant of bacteria with microwave irradiation. J Chem 6(1):61–70
- Salehi-Khojin A, Jhong HM, Rosen BA, Zhu W, Ma S, Kenis PJA, Masel RI (2013) Nanoparticle silver catalysts that show enhanced activity for carbon dioxide electrolysis. J Phys Chem C 117:1627
- Sawangphruk M, Suksomboon M, Kongsupornsak K, Khuntilo J, Srimuk P, Sanguansak Y, Klunbud P, Suktha P, Chiochan P (2013) High-performance supercapacitors based on silver nanoparticle–polyaniline–graphene nanocomposites coated on flexible carbon fiber paper. J Mater Chem A 1:9630
- Scheibel HG, Porstendörfer J (1983) Generation of monodisperse Ag- and NaCl-aerosols with particle diameters between 2 and 300 nm. J Aerosol Sci 14(2):113–126
- Seo MH, Choi SM, Lee DU, Kim WB, Chen Z (2015) Correlation between theoretical descriptor and catalytic oxygen reduction activity of graphene supported palladium and palladium alloy electrocatalysts. J Power Sour 300:1–9
- Serpone N, Salinaro A, Horikoshi S, Hidaka H (2006) Beneficial effects of photo-inactive titanium dioxide specimens on plasmid DNA, human cells and yeast cells exposed to UVA/UVB simulated sunlight. J Photochem Photobiol A 179:200
- Sharma VK, Yngard RA, Lin Y (2009a) Silver nanoparticles: green synthesis and their antimicrobial activities. Adv Colloid Sur Interface 145:83
- Sharma VK, Yngard RA, Lin Y (2009b) Silver nanoparticles: green synthesis and their antimicrobial activities. Adv Coll Interface Sci 145(1–2):83–96
- Shrivastava S, Bera T, Roy A, Singh G, Ramachandrarao P, Dash D (2007) Characterization of enhanced antibacterial effects of novel silver nanoparticles. Nanotechnology 18225:1031
- Şimşek M, Rzayev ZM, Acar S, Salamov B, Bunyatova U (2016) Novel colloidal nanofiber electrolytes from PVA-organoclay/poly (MA-alt-MVE), and their NaOH and Ag-carrying polymer complexes. Polym Eng Sci 56:204–213
- Singh D, Rawat D (2016) Microwave-assisted synthesis of silver nanoparticles from *Origanum majorana* and Citrus sinensis leaf and their antibacterial activity: a green chemistry approach. Bioresour Bioprocess 3(1):14
- Singh AK, Raykar VS (2008) Microwave synthesis of silver nanofluids with polyvinylpyrrolidone (PVP) and their transport properties. Colloid Polym Sci 286(14–15):1667–1673

- Sintubin L, Verstraete W, Boon N (2012) Biologically produced nanosilver: current state and future perspectives. Biotechnol Bioeng 109:2422
- Sondi I, Salopek-Sondi B (2004) Silver nanoparticles as antimicrobial agent: a case study on *E. coli* as a model for Gram-negative bacteria. J Colloid Interface Sci 275:177–182
- Sondi I, Goia DV, Matijević E (2003) Preparation of highly concentrated stable dispersions of uniform silver nanoparticles. J Colloid Interface Sci 260:75
- Sreeram KJ, Nidhin M, Nair BU (2008) Microwave assisted template synthesis of silver nanoparticles. Bull Mater Sci 31(7):937–942
- Stankovich S, Dikin DA, Dommett GH, Kohlhaas KM, Zimney EJ, Stach EA, Piner RD, Nguyen ST, Ruoff RS (2006) Graphene-based composite materials. Nature 442:282
- Stoševski I, Krstić J, Milikić J, Šljukić B, Kačarević-Popović Z, Mentus S, Miljanić Š (2016) Radiolitically synthesized nano Ag/C catalysts for oxygen reduction and borohydride oxidation reactions in alkaline media, for potential applications in fuel cells. Energy 101:79–90
- Suresh AK (2010) Silver nanocrystallites: biofabrication using *Shewanella oneidensis*, and an evaluation of their comparative toxicity on gram-negative and gram-positive bacteria. Environ Sci Technol 44:5210
- Sylvestre JP, Kabashin AV, Sacher E, Meunier M, Luong JHT (2004) Stabilization and size control of gold nanoparticles during laser ablation in aqueous cyclodextrins. J Am Chem Soc 126(23):7176–7177
- Tang Q, Wu J, Tang Z, Li Y, Lin J, Huang M (2011) Flexible and macroporous network-structured catalysts composed of conducting polymers and Pt/Ag with high electrocatalytic activity for methanol oxidation. J Mater Chem 21:13354
- Tarasenko N, Butsen A, Nevar E, Savastenko N (2006) Synthesis of nanosized particles during laser ablation of gold in water. Appl Surf Sci 252:4439–4444
- Tedsree K, Li T, Jones S, Chan CW, Yu KM, Bagot PA, Marquis EA, Smith GD, Tsang SC (2011) Hydrogen production from formic acid decomposition at room temperature using a Ag-Pd core-shell nanocatalyst. Nat Nanotechnol 6:302–307
- Temgire MK, Joshi SS (2003) Optical and structural studies of silver nanoparticles. Radiat Phys Chem 71:1039–1044
- Trogadas P, Parrondo J, Mijangos F, Ramani V (2011) Degradation mitigation in PEM fuel cells using metal nanoparticle additives. J Mater Chem 21:19381–19388
- Tsuji T, Iryo K, Watanabe N, Tsuji M (2002) Preparation of silver nanoparticles by laser ablation in solution: influence of laser wavelength on particle size. Appl Surf Sci 202:80–85
- Tsuji T, Kakita T, Tsuji M (2003) Preparation of nano-size particle of silver with femtosecond laser ablation in water. Appl Surf Sci 206:314–320
- Wang B, Zhuang X, Deng W, Cheng B (2010) Microwave-assisted synthesis of silver nanoparticles in alkalic carboxymethyl chitosan solution. Engineering 2(05):387
- Wang YJ, Qiao J, Baker R, Zhang J (2013) Alkaline polymer electrolyte membranes for fuel cell applications. Chem Soc Rev 42(13):5768–5787
- Wang X, He B, Hu Z, Zeng Z, Han S (2014) Current advances in precious metal core-shell catalyst design. Sci Technol Adv Mater 15(4):043502
- Weber AP, Friedlander SK (1997) In situ determination of the activation energy for restructuring of nanometer aerosol agglomerates. J Aerosol Sci 28(2):179–192
- Wiley B, Sun Y, Mayers B, Xi Y (2005) Shape-controlled synthesis of metal nanostructures: the case of silver. Chem Eur J 11:454–463
- Xiang D, Chen Q, Pang L, Zheng C (2011) Inhibitory effects of silver nanoparticles on H1N1 influenza A virus in vitro. J Virol Methods 178:137
- Yeo J, Kim G, Hong S, Kim MS, Kim D, Lee J, Lee HB, Kwon J, Suh YD, Kang HW, Sung HJ (2014) Flexible supercapacitor fabrication by room temperature rapid laser processing of roll-to-roll printed metal nanoparticle ink for wearable electronics application. J Power Sources 246:562–568, 15 Jan 2014
- Yin H, Yamamoto T, Wada Y, Yanagida S (2004) Large-scale and size-controlled synthesis of silver nanoparticles under microwave irradiation. Mater Chem Phys 83(1):66–70

- Yu Y, Ma CM, Teng C, Huang Y, Lee S, Wang I et al (2012) Electrical, morphological, and electromagnetic interference shielding properties of silver nanowires and nanoparticles conductive composites. Mater Chem Phy 136:334–340
- Zang J, Bao SJ, Li CM, Bian H, Cui X, Bao Q, Sun CQ, Guo J, Lian K (2008) Well-aligned cone-shaped nanostructure of polypyrrole/RuO₂ and its electrochemical supercapacitor. J Phys Chem C 112:14843–14847
- Zhang X, Chen J (2011) Maximum equivalent power output and performance optimization analysis of an alkaline fuel cell/heat-driven cycle hybrid system. J Power Sour 196:10088– 10093
- Zhang Y, Peng H, Huang W, Zhou Y, Zhang X, Yan D (2008) Hyperbranched poly (amidoamine) as the stabilizer and reductant to prepare colloid silver nanoparticles in situ and their antibacterial activity. J Phys Chem C 112:2330–2336
- Zhao X, Xia Y, Li Q, Ma X, Quan F, Geng C, Han Z (2014) Microwave-assisted synthesis of silver nanoparticles using sodium alginate and their antibacterial activity. Colloids Surf A 444:180–188
- Zheng M, Gu M, Jin Y, Jin G (2001) Optical properties of silver-dispersed PVP thin film. Mater Res Bull 36:853–859
- Zhou Z, He D, Guo Y, Cui Z, Wang M, Li G, Yang R (2009) Fabrication of polyaniline–silver nanocomposites by chronopotentiometry in different ionic liquid microemulsion systems. Thin Solid Films 517:6767
- Zhou W, Ma YY, Yang HA, Ding Y, Luo XG (2011) A label-free biosensor based on silver nanoparticles array for clinical detection of serum p53 in head and neck squamous cell carcinoma. Int J Nanomed 6:381–386

Electrospun Polymeric Nanofibers: Fundamental Aspects of Electrospinning Processes, Optimization of Electrospinning Parameters, Properties, and Applications



Sowmya Sankaran, Kalim Deshmukh, M. Basheer Ahamed and S. K. Khadheer Pasha

Abstract Nanotechnology is a novel interdisciplinary field of science which has captured profound attention in all research areas due to its unique applications. Polymer nanofibers (PNFs) are one-dimensional (1D) fibers having diameters less than 1000 nanometers (nm). Electrospinning (ES) has been recognized as one of the most efficient, simple, versatile, and cost-effective methods for the fabrication of PNFs, among various other techniques such as phase separation, template synthesis, and self-assembly. The electrospun PNFs are being increasingly applied to biomedical fields due to its high surface-area-to-volume ratio, high porosity, and easy tuning of their structures, functionalities, and properties. Hence, these electrospun PNFs owing to their high specific surface area create a three-dimensional (3D) porous structure that mimics the native extracellular matrix (ECM), vitally useful in biomedical applications. In this chapter, we briefly discuss the fundamental aspects of the ES process and the properties of electrospun PNFs. This chapter also attempts to highlight the applications and importance of nanofibers in various fields of biomedicine such as tissue engineering, drug delivery, and wound healing.

Keywords Electrospinning processes • Nanofibers • Polymers • Biomedical applications

S. K. Khadheer Pasha

© Springer Nature Switzerland AG 2019

S. Sankaran · K. Deshmukh · M. Basheer Ahamed (⊠) Department of Physics, B. S. Abdur Rahman Crescent Institute of Science and Technology, Chennai 600048, Tamil Nadu, India e-mail: basheerahamed@bsauniv.ac.in

Department of Physics, VIT-AP University, Amaravati Campus, Guntur 522501, Andhra Pradesh, India

K. K. Sadasivuni et al. (eds.), Polymer Nanocomposites

in Biomedical Engineering, Lecture Notes in Bioengineering, https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-030-04741-2_12

1 Introduction

Nanotechnology, an interdisciplinary field, prompts scientist and engineers to fabricate and devise novel, unique, and versatile materials, that can be applied in all vital sectors of life such as agriculture, medicine, transportation, energy production, and information technology (IT) (Ponnamma et al. 2018). In the last few decades, the giant progress in the field of nanoscience and nanotechnology has undoubtedly improved the quality life of humans (Rosic et al. 2013). Polymeric nanofibers (PNFs) are an important class of one-dimensional (1D) nanomaterials which are mainly prepared from electrospinning (ES) method. PNFs are one such new class of material with several especial properties suitable for a wide range of applications (Rosic et al. 2013; Hasan et al. 2014). Nanofibers (NFs), as defined by National Science Foundation (NSF), are fibers having at least 1D lesser than 100 nanometers (nm). On the other hand, the nonwoven industry defines NFs as fibers having diameter lesser than one micron (or 1000 nm) (Hasan et al. 2014). NFs are solid fibers with several unique features such as high specific surface area, high porosity, excellent pore interconnectivity, high flexibility, exceptional mechanical strength, and theoretically unlimited length (Fang et al. 2012; Rosic et al. 2012). These unique properties of NFs make them a potential candidate for a plethora of commercial applications, viz. from medicine to consumer products and from industrial to high-tech applications such as drug delivery systems (DDS), tissue engineering, aerospace, energy storage, fuel cells, and IT (Hasan et al. 2014). NFs produced from natural polymers such as collagen, gelatin, chitin, chitosan, silk fibroin, and alginate or from synthetic polymers such as polyvinyl alcohol (PVA), polycaprolactone (PCL), polyethylene glycol (PEG), polylactic acid (PLA), polyglycolic acid (PGA), and poly (lactic-co-glycolic acid) (PLGA) have captured phenomenal attention for their simple processability and also for the easy tunability of their structural, compositional, and functional properties (Lee et al. 2015).

In recent years, several methods such as drawing, self-assembly, template synthesis, ES, and phase separations have been developed to fabricate PNFs. A schematic diagram of phase separation, self-assembly, and ES methods are depicted in Fig. 1. The drawing method uses a sharp tip to pull single long continuous NFs one by one from the viscoelastic material. This process is viable only for viscoelastic materials that are able to withstand strong deformation and being cohesive enough to support the stress developed during drawing, for producing NFs. In template synthesis, a non-porous membrane is used as a template to fabricate a fibril (solid) or tubular (hollow) NFs with controlled shape and diameter. The insulating polymers, intrinsically conducting polymers (ICPs), metals, carbons, semiconductors, etc., can be used as a raw material for this method. However, this method cannot produce single long continuous fiber. The phase separation technique comprises of five major steps such as polymer dissolution, gelation, solvent extraction, freezing, and freeze-drying to create a porous NFs structure. However, the entire process is relatively time-consuming. In self-assembly method, the individual, preexisting components, i.e., small molecular units, assemble



Fig. 1 Schematic diagrams of phase separation, self-assembly, and ES methods for forming PNFs and their corresponding SEM micrographs (Wang et al. 2013). Copyright 2013. Reproduced with permission from Elsevier Ltd.

themselves into appropriate patterns as well as functions. The intermolecular force is responsible for arranging the molecules together and thus decides the shape of the NFs. Similar to phase separation, this method also takes a longer time to form continuous PNFs. Among the aforementioned methods, ES is considered to be the best technique for producing long, continuous PNFs on a larger scale that has excellent control on the fiber dimensions (Huang et al. 2003; Baptista et al. 2013; Wang et al. 2013).

ES is one of the best and appropriate techniques to create pure polymer NFs or polymer composites NFs from the corresponding solution or melt. This technique is much analogous to extrusion spinning which is commonly used in textile industries. On comparing ES technique to extrusion spinning technique, the ES uses electrical force to create PNFs in place of mechanical force. Electrospun NFs membranes own myriads of applications such as scaffolds for biomedical engineering, sensors, organic electronics, fuel cell membranes, and filters (Kanani and Bahrami 2010). Some of the applications of electrospun PNFs are given in Fig. 2 (Huang et al. 2003).

The main driving force for the progress of PNFs is their increasing use in biomedical and biotechnological applications (Zhang et al. 2005; Pawde and Deshmukh 2008a; Venugopal and Ramakrishna 2005; Pawde et al. 2008). PNFs have comparably similar sizes as that of most biological molecules and structures. Hence, they are worthwhile for in vivo as well as in vitro biomedical applications. The unification of NFs and biology has resulted in the advancement of novel diagnostic devices, physical therapy applications, analytical tools, and DDS.



Fig. 2 Potential applications of PNFs (Huang et al. 2003). Copyright 2003. Reproduced with permission from Elsevier Ltd.

Biomedical field is one of the vital application areas that have been best able to trap the maximum potential of ES technique, predominantly for tissue engineering applications, DDS, wound dressing and wound healing, diagnostics, biosensors, etc. (Agarwal et al. 2008; Focarete and Gualandi 2013). Figure 3 represents the transformation of the polymer solution into PNFs using ES process and the potential use of electrospun PNFs for biomedical applications. ES technology is highly competent for fabricating nanofibrous scaffolds (NSs) for culturing tissue cells as well as treating injured and diseased tissues in the portions of skin, blood vessel, tendons, muscles, ligaments, nerves, cartilage, bones etc. (Shin et al. 2012). The usefulness of electrospun NFs produced using biocompatible and biodegradable or non-biodegradable polymers can be recognized from the innumerable research articles that are being published on a regular basis emphasizing its role in biomedical engineering (Deshmukh et al. 2017a; Sridhar et al. 2013).

The electrospun 3D porous membranes possess high surface area that exactly mimics the native extracellular matrix (ECM). The electrospun membranes can be used in composites materials as they have reinforced mechanical properties, biocompatibility, and cellular response. ES technique is a strong tool to fine-tune the



Fig. 3 Schematic diagram depicting the PNFs generated from ES process and their potential use for biomedical applications. Adapted from Rosic et al. (2013)

especial properties of functional materials particularly for biomedical applications, by combining a diverse range of materials with similar morphological characteristics. For example, it is possible to encase biomolecules or bioactive molecules such as enzymes and DNAs into the fibers using conventional or modified ES setups (Ponnamma et al. 2017). Such hybrid NS provides a familiar environment to the cells, leading to their better adhesion, proliferation, migration, alignment, orientation, activation, and differentiation. For instance, collagen fibril enhances the contact between cells and scaffolds. Similarly, electrospun NS is used as a drug delivery carrier (DDC) for carrying drugs to their target sites (Zhang et al. 2005; Haider et al. 2015). The excellent pore interconnectivity of electrospun NFs makes the entire porous structure fully accessible to chemical species (Focarete and Gualandi 2013). Comparing a nanofibrous material to that of a flat surface of a dense material, the NFs have considerably large surface area and directional fiber arrangement that helps cells to discover more sites for adherence and guides them to spread and move in specific directions (Shin et al. 2012). Non-biodegradable polymers have a longer degradation time than biodegradable polymers offering better structural and mechanical support, but it interferes with tissue turnover and remodeling. Hence, they can be effectively used for enzyme immobilization and filtration systems like dialysis etc. Figure 4 depicts the comparison of mechanical, biological, and physicochemical properties of some common polymers. On the contrary, biodegradable polymers due to enzymatic and hydrolytic activities do not interfere with cellular activities and thus permit the cell proliferation. The holes formed by the biodegradable fibers allow ECM to infiltrate and supply nutrition for the proliferating cells. Therefore, these biopolymers can be used in tissue engineering and DDS (Khan et al. 2012; Deshmukh et al. 2015a, b; Pattanashetti et al. 2017). This chapter is an attempt to highlight the basic aspects of the ES technique, the properties, and the potential applications of PNFs in the biomedical field, particularly the use of electrospun PNFs in tissue engineering, DDS, and wound-dressing or healing applications.



Fig. 4 Flowchart depicting the mechanical, biological, and physicochemical properties of some well-known polymers. Adapted from Rosic et al. (2012)

2 Electrospinning Process

2.1 Fundamental Aspects

ES is a well-known, simple, and versatile technique that utilizes a very high electrical field or high voltage (HV) to accelerate a charged polymer jet into ultrafine NFs. The diameter of the PNFs ranges from 1 μ m to 10 nm which is generally 1–3 orders less than the diameter of NFs produced by the other traditional spinning techniques (Fang et al. 2012). A schematic diagram of ES setup in the horizontal direction is shown in Fig. 5 (Huang et al. 2003). Though ES instrument seems to be very simple and easily controllable for producing ultrafine NFs, the physics governing this process is highly complex as it involves the interaction of several physical instabilities (Hasan et al. 2014). The basic ES setup consists of a syringe with metallic needle, HV power supply, and collector. The syringe is loaded with the polymer in solution or melt form, and the tip (or the orifice) of the metallic needle is attached to the positive or the negative terminal of the HV power supply. In most of the cases, the tip of the metallic needle is linked to the positive terminal of the HV power supply. The main function of the syringe pump is to pump the polymeric solution (or the melt) present in the syringe at a steady flow rate (ml/hr)

for producing continuous NFs. The HV for producing an electrically charged jet of polymer solution or melt ranges commonly from 10 to 50 kV. Generally, the negative or the positive terminal of the HV supply is linked to the collector. The collector, in most of the cases, is simply grounded, as displayed in Fig. 5.

On application of HV, the electric field accumulates at the tip of the needle that holds a pendant-shaped droplet of the solution via surface tension. The positive charges get induced on the droplet's surface. The electrostatic force is created against surface tension which may be attributed to the mutual repulsion of induced charges and the nature of the surface charges to move toward the collector (or the counter electrode). On further increasing the HV, the hemispherical surface of the droplet situated at the tip of the metallic needle stretches to produce an inverted cone known as the Taylor cone. Figure 6 illustrates the Taylor cone formation with an increase in applied voltage (Awang et al. 2015). Increasing the HV further, a threshold (or critical) value is reached above which the electrostatic forces overcomes the surface tension and ejects out a fine jet of charged polymer solution from the tip of the inverted cone. This jet emanating out of the inverted cone becomes very thin and long as they reach the collector, as they are further subjected to elongation processes and instabilities. Once the jet reaches the atmosphere, all the low boiling point solvent is evaporated and only charged polymer strands is left behind. Now, the charged polymer strands mutually repel and move away from each other and ultimately get deposited on the collector to form a nonwoven nanofibrous mat, as shown in Fig. 7 (Rosic et al. 2013). Figure 8a-c shows different types of collectors such as flat-type collector, square frame collector, and rotating drum collector that plays a pivotal role in tailoring the structure of PNFs (Khadka and Haynie 2012). Aligned NFs can be fabricated using a controlled deposition technique and also with the help of rotating collector drum. Till now,



Fig. 5 Schematic diagram representing production of PNFs via ES process in the horizontal position (Huang et al. 2003). Copyright 2003. Reproduced with permission from Elsevier Ltd.



Fig. 6 Schematic illustration of Taylor cone formation with increasing applied voltage (Awang et al. 2015). Copyright 2015. Reproduced with permission from Elsevier Ltd.



Fig. 7 As-spun nanofibrous mat collected in aluminum foil collector and its SEM micrograph. Adapted from Rosic et al. (2013)

numerous polymers and filler materials have been successfully electrospun into polymer composite NFs. The PNFs can take up different morphological forms such as porous, core-shell, and layer-by-layer structures. Electrospun NFs capture appreciable attention when compared to other techniques because of their distinct properties, simple fabrication, easy functionalization, and adaptability in manipulating the diameter as well as the morphology of the fibers (Deshmukh et al. 2017b). The new improvization in ES technique includes core-shell ES, multi-layered ES, blowing-assisted ES, two-phase ES, and also post-alignment methods (Preethi et al. 2015).

The preparation of polymer solution by dissolution followed by formation of PNFs by ES is mostly performed at room temperature and at atmospheric condition. The ES equipment should be placed in shock-proof chambers and ventilation systems as some polymers radiate unpleasant or even harmful odor. One must avoid



Fig. 8 Deposition of electrospun PNFs in different types of collectors **a** flat plate stationary collector for nonwoven NFs, **b** square frame collector for unidirectional oriented NFs, and **c** rotating cylindrical drum collector for tubular oriented NFs (Khadka and Haynie 2012). Copyright 2012. Reproduced with permission from Elsevier Ltd.

touching the tip of the needle during the formation of NFs. This is because the fabrication of NFs requires a very high applied DC voltage in the order of several tens of kVs. Polymers in molten form at high temperature can also be electrospun into NFs. In the place of a polymer solution, the syringe can be loaded with the polymer melt also. However, the main difference between polymer solution and polymer melt solution is that the ES process for a polymer melt is carried out in a vacuum condition; i.e., the syringe, the accelerating charged melt fluid jet, and the metal collector must be kept in vacuum (Huang et al. 2003).

2.2 Effect of Optimization Parameters on Electrospinning Process

The transformation of polymer solutions into ultrafine PNFs through ES is influenced by several optimization parameters, which can be grouped into three main divisions (A) solution parameters such as polymer concentration, solvent, surface tension, conductivity, and solution viscosity; (B) processing parameters such as needle-tip-to-collector distance, needle diameter, applied voltage, flow rate, and type of collectors; and (C) environment parameters such as temperature and relative humidity. These optimization parameters directly have an effect on the production of smooth as well as bead-free electrospun NFs. Therefore, it is necessary to thoroughly comprehend the effects of these parameters to get a better understanding of the ES mechanisms and fabrication of PNFs (Gupta et al. 2014).

2.2.1 Effect of Solvent

The formation of smooth and beadless electrospun NFs is mainly dependent on the selection of the solvent. Two things must be kept in mind while selecting the appropriate solvent. Firstly, the preferred solvents must be completely miscible with the polymers of interest. Secondly, the solvent must have low to medium boiling point. The boiling point indirectly signifies the volatility of a solvent. High-volatile solvents generally have very low boiling points and high evaporation rates, which results in drying of the jet at the tip of the metallic needle, and hence, solvents of such type are mostly avoided. This drying will arrest the solution in the needle tip and hence will disturb the ES process. The low-volatile solvents are mostly avoided owing to their high boiling points, as they inhibit the drying or evaporation of solvents during the flight of charged polymer jet strands and ultimately lead to NFs with bead formation due to the deposition of solvent on the collector (Haider et al. 2015).

2.2.2 Effect of Polymer Concentration and Solution Viscosity

In ES process, the concentration of polymer solution is one of the key factors in the formation of NFs. The low concentration of polymer solution leads to electrospraying instead of ES since the solution possesses low viscosity and high surface tensions. At slightly higher concentration, the formation of both the beads and fibers is observed. Smooth NFs are generally formed in an ES process at the suitable high concentration. The fiber diameter will eventually increase when solution concentration increases. Furthermore, the solution concentration can be adjusted for obtaining suitable solution viscosity. Figure 9 depicts SEM micrographs of electrospun PNFs with variegated polymer concentration and solution viscosity (Huang et al. 2003).

Solution viscosity is a crucial parameter that determines the fiber morphology. The low-viscous polymer solution is not suitable to yield continuous and smooth fibers; i.e., the dominant surface tension in it yields just beaded fibers. The very high viscosity of the polymer solution will lead to great difficulty in ejecting jets from solution. As mentioned above, the solution concentration helps to adjust the solution viscosity. It is necessary to note that the viscosity, solution concentration, and molecular weight (MW) of the polymer are interlinked to one another. The polymer solution with appropriate viscosity forms continuous, uniform, and smooth fibers (Fong and Reneker 1999). The polymer content present in the jet and the jet sizes decides the fiber diameter, a primary and crucial parameter in ES process.



Fig. 9 SEM images of electrospun PNFs with variegated polymer concentration and solution viscosity (Huang et al. 2003) Copyright 2003. Reproduced with permission from Elsevier Ltd.



Fig. 10 NFs of PLLA with varying diameter and pore sizes (Huang et al. 2003). Copyright 2003. Reproduced with permission from Elsevier Ltd.

Figure 10 represents poly(L-lactic acid) (PLLA) NFs with varying diameter and pore sizes, wherein the variation in fiber diameter occurs during the polymer jet flight, in between the metallic needle tip and metal collector (Huang et al. 2003).

2.2.3 Effect of Solution Conductivity

The type of polymer, solvent, and the salt are the major factors that decide the solution conductivity. The polyelectrolyte nature of the natural polymers leads to poor fiber formation when compared to synthetic polymers. The conductivity of the solution affects the formation of Taylor cone and also helps in regulating the NFs diameter. A solution with lower conductivity will have deficit charges on the surface of the pendant droplet for producing a Taylor cone, and therefore, ES process will not occur. Further elevating the solution conductivity to a threshold value leads to increase in accumulation of surface charges on the droplet to form Taylor cone, which ultimately decreases the diameter of NFs. Further increasing the conductivity beyond a threshold value will obstruct the Taylor cone formation and ES process.

2.2.4 Effect of Solution Flow Rate

The polymer solution flowing via the tip of the metallic needle decides the morphology of the electrospun NFs. By choosing a proper critical flow rate (in ml/hr) for a polymer solution, uniform beadless electrospun NFs could be well prepared. The threshold value changes with each polymer system. The flow rate of the polymer solution in the syringe is one of the crucial process parameters. The low flow rate is usually considered favorable as the polymer solution acquires more time for polymerization yielding smooth fibers with a thin diameter. In case of higher flow rate, the beaded fibers with the larger diameter will be formed. In case of polystyrene (PS), the bead formation was formed at 0.10 ml/min flow rate and bead-free NFs were witnessed for 0.07 ml/min flow rate. Increase in the flow rate of polymer solution beyond a threshold value results in increased pore size, fiber diameter, and bead formation.

2.2.5 Effect of Applied Voltage

The applied high DC voltage or electric field is an important intrinsic factor for forming ultrafine NFs. It was validated by several research groups that applying higher voltages results in the formation of NFs with thicker diameters. On the contrary, there are several other research groups who proved that the higher voltages lead to narrowing of the fiber diameter, as the electrostatic repulsive force on the charged jet is increased. It can be concluded that the applied electric field has a considerable effect on the diameter of the NFs, in addition to the effect due to other parameters such as solution concentration of the polymer and tip-to-collector distance. Applying HV to a solution via a metallic needle causes the pendent droplet to deform into a Taylor cone and form ultrafine NFs at a critical voltage. This critical voltage is different for every polymer. NFs with a smaller diameter are produced by increasing the applied voltage, which can be mainly attributed to the stretching of the polymer solution and the mutual repulsion of charges in the polymer jet. Inflating the applied voltage further beyond the critical value leads to the enormous bead formation.

2.2.6 Effect of Needle-Tip-to-Collector Distance and Needle Diameter

The distance between the tip of metallic needle and collector also influences the diameter and morphologies of the fibers. This parameter usually depends on the polymer system selected. The evaporation rate, instability or whipping intervals and deposition time depend on this parameter that affects the morphology of the NFs. A critical distance has to be optimized to prepare smooth and uniform electrospun NFs. When this tip-to-collector distance is kept small, defective and large-diameter NFs are produced whereas when this distance is kept large, the diameter of the NFs is witnessed to be decreased. Sometimes even on changing this distance does not have any influence on the morphology of the NFs. In addition, if the distance between needle tip and the collector is very small, then the fiber jets may not have the proper time for solidification prior to deposition on the collector. If this distance is very large, then there is a high possibility of bead fiber formation. Therefore, to obtain proper dryness from the solvent, it is necessary to maintain the optimum tip-to-collector distance.

2.2.7 Effect of Relative Humidity and Temperature

Environmental factors, viz. relative humidity, temperature, etc., affects the diameter as well as the morphology of the NFs. Humidity affects the diameter of the NFs by regulating the solidification process of the charged polymer jet, which depends on the polymer's chemical nature. The temperature is found to increase the evaporation rate of the solvent and decrease the viscosity of the solution, ultimately leading to decrease in the mean fiber diameter (Li and Wang 2013).

2.3 Properties of Electrospun Nanofibers

PNFs own unique properties such as exceedingly high surface area/unit volume, high porosity, excellent structural as well as mechanical properties, extremely high axial strength and outstanding flexibility, lightweight, cost-effectiveness, etc. (Huang et al. 2003; Baptista et al. 2013). Another promising feature of PNFs is its high feasibility to modify their internal bulk content, a surface structure for carrying diverse functionalities, and, more importantly, morphology. After the synthesis of NFs, they can also be easily functionalized by using processes such as physical vapor deposition (PVD) or chemical vapor deposition (CVD) (Kanani and Bahrami 2010; Zhang et al. 2005). In addition, it is also possible to control the secondary structures of NFs for preparing NFs with porous structures, core-shell structures,

and hollow interiors. These outstanding features make PNFs a potential candidate for the wide range of applications. Electrospun NFs membranes are now being used for sensors, filtration, catalysis, reinforcement for composite materials, protective clothing, biomedical applications including scaffolds for tissue engineering, vascular grafts, bone repair, DDS, wound dressing, implants, etc., space applications, and nano-optoelectronics. Thus, these unique and promising features of electrospun PNFs have been identified and selected as a potential candidate for biomedical applications (Agarwal et al. 2008; Focarete and Gualandi 2013).

3 Biomedical Applications of Electrospun Nanofibers

3.1 Tissue Engineering Applications

Tissue engineering is an interdisciplinary field that unifies knowledge from medicine, material science, biology, and engineering. The damaged cells can be supported by tissue-engineered scaffolds for regenerating new ECM without stimulating an immune response. The natural ECM segregates various tissues, creates a protective meshwork around cells, and also offers anchorage or support to the cells (Agarwal et al. 2008). Tissue engineering scaffolds have the ability to build biological substitutes for restoring, improving, and maintaining the function of human tissues. The designing (or engineering) of polymeric matrices (or scaffolds) plays a crucial role in mimicking the structure as well as the biological functions of the natural ECM. Tissue-engineered scaffolds have been used widely because of its unique features. It has been considered as an alternative field to tissue transplantation of the diseased (or malfunctioned) organs. Every year, millions and millions of people suffer owing to the end-stage organ damage and/or even tissue losses (Kanani and Bahrami 2010). Figure 11 illustrates the basic principle of tissue engineering (Fang et al. 2012). A functional scaffold is said to have high porosity, appropriate distribution of pore size, and also pore interconnectivity. Another requirement is that the scaffold's structural integrity should not collapse the pores during neo-tissue formation. The scaffold should also be non-toxic and biocompatible and is expected to actively communicate with the cells for promoting cell proliferation, cell adhesion, cell migration, etc. (Baptista et al. 2013).

There are two methods that are commonly used for renewing, replacing, maintaining, or healing damaged cells or tissues in the field of regenerative medicine. The first method is to fabricate a carrier from the biomaterials similar to that of the damaged tissue or organ which is first rooted from the analogous cells of the patient, and then, the entire system is implanted into the body. Another method that is currently popular involves preparation of a porous 3D substitute that potentially mimics the natural ECM by itself. Nevertheless, it is very challenging to prepare an effective ECM. A competent analog must mimic the topographical and structural characteristics of the natural ECM, must have the potential to connect with the cells



Fig. 11 Illustration of basic principle of tissue engineering. Adapted from Fang et al. (2012)

present in all the 3D, and must also encourage communication between them. Although the physical architecture of the natural ECM is in nm dimensions, it comprises three fundamental groups of macromolecules, viz. (i) filamentary structural proteins (such as collagen, elastin fibers) with 5–500 nm, that offer strength and structure to the matrix or scaffolds, (ii) adhesive glycoprotein that connects the matrix portion to the cells as well as with each other, and (iii) proteoglycans and hyaluronic acid that provide excellent flexibility as well as lubrication to the matrix.

It is a well-known fact that ECM is substantially the most vital part of every tissue as it encases the cells and also generates tissue cells by themselves. ECM, in general, is made up of polymers of fibrous proteins such as collagen and glycosaminoglycans (GAGs) (a form of polymers or proteoglycans made of carbohydrates). ECM usually bestows body support to the tissues/cells (Khan et al. 2012). It plays a greater role rather than merely offering physical supports for the cells; i.e., it regulates cell migration, provides substrates for cell adhesion from specific glands, operates via different bioactive factors, and controls cell growth. At present, the most favorable analogs of ECM are PNFs. This may be attributed to the fact that PNFs can accurately mimic the ECM's fibrillary elements in the most genuine manner. On investigating the human tissues and organs, most of them are in the nm level and are actually hierarchically organized fibrous structures. After embedding the PNFs into the body, it unifies with all those tissues in close proximity to it and bestows efficient cell proliferation, adhesion, differentiation, and migration. They also support neo-vascularization. The PNFs being porous in nature enable the exchange of metabolites and, more importantly, nutrients (Rosic et al. 2013). The electrospun 3D porous NS displays an excellent ability to mimic the structure of natural ECM for providing cell adhesion, movement, invasion, seeding, proliferation, and differentiation and hence becomes a promising candidate to be used in tissue engineering applications (Gupta et al. 2014). The precursor materials used for fabricating scaffolds for tissue engineering should be preferably

biocompatible and biodegradable materials since the incorporated scaffolds should decay with time in the body and restore with newly regenerated tissues. The structure of the scaffolds has a significant impact on the cell binding, and therefore, proper care should be taken to design it. The architecture of fibrous scaffolds, as shown in Fig. 12, is very important and hence affects the cell binding and spreading (Stevens and George 2005; Muzaffar et al. 2018; Asghari et al. 2017; Thangamani et al. 2018; Kishan and Cosgriff-Hernandez 2017; Deshmukh et al. 2017c, d; Turon et al. 2017). The proper selection of the polymer further enhances the biomimetic effects of NFs.

Synthetic polymers such as PCL, PGA, PLA and their polymer blends as well as natural polymers such as collagen and hyaluronic acid can be used to fabricate efficient NFs (Rosic et al. 2013). The biocompatible and biodegradable fibrous scaffolds are prioritized over conventional scaffolds for tissue engineering (Haider et al. 2015). It was validated by several research groups that the usage of pure synthetic or natural polymers alone cannot meet the requisites for creating perfect tissue-engineered scaffolds. Synthetic polymers offer great flexibility during synthesis and fabrication, but they lack cell affinity and surface cell recognition sites and also have low hydrophilicity. On the other hand, the natural polymers are highly biocompatible, but they show poor processability and mechanical properties. It is therefore advantageous to use both synthetic polymers for backbone and natural polymers for cellular attachment so as to fabricate composite NS, which might additionally offer suitable mechanical properties and also bioactive surfaces



Fig. 12 Pictorial depiction of effect of architecture of NS on cell binding and spreading. Adapted from Stevens and George (2005)

(Wang et al. 2013). There are two types of polymer scaffolds which have been classified based on its degradability for tissue engineering, viz. bioresorbable and non-resorbable polymer scaffolds. Generally, the bioresorbable polymer scaffolds decay with respect to time and the decayed products are found to take part in several other metabolic activities occurring within the body. It functions as a scaffold until the time the new ECM grows and replaces it. These bioresorbable scaffolds are extremely advantageous since their remains need not be surgically removed from the body and hence find a wide range of applications as stents, carriers in controlled drug delivery, surgical sutures, and orthopedic devices. Some common examples are PVA, polyhydroxy butyrate (PHB), aliphatic polyesters, poly (amino acids), or their blends. On the other hand, non-resorbable polymer scaffolds such as polyurethanes (PU), polyethylene terephthalate (PET), and polymethyl methacrylate (PMMA) does not erode within the body as they are inherently strong as well as durable. Hence, these types of scaffolds are observed to be best suitable for permanent encapsulations or supports. In addition, it is mostly utilized in the biomedical field for the permanent or temporary prosthesis (Sharma et al. 2015; Mohanapriva et al. 2015, 2016a, 2017; Pertici 2017; Pasha et al. 2015; Pulapura and Kohn 1992; Zong et al. 2002).

The easy tunability of PNFs via ES process helps to biomimic the natural ECM. A diverse range of heart throbbing natural objects like silver ragwort leaf, lotus leaf, honeycomb, rice leaf, polar bear fur, soap bubble, spider webs, etc., have been depicted in Fig. 13 along with their optical images and the SEM micrographs of electrospun NFs that show similar morphology to these natural phenomena (Wang et al. 2013). The first row in Fig. 13 displays a photograph of the biological structures existing in nature. The next row illustrates optical micrographs of the corresponding micro and nanoscale structures. The third row shows the SEM micrographs of electrospun NFs analogous to the aforementioned natural objects.

The optimization of fiber thickness, alignment, and porosity play a vital role in designing the architecture of microstructure for properly fitting in the appropriate place within the body. For instance, thick-layered NFs offer a good response to the pulsating flow in the artery wall, whereas a structurally oriented NFs better mimic vessels and nerves rather than randomly deposited NFs. The orientation or alignment of NFs appreciably influences the response of the cell, for instance; the cells grown on aligned NFs orient in the same direction of the NFs leading to higher proliferation rate. Another way of upgrading NFs is the surface functionalization, which is either done by adsorption or embedding of compositions such as growth factors and GAGs. The GAGs include hyaluronic acid, chondroitin sulfate, heparin, dermatan sulfate etc. The loading of GAG into the NFs is a perfect way to mimic natural ECM, since GAG can bind various growth factors and also link collagen fibers. In addition, live cells can be included in thicker fibers. Today, PNFs represent a forward-looking approach in tissue engineering for bone, blood vessels, nerves, etc. (Rosic et al. 2013). Xylan can be incorporated with PVA and electrospun to give NFs that are found suitable for skin regeneration (Preethi et al. 2015). The electrospun NS is also used in oral and dental tissues engineering and regeneration as shown in Fig. 14 (Zafar et al. 2016). The functionalization of NFs



Fig. 13 Biomimetic effect of electrospun nanofibrous structures admired from nature (Wang et al. 2013). Copyright 2013. Reproduced with permission from Elsevier Ltd.



Fig. 14 Pictorial illustration of electrospun NS for tissue engineering of different oral and dental tissues. Adapted from Zafar et al. (2016)

can also be accomplished by incorporating it with bioactive species (e.g., enzymes, DNA, growth factors) that helps to better regulate the cell proliferation as well as cell differentiation that is attached on the scaffolds. These features make electrospun NFs outshining from other processing techniques. Hence, the electrospun NFs are

well-suitable as tissue engineering scaffolds for applications such as nutrient transport, cell communication, and efficient cellular responses (Wang et al. 2013; Liu et al. 2012). There are a number of research studies on core-shell NFs membranes fabricated from coaxial or emulsion type of ES which can be used as scaffolds for tissue engineering applications. Various biomolecules and model proteins have been encapsulated within different polymers to form core-shell configurations. Live cells were also electrospun into fibers using the coaxial ES method (Elahi et al. 2013). A schematic diagram of emulsion-type and coaxial-type ES setup is shown in Fig. 15 (Qu et al. 2013).

In the recent years, Elahi et al. (2013) reported a very simple and alternative setup of coaxial ES instrument as presented in Fig. 16. Here, one capillary is inserted into the other. This setup has two separate syringes with two different capillary sizes. Also, Fig. 17a–c represents the Taylor cone formation as the applied voltage is increased. Figure 17d, e indicates the effect of core diameter on shell thickness. The core-shell NFs seem to be a potential candidate for their simplicity and versatility of encapsulating the biologically appropriate molecules and nanocomposites and also for altering the surfaces of the electrospun NFs. Tailoring the electrical and mechanical properties of NFs plays a pivotal role in tissue engineering (Khan et al. 2012). The biopolymers in the solution or melt form can be normally electrospun using HV in the range of 10–40 kV with an average needle-tip-to-collector distance being about 10–20 cm. Under this processing conditions, the as-spun NF's diameter is about 100–500 nm (Wang et al. 2013).

Even though there is humongous literature on electrospun NFs for tissue engineering applications, there are few limitations of using the electrospun NFs in tissue engineering. One big drawback is the poor infiltration of the cells inside the scaffolds. This is because of the smaller intra-fiber pore size. Various attempts have been made to overcome this hurdle by fabricating scaffolds with a larger intra-fiber pore size that permits the scaffolds to present a 3D environment in place of



Fig. 15 Schematic diagram for **a** emulsion ES setup and **b** coaxial ES setup; for core–sheath fibers (Qu et al. 2013). Copyright 2013. Reproduced with permission from The Royal Society of Chemistry (RSC)


Fig. 16 Alternative and simple setup of coaxial ES process as devised by Wang et al., where \mathbf{a} a large capillary containing the sheath solution, \mathbf{b} Taylor cone produced from the sheath solution, \mathbf{c} a small capillary containing the core solution is directly injected into the Taylor cone formed from the sheath solution, \mathbf{d} Taylor cone formed coaxially from the core solution within the Taylor cone of the sheath solution, and \mathbf{e} coaxial jet). Adapted from Elahi et al. (2013)



Fig. 17 a–**c** A step-by-step pictorial representation of the production of complex Taylor cone [where **a** formation of surface charges on the sheath solution, **b** formation of viscous force on the core by the distorted sheath droplet, **c** creation of sheath–core complex Taylor cone from the continuous viscous drag]; **d**–**e** a schematic diagram displaying the effect of core diameter on sheath thickness [where **d** smaller the core diameter implies larger thickness of sheath and **e** larger the core diameter implying smaller thickness of sheath]. Adapted from Elahi et al. (2013)

two-dimensional (2D). The 3D scaffolds have high inner surface area and pore size, thereby exhibiting increased infiltration of cells. The tissue engineering applications such as bone regeneration, vascular grafts, and nerve regeneration require 3D electrospun NS with excellent biocompatibility and physical geometries. Hence, fabricating 3D scaffolds is very important for the scientist and researchers for improving their efficiency in tissue engineering. One of the best ways to produce 3D scaffolds is by fabricating NS with the help of polymer composites. NFs with controlled intra-fiber pore size will be created by combining various polymers that have different solubility and different stretching characteristics (observed at the time of polymer jet flight in between the tip to the metallic collector region). The intra-fiber pore sizes, that are generally controlled and large, help in infiltration of cells. In addition to pores, the usage of wettability of the polymer blends promotes better cell infiltration and adhesion (Haider et al. 2015). Another main challenge is

to design and develop the desired architecture of tissues that are suitable for tissue engineering applications. The natural ECM in terms of the structure contains different interwoven protein fibers having diameters in tens to few hundreds of nm. The practical challenge so far in tissue engineering field is designing the scaffolds that will exactly mimic the tissue architecture at the nanoregime. Additionally, some more issues upon using the electrospun NFs in tissue engineering applications include poor in-depth cell penetration into the NS and poor regulation of pore sizes, solvent toxicity, biomechanical properties, etc., which require immediate attention. In the coming years, the ES approach will undoubtedly stimulate further research in biomimetic scaffold designing for routing out all the limitation witnessed so far in tissue engineering applications (Wang et al. 2013).

3.2 Drug Delivery Applications

Today, the most important concern in medicine is that the therapeutic drug must be given to every individual patient in the most physiologically agreeable fashion. The drug will be absorbed better by the human beings if the geometry of the drug and the coating material desired for encapsulation is smaller. The basic principle on which the PNFs are used for drug delivery applications is that the increase in surface area of the drug and the drug carrier elevates the rate of dissolution of a particulate drug. Figure 18 shows various preparation methods and applications of electrospun drug-loaded PNFs (Yu et al. 2009). Although the development of NFs for drug delivery applications is still in the onset stage of research, a smart as well as real delivery mode must be determined in the future to improve its production and efficiency (Huang et al. 2003; Yu et al. 2009). Controlling the release rate of the drug is a very important requirement in drug delivery applications. In a controlled release DDS, the carrier is loaded with an active substance or the drug and then discharged at a predictable rate. The electrospun NFs that generally possess high surface-area-to-volume ratio is said to provide a convenient pathway for delivering the drug. The release profile in electrospun NFs should be skillfully regulated by tailoring the NF's compositions, morphology, and porosity. The facile nature of ES technique permits the encapsulation of therapeutic compounds within the PNFs. There are several methods to load the drug into the electrospun NFs, such as embedding, encapsulating, and coating, using the coaxial or emulsion ES techniques. In the coating method, the drug molecules will be either absorbed or cross-linked to the surface of the electrospun NFs by physical or chemical means as shown in Fig. 19 (Rosic et al. 2012). The alternative way to produce drug-loaded NFs is by ES a polymer solution containing the therapeutic compound. The major requirement of this method is that both the polymer solution and the drug must be miscible with each other; i.e., the drug particulates in solid state should well disperse into the host polymer solution. The embedding method is highly challenging for loading the bioactive drugs into the electrospun NFs. The highly preferred approach to encapsulate the drug into PNFs is by coaxial and emulsion type of ES.



Fig. 18 A flowchart representing the production and applications of drug-incorporated NFs using ES process. Adapted from Yu et al. (2009)



Fig. 19 Schematic representations of various possibilities of incorporating drug in or on electrospun NFs. Adapted from Rosic et al. (2012)

The ES of core-shell and hollow-structured fibers is an easy way to prepare DDS for larger molecules (Baptista et al. 2013).

Currently, the most promising method for producing controlled (or sustained) drug release systems is by coaxial ES technique, wherein the polymer and the drug solution are kept in isolation until they leave the nozzles, and subsequently, the drug gets encased or encapsulated at the central portion of the NFs protected by the polymeric shell. In this process, the burst release is completely evaded as the drug release occurs only through diffusion across a barrier. Figure 20 illustrates the microencapsulation of additives and its controlled release in core-shell NFs (Elahi et al. 2013). The drug reservoirs (shell portion) are mostly biodegradable polymers that permit the regulation of drug release kinetics along with a drug-driven mechanism and a degradation-driven mechanism (Focarete and Gualandi 2013). Even though the electrospun NFs serve as an excellent drug carrier, there are still some serious issues posed by them. The incorporation of voluminous drugs into the PNFs via traditional ES technique leads to poor regulation of the drug release, which can be attributed to the agglomeration and adsorption of drugs at the surface of the NFs. However, the coaxial and emulsion ES process has generated NFs with reduced initial burst/bulk release (Gupta et al. 2014). Many investigations have proved that the surfactant aids in reducing the surface tensions and diameter of the NFs and enhances the drug uniformity, resulting in subdued burst effect (Yu et al. 2009; Deshmukh et al. 2016a, b, c; Zeng et al. 2003; Sill and Recum 2008).

Till date, several drugs such as anticancer agents, proteins, and antibiotics have been loaded successfully into electrospun NFs for drug delivery applications. Besides monitoring the controlled release of a drug, the ES technique also boosts the therapeutic efficacy and reduces the toxicity to a greater extent. The electrospun NFs can be loaded with multiple drugs which can act as a perfect DDC. Figure 21 illustrates the role of polysulfane (PSU) NFs as DDC for bovine serum albumin (BSA) proteins (Haider et al. 2015). The influence of biodegradable and non-biodegradable polymers on controlled and sustained drug release using electrospun NFs has also been evaluated. The PNF drug membranes can be synthesized from both the natural and synthetic polymers. The natural polymers are best suited



Fig. 20 Pictorial illustration of microencasing of additives and its controlled release rate in the electrospun NFs. Adapted from Elahi et al. (2013)



PSU fiber

Fig. 21 Illustration of PSU NFs acting as DDC for BSA proteins (*Note* MAA—Methacrylic acid, EDAC—Carbodiimide hydrochloride and NHS—N hydroxysuccinimide). Adapted from Haider et al. (2015)

for biomimicking ECM in tissue engineering, whereas the synthetic polymers incorporated into drugs are useful in drug delivery applications (Sharma et al. 2015; Ma et al. 2006; Deshmukh et al. 2017e; Dhandayuthapani et al. 2011; Sathapathy et al. 2017). In comparison with conventional casting techniques, the drug release profiles of the electrospun NFs displayed better results (Haider et al. 2015).

The factors such as drug loading, drug localization, and drug release highly rely upon the physicochemical attributes of the carrier matrix and the drug. Hence, the loading mechanism of the NFs is controlled by two prime factors (i) the drug solubility in the polymer solution and (ii) the interaction of polymer and drug in the solid state. The amorphous drug having higher solubility is desirable due to the limitation of time available for the recrystallization of a drug during ES. It has also been validated by various characterization studies such as X-ray diffraction (XRD), Fourier transform infrared (FTIR) spectroscopy, differential scanning calorimetry (DSC), and proton nuclear magnetic resonance (H-NMR) that the application of HV during the ES does not modify the structural, biological, and chemical integrity of the loaded drug (Rosic et al. 2012; Illa et al. 2018; Deshmukh et al. 2017f). PNFs are best suitable for drug delivery and targeted therapies. The drug release profile of PNFs loaded with drug functions on the concept that increase in NF's surface area increases the rate of drug release. The preferable features of polymers used for drug delivery include (i) potential to hold the desirable drug and discharge the same drug in the targeted (diseased or morbid or pathological) tissues, (ii) steady release of drug in the targeted areas for a prolonged period, and (iii) maintain maximum drug loading capacity for releasing the drug for a prolonged duration. The sustained drug release is attained by regulating the porosity of NFs, fiber thickness, and time (biodegradability).

The electrospun PNFs as DDS have numerous advantages. Firstly, PNFs exhibit useful characteristics for delivering a huge number of insoluble drugs as they possess high surface-to-volume ratio. Solid dispersion seems to be one of the good options to improve dissolution rates and bioactivity of the poor water miscible drug. The practical drawback that still limits the use of solid dispersion systems includes complication in traditional preparation methods, insufficient or poor reproducibility of physiochemical properties, low dosage formation, and poor viability for scaling them up at production (or manufacturing) level. The electrospun NFs have been upgraded with improved dissolution rate for a very poorly miscible compound. Secondly, the modulation of the composition, morphology, processing, and microstructure of the NF mats can help in tailoring the drug release profile easily. Thirdly, various dosage forms can be flexibly designed by using NFs for obtaining maximum bioavailability of a drug moiety for variegated drug delivery routes. Usually, the electrospun NFs incorporated with drugs are mostly considered as mid-dosage forms. Fourthly, the drug encapsulation efficiency of electrospun NFs is higher compared to other nanotechnologies. Few more benefits of drug-loaded NFs include short diffusion passage length due to the small diameter of the NFs, effective drug release, and facilitating mass transfer because of the high surface area of NFs. The 1D structure of electrospun PNFs loaded with drugs is bestowed with many key benefits. One such is that the PNF mat containing DDS in nm scale alters the biopharmacokinetic and biopharmaceutic features of the drug molecule for the desired clinical outcomes. The other benefits of 1D electrospun PNFs include easy processability, excellent drug stability, simplicity in packaging, and freight. To date, in vitro culturing has only been experimented to understand the release profiles of drug-loaded electrospun NFs (Yu et al. 2009). The drawn conclusion from all the foregoing outcomes certainly displays the appropriateness and uniqueness of PNFs as a DDS, which not only keeps a proper check on the desired drug release profile of the specifically loaded drugs but also offers a biomimetic environment in view of commercial applications (Rosic et al. 2012).

3.3 Wound-Dressing Applications

Health is a crucial aspect of human sustenance. The unique characteristics of polymer materials have attracted tremendous attention in a number of biomedical applications. The fundamental objective of wound management is to boost speedy healing and obtaining both functional and cosmetic results. A wound is simply a bruise, cut, or break in the path of any tissues caused due to injury or surgery. Until the mid-1900s, people strongly believed that the wound heals rapidly if it was kept dry and uncovered. But, medically it is proven that keeping a moist environment hugely helps the wound to heal by stopping additional tissue losses from desiccation and boost the activity of lytic enzymes that remove the residual debris in the initial stage of wound healing itself.

Wound healing is a natural body mechanism for restoring the wounded tissues to a normal or quasi-normal state found prior to the wound injury, by regenerating dermal and epidermal tissues via several sequences of complex events. The sequence of complex events involved in wound healing is classified into four phases, namely (i) hemostasis; (ii) inflammation; (iii) formation of granulation tissue; and (iv) remodeling. The intensity and duration of these four phases on the wounds varies from individual to individual depending on their age, nutritional status, behavior, systemic diseases, medication, and also the depth, size, etiology, and causation of the wounds. Wound dressings are generally divided into three types, namely passive, bioactive, and interactive wound dressings. Generally, passive wound dressings (such as gauze) simply act as a cover to the wounded area. Interactive wound dressings (such as polymer dressings) are permeable in nature. Bioactive wound dressings that usually comprise of antimicrobial drugs, nanosilver, growth promoting factors, and other bioactive ingredients trigger the growth of tissues in the wounded sites (Gupta et al. 2010; Winter 1962).

Winter (1962) studied the effect of polymer film dressing on the wounds of a pig and observed that the wounds healed two times faster with a decent growth of epithelial tissues when compared to air-exposed wounds. The wound care sectors, in the current scenario, are one among the best profitable as well as expanding medical sectors for both wholesalers and retailers. The two methods of wound dressing include wet and dry methods. In the olden days, the dry method of wound dressing was considered as the best practice of healing wounds. Until the 1970s, the common commercial wound-dressing or healing methods included nonwoven rayon and fiber such as polyester and cotton blends, woven cotton gauze, etc. These conventional wound-dressing methods perform several functions such as remove exudates, cushion the wound site, permit drying, hide the view of the wound, and provide a shield from contamination. These dressings are removed very easily for accelerating further drying of the wounded sites. It was proved by Winter (1965) that the air-exposed wound forms a scab that covers the wound, in turn reducing the rate of epithelialization. Hence, the wound healing occurs at a faster rate in a wet environment than a dry one. This is because of the fact that the renewed skins are created without the formation of scab during healing in a wet environment. The moist wound dressing replicates the skin ideally with 85% water content and inherent permeability (Gupta et al. 2010).

Undoubtedly, PNFs can be employed for treating the wounds or burns of all the human skins. The fine NFs formed from biodegradable polymers using electric field can be directly spun onto the wounded or burnt part of the skin, forming a fibrous membrane or mat dressing as shown in Fig. 22 (Huang et al. 2003). Such direct way of forming a fibrous membrane dressing on the wounded sites lets the wound to heal via the growth of normal skin or tissues and eradicates the formation of scar tissue which is usually witnessed in the conventional wound treatment. The pore sizes of the nonwoven NFs membranes for wound dressing are very small (between 500 nm and 1 μ m) and therefore can defend the wound from penetration of bacteria via the aerosol particle trapping mechanisms. High surface area $(5-100 \text{ m}^2/\text{g})$ is mandatorily required for efficacious fluid absorption dermal delivery (Hasan et al. 2014). A comparative study of collagen NS fabricated using freeze-drying and an ES technique was conducted by Powell and his coworkers (2008). The conclusion drawn from their study was that the electrospun NS is alternatives for the scaffolds generated from the freeze-drying method. SEM micrographs of freeze-dried NFs and electrospun NFs of collagen scaffolds are shown in Fig. 23 (Powell et al. 2008).

The selection of ideal polymer is a vital factor to obtain a good electrospun PNF that would be suitable for wound-healing applications. Polysaccharides such as



Fig. 22 Handy ES machine generating NFs for dressing the wound (Huang et al. 2003) Copyright 2003. Reproduced with permission from Elsevier Ltd.

cellulose, chitosan, and hyaluronic acid and proteins such as silk and collagen are electrospun for promoting wound healing. Among which, the chitosan is said to possess both hemostatic and antibacterial properties and is best-suited natural polymer for preparing scaffolds meant for wound-healing applications. Synthetic polymers such as PEO, PLA, PVA, and PCL are also being commonly used for wound-healing applications. The synthetic polymers used for fabricating electrospun NS have good mechanical strength when compared to natural polymers. In addition, these synthetic polymers are soluble in numerous solvents, which further increase its preference to be used in ES process. The wound-healing electrospun NS can be generated by blending natural and synthetic polymer by fine-tuning their morphological, mechanical, and degradation properties for gratifying the needs of individual patients (Ahmad et al. 2014; Sadeghi-Avalshahr et al. 2017;



Fig. 23 SEM micrographs of a, b freeze-dried collagen scaffolds and c, d electrospun collagen scaffolds (Powell et al. 2008). Copyright 2008. Reproduced with permission from Elsevier Ltd.

Ahmad et al. 2013; Sundaramurthi et al. 2014; Pawde and Deshmukh 2009). Electrospun NS can be used for oxygen permeation, protection of wound from contamination (or infection), and as wound-dressing materials for dehydration. Several synthetic and natural polymers such as collagen, chitosan, carboxymethyl chitosan, silk fibroin, PU, and PEG have been successfully electrospun for wound-healing or dressing applications (Abrigo et al. 2014; Pawde and Deshmukh 2008b; Uttayarat et al. 2012; Deshmukh et al. 2014).

Chronic wounds can be delineated as the delay or disruption in the natural healing of all treated wounds over a period of eight weeks. The chronic wound does not heal easily because of two major reasons: (i) the imbalance occurring between the construction and degradation processes of the tissues in the wounded region and (ii) insufficient or poor formation of a functional ECM. The normal ECM usually functions to encourage, direct, and organize the healing. Thus, fabricating modern wound-dressing materials and methods that exactly mimic the missing tissues is the most intelligible means of treating non-healing/chronic wounds. Therefore, NFs can be used for mimicking ECM efficiently. After dressing the wound with NFs, the cells assume NFs as ECM and stimulate cell growth, cell adhesion, cell differentiation, oriented chemotaxis, re-epithelialization, growth, and deposition of provisional matrices. The addition of NFs as an integrant in the modern wound dressing includes numerous advantages (Gao et al. 2014). NFs can replace natural elastin

and collagen as they have analogous mechanical properties, size, and shape. NFs also discharge the wound exudates out, since they are gas permeable and also, prohibit wound infection. One additional advantage is that if NFs are made of hydrophilic materials, they provide a moist wound environment which seals the epithelial cell migration from the edge to the center of the wound and ameliorates healing (Rosic et al. 2013). Also, the biomimicking property of the nanofibrous membrane promotes wound healing and limits scar formation (Focarete and Gualandi 2013).

Active substances can be loaded into NFs either by physical absorption or by chemical bonding on the surface. The physical entrapment is currently the most common loading techniques among the other loading possibilities, as the drug in the NFs is well shielded against the adverse environmental conditions and also has the ability to regulate drug release in a sustained manner (Mohanapriya et al. 2016b; Rath et al. 2016; Deshmukh et al. 2016d; Aytimur and Uslu 2014). Furthermore, incorporating the drug into the fiber is relatively easy and practical. In this method, the drug to be loaded is simply homogeneously dispersed in the polymer solution before the onset of ES process. Since there is very short time for recrystallization of the drug during the fiber formation, the amorphous drugs are mostly preferred. The ideal drug release profile of such NFs displays a burst effect initially and then succeeded with nearly linear and sustained release. The core-shell NFs can be fabricated, as it provides a drug reservoir system that shields the loaded drug and also regulates the drug diffusion rate. The drug that was first loaded into NFs was antibiotic tetracycline, which was encased within the blends of PLA and copolymer of polyethylene and vinyl acetate. Since then, various other antiseptics, antibiotics, antifungals, non-steroidal, anticancer drugs, biomolecules, anti-inflammatory agents, nucleic acids, etc., have been loaded into or absorbed on NFs. The latest approach that is adapted to control bacterial infections in chronic wounds is by embedding silver nanoparticles into NFs, as it serves as effective antimicrobial agents (Rosic et al. 2013).

The special features of electrospun NFs are the fiber pores and the high surface area which provokes the fibroblastic cell response by swiftly activating the cell signaling pathway. The electrospun NFs also have greater potential to be used in the fabrication of cosmetic mask for skin cleaning and healing. The skin mask prepared from ES has a high surface area which promotes the to-and-fro movement of additives to the skin. These skin masks are highly flexible and hence can easily be applied and removed from the skin effortlessly without causing pain (Kim et al. 2009; Deshmukh et al. 2017g; Pillai and Sharma 2009). The treatment of skin can be further improved by incorporating various factors into the electrospun NF matrix. Some schemes for preparing a suitable wound dressing with antibacterial properties are depicted in Fig. 24 (Haider et al. 2015). Moreover, these scaffolds have the tendency of alluring cells to the dermal layer, which excretes the vital ECM that aids in the repair of injured tissues such as cytokines, collagen, and growth factors. Nonwoven NFs serve as the most appropriate candidate for wound-dressing agents. Therefore, the ES technique can be employed to generate various NSs from raw materials that include hydrophilic polymers and polyesters



Fig. 24 Different methods adapted for the preparation of suitable wound-dressing materials. Adapted from Haider et al. (2015)

that act as a wound-dressing agents (Haider et al. 2015; Yuan et al. 2016; Kumar et al. 2018; Zhang et al. 2017; Azuma et al. 2015). The properties such as excellent hemostasis, absorbing ability of water exudates, semi-permeability conformability, and functionality must be considered for fabricating electrospun NFs for wound-healing and dressing applications (Zhang et al. 2005).

4 Conclusions

In the current scenario, the field of nanoscience and nanotechnology is highly reliable as it bestows outstanding solutions to the technological problems in comparison with any other conventional systems. ES technique is a well-known, facile, versatile, cost-effective, and simple process for creating highly functional and high-performance PNFs from a diverse range of polymers. These polymers can be used in pure or blended form along with the incorporation of bioactive materials for forming polymer composite NFs. The electrospun PNFs bear especial advantages such as lightweight, high surface area, ultrafine diameter, small pore size, superior mechanical properties, and easy functionalization. Today, the NFs have become

very popular as they offer a pool of opportunities in biomedical applications, viz. tissue engineering, DDS, wound dressings, enzyme immobilization, infiltration, etc. The morphology, topography, and structures of the electrospun NFs can be easily tailored for desired biomedical applications by tuning their properties and processing parameters such as polymer concentration, viscosity, MW, applied voltage, tip-to-collector distance, and solvent. The recent advancement in ES techniques such as emulsion ES and coaxial ES can be a promising solution to the unsolvable problems faced in the biomedical field. Although the number of literatures on the application of ES process in the biomedical applications is humongous, it is highly necessary to assimilate that the research and practical application achieved in this fields is still in its infancy. The research, scientific, academic, and industrial community must start to think about the limitless potential of the ES method and biomedical field and also find infinite ways to interlink the use of electrospun PNFs for biomedical applications, which will undoubtedly uplift the well-being of the humanity.

This chapter has attempted to outline the fundamental aspects of ES mechanisms, the effect of various optimization parameters on the ES process, its properties, and finally, the importance of electrospun PNFs for biomedical applications, namely in tissue engineering, drug delivery, and wound-dressing sectors. The aim of this chapter is to give a better understanding of the all the key control mechanisms of ES that will help to bring progress in smart medicine. Moreover, it will be possible to fabricate multifunctional scaffolds by compiling the knowledge of electrospun NFs for tissue regeneration, drug delivery, and wound dressings, which will lead to the utilization of the full potential of electrospun PNFs for biomedical applications.

References

- Abrigo M, McArthur SL, Kingshott PL (2014) Electrospun nanofibres as dressings for chronic wound care: advance, challenges and future prospects. Macromol Biosci 14(6):772–792
- Agarwal S, Wendorff JH, Greiner A (2008) Use of electrospinning technique for biomedical applications. Polymer 49(26):5603–5621
- Ahmad J, Deshmukh K, Hagg MB (2013) Influence of TiO₂ on the chemical, mechanical and gas separation properties of polyvinyl alcohol—titanium dioxide (PVA-TiO₂) nanocomposite membrane. Int J Polym Anal Charact 18:287–296
- Ahmad J, Deshmukh K, Habib M, Hagg MB (2014) Influence of TiO₂ nanoparticles on morphological thermal and solution properties of PVA/TiO₂ nanocomposite membranes. Arab J Sci Eng 39:6805–6814
- Asghari F, Samiei M, Adibkia K, Akbarzadeh A, Davaran S (2017) Biodegradable and biocompatible polymers for tissue engineering application: a review. Artif Cells Nanomed Biotechnol 45(2):185–192
- Awang N, Ismail AF, Jaafar J, Matsuura T, Junoh H, Othman MHD, Rahman MA (2015) Functionalization of polymeric materials as a high performance membrane for direct methanol fuel cell: a review. React Funct Polym 86:248–258
- Aytimur A, Uslu I (2014) Promising materials for wound dressing: PVA/PAA/PVP electrospun nanofibers. Polym Plast Technol Eng 53(7):655–660

- Azuma K, Izumi R, Osaki T, Ifuku S, Morimoto M, Saimoto H, Minami S, Okamoto Y (2015) Chitin, chitosan, and its derivatives for wound healing: old and new materials. J Funct Biomater 6(1):104–142
- Baptista AC, Ferreira I, Borges JP (2013) Electrospun fibers in composite materials for medical applications. J Compos Biodegradable Polym 1(1):56–65
- Deshmukh K, Ahmad J, Hagg MB (2014) Fabrication and characterization of polymer blends consisting of cationic polyallylamine and anionic polyvinyl alcohol. Ionics 20:957–967
- Deshmukh K, Ahamed MB, Deshmukh RR, Bhagat PR, Pasha SKK, Bhagat A, Shirbhate R, Telare F, Lakhani C (2015a) Influence of K₂CrO₄ doping on the structural, optical and dielectric properties of polyvinyl alcohol/K₂CrO₄ composite films. Polym Plast Technol Eng 55:231–241
- Deshmukh K, Ahamed MB, Pasha SKK, Deshmukh RR, Bhagat PR (2015b) Highly dispersible graphene oxide reinforced polypyrole/polyvinyl alcohol blend nanocomposites with high dielectric constant and low dielectric loss. RSC Adv 5:61933–61945
- Deshmukh K, Ahamed MB, Deshmukh RR, Pasha SKK, Chidambaram K, Sadasivuni KK, Ponnamma D, AlMaadeed MAA (2016a) Eco-friendly synthesis of graphene oxide reinforced hydroxypropyl methyl cellulose/polyvinyl alcohol blend nanocomposites filled with zinc oxide nanoparticles for high-k capacitor applications. Polym Plast Technol Eng 12:1240–1253
- Deshmukh K, Ahamed MB, Sadasivuni KK, Ponnamma D, Deshmukh RR, Pasha SKK, AlMaadeed MAA, Chidambaram K (2016b) Graphene oxide reinforced polyvinyl alcohol blend composites as high performance dielectric materials. J Polym Res 23:159
- Deshmukh K, Ahamed MB, Deshmukh RR, Pasha SKK, Sadasivuni SKK, Ponnamma D, Chidambaram K (2016c) Synergistic effect of vanadium pentoxide and graphene oxide in polyvinyl alcohol for energy storage applications. Eur Polymer J 76:14–27
- Deshmukh K, Ahamed MB, Polu AR, Sadasivuni KK, Pasha SKK, Ponnamma D, AlMaadeed MAA, Deshmukh RR, Chidambaram K (2016d) Impedance spectroscopy, ionic conductivity and dielectric studies of new Li⁺ ion conducting polymer blend electrolytes based on biodegradable polymers for solid state battery applications. J Mater Sci: Mater Electron 27:11410–11424
- Deshmukh K, Ahamed MB, Deshmukh RR, Pasha SKK, Bhagat PR, Chidambaram K (2017a) Biopolymer composites with high dielectric performance: interface engineering. Biopolymer composites in electronics, vol 1. Elsevier Publications, Amsterdam, pp 27–128
- Deshmukh K, Ahamed MB, Deshmukh RR, Pasha SKK, Sadasivuni KK, Ponnamma D, AlMaadeed MAA (2017b) Striking multiple synergies in novel three-phase fluoropolymer nanocomposites by combining titanium dioxide and graphene oxide as hybrid fillers. J Mater Sci Mater Electron 28:559–575
- Deshmukh K, Ahamed MB, Sadasivuni KK, Ponnamma D, Deshmukh RR, Trimukhe AM, Pasha SKK, Polu AR, AlMaadeed MAA, Chidambaram K (2017c) Solution processed white graphene reinforced ferroelectric polymer nanocomposites with improved thermal conductivity and dielectric properties for electronic encapsulation. J Polym Res 24:27
- Deshmukh K, Ahamed MB, Sadasivuni KK, Ponnamma D, AlMaadeed MAA, Pasha SKK, Deshmukh RR, Chidambaram K (2017d) Graphene oxide reinforced poly (4-styrenesulfonic acid)/polyvinyl alcohol blend composites with enhanced dielectric properties for portable and flexible electronics. Mater Chem Phys 186:188–201
- Deshmukh K, Ahamed MB, Deshmukh RR, Pasha SKK, Sadasivuni KK, Polu AR, Ponnamma D, AlMaadeed MAA, Chidambaram K (2017e) Newly developed biodegradable polymer nanocomposites of cellulose acetate and Al₂O₃ nanoparticles with enhanced dielectric performance for embedded passive applications. J Mater Sci: Mater Electron 28:973–986
- Deshmukh K, Sankaran S, Ahamed MB, Sadasivuni KK, Pasha SKK, Ponnamma D, Sreekanth PSR, Chidambaram K (2017f) Dielectric spectroscopy. Instrumental techniques to the characterizations of nanomaterials. Elsevier Publications, Amsterdam, pp 237–299
- Deshmukh K, Ahamed MB, Sadasivuni KK, Ponnamma D, AlMaadeed MAA, Deshmukh RR, Pasha SKK, Polu AR, Chidambaram K (2017g) Fumed SiO₂ nanoparticle reinforced biopolymer blend nanocomposites with high dielectric constant and low dielectric loss for flexible organic electronics. J Appl Polym Sci 134(5):44427

- Dhandayuthapani B, Yoshida Y, Maekawa T, Kumar DS (2011) Polymeric scaffolds in tissue engineering application: a review. Int J Polym Sci 2011, Article ID290602, 19 pages
- Elahi F, Lu W, Guoping G, Khan F (2013) Core-shell fibers for biomedical applications—a review. J Bioeng Biomed Sci 3(1):1–14
- Fang J, Wang X, Lin T (2012) Functional applications of electrospun nanofibers. In: Nanofibers-production, properties and functional applications. InTech, pp 287–326
- Focarete ML, Gualandi C (2013) Potentialities of electrospun polymeric nanofibers in the biomedical field. J Tissue Sci Eng 4(1):1–3
- Fong H, Reneker DH (1999) Elastomeric nanofibers of Styrene-butadiene-styrene triblock copolymer. J Polym Sci, Part B: Polym Phys 37(24):3488–3493
- Gao Y, Bach TY, Zhu Y, Kyratzis IL (2014) Electrospun antibacterial nanofibers: production, activity and in vivo applications. J Appl Polym Sci 131(18):40797–40810
- Gupta B, Agarwal R, Alam MS (2010) Textile based smart wound dressings. Indian J Fibre Text Res 35(2):174–187
- Gupta KC, Haider A, Choi Y, Kang IK (2014) Nanofibrous scaffolds in biomedical applications. Biomater Res 18(2):27–38
- Haider A, Haider S, Kang IK (2015) A comprehensive review summarizing the effect of electrospinning parameters and potential applications of nanofibers in biomedical and biotechnology. Arab J Chem. 11(8):1165–1188. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.arabjc.2015.11.015
- Hasan MM, Alam AKMM, Nayem KA (2014) Application of electrospinning techniques for the production of tissue engineering scaffolds: a review. Eur Sci J 10(15):1857–7431
- Huang ZM, Zhang YZ, Kotaki M, Ramakrishna S (2003) A review on polymer nanofibers by electrospinning and their applications in nanocomposites. Compos Sci Technol 63(15):2223–2253
- Illa MP, Khandelwal M, Sharma CS (2018) Bacterial cellulose derived carbon nanofibers as anode for lithium ion batteries. Emergent Mater 1(3–4):1–6
- Kanani AG, Bahrami SH (2010) Review on electrospun nanofibers scaffold and biomedical applications. Trends Biomater Artif Organs 24(2):93–115
- Khadka DB, Haynie DT (2012) Protein—and peptide—based electrospun nanofibers in medical biomaterials. Nanomedicine 8(8):1242–1262
- Khan N, Misra M, Koch T, Mohanty A (2012) Applications of electrospun nanofibers in the biomedical field. Stud Undergraduate Researchers Guelph 5(2):63–73
- Kim SE, Heo DN, Lee JB, Kim JR, Park SH, Jeon SH, Kwon IK (2009) Electrospun gelatin/ polyurethane blended nanofibers for wound healing. Biomed Mater 4(4):044106
- Kishan AP, Cosgriff-Hernandez EM (2017) Recent advancements in electrospinning design for tissue engineering applications: a review. J Biomed Mater Res, Part A 105(10):2892–2905
- Kumar NS, Santhosh C, Sudakaran SV, Deb A, Raghavan V, Venugopal V, Bhatnagar A, Bhat S, Andrews NG (2018) Electrospun polyurethane and soy protein nanofibres for wound dressing applications. IET Nanobiotechnol 12(2):94–98
- Lee HJ, Lee SJ, Uthaman S, Thomas RG, Hyun H, Jeong YY, Cho CS, Park IK (2015) Biomedical applications of magnetically functionalized organic/inorganic hybrid nanofibers. Int J Mol Sci 16(6):13661–13677
- Li Z, Wang C (2013) Effects of working parameters on electrospinning. In: One-dimensional nanostructures: electrospinning technique and unique nanofibers. Springer Ltd., IX: 141–145. ISBN: 978-3-642-36426
- Liu W, Thompoulos S, Xia Y (2012) Electrospun nanofibers for regenerative medicine. Adv Healthc Mater 1(1):10–25
- Ma Z, Kotaki M, Ramakrishna S (2006) Surface modified non woven Polysulphone (PSU) fiber mesh by electrospinning: a novel affinity membrane. J Membr Sci 272(1–2):179–187
- Mohanapriya MK, Deshmukh K, Ahamed MB, Chidambaram K, Pasha SKK (2015) Structural, morphological and dielectric properties of multiphase nanocomposites consisting of polycarbonate, barium titanate and carbon black nanoparticles. Int J Chem Tech Res 8:32–41
- Mohanapriya MK, Deshmukh K, Ahamed MB, Chidambaram K, Pasha SKK (2016a) Influence of cerium oxide (CeO₂) nanoparticles on the structural, morphological, mechanical and dielectric properties of PVA/PPy blend nanocomposites. Mater Today: Proc 3:1864–1873

- Mohanapriya MK, Deshmukh K, Ahamed MB, Chidambaram K, Pasha SKK (2016b) Zeolite 4A filled poly (3, 4-ethylenedioxythiophene): (polystyrenesulfonate) and polyvinyl alcohol blend nanocomposites as high-k dielectric materials for embedded capacitor applications. Adv Mater Lett 7:996–1002
- Mohanapriya MK, Deshmukh K, Chidambaram K, Ahamed MB, Sadasivuni KK, Ponnamma D, AlMaadeed MAA, Deshmukh RR, Pasha SKK (2017) Polyvinyl alcohol (PVA)/Polystyrene sulfonic acid (PSSA)/carbon black nanocomposites for flexible energy storage device applications. J Mater Sci: Mater Electron 28:6099–6111
- Muzaffar A, Ahamed MB, Deshmukh K, Faisal M, Pasha SKK (2018) Enhanced electromagnetic absorption in NiO and BaTiO₃ based polyvinylidene fluoride nanocomposites. Mater Lett 218:217–220
- Pasha SKK, Deshmukh K, Ahamed MB, Chidambaram K, Mohanapriya MK, Nambiraj NA (2015) Investigation of microstructure, morphology, mechanical and dielectric properties of PVA/PbO nanocomposites. Adv Polym Techonol 36:352–361
- Pattanashetti NA, Heggannavar GB, Kariduraganavar MY (2017) Smart biopolymers and their biomedical applications. Procedia Manuf 12:263–279
- Pawde SM, Deshmukh K (2008a) Characterization of polyvinyl alcohol/gelatin blend hydro gel films for biomedical applications. J Appl Polym Sci 109:3431–3437
- Pawde SM, Deshmukh K (2008b) Influence of γ irradiation on the properties of polyacrylonitrile films. J Appl Polym Sci 110:2569–2578
- Pawde SM, Deshmukh K (2009) Investigation of the structural, thermal, mechanical and optical properties of polymethyl methacrylate (PMMA) and polyvinylidene fluoride (PVDF) blends. J Appl Polym Sci 114:2169–2179
- Pawde SM, Deshmukh K, Parab S (2008) Preparation and characterization of polyvinyl alcohol and gelatin blend films. J Appl Polym Sci 109:1328–1337
- Pertici G (2017) Introduction to bioresorbable polymers for biomedical applications. In: Bioresorbable polymers for biomedical applications, pp 3–29
- Pillai CKS, Sharma CP (2009) Electrospinning of chitin and chitosan nanofibres. Trends Biomater Artif Organs 22(3):179–201
- Ponnamma D, Chamakh MM, Deshmukh K, Ahamed MB, Alper E, Sharma P, AlMaadeed MAA (2017) Ceramic based polymer nanocomposites as piezoelectric materials. Smart polymer nanocomposites, vol 1. Springer Publications AG, Switzerland, pp 77–93
- Ponnamma D, Erturk A, Parangusan H, Deshmukh K, Ahamed MB, Al Maadeed MA (2018) Strechable quaternary phasic PVDF – HFP nanocomposite films containing graphene – titania – SrTiO₃ for mechanical energy harvesting. Emergent Materi 1(1–2):55–65
- Powell HM, Supp DM, Boyce ST (2008) Influence of electrospun collagen on wound contraction of engineered skin substitutes. Biomaterials 29(7):834–843
- Preethi GU, Joseph MM, Unnikrishnan BS, Shiji R, Sreelekha TT (2015) Biomedical applications of natural polymer based nanofibrous scaffolds. Int J Med Nano Res 2(2):1–9
- Pulapura S, Kohn J (1992) Trends in the development of bioresorbable polymers for medical applications. J Biomater Appl 6(3):216–250
- Qu H, Wei S, Guo Z (2013) Coaxial electrospun nanostructures and their applications. J Mater Chem A 1(38):11513–11528
- Rath G, Hussain T, Chauhan G, Garg T, Goyal AK (2016) Collagen nanofiber containing silver nanoparticles for improved wound-healing applications. J Drug Target 24(6):520–529
- Rosic R, Pelipenko J, Kristl J, Kocbek P, Baumgartner S (2012) Properties, engineering and applications of polymeric nanofibers: current research and future advances. Chem Biochem Eng Q 26(4):417–425
- Rosic R, Kocbek P, Pelipenko J, Krist J, Baumgartner S (2013) Nanofibers and their biomedical use. Acta Pharmaceutica 63:295–304
- Sadeghi-Avalshahr A, Nokhasteh S, Molavi AM, Khorsand-Ghayeni M, Mahdavi-Shahri M (2017) Synthesis and characterization of collagen/PLGA biodegradable skin scaffold fibers. Regenerative Biomater 4(5):309–314

- Sathapathy KD, Deshmukh K, Ahamed MB, Sadasivuni KK, Ponnamma D, Pasha SKK, AlMaadeed MAA, Ahmad J (2017) High-quality factor poly (vinylidene fluoride) based novel nanocomposites filled with graphene nanoplatelets and vanadium pentoxide for high-Q capacitor applications. Adv Mater Lett 8:288–294
- Sharma J, Lizu M, Stewart M, Zygula K, Lu Y, Chauhan R, Yan X, Guo Z, Wujcik EK, Wei S (2015) Multifunctional nanofibers towards active biomedical therapeutics. Polymers 7(2):186–219
- Shin SH, Purevdorj O, Castano O, Planel JA, Kim HW (2012) A short review: recent advances in electrospinning for bone tissue regeneration. J Tissue Eng 3(1):1–11
- Sill TJ, Recum HAV (2008) Electrospinning: applications in drug delivery and tissue engineering. Biomaterials 29(13):1989–2006
- Sridhar R, Sundarrajan S, Venugopal JR, Ravichandran R, Ramakrishna S (2013) Electrospun inorganic and polymer composite nanofibers for biomedical applications. J Biomater Sci Polym Ed 24(4):365–385
- Stevens MM, George JH (2005) Exploring and engineering the cell surface interface. Science 310 (5751):1135–1138
- Sundaramurthi D, Krishnan UM, Sethuraman S (2014) Electrospun nanofibers as scaffolds for skin tissue engineering. Polym Rev 54(2):348–376
- Thangamani GJ, Deshmukh K, Chidambaram K, Ahamed MB, Sadasivuni KK, Ponnamma D, Faisal M, Nambiraj NA, Pasha SKK (2018) Influence of CuO nanoparticles and graphene nanoplatelets on the sensing behavior of poly (vinylalcohol) nanocomposites for the detection of ethanol and propanol vapors. J Mater Sci: Mater Electron 29:5186–5205
- Turon P, del Valle LJ, Aleman C, Puiggali J (2017) Biodegradable and biocompatible systems based on hydroxyapatite nanoparticles. Appl Sci 7(1):60
- Uttayarat P, Jetawattana S, Suwanmala P, Eamsiri J, Tangthong T, Pongpat S (2012) Antimicrobial electrospun silk fibroin mats with silver nanoparticles for wound dressing application. Fibers Polym 13(8):999–1006
- Venugopal J, Ramakrishna S (2005) Applications of polymer nanofibers in biomedicine and biotechnology. Appl Biochem Biotechnol 125(3):147–157
- Wang X, Ding X, Li B (2013) Biomimetic electrospun nanofibrous structures for tissue engineering. Mater Today 16(6):229–241
- Winter GD (1962) Formation of the scab and the rate of epithelization of superficial wounds in the skin of the young domestic pig. Nature 193:293–294
- Winter GD (1965) A note on wound healing under dressings with reference to perforated—film dressings. J Invest Dermatol 45(4):299–302
- Yu DG, Zhu LM, White K, White CB (2009) Electrospun nanofiber-based drug delivery systems. Health 1(2):67–75
- Yuan TT, Jenkins PM, Foushee AMD, Jockheck-Clark AR, Stahl JM (2016) Electrospun chitosan/ polyethylene oxide nanofibrous scaffolds with potential antibacterial wound dressing applications. J Nanomat 2016, Article ID 6231040, 10 Pages
- Zafar M, Najeeb S, Khurshid Z, Vazirzadeh M, Zohaib S, Najeeb B, Sefat F (2016) Potential of electrospun nanofibers for biomedical and dental applications. Materials 9(73):1–21
- Zeng J, Xu X, Chen X, Liang Q, Bian X, Yang L, Jing X (2003) Biodegradable electrospun fibers for drug delivery. J Controlled Release 92(3):227–231
- Zhang Y, Lim CT, Ramakrishna S, Huang ZM (2005) Recent development of polymer nanofibers for biomedical and biotechnological applications. J Mater Sci—Mater Med 16(10):933–946
- Zhang W, Ronca S, Mele E (2017) Electrospun nanofibres containing antimicrobial plant extracts. Nanomaterials 7(2):42
- Zong X, Kim K, Fang D, Ran S, Hsiao BS, Chu B (2002) Structure and process relationship of electrospun bioabsorbable nanofiber membranes. Polymer 43(16):4403–4412

Correction to: Polymer Nanocomposites in Biomedical Engineering



Kishor Kumar Sadasivuni, Deepalekshmi Ponnamma, Mariappan Rajan, M. Basheer Ahamed and Mariam Ali S A Al-Maadeed

Correction to: K. K. Sadasivuni et al. (eds.), *Polymer Nanocomposites in Biomedical Engineering*, Lecture Notes in Bioengineering, https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-030-04741-2

In the original version of the book, the following belated corrections have been incorporated:

The co-editor names "Basheer Ahmed" has been changed to "M. Basheer Ahamed" and "Al-Maadeed Mariam Ali S A" has been changed to "Mariam Ali S A Al-Maadeed".

In chapter "Silver Nanoparticles and Its Polymer Nanocomposites—Synthesis, Optimization, Biomedical Usage, and Its Various Applications", the author name "Snehal Kargirwar Bramhe" has been changed to "Snehal Kargirwar Brahme" and the affiliations of authors "Snehal Kargirwar Brahme" and "Subhash Kondawar" were swapped.

The correction book has been updated with the changes.

The updated version of the book can be found at https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-030-04741-2_11 https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-030-04741-2

[©] Springer Nature Switzerland AG 2019

K. K. Sadasivuni et al. (eds.), *Polymer Nanocomposites in Biomedical Engineering*, Lecture Notes in Bioengineering,

https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-030-04741-2_13